GEORGIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY OFFICE OF CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION SPONSORED PROJECT INITIATION

Date: <u>August 30, 1976</u>

Project Title: <u>Devise</u> Analytical Procedures for Intercity Transportation and Development Planning

Project No: E-24-651

Project Director: Dr. Paul Jones

Sponsor: U. S. Department of Transportation, Washington, D. C.

Agreement Period:	From	8/24/76	Until	8/23/77	
Type Agreement:	Contract No. DO	T-0S-60512			
Amount:	\$244,673 DOT	a a i			
	<u>49,786</u> Total <u>\$294,459</u> Total	Cost Sharing	(GIT \$5,298 -	- E-24-319)	
Reports Required:	Quarterly Progr	ess; Final R	eport	e o go e tega dago e o co	

Sponsor Contact Person (s):

Technical Matters

Mr. Byron Nupp TAD-45 Department of Transportation 400 Seventh Street, S. W. Washington, D. C. 20590 **Contractual Matters**

(thru OCA) Mr. John E. Doyle, Jr. Contracting Officer TAD-43 Department of Transportation Office of the Secretary 400 Seventh Street, S. W. Washington, D. C. 20590 202/426-9745

wether land

Defense Priority Rating:

Assigned to: Industrial and Systems E	ngineering (School/Laboratory)
COPIES TO:	
Project Director	Library, Technical Reports Section
Division Chief (EES)	Office of Computing Services
School/Laboratory Director	Director, Physical Plant
Dean/Director-EES	EES Information Office
Accounting Office	Project File (OCA)
Procurement Office	Project Code (GTRI)
Security Coordinator (OCA)	Other
Feports Coordinator (OCA)	an a

GEORGIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY OFFICE OF CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION

SPONSORED PROJECT TERMINATION

051 oth

		Date: 2,	/17/78	
Project Title:	-Devise Analytical Procedur Planning	es for Intercity	Transportation	and Development
Project No:	E-24-651			
Project Director:	Dr. P.S. Jones			
Sponsor:	U.S. Department of Transpor	tation; Washingto	n, D.C. 20590	
Effective Terminat	ion Date: 12/31/77			
Clearance of Accou	unting Charges: <u>12/31/77</u>	······································		
Grant/Contract Clo	oseout Actions Remaining:		• •	
, · · · ·	:	· .		
· · · ·				
X	Final Invoice and Closing Documents			
· · <u> </u>	Final Fiscal Report			
X	Final Report of Inventions			
X	Govt. Property Inventory & Related Certif	icate Sulemith	on the	678
	Classified Material Certificate			Y 1
	Other	and a second		
			ant and a second se	
Assigned to:I	ndustrial and Systems Enginee	ring (School/I	Laboratory)	
COPIES TO:				
Project Director	Libra	ry, Technical Reports Section		
School/Laboratory	y Director Direc	e of Computing Services tor, Physical Plant		
Dean/Director-El	ES EES I	nformation Office		
Accounting Office) Projector Danie	ct File (OCA)		
Security Coordina	tor (OCA)			
Reports Coordinat	tor (OCA)			
CA-4 (3/76)				

BOUND BY THE NATIONAL LIBRARY BINDERY CO. OF GA.

E-24-651

SCHOOL OF INDUSTRIAL AND SYSTEMS ENGINEERING

Atlanta, Georgia 30332

R. N. Lehrer, Director

(404) 894-2300

November 22, 1976

Dr. Byron Nupp, Assistant Director Office of Transportation Systems Analysis and Information Office of the Secretary of Transportation Washington, D.C. 20590

Subject: First Quarterly Progress Report Contract DOT-OS-60512

Dear Dr. Nupp:

This letter constitutes a report of progress during the first quarter's execution of contract DOT-OS-60512, entitled "Analytical Procedures for the Study of a Specific Multimodal Transportation Corridor."

First quarter progress has in general been good. However, the entire technical effort has been impeded by the delay in granting federal approval of subcontracts with the nine participating universities. Necessary travel has not been performed because personal expenses could not be reimbursed. In addition, a great deal of time has been spent attempting to explain the delay to school administrators. It is hoped that this vexing problem will soon be resolved.

Specific technical progress is described below in terms of tasks and activities that were identified in the management plan. As set forth in that plan, eleven events are scheduled to occur during the first quarter which ends at work day 52, when measuring from September 10, 1976. These events require the completion of eleven activities. Three more activities are optional.

Task 1. Identify Legislative Constraints

This task has been launched by Dr. Hille. Preliminary state reconaissance has been performed. A procedure has been developed and considerable data have been collected. Progress has been impeded by the need to travel to Washington to interview knowledgable individuals and to research federal documents. This trip has been postponed until after the subcontracts are executed.

Activity 1-1, reconnaissance is complete. Activity 1-2, prepare preliminary catagories, is also complete. Activity 1-3, check catagories, is partly complete.

Some of the slack in Task 1 has been used. However, the task is well within its schedule constraints.

Task 2A. Compile Transportation Data

Under the leadership of Dr. Holloway, this task has been launched and is progressing satisfactorily. The reconnaissance is complete. We believe that we are thoroughly familiar with the data that are available. The magnetic tape containing commodity flow data for 20 commodity groups between BEA zones has been received and analyzed.

After careful review of the commodity data, we have concluded that we need to express commodity flow in terms of 50 commodity groups. A tentative procedure has been developed that

- a. Augments the BEA tape with fresh fruit and vegetable movements derived from USDA unload reports
- b. Expands the 20 BEA commodity groups using a 1972 Census of Manufacturers tape that has been ordered but not received.
- c. Develops origin and destination data for the 50 commodity groups using a combination of the BEA tape and industry profile data.

The data collection plan is complete except for railroad, pipeline and electric power data. Reconnaissance for these latter activities is complete but data needs have not yet been formalized. Thus activities 2A-1 and 2A-2 are complete. Activity 2A-3 is almost complete and 2A-4 is underway.

Progress on this task has been impeded by the lack of subcontracts. Once subcontracts are execute, we expect to catch up promptly.

Task 2B. Preliminary Economic Analysis

Under the leadership of Dr. Smith and Dr. Spraggins, this task is well underway. The work is on schedule. Economic data needs have been identified. Industry profiles have been undertaken for each of the 50 industry groups. Good progress has been made. Activities 2B-1, 2B-2 and 2B-3 are essentially complete and activity 2B-4 is nearly complete.

Preliminary study of econometric models is also underway. These developments are being carried out in parallel with the transportation modeling to insure compatability. Work to date is encouraging but no final decisions have been made. Activity 2B-6 is complete. Activity 2B-7 is underway.

Task 2C, Transportation Network

This task is also progressing well under the direction of Dr. Lipinski. Several alternative approaches to network modeling have been explored. It appears likely that the transportation network will have variable zone sizes. The zones in the Multi-State Corridor will be multi-county and will consist of Area Planning and Development Center or equivalent size. Adjacent to the corridor, zones will be BEA sized. Dr. Byron Nupp

More distant zones will be states or clusters of states. The final zone configuration has not yet been selected. However, all of the necessary data have been assembled.

Preliminary evaluation criteria have been assembled and analyzed. A tentative evaluation procedure has been selected, subject to confirmation at the Guidance and Control Committee meeting in December.

Activities 2C-1, and 2C-2 are essentially complete. Activity 2C-3 is very nearly complete activity 2C-4 on time.

Task 2D. Preliminary Transportation Analysis

Good progress has been made on Task 2D. The modeling issues and requirements have been identified, completing activities 2D-1 and 2D-2. Alternative models are being developed. One workable scheme has been devised to date.

Other Tasks

Tasks 3, 4 and 5 have not been started yet. Task 6 is underway. A temporary library site has been secured at Georgia Tech. No catalogueing scheme has been adopted. Most project data are in the hands of personnel at participating universities.

Summary

The project is moving ahead essentially on schedule. Delays due to contractural difficulties will soon be cleared up when subcontracts have been executed. We hope that this report adequately conveys our achievements to date. If you have need of additional information, please let me know.

Sincerelv. ,

Paul S. Jones

/1f

SCHOOL OF INDUSTRIAL AND SYSTEMS ENGINEERING

Atlanta, Georgia 30332

R. N. Lehrer, Director

(404) 894-2300

February 25, 1977

Dr. Byron Nupp, Assistant Director Office of Transportation Systems Analysis and Information Office of the Secretary of Transportation Washington, D. C. 20590

Subject: Second Quarterly Progress Report, Contract DOT-05-60512

Dear Dr. Nupp:

This letter describes progress made during the Second Quarter's effort on Contract DOT-05-60512, entitled, "Analytical Procedures for the Study of a Specific Multimodal Transportation Corridor."

Subcontracts with the nine participating universities were executed on December 13, 1976. Much of the time lost awaiting formal agreements has been made up. We hope that most of the balance of the lost time will be made up during the next quarter.

Specific technical progress is described below by task and activity. As of February 23, 1977, 117 working days have elapsed since the management plan was prepared (September 10, 1976). Eight events were scheduled for the second quarter.

Task 1. Identify Legislative Constraints

Progress of this task was impeded by the delay in executing the subcontracts. However, considerable slack is available in the schedule and work is now proceeding well. Tasks 1-1, 1-2 and 1-3 are complete. At present, the research is dealing with intergovernmental agreements and governmental private agreements which are involved in the establishment of transportation corridor projects. Highway statutes delegate the authority to establish, regulate, maintain and vacate such transportation corridors to specific agencies so there is no doubt about responsibility for establishing and maintaining the system. These agreements are preliminary to project finance, land acquisition, letting bids for construction, etc.

Task 2-A. Compile Transportation Data

This task is almost complete. Some data are still missing because of subcontractural delays. Additional data will be needed from time to time as the research proceeds. The cooperation of state officials and federal agencies has been excellent. Data reduction and summarization is underway. Preparation of the task report has begun. Activities 2-A4, 2-A5 and 2-A6 are nearing completion. Those portions necessary to proceed from event T have been completed. Activity 2-A7 is underway.

Task 2-B. Preliminary Economic Analysis

This task is complete except for a few straggling details and the preparation of the draft report. Activities 2-B4, 2-B5, 2-B6, 2-B7 and 2-B8 are complete. The industry profiles are complete, with a few minor exceptions. The economic model has been selected and has been described in a working paper. Work on the draft report, activity 2-B9, is in progress.

Task 2-C. Transportation Network

This task, also, is very near completion. Transportation zones have been selected. Highway, rail and water areas have been identified and described. Network data are being coded for easy computer access.

Data have been collected on pipelines and on electric power high voltage networks. These facilities will not be subjected to the same type of analysis as the other transportation modes.

Activities 2-C3 and 2-C4 are complete. The draft report, activity 2-C5 is underway.

Task 2-D. Preliminary Transportation Analysis

A method has been devised for use in the transportation analysis. The essential features have been worked out. Some problems remain, but they can be accommodated. Some key features, notably market penetration, mode split and arc capacitation, will require work during the second contract year. These features will be included in the analysis but the key relationships will require further work.

Activity 2-D4, Nominate Preliminary Evaluation Criteria, is complete. Several potentially interesting transportation alternatives (Activity 2-D5) have been nominated. Others are being studied. The draft report has been started.

Dr. Byron Nupp

Task 3. Techniques for Developing Economic Opportunities

Portions of this task are complete. Data needs (Activity 3-1) have been identified and much of the data have been collected. The economic model (Activity 3-3) has been formulated, but specific input data (3-4) have not been prepared. However, transportation input data (3-5) are almost complete. This task is receiving careful attention because of its key role and its critical timing.

Task 4. Measures for Comparing Alternative Mixes of Transportation Services

This task is proceeding well. Activities 4-1 and 4-2 are complete. Preliminary criteria have been selected and evaluated. Final criteria selection (4-3) will take place at the March meeting of the Guidance and Control Committee. Combination methods have been explored. A method will be selected when the final criteria have been selected.

Task 5. Formulate Preliminary Analytical Framework

This task is well under way. The key modeling issues (5-1) have been resolved. Model requirements (5-2) have been established. Other modeling efforts have been reviewed, analyzed and compared (5-3, 5-4, 5-5). Finally, a model framework has been prepared. This work is well ahead of schedule. In as much as activities 5-1, 5-2, 5-3 and 5-4 lie on the critical path, fifteen days time has been made up. Tasks 3-6, 3-8, 3-9, 3-10 and 3-11 now constitute the critical path.

Events

Events R, T, U, W, X, Y, AB, AG and AL were accomplished during this quarter.

Summary

Although progress has been uneven, the project can be considered to be on schedule. Task 3 is now the critical task and will receive direct attention and support throughout the next quarter.

Respectfully submitted,

Paul S. Jones

jc

SCHOOL OF INDUSTRIAL AND SYSTEMS ENGINEERING

Atlanta, Georgia 30332

R. N. Lehrer, Director

(404) 894-2300

May 23, 1977

Dr. Byron Nupp, Assistant Director Office of Transportation Systems Analysis and Information Office of the Secretary of Transportation Washington, D. C. 20590

Dear Dr. Nupp:

The purpose of this letter is to describe progress during the Third Quarter of Contract DOT-05-60512, entitled, "Analytical Procedures for the Study of a Specific Multimodal Transportation Corridor."

Progress continues to be good. However, it was deemed advisable to request a two month, no-cost extension to the project for the following reasons:

1. It is much more efficient to complete the analytical framework before preparing data for the Northern Mississippi test.

2. Faculty time is available during the summer in greater proportion than during the school year. It is advantageous to use this time.

3. Excellent progress is being made on the analytical method. It is advantageous to carry this work further than wad intitially planned.

Although formal approval has not yet been received, we have informal information that the new schedule is acceptable. The scheduled dates for the deliverable items are tentatively revised to the following:

Task 1 Report	July 23, 1977
Task 2 Report	May 15, 1977
Task 3 Report	August 23, 1977
Task 4 Report	July 23, 1977
Task 5 Report	August 23, 1977
Preliminary Draft of Final Report	August 23, 1977
List of Library Publications	October 23, 1977
Final Report	October 23, 1977

Sepcific technical progress is described below by task and activity. As of May 20, 1977, 180 working days have elapsed since the management plan was prepared (September 10, 1976). Eight events have been reached during the third quarter. Nupp page two

Task 1. Identify Legislative Constraints

Task 1 was accelerated during the third quarter and showed substantial progress. State data were collected on legislative and administrative constraints. These data are being analyzed and compiled. Task 1-4 is complete and Task 1-5 is underway.

Task 2. Initial Transportation Guidelines

This task is nearly complete. All of the analytical work has been accomplished. The draft report is substantially complete. Significant work was performed in revising and finalizing the network configuration and in completing the industry profiles. Perliminary work is complete on modal split and market share analyses; however, additional work will be performed as part of Task 5.

Task 3. Techniques for Developing Economic Opportunities

All preparatory work has been completed in anticipation of the Northern Mississippi Test. Activities 3-2 (General Data Collection), 3-3 (Econometric Model), and 3-5 (Transportation Data) are complete. The collection of detailed economic data (activity 3-4) has been delayed until the analytical procedure is more dompletely defined. The work will resume on June 1.

Task 4. Measures for Comparing Mixes of

Transportation Services

This work has proceeded as far as it can before the Northern Mississippi test is conducted. Activities 4-3 (Criteria Selection), 4-4 (Combination Techniques), and 4-5 (Combination Method) are essentially complete. Draft material (4-7) has been prepared on work to date.

Task 5. Formulate Preliminary Analytical Framework

This task is proceeding extremely well and continues to be ahead of schedule. Activity 5-6 (Evaluate Alternatives) is complete and the specification of the final model is in process. The network model is being programmed. We hope to be able to exercise this model on Northern Mississippi test data.

The mode split and market share formulations remain a vexing problem. Regression results based on the Commodity Flow data are far from acceptable, but they are comparable to those reported by other investigators. Substantial problems exist with the Commodity Flow data. In addition, shipment size and non-homogeneity of commodities contribute to our problems. Cost and shipping time data also contain inconsistencies. At this time, we have expended all of the effort that we can afford on these subjects. We plan to select the best representations that we have and proceed with the work. Nupp page three

ť

Events

Events V, Z, AA, AC, AD, AF, AH, and AJ were accomplished during this quarter.

Summary

Project activity is well within the revised schedule. Task three remains the critical task. It will be the subject of most summer activity. Although many new problems have arisen, we remain optimistic about the quality of our product.

Respectfully Submitted,

×.

Paul S. Jones

PSJ:erm

SCHOOL OF INDUSTRIAL AND SYSTEMS ENGINE

Atlanta, Georgia 30332

R. N. Lehrer, Director

(404) 894-2300

August 23, 1977

Dr. Byron Nupp, Assistant Director Office of Transportation Systems Analysis and Information Office of the Secretary of Transportation Washington, D. C. 20590

SUBJECT: Fourth Quarterly Progress Report, Contract DOT-05-60512

Dear Dr. Nupp:

unden un sur l'une l'une l'e l'

The purpose of this letter is to report progress on Contract DOT-05-60512 that occurred during the fourth quarter of work that extended from 24 May through 23 August.

The summer months have been a period of intense activity with excellent progress on many tasks.

A set of sequential dependencies, that was generally anticipated, has caused some delay. The chain of events goes something like this. Detailed employment data were needed to complete the breakdown of the CTS commodity flow data into the zones selected for the Multi-State Corridor. The commodity flow data were needed to identify services and markets for the commodities to be used in the Northern Mississippi test. Production cost data were needed for each source in order to develop the market share model. Finally, the market share model is needed before new opportunities can be explored for northern Mississippi. The sequence is complete to the development of the market share relationships. That work is underway with early completion expected.

With the dependancies of the above series of activities, the first year's work was not completed by 23 August as planned. We are now expecting the analytical work to be completed by 23 September, with the draft final report to be submitted by 30 September.

Specific progress on individual tasks is outlined briefly below.

Task 1. Identify Legislative Constraints

Task 1 is complete and the report was submitted on 23 July.

Task 2. Initial Transportation Guidelines

Task 2 is complete. The Task 2 report has been drafted and is being typed. It will be submitted on 9 September.

Task 3. Techniques for Developing Economic Opportunities

Task 3 lies on the critical path. Key data have been collected. The computer runs will be made as soon as the market share work is complete. Further analysis will follow the computer runs. We expect this task to be completed by 23 September, with the Task report to be submitted on 30 September.

Task 4. Measures for Comparing Mixes of Transportation Services

Task 4 is complete except for applying the evaluation procedure to the results of the Northern Mississippi test. The Task 4 report is largely complete and will be submitted on 16 September.

Task 5. Formulate Preliminary Analytical Framework

Task 5 is largely complete. Some work on market share remains. The Task 5 report has been written and it is now being typed. It will be submitted on 9 September.

Events

Events AE, AK, AI, AL, AN and AO were accomplished this quarter. Eight events remain.

Summary

Progress has been good, but some delays have been encountered. We do not anticipate further delays. Completion of the final report draft by 30 September seems reasonable. It may be desirable to extend the contract to allow time for a thorough DOT review of the Final Report. However, to maintain effective use of the project staff, we request that the second year's work be scheduled to start on 1 October.

Respectfully submitted,

Paul S. Jones

jc

SCHOOL OF INDUSTRIAL AND SYSTEMS ENGINEERING



GEORGIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30332

PROCEDURES FOR MULTI-STATE, MULTI-MODE CORRIDOR ANALYSIS: TASK 2: ANALYTICAL GUIDELINES

by Paul S. Jones

School of Industrial and Systems Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology Atlanta, Georgia 30332

Prepared for

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION Office of the Secretary Washington, D. C. 20590

July 1977

PREFACE

This report describes Task 2 of the project entitled "Analytical Procedures for the Study of a Specific Multimodal Transportation Corridor." In this task, many of the essential features of multimode corridor analysis were formulated. Key data were collected and preliminary analyses were conducted. The work of Task 2 is summarized and the more important achievements are presented.

The research is sponsored by the Office of Transportation Systems Analysis and Information of the Office of the Secretary of the U. S. Department of Transportation. Dr. Byron Nupp is Contracting Officer's Technical Representative.

The work has been performed by a consortium of nine universities under the direction of Dr. Paul S. Jones of the Georgia Institute of Technology. Participating universities include the University of Alabama, Arkansas State University, Auburn University, Memphis State University, Mississippi State University, the University of Missouri, the University of North Florida, and Tennessee Technological University. Principal faculty participants in Task 2 include Dr. Frank M. Holloway of Tennessee Tech, Dr. H. Barry Spraggins of North Florida, Dr. Martin E. Lipinski and Dr. Subbarayan Prasanna of Memphis State, and Dr. Gunter Sharp of Georgia Tech. Major contributions were also made by the following graduate students: Mr. Michael A. Mullens, Mr. Wade Morgan, and Mr. H. C. David Yu.

i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	Page i
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	iii
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	iv
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK	8
III. TRANSPORTATION ZONES	15
IV. COMMODITY FLOW DATA	24
V. INDUSTRY PROFILES	37
VI. BASIC TRANSPORTATION NETWORK	49
VII. TRANSPORTATION MODELING	71
APPENDICES	
A. NETWORK ZONE DESCRIPTIONS	80
B. MANUFACTURING INDUSTRY PROFILES	88
C. NETWORK ARC DESCRIPTIONS	95
REFERENCES	107

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Multi-State Transportation System Advisory Board	Page 3
2.	Transportation Zone Centroids	23
3.	NTP Commodity Groupings	28
4.	NTP Magnetic Tape Data Fields	29
5.	Commodity/Industry Groups Selected for Analysis	31
6.	Manufacturing Industry Cost Data	40
7.	Minimum Facility Size	7

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

		Page
1.	Multi-State System	4
2.	Analytical Procedure	10
3.	Transportation Zones	22
4.	Highway Network	50
5.	Rail Network	56
6.	Water Network	64

I INTRODUCTION

The research reported here represents a new approach to intercity transportation planning. The initial effort has focused on freight transportation. Later extensions are expected to passenger transportation. The present approach views intercity freight transportation services as tools for stimulating and supporting economic development. The economic development of interest is the creation of new production facilities in locations that do not have similar facilities today. In this context, the research deals with basic production -that which is largely exported from the producing area. The transportation facilities and services of interest are those that will bring about new circumstances with respect to transportation cost, access, or quality of service that are sufficiently different that they will provide the key increment that makes new production facilities feasible. The essence of the research is the determination of quantitative relationships between (1) new transportation facilities and services, and (2) the new production facilities that are made possible by these transportation services.

That there is a relationship between transportation services and economic development has been known for a long time. For centuries, major production facilities have been located where good transportation is available. New transportation services of many different kinds have stimulated new development. One need only look at the Interstate and Defense Highway System to be assured that there is an important relationship between the two. However, there has never been a satisfactory quantitative method developed that can predict the introduction of a specific new transportation service. Such a predictor would be a valuable aid in identifying high potential transportation projects. If one could measure expected development in quantitative terms, that factor could make a large contribution to the expected benefits from a transportation project. In fact, expected development may be the major benefit that accrues to non-highway transportation projects. Several investigators [1,2,3] * have developed models that relate land use or other economic indicators to the general quality of transportation. Harris [1] uses an input-output model to measure the relative value of different highway systems. He expresses the quality

^{*} Numbers in parenthesis refer to references listed at the end of the report.

of transportation service in terms of costs between origin and destination points. Routing is prescribed as part of the cost determination and only a single transportation mode is treated. Polenski [2] has used input-output models for regional planning and has contributed much to the state of that art. Floyd [3] has used input-output analysis on a regional basis to measure the impact of transportation on land use. This work is also limited to one mode and present technology. Past work is useful because it deals with both passenger and freight transportation and also with basic and non-basic (local) impacts of transportation. However, past work fails to answer specific development questions in sufficient detail to provide effective planning assistance.

Multi-State Transportation System

The analytical work presented here focuses on a single setting -- the Multi-State Transportation System, which encompasses a strip of land approximately 100 miles wide and 1200 miles long extending from Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City. Planning for the Multi-State System is vested in 7 states, many planning districts, many municipalities, and a large number of private citizen groups. Planning is coordinated by an advisory board where members are listed in Table 1. Using state and Federal support, a parametric study [4] and a highway feasibility study [5] have been prepared and a multi mode feasibility study [6] is underway.

The Multi-State System area, which is illustrated in Figure 1, is of particular interest to this research for the following reasons:

- 1. It is a linear area or corridor which permits consideration to be restricted to simple networks of new transportation facilities.
- It is largely undeveloped, simplifying the problems of economic modeling.
- 3. Transportation services at present are limited, creating substantive opportunities for improvement.
- 4. It lies in a region of high development potential in which sound early guidance can lead to large future benefits.
- 5. Sufficient past work has been done to simplify the data collection process.
- 6. The Multi-State Board provides outstanding support in all phases of the research.

The Multi-State Corridor contains four major metropolitan areas -- Jacksonville, Birmingham, Memphis, and Kansas City -- and a handful of cities with

TABLE 1 THE MULTI-STATE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM ADVISORY BOARD

Elton B. Stephens, Chairman Kermit B. Blaney, Executive Director

ALABAMA

Hon. George Wallace, Governor
Hon. Ray Bass, Highway Director
Hon. David Vann, Mayor, Birmingham
Mr. Lyman Mason, Vice Chairman
Mayor Jack M. Brown
Mr. William C. Davis, Jr. Senior Vice Chairman
Councilman Don A. Hawkins
Senator George D. H. McMillan, Jr.
Mr. Elton B. Stephens, Chairman
Mr. Sim S. Wilbanks

ARKANSAS

Hon. David Pryor, Governor
Hon. Henry Gray, Highway Director
Mr. Ralph McDonald, Vice Chairman
Mr. Frank Carlisle, Jr.
Mr. Jimmy Driftwood
Mr. J. E. Dunlap
Mr. Randall W. Ishmael
Mr. Billy Rogers

FLORIDA

Hon. Reubin Askew, Governor
Hon. Tom Webb, Jr., Secretary, DOT
Hon. Hans G. Tanzler, Mayor, Jacksonville
Mr. Tom V. Schifanella, Vice Chairman
Mr. William M. Godfrey
Mr. K. N. Henderson
Mr. Edward A. Mueller
Mr. James E. Reeder
Representative Eric Smith
Dr. Jay A. Smith, Jr.

GEORGIA

Hon. George Busbee, Governor
Hon. Thomas D. Moreland, Commissioner, DOT
Hon. W. Milton Folds, Comm. Ind. & Trade
Mr. Alton H. Fendley, Vice Chairman
Commissioner Norman Dorminy
Mr. Percy Harrel1
Senator Floyd Hudgins
Mr. Millard Kennedy
Mayor Bob Tonning
Mr. Billy Westbrook

MISSISSIPPI

Hon. Cliff Finch, Governor Hon. John R. Tabb, Highway Director Mrs. Everett Slayden, Vice Chairman Mayor Sam Coopwood Mayor H. D. McGee Senator Perrin Purvis Commissioner Bobby G. Richardson Mr. Bill Rutledge Representative Jerry Wilburn

MISSOURI

Hon. Joseph P. Teasdale, Governor
Hon. Jack Curtis, Chairman, Highway Commission
Hon. Charles Wheeler, Mayor, Kansas City
Councilman Victor F. Swyden, Vice Chairman
Mr. T. Dick Fleming
Mr. Robert Hunter
Mr. George Innes
Councilman David D. James
Mr. Max Norman
Mr. Willard Wilkinson

TENNESSEE

Hon. Ray Blanton, Governor
Hon. Wyeth Chandler, Mayor, Memphis
Hon. Roy Nixon, Mayor, Shelby County
DOT Commissioner Eddie Shaw, Vice Chairman
Mr. George Dando
Mr. Frank C. Holloman, Senior Vice Chairman
Mr. George Houston
Mr. Frank Palumbo
Mr. Jack Ramsay
Mr. Bruce C. Taylor

FIGURE 1 MULTI-STATE SYSTEM AREA



populations greater than 100,000 people (e.g., Columbus, Georgia, Montgomery, Alabama, and Springfield, Missouri). For the most part, the area is rural. A large fraction of the population is engaged in marginal agriculture. The rural populations have the lowest per capita income of any part of the United States. The corridor has some natural resources, notably coal, iron ore, and timber. It also has abundant water resources.

There has been some development in the Multi-State Corridor. Just to the north, under the stiumulus of the space program, Huntsville, Alabama has blossomed from an agricultural marketing center to a major research and engineering center. New facilities -- principally textile -- have been located in rural areas to take advantage of low wage rates and abundant unskilled labor.

The Multi-State Corridor is an ideal setting for new multi-modal development. New transportation facilities can be built without the citizen protests that accompany most major projects in urban and industrialized areas. Economic development is desperately needed to improve the lives of an impoverished population. The terrain is gentle, having few major geographic obstacles. It includes the base of the Appalachian chain and the eastern Ozarks. In addition, the predominantly rural corridor provides an opportunity to test whether substantial populations can be supported in rural areas without the necessity of migrating to major urban areas and contributing to a worsening of urban problems.

Traffic volumes in the Multi-State Corridor are not high. No interstate highway runs the length of the Corridor although a number cross it. Longitudinal roads are of moderate to poor quality. A main line of the Frisco Railroad traverses the area from Kansas City to Birmingham and a secondary main line of the Seaborad Coast Line Railroad continues to Jacksonville. Through freight service is available. The area is crossed by the major waterways of the Southeast including the Chattahoochee/Apalachicola Rivers, the Tennessee-Tombigbee project, the Tennessee River, the Mississippi River, and the Missouri River. Ocean port facilities are located at Columbus, Georgia, Birmingham, and Decatur, Alabama, Memphis, and Kansas City.

Scope

The process of selecting and locating transportation facilities and services and thereafter planning industrial development along transportation routes is an extremely complex one. In particular, the knowledge, effort, and expense to perform specific location studies suggests that one should not launch into

detailed planning without a high probability of success. What is apparently called for is a screening process by which the problem can be viewed in several levels of detail, with each level narrowing the scope of study for successive work.

This research is viewed as the first of a succession of screening steps. The product of this work is an analytical method that can identify potentially attractive transportation development opportunities in terms of the industrial development that each can stimulate. The transportation services are identified in terms of mode, capacity, and approximate route. Details concerning alignment, design, points of ingress and egress and specific technology are left for later study. Development opportunities are described in terms of industry group, approximate location, approximate markets, and approximate size. Details concerning specific products and activities, raw materials, specific location, and corporate ownership are left to others.

The research is concerned only with basic industry -- that is new facilities that will produce goods or services that are largely exported from the producing area to national markets. The total market for each industry group is assumed to remain fixed with respect to size and location. Thus, new facilities built in the Multi-State Corridor must compete with existing facilities for existing markets. Market competition among competing suppliers is conducted on the basis of cost. Product quality is assumed to be equal. This assumption, in effect, treats new facilities as though they are branch plants for which higher management has the authority to allocate production on the basis of cost.

Secondary, nonbasic, or multiplier effects of new facilities are not considered at this time nor are the development of new market demands induced by the establishment of new facilities. Although both issues are of immense importance to the development of the Multi-State Corridor, consideration of these issues is postponed to a later date.

Consideration is given only to freight transportation. Although passenger transportation is an important part of highway use, it is not studied at this time. By omitting passenger **trans**portation, it has also been necessary to omit tourism from the candidate developments. Tourism has great potential in the Multi-State Corridor, particularly along the Georgia and Florida coasts and in the Ozark Mountains. It fully warrants later consideration.

The industrial markets used to test new development opportunities are restricted to the 48 contguous to the United States. Alaska, Hawaii, and

Puerto Rico are grosely lumped with overseas markets for the purposes of the present work. At a later time, overseas and export opportunities will be examined.

Many alternative transportation services can be identified. It is expected that several of these will be attractive from different view points. The alternative services will be assembled into programs, each of which represents a complete transportation strategy for the Multi-State area. Programs will be evaluated and compared in terms of complex criteria that include traffic volume, economic development, user benefits, employment, potential profit, and others. Specific environmental and public acceptance issues will not be addressed at this level of analysis.

Task 2

Task two is a preparatory step in the multi-mode investigation. Its specific objectives are to:

- A. Review and compile data on transportation and industrial development,
- B. Identify key industry descriptors and cluster industries into groups for analysis,
- C. Develop a structure of geographic zones suitable for the analysis and evaluation of transportation and industrial activities, including zones within the multimodal corridor and external zones, and
- D. Perform preliminary transportation analysis which shall inlude the establishment of information on a base transportation load reflecting present transportation activities and patterns of movement.

These objectives have been met in the manner described in this report.

II ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK

The research is concerned with examining a very large number of potential transportation projects. These are combined into an even larger number of transportation programs, each of which will support different economic developments on a different time schedule. The analytical method focuses first on new transportation services and facilities and thereafter on the developmental and economic consequences of the new services and facilities.

In underdeveloped regions, the transportation planning process needs to focus on opportunities rather than on deficiencies. Present traffic levels are low because economic activity is limited and because highways, railroads, and waterways are often of secondary quality. In these regions, the patterns of economic activity cannot be predicted from past trends because past trends lead nowhere. If the region is to grow economically, new breakthroughs are needed. New industry must be established in locations that were not heretofor possible. Future growth depends on the ability to identify, locate, and exploit these new opportunities.

In this context, transportation facilities and services play the role of triggers to industrial and economic development. Lower cost or higher quality transportation services provide an incremental advantage that aids the marketability of products and services produced by a new enterprise. This incremental advantage can represent the difference between success and failure in launching the new enterprise.

The impact of new transportation services and facilities is not limited to new economic ventures. New transportation services will serve both new and existing industry and commerce. In some instances, the incremental advantage provided to a new enterprise will be more than offset by a similar or greater advantage realized by an existing enterprise. Thus, it is necessary to examine the complex impacts that a new transportation service can have on all conceivable industries in all locations.

The transportation routes of interest are not confined to the Multi-State Corridor. Because of the multi-modal focus of the work, many shipments can take advantage of the new facilities. Some traffic will both originate and terminate outside the corridor or both. To the extent that new highway and rail facilities tie into existing networks, traffic can take advantages of new high quality links for a variety of trips. Modal interchange terminals will be also considered so

as to make maximum economic use of inter-modal combinations.

The Analytical Problem

The analytical problem is to jointly identify a set of potential transportation services and facilities and the development opportunities that will result from their construction and operation.

It is made up of two distinct parts (see Figure 2). In Part 1, the analytical framework is established and the necessary data are prepared. In Part 2, specific transportation improvement programs are postulated and their impacts are measured and evaluated.

The Analytical Framework

The analytical framework is expressed in terms of commodity flow between pairs of network zones over existing transportation routes.

Network Zones

Network zones are identifiable areas where principle commodity movements originate or terminate. A variable zone size structure is used to provide detailed analysis of the Multi-State Corridor without burdening the analysis with an excessive number of zones. Zones within the corridor are small and reflect areas where new development might occur. External zones are larger because they are of interest only as markets, as sources of raw material, or as sources of competing production. As zones become remote from the corridor, they become very large because precise locations have less significance to corridor activity.

Each zone designation consists of a boundary and a representative city or centroid. All zones include an integer number of counties. Within the corridor, zones include about ten counties and generally conform to the districts that have been formed for comprehensive planning, e.g., Area Planning and Development Commissions in Georgia. Adjacent to the corridor, zones consists of the input-output sectors developed by the Office of Business Economics (BEA^{*}) that include twenty to thirty counties. The choice of BEAs was based on their individual homogeneity and the availability of commodity flow data. The major disadvantage of BEAs is that many cross state boundaries. As zones become more remote from the corriodr, BEAs are combined for form large zones. In all, there are 120 zones in the network. A zone centroid is generally the largest city in

* Basic Ecnomic Area

FIGURE 2 ANALYTICAL PROCEDURE



a zone. Where the choice of a centroid is not obvious, locations of major transportation routes are taken into account.

Network Arcs

Network zones are connected by arcs that represent the different transportation facilities that are available. Separate arcs have been identified for highway, rail, and water modes. Additional arcs can be added for postulated new facilities. Arc impedences reflect travel time, cost, and travel time variability.

Network arcs constitute the major routes for each mode over which interzone traffic is carried. Intrazone traffic is not included in the analysis. Arc designations are related to zone size. Arcs connecting the small zones in the Mutli-State Corridor consist of almost all intercity cargo routes. As zones get larger, more intercity routes are omitted because they are not carrying significant amounts of interzonal traffic. For example, the highway network includes Interstate, Federal Aid Primary, and some state routes between the small corridor zones. In contrast, the network arcs between large zones have few routes that are not Interstate Highways. Similarly, the rail network contains most through routes within the corridor, but only principle routes outside. The water network contains major intra and inter-coastal services as well as all inland waterways with seven foot channel depth or more.

Network arcs are described in terms of length, capacity, mean speed, or travel time and travel time variability. Where two or more routes are combined in a single arc, length and speed are determined for the higher quality route. The second route serves as additional capacity when the higher quality route became congested.

Commodities

Commodities are amalgamations of the products of more or less homogeneous groups of industries. Each group is identified in terms of the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) Codes. Fifty-three different commodity/industry groups have been selected for analysis. This number represents a compromise between a desire for simplicity and the need to recognize some of the important differences within two digit SIC classifications. The intention was to select industries that can be represented as a single mean, whose products have similar market and transportation characteristics and whose industrial facilities are comparable.

An industrial profile was prepared for each commodity. The profile describes the industry that produces the commodity in terms of raw material quantities, direct labor hours, indirect labor cost, energy cost, tax cost, and capital investment. Material costs are location sensitive as is direct labor cost. Mean wage rate helps to identify labor skill requirements. Indirect labor is assumed to be a function of industry organization and overhead structure and is made up of a fixed charge plus a charge that is proportional to output. Energy cost is location sensitive. Capital investment is independent of location. Taxes and transportation depend on location. Transportation modal choice is intended to be commodity specific but independent of specific origins or destinations except as they influence the characteristics of the available transportation services. Market mechanisms consist of price elasticity of demand estimators that relate market share to price.

For each industry, major production and market areas are identified by zone from commodity flow data. These data, as modified, give origins and destinations by zone for each commodity group. To simplify the analysis, zones that account for very small amounts of production or consumption are omitted from the detailed investigations.

Commodity Flow Data

Commodity flow data always pose a problem Although many pieces of commodity flow data are available, assembling the complete fabric is almost impossible. Three principle data sources were used: NTP Commodity Flow Projections, largely based on the 1972 Census Commodity Transportation Survey, or (CTS Data) [9], the Census of Transportation [10], and the Census of Manufacturers [11]. The NTP data as compiled by U. S. DOT were the principle source. These data are more complete than other sources and provide BEA to BEA movements. However, they are divided into only 20 commodity groups which mask many potential development opportunities in the Multi-State Corridor. Both Census sources are available in finer commodity detail. However, both suffer from disclosure problems.

Considerable effort has been expended in using Census and other data to break down the NTP data into 53 commodity groups and to further divide them into the smaller corridor zones. The process is described in some detail in Chapter IV. The modified commodity flow data are loaded onto the network to provide the structure against which new opportunities are measured. This

structure includes the locations of the major producing facilities in each commodity/industry group. It also includes the markets served by each facility and the commodity flow between producers and markets. Costs are calculated for each production facility. These costs are combined with the transportation cost over the most favorable route to yield an estimated cost at each market for each facility.

The Investigation of New Opportunities

Once the analytical framework is complete, the analysis focuses on identifying promising programs of transportation facilities and services in terms of their stimulus to economic development. The work begins by postulating and describing a set of new transportation services that has promise for supporting economic development in the Multi-State Corridor. Then the analysis focuses on testing those economic development opportunities.

The objective function combines the amount of labor employed in the Multi-State Corridor, the gross product of the corridor industry, and the transportation cost savings achieved in U.S. markets as a whole. Attractive development programs will show high values for the objective function. The research will find a good solution by comparing alternative transportation programs. It does not necessarily lead to an optimal value.

The analysis is of necessity money based. To be successful, a new facility must be able to produce and deliver its products to a sufficient number of markets at a cost that is comparable to the costs of other facilities with which it must compete. The costs of delivering competitive products to a market place include the costs of (1) raw materials, (2) direct labor, (3) indirect labor, (4) energy, (5) taxes, (6) capital, and (7) transportation. The final measure of economic viability for a new industrial facility is whether it can compete in a sufficient number of markets to support a financially viable facility size.

When testing new facility types and locations, to identify development opportunities, the raw material costs, labor rates, energy costs, and taxes are characteristics of the elected locations. Transportation costs depend on sources of raw materials, on the locations of markets to be served, and on the amount and quantity of the services available between the new facility and its potential markets. Transportation cost and service are subject to change by the construction and operations of new transportation facilities and services

or by using advantageous intermodal transfers.

The analysis proceeds in the orderly fashion illustrated in Figure 2. When the transportation improvements have been postulated, the first step is to adjust the routing of the commodity movements in the base commodity flow so that they can take advantage of the new transportation facilities and services. Next, an industry/commodity group is selected for analysis. A zone is picked, and production costs are calculated for that zone. Next, transportation costs are calculated from the new facility to existing markets for the products. Market costs for the new facility are set equal to production costs plus transportation costs. A market share is calculated for each market on the basis of relative costs. All market shares are summed. If the aggregation of the market shares is greater than the minimum sized facility for that industry, then a development opportunity has been identified. It is catalogued by zone, industry, and potential size. If the sum of the estimated market shares is too small, no opportunity has been found. In either case, the analysis proceeds to the next zone for which it tests the same industry.

When all zones have been tested, the one that can support the largest industry is selected. It is possible to fix one industry location and test for additional opportunities for the same industry. The analysis then proceeds in a similar fashion to test the balance of the industry/commodity groups. The product of the analysis is a set of opportunities with at least one potential location identified for each.

The incremental gross product and the incremental employment are calculated by zone for the potential new development and for the corridor as a whole. Total transportation costs are also calculated for all commodity movements and transportation savings brought about by the new transportation developments are recorded.

Summary

The following chapters describe the different components of the analytical method in greater detail. Chapter III describes the development of the zone structure. Chapter IV discusses the data manipulations that were used to prepare the commodity flow data. Chapter V presents the development of the industry profiles which are summarized in Appendix B. Chapter VI describes the selection of the network arcs which are listed in Appendix C. Finally, Chapter VII gives a brief discussion of the network analysis which will be presented in more detail in a later report.

III TRANSPORTATION ZONES

Because of the close relationship between transportation zones and commodity flow data, the zones and data sources were developed together. However, it is convenient to present the zone structure first because of its influence on the manipulations needed to develop the commodity flow data base.

A transportation zone structure was sought that would be detailed enough to reflect local movements within the Multi-State Corridor and yet general enough to retain analytical tractability. Some investigators, notably Harris [1], have worked with county sized zones. With more than 3000 counties in the continental United States, this degree of detail presents formidable data and analytical problems. Harris has been able to investigate only a limited number of transportation alternatives because of the time and expense associated with each investigation. Many investigators have used state sized zones. This size, while convenient from a data viewpoint, would have little value within the Multi-State Corridor because of its grossness. State data also introduce difficulties because of the large number of major production centers that straddle state boundaries -- e.g., New York, Philadelphia, Chicago, St. Louis.

Variable Zone Size

To achieve detail within the Multi-State Corridor without assuming too heavy a burden outside the corridor, a variable zone size structure was selected. Variable zone size structures have been used in a number of investigations, particularly state transportation plans (e.g., 7,8) where gateways for entry to and exit from the state are more important than precise relationships among origins and destinations. These studies focus on present commodity movements and future movements that are based on a continuation of present relationships. Under these restricted circumstances, it is likely that the variable zone structures do not distort the analysis so as to lead to erroneous conclusions. However, no proof has been presented.

In the present research, the zone size, composition, and representation play key roles in identifying economic development opportunities for the Multi-State Corridor. Each zone is described in terms of its area and its nodal point or centroid. The centorid represents its zone in the following important ways:

1. Production Costs -- labor, material, energy and tax costs -- represent

costs throughout the zone.

- Transportation costs and service to and from the zone are adequately represented by transportation costs and service to and from the centroid.
- 3. Intermode transfers are allowed to occur only at zone centroids.
- 4. All transportation arcs are represented by routes that originate and terminate at zone centroids.
- Intra-zone movements are neglected as having no bearing on development opportunities.

These conditions do not appear to be unduly burdensome for small zones that contain one dominant urban center. However, small zones that have several candidate centroids and large zones with considerable rural area or with a varied urban development can present serious problems. No suitable proof is available to allay fears. The following discussion is merely intended to make a case for the reasonableness of the approach.

The first point concerning production costs requires either a homogeneity throughout the zone or a strong dominance by the centroid. It can be argued that on balance, the type or variation that occurs favors the acceptance of centroid costs as representative of either a large or a non-homogeneous zone. Some cost elements -- e.g., labor and taxes -- will be cheaper in rural or low density areas than they are in adjacent urban areas. Other costs -- e.g., transportation for raw materials -- are just as often higher in rural or low density areas. On balance, in today's industrial environment, urban costs are comparable with rural costs. If this were not so, firms would not continue to locate in urban areas in preference to rural areas. In fact, a major goal of this research is to identify the circumstances under which more industry will choose Furthermore, the volume of activity to locate in small cities or rural areas. in urbanized areas is sufficiently greater than that in surrounding rural areas to dominate the rural activity. Thus, if a single urban centroid exists, it will likely dominate a zone, and it is not unreasonable to represent the zone with the characteristics of the urban center. If several urban centers exist they should each be examined and the one selected for centroid that most closely approaches the mean characteristics.

Common carrier operations focus on terminals that are generally located in or near shipping centers. Long distance shipments are brought to the terminals

for redirection to particular consignees. Thus, costs increase and service decreases as the distance from the terminal increases. This suggests that node centroids represent transportation costs and service only to the extent that the centroid dominates commerce in the zone. This situation is mitigated by the structure of private truck, barge, and bulk rail operations for which distance is the major determinant of cost and service. Under these circumstances, it can be argued that the zone centroid represents the zone if it is near the geometric centroid of commercial activity in the zone.

The requirements that all intermodal transfers take place at zone centroids and that transportation arcs terminate at centroids present three types of problems. The first is the requirement that modal routes intersect at or near zone centroids. For zones dominated by a single metropolitan area, this is not a problem. However, the centroid of small corridor zones may be foci of highway or rail or water activity, but not all three. The problem is particularly severe with regard to the inland waterways which intersect other modes only at major ports. Some accomodation is needed. The second problem concerns distant points for which large zones are desired. Transportation routes need to be somewhat distorted to preserve the essence of intermodal transfer opportunities that occur far outside of zone centroids. The third problem concerns the arid regions of the west that have sparse populations and sparse transportation networks. In a number of instances, no single location exists that serves as a transportation focus and as a center of intermodal transfers.

Intra-zone shipments pose an even more difficult problem. In small zones, intra-zone shipments may amount to little more than local drayage -- commerce between firms that are close together. While many of these movements represent important shipments from producers to customers they are often based on relationships that require close proximity. Participation in these exchanges of goods is not likely to be available to new establishments in the Multi-State Corridor and hence the intra-zonal movements can be neglected. In the larger, more distant zones, intra-zone shipments can be several hundred miles long. However, these large zones are sufficiently remote from the Corridor that transport distances from Corridor facilities would be extremely long, suggesting doubtful opportunities for new Corridor developments. A more likely eventuality is that a new Corridor facility would compete with an existing facility in a distant zone for a market in a third location. In this instance, the size of the distant zone may not pose a serious problem.
The selection of variable zone sizes undoubtedly introduces some errors. The size of these errors is not known at this time. It is reasonable to expect that the errors are no larger than the irreducible data errors, and are therefore acceptable. However, the final resolution of this problems must await a later point in the research.

Building Blocks

1

A review of available data reveals that a large number of different territorial subdivisions have been made for the continental United States. These have been used for regulation, rate making, data collection, evaluation, and a variety of other purposes by a alrge number of different organizations. Several have resulted from different organizations seeking geographical divisions that are smaller than states but larger than counties. Two of these are of particular interest. The U. S. DOT has done considerable work in terms of a set of 440 Transportation Zones. They have defined transportation networks for the different modes and they have collected a good bit of data on transportation facilities. Regrettably, no commodity flow data have been collected for these zones.

The Office of Business Economics of the Department of commerce has done considerable economic analysis in terms of a set of 171 Basic Economic Areas (BEAs). In addition, U. S. DOT has prepared a comprehensive set of commodity flow data for the BEAs. On careful study, it appeared easier to translate facility data from Transportation Zones to BEAs than to translate commodity flow data from BEAs to the Transportation Zones. Therefore, the BEA was selected as the basic building block outside the Multi-State Corridor.

BEAs are too large for use within the Mutli-State Corridor. Each BEA contains about thirty counties. In all, the Corridor would contain only 12 BEA sized zones. This level of detail was judged unsatisfactory and a smaller building block was sought for use in the Corridor. The most suitable building block found was the Planning and Development District (PDD) which is comprised of about ten counties. PDDs have been designated by all Corridor states. In addition, data have been collected and local transportation studies have been performed by almost all PDDs within the Corridor.

Zone Selection Criteria

The selected building blocks -- BEAs and PDDs -- largely determine the zones in and near the Multi-State Corridor. Corridor zones are PDDs and the

and the zones close around the Corridor are BEAs. However, this selection omits three-quarters of the nation for which zones larger than a BEA are desired. To define these larger zones, a basis is needed for combining BEAs in a manner likely to yield a set of zones that can support the analysis of the Corridor's commercial relationships with the nation.

Several criteria were selected to guide and evaluate the different combinations of BEAs:

- 1. Each zone should have a dominant urban centroid.
- 2. Each zone should have homogeneous economic activity.
- 3. Each zone centroid should be served by the transportation modes that serve the zone.
- Each zone centroid should contain a major terminal for at least one transportation mode.
- 5. Each zone should have a major direction of access from each of the Corridor zones.

The first two criteria can be expressed quantiatively in terms of population and industry activity. The last three are expressed qualitatively, using transportation system maps and transportation data as principle sources.

Zone Selection

The zone selection process began with the designation of the PDDs within the Multi-State Corridor. The PDD boundaries do not match either the designated Multi-State Corridor Boundaries or the BEA boundaries. Thus, a uniform transition from PDDs to BEAs is not possible. The transition problem was resolved in two ways. First, the Multi-State Corridor boundary was adjusted to include an integral number of PDDs. The team felt that a larger number of small corridor zones is preferable to a too early transition to BEA-sized zones.

The interface between PDDs and BEAs contained some counties that were excluded from a selected PDD and the adjacent BEA and other counties that were included in both a PDD and the adjacent BEA. Extra counties were accomodated in one of three ways:

- 1. The county was added to the nearest PDD,
- 2. The county was added to the nearest BEA, or
- The county was combined with other adjacent extra counties to form a sub-BEA sized zone.

Counties claimed by both PDD and BEA were awarded to the BEA if they fell outside the Multi-State Corridor jurisdiction. This action tended to preserve BEA integrity which was desirable for purposes of preparing commodity flow data. Counties that fell inside the Multi-State Corridor were awarded to the nearest PDD to preserve the small zone size nature of the Corridor. The resolution process produced a few small zones outside the Corridor, but in general, the structure conformed to the guidelines that were established for the variable zone sizes.

The next step in the zone selection was to develop the external zones from the BEA building blocks. The zones immediately around the Corridor were BEA sized or BEAs augmented with miscellaneous counties. The balance of the zones are made up of two or more BEAs. Candidate combination schemes were prepared to suit different selection criteria.

The first trial was based on the first two criteria -- dominant urban centroid and homogeneous economic activity. This effort sought to combine BEAs that shared common principle industries and that could focus on a single centroid Data on the value of shipments for the three largest commodity/industry groups were prepared for each BEA from the OBERS data for 1972 [12]. Adjacent BEAs were compared in terms of both the ranking and the size of their top three industries. Where two of the three industries agreed, a good match was found. Where only one agreed, but it was large, or where major industries were related, an acceptable match was found. This procedure was followed to identify a set of relatively homogeneous zones.

A modification was prepared to the first set of zones that reflects the major crop regions of the midwester and western states. Data on Water Resource Regions, grain districts, and timber districts were used to modify the midwestern and western zones. In most cases, proposed changes did not upset industry balances for industries that were very large.

The second trial was based on the third, fourth, and fifth criteria -modal transportation routes, transportation terminals, and access from the Multi-State Corridor. The first step was to prepare maps of the major modal transportation routes. The highway map consisted of the Interstate and Defense Highway System augmented by a few federal aid primary routes where the interstate system did not fit the BEA structure very well. The railroad map contained the class A Mainlines as designated by the U. S. DOT, augmented with potential

Class A mainlines and a few Class B mainlines to round out a balanced network [13]. The waterway map included all of the inland waterways maintained by the Corps of Engineers together with coastal and intercoastal routes. In this trial, nodal cities were identified first in terms of their impacts on the transportation networks. Zones were collected around the nodal cities in a manner that generally reflected the market areas served by each city.

The two alternative approaches proceeded independently to complete zone designations for the 80 zones external to the Corridor. The two results were then compared. Twenty-one of the zones were identical. Differences among the balance were quite varied but many differences represented a choice between adding a BEA to one zone or another. These differences were resolved in conference to the satisfaction of all. The resulting zone map is shown in Figure 3. Zone centroids are listed in Table 2. Appendix A contains a complete list of the network zones, including the BEAs and/or counties included in each. This structure has been used throughout the balance of the analysis.



TABLE 2 TRANSPORTATION ZONE CENTROIDS

Savannah, Ga.

41.

Multi-State Corridor Zones

External Zones

Brunswick, Ga. 1. 2. Jacksonville, F1. 3. Statesboro, Ga. 4. Waycross, Ga. 5. Dublin, Ga. 6. Valdosta, Ga. 7. Macon, Ga. 8. Cordele, Ga. 9. Albany, Ga. 10. LaGrange, Ga. 11. Columbus, Ga. 12. Anniston, Al. 13. Montgomery, A1. 14. Troy, A1. 15. Dothan, Al. Decatur, A1. 16. 17. Birmingham, Al. 18. Florence, A1. 19. Tuscaloosa, Al. 20. Corinth, Ms. 21. Tupelo, Ms. 22. Columbus, Ms. 23. Clarksdale, Ms. Dyersburg, Tn. 24. 25. Jackson, Tn. Memphis, Tn. 26. 27. Jonesboro, Ak. 28. Searcy, Ak. 29. Harrison, Ak. 30. Sikeston, Mo. Poplar Bluff, Mo. 31. 32. West Plains, Mo. 33. Lebanon, Mo. Marshall, Mo. 34. 35. Sedalia, Mo. 36. Springfield, Mo. 37. St. Joseph, Mo. 38. Kansas City, Mo. 39. Nevada, Mo. 40. Joplin, Mo.

42.	Augusta, Ga.
43.	Milledgeville, Ga.
44.	Atlanta, Ga.
45.	Chattanooga, Tn.
46.	Huntsville, Al.
47.	Nashville, Tn.
48.	Evansville, In.
49.	Cape Girardeau Mo.
50.	St. Louis, Mo.
51.	Quincy, I1.
52.	Columbia, Mo.
53.	Chillacothe, Mo.
54.	Des Moines, Ia.
55.	Omaha, Ne.
56.	Topeka, Ks.
57.	Wichita, Ks.
58.	Tulsa, Ok.
59.	Ft. Smith, Ak.
60.	Little Rock, Ak.
61.	Greenville, Ms.
62.	Jackson, Ms.
63.	Meridian, Ms.
64.	Mobile, Al.
65.	Pensacola, Fl.
66.	Tallahassee, Fl.
67.	Gainesville, Fl.
68.	Miami, Fl.
69.	Boston, Ma.
70.	Albany, NY
71.	Buffalo, NY
72.	New York, NY
73.	Scranton, Pa.
74.	Harrisburg, Pa.
75.	Pittsburgh, Pa.
76.	Washington, D. C.
77.	Roanoke, Va.
78.	Richmond, Va.
79.	Charlotte, NC
80.	Raleigh, NC

81. Greenville, SC 82. Columbia, SC 83. Knoxville, Tn. 84. Charleston, WV Cincinnati, Oh. 85. 86. Dayton, Oh. 87. Cleveland, Oh. 88. Detroit, Mi. 89. Indianapolis, In. 90. Chicago, Il. 91. Milwaukee, Wi. 92. St. Paul, Mn. 93. Billings, Mt. 94. Denver, Co. 95. Oklahoma City, Ok. 96. Texarkana, Tx. 97. Shreveport, La. 98. New Orleans, La. 99. Tampa, F1. 100. Amarillo, Tx. 101. Dallas, Tx. 102. El Paso, Tx. 103. Austin, Tx. 104. San Antonio, Tx. 105. Houston, Tx. 106. Salt Lake City, Ut. 107. Phoenix, Ar. 108. Albuquerque, NM 109. Seattle, Wa. 110. San Francisco, Ca. 111. Los Angeles, Ca. 112. Charleston, SC 113. Duluth, Mn. 114. Springfield, I1. 115. Toledo, Oh. Columbus, Oh. 116. 117. Portland, Or. 118. Fargo, ND 119. Grand Rapids, Mi. 120. Norfolk, Va.

IV COMMODITY FLOW DATA

Commodity flow data that describe the present movements of goods in commerce from producers to major markets are a key ingredient in the analysis of development opportunities. Unfortunately, accurate commodity flow data are not available in the form needed for analysis. This shortcoming is due to differences in the reporting requirements made of the different transportation modes, differences in the purposes of data collection efforts, omissions necessitated by disclosure regulations, and simply to the errors and omissions attendant to any massive data collection effort.

By far the best data available are the commodity flows for movements by rail. All railroads are common carriers and all commodity movements by rail are subject to regulation by the Interstate Commerce Commission (ICC). Furthermore, a one percent sample is taken each year of all carload rail shipments. For each waybill in this sample, data are recorded on commodity, origin station, destination station, shipment size, car type, milage, short line milage,^{*} and revenue. Although the sample is but a small fraction of the shipments, it gives a good representation of moderate and high volume commodity movements between major terminals. Recent unpublished research by Day and Zimmerman and the University of California suggests that when treated in three year combinations the waybill sample does give a statistically reliable, railroad specific representation of commodity movements for two digit STCC^{**} groupings.

Commodity movements by highway are much more difficult to estimate because of differences in regulations, less detail in reporting requirements, and the large number of non-regulated and private truckers. Truckers that generate substantial commodity movements can be generally divided into five categories:

- Common carriers operating over prescribed routes in prescribed territories and subject to ICC regulations,
- 2. Common carriers hauling exempt commodities for back haul,
- 3. Contract (or irregular route) carriers acting as shipper's agents who carry goods that are subject to only limited regulations, with or without back hauls of exempt commodities,

^{*}Shortline milage is the length of the shortest possible rail route between origin and destination.

^{**} Standard Transportation Commodity code.

^{***} Exempt from ICC regulations; principally unprocessed agricultural products

- 4. Private truckers moving their own goods or exempt commodities anywhere without restriction or regulation, and
- 5. Individual truckers or firms that move only exempt commodities without restriction or regulation.

A majority of all highwayshipments are handled by private truckers who are not obliged to report on their activity except as they may be requested to make periodic inputs to the Census of Transportation surveys. In addition, all short hauls within designated terminals are free from regulations and reporting.

Even the reports of regulated motor common carriers are less detailed than are the railroad reports. Typically, highway carriers report only tonnage originated by commodity classification. They do not give geographical movement or shipment size data.

Data on commodity movements by water are subject to many of the same difficulties experienced with highway movements where private carriage also predominates. Many manufacturing firms operate tow boats and barges to carry their own products and supplies. The vast Great Lakes ore movements are almost entirely in private hands that are free from reporting requirements. Some companies also operate coastal and intercoastal steamship services. Common carriers by water that operate in inland waterways or in coastwise or intercoastal trade are subject to ICC regulations. However, like highway carriers they report only tons originated and carried by commodity.

The Corps of Engineers keeps some data on port and waterway activity. How-However, these data do not include origin to destination movements, nor are uniform data kept for all ports and waterways.

The commodity data problem has been recognized for a long time. In 1963, the Bureau of the Census undertook the first Census of Transportation. This survey and analysis has been repeated at five year intervals since. Manufacturers and producers are requested to provide data on a sample of individual shipments. including commodity, origin, destination, carrier mode, shipment size, route, and revenue where appropriate. These data are combined by geographical location industry group, and other measures and summarized in a variety of useful documents. The detailed data are subjected to disclosure protection before publication. Thus, geographical jurisdictions with three or fewer producers or consumers are eliminated from the published data. Disclosure problems are avoided by preparing larger amalgamations in terms of geographical area and

^{*} Exempt from ICC regulations; principally unprocessed agricultural products.

commodity grouping. The fine grain data omit many shipments and therfore do not adequately represent small areas such as counties or specific commodities to the three or four digit STCC level.

If one amalgamates both by geography and commodity, completeness is achieved at the expense of detail. Some compromise is clearly indicated. The research team chose to use geographical amalgamations with commodity detail. This compromise did not give complete coverage but it provided a useful building block.

The Census of Transportation has focused on intercity movements and therefore has excluded shipments from its sample that travel less than 25 miles. This convention in no way affects the validity of the sample, but it does prevent reconciliation between the Census of Transportation and the Census of Manufacturers. In 1978, the Census of Transportation will sample from all shipping distances and it will reconcile commodity movements against the Census of Manufacturers. This step will be difficult but it will greatly enhance the value of both censuses.

The last source that was extensively used in compiling commodity flow data was the Census of Manufacturers. This five year census is both larger and older than the Census of Tansportation. It produces production data by county, SMSA, or larger areas by five digit SIC code. A large amount of useful information is collected, including employement data, wage and salary data, raw material cost, value added, and many other useful tidbits. Unfortunately, data for small geographical divisons suffer from disclosure problems and have limited usefulness. Statewide data are generally complete and reliable.

NTP Data

Assembling the available data into a reliable set of zone to zone movements for transportation analysis is an immense task. Fortunately, the Department of Transportation, through its Transportation System Center (TSC) in Cambridge, Mass. has undertaken this formidable task, and has made substantial progress. By combining the 1972 Census Commodity Transportation Survey with a special study of bulk commodity movements, TSC has produced what is likely the most comprehensive set of commodity flow data available for the United States. This work is adequately described in Reference 9. We will summarize those steps that have greatest significance to the Multi-State research.

TSC organized commodity movements into BEA zones of origin and destination. Use of the OBERS divisions in combination with the use of only 20 commodity classes, provided the amalgamation needed to circumvent disclosure problems and to fit available data sources. Table 3 lists the NTP commodity groupings together with the principle sources of each group: the CTS survey or the special bulk commodity study.

The major omission from the NTP data is movements of unprocessed agricultural products, except field crops. These data were omitted because of the extreme difficulty in identifying nation-wide commodity flows with reasonably uniform accuracy. Comparisons with Census of Transportation and Census of Manufacturers data suggest that the NTP set is remarkably complete. However, no specific check was made for completeness. We judged the data adequate to demonstrate the analytical method -- our first year objective.

The NTP data were made available to the project team on a magnetic tape that contains commodity by NTP group, origin zone, destination zone, mode split, and transportation cost for each mode. The specific fields on the tape are listed in Table 4. These data constitute the starting commodity flow data for all of the first year's analysis.

Commodity Groupings

The 20 groups used in the NTP data have some important shortcomings from the viewpoint of multi-mode transportation planning. Several industries of great importance to the Southeast have been included in the single miscellaneous category. These include tobacco, rubber and plastics, leather and stone, clay and glass. Lumber and wood have been combined with furniture and fixtures. Printing and publishing have been omitted, and all chemicals have been grouped together. In addition, metal working industries appear as only 3 categories -fabricated metal products, non-electrical machinery, and electrical machinery. It is desirable to present a finer breakdown of these industries so that more specific industrial development data can be investigated.

In selecting the commodity breakdown to be used, the desire for greater detail was balanced against available data and the need to expand the 20 commodity NTP data set. There was also a strong desire to provide detail for those industry areas likely to be attracted to the Multi-State Corridor. Attractive industries could not be identified with any certainty at this early date, but attention was given to industries with relatively high labor input,

Commodity No.	Name	STCC Codes	Source	
1	Field Crops	011	В	
2	Forestry & Fishery Products	08,09	В	
3	Coal	11	В	
4	Crude Petroleum	13	В	
5	Metallic Ores	10	В	
6	Non-Metallic Minerals	14	В	
7	Food & Kindred Products	20	С	
8	Textile Mill Prod. & Apparel	22,23	С	
9	Mfgr. Not Otherwise Identified	*	С	
10	Chemical & Allied Products	28	B,C	
11	Lumber & Furniture	24,25	С	
12	Machinery (Except Electrical)	35	С	
13	Electrical Machinery	36	С	
14	Transportation Equipment	37	С	
16	Paper & Allied Products	26	С	
17	Petroleum & Coal Products	29	B,C	
18	Primary Metal Products	33	C	
19	Fabricated Metal Products	34	С	
20	Miscellaneous Products	21,30,31,32,38,39	С	

TABLE 3NTP COMMODITY GROUPINGS

B = Bulk Survey

C = Census Data

* = This commodity group contains an amalgamation of all of the manufacturers that were removed from other groups to avoid disclosure.

TABLE 4					
NTP	MAGNETIC	TAPE	DATA	FIELDS	

Data <u>Field</u>	Description	Format
1-2	Year Code	12
3–4	Commodity Number (Table 3)	12
57	Origin BEA Code	13
8-10	Destination BEA Code	13
11	Transport Mode Code	I1
	1 = Rail	
	2 = Motor Carrier	
	3 = Private Truck	
	4 = Water	
	5 = Pipeline	
	6 = Air Freight	
12-21	Annual Commodity Flow (tons)	110
22-27	Shipping Cost (\$/ton)	F6.2
28-33	Time Value (\$/ton/day)	F6.2
34-39	Time in Transit (days)	F6.2
40-51	"K" Value for Mode Split	E12.7
For a Mode Split	Alternative:	
52-57	New Shipping Cost (\$/ton)	F6.2
58-63	New Time Value (\$/ton/day)	F6.2
64-69	New Time in Transit (days)	F6.2
70 - 79	Calculated Commodity Flow (tons)	110

low to moderate capital investment needs and to industries that draw on resources known to be available in the Corridor area. After much consideration the team elected to expand the following areas beyond the two digit code:

10 Metal Mining,

- 20 Food & Kindred Products,
- 28 Chemicals & Allied Products,
- 30 Rubber & Miscellaneous Plastic Products,
- 32 Stone, Clay, Glass, & Concrete Products,
- 33 Primary Metal Industries,
- 34 Fabricated Metal Products except Machinery & Transportation Equipment,
- 36 Electrical & Electronic Machinery, Equipment, & Supplies, and
- 37 Transportation Equipment.

All other commodities were treated in terms of the two digit SIC (or STCC) commodity codes. This, itself represented some expansion of the NTP data.

Particular care was given to the selection of industry/commodity groups because each one is treated like a homogeneous industry for purposes of identifying economic development opportunities. Industry characteristics are discussed in Chapter V. The final list of 53 commodity/industry groups is presented in Table 5.

Commodity Flow Data Preparation

A commodity flow set was prepared from the data resources at hand to give zone to zone origin to destination movements for the zones illustrated in Figure 3 and the commodities listed in Table 5.

The NTP data were the source of zone to zone movement information. These data were adjusted using other data sources, to yield the desired form and detail. The principle source used for the adjustment was a magnetic tape of the 1972 Census of Transportation giving state to state movements of commodities to four digit detail. These data were exapnded where important disclosure omissions were observed and they were supplemented with demographic and employment data as required. The principle manipulations and data used to perform these manipulations are:

	TABLE	5		
COMMODITY/INDUSTRY	GROUPS	SELECTED	FOR	ANALYSIS

NO.	DESCRIPTION	SIC CODES	NO.	DESCRIPTION	SIC.CODES
011	Curd a	011	282	Plastics	282
011			283	Drugs	283
013	Field Crops	015,010,018,019	284	Soap	284
021	LIVESTOCK	021	285	Paint	285
024	Dairy	024	286	Industrial Organic Chemicals	286
025	Poultry & Eggs	025	287	Agricultural Chemicals	287
080	Forestry	08	289	Miscellaneous Chemicals	289
090	Commercial Fishing	09	290	Petroleum Refining	29
101	Iron Ore		301	Tires & Tubes	301
102	Non Ferrous Ores	102,103,104,103,	302	Rubber & Plastic Products	302,308,304,306
		106,108			307
110	Coal	11,12	310	Leather & Leather Products	31
130	011& Gas Extraction	113	324	Cement	324
140	Non-Metallic Minerals	14	321	Stone Clay Glass & Concrete Prod.	321, 322, 323, 325
201	Meat	201			326.327.328.329
202	Dairy Products	202	331	Iron & Steel	331.332
203	Canned & Preserved Food	203	333	Non Ferrous Metals	333, 334, 335, 336
204	Grain Products	204	055		339
205	Bakery Products	205	361	Metal Cans & Shipping Containers	341
206	Confectionary	206	342	Fabricated Metal Products	342 343 344 345
207	Fats & Oils	207	342	Horicalla melar riviaceo	346 347 348 349
208	Beverages	208	350	Machinery, Except Flectrical	35
209	Misc Food	209	362	Electrical Industrial Apparatus	363
210	Tobacco	21	361	Electrical Machinery	361 363 367 367 30T
220	Textile Mill Products	22			366 367 360
2 30	Apparel	23	371	Motor Vehicles & M.V. Fauin	300,307,309
240	Lumber & Wood	24	372	Transportation Equipment	371 373 371 375
250	Furniture & Fixtures	25			376 370
260	Paper	26	380	Measuring Instruments	38
270	Printing & Publishing	27	390	Miscellaneous Manufacturing	20
281	Industrial Inorganic Chemicals	281		interesting interesting	

- Expand the NTP data from 20 commodities to 53 commodities using Censust of Transportation data,
- 2. Compress the NTP data from BEA to BEA to zone to zone format for all zones containing more than one BEA, and
- 3. Expand the NTP data from BEA to BEA to zone to zone format for Multi-State Corridor zones, that are smaller than BEAs, using employment data by industry and other demographic data.

It is convenient to divide the manipulation into three categories for descriptive puroses.

Category I: Products for Which NTP Commodities are used Intact (110, 130, 140, 290, 350)

This category is the most straightforward.

1. NTP commodity flow data were compressed to zonal data for the large multi-BEA zones. Other data were kept in BEA form. Thus

$$f_{ij\ell}^{m} = \sum_{L=1}^{Q} \sum_{J=1}^{K} d_{iJL}^{m}$$

where:

 f_{ijl} is the movement of commodity i from zone j to zone l via mode m where j and l are zones of the network,

 d_{1JL}^m is the reported commodity movement from BEA zone J to BEA zone L via mode m, where zone J is part of zone j and zone L is part of zone l

Q is the number of BEA zones in zone l, and

K is the number of BEA zones in zone j.

2. Production in zones smaller than a BEA was estimated from employment data. The number of persons in each zone j that are employed by industry i was estimated using state directories of manufacturers, state labor department data, and other sources for the seven corridor states:

$$\mathbf{e}_{ij} = \frac{\underbrace{E_{ij}}_{J}}{\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j=1}}^{J} E_{ij}}$$

where:

e is the fraction of industry i workers in BEA zone J that work in zone j,

E_{ii} is the number of employees in industry i in node j, and

J is the number of zones in the BEA that contains zone j.

3. Production reported for each BEA was allocated to the smaller zones comprising the BEA on the basis of the employment fractions developed in step 2.

$$\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{ij}} = \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{ij}}^{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{ij}}$$

where:

 \hat{P}_{ii} is the estimated production of commodity i in zone j,

 P_{ij} is the reported production of commodity i in BEA zone J based on tons of commodity i originating in zone J.

4. Markets for commodities produced in sub-BEA zones was divided exactly as was production

where:

 $d_{i,I\ell}$ is the movement from BEA zone J to market ℓ

5. Markets in zones smaller than a BEA were allocated on the basis of population:

$$d_{ijl} = \frac{P_l}{P_L} d_{ijL}$$

where:

 $P_{\hat{\chi}}$ is the population of zone l, P_{τ} is the population of zone L, and

d_{il} is the movement of commodity i from j to BEA L.

Steps 2 through 5 were repeated for all zones that are smaller than a BEA. Where small zones cross BEA boundaries, the calculations are based on a large zone, J or L, that is made up of two BEAs. The result of the analysis is a complete origin-destination matrix for each commodity i. Category II: Commodities That are Part of Large NTP Groupings (201-209, 210, 220, 230, 240, 250, 260, 270, 281-289, 301, 302, 310, 321, 324, 331, 333, 341, 361, 371, 380, 390)

The second category is the largest category. It is somewhat more complex. than Category I because the NTP commodity flow groupings are sufficiently large to contain commodities with very different flow paaterns. For example, NTP category 5 contains all metalic ores. However, iron ore and bauxite have very different movement patterns. The NTP commodity flow data are revised to fit the network using additional data sources, principally the state to state Census of Transportation that reports four digit SIC commodities. By this procedure, BEA commodity flow data first are compressed for all multi-BEA zones, as for Category I.

Next, NTP commodity flow data are disaggregated into smaller classes using fractions developed from the Census of Transportation state to state data.

$$f_{ijl}^{m} = a_{iJL}^{m} \cdot d_{Ijl}^{m}$$

where:

 f_{ijl}^{m} is the movement of commodity i from zone j to zone l via mode m (j, l, are BEA sized zones or multiple BEA sized zones),

 $d^m_{\mbox{ Ijl}}$ is flow of CTS commodity class I from zone j to zone l via mode m as determined in Step 1, and

 a_{iJL}^{m} is the fraction of CTS commodity class I moving from state J to state L via mode m that is represented by commodity i.

In this case, commodity i is a subclass of NTP commodity I, States J and L are selected to be those that most nearly approximate the economic behavior of zones j and l. Thus

$$a_{iJL}^{m} = F_{iJL}^{m} / \sum_{k \in C_{T}} F_{kJL}^{m}$$

where:

 F_{iJL}^{m} is the movement of commodity i from state J to state L via mode m, and C_{T} is the set of commodities comprising NTP class I.

When the BEA commodities are allocated to the semaller commodity groups as outlined above, some BEA origins and destinations are divided among the smaller zones in and about the Multi-State Corridor. This was accomplished by the same procedrue outlined for Category I. Category III: Commodities that are Part of Larger NTP Groups for Which Census Data are not Available (011, 013, 080, 090)

Of the four commodities in the category, three -- grain (011), field crops (013), and forestry (080) -- are of great interest to the Multi-State Corridor. Each commodity is combined with one other commodity in the NTP commodity flow data. The task is to separate the two NTP commodity groups into four in as realistic a manner as possible. This was accomplished by selecting one commodity and subtracting it from the total. The computational steps were as follows:

1. Compress BEA commodity flow data to conform to the large zones.

$$d_{ijl} = \sum_{q=1}^{Q} \sum_{k=1}^{K} d_{ijklq}$$

2. The originations were divided by sampling county data in each zone. A sample of five to ten counties was selected for each zone. In no case did sample size exceed 50 percent of the counties in the zone. For each county in the sample, state and federal agricultural data were used to estimate production for grain and field crops. Data were converted to tons and a ratio was computed.

$$g_{ij} = \frac{P_{ij}}{\sum_{i}^{P_{ij}}}$$

where:

g_{ii} is the fraction of commodity i produced in zone j, and

 $\rm P_{ij}$ is the production of commodity i in the sample counties of zone j. Factors g_{ij} were computed for each zone.

3. Destinations focused on the commodity group whose market was easiest to identify. Thus in BEA group 1 (grain and field crops), the destination analysis focused on field crops (cotton, tobacco, sugar, potatoes). For BEA group 2, the destination analysis focused on forest products.

The destination analysis made use of the raw material data developed as part of the industry profiles. Industries were identified that have substantial raw material requirements from the commodities under study. Tons of raw material per ton of output were calculated for each industry. Using these factors, raw material destinations were calculated from industry outputs.

$$\delta_{il} = \sum_{t} \gamma_{ti}^{P} tl$$

where:

 $\delta_{i\ell}$ is the amount of commodity i that terminates in zone ℓ ,

 γ_{ti} is the ratio of raw material i to the production of commodity t, and P_{tl} is the output of industry t in zone l. This value is equal to the originations of commodity t.

The $\gamma_{ti}P_{t0}$ products were summed over all industries.

4. Origin to destination flows were estimated by means of a simple gravity model:

$$d_{ij\ell} = \frac{g_{ij}P_{ij}\delta_{i\ell}}{\sum_{j\ell}^{\beta}}$$

where:

 $d_{j\ell}$ is the amount of commodity i that moves from zone j to zone ℓ , $\Delta_{j\ell}$ is the network distance from zone j to zone ℓ , and β is a coefficient.

The above steps produce commodity flow estimates for field crops and forest products. Estimates for grain are obtained by subtracting field crop estimates from NTP Commodity 1. Estimates for commercial fishing are obtained by subtracting forest products from NTP Commodity 2.

V INDUSTRY PROFILES

If a new facility in the Multi-State Corridor is to be successful, it must be able to market is products at a profit. The essence of this research is to determine the circumstances under which new facilities can be successful and to determine the contribution that transportation improvements can make to their success.

Market research, development planning, and other techniques have been devised to predict future economic change. Regrettably, past work fails to meet the needs of Multi-State development planning for one of two reasons -- either it is too narrow, of it is too broad. Market research is conducted for narrow industry segments -- generally specific products, often with particular brand identification -- always much narrower than the 53 commodity groups under study. In addition, the normal sequence of interviews and surveys is much too detailed a procedure to follow for 53 different commodity groups.

Development planning tends to lean heavily on the experience of the past and to deal with very broad industry sectors. The OBERS projections of future industrial growth by BEA represent the better and more comprehensive development planning work. However, this work has no mechanism with which to quantitatively measure the impacts of radical changes such as might be brought about by new transportation services.

In a similar manner, other approaches to development planning are set aside one by one. It remains for this research to devise a new procedure that can be used to identify and measure new opportunities. The new procedure is based on two key premises:

- A new facility cannot effectively compete in an existing market unless it has at least a marginal advantage over some firms already supplying to that market, and
- 2. To succeed, a new facility must be able to compete successfully in at least one existing market.

The first premise introduces the concepts of market advantage and market share that are developed below. The second premise is the basis for disregarding local demands that are induced by new facilities. This and other local impacts are important, but they could not be adequately explored during the first year of research. They will be the focus of future work.

Market Advantage

The success of a new facility will depend on its ability to compete effectively with other facilities that produce the same or similar products for the same market or markets. To compete effectively in a market, the new facility needs some sort of marginal market advantage over one or more of the other facilities that supply the market. This marginal advantage can be in the form of production cost, customer service, product quality or some combination of the three. Each of these three parameters of market advantage has several dimensions. Thus production cost includes raw material cost, direct labor cost, indirect labor cost, energy cost, capital cost, and tax cost. These are all costs that are associated with producing a product at a specific location. Customer service includes delivery cost, delivery time, delivery dependability, maintenance support, spare parts support, and other activities that facilitate a customer's use of a product. Customer service concerns serving a particular market from a particular facility location.

Product quality includes design, material, workmanship, quality control, and other design and manufacturing related factors. The product quality criterion is not considered in this analysis because of the complexity and uncertainty of making useful comparisons. Instead, we have assumed that all competing facilities can produce products of comparable quality.

Production Cost

The cost of producing commodity i at a facility located at j is calculated as follows:

$$c_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{6} c_{ijk}$$

where:

 c_{ij} is the unit of cost to produce i at location j, and

c_{ijk} is the unit cost of component k for product i at location j. There are six cost components: raw material, direct labor, indirect labor, energy, capital, and tax.

Production costs depend on facility size, as well as component costs. However, size in turn depends on the number of markets that the facility can serve and on its market share in each. For purposes of the anlysis, a minimum attractive size was developed for each inudstry type. Costs were developed

on the basis of this minimum facility size. To be considered feasible, a new facility must have market opportunities that are large enought to absorb the output of a minimum sized facility. If the market opportunities exceed the minimum, a larger facility could be built which could realize even larger cost advantages. To limit the complexity of the analytical process, additional cost advantages are not calculated.

Customer Service

Customer service is of a locational character. Its value depends on the specific commodity under study, on the specific location of the producing facility, and on the specific location of the market being tested. It includes some factors that are costable, others that are quantifiable, and still others that are not quantifiable. For the present research, a somewhat simplified approach has been followed to generate a dollar valued result. By this procedure, only three factors are considered; transportation cost, delivery time, and delivery dependability. All of these factors are influenced by the transportation mode selected and by the route chosen. The general form of the expression is

 $m_{ijl} = c_{ij} + \min_{m} \{t_{ijl}^{m} + f_{1i}\tau_{ijl}^{m} + f_{2i}\sigma_{ijl}^{2m}\}$

where:

 $\mbox{m}_{\mbox{ijl}}$ is the unit cost at market \mbox{l} of product i when manufactured at location j,

 $t^m_{\mbox{ijl}}$ is the unit transportation cost of product i moving from j to l via mode and route m,

f_{1i} is the value of a unit of travel time to commodity i, τ_{ijl}^{m} is the travel time for coomodity i from j to l via mode and route m, f_{2i} is the value of service dependability for commodity i, and σ_{ijl}^{m} is the measure of service dependability for commodity i from j to l via m (equal to the standard deviation of delivery time).

Values of the coefficients f_{1i} and f_{2i} are taken from the results of the mode split analysis. These carry the implicit assumption that utility to the consignee is the same as utility to the shipper. The values of $t_{ij\ell}^m$, $\tau_{ij\ell}^m$ and $v_{ij\ell}^m$ depend on the commodity i and the transportation mode and route m. They constitute the utility measure of the mode and route m. In addition to cost, time, and time

TABLE 6 MANUFACTURING INDUSTRY COST DATA

Item	Description	Units
1.	Number of Companies	
2.	Number of Establishments	
3.	Establishments > 20 Emp.	
4.	Employees	Thousand
5.	Payroll	\$Million
6.	Production Workers	Thousand
7.	Man-HoursProduction	Millions
8.	Wages	\$Million
9.	Wage Rate	\$/Man Hr.
10.	Value Added by Mfgr.	\$Million
11.	Cost of Materials	\$Million
12.	Cost of Goods Produced	\$Million
13.	Beginning Inventory (12-31-71)	\$Million
14.	Ending Inventory (12-31-72)	\$Million
15.	Correction	\$Million
16.	Cost of Goods Sold	\$Million
17.	Value of Shipments	\$Million
18.	Difference	\$Million
19.	Capital Expenditures	\$Million
20.	Structures & Additions	\$Million
21.	Machy. & Equipment	\$Million
22.	Gross Value of Fixed Assets	\$Million
23.	Materials & Supplies	\$Million
24.	Fuel & Energy	\$Million
25.	Fuel & Energy	Bil. BTU
26.	Resale	\$Million
27.	Contract	\$Million

variability, utility could include volume and shipment size and may later be modified to reflect the level of traffic between j and l.

Marginal Advantage

The marginal advantage that a new facility enjoys over another facility in a particular market, *l*, is determined by comparing the sum of the first facility's production cost and customer service cost with a similar sum for the second facility. The expression for marginal advantage is:

 $\Delta m_{ijl}^{p} = \{c_{ij} + m_{ijl}\} - c_{ip} - m_{ipl}$

where:

 Δm_{ijl}^{p} is the marginal advantage of a facility producing product i at location j and marketing it in market l in competition with a producer at location p.

Other terms are previously defined.

The extent to which the new facility participates in the market at ℓ depends on values $\Delta m_{ii\ell}^p$, as reflected in a market share relationship.

Industry Cost Data

Each industry is presumed to be made up of facilities of varying size that each produce the common, homogeneous commodity that represents the group. Each manufacturing industry group (SIC 200+) is described in general terms in the Census of Manufacturers. These general data are modified and used to describe the characteristics of the industry.

Cost data were collected to satisfy the production cost equation. Census of Manufacturers data were extracted to complete the form illustrated in Table 6. Items 1 through 11 were taken directly from the census. Item 12 is the sum of material costs (item 11) and value added by manufacturing (item 10). When adjusted for the change of inventory, this should approximate the cost of goods sold. The reconciliations (item 18) were generally quite good. Some discrepencies were noted in industries where unit inventory values fluctuate (e.g., tobacco and plastic products). Resale income (item 26) came from sale of materials rather than products and contract input (item 27) was work on products performed by non-employees. In general, the data presented a reason-

ably credible picture of its industry.

Raw material data were also collected for each industry group from the census of manufacturers. Commodity groups that comprise more than ten percent of the total material purchases were identified as principle raw materials and the quantity used was noted. Raw material values were listed in the Census for all commodities, however, weights were not always included. Mean unit prices were difficult to find because of the breadth of the commodity groups. A number of different courses were used. Where no independent data could be found, Robert's [14] figures were used.

Mean facility characteristics were calculated for each industry group by dividing group totals by the number of establishments. The characteristics of interest included annual cost of goods sold, number of employees, direct labor cost, indirect labor cost, average wage rate, energy quantity, energy cost, and capital investment. These data are listed in Appendix B for all of the manufacturing industry groups.

We also sought a basis for estimating minimum attractive facility size for a Multi-State Corridor installation. The minimum facility size varies widely from industry to industry and is not readily discernible from published data. Many small facilities belong to private companies that are not obliged to publish financial data. For most industries, only three items of size information were available from the Census of Manufacturers: (1) the number of establishments, (2) the number of establishments with 20 or more employees, and (3) the total number of employees. These bits of information immediately give an impression of the number of small firms in each industry group. As might be expected, facilities with fewer than 20 employees predominate in some industry groups and are a factor in all industry groups.

Most indutries are characterized by a small number of large establishments that dominate the industry together with a very large number of small firms that play much less significant roles. The firms with 20 and fewer employees undoubtedly fall into the latter category in each case. To be attractive, a new establishment in the Multi-State Corridor need not become a dominant producer, but it does need to be large enough to have an impact on national markets.

A rationale was developed for identifying a minimum attractive facilty size based on the desire for a large if not a dominant facility size. If one

were to rank in order all the establishments in increasing order of size as measured by the number of employees, the functional relationship can be approximated by the negative exponential density function:

$$f(w) = \lambda e^{-\lambda w}$$

where:

f(w) is the number of firms with w employees, and

 λ is the single parameter of the relationship.

The mean value of this function is $1/\lambda$. Thus the parameter λ can be determined from the mean facility size. If one assumes that the largest n facilities dominate the market, then a minimum attractive facility size might be the lower bound of the n largest facilities. Thus



If n is set equal to 20 percent of the facilities, then

 $\dot{w} = 1.61/\lambda$

Using this as a first approximation of the desired minimum facility size, the size was calculated for each of the 41 manufacturing industry/commodity groups as listed in Table 7 using constant output per direct labor employee. The characteristics of the different industries are presented in Appendix B. Data include major components and principal raw material needs.

Market Share

The existence of a positive Δm_{ijl}^p does not assure that a new facility at j can displace the producer at p from the market at l. In fact, the new facility may not capture as much of the market as the facility at p. However, the existence of a positive Δm_{ijl}^p suggests that there is a strong likelihood that a new facility at j can capture some of the market at l from the producer at p. The question to be addressed here is the size of the market share that a new facility might capture.

TABLE 7 MINIMUM FACILITY SIZE

			Capital	Annual Cost
Industry			Investment	of Goods Sold
Group	Name	Employees	(\$ Thousand)	(\$ Thousands)
201	Meat	111	851	12,416
202	Dairy	66	961	7,611
203	Preserved	147	16,917	7,745
204	Grain	58	1,475	7,385
205	Bakery	104	952	4,300
206	Confectionary	138	2,657	922
207	Fats & Oils	75	2,306	14,511
208	Beverages	94	2,273	8,322
209	Misc. Food	52	690	3,731
210	Tobacco	392	4,894	35,265
220	Textile	215	1,790	6,750
2 30	Apparel	90	155	1,925
240	Lumber	33	175	1,235
250	Furniture	81	2,310	2,300
260	Paper	169	4,530	8,277
270	Printing	40	355	1,432
281	Inorganic Chem.	153	4,002	11,398
282	Plastics	566	16,258	39,505
283	Drugs	203	4,589	16,636
284	Soap	70	832	7,408
285	Paint & Misc.	57	486	3,942
286	Organic Chem.	266	21,347	27,386
287	Ag. Chem.	63	782	6,277
290	Petroleum Ref.	111	8,954	26,750
301	Tires	839	19,427	49,619
302	Rubber & Plastic	91	607	2,786
310	Leather	137	139	3,027
321	Stone & Glass	60	851	2,157
324	Cement	244	27,056	15,624
331	Steel	525	17,990	25,350
333	Non Fe. Metals	135	3,491	9,631
341	Cans	229	4,615	15,676
342	Fab. Metal Prod.	79	518	2,921
350	Machy exc. Elec.	67	662	2,756
358	Refrig. Machy.	180	264	9,077
361	Elec. Machy.	220	1,773	8,339
362	Elec. Apparatus	200	2,039	6,576
3/L 272	Motor Vehicles	384	5,092	32,630
J/2	Trans. Equip.	2/1	1,553	11,09/
300 200	meas. inst.	122	991 991	5,015
390	MISC. MIG.	47	250	1,428

The size of the new facility's market share will depend on the nature of the industry i, the corporate affiliation of the new facility, and on the competition within the industry. The nature of the industry is described by the Census data; notably:

- 1. The number of different firms that produce the commodity,
- 2. The ease with which new firms can enter the market in terms of capital requirements, raw materials, and market competition, and
- 3. Market growth opportunities based on historical trends.

The corporate affiliation of the new facility influences the ease with which the new facility's products will find a place in a particular market, and the amount of price competition that might occur. There are two extreme situations that illustrate what might occur.

- 1. The new facility may be built as a branch by a company that operates similar plants at other locations. In this case, the company can assign part of its existing market to the new plant. Such assignments are often made strictly on the basis of cost. The introduction of the new plant will change the company's assignment of production to different facilities, and it will change the assignment of markets to facilities. The presence of the new facility is not likely to change marketing practices or prices, although the introduction of a new facility may be tied to growth aspirations by which a company seeks a larger share in some markets.
- 2. A new facility may be built by a new company or by an existing company that is seeking to enter a new market through the new facility. In this situation the new facility will seek a position in markets where the company does not have one. Any of several lines of competitive strategy can be followed. Counter moves will be made by firms now filling the sought-after markets. Market entry may be difficult or impossible, depending on the resources behind the new venture and those behind competing firms.

Any successful development program will include new facilities that fall into both categories, as well as between them. However, the affiliation issue addresses who should build a new facility, not whether one should be built. Inasmuch as this research does not address the question of "built by whom?" we will assume that all new plants fall into the first affiliation category.

The "branch plant" assumption allows the analysis to avoid the issue of price competition for market entry, but it does not assure that each market will be served exclusively by the facilities that can offer the lowest cost deliveries to the market. Rather, each market will likely be served by two or more competing firms that may each ship from more than one facility.

Market competition is assumed in each market area. The nature of the competition depends on the nature of the commodity, the number of suppliers, and other factors. Competition is assessed independently for each commodity/ industry group. However, all commodity assessments share two assumptions:

- 1. Each new facility will represent a small enough addition to industry capacity, that no large scale market impacts will occur.
- New firms will have adequate financial resources to combat local destructive price competition if it should occur, so that steady state market shares can be reached.

On the basis of these assumptions, market price is assumed to be sufficiently stable to validate the cost analysis.

Market share is calculated from the following expressions:

 $s_{ijl} = f_{i} \{\Delta m_{ijl}^{p}\}$ p = 1, 2,

where:

s is the fraction of market ℓ for commodity i that is filled by the facility at j.

f, { } is a function of the commodity category.

Values for the functions will be developed from an examination of present shipping patterns as revealed in the commodity flow data. These will be expressed as commodity zone of origin, zone of destination, transport mode split, and annual volume in tons. We will begin by extracting all commodity movements from the commodity flow data that exceed about one-third percent of the total movement. The origins of these movements are considered to be the locations of major producers and the destinations are the major markets.

This work has not been completed as of this writing. Results will be included in a later report.

Production costs will be estimated for each originating zone using the data of Appendix B as a starting point. The Appendix B data give nationwide averages for labor rates, material costs, energy costs, and taxes. Each of these factors is locationally sensitive and will be corrected to suit the conditions in the particular zone. Local wage rates are obtained from Labor Department sources, energy costs are obtained from ERDA sources, and taxes are obtained from local government sources.

Raw material prices are more difficult to determine. Bulk products of agriculture and mines have market determined prices. Producers of these materials typically receive the market price less transportation charges. Raw material prices for these commodities are estimated at the producing area, subtracting transportation costs from existing market prices to yield a set of estimated raw material source prices. Raw material costs at the different commodity producing zones are thereafter compiled by adding transportation costs to estimated raw material source prices. Manufactuered raw material prices are equal to the production cost as estimated here plus transportation costs.

Once production costs have been estimated for each producing zone of the commodity under study, market costs are estimated for each market that is now supplied from a producing zone by adding transportation costs to production costs. Where more than one transport mode is used, more than one market price will be developed. The result of this work will be a set of market costs for each major market, with a volume associated with each cost. These constitute the raw data for the market share analysis.

Market share as a function of marginal advantage will be determine by regression analysis for each commodity group. We hope that a single functional relation can be determined for each commodity, however, market specific determination cannot be ruled out at this time.

Potential market share for a new facility located in the Multi-State Corridor will be estimated for each market by comparing the price at which the new facility can deliver to the market with the prices at which those zones now serving the market can deliver to it. When all existing markets have been tested, the total output of a new facility will be

 $P_{ij} = \sum_{\ell>0} f_{i} \{\Delta m_{ip\ell}\} M_{i\ell}$

where:

P is the total output of a new facility at j that produces commodity i, $M_{i\ell}$ is the total market at ℓ for product i.

It this output, P_{ij}, exceeds the minimum attractive facility size as identified in Table 7. then a development opportuntiy has been identified. If P_{ij} is less than the minimum attractive facility size, an opportunity has not been identified. In either case, the search continues with other zones and other commodities until all potential opportunities have been explored.

VI BASIC TRANSPORTATION NETWORK

The basic transportation network consists of the 120 zone centroids (nodes) and a set of arcs connecting pairs of nodes that represent the existing transportation routes and services. The basic network was developed for one mode at a time--highway, rail and water--and it will be described in terms of that development. However, to achieve network simplicity, the different modes have been combined. Thus, each network arc is described in terms of:

- 1. Terminal nodes,
- 2. The transportation modes serving the arc, and
- 3. Utility measures--cost, time and time variability--for each mode, that describe impedences to the flow of one ton of traffic

Network nodes provide for origination, termination, mode transfer and passage without mode change. Each modal activity is associated with characteristic impedences to flow. Each impedence includes cost, time, and time variability.

Each individual commodity/industry group has a factor that modifies tranportation impedence to take into account density, perishability and other commodity specific characteristics. This factor is applied uniformly to all areas and nodes.

Detailed network descriptions are presented in Appendix C for each of the three modes studied to date.

Highway Network

The highway network, illustrated in Figure 4, is made up of the principal freight supporting intercity routes that connect the different zones. The method of selecting highway arcs depended on the sizes of the zones connected. Two different approaches warrent discussion: (1) Corridor and adjacent arcs; and (2) remote arcs.

Corridor Arcs

The internodal distances between Multi-State Corridor nodes are on the order of 50 to 75 miles. Nodal cities are served by Federal Aid Primary, Secondary, state and county roads, but not generally by interstate highways. Many of the existing highways are not of sufficiently high quality to support significant truck traffic.

The quest for appropriate highway arcs began with state traffic density maps. In some instances these maps also contained truck traffic counts. A





set of candidate arcs was selected from these maps on the basis of alignment and traffic volume. Alignment posed the greatest problem because of the number of highways serving communities that are not network nodes. In some instances, nodal areas were enlarged to include principal highways that do not specifically pass through nodal cities. The product of this initial quest was a set of probable truck routes connecting adjacent nodes and a few routes that connect non-adjacent nodes but that could not be construed as passing through any intermediate node. Each route was described in terms of one or more highway designations. In some instances, a route was made up of as many as three different highway numbers that jointly provide a path between the two nodes. In other instances, two or more parallel routes were identified.

State transportation officials reviewed all of the candidate routes. They suggested dropping some, adding others and modifying still more. Where two or more parallel routes were available, a preferred route was selected. The preferred route became the basic highway arc. All arc descriptions apply to this route. In cases where additional parallel routes are available, they are added to the arc description as extra lanes. The presumption is that as the basic arc becomes congested with traffic, the point will be reached where the cost and travel time on the basic route will deteriorate to the level of the parallel route. At this time, the uncongested parallel route will be preferable to the congested basic route because it will have less travel time variability. Thus the parallel routes will offer additional capacity for congestion relief. In these cases, the additional route description are included in Appendix C.

Non-Corridor Arcs

Non-Corridor arcs in the seven corridor states were developed in the same manner described for corridor arcs. However, arcs serving the more remote zones were developed in a different way. Long distance intercity movements take place predominantly on the Interstate and Defense Highway Network. Therefore, interstate routes formed the backbone of the remote highway network. Care was taken to include all interstate routes on the highway network. These were augmented with principal Federal Aid Primary routes where suitable interstate routes were not available.

The rationale behind using a network made up almost exclusively of interstate routes is as follows. Interstate routes are the highest quality intercity routes available and are preferred by truckers even at the cost of reasonable detours. Short distance intercity movements, within zones resemble Corridor intercity movements and use a variety of routes, including interstate routes. In as much as intrazone movements are excluded from the model. Interstate routes will support the predominant intrazone traffic.

Utility Measures

Utility measures for the highway arcs--cost, transport time, and transport time variability--were calculated from a variety of sources. Final values represent the best data that could be found. However, improvements could be made in individual values.

Transportation costs, expressed as cost per ton mile, were taken from the Whitten equations [17]. If:

LHMⁿ = total line haul costs/ton of commodity n moving from zone i to zone j, ij

 $LHM_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{en} \sum_{g \in MCCA} \sum_{c \in C_{M}} d_{ij}^{gc} \cdot ML_{g}^{ec} \cdot I^{n}$

Where:

E_M = set of trailer types, p^{en} = fraction of commodity n using trailer type e, MCCA = set of motor carrier cost areas, C_M = set of highway classifications, d^{gc}_{1j} = distance on arc i,j in MCCA g on highway class c, ML^{ec}_g = highway line haul cost/ton mile for any commodity using trailer type e, highway class c in MCCA g, and

 I^n = density multiplier for commodity n.

Three trailer types were used--van, refrigerated and tank. Cost areas are those established by the ICC for analyzing motor carrier costs [19]. Three highway classifications were used--interstate, federal aid primary and all other.

Costs per ton mile, ML^{ec}_g were calculated for each condition that occurs on a highway arc. These in turn can be extended as indicated in the equation to yield arc costs. Where an arc crosses a cost area boundary and where an arc is composed of more than one highway classification, weighted averages are prepared to represent arc costs. Highway travel times were determined from estimated truck speed for each arc. Highway speeds are highly variable among arcs depending on grades, curves, lane width and other factors. Interstate highways generally provide for the highest speeds. Trucks can operate over almost all routes at the national speed limit of 55 miles per hour. In fact, in private conversations, common carrier truckers have admitted to keeping schedules that require drivers to consistently exceed the speed limit. Nonetheless, a speed of 55 mph has been used for all interstate highways. This speed includes rest and fuel stops. Speeds on lower quality routes were estimated with help from state highway officials who were asked to estimate travel times for the different routes comprising network arcs. Where expert estimates were not available, a speed of 40 mph was assigned to high quality roads through relatively level terrain and a speed of 30 mph was assigned to other routes.

Travel time variability comes from delays and from conditions that prevent the attainment of estimated speeds. Thus almost all variations result in longer than expected travel times. Excessive delays result from accidents, mechanical problems, undue driver fatigue or driver dalliance. Most such delays are of a short duration, rarely exceeding four hours.* If one considers that the likelihood of a delay is uniformly distributed over a trip, then the travel time variability is a function of trip time or trip distance. If:

LHVⁿ = highway time variance in transporting commodity n from i to j Then:

$$LHV_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{c \in C_{M}} k_{c} \cdot d_{ij}^{c} \cdot I^{n}$$

Where:

 k_c = delay factor for highway classification c, and d_{ij}^c = distance between i and j on highway category c.

No differentiation was made among trailer types when calculating travel time variability.

^{*}Serious accidents generally destroy the cargo and are not counted as delays.
Loading and unloading times depend on commodity, trailer type, facility size, loading crew size, location and other factors. Times were estimated on the basis of commodity, trailer type and location only. Thus if:

$$LM_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{en} \cdot LM_{i}^{en}$$

Where:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{LM}_{i}^{\mathrm{en}} &= \mathrm{loading\ time\ per\ trailer\ for\ commodity\ n\ in\ trailer\ type\ e\ at\ zone\ i.} \\ \mathrm{Loading\ time\ variability\ was\ also\ based\ on\ commodity\ and\ trailer\ type.} \\ \mathrm{VM}_{i}^{n} &= \mathrm{loading\ time\ variation\ per\ trailer\ for\ commodity\ n\ at\ zone\ i.} \\ \mathrm{VM}_{i}^{n} &= \begin{array}{c} \mathrm{loading\ time\ variation\ per\ trailer\ for\ commodity\ n\ at\ zone\ i.} \\ \mathrm{VM}_{i}^{n} &= \begin{array}{c} \mathrm{loading\ time\ variation\ per\ trailer\ for\ commodity\ n\ at\ zone\ i.} \\ \mathrm{VM}_{i}^{n} &= \begin{array}{c} \sum\limits_{e\in E_{M}} p^{\mathrm{en}} \cdot \ \mathrm{VM}_{i}^{\mathrm{en}} \\ \end{array} \end{split}$$

Where:

VM^{en} = loading time variation per trailer for commodity n in trailer type e at zone i.

Arc Lengths

Arc lengths were expressed in terms of the basic arcs, using state maps and atlases as principal sources of highway distances.

Highway Nodes

Highway nodes have impedence values that reflect the time and cost associated with loading and unloading trucks at the originating and terminating nodes. No impedence is assessed against trucks that are passing through a node while enroute to another node.

Loading and unloading costs were also based on thw Whitten equations. If:

LMⁿ = loading cost per ton for commodity n at zone i,

$$LM_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{en} \cdot p_{1}^{en} \cdot MT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$

Where:

$$MT_{g(1)}^{e} = \text{terminal cost per ton for any commodity using trailer type e in the MCCA associated with zone i.}$$

Similarly, for unloading if:

$$UM_{i}^{n}$$
 = unloading cost per ton for commodity n at zone i,

Then:

$$UM_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{en} (1 - p_{1}^{en}) MT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$

Lacking knowledge of p_1^{en} , we assumed that for all trailer types exactly half of the terminal expense is attributable to loading and half to unloading. Rail Network

The rail network illustrated in Figure 5 and specified in Appendix C was developed in a manner similar to the highway network, but using different sources of data. Two classes of arcs--Corridor and non-Corridor-- were identified and developed by different methods. Nodal delays occasioned by switching movements play a key role in determining rail transportation times and time variations, and require careful attention when defining the network.

Corridor Arcs

Almost all intercity rail lines within the Multi-State Corridor have been identified as potential rail arcs. This has been done even though some lines are little used and of poor quality. The logic behind this step is that it is easier and cheaper to rehabilitate an existing rail line than to build a new one. Thus even a poor quality line represents a potential focus for future development should a future demand for rail service arise.

Branch lines were excluded because they serve only local traffic. By concentrating zone activities at the zone centroid, branch line originations and terminations are modeled as though they take place at the centroid.

The large number of rail lines in the Multi-State Corridor mode arc designations difficult. A practice was followed similar to that used in the highway network analysis. Each centroid was assigned an area that represents a notional terminal, encompassing rail lines that do not directly enter the centroid city proper. Network arcs were then selected from among the rail lines connecting the enlarged nodal areas.



Rail line quality was estimated from the zone maps prepared by the Federal Railroad Administration [18]. These maps show type of signaling and traffic volume on all rail lines. Line quality is generally reflected by traffic volume. Very low levels of traffic suggest a line of poor or marginal quality.

The selected arcs were checked against state rail plans, where available, and they were reviewed with a few railroad managements. Although the review was not complete, it did confirm the approach used.

In a number of instances, two or more parallel routes were identified. The highest quality route was selected as the basic arc. The additional routes were recorded to act as additional capacity in the event that the basic route becomes congested.

The ownership of different lines was recorded. To the extent possible, arcs were selected so that each arc is owned by a single railroad, or by two railroads known to cooperate. Interchange between railroads was restricted to nodes.

Non-Corridor Arcs

Non-Corridor arcs were developed from the FRA zone maps on the basis of traffic volume. For these arcs--like the non-Corridor highway arcs--we sought principal traffic carrying routes. We began by plotting all rail lines that carry traffic level 4 (5 to 9.9 million tons per year). If one uses an average train weight of about 4,000 gross tons, then level 4 represents about 4 to 7 trains per day. Main lines and prncipal secondary lines can be expected to support this level of traffic.

The level 4 route network provided most of the desired arcs. These needed to be augmented in the west with level 3 routes in order to complete paths from zone to zone. As with the corridor zones, some latitude was taken with the true routes of the lines. For example, the main line of the Union Pacific goes from Omaha to Ogden, Utah. Ogden was combined with Salt Lake City. Furthermore, although the line passes through Cheyenne, Wyoming, it was routed through Denver for analytical purposes.

Parallel routes and ownership were treated as for Corridor arcs. Because non-Corridor arcs are much longer, exclusive ownership was sometimes difficult to achieve. In these instances, the best available compromise was sought.

Utility Measures

Utility measures were developed for the rail arcs from secondary sources including time tables, speed estimates, opinion and published data. The values used in the analysis are reasonably representative, but they do not accurately reflect present operating practices in many instances.

Transportation cost per ton mile for each arc was calculated using the Whitten equations, which are somewhat more detailed for rail than for highway. If:

LHRⁿ = line haul cost per ton of commodity n moving by rail from zone i to zone j

1

Then:

$$LHR_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{R}} p^{en} \sum_{g \in RCCA} d_{c \in C_{R}}^{gc} \left(\frac{M_{ec}^{ec}}{\frac{g}{en} + L_{g}^{ec} + k_{g}^{ec}} \right)$$

Where:

 E_p = the set of rail car types, p^{en} = fraction of commodity n using car type e, RCCA = the set of rail carrier cost areas [19], C_r = the set of rail line classifications, d_{1j}^{gc} = length of arc i,j in RCCA g on rail line classification c M_g^{ec} = variable line haul cost per car-mile in RCCA g, line class c, car type e, q_{ec}^{en} = tons per car of commodity n in car type e, L_g^{ec} = variable line haul cost per ton mile in RCCA g, line class c, car type e, and k_{α}^{ec} = fixed line haul cost per ton mile in RCCA g, line class c, car type e.

Rail line haul costs were also calculated for the different conditions by computer. Weighted averages were calculated for arcs crossing RCCA boundaries and for arcs containing end to end connections of different rail line classifications. Data for the different terms are contained in Whitten's report [17] or were taken from ICC or FRA publications.

Rail travel times were drawn from several sources. Schedule times for merchandise freight trains traveling over the designated arcs were used when available. Other travel times were estimated on the basis of number of tracks, signalling, line quality and terrain. For example, at one extreme merchandise trains traveling over first class single track lines under Centralized Traffic Control (CTC) through relatively flat country can maintain speeds of 35 to 40 miles per hour, if there are no intermediate switching movements. Intermediate switching is not an issue on short movements in and around the Multi-State corridor, but it is elsewhere. At the other extreme, way switching trains traveling over secondary main lines between Corridor nodes that have automatic block signalling and gentle terrain average only about 11 miles per hour. A variety of intermediate situations exist.

Line haul rail travel time variations are occasioned by routine delays in dispatching trains, variations in train weight and power, delayed meetings and accidents. These occasions all tend to increase travel time. With the exception of major derailments, they can be measured in hours per arc. They are expressed as a function of geography and rail line classification. If:

LVR = line haul variability for a train moving from i to j

Then:

$$LVR_{ij} = \sum_{g \in RCCA} \sum_{c \in C_{R}} d_{ij}^{gc} LVR_{ij}^{gc}$$

Where:

LVR^{gc} = travel time variation for rail line class c in RCCA g with grade and signal attributes from i to j.

Arc Lengths

Arc lengths were taken from railroad time tables giving mile posts, the FRA railroad zone maps [18] and from the Rand McNally Railroad Atlas [21].

Rail Nodes

Terminals and classification yards play a key role in the operation of railroads. Each individual railroad operates its yards and terminals in a manner that minimizes cost while facilitating the movement of traffic. The American railroads do not operate yards at all of the nodes of the transportation network,

nor does the network have a node at each yard. Thus, some accomodation has been necessary.

Within the corridor, it has been possible to associate major yards with specific nodes without much difficulty. Thus the Seaboard Coast Line's new yard at Waycross, Georgia is easily located at the Waycross node. Major switching activities at Birmingham, Memphis, and Kansas City are properly located at these nodes.

Outside the Corridor, more accommodation has been needed. Major Norfolk and Western, Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac and SCL yards in the Richmond-Petersburg area have been concentrated at Richmond. Conrail's large Conway yard has been combined with other yards at Pittsburgh. As zones get larger, more displacement is needed. Conrail's Elkhart yard is shifted to Chicago, Southern Pacific's Roseville yard is shifted to San Francisco and so forth. Every effort has been made to preserve essential rail functions despite the necessary adjustments.

Classification functions were assigned to the yards at each node. Terminal switching occurs at every node and is an essential part of freight originations and terminations. The complexity of the terminal switching depends on the amount of activity at the node. Classification of through traffic occurs at several levels. In some yards minimum classification occurs when cuts of cars are transferred between local and through trains. In major classification yards, all arriving trains are broken up and their cars sorted into a variety of outbound destinations. At gateways two or more railroads interchange traffic. At its worst, this may involve two or more complete classifications* plus local movements between inbound and outbound yards.

Two types of rail node costs are identified--terminal costs and classification costs. In loading and unloading costs, let:

 LR^{n}_{i} = total loading costs per ton of commodity n at zone i Then:

~

$$LR_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{R}} p_{1}^{en} \cdot \frac{F_{g(i)}^{e}}{q^{en}} + (p_{2}^{e,n} \cdot T_{g(i)}^{e} + p_{3}^{en} \cdot J_{g(i)}^{en} + b^{n}B^{n})$$

*A terminal and switching company may also handle the traffic.

Where:

- F^e_{g(i)} = variable terminal car cost per car of type e in RCCA associated with zone i,

$$J_{g(1)}^{c}$$
 = fixed terminal cost per ton of any commodity, car type e, in RCCA associated with zone i,

 B^{n} = loss and damage per ton of commodity n.

By this formulation, loading costs depend only on location as determined by the RCCA and commodity. Unloading costs are similar. If:

URⁿ = unloading cost per ton of commodity n at zone i

Δ

Then:

$$UR_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{R}} p^{en} [(1-p_{1}^{en}) \frac{f_{g(i)}^{e}}{q^{en}} + (1-p_{2}^{en}) T_{g(i)}^{e} + (1-p_{3}^{en}) J_{g(i)}^{e} + (1-b^{n}) B^{n}]$$

Classification costs are more zone specific. Thus, if:

 CR_i^n = classification cost per ton for commodity n at zone i Then:

$$CR_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{R}} p^{en} \left(\frac{CL_{g(i)}^{e}}{q^{en}} + CF_{g(i)}^{e} \right)$$

Where:

 $CL_{g(i)}^{e}$ = classification cost per car of type e at zone i, and $CF_{g(i)}^{n}$ = fixed classification cost per ton of commodity n at zone i The cost per car depends on the type of yard activity and the operations associated with each car classification. The fixed cost per ton depends on the capital investment and the level of classification yard use. If sufficiently detailed data were available, each zone could be given a unique value of $CL_{g(i)}^{e}$ and $CF_{g(i)}^{n}$. However, for present purposes only four levels of activity have been identified and associated with the different zones.

Terminal and yard time is even more difficult to establish than cost. Time spent in terminals in support of loading and unloading is heavily location dependent. It varies with the nature, amount and scheduling of way switcher and yard switcher crews and equipment. Picktup and set off times can vary from an hour or less to several days. Four categories of pick up and set off activity have been identified and associated with the different zones.

Classification time also varies widely. Some railroads follow the policy of dispatching trains on time regardless of the number of cars available for them. Other railroads hold trains for traffic accumulation or until particular inbound trains have been classified. A car late in arriving may have to wait a day or longer under the first policy, while under the second, the delay would only be a few hours. Classification times have been associated with the level of classification activity at each yard. Thus, if:

CRT = classification time per car at zone i

Then:

 $CTR_i = CL_{g(i)} \cdot CT$

Where:

CT = normalized classification time per car.

Terminal and yard time variation is based on the likelihood of missing an outbound train, requiring classified services or requiring repair. Values are based on the quality of inbound and outbound rail service as an indicator of train frequency. Thus, where only daily outbound service is available, the variation in terminal and yard time comes in increments of one day, and the standard deviation is set equal to one day. Where more frequent service is available, the standard deviation is appropriately reduced.

Water Network

The waterway network was selected to include all major domestic waterways within the continental United States. This includes facilities to support both barge and ship traffic. Barge movements occur throughout the inland waterways, on the intercoastal waterway system, on the Great Lakes and across open seas. Ship movements are limited to those waterways that can accommodate ships of commercial draft. For the purposes of the first year's work, the movement categories are artificially restricted. Barge movements are considered only on waterways with channel depths less than 30 feet. All deep water movements are assumed to occur in ships. This is not an unreasonable decision because bulk commodities in coastwise trade are often towed in old ship hulls whose operating characteristics, except speed, resemble small bulk carriers.

Inland Waterways

All inland waterways with channel depths of seven feet or greater are included in the water network. Only those waterways that occur within large zones are omitted, e.g., the Columbia River and the Sacramento-San Joaquin Rivers. The network includes the Hudson River - New York State Barge Canal, the Savannah River, the Apalachicola/Chattahoochee River, the Alabama River, the Tennessee-Tombigbee project and the Mississippi River system including the Mississippi, Missouri, Arkansas, Illinois, Ohio, Kanawha, Cumberland and Tennessee Rivers and the Chicago Canal. Terminal points of each river are indicated in Figure 6.

It was difficult to fit the inland waterways into the zone structure, particularly in the case of the Mississippi River System. Major river ports were generally network nodes. However, several Corridor cities selected as nodes do not lie on the river, but the river flows through their zone and has port facilities within it. To provide realistic commodity flows, the water arcs were directed to some of these non-port nodes. In this fashion, the Mississippi River arcs pass through Jackson, Greenville, and Clarkdale, Mississippi and Dyersburg, Tennessee. Of these, all are within 15 miles of the river except Jackson, which is 45 miles from the river. However, for other reasons, Jackson was selected over Vicksburg as the zone centroid.

Deep Water Network

The deep water network includes the Great Lakes, the St. Lawrence Seaway, coast wise and intercoastal service. The Great Lakes - St. Lawrence Seaway system can accommodate ships up to 27 ft. draft. The coastwise and intercoastal



traffic has been limited to the same ship size in order to include the Cape Cod Canal, the Delaware Maryland Canal and the Port of Brunswick all with 30 ft. channel depths.

Although direct routes are available between each pair of coastal nodes, coastwise shipping is modeled like a linear network with intermediate nodes. This convention slightly increases distances for longer trips, but no impedance is imposed on through movements so that longer shipments do not suffer an additional port penalty.

Utility Measures

Accurate utility measures for water movements were difficult to obtain. After careful analysis, the Whitten equations [17] were rejected because water costs generated with them were not consistent with cost data used for highway and rail arcs. However, a good alternative was not easy to find. Common and contract carriers by water are regulated by the ICC and they are required to report their financial and operating performance to the ICC. Unfortunately, these regulated carriers are responsible for only a small fraction of the water movements. Most domestic marine traffic--including the vast Great Lakes ore movement and major traffic in coal, petroleum and chemicals--is in private hands. Private carriers are under no obligation to report their performance. They do periodically report via the Census of Transportation surveys in which they receive disclosure protection. Similarly, operators carrying exempt commodities--notably grain--are under no obligation to report to the ICC.

The Corps of Engineers has made a number of studies of traffic on rivers and in ports. A study now underway will attempt to specify travel time, loading and unloading time and cost for a variety of port to port movements. In the absence of these results, the project team had to make do with what was available. Available data included reports to the ICC by common and contract carriers, Census of Transportation data on movements between states and past reports by a variety of study groups.

Using all available data, an expression was developed for barge movement costs. If:

 LHW_{ij}^{n} = line haul cost per ton to move commodity n by water carrier from i to j,

Then:

$$LHW_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{g \in WCCA} TW_{ij} \cdot WL_{g} \cdot I^{n}$$

Where:

WCCA = set of water carrier cost areas that are based on draft and maximum tow size,

TW = time in hours for a tow boat to travel from i to j, and ij

 WL_g = cost per hour for tow and tow boat operation in area g. Hourly costs, WL_g , are based on modern tow boats powered by 3,000 to 4,000 horsepower engines, pushing maximum tows made of jumbo barges. Because of data difficulties, specific distinctions were not made among barge types.

Great Lakes, coastwise and intercoastal water movement costs are calculated in a slightly different way.

$$LHW_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{W}} p^{en} \sum_{g \in WCCA} d_{ij}^{g} \cdot WL_{g}^{e} \cdot I_{n}$$

Where:

 p^{en} = fraction of commodity n using shipping configuration e, d_{ij}^{g} = distance between i and j in g, and

 WL_g^e = cost per ton-mile for any commodity using configuration e in WCCA g. Only two configurations were used in the first year's work, liner and container type ships. Additional variations such as large bulk ships can be added in the future.

Travel times were also elusive on the inland waterways because they are heavily influenced by current, number of locks, traffic level, water depth and other factors which vary widely through the year. An expression was ultimately developed that considers only distance, speed and number of locks.

Where:

d_ij = distance along the channel between i and j, s_i = mean speed from i to j, L = number of locks between i and j, and ij a = constant

Mean values of speed were selected for the principal waterways where available. Otherwise an upstream speed of 5 mph and a downstream speed of 7 mph were used. Lock operating times were examined for a large number of different locks. The constant a represents a mean traverse time including entry, gate operation, lift and departure.

Travel times for Great Lakes, coastal and intercoastal movements were based on average over water speeds of 16 to 18 knots. Allowances for leaving and entering port were included in loading and unloading time so as not to prejudice the convention adopted for long journeys.

Travel time variability for movements on rivers and canals is heavily influenced by the number of locks traversed, because this is where most delays occur. Thus, if:

VW = travel time variation for water movement from i to j, Then:

 $W_{ij} = \sum_{g \in WCCA} a_1^g L_{ij} + a_2^g d_{ij}$

Where a_1 and a_2 are constants for WCCA g.

Travel time variability for Great Lakes, coastwise and intercoastal movement is largely a result of weather. The likelihood of a weather delay is a function of distance, area, time of year and other factors. However, a simple function of distance has been adopted for the first year's work.

Arc Length

Arc lengths for the different water arcs were taken from nautical charts, channel descriptions and published reports.

Water Nodes

Water node activities are restricted to loading and unloading. No terminal impedances are assigned to through traffic. If:

 LW_{i}^{n} = loading cost per ton for commodity n at zone i,

Then:

$$LW_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{u}} p^{en} \cdot p_{1}^{e,n} \cdot WT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$

Where:

$$WT_{g(1)}^{e}$$
 = cost per ton of any commodity using water configuration e in WCCA g associated with zone i

In this case, three configurations are used--barge, container and liner vessel. The cost factor includes daily port costs for the vessel, stevedore and crew costs divided by mean loading or unloading activity. Similarly if:

$$UW_{i}^{n}$$
 = unloading cost per ton for commodity n at zone i,

Then:

$$UW_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{ij}} p^{en} (1-p_{1}^{en}) WT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$

Loading and unloading times are based on average productivity and include an allowance for entering and leaving port. Loading and unloading time variation includes allowances for productivity differences, dock congestion, stevedore availability and berth availability. These variations are port specific depending on the port facilities and the expected level of activity. Intermodal Transfers

Two forms of intermodal transfer are common today, water-highway and highwayrail. In addition, there is some water-rail activity. Intermodal transfers can be broadly classified as break bulk transfers and container transfers.

In a break-bulk transfer, the inbound carrier is completely unloaded, the cargo is sorted by outbound carrier and the outbound carriers are loaded. Cost and time requirements to perform this kind of a transfer are closely related to loading and unloading costs. Thus if:

TTⁿ_{XYi} = break-bulk terminal transfer costs per ton of commodity n from mode X to mode Y at zone i,

Then:

$$TT_{XYi}^{n} = 0.8 [LY_{i}^{n} + UX_{i}^{n}]$$

Where:

 $LY_{i}^{n} = cost per ton for loading commodity n into mode Y at i, and <math>UX_{i}^{n} = cost per ton for unloading commodity n from mode X at i.$

The use of a factor of 0.8 reflects loading and unloading economies that can be achieved at a transfer terminal. No special equipment is generally used outside of general purpose material handling equipment and conveyors. Container terminals require large capital investments in sophisticated special purpose equipment, like container cranes, and in general purpose equipment, like yard tractors and chassis. In addition, large land areas are required for storing empty and loaded containers. The cost of operating a container terminal depends very heavily on the use made of the terminal's capital assets. Thus, if:

TT_{XYi} = container terminal transfer cost per ton of commodity n from mode X to mode Y at location i,

Then:

$$TT'^{n}_{XYi} = \left[\frac{TC_{XY}}{V_{i}} + TO'_{XYi}\right] I^{n}/q^{n}$$

Where:

TC_{XY} = the equivalent annual capital cost of a transfer terminal to interchange between modes X and Y,

V, = expected number of containers per year to be transferred at i,

 TO'_{XYi} = operating cost per container to transfer between modes X and Y at i, qⁿ = tons of commodity n per container.

 TC_{XY} is calculated with interest at 20 percent per annum. TO'_{XY} depends on the terminal facilities and on labor cost and efficiency at location i.

Transfer times are based on productivity data for the different terminal types. If:

TTT'ⁿ = break-bulk terminal transfer time for commodity n between modes X and Y at i

Then:

$$TTT'^{n}_{XYi} = UX^{n}_{i} + LY^{n}_{i} + a_{i}$$

Where:

a = a constant to account for expected accumulation and delay times: at i, and if

$$TTT_{XYi}^{n}$$
 = container terminal transfer time for commodity n between modes X and Y,

Then:

$$TT_{XYi}^{n} = \frac{N_X C_X^{i}}{2} + \frac{N_Y C_Y^{i}}{2}$$

Where:

 $N_X =$ number of containers expected on carrier X $C_X^i =$ expected cycle time for unloading carrier X at i $N_Y =$ number of containers expected on carrier Y $C_y^i =$ expected cycle time for loading carrier Y

Unload and load cycles are generally equal and may be simultaneous at a container terminal. A uniform distribution is assumed for container location in a shipment. Thus, a given container may be unloaded at any time during the unloading operations.

Transfer time variability depends on productivity variations, equipment delays, crew delays, and other factors. Delay factors have generally been expressed as a fraction of terminal time.

VII TRANSPORTATION MODELING

The six preceding chapters have described the methods used to prepare a data base for joint transportation and economic development planning. In this chapter we will describe the procedures that have been devised and are under development for measuring evaluating and comparing the impacts of different transportation improvement programs. Inasmuch as the work is not complete at this writing (July 1977) some of the techniques are still speculative. They will be described in greater detail in the Task 5 report, to be prepared later.

Four topics are treated in this chapter--modal split, network manipulations, transportation improvements, and evaluation. Each plays a key role in the analysis. Each is treated in a preliminary manner with a description of key issues and a method of approach that is being followed in ongoing work. Modal Split

Freight mode split work to date has been of limited scope. Most describes historical experience in a manner that reduces to a mode specific representation [22,23]. By mode specific is meant an expression for approximating the modal share of a particular mode that depends on paramater values and coefficients that must be developed for that particular mode. Thus a model used to predict rail modal share can do that, and no more. This kind of model has no value in predicting the transportation share that a new service can attract from existing services, because the necessary relationships cannot be constructed on any historical base. What is needed is a mode abstract modal split model. This model would be able to predict each mode's transportation share in terms of that mode's attributes and a set of coefficients that apply to all modes. Without a mode abstract modal split model, the impact new transportation services cannot be predicted.

It is equally important to have a single modal split model that can apply to all origin-destination (O-D) pairs. Otherwise, direct application is questionable for new production facilities that are attempting to establish new movements.

Mode split is determined by the arc utilities of the shortest path available between origin and destination. It is desirable that the mode split use some additive combination of arc utilities so that the most desired path between origin and destination can be determined by a conventional shortest path procedure. The utilities need not be directly additive because the logarithms of multiplicative utilities can also be added.

Finally, the mode split model must be developed from available data. This is a severe restriction because of limitations such as those described in Chapter IV. This suggests that at this time we must settle for mode split results that are less than one might hope for. With the continuous development of improved commodity flow data this shortcoming should be lessened in the future.

Utility Parameters

Shippers select transportation modes for many different reasons. These include cost, delivery time, delivery dependability, transit damage, frequency and availability of service, claim settlement procedures, corporate reciprocity and others. A complete set of parameter values tends to be situation specific as well as very difficult to obtain. Lacking complete information and the resources to make use of it, a fall back position has been taken that uses only three utility parameters: cost, transit time and transit time variability (the variance of transit time). Sources of data for these parameters have been set forth in considerable detail in Chapter VI.

The selection of modal shares is highly commodity specific. Therefore, it will be necessary to seek a separate modal split model for each of the 53 commodity groups. The existence of a single model for each group depends on homogeniety within each group. Since this does not exist, there will of necessity be errors in the models.

Analytical Data

The modal split analysis will use the commodity flow data described in Chapter IV. These data contain modal shares of existing movements for rail, private and common carrier truck and water. Unfortunately the data are not uniformly consistent for all modes. Careful examination of individual commodity records reveals that some movements known to be made by a particular mode are not included. Nonetheless, since no better data are available, we must make do as best we can. This requires careful review of all commodity flow data to be sure that questionable data are removed.

Model Form

The form of the desired modal split model is not known at this time. Five types are under investigation. These are:

$$F_{kij}^{n} = a_{0} (C_{kij}^{n})^{a_{1}} (T_{kij}^{n})^{a_{2}} (V_{kij}^{n})^{a_{3}}$$

Where:

 F_{kij} = flow of commodity n from i to j that travels via mode k, C_{kij}^{n} = cost per ton to move commodity n from i to j via k, T_{kij}^{n} = time required to move commodity n from i to j via k, V_{kij}^{n} = time variance from commodity n moving from i to j via k, and a_{0} , a_{1} , a_{2} , a_{3} = constants

Impedance:

$$f_{kij}^{n} = \frac{\frac{1}{z_{kij}^{n}}}{\sum_{m=1}^{M} \left[\frac{1}{z_{mij}^{n}}\right]}$$

Where:

$$Z_{kij}^{n} = a_{kij}^{n} [C_{kij}^{n} + b^{a} T_{kij}^{n} + v_{kij}^{n}]$$
,
 $f_{kij}^{n} =$ fraction of commodity n moving from i to j via k,
 $Z_{kij}^{n} =$ path impedance from i to j for commodity n via mode K, and
 a_{kij}^{n} , b^{a} , v^{a} = constants

Linear:

$$f_{kij}^{n} = \frac{U_{kij}^{n}}{\sum\limits_{m=1}^{m} U_{mij}^{n}}$$

Where:

$$U_{kij}^{n} = A_{0} + a_{1} C_{kij}^{n} + a_{2} T_{kij}^{n} + a_{3} V_{kij}^{n}$$
, and
 $U_{kij}^{n} = utility of mode k for commodity n from i to j.$

Exponential:



Where:

$$U_{kij}^{n} = \exp (a_{0} + a_{1}C_{kij}^{n} + a_{2}T_{kij}^{n} + a_{3}V_{kij}^{n})$$

Modified Logit:

$$f_{kij}^{n} = \frac{\bigcup_{kij}^{n}}{\sum_{m=1}^{M} \bigcup_{mij}^{n}}$$

Where:

$$U_{kij}^{n} = \frac{\exp (a_{0} + a_{1} C_{kij}^{n} + a_{2} T_{kij}^{n} + a_{3} V_{kij}^{n})}{1 - \exp (a_{0} + a_{1} C_{kij}^{n} + a_{2} T_{kij}^{n} + a_{3} V_{kij}^{n})}$$

Each of the models can be tested as presented above and in terms of a base mode, where for example:

$$\Delta C_{kij}^{n} = C_{kij}^{n} - C_{bij}^{n}$$

Where:

 C^n_{bij} is the cost of the base mode and $\Delta C^n_{kij} \mbox{ is the term that enters the modal split model.}$

Procedure

The following procedure will be followed to develop the model split models:

- 1. Extract the largest movements of commodity n from the commodity flow data (at least 40 movements).
- 2. Examine the data for credability based on intuitive grasp of mode split circumstances. Reject data outliers.
- 3. Conduct regression analyses of the data for the different models plus variations that may come to mind until acceptable results are achieved. Past correlation work has not given good results. It is likely that the models

produced will have shortcomings. These will be pursued as part of the second year's research.

Network Manipulations

Network manipulation procedures need to be devised that can (1) load the commodity flow data on the transportation network, following paths of lowest utility; (2) determine transportation costs from sources to markets for all commodities and add these to production costs; (3) seek out means to best use the multi-modal opportunities presented by new transportation facilities and services; and (4) provide evaluation measures for comparing alternative transportation programs.

The network task is greatly complicated by the need to manipulate large quantities of data. The network structure, with 120 nodes and 400 arcs is not, in itself, alarming, but when the problem is compounded by the need to deal with 53 different commodities, the data problem becomes formidable. A set of six interconnected computer programs is being designed. The function of each program is briefly outlined below.

Network Construction

Because of the mass of data, a special program is being written to combine the arcs of the different modes into a single network. This program will also calculate arc and node utility for each arc, node and commodity.

<u>Trees</u>

This program will find shortest path, single mode, routes for each mode pair and each commodity, taking into account transportation arc and node costs. To reduce calculation and data storage needs a composit set of trees that would apply to a large class of commodities is under investigation.

Cost Determination

This program will calculate production cost at each major source of each commodity. It will combine production cost with transportation cost equivalent (cost plus money equivalent of time and time variability) for the shortest route between producing facility and market to estimate the market costs of each facility at each market that it serves. These market costs are used to compute new market shares after the entire system has been perturbed by new production facilities and new transportation services.

Inter-Modal Trees

This program will search for mode interchange opportunities that will lead to improvements in transportation utility both inside and outside of the Multi-State Corridor. Paths under study will include loading, unloading and interchange costs as well as arc and node costs. The result of the analysis will be a new set of trees that will include both single mode and intermodal paths.

Traffic Assignment

A traffic assignment program will load all of the commodity flow on the network, calculating and following modal split decisions and using the intermodal trees. The result will be a fully loaded network that supports all of the base system commodity movements. No congestion effects will be considered at this time.

Cost Revisions

Traffic densities on different arcs and nodes will give rise to cost changes for those costs that are use dependent. A program will be written that edits the output of the traffic assignment program and updates the set of costs. If necessary, several iterations can be made with the program set to achieve stability. In view of the program complexities, we hope that no more than one or two iterations will be needed.

Transportation Improvements

An almost unlimited number of transportation improvements can be envisioned for the Multi-State Corridor. The problem of identifying promising improvements is a formidable one. At least two approaches are possible: (1) an intuitive or pragmatic approach; and (2) an analytical approach. The intuitive approach will be followed in the first year's work. The analytical approach will be pursued during the second year.

The intuitive approach consists of examining improvements that seem likely to provide valuable service. Sources for these improvements include long range state plans, the ideas of state highway engineers, railroad officials, Corps of Engineers planners and the output of early analysis. This approach has the advantage of dealing with relative reality. Improvements are postulated. Costs, times and time variabilities are estimated for the improved facilities. Then the utility of these new facilities is tested for the set of commodity movements. The intuitive approach has a high risk, because truly advantageous improvement programs can easily be overlooked.

The analytical approach requires the development of a heuristic procedure that can search for improvement opportunities. These opportunities will be described in terms of network parameters that may or may not be translatable into real counterparts. Because of the dimensionality of the problem, the required heuristic will likely be complex. Straightforward approaches, like sensitivity analysis, and statistical approaches simply require too many investigations to be practical.

As part of the first year's work, we will explore three types of improvements: (1) those which improve the accessability of the Northern Mississippi test area to the national transportation network; (2) modal improvements that extend the length of the Multi-State Corridor, and; (3) Intermodal transfer improvements. Improvements in local accessability will focus on the four Northern Mississippi zones. They will be devised with the cooperation of Mississippi highway officials, state officials concerned with railroad planning, and officials of railroads serving the area. No waterway improvements will be explored beyond the completion of the Tennessee-Tombigbee project. Rail and highway improevements will be postulated for the length of the corridor. These will be represented as upgrading existing arcs to the highest quality for each mode. Intermodal transfer opportunities will be offered at all nodes serving the upgraded rail and highway arcs. These terminals will be patterned after the best of the existing container terminals.

The different improvements will be combined into several improvement programs. Each of these programs will be tested with the commodity movements. The different programs will be evaluated and compared.

Evaluation

It is a very complex task to determine whether a transportation improvement program is a good thing. There are many view points to consider and many affected groups whose voices will be heard. A large set of evaluation criteria is being

prepared in an effort to encompass all of the different stakeholder views.

Five different areas are under investigation--economic, physical, fiscal, social and aesthetic. The principal issues in each area are summarized briefly below. A more detailed development will be presented in the Task 4 report.

Economic Issues

The economic issues concern the operators of transportation services, the operators of new production facilities, state and local government, and the public. The operators of transportation services will be concerned with the resources available to construct their facilities, the labor and management personnel available to man them, the level of use of their services, and their competitive climate. The operators of new production facilities have similar concerns, but their concerns focus on their business interests and are not the same as the transportation operator's interests. For example, both may compete for the same construction resources; one may bring in a labor union that has an impact on the other's labor supply. State and local governments are concerned with employment, tax base, property values, gross commercial sales and other measures of the area's prosperity. The public's view is both general and specific. Individuals are concerned about employment, income and life style. Collectively, the public is concerned about many of the same issues as government.

Physical Issues

Physical issues relate to the directly measurable results of the transportation and economic development projects. Use of resources, energy and land are key physical issues. The intensity of use of transportation facilities is an issue since it will have an impact on alternative uses of the same facilities.

Fiscal Issues

Fiscal issues concern the flow of money between the new facilities and the balance of the economy. The impacts of the new facilities on prices is also of major concern. Money benefits and costs accrue to widely different parties--some realize net benefits, others suffer net costs. A final accounting or benefit/cost will attempt to measure the joint impact on stakeholder groups.

Social Issues

Social issues include a broad range of non-economic concerns that are largely non-quantifiable. These range from land use and community form through quality of life and urban renewal opportunities to meeting community and Multi-State Corridor goals.

Aesthetic

Aesthetic issues concern changes in the appearance of the Northern Mississippi test area. These include noise, air quality, light, water quality and drainage, clutter, advertising and other factors that affect how individuals and groups view their communities. Aesthetic issues are closely bound in diverse sets of values. Although some aesthetic factors are quantifiable, individual reactions are highly subjective.

Procedure

Evaluation criteria have been postulated as part of the Task 4 effort. Units of measure are being selected for each. Limited discussions will be held with different stakeholder groups in Northern Mississippi to determine tentative weights for some of the criteria. An array of values will be prepared for the alternative transportation programs tested in Northern Mississippi. However, the development of a specific evaluation model will have to await the second year's research.

APPENDIX A NETWORK ZONE DESCRIPTIONS

The zones in the Multi-State Transportation Network are comprised of three types:

- 1. Zones inside the Multi-State Corridor that are smaller than BEAs,
- 2. Zones outside the Multi-State Corridor whose boundaries do not follow BEA boundaries, and

3. Zones made up of integral numbers of Basic Economic Areas (BEAs). Zone composition is described below for each category. Type one zones are described in terms of their included counties and their nodal cities. Type two zones are often associated with a BEA but they are described in terms of their included counties and their nodal city. Type three zones are described in terms of their included BEAs and their nodal cities. CORRIDOR ZONES

Zone No.	<u>Nodal City</u>	APDC*	Included Counties
1.	Brunswick, Ga.		Liberty, Long, McIntosh, Glynn, Camden Co., Ga.
2.	Jacksonville, Fl.	APDC 1, F1.	Baker, Clay, Duval, Nassau, Rutnam, St. Johns
3.	Statesboro, Ga.	Southern	Appling, Bullock, Candler, Evans, Jeff Davis, Tattnall, Toombs, Wayne
4.	Waycross, Ga.	Slash Pine	Atkinson, Bacon, Brantley, Charlton, Clinch, Coffee, Pierce, Ware
5.	Dublin, Ga.	Heart of Ga.	Bleckley, Dodge, Laurens, Montgomery, Pulaski, Telfair, Treutlen, Wheeler, Wilcox
б.	Valdosta, Ga.	Coastal Plain	Ben Hill, Berrier, Brooks, Cook, Echols, Irwin, Lanier, Lowndes, Tift, Turner
7.	Macon, Ga.	Middle Ga.	Bibb, Crawford, Houston, Jones, Monroe, Peach, Twiggs
8.	Cordele, Ga.	Middle Flint	Crisp, Dooly, Marion, Macon, Schley, Sumter, Taylor, Webster,
9.	Albany, Ga.	S.W. Ga.	Baker, Calhoun, Colquitt, Decatur, Dougherty, Early, Grady, Lee, Miller, Mitchell, Seminole, Terrell, Thomas, Worth
10.	Lagrange, Ga.	Chattahoochee-	Carroll, Coweta, Heard, Meriwether,
11	Columbus Co	Fillic Lover Chattabasal	lioup hoo Chattahooshoo Clay Harria
11.	corumbus, Ga.	Valley	Mucaacoo Quitman Bandalph
			Stowart Talb of Ca Lee
		ADC 10, AL.	Puecell Al
12.	Anniston, Al.	APDC-4	Calhoun, Chambers, Cherokee, Clay, Cleburne, Cosa, Etowah, Randolph,
13.	Montgomery, Al.	APDC-9+	Autauga, Dallas, Elmore, Montgomery, Perry
14.	Troy, Al.	APDC-5	Bullock, Butler, Crenshaw, Lowndes, Macon, Pike
15.	Dothan, Al.	APDC-7	Barbour, Coffee, Covington, Dade, Geneva, Henry, Houston
16.	Decatur, Al.	APDC-11	Cullman, Lawrence, Morgan
17.	Birmingham, Al.	APDC-1	Blount, Chilton, Jefferson,
	<i>. .</i>		St. Clair, Shelby, Walker
18.	Florence, Al.	APDC-1	Colbert, Franklin, Lauderdale, Marion, Winston
19.	Tuscaloosa, Al.	APDC-2	Bibb, Greene, Fayette, Hale, Lamar, Pickens, Tuscaloosa
20.	Corinth, Ms.	N.E. Ms.	Alcorn, Benton, Marhsall, Prentiss, Tippah, Tishomingo

^{*}Area Planning and Development Commission or equivalent comprehensive planning agency.

<u>Z</u>	one No.	Nodal City	APDC*	Included Counties
	21.	Tupelo, Ms.	3 Rivers	Calhoun, Chickasaw, Itawanba, Lafayette, Lee, Monroe, Pontotac, Union
	22.	Columbus, Ms.	Golden Triangle	Clay, Choctaw, Lowndes, Noxubee, Ortibbeh, Webster
	23.	Clarksdale, Ms.	No. Delta	Coahoma, DeSoto, Quitman, Panola, Tate, Tunica
	24.	Dyersburg, Ten.	N.W. APDC-	Carroll, Crockett, Dyer, Gibson, Henry, Lake, Obion, Weakley
	25.	Jackson, Tn.	SW APDC+	Chester, Decatur, Hardeman, Hardin, Haywood, Henderson, McNairy, Madison, Wayne
	26.	Memphis, Tn.	Memphis Delta	Fayette, Lauderdale, Shelby, Tipton
	27.	Jonesboro, Ak.	East	Clay, Craighead, Crittenden, Cross, Greene, Lawrence, Lee, Ms. Phillips, Poinsett, Randolph, St. Francis
	28.	Searcy, Ak.	White River	Cleburne, Fulton, Independence, Izard, Jackson, Sharp, Stone, Van Buren. White. Woodruff
	29.	Harrison, Ak.		Baxter, Boone, Carroll, Marion, Newton, Searcy
	30.	Sikeston, Mo.	Bootheel	Bunklin, Mississippi, New Madrid, Plemescot, Scott, Stoddard
	31.	Poplar Bluff, Mo.	Ozark Foothills	Butler, Carter, Reynolds, Ripley, Wayne
	32.	West Plains, Mo.	So. Cent. Ozark	Douglas, Howell, Oregon, Ozark, Shannon, Texas, Wright
	33.	Lebanon, Mo.	Lake of the Ozarks	Camden, Laclede, Miller, Morgan, Pulaski
	34.	Marshall, Mo.	Mo. Valley	Carroll, Chariton, Saline
	35.	Sedalia, Mo.	Show-Me	Johnson, Lafayette, Pettis
	36.	Springfield, Mo.	Lakes Country	Barry, Christian, Dade, Dallas, Greene, Lawrence, Polk, Stone, Taney, Webster
	37.	St. Joseph, Mo.	Bi State	Andrew, Buchanon, Clinton, DeKalb, Mo., Doniphan, Ks.
	38.	Kansas City, Mo.	Mid America Reg. Council	Cass, Clay, Jackson, Platte, Ray, Mo., Johnson, Leavenworth, Wyandatte, Ks.
	39.	Nevada, Mo.	Kaysinger Basin	Bates, Benton, Cedar, Henry, Hickory, St. Clair, Vernon
	40.	Joplin, Mo.	Ozark Gateway	Barton, Jasper, McDonald, Newton

2. NON BEA EXTERNAL ZONES

BEAs Disrupted:

33, 34, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44 45, 46, 47, 111, 112, 114, 115, 116, 117

Zone No.	Nodal City	BEA	Included Counties
41	Savannah, Ga.		Bryan, Chatham, Effingham, Screven, Ga.; Jasper, S.C.
43	Milledgeville, Ga.		Oconee APDC, Ga: Baldwin, Hancock, Jasper, Putnam, Washington, Wilkerson
44	Atlanta, Ga.	BEA 44 minus:	Cleburne Co., Ala.; Carroll, Coweta Co., Ga.
46	Huntsville, Al.		Limestone, Madison, Marshall Co., Ala.; Lincoln, Franklin Co., Tenn.
49	Cape Girardeau, Mo.		Bolinger, Cape Girardeau, Mo.; Alexander, Hardin, Johnson, Massac, Pope, Pulaski, Union, Ill.; Ballard, Carlisle, Calloway, Fulton, Graves, Hickman, Livingston, Lyon, Marshall, McCracken, Ky.
50	St. Louis, Mo.	BEA 114 minus:	Laclede, Pulaski, Reynolds, Texas, Mo.
52	Columbia, Mo.	BEA 112 minus:	Putnam, Sullivan, Linn, Chariton, Morgan, Camden, Miller Co., Mo.
53	Chillicothe, Mo.		Northwest, Mo., Green Hills APCD, Mo., Atchison, Caldwell, Daviess, Gentry, Grundy, Harrison, Holt, Linn, Livingston, Mercer, Nodaway,

Putnam, Sullivan, Worth

Zone No.	Nodal City	BEA	Included Counties
56	Topeka, Ks.		Allen, Anderson, Atchison, Bourbon, Brown, Cherokee, Craig, Crawford, Douglas, Franklin, Geary, Jackson, Jefferson, Labette, Linn, Lyon, Marshall, Miami, Montgomery, Nemaha, Neosho, Osage, Ottawa, Pottawatomie, Riley, Shawnee, Wabaunsee, Washington, Wilson, Woodson, Ks.
60	Little Rock, Ak.	BEA 117 minus:	White River APDC, Ak. (See zone 28 for omitted counties)
67	Gainesville, Fl.		Alachua, Bradford, Columbia, Dixie, Gilchrist, Hamilton, Lafayette, Levy, Marion, Sewannee, Union, Fl.

ź

.

.

3. ZONES COMPRISED OF INTEGRAL BEAS

Zona	No
Lone	NO.

.

<u>Nodal City</u>

one No.	Nodal City	BEAs
42	Augusta, Ga.	32
45	Chattanooga, Tn.	48
47	Nashville, Tn.	49
48	Evansville, In.	55
51	Quincy, I1.	113
54	Des Moines, Ia.	80,81, 104, 105, 106
55	Omaha, Ne.	102, 103, 107,108
57	Wichita, Ks.	109, 110
58	Tulsa, Ok.	119
59	Ft. Smith, Ok.	118
61	Greenville, Ms.	134
62	Jackson, Ms.	135
63	Meridian, Ms.	136
64	Mobile, Al.	137
65	Pensacola, Fl.	39
66	Tallahassee, Fl.	38
68	Miami, Fl.	35, 36
69	Boston, Ma.	1, 2, 3, 4, 5
70	Albany, N.Y.	6, 7
71	Buffalo, N.Y.	8, 9, 10
72	New York, N.Y.	14, 15
73	Scranton, Pa.	12, 13
74	Harrisburg, Pa.	11, 16
75	Pittsburgh, Pa.	66, 67
76	Washington, D. C.	17, 18
77	Roanoke, Va.	19, 20
78	Richmond, Va.	21
79	Charlotte, N.C.	25, 26
80	Raleigh, N.C.	23, 24
81	Greenville, S.C.	27, 28
82	Columbia, S.C.	29, 30
83	Knoxville, Tn.	50
84	Charleston, W.V.	51, 52, 65
85	Cincinnati, Oh.	53, 54, 62
86	Dayton, Oh.	61, 63, 69
87	Cleveland, Oh.	68
88	Detroit, Mi.	71, 72, 74
89	Indianapolis, In.	56, 59, 60
90	Chicago, 11.	76, 77, 78, 79
91	Milwaukee, Wi.	82, 83, 84, 85, 86
92	St. Paul, Mn.	88, 89, 90, 91
93	Billings, Mn.	94, 95, 100, 101, 150
94	Denver, Co.	147, 148, 149
95	Oklahoma City, Ok.	120, 121
96	Texarkana, Tx.	131
97	Shreveport, La.	132, 133
98	New Orleans, La.	138
99	Tampa, Fl.	37
100	Amarillo, Tx.	122, 123

Zone No.	<u>Nodal City</u>	BEAs
101	Dallas, Tx.	127, 130
102	El Paso, Tx.	124, 145, 163
103	Austin, Tx.	128, 129
104	San Antonio, Tx.	125, 126, 142, 143, 144
105	Houston, Tx.	139, 140, 141
106	Salt Lake City, Ut.	151, 160
107	Phoenix, Ar.	162
108	Albuqurque, NM	146
109	Seattle, Wa.	153, 154, 155, 156
110	San Francisco, Ca.	166, 167, 168, 171
111	Los Angeles, Ca.	161, 164, 165
112	Charleston, S.C.	31
113	Duluth, Mn.	87
114	Springfield, I1.	57, 58
115	Toledo, Oh.	70, 75
116	Columbus, Oh.	65
117	Portland, Or.	152, 157, 158, 159, 169, 170
118	Fargo, ND	92, 93, 96, 97, 98, 99
119	Grand Rapids, Mi.	73
120	Norfolk, Va.	22

APPENDIX B MANUFACTURING INDUSTRY PROFILES

	201	202	203	204	205	206	207
Industry Data							
No. of Companies	3,944	3,557	1,923	2,223	3,044	1,043	595
No. of Establishments	4,437	4,590	2,557	3,080	3,633	1,249	861
Establishments with > 20 Empl.	1,882	2,067	1,389	1,093	1,551	584	458
Cost of Materials, \$Million	26,623	12,284	6,939	8,504	3,357	4,161	5,681
Value Added, \$Million	4,961	4,054	4,514	3,699	4,537	2,473	1,292
Value of Shipments, \$Million	31,478	16,312	11,479	12,162	7,896	6,620	6,910
Mean Establishment							
Annual Cost of Goods Sold,	7,095	3,552	4,503	3,928	2,171	530	7,973
\$Thousands							
Tons Shpped/Year	7,109	2,200	13,010	20,458	650	1,227	39,865
Employees	69	41	91	36	65	86	47
Direct Labor, Man-Hours	114,199	41,111	149,433	54,838	78,365	139,632	74,913
Indirect Labor, \$Thousands	142	188	138	112	250	180	146
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	608	608	12,227	1,010	633	1,904	1,608
Energy Consumption, Thou. KWH Raw Materials	8,857		12,124	13,864		30,984	7,549
Class/Annual Tons	021/6,206	024/204	013/10,864	011/	204/1,760	013/37,191	013-9/31,347
	025/2,724 201/1,162	202/879	341/	207/3,642		017/ 230 206/ 2,307	207/ 255
Min. Economic New Facility							
Employees Annual Cost of Goods Sold.	111	66	147	58	104	138	75
\$Thousands	12,416	7,611	7,745	7,385	4,300	922	14,511
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	851	961	16,917	1,475	952	2.657	2,306
Direct Labor, Man Hours	200,000	88,000	257,000	103,000	155,000	243,000	136,000

where a second second is second to second the second second

COMMODITY GROUP
	208	209	210	220	2 30	240	250
Industry Data							
No. of Companies	2,980	3,486	177	5,611	21,949	31,935	8,482
No. of Establishments	3,624	4,153	272	7,203	24,438	33,948	9,232
Establishments with > 20 Empl.	1,993	1,309	154	4,505	12,226	6,867	3,646
Cost of Materials, \$Million	7,292	4,955	2,941	16,505	14,532	13,593	5,328
Value Added, \$Million	6,689	3,397	2,637	11,718	13,488	10,309	6,090
Value of Shipments, \$Million	13,869	8,336	5,920	28,072	27,809	23,816	11,309
Mean Establishment					-	·	-
Annual Cost of Goods Sold,							
\$Thousands	3,835	1,995	20,744	3,945	1,136	700	1,237
Tons Shipped/Year	13,599	2,934	5,346	1,672	238	3,500	611
Employees	59	32	244	132	36	20	46
Direct Labor, Man-Hours	59,078	43,992	392,647	239,622	88,432	34,391	81,846
Indirect Labor, \$Thousands	299	91	372	173	72	31	95
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	1,430	474	3,558	1,295	113	124	1,560
Energy Consumption, Thou. KWH Raw Materials	9,603	11,461	20,221	10,209	747	596	763
Class/Annual Tons	208/506	209/722	013-9/1,324	202/617	220/388	240/	220/ 6
		091/269	21/3,538	282/408			240/662
							285/ 2
							331/233
							333/ 9
							340/94
Min. Economic New Facility							
Employees	94	52	392	215	90	33	81
Annual Cost of Goods Sold, \$Thousands	8,322	3,731	35,265	6,750	1,925	1,235	2,300
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	2,273	690	4,894	1,790	155	175	2,310
Direct Labor, Man Hours	128,000	82,000	667,000	410,000	150,000	61,000	157,000

COMMODITY GROUP

	260	270	281	282	283	284	285,9
Industry Data							
No. of Companies	3,956	39,894	345	265	922	2,308	3,361
No. of Establishments	6,038	42,102	1,049	461	1,078	2,573	4,204
Establishments with > 20 Empl.	3,956	8,618	510	364	425	7 32	1,462
Cost of Materials, \$Million	15,241	10,043	2,779	4,855	1,972	3,630	4,141
Value Added, \$Million	13,064	20,197	3,343	4,935	6,131	6,201	3,994
Value of Shipments, \$Million	28,262	30,132	6,133	9,746	8,019	9.778	8,090
Mean Establishment Annual Cost of Goods Sold,							
\$Thousands	4,677	716	5,845	21,239	7,427	3,704	1,923
Tons Shipped/Year	14,616	133	47,910	52,833	1,386	4,431	3,216
Employees	105	25	95	351	126	43	35
Direct Labor, Man-Hours	172,325	28,043	121,830	512,360	122,727	53,712	42,269
Indirect Labor, \$Thousands	277	104	427	1,308	770	194	174
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	3,215	234	2,680	11,286	2,827	549	316
Energy Consumption, Thou. KWH	63,829	714	652,526		18,089	6,063	9,562
Raw Materials							
Class/Annual Tons	240/29,184	260/518	102/12,097		203/	207/218	207/ 38
	260/12,295	289/ 8	140/ 4,426			281/819	281/345
		390/ 2	281/ 3,883			284/204	282/169
			331/ 425				286/149
							287/ 76
Min Economic New Escility							
Employees	160	40	153	566	203	70	57
Annual Cost of Goods Sold	103	40	1))	500	205	70	57
SThousands	8 277	1 / 32	11 308	39 505	16 636	7 408	3 942
Canital Investment SThousands	4 530	1,452	4 002	16 258	4 580	832	2,742 286
Direct Labor, Man Hours	305,000	56,000	238,000	953,000	275,000	107,000	87,000

a second provide a second of the second s

COMMODITY GROUPS

A second s second se

	286	287	290	301	302	310	321
Industry Data							
No. of Companies	557	795	1,236	136	7,799	2,699	13,170
No. of Establishments	827	1,233	2,016	206	9,031	3,201	15,817
Establishments with $>$ 20 Empl.	454	484	720	126	4,062	1,657	5,130
Cost of Materials, \$Million	5,515	2,194	22,763	2,745	6,721	2,895	8,407
Value Added, \$Million	6,073	1,737	5,793	3,071	7,583	2,917	11,433
Value of Shipments, \$Million	11,605	3,929	28,695	5,747	15,177	5,770	19,746
Mean Establishment							
Annual Cost of Goods Sold,							
\$Thousands	14,044	3,186	14,229	27,876	1,565	1,791	1,247
Tons Shipped/Year	36,958	17,700	309,326	27,655	1,252	381	6,928
Employees	165	39	69	522	57	85	38
Direct Labor, Man-Hours	214,994	51,663	99,454	819,903	88,513	155,920	59,955
Indirect Labor, \$Thousands	818	152	284	1,485	139	112	91
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	14,287	521	6,141	13,724	430	101	612
Energy Consumption, Thou. KWH	398,065	3,032	231,597	115,049	1,988	3,061	15,660
Raw Materials							
Class/Annual Tons	140/848	140/47,194	130/370,238	220/1,651	281/ 46	201/205	140/19,319
	281/6,534	281/ 1,125	140/ 25,681	281/1,292	282/654	310/ 26	281/ 221
	287/1,396	287/ 4,930	290/ 4,815	282/3,971	286/ 39		282/ 7
	290/19,451		321/ 1,355	286/10,458	289/ 22		324/ 579
				289/4,340	302/ 66		331/ 1
				302/1,448	321/ 8		
				331/589			
Min Francis Nove Fraility							
Employees	266	60	171	0 2 0	01	1 0 7	60
Appund Cost of Coods Sold	200	دס דדי 2	111 26 750	037 60 610	ע זער כ	13/ 2 027	2 157
\$Thousands	27,300	0,277	20,750	49,019	2,700	3,027	2,137
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	21,347	782	8,954	19,427	607	139	851
Direct Labor, Man Hours	419,000	102,000	187,000	1,459,000	157,000	264,000	104,000
	1						

COMMODITY GROUP

	324	331	333	341	342	360	358
Industry Data							
No. of Companies	75	1,855	3,745	223	26,150	36,519	1,566
No. of Establishments	198	2,370	4,422	553	28,972	39,023	1,769
Establishments with 20 Empl.	171	1,746	2,155	408	11,168	9,796	803
Cost of Materials, \$Million	655	19,232	16,477	2,985	22,212	24,744	4,460
Value Added, \$Million	1,153	15,597	7,661	2,005	24,941	33,136	4,427
Value of Shipments, \$Million	1,791	34,366	24,064	4,972	46,767	57,110	8,711
Mean Establishment							
Annual Cost of Goods Sold,							
\$Thousands	9,031	14,486	5,441	9,114	1,614	1,466	4,933
Tons Shipped/Year	301,033	53,257	7,216	7,495	1,232	374	1,259
Employees	152	326	84	142	49	42	112
Direct Labor, Man-Hours	251,010	527,764	135,504	253,888	74,634	57,786	160,147
Indirect Labor, \$Thousands	374	830	226	284	142	167	369
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	19,353	12,867	3,476	3,334	363	454	183
Energy Consumption, Thou. KWH	678,788 [°]	207,511	50,905	4,521	2,668	600	6,670
Raw Materials							
Class/Annual Tons	140/ 101	L/556,744	102/1,911	331/12,200	282/ 2	110/ 4	331/1,307
	260/ 102	2/ 335	140/ 27	333/ 932	331/1,283	331/297	333/ 12
	110)/ 36,157	281/1,796		333/ 69	342/ 17	342/ 14
	140)/ 3,567	282/ 261		342/ 4		
	321	L/ 15,333	331/ 8				
	331	L/ 14 , 135	335/2,308				
	333	3/ 295					
					·		
Min. Economic New Facility Employees	244	525	135	229	79	67	180
Annual Cost of Goods Sold.						- •	
\$Thousands	15,624	25,350	9,631	15,676	2,921	2,756	9,077
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	27,056	17,990	3,491	4,615	518	662	264
Direct Labor, Man-Hours	434,000	924,000	240,000	437,000	135,000	108,000	295,000

COMMODITY GROUP

			COMMOL	DITY GROUP		
	361	362	371	372	380	390
Industry Data						
No. of Companies	8,742	1,289	2,817	4,731	5,269	14,560
No. of Establishments	10,763	1,511	3,391	5,411	5,987	15,188
Establishments with > 20 Empl.	5,016	720	1,547	2,071	2,070	3,755
Cost of Materials, \$Million	21,046	2,270	42,125	13,643	5,071	5,559
Value Added, \$Million	27,359	3,224	22,056	17,743	10,584	6,777
Value of Shipments, \$Million	48,021	5,412	63,921	30,784	15,566	12,186
Mean Establishment						
Annual Cost of Goods Sold,						
\$Thousands	4,459	3,574	18,753	5,691	2,585	802
Tons Shipped/Year	1,188	1,366	11,407	10,911	239	295
Employees	137	125	238	169	76	29
Direct Labor, Man-Hours	186,324	178,425	408,994	210,774	95,140	43,554
Indirect Labor, \$Thousands	534	418	602	922	344	72
Capital Investment, \$Thousands	1,216	1,413	3,651	1,039	66	177
Energy Consumption, Thous. KWH	4,996	9,464	21,587	7,577	336	1,211
Raw Materials						
Class/Annual Tons	282/ 39	282/ 6	282/	331/818	207/ 1	282/25
	331/342	331/1007	331/4,592	333/945	331/25	310/ 1
	340/ 2	333/ 482	333/ 843	342/ 34	333/18	333/36
		342/ 2	342/ 486			333/ 2
Min. Economic New Facility						
Employees	220	200	384	271	122	47
Annual Cost of Goods Sold	220	200	504	211	144	47
SThousands	8 339	6 576	32 630	11 097	5 015	1 428
Capital Investment, SThousands	1,773	2,039	5,092	1,553	991	250
Direct Labor, Man-Hours	349,000	328,000	712,000	411,000	185,000	78,000

94

.

APPENDIX C NETWORK ARC DESCRIPTIONS

This Appendix contains a detailed description of each two way arc in the transportation network. Separate tables and a separate format are presented for highway rail and water arcs.

Highway Arcs

Seven items of information are presented for each highway arc. They are: Column 1. Arc number,

Column 2. Originating network node number*,

Column 3. Terminating network node number,

Column 4. Distance in miles between the two nodes,

Column 5. Travel time in minutes for a truck to move from node to node,

Column 6. Number of lanes of traffic in both directions, and

Column 7. The route designations for the highways comprising the arc

- I = Interstate US = Federal aid primary or secondary
- S = State

Rail Arcs

The seven items of information that describe each rail arc are different from those used to describe highway arcs. Rail arc descriptors are:

Column 1. Arc number,

- Column 2. Origin node,
- Column 3. Terminating node,
- Column 4. Arc length in miles,
- Column 5. Average speed made good by the highest class freight train normally traversing the arc,
- Column 6. Arc capacity in trains per day in both directions. This includes the capacity of all parallel routes considered part of the same arc.

Column 7. Railroad Company(s) owning the lines comprising the arc.

- 1. Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe
- 2. Atlanta and West Point
- 3. Burlington Northern
- 4. Bessemer and Lake Erie

^{*}Flow can move in both directions between the pair of nodes designated origin and destination.

- 5. Baltimore & Ohio/Chesapeake & Ohio
- 6. Conrail
- 7. Chicago & North Western
- 8. Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific
- 9. Denver & Rio Grande Western
- 10. Detroit, Toledo & Ironton
- 11. Florida East Coast
- 12. Georgia
- 13. Illinois Central Gulf
- 14. Kansas City Southern
- 15. Louisiana & Arkansas
- 16. Louisville & Nashville
- 17. Milwaukee
- 18. Missouri-Kansas-Texas
- 19. Missouri Pacific
- 20. Norfolk & Western
- 21. Penn Central (other than Conrail lines)
- 22. Richmond, Fredericksburg & Potomac
- 23. Seaboard Coast Line
- 24. Southern
- 25. Soo Line
- 26. Southern Pacific
- 27. St. Louis-San Francisco
- 28. St. Louis Southwestern
- 29. Texas & Pacific
- 30. Union Pacific
- 31. Western Railway of Alabama
- 32. Western Pacific

All rail arcs are capable of carrying two way traffic.

Water Arcs

The eight water arc descriptors are:

Column 1. Arc number,

Column 2. Origin node,

- Column 3. Destination node,
- Column 4. Arc length in miles,

- Column 5. Down stream speed in miles per hour,
- Column 6. Number of locks along the arc --

a-1 entry designates an ocean arc with no locks,

Column 7. Channel depth in fee, a-1 entry designates an ocean arc.

Column 8. Waterway system

- 1. Alabama River
- 2. Arkansas River
- 3. Atlantic Coastwise
- 4. Black Warrior River
- 5. Chattahoochee River
- 6. Cumberland River
- 7. Great Lakes Waterway
- 8. Gulf Coastwise
- 9. Hudson River
- 10. Illinois River
- 11. Kanawha River
- 12. Mississippi River
- 13. Missouri River
- 14. N.Y. State Barge Canal
- 15. Ohio River
- 16. Pacific Coastwise
- 17. Savannah River
- 18. Tennessee River
- 19. Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway

Water arcs also support two way traffic.

HIGHWAY ARCS

Arc	Orig.	Dest	• Dist	Time	La. Routes	Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist. 1	ime	La. Routes	
1	- 1	2	68	74	4 I-95	45	13	10	88	96	4 I-85	
2	1	4	49	65	2US-84	46	13	11	86 1	.00	2 I-85US280	
3	1	41	20	76	4 I-95	47	1.3	14	44	48	4US231	
4	2	56	163	177	4 I-10	48	13	17	94 1	.02	4 1-65	
5	2	67	49	53	4US301 S-24	49	13	19	105 1	.40	205-82	
6	2	68	349	379	4 I-95	50	13	63	153 2	204	2US-80	
7	3	4	108	144	2US-25US-82	51	13	64	179 1	.95	4 I-65	
8	3	5	72	96	205-80	52	13.	65	154 1	.87	2 I-65US-31US-29	
9	3	8	130	170	2 I-16 US-1US280	53	14	64	159 1	85	2US-29 S-10 I-65	
10	3	41	53	58	4 I-16	54	14	65	162 2	216	2US-29	
11 •	3	42	47	63	208-25	55	15	9	82 1	22	2 5-62	
12	4	2	78	104	209-23	56	15	11	105 1	40	2US431	
13	4	6	61	81	205~84	57	15	14	56	61	4US231	
14	4	8	111	139	2US-82 I-75	58	15	65	141 1	.61	2US231 I-10	
15	4	9	113	151	205-52	59	15	66	101 1	17	2US231 I-10	
16	4	41	94	120	2US-82 I-95	60	16	18	41	45	4US-72	
17	5	1	146	195	20544105341	61	15	46	23	25	4US-72	
18	ŝ	4	121	153	2 I-16 US-1	62	16	47	116 1	26	4 1-65	•
19	Š	7	52	57	4 I-16	63	17	11	148 - 1	97	205280	
20	5	8	92	123	20544105280	64	17	16	81	88	4 1-65	
21	5	42	85	113	2US319 US-1	65	17	19	56	61	4 1-59	
22	ŝ	43	47	- 33	2US441	. 66	17	21	165 . 2	20	2US÷78	
23	6	2	75	82	4 T-75 I-10	67	17	45	150 1	63	4 I-59	
24	Ä	ลี	88	96	4 T-75	68	18	20	54	72	2US-43US-72	
25	6	9	89	107	2 I-75US-82	69	18	22	127 1	69	205-4305-78 5-12	
26	6	66	71	82	2US-84US221 I-10	70	18	47	104 1	31	2US-43 I-65	
27		67	93	101	4 1-75	71	19	18	116 1	55	2US-43	
28	2	43	31	46	2 S-49	72	19	22	51	81	2US-82	
29	7	44	78	85	4 1-75	73	19	63	75	92	4 I-59	
30	Ŕ	7	56	61	4 1-75	74	19	64	197 2	:62	2US-43	
31	8	11	87	116	20\$280	75	20	25	54	72	2US-45	
32	ş		34	51	28-257	. 76	20	26	94 1	25	2US-72	
33	9	11	77	104	205-82 5-5505280	77	21	20	50	67	2US-45	
34	ŝ	66	98	131	205-1905319	79	21	23	110 1	.64	2 5-6	
35	10	44	49	53	4 1-85	79	21	26	97 1	29	209-78	
36	11	7	98	131	2US-80	80	21	62	215 2	263	2 S-6 I-55	
37	11	10	50	54	4I-185	81	22	21	68	91	2US-45	
38	12	10	69	95	2US431S-244	92	22	23	165 2	20	2US-82US49E	
39	12	13	88	96	205231	83	22	61	160 2	213	2US-82	
40	12	17	61	66	4 1-20	84	22	62	168 2	203	2US-82 1-55	
41	12	44	86	93	4 1-20	85	22	63	89 1	18	205-45	
42	12	45	111	129	2US431 I-59	86	23	26	78 1	.04	2US-61	
43	12	46	98	131	2US431	87	23	28	136 1	.81	2US-61US-49 S-1	S-64
44	13	9	150	200	205-82	. 88	23	60	140 1	.73	2US-61US-49 I-40	

Arc.	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes	Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes
89	23	61	70	93	2US-61	135	35	34	24	32	205-65
90	23	62	183	217	2 S-6 I-55	° 136	35	38	83	95	2US-65 I-70
91	24	27	100	121	2I-155 I-55 S-18	137	35	52	68	78	2US-65 I-70
92	24	30	78	85	4I-155 I-55	138	36	33	53	58	4 I-44
93	24	48	203	232	2US-51FTNPKTPKWYPPKWY	139	36	35	120	160	205-65
94	25	24	41	61	2 5-20	140	33	39	91	121	2 S-13US-54
95	25	47	150	163	4 U-40	141	36	40	69	75	4 I-44
96	25	48	235	271	2 I-40 S-13	142	37	53	74	99	208-36
97	26	24	74	80	4US-51	143	37	54	181	204	2US-36 I-35
99	26	25	75	82	4 1-40	144	37	55	152	165	4 I-29
99	26	27	65	81	2 I-55US-63	145	37	56	85	113	2US-59
100	26	28	92	123	2US-64	146	33	34	76	85	2 I-70US-65
101 ·	26	30	145	157	4 I-55	147	38	37	52	57	4 I-29
102	26	60	138	150	4 1-40	148	38	53	100	118	2I-35US-36
103	27	28	79	105	2 S-39US-64US-67	149	38	54	195	212	4 I-35
104	27	29	166	221	205-6305-62	150	38	55	35	71	4 I-70
105	27	30	120	149	2 8-18 1-55	151	38	57	200	217	4 I-35
106	27	31	91	121	205-3305-67	152	39	35	127	169	205-5405-65
107	27	32	104	139	2US-63	153	39	38	98	131	209-71
103	28	29	135	220	20513705-6405-65	154	39	57	170	226	208-54
109	28	32	142	189	20816705-63	155	40	39	54	85	205-71
110	28	60	43	47	4US-67	156	40	57	218	279	2US166 I-35
111	29	32	109	145	2US-62 S-5US-160	157	40	58	95	103	4 I-44
112	29	36	65	87	208-65	158	40	59	149	,199	2US-71
113	29	40	148	197	208-6208-71	159	41	82	142	154	4 I-95 I-26
114	29	58	186	248	208-62 8-33	160	42	82	69	75	4 I-20
115	29	59	132	175	205-6208-71	161	43	42	80	100	2 S-22 S-16US278 I-20
116	29	60	134	171	2HS-65 T-40	162	43	81	158	211	2US441
117	30	31	47	63	2118-60	163	44	42	150	120	4 I-20
118	30	47	190	223	2US-60 1-24	164	44	81	119	129	4 I-85
119	30	48	227	267	2 1-57 8-1305-60	165	45	44	114	1.24	4 I-75
120	30	49	7.0	41	4 1-55	166	45	83	112	122	4 I-75
121	31	32	100	133	205160	167	45	45	75	100	205-72
122	31	50	202	231	2US-40 I-55	168	47	45	128	139	4 I-24
123	32	33	111	148	2US-60 S-5	169	47	46	187	209	2 I-65US-72
124	32	36	110	146	205-60	170	47	83	177	192	4 I-40
125	32	50	210	254	2US-63 I-44	171	47	84	384	417	4 I-64
126	32	52	205	273	205-63	172	47	85	269	315	4 I-65 I-71
127	33	35	99	132	2 5-6405-65	173	48	47	159	173	4US-41 I-24
128	33	39	123	164	2 S-5US-54	174	48	84	392	426	4 1-64
129	33	49	181	230	2 I-44 S-8US-67US-72	175	48	85	224	243	4 I-64 I-71 ·
130	33	50	165	179	4 I-44	176	49	47	171	194	2US-60 I-24
131	33	52	151	187	2 I-44US-63	177	50	47	328	357	4 I-64 I-57 I - 24
132	34	51	75	100	2 5-4105-24	178	50	48	172	187	4 1-64
133	34	52	61	69	2US-65 1-70	179	50	49	148	161	4 I-55
134	34	53	65	87	205-65	180	50	89	235	255	4 I-70

Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes		Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes
181	51	50	116	155	2US-61		227	79	76	103	115	4 1-95
182	51	52	119	159	2US-61US-54		228	79	77	189	205	4 I-77 I-81
183	52	50	106	115	4 1-70		229	79	80	167	182	4 I-85 I-40
184	53	51	130	172	208-3608-61		230	80	77	163	177	4US220 I-85
185	53	54	149	171	2US-36 I-35		231	80	79	173	188	4 1-85
186	54	89	465	521	4 I-80 I-74		232	81	42	104	139	2US-25
187	54	90	327	355	4 I-80		233	81	79	90	98	4 I-85
188	54	92	252	274	4 1-35		234	81	82	95	103	4 1-26
189	55	54	132	143	4 I-80		235	82	79	94	102	4 I-77
190	56	55	159	212	2US-75		236	82	80	205	223	4 I-20 I -9 5
191	57	56	127	138	4KTNPK		237	83	77	263	286	4 I-91
192	58	56	195	230	2US-75		238	83	80	359	405	4 I-40
193	. 59	58	117	127	4 1-40		239	83	81	150	163	4 I-40 I-26
194	59	101	243	264	4US-69 I-40		240	83	84	335	364	4 I-81 I-77
195	60	59	154	167	4 I-40		241	83	85	253	275	4 I-75
196	61	60	151	201	2US-35		242	84	75	213	231	4 I-79
197	62	61	120	113	2 I-20US-61		243	` 84	77	181	197	4 I-77 I-81
198	62	97	219	238	4 I-20		244	84	78	305	330	4 I-64
199	63	62	93	101	4 I-20		245	84	79	287	312	4 I-77
200	63	98	194	211	4 I-59		246	85	34	208	226	4 I-75 I-64
201	64	62	182	198	2US-49US-98		247	85	86	52	56	4 I-75
202	64	63	133	146	2US-45		248	87	71	187	203	4 I-90
203	64	98	144	157	4 I-10		249	87	73	310	337	4 2-80 I -84
204	65	64	62	67	4 I-10		250	87	75	129	,140	4I-80S
205	65	65	183	202	4 I-10	•	251	87	84	243	264	4 I-77
206,	67	66	133	145	4 I-75 I-10		252	89	47	279	320	, 4 I−65
207	68	99	268	291	4 1-75		253	89	48	167	210	2 I-70US-41
208	. 70	69	163	177	4 I-90		254	89	85	106	115	4 I-74
209	71	70	283	308	4 I-90	•	255	89	86	107	116	4 I-70
210	71	73	246	330	4 I-90 I-81		256	90	48	296	322	4 I-57 I-64
211	72	69	208	224	4 1-84		257	90	49	373	409	4 I-57
212	72	70	154	167	4 I-87		258	90	51	308	363	2 I-55 S-125US-24
213	72	74	180	196	4 1-78		209	90	88	200	289	4 1-94
214	/2	76	233	253	4 1-95		200	90	87	191	197	4 1~65
215	/3	70	1/3	188	4 1-81 1-88		201	71	90	87	95	4 1-94
216	/3	72	138	150	4 1-84 • 0 20 T 50		202	74	90	400	440	4 1-94 1-90
21/	74	71	2/8	300	4 2-79 1-90 A T 01		200 244	7.2 07	71	0017 0077	3/7	4 1-94 A 1-90 1 90
210	74	/3	100	128	4 1-81		202	7.0 017	00	077 550	770	4 I-90 I-29 4 I-90 I-25
217	74	73	287	203	4 1-76		200	73	55	527	500	4 1-90 1-25
22V 201	75	71	107	117 117	4 1-79 1-90		200	77	ir z	537	204	A T 20
221	70	74	701	740	+ 1-00 A T-74 T-74		20/	74)	50	500	557	4 1-70 A 1-701-750
222	/¢ 7∡	27	221 322	127A	4) I / O I / V A T O I / V		200	74	100	407	535	9 T=25U0=07
220 778	70	54 74	700	714	A TEQ1		207 774	0.4	109	452	701	A T-25
	77	74	- <u>-</u> 07 つつ≂	014 075	* I = 01 7 T = 01 T = 44		270	7 A 0 S	57	150	173	4 I-25 A I-25
225	77	79	164	180	A I-64		272	95	58	105	114	4 T44
ب ≟ ـنه		/0	104	100				,0	50	701	** 1	

	Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes	Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes	
	273	95	59	184	200	4 1-40	300	110	1 4 4	770	410	ате:	
	274	96	59	181	241	205-71	310	111	 04	1050	4444	4 I-D 4 I-15 I-70	
•	275	96	60	140	152	4 I-20	311	1 1 1	104	716	700		
	276	96	61	206	275	285-82	710	111	100	7100	111		
	277	97	61	210	257	2 I-20US165US-82	717	4 4 13	107	107	423	4 1-10 000 17 7 0m	
	278	97	96	70	76	4 I-71	714	4403	41	100	110	205-17 1-95	
	279	98	62	178	293	4 I-55	k0 ⊥ ** 17 4 E	یک اساد دعانه اس	- 42 - 200	137	185	205-7805-28	
	280	98	97	313	396	2 I-10US-71	01.U 171.Z	112	3V 00	200	2//	205-52 1-95	
	281	99	67	127	138	4 1-75	310	یک است. ۲۳۳ و ۹	82	113	ک کہ ا	4 1-26	
	282	100	95	258	280	4 T-40	01.Z	5 J. 1	92	153	166	4 1-35	
	283	100	101	358	390	415287	310	110	118	201	33A 100	2 US-25T200ST-34US-10	
	284	100	102	419	559	2115-2016-54	200	1 1 A	UL) 11 - 12	100	109	4 1-55	
	285	100	104	514	488	203 7000 04	320	114	51	1.27	169	405-36	
	286	101	95	203	224	4 1-35	34.1 34.1	++ 1 1 A + 1	04 00	107	334	4 1-55 1-74 I-80	
•	287	101	96	175	190	4 1-30	707	4 4 4	07	100	-260	205-36	
	289	101	97	185	201	4 T-20	ت.دن ۸ در ۳	446	90	193	205	4 1~55	
	289	102	101	620	674	4 1-20	324 705	110	రర తె7	100	168	4 1-75	
	290	102	104	574	624	4 1-10	2020		67	T T T	120	4 1-90	
	291	103	97	309	388	2 I-35 S-31 I-20	3.30	110	88 00	10	66	4 1-75	
	292	103	101	193	210	4 I-35	3∠/ 700	115	87	219	245	4_I-69US-24	
	293	103	105	164	201	2US183 I-10	328		90	232	252	41-90	
	294	104	103	77	83	4 1-35	329	115	116	133	180	2US-23	
	295	104	105	197	214	4 T-10	330	116	75	182	198	4 I-70	
	296	105	97	234	262	2115-59115-79	<u>ය</u> යා.	116	84	164	219	2US-33	
	297	105	98	354	397	4 T=10	: 332 	116	85	108	, 117	4 I-71	
	298	105	101	243	264	4 1-45	చచచ	113	86	65	71	4 I-70	
	299	106	93	551	654	Δ T+15 T-90	334	116	87	139	151	· 4 I-71	
	300	106	94	504	549	4 T-90 T-25	333	11/	119	172	187	4 I-5	
	301	106	117	780	848	41-80N	. 338	11/	110	640	695	4 I-5	
	302	107	108	432	490	A = 17 = 100	337	118	92	234	254	4 1-94	
	303	107	102	443	432	Δ I-10	338	118	9.5	611	564	4 I-94	
	304	109	100	284	308	4 1-40	337	110	88	14/	1.60	4 1-96	
	305	103	102	266	289	4 1-25	54U 7A1	113	89	241	321	4US131US-31	
	306	109	93	845	918	4 T-90	341	119	90	168	183	4I-196 I-94	
	307	109	106	871	947	4 1-90 1-821-80N	342 777	120	. 78	90	98	4 I-64	
	308	110	106	752	817	4 1-80	243	U≟1	80	168	225	2US-58 I-95	
		-		_		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							

.

102

. .

RAIL ARCS

Arc.	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Cap.	RRCo.					Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Cap.	RRCo.		
345	1	2	87	35	40	23					389	13	63	171	12	10	16		
346	1	4	48	12	10	23					390	13	64	178	35	40	16	24	
347	1	7	176	12	10	23					391	13	65	158	12	10	16		
349	2		70	45	100	23					392	14	11	84	12	10	24		
349	2	68	355	45	40	11					393	14	15	68	12	10	23		
350	2	99	210	35	24	23					394	16	17	85	35	40	16		
351	~ ~	ί.	181	12	10	24					395	16	18	43	28	24	24		
352	3	7	112	12	10	24					396	1.5	46	24	28	24	24		
757	ž	42	54	12	10	24					397	16	47	$1\bar{2}1$	35	40	16	16	
754	4	·~~ ~	74	75	10						398	17	18	129	12	10	24		
755	4	~ _	7 G 7 1	10	10	23 1971						17	19	54	~~~ ~~~	40	24	16	
764	. 7	0	109	75	40	- <u>-</u>					400	17	20	148	28	 ?∆	13		•
300	-	0	1400	10		20 1979					401	17	21	178	75	<u> </u>	27		
30/	4	۳ ح	114	1.2	10	23 07					400	17	~ 1	110	10	10	24		
330	L V	~	34	12	10	23 24					402	. 17	2. A 5	147	20	24	24		
309	6	2	110	- <u>-</u> 2	24	24					403	10	20	140	- ເດ າປ	24			
360	6	_ ¥	174	28	24	24					404	10	v	104 104	10	10	14		
361	6	15	134	12	10	23					400	18	47	120	10	. 10	17		
362	<u>6</u>	67	108	12	10	24					400	17	22. 17	av av	12	10	24		
363	<u> </u>	8	62	28	-24	24					407	19	03	70	20	40			
364	Z	11	101	28	24	24					408	20	21	50	12	20	13	13	
365	7	43	33	12	10	12					409	20	20	57	30	40	13		
366	7	44	88	35	40	24	24				410	20	26	94	28	24	24	13	
337	8	9	36	12	10	24					411	21	22	65	/ 12	20	13	13	
368	8	10 📢	123	35	20	23					412	21	63	104	35	40	27	. –	
369	8	11	95	12	10	23					413	22	61	169	12	20	13	13	
370	8	13	170	12	10	23					414	22	63	99	12	20	13	13	
371	8	41	168	12	10	23					415	22	65	60	12	10	27		
372	8	44	138	35	20	23					416	23	26	76	12	20	13	13	. —
373	. 9	7	106	28	24	24					417	23	61	63	12	30	13	13	13
374	9	11	77	28	24	24					418	24	49	124	35	80	13	13	13
375	9	15	72	12	10	24					419	25	24	48	28	24	13	13	13
376	9	66	99	12	10	23					420	25	47	153	35	40	16	16	
377	10	12	114	35	40	23					421	26	24	78	28	24	13		
378	10	44	<u> 5</u> 9	12	10	2					422	26	25	89	12	10	16		
379	11	17	171	28	24	24					423	26	30	135	28	24	28		
380	11	44	120	12	20	24	24				424	26	62	214	28	24	13		
381	11	66	163	12	10	23					425	2.7	26	68	35	40	27		
382	12	17	64	35	80	16	24(7)	23	24	23	426	27	28	- 90	35	40	27	19	
383	12	44	99	35	40	24	24				427	27	31	82	35	40	19		
384	12	45	122	12	10	24					428	27	32	105	35	40	2 7		
385	13	10	104	12	10	31					429	27	- 96	304	35	40	28		
386	13	14	51	12	10	23					430	28	26	90	28	24	19		
387	13	17	97	35	40	16	24				431	28	60	51	35	40	19		
388	13	19	104	12	10	13					432	30	26	142	35	40	27		

Arc.	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	i Cap.	RRCo.			Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Cap.	RRCo.	•	
433	30	49	29	35	80	28	27		479	52	51	88	35	80	20	3	
434	31	30	44	35	40	19			480	53	37	75	28	24	3	1	
435	31	50	130	35	40	19			481	53	52	83	28	24	3	20	
436	32	36	113	35	40	27			482	53	54	151	28	24	8		
437	33	50	182	35	40	27			483	53	90	412	35	40	ŝ		
438	34	51	155	35	40	1			484	54	55	135	35	192	. 7	17	8 3
439	34	52	55	35	40	19	20	13	485	55	93	896	12	10	3		
440	35	52	60	28	48	18	19	8	486	55	94	530	35	40	3	30	
441	36	33	57	35	40	27			487	56	57	160	28	24	8		
442	36	39	83	28	24	27			488	57	. 94	580	28	24	1		
443	36	40	65	35	40	27			489	57	100	348	28	48	1	8	
444	37	54	170	28	24	3	7		490	58	59	124	28	24	19	_	
445 -	37	55	127	12	10	3			491	58	95	119	28	24	27		
446	38	34	80	45	50	13	19	3,20,1	492	58	101	318	28	24	18		
447	38	35	94	28	24	19	8		493	59	60	130	28	24	19		
448	38	36	194	12	10	27			494	59	95	210	12	10	8		
449	38	37	60	35	80	3	19		495	· 59	96	190	35	40	14		
450	38	39	103	35	40	27	14	19	493	60	96	144	35	40	19		
451	38	53	87	45	100	17	8		497	60	98	484	35 '	40	19		
452	38	56	65	35	72	30	1		498	62	61	138	12	10	13	13	
453	38	57	227	45	100	1			499	62	63	97	12	20	13	13	
454	38	58	195	28	72	18	1	19	500	62	64	179	12	10	13		
455	39	35	92	12	10	18			501	62	7 8	193	35	72	13	13	13
456	40	28	310	12	10	19			502	63	64	137	, 12	20	13	27	,
457	40	39	63	35	40	27	14	19	503	63	98	202	´ 28	24	24		
458	40	58	115	35	40	27			504	64	65	96	12	.10	16		
459	40	59	175	28	24	14	27		505	64	98	140	35	40	16		
460	41	1	78	35	40	23			506	65	66	202	12	10	16		
461	41	3	75	12	10	24		х. Х	507	66	67	160	12	10	23		
462	41	4	97	35	40	23			508	67	99	14 1	35	40	23		
463	41	5	118	12	10	23			509	69	70	201	35	112	6	6	
464	41	80	361	35	40	23			510	69	72	230	35	72	6		
465	41	82	141	35	40	23			511	70	71	298	45	100	6		
466	42	43	93	12	5	12			512	70	73	190	35	40	6		
467	42	44	159	28	24	12			513	71	87	184	45	100	20	21	
468	42	81	128	12	10	23			514	71	88	252	35	40	6		
469	42	82	82	12	10	24			515	72	70	142	35	112	6	6	
4/0	44	45	136	35	80	16	16	24	516	72	73	134	35	72	6		
4/1	45	45	48	28	24	16	24		51/	72	74	183	35	144	6	6	
4/2	4/	40	151	30 75	40	16			518	72	76	225	35	112	6	5	
4/3	4/	48	160	35	40	16			519	73	71	262	35	40	6		•
4/4	48	50	166	28	24	16			520	73	74	136	35	40	6		
470	48	90	207	30	40	10			521	73	75	310	12	10	6		
4/6	49	50	130	40	72	27	19		522	74	75	245	45	100	21		
4//	51	50	129	28	24	3	4.0		523	• /4	/6	112	35	72	6		
_ 4/8	52	50	130	45	100	8,3	. 19,1	3,18 , 20	524	75	76	296	35	72	5		

Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Cap.	RRCo.				Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Cap.	RRCo.			
525	75	87	131	35	216	21	5	6		574	97	96	73	28	24	14	26		
526	75	116	191	35	72	$\tilde{21}$	-			575	97	101	194	45	20	29			
527	76	77	227	35	40	20				576	97	105	232	35	40	26	14		
528	76	78	117	45	200	24	22			577	98	97	315	12	10	15			
570	77	94 94	225	35	222	20	A., 444			578	98	105	363	12	10	25			
570	70	77	170	75	80	20				579	99	68	261	35	40	23			
530	70	70	1,11	75	40	24				580	100	109	374	35	40	1			
531	70	90	150	35	40	27				581	101	103	209	28	24	18			
532	70	01	740	33	40	20 5				582	101	105	244	35	40	1			
555	70	04	307	30	40	27				583	101		236	35	40	22	1		
234	79	80	100	30	100	20 07	34			SON	102	- 100	414	20	24	22	•		
535	/ 9	81	75	40	100	∠.3 07	2.4			504	100	101	140	20	 	20			
536	80	41	3/5	30	40	23	~ 7			JOJ	100	104	410	30 35	40	27 77			
537	81	44	154	145	100	24	23			530	102	107	010	75		20		-	
538	82	79	108	28	24	24				587	102	107	434	30	40	20 •			
539	82	80	203	35	40	23				588	102	108	200	 	24	1			
540	82	81	111	12	20	24	23			389	100	104	171	2.4	17		n /		
541	83	44	197	28	24	16				390	105	103	1/4	30	40	- L	20		
542	83	45	111	35	80	24	24	16		591	1.05	104	210	28	24	26	70		
543	83	47	216	12	10	16	24			592	106	110	821	30	12	26	32		
544	83	79	269	28	24	24				593	106	111	783	35	40	30			
545	84	85	204	45	100	5				594	107	111	425	35	112	1	26		
546	85	48	229	28	48	16	24			595	108	107	576	35	72	· 1			
547	85	50	338	28	24	5				596	110	117	742	35	40	26	32		
548	85	83	292	35	80	24	16			597	111	110	470	35	80	26	26	1	
549	35	90	281	35	40	5				598	112	41	111	/ 35	40	23			
550	86	85	55	45	100	21				599	112	80	204	35	40	23			
551	86	87	109	35	144	21	21			600	112	82	129	12	10	24			
552	86	90	248	35	40	5				601	113	92	145	28	24	3			
553	87	90	340	35	256	20	5	21	6	602	114	50	99	35	72	13	13	20	
554	88	90	272	35	72	21	20			603	114	51	123	35	40	20			
555	89	47	298	12	10	6	16			604	114	90	185	35	40	13	13		
556	89	50	240	35	40	6				605	115	75	261	35	40	21			
557	89	85	109	35	40	5				606	115	86	160	35	40	5		•	
558	89	90	184	35	40	21	16			607	115	87	107	- 45	100	21			
559	87	114	197	35	40	20				308	115	88	56	35	184	10	21	20	
560	90	49	364	35	72	13				609	115	90	243	45	100	21			
561	90	50	284	35	40	33				610	115	116	135	45	100	20	21		
562	90	51	272	45	100	3	1			611	116	86	71	35	224	21	21	21	21
563	90	54	358	35	184	7	17	8	3	612	115	87	138	45	100	21			
564	90	91	86	45	100	7	7	17	_	613	116	84	204	45	100	20	5		
535	90	92	396	35	40	3	•			614	117	106	836	35	40	30			
566	92	91	327	45	72	25	17			615	117	109	183	45	100	3			-
567	93	109	903	35	40		. 3	17		616	118	92	231	35	72	3	3		
568	94	106	570	35	112	9	30	~ ?		617	118	93	640	35	40	3	3		
569	95	57	172	35	80	ģ	1			- 418	119	88	152	35	40	6	_		
570	95	100	274	12	10	8	•			619	119	90	184	35	40	6			
571	2, 9,4	101	192	45	30	29	26			620	120	77	258	35	40	20			
572	. 94	103	460	28	24	19				621	120	78	109	, 45	100	1 6	20		
573	97	62	218	12	10	13													

WATER ARCS

i

Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Lock	Chan	Sys.	Ar	c Orig.	Dest.	Díst.	Speed	Lock	Chan	Sys.	
623	62	98	337	7	0	11	12	65	56 20	21	55	7	4		19	
624	61	62	101	7	0	11	12	65	57 17	19	224	7	2		4	
625	23	61	80	7	0	11	12	5	58 13	64	334	7	3		1	
626	26	23	120	7	0	11	12	5	59 15	65	100	7	1		5	
627	24	26	115	7	0	11	12	60	50 11	15	200	7	2		5	
628	49	24	168	7	Ő	11	12	60	51 42	41	150	7	0		17	
629	50	49	128	7	2	9	12	60	52 70	72	180	7	0	12	9	
630	51	50	147	7	7	9	12	64	53 71	70	342	7	35	20	14	
631	. 92	51	526	7	22	9	12	60	54 69	72	265	10	-1	-1	3	
632	58	59	182	7	5		2	60	55 72	120	440	10	-1	-1	3	
633	59	60	230	7	6		2	60	56 120	76	197	10	-1	-1	3	
634	60	61	154	7	6		2	60	57 120	1 12	460	10	-1	-1	3	
635	52	50	179	7	0	8	13	60	58 112	41	121	10	-1	-1	3	
636	34	52	78	7	0	8	13	60	59 41	1	90	10	-1	-1	3	
637	38	34	109	7	0	8	13	67	70 1	3	. 90	10	-1	-1	3	
638	37	38	82	7	0	8	13	61	71. 2	38	371	10	-1	-1	3	
639	55	37	168	7	0	8	13	61	72 68	99	369	10	1	-1	3	
640	25	49	222	7	6	11	18	6.	73 99	66	220	10	-1	-1	8	
641	20	25	60	7	1	11	18	67	74 66	65	253	10	-1	-1	8	
642	18	20	50	7	́ О	11	18	67	75 65	64	81	/ 10	-1	-1	8	
643	16	18	48	7	4	11	18	6	76 64	98	166	10	-1	-1	8	
644	46	16	19	7	0	11	18	61	77 98	105	417	10	÷1	-1	8	
645	45	46	141	7	2	11	18	6.	78 111	110	351	10	-1	-1	16	
546	83	45	184	7	3	11	18	- 61	79 110	117	635	10	-1	-1	16	
647	47	49	304	7	7	11	6	68	30 117	109	361	10	-1	-1	16	
648	. 48	49	241	7	9	11	15	68	31 71	87	176	10	-1	-1	2	
649	85	48	322	7	4	11	15	61	32 87	88	108	10	-1	-1	7	
650	75	85	470	7	6	11	15	6	33 88	91	568	10	-1	-1	7	
651	84	85	263	7	4		11	6	34 88	113	726	10	-1	-1	2	
652	90	50	365	7	9		10	61	35 113	91	743	10	-1	-1	7	
653	19	64	215	7	4		19	68	36 91	90	85	10	-1	-1	7	
654	22	19	125	7	2		19	6	37 115	88	54	10	-1	-1	2	
655	21	22	75	7	4		19	61	38 87	115	96	10	1	-1	7	
								61	39 72	76	270	10	-1	-1	3	

REFERENCES

- 1. Harris, Curtis C., Jr., <u>Regional Economic Effects of Alternative Highway</u> Systems, Ballinger Publishing Co., Cambridge, Mass.: 1974.
- Polenski, K. R., C. W. Anderson and M. M. Shirley, <u>A Guide for Users of</u> the U.S. <u>Multiregional Input-Output Model</u>, <u>Massachusetts Institute of</u> Technology, Cambridge, <u>Mass.</u>: 1974.
- Wendt, Paul F., <u>Transportation Planning Land Use Studies--the State of the</u> <u>Art</u>, Georgia Department of Transportation Research Report #5, Atlanta, Georgia: 1975.
- 4. <u>Parametric Study Report, Multi-State Transportation Corridor</u>, Traffic Planning Associates, Inc. and William S. Pollard Consultants, Inc. Atlanta, Ga.: 1974.
- Highway Corridor Study, Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri, Multi-State, Multi-Mode Transportation Route, William S. Pollard Consultants, Inc. and Traffic Planning Associates, Inc., Memphis, Tenn.: 1974.
- 6. U.S. Department of Transportation, <u>Multi-Modal Transportation Feasibility</u> <u>Study of the Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri Route</u>, U.S. Government Pringing Office, Washington, D. C.: July 1977.
- Mammott, F. W. and F. S. Schalz, "Truck Route Analysis: A Useful Tool for Statewide and Regional Rail Planning," Transportation Research Record No. 591, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C.: 1976.
- Goodnight, J. J., "Model for Estimating Regional Air Passenger Travel Demands," Highway Research Record No. 472, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C.: 1973.
- 9. Schuessler, R. W. and P. A. Cardellichio," NTP Commodity Flow Projections--Data and Methods Description," U.S. Department of Transportation, Transportation Systems Center, Cambridge, Mass.: 1976.
- 10. U.S. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Transportation</u>, U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C.: 1975.
- 11. U.S. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Manufacturers</u>, U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C.: <u>1976</u>.
- 12. U.S. Department of Commerce, <u>OBERS Projections: 1972 Regional Economic</u> Activity in the U.S., Vol. 2, "BEA Areas," Washington, D.C.: 1976.
- U.S. Department of Transportation, <u>Preliminary Standards, Classification</u>, and <u>Designation of Lines of Class I Railroads in the United States</u>, Vol. II, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.: August 3, 1976.

- Samuelson, R. A. and P. O. Roberts, "A Commodity Attribute Data File for Use in Freight Transportation Studies," Massachusetts Institute of Technology CTS Report 75-20, Cambridge, Mass.: 1975.
- Pearson, Karl, <u>Tables of the Incomplete Γ Function</u>, Office of Biometrica, London: 1922.
- 16. Office of Manpower and Budget, <u>Standard Industrial Classification Manual</u>, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.: 1972.
- 17. Gill, C. G. and H. O. Whitten, <u>Development of Transport Cost Functions</u>, Herbert O. Whitten & Associates, Annandale, Va.: 1976.
- Federal Railroad Administration, <u>United States Transportation Zone Maps</u>, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.: 1975.
- Interstate Commission, Cost of Transporting Freight by Class I and Class II Motor Common Carriers of General Commodities, 1975," U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.: 1976.
- 20. Interstate Commerce Commission, Formula for Use in Determining Rail Freight Service Costs, Statement IFI-73, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.: 1973.
- Rand McNalley & Co., <u>Handy Railroad Atlas of the United States</u>, Rand McNalley & Co., Chicago: 1973.
- 22. Quandt, R. E., and W. J. Baumol, "The Demand for Abstract Transport Modes: Theory and Measurement," Journal of Regional Science, Vol. 6, No. 2: 1966.
- 23. Herendeen, J. H., <u>Theoretical Development and Preliminary Testing of a</u> <u>Mathematical Model for Predicting Freight Modal Split</u>, Pennsylvania Transportation Institute Report TTSC6908, Pennsylvania State University: 1969.

SCHOOL OF INDUSTRIAL AND SYSTEMS ENGINEERING



GEORGIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30332

PROCEDURES FOR MULTI-STATE, MULTI-MODE CORRIDOR ANALYSIS: TASK 5, MODEL FORMULATION

by

Gunter P. Sharp

School of Industrial and Systems Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology Atlanta, Georgia 30332

Prepared for DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION Office of the Secretary Washington, D. C. 20590

August 1977

PREFACE

This report describes Task 5 of the project entitled, "Analytical Procedures for the Study of a Specific Multimodal Transportation Corridor." In this task an analytical model was developed that describes the interrelationships between transportation services and economic development opportunities. A small-scale demonstration of the model is also presented. The work in Task 5 is based directly on Task 2, and the latter task report should be read first in order to gain a complete understanding of this report. The work of Task 5 is summarized and the more important achievements are presented.

The research is sponsored by the Office of Transportation Systems Analysis and Information of the Office of the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Transportation. Dr. Byron Nupp is Contracting Officer's Technical Representative.

The work has been performed by a consortium of nine universities under the direction of Dr. Paul S. Jones of the Georgia Institute of Technology. Participating universities include the University of Alabama, Arkansas State University, Auburn University, Memphis State University, Mississippi State University, the University of Missouri, the University of North Florida, and Tennessee Technological University. Principal faculty participants in Task 5 include Dr. Gunter P. Sharp of Georgia Tech, Dr. Frank M. Holloway of Tennessee Tech, Dr. H. Barry Spraggins of North Florida, Dr. Robert L. Vecellio of Auburn, Dr. Martin E. Lipinski of Memphis State, and Dr. J. William Rush of Mississippi State. Substantive contributions were also made by Mr. Michael A. Mullens and Mr. H. C. David Yu, graduate students at Georgia Tech.

i

CONTENTS

PREFACE	Page i		
CONTENTS	ii		
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	iii		
LIST OF TABLES	iv		
I. INTRODUCTION	1		
II. OVERVIEW OF THE MODEL	11		
III. NETWORK REPRESENTATION	22		
IV. TRANSPORTATION COST MODELING	33		
V. MODE SPLIT ANALYSIS	50		
VI. MARKET SHARE ANALYSES	68		
VII. DEMONSTRATING THE MODEL	82		
APPENDICES			
A. EQUILIBRIUM TRAFFIC ASSIGNMENT FOR MULTICLASS-USER TRANSPORTATION NETWORKS	90		
B. MODE SPLIT RESULTS	99		
C. INDUSTRY PROFILES	101		
D. TRANSPORTATION COSTS FOR COMMODITIES	104		
E. PROGRAM LISTINGS	111		
REFERENCES			

.

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

1.	MULTI-STATE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM AREA	Page 5
2.	ANALYTICAL PROCEDURE	13
3.	EXAMPLE OF TRANSPORT SYSTEM	23
4.	EXPANDED NETWORK, FORM 1	25
5.	EXPANDED NETWORK, FORM 2	27
6.	DUAL NODE NUMBERING SYSTEM	30
7.	MOTOR CARRIER COST AREAS	36
8.	FINDING THE BEST COMPOUND-MODE JOURNEY	58
9.	MARKET SHARE FUNCTIONAL RELATIONSHIP	79

LIST OF TABLES

1.	MULTI-STATE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM ADVISORY BOARD	Page 4
2.	INDUSTRY/COMMODITY GROUPS	18
3.	COMMODITY SHIPMENTS BY MOTOR CARRIER	35
4.	MOTOR CARRIER REVENUE DENSITY FACTORS	37
5.	PERCENT OF COMMODITY MOVEMENT BY RAIL CAR TYPE	39
6.	INDUSTRY PROFILE - 250 FURNITURE & FIXTURES - 1972	71
7.	LOCAL TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS IN NORTHERN MISSISSIPPI	86
8.	EVALUATION CRITERIA	88

I. INTRODUCTION

The research reported here represents a new approach to intercity transportation planning. The initial effort has treated only freight transportation. The present approach views intercity freight transportation services as tools for stimulating and supporting economic development. The economic development of interest is the creation of new production facilities in locations that do not have similar facilities today. In this context, the research deals with basic production--that which is largely exported from the producing area. The transportation facilities and services of interest are those that will bring about new circumstances with respect to transportation cost, access, or quality of service that are sufficiently different that they will provide the key increment that makes new production facilities feasible. The essence of the research is the determination of quantitative relationships between (1) new transportation facilities and services, and (2) the new production facilities that are made possible by these transportation services.

That there is a relationship between transportation services and economic development is well known. For centuries, major production facilities have been located where good transportation is available. New transportation services of many different kinds have stimulated new development. One need only look at the Interstate and Defense Highway System to be assured that there is an important relationship between the two. However, there has never been a satisfactory quantitative method developed that can predict the economic impact resulting from the introduction of a specific new transportation service. Such a predictor would

be a valuable aid in identifying high potential transportation projects. If one could measure expected development in quantitative terms, that factor could make a large contribution to the expected benefits that are attributed to a transportation project. In fact, expected development may be the major benefit that accrues to non-highway transportation projects. Several investigators [1,2,3]* have developed models that relate land use or other economic indicators to the general quality of transportation. Harris [1] uses an input-output model to measure the relative value of different highway systems. He expresses the quality of transportation service in terms of costs between origin and destination points. Routing is prescribed as part of the cost determination and only a single transportation mode is treated. Polenske [2] has used input-output models for regional planning and has contributed much to the state of that art. Floyd and Wendt [3] have used input-output analysis on a regional basis to measure the impact of transportation on land use. This work is also limited to one mode and present technology. Past work is useful because it deals with both passenger and freight transportation and also with basic and non-basic (local) impacts of transportation. However, past work fails to answer specific development questions in sufficient detail to provide effective planning assistance.

Multi-State Transportation System

The analytical work presented here focuses on a single setting--the Multi-State Transportation System, which encompasses a strip of land ap-

^{*}Numbers in parenthesis refer to references listed at the end of the report.

proximately 100 miles wide and 1200 miles long extending from Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City. Planning for the Multi-State System is vested in 7 states, many planning districts, many municipalities, and a large number of private citizen groups. Planning is coordinated by an advisory board whose members are listed in Table 1. Using state and federal support, a parametric study [4], a highway feasibility study [5], and a multi-mode feasibility study [6] have been prepared.

The Multi-State System area, which is illustrated in Figure 1, is of particular interest to this research for the following reasons:

- It is a linear area or corridor which permits consideration to be restricted to simple networks of new transportation facilities.
- It is largely undeveloped, simplifying the problems of economic modeling.
- 3. Transportation services at present are limited, creating substantive opportunities for improvement.
- 4. It lies in a region of high development potential in which sound early guidance can lead to large future benefits.
- Sufficient past work has been done to simplify the data collection process.
- 6. The Multi-State Board provides outstanding support in all phases of the research.

The Multi-State Corridor contains four major metropolitan areas--Jacksonville, Birmingham, Memphis, and Kansas City--and a handful of cities with populations greater than 100,000 people (e.g., Columbus, Georgia; Montgomery, Alabama; and Springfield, Missouri). For the most

TABLE 1 MULTI-STATE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM ADVISORY BOARD

Elton B. Stephens, Chairman Kermit B. Blaney, Executive Director

ALABAMA

Hon. George Wallace, Governor
Hon. Ray Bass, Highway Director
Hon. David Vann, Mayor, Birmingham
Mr. Lyman Mason, Vice Chairman
Mayor Jack M. Brown
Mr. William C. Davis, Jr. Senior Vice Chairman
Councilman Don A. Hawkins
Senator George D. H. McMillan, Jr.
Mr. Elton B. Stephens, Chairman
Mr. Sim S. Wilbanks

ARKANSAS

Hon. David Pryor, Governor Hon. Henry Gray, Highway Director Mr. Ralph McDonald, Vice Chairman Mr. Frank Carlisle, Jr. Mr. Jimmy Driftwood Mr. J. E. Dunlap Mr. Randall W. Ishmael Mr. Billy Rogers

FLORIDA

Hon. Reubin Askew, Governor
Hon. Tom Webb, Jr., Secretary, DOT
Hon. Hans G. Tanzler, Mayor, Jacksonville
Mr. Tom V. Schifanella, Vice Chairman
Mr. William M. Godfrey
Mr. K. N. Henderson
Mr. Edward A. Mueller
Mr. James E. Reeder
Representative Eric Smith
Dr. Jay A. Smith, Jr.

GEORGIA

Hon. George Busbee, Governor Hon. Thomas D. Moreland, Commissioner, DOT Hon. W. Milton Folds, Comm. Ind. & Trade Mr. Alton H. Fendley, Vice Chairman Commissioner Norman Dorminy Mr. Percy Harrell Senator Floyd Hudgins Mr. Millard Kennedy Mayor Bob Tonning Mr. Billy Westbrook

MISSISSIPPI

Hon. Cliff Finch, Governor Hon. John R. Tabb, Highway Director Mrs. Everett Slayden, Vice Chairman Mayor Sam Coopwood Mayor H. D. McGee Senator Perrin Purvis Commissioner Bobby G. Richardson Mr. Bill Rutledge Representative Jerry Wilburn

MISSOURI

Hon. Joseph P. Teasdale, Governor
Hon. Jack Curtis, Chairman, Highway Commission
Hon. Charles Wheeler, Mayor, Kansas City
Councilman Victor F. Swyden, Vice Chairman
Mr. T. Dick Fleming
Mr. Robert Hunter
Mr. George Innes
Councilman David D. James
Mr. Max Norman
Mr. Willard Wilkinson

TENNESSEE

Hon. Ray Blanton, Governor
Hon. Wyeth Chandler, Mayor, Memphis
Hon. Roy Nixon, Mayor, Shelby County
DOT Commissioner Eddie Shaw, Vice Chairman
Mr. George Dando
Mr. Frank C. Holloman, Senior Vice Chairman
Mr. George Houston
Mr. Frank Palumbo
Mr. Jack Ramsay
Mr. Bruce C. Taylor

FIGURE 1 MULTI-STATE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM AREA



part, the area is rural, and a large fraction of the population is engaged in marginal agriculture. These rural populations have the lowest per capita income of any part of the United States. The corridor has some natural resources, notably coal, iron ore, and timber, and also has abundant water resources.

There has been some development in the Multi-State Corridor. Just to the north, under the stimulus of the space program, Huntsville, Alabama has blossomed from an agricultural marketing center to a major research and engineering center. New facilities--principally textile--have been located in rural areas to take advantage of low wage rates and abundant unskilled labor.

The Multi-State Corridor is an ideal setting for new multi-modal development. New transportation facilities can be build without the citizen protests that accompany most major projects in urban and industrialized areas. Economic development is desperately needed to improve the lives of an impoverished population. The terrain is gentle, having few major geographic obstacles. It includes the base of the Appalachian chain and the eastern Ozarks. In addition, the predominantly rural corridor provides an opportunity to test whether substantial populations can be supported in rural areas without the necessity of migrating to major urban areas and contributing to a worsening of urban problems.

Traffic volumes in the Multi-State Corridor are not high. No interstate highway runs the length of the Corridor although a number cross it. Longitudinal roads are of moderate to poor quality. A main line of the Frisco Railroad traverses the area from Kansas City to Brimingham and a

secondary main line of the Seaboard Coast Line Railroad continues to Jacksonville. Through freight service is available. The area is crossed by the major waterways of the Southeast, including the Chattahoochee/ Apalochicola Rivers, the Tennessee-Tombigbee project, the Tennessee River, the Mississippi River, and the Missouri River. Ocean port facilities are located at Brunswick and Jacksonville. Major river ports are located at Columbus, Georgia; Birmingha and Decatur, Alabama; Memphis; and Kansas City.

Scope

The process of selecting and locating transportation facilities and services and thereafter planning industrial development along transportation routes is an extremely complex one. In particular, the knowledge, effort, and expense to perform specific location studies suggests that one should not launch into detailed planning without a high probability of success. What is apparently called for is a screening process by which the problem can be viewed at several levels of detail, with each level narrowing the scope of study for successive work.

This research is viewed as the first of a succession of screening steps. The product of this work is an analytical method that can identify potentially attractive transportation development opportunities in terms of the industrial development that each can stimulate. The transportation services are identified in terms of mode, capacity, and approximate route. Details concerning alignment, design, points of ingress and egress and specific technology are left for later study. Development opportunities are described in terms of industry group, approximate location, approximate

markets, and approximate size. Details concerning specific products and activities, raw materials, specific location, and corporate ownership are left to others.

The research is concerned only with basic industry--that is new facilities that will produce goods or services that are largely exported from the producing area to national markets. The total market for each industry group is assumed to remain fixed with respect to size and location. Thus, new facilities built in the Multi-State Corridor must compete with existing facilities for existing markets. Market competition among competing suppliers is conducted on the basis of cost, with product quality assumed to be equal. This assumption, in effect, treats new facilities as though they are branch plants for which higher management has the authority to allocate production on the basis of cost.

Secondary, nonbasic, or multiplier, effects of new facilities are not considered at this time nor are the development of new market demands induced by the establishment of new facilities. Although both issues are of immense importance to the development of the Multi-State Corridor, consideration of these issues is postponed to a later date.

Consideration is given only to freight transportation. Although passenger transportation is an important part of highway use, it is not studied at this time. By omitting passenger transportation, it has also been necessary to omit tourism from the candidate developments. Tourism has great potential in the Multi-State Corridor, particularly along the Georgia and Florida coasts and in the Ozark Mountains. It fully warrants later consideration.

The industrial markets used to test new development opportunities are restricted to the 48 contiguous United States. Alaska, Hawaii, and Puerto Rico are grossly lumped with overseas markets for the purposes of the present work. At a later time, overseas and export opportunities will be examined in more detail.

Many alternative transportation services are identified, and several of these will be attractive from different view points. The alternative services are assembled into programs, each of which represents a complete transportation strategy for the Multi-State area. Programs are evaluated and compared in terms of complex criteria that include traffic volume, economic development, user benefits, employment, potential profit, and others. Specific environmental and public acceptance issues are not addressed at this level of analysis.

Task 5

Task 5 deals with the formulation of the preliminary analytic model. Its specific objectives are the following:

- a. Identify key modeling issues
- b. Define model requirements
- c. Formulate alternative models
- d. Prepare evaluation criteria
- e. Evaluate alternatives
- f. Test the models in Northern Mississippi setting

The objectives have been met in the manner described in this report.

The presentation of the material is as follows:

Chapter II Overview of the Model

Chapter III Network Representation

Chapter IV Transportation Cost Modeling

Chapter V Mode Split Analysis

Chapter VI Market Share Analysis

Chapter VII Demonstration of the Model

Appendices Computer Program Listings, Mode Split Results, Flow

Assignment Algorithm

II. OVERVIEW OF THE MODEL

The purpose of the analytical model is to capture the esential interrelationships between transportation facilities and services and the economic development opportunities deriving therefrom. The model itself is contained within a larger analytical procedure consisting of a number of data gathering, computational, and model execution steps.

The first part of the procedure, model preparation, consists of eight principal steps: (1) identifying network zones, consisting of county groups, BEA (Basic Economic Area) sectors, and aggregations of BEA's; (2) identifying network arcs, consisting of Interstate, Federal aid primary and state highways, class I and class II rail lines, and navigable inland waterways; (3) defining 53 commodity groups based on SIC (Standard Industrial Classification); (4) establishing material inputs, labor, energy, and capital costs associated with each of the 53 groups; (5) preparing a 120 zone, 53 commodity flow table for the U.S.; (6) fitting abstract, mode split equations to the previous data; (7) fitting market share equations based on the distribution of delivered price for each commodity in each zone; (8) validating the combined process of steps 6 and 7.

The second part of the procedure consists of three steps: (1) Transportation improvements are postulated, based on apparent deficiencies, on specific development possibilities, and on intermodal service and new modes of transport; (2) existing freight movements are modified to take advantage of the improvements; (3) new industry development opportunities are tested. These three steps are combined into an interactive, iterative process.
Figure 2 shows a flow chart of the overall procedure. It is difficult to define precise system boundaries for the model, since it is so intricately related to the overall procedure. For classification purposes, however, the model may be defined as consisting of:

a. Network representation, contained within steps 1, 2, and 8

- b. Transportation cost modeling, contained in step 2
- c. Mode split analysis, step 6
- d. Market share determination, step 7 and portions of Part 2

The Task 2 report contains a more complete description of steps 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5. Here follows a brief overview of the analytical procedure, including the model as defined above.

Establishment of Network Data

Network Zones

Each zone designation consists of a boundary and a representative city or centroid. All zones include an integer number of counties. Within the corridor, zones include about ten counties and generally conform to the districts that have been formed for comprehensive planning. Adjacent to the corridor, zones consist of the input-output sectors (BEA: Basic Economic Area) developed by the Office of Business Economics; each of these zones include twenty to thirty counties. The choice of BEA's was based on their individual homogeneity and the availability of commodity flow data. The major disadvantage of BEA's is that many cross state boundaries. As zones become more remote from the corridor, BEA's are combined to form large zones. In all, there are 120 zones in the network.

FIGURE 2 ANALYTICAL PROCEDURE



Zone centroids are generally the largest city in each zone, but, where the choice of a centroid is not obvious, locations of major transportation routes are taken into account.

Network Arcs

Network arcs constitute the major routes for each mode over which inter-zone traffic is carried (intrazone traffic is not included in the analysis). Arc selection was influenced by zone size: arcs connecting the small zones in the Multi-State corridor consist of almost all intercity cargo routes. As zones get larger, more intercity routes are omitted because they are not carrying significant interzonal traffic. For example, the highway network includes Interstate, Federal aid Primary and some state routes between the small corridor zones. In contrast, the network between large zones has few routes that are not Interstate Highways. Similarly, the rail network contains most through routes within the corridor, but only principal routes outside. The water network contains major intra and inter coastal services as well as all inland waterways with seven foot channel depth or more.

Network arcs are described in terms of length, capacity, and mean speed or travel time. Where two or more routes are combined in a single arc, length and speed are determined for the higher quality route. The second route would serve as additional capacity when the higher quality route becomes congested.

Existing Commodity Flows

Although many sources of freight commodity flow data are available, assembling the complete data base poses difficult problems. Three principal

data sources were used: the NTP data [7]; the CTS (Census of Transportation) [8]; and the Census of Manufacturers [9]. These sources were augmented with additional data collected at the State and local levels. The NTP data are nearly complete and provide BEA to BEA movements for 20 commodity groups. The CTS data are available in finer commodity detail for state-to-state movements but suffer from disclosure problems. In addition, the Census of Transportation is incomplete and only sampled movements longer than 25 miles.

Considerable effort was expended in using Census and other data to break down the NTP data into 53 commodity groups and to further allocate flows to the smaller corridor zones. The complete process is described in the Task 2 report.

The resulting representations of existing commodity flows are important not only for characterizing the load on the network, but also for providing valuable information for market penetration analysis, as described later.

Transportation Cost Modeling

Transportation costs for the first year's work have been based largely on equations developed by H. O. Whitten [10]. These equations are based on ICC (Interstate Commerce Commission) data and reflect averages for line haul and loading-unloading over large geographical areas. The 20 commodities in [10] have been expanded to 53 by using national aggregate flow data for a finer commodity breakdown. Forwarding and transfer costs at terminals were estimated primarily from [11], and transportation times and time variances were estimated from other sources [12, 13, 14]. Chapter IV of this report contains a more complete description of the cost modeling.

Network Representation and Flow Assignment

Multi-Modal, Multi-Commodity Network

A network representation is achieved by designating flow variables

f(i, j, m, k) = flow of commodity k by mode m on arc (i,j)

incurring cost variables on each arc of c(i, j, m, k).

Transfer costs are represented for each node by a symmetric array

position	movement	position	movement
1,1	not used	2,3	highway-rail
1,2	load, highway	2,4	highway-water
1,3	load, rail	3,3	forward, rail
1,4	load, water	3,4	rail-water
2,2	forward, highway	4,4	forward, water

Flow Assignment

The costs on line haul arcs and the transfer costs at nodes are assumed to be additive for determining an overall cost for an origindestination (O-D) path. Flow assignment is based on shortest paths determined by a Moore-type tree building algorithm developed specifically for this project. The network representation and flow assignment are presented in more detail in Chapter III.

It is assumed that transportation costs are unaffected by volume of freight traffic over the ranges of interest. This assumption is probably valid for the line haul arcs in the Multi-State Corridor. The second-year

research effort will include the implementation of a congestion-effected multi-modal network assignment algorithm (Appendix A).

Mode Split

An abstract mode approach with a strict choice utility function is used in the mode split analysis. Specifically, a multinomial logit model was selected with the following path utility function:

$$U(path) = exp(a_0 + a_1C + a_2T + a_3V)$$

where

- C = transportation cost
- T = transportation time
- V = transportation time variance

Chapter V describes this analysis in detail.

Economic Representation

Commodity Grouping

Commercial products were grouped into 53 industry/commodity groups, as shown in Table 2. This classification was a compromise: the NTP flow data are available for only a 20 commodity breakdown, and the more finely detailed CTS flow data suffer from severe data omissions (30% at our level of analysis).

Each commodity group is assumed to produce a relatively homogeneous group of products. Furthermore, each potential new facility to be located will be assumed to produce a single commodity. During the second year there will be explored the implications of finer commodity breakdown.

TABLE 2 INDUSTRY/COMMODITY GROUPS

I.

NO.	DESCRIPTION	SIC CODES	, <u>NO</u> .	DESCRIPTION	SIC.CODES
011	Current	013	282	Plastics	282
012	Grain		283	Drugs	283
013		013,010,018,019	284	Soap	284
024	Dedma	024	285	Paint	285
024	Dairy	024 .	286	Industrial Organic Chemicals	286
025	Foultry & Eggs	025	287	Agricultural Chemicals	287
080	Compared al Edablara	08	289	Miscellaneous Chemicals	- 289
101	Commercial Fishing	101	290	Petroleum Refining	29
101	From Ure		301	Tires & Tubes	301
102	non rerious ores	102,103,104,103,	302	Rubber & Plastic Products	302,308,304,306
110	C				307
120			310	Leather & Leather Products	31
1/0	Via Gas Extraction	113	324	Cement	324
140	Non-Metallic Minerals	14	321	Stone.Clay.Glass&Concrete Prod.	321, 322, 323, 325
201	Neat Destruction	201			326, 327, 328, 329 .
202	Dairy Products	202	331	Iron & Steel	331.332
203	Canned & Preserved Food	203	333	Non Ferrous Metals	333,334,335,336
204	Grain Products	204		······	339
205	Bakery Froducts	205	341	Metal Cans & Shipping Containers	341
206	Confectionary	206	342	Fabricated Metal Products	342, 343, 344, 345,
207	Fats & Oils	207			346.347.348.349
208	Beverages	208	350	Machinery, Except Electrical	25
209	Nisc Food	209	3 62	Electrical Industrial Annaratus	367
210	Tobacco	21	361	Electrical Machinery	361 363 364 365
220	Textile Mill Products	22		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	366 367 760
230	Apparel	23	371	Motor Vehicles & M.V. Equin.	371
240	Lumber & Wood	24	372	Transportation Equipment	370 373 374 375
250	Furniture & Fixtures	25			376 370
260	Paper	26	380	Measuring Instruments	38
270	Printing & Publishing	27	390	Miscellaneous Manufacturing	20
281	Industrial Inorganic Chemicals	281			

Industry Structure Analysis

Each commodity group is treated as a homogeneous economic activity with common raw material needs, common labor, and common capital requirements. Production input factors were developed for each industry group based on national average data from the Census of Manufacturers [9]. Production costs are assumed to be linear with quantity produced, provided that volume exceeds a minimum specific to each industry.

The Task 2 report contains a more complete description of both the commodity groupings and the industry structure analysis. Also, Chapter VI of this report elaborates on how the production costs are actually computed.

Market Share Analysis

This analysis focuses on penetration of existing markets by new production facilities as a result of some marginal advantage. The marginal advantage, in turn, is based on production costs, delivery costs, delivery time, and time reliability. The latter factors are influenced by the transportation mode selected, and are therefore mode specific. Existing markets for new facilities are identified by examining the existing commodity flow data. Chapter VI discusses these points in detail.

Sequence of Computer Programs

The computations relating to the previous sections were performed primarily by computer programs written in FORTRAN IV for the Control Data Corporation CYBER 74 located at Georgia Tech. To achieve more computational efficiency the actual sequence of program execution differs somewhat from that of Figure 2, and is as follows:

- 1. Determine existing 0-D commodity movements,
- 2. Input network data and cost data,
- Construct network with dual-node numbering system and appropriate line haul and transfer arcs,
- 4. obtain shortest path trees for each origin,
- 5. Load existing commodity movements,
- 6. Obtain samples of existing movements,
- 7. Calibrate mode split parameters for selected commodities,
- 8. Determine material sources and costs for selected commodities,
- 9. Determine production costs for selected commodities, and
- Determine market share for selected commodities purchased by potential new facilities.

The complete computer listings include more than 19 separate programs, many of which are input-output and bookkeeping routines necessitated by the sheer volume of data. These listings are included in Appendix E.

Once the complete program battery has been operated, there are a number of strategies available for iterating through changes. These computations refer to Part 2 of the analytical procedure shown in Figure 2. That flow diagram does not indicate the inevitable feedback resulting from changes.

The following computational sequence has been developed as offering a reasonable balance between computational efficiency and obsolescence of network data:

1. Postulate transportation service improvements,

2. Update network representation, skip to 4,

- 3. Obtain shortest path trees for each origin,
- 4. Obtain shortest path trees for test zones,
- 5. Determine material costs for selected commodities,
- 6. Determine production costs for selected commodities, and
- Determine market share for selected commodities purchased by potential new facilities.

By skipping the time consuming step 3 for several iterations at a time, a far greater number of alternatives can be examined in the same computer time, since the other six steps are performed rapidly. The second-year effort will focus on this problem as well as identifying those existing commodity flows affected by network changes [15].

III. NETWORK REPRESENTATION

Alternative Forms of Network Representation

A multicommodity flow network can be used to represent the flow of each of 53 commodities on each transport link (arc). The flow variables are of the type

f(i, j, k) = flow of commodity k on arc (i, j).

At each node there are constraints of the type

$$\sum_{j} f(i, j, k) - \sum_{j} f(h, i, k) = s(i, k).$$

The first summation represents all flow of commodity k away from node i, the second all flow of commodity k to node i. The difference must be equal to the outbound shipping demand for commodity k at node i. Transportation costs are represented for each arc (i, j) and for each commodity by the coefficients c(i, j, k).

Within this general framework, three methods were examined for distinguishing between the different transportation modes, such as highway, rail, and water.

Expanded Network, Form 1

Using this method one represents each mode connecting two points by a separate arc with appropriate cost. Additional nodes and arcs are then inserted in the network to represent transfers between modes [16].

Figure 3 shows a small hypothetical example containing eight terminals and three modes. An expanded network is constructed according to the following rules:





TRUCK ______ RAIL _____ BARGE ____ - ____ -

- 1. For each terminal i served by mode r designate a node ir.
- 2. For each mode connect the nodes ir, jr, ... by arcs corresponding to the links in the original network. The unit shipping costs on each arc (ir,jr) correspond to the line haul costs of the original network. The capacities are likewise based on the original line haul capacities per mode.
- For each terminal i of the original network designate an origin node io.
- 4. From each origin node io extend loading arcs to all nodes ir of the same original terminal number. The unit shipping costs for these arcs are based on unit loading costs. Capacity constraints may be assigned where appropriate, or they may be dealt with in step 7.
- 5. From each node ir extend an unloading arc to the corresponding origin node io, with appropriate unit shipping costs.
- 6. Where transfers are possible between modes r and s at terminal i, construct transfer arcs (ir,is) and (is,ir), with unit shipping costs based on thr transfer costs.
- 7. Assign aggregate capacity constraints to each set of arcs of the types (io,ir), (ir,io), (ir,is), and (is,ir) corresponding to a terminal.
- 8. Assign the original net shipping demands to the origin nodes io.

Applying these rules to the network in Figure 3 results in the expanded network of Figure 4, where each link represents two one-way arcs. The specific modal designations are no longer necessary since the arcs are associated with the proper costs and capacities.

FIGURE 4 EXPANDED NETWORK, FORM 1



The resulting network is much larger than the original one. If one had 120 nodes, 400 two-way arcs, and 3 modes originally, the expanded network could contain as many as 480 nodes and 1920 two-way arcs. There may also be difficulties in dealing with capacities when two or more modes share the same guideway or physical facility. Finally, transportation costs are represented in additive form, which may pose problems in structuring rates.

There are two advantages to this method: first, simple and wellknown solution techniques can be applied to the expanded network. Second, there exist algorithms for determining the value of the transfer facilities [16].

Expanded Network, Form 2

The second type of expanded network is constructed using the following principle:

Each path between two nodes that can be followed on one mode without transfer or switching operations is represented by a unique arc [17].

Applying this principle to the network of Figure 3 again yields an expanded network as illustrated in Figure 5. Figure 5 contains only the two-way arcs corresponding to the rail and barge mode because inclusion of highway arcs in this illustration would make the network diagram too cluttered. By assigning the proper arc costs one can easily represent a greater variety of rate structures than with Form 1. Computation of shortest paths is performed with lists that replace the usual tree labels [17].

FIGURE 5 EXPANDED NETWORK, FORM 2 RAIL AND WATER ARCS ONLY



two-way arcs:

RAIL-BARGE-

One can easily see that for a network of 120 nodes the number of arcs can become disturbingly large. Also, if transfer costs are not additive in terms of loading and unloading costs, then additional dummy nodes and arcs must be inserted, as in Figure 4. This type of expanded network is more suited for modeling relatively small public transit systems, for which it was designed, than for modeling large freight transportation systems.

Subscripted Flow Variables with Dual Node Numbers

This method involves one additional subscript in the flow variables and in the cost coefficients:

f(i, j, m, k) = flow of commodity k by mode m on arc (i, j)
c(i, j, m, k) = corresponding cost coefficient

The node constraints become

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} f(i, j, m, k) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} f(h, i, m, k) = s(i, k).$$

This approach involves some additional bookkeeping work in the computer program in order to keep track of mode transfer costs,

t(i, m, n, k) = cost of transferring commodity k from mode m
to mode n at node i.

For efficient implementation a dual node numbering system is used. Each node carries a two subscript designation, (i, i'), in which the i represents the node location and i' represents one of the following:

1	origination	2	destination
3	mode 1 (highway) inbound	4	mode 1 outbound
5	mode 2 (rail) inbound	6	mode 2 outbound
:		:	

Line haul arcs always connect two nodes with consistent i' numbers. Transfers and forwarding at nodes can occur wherever costs are favorable. Figure 6 illustrates how this dual numbering system can represent an expanded network.

Transfer costs for each node are represented by a symmetric array:

position	movement	position	movement
1,1	not used	2,3	highway-rail
1,2	load, highway	2,4	highway-water
1,3	load, rail	3,3	forward, rail
1,4	load, water	3,4	rail-water
2,2	forward, highway	4,4	forward, water

This method of representing a multi-modal network is similar to the expanded network, form 1. In fact the only important difference is whether the last classification level (arc origin, arc destination, mode, commodity) is indexed by arc or by commodity. There are some important advantages to the dual numbering system, however. Since an input editor is not needed for building the expanded network, it is far easier to prepare the data, both for the initial network and for subsequent anterations. With the proper shortest path algorithm, it is easy to "turn off" one or two modes and thus determine single-mode or two-mode paths efficiently.

FIGURE 6 DUAL NODE NUMBERING SYSTEM, ONE-WAY ARCS



Selection of Network Representation

The manipulative advantages of the subscripted flow variables with dual node numbers led to its adoption. The overriding factor was the need to obtain shortest path trees for each mode for each of 120 origin zones. The multi-modal shortest path algorithm, made this computation fast and convenient, with only one comprehensive set of input data needed. Furthermore, the same algorithm could be used for finding compound-mode journeys.

Other_Conventions

All line haul arcs originate and terminate at a node representing a zone centroid. It is assumed that transportation costs and services to and from a zone are represented adequately by costs and services to and from the zone centroid. Similarly, intermode transfers can occur only at centroids. These assumptions could be easily changed, but they seemed appropriate for the first-year effort.

Intra-zone movements are not considered, since the focus of the research effort deals with identifying basic industries that can penetrate national markets.

Flow Assignment

Uncongested network assignment is achieved using a Moore-type tree building algorithm developed specifically for this project. The algorithm accepts as input the different arc costs by mode and the transfer costs at each node. It treats these costs as if it were dealing with an expanded network of form 1. The costs on line haul arcs and the node transfer costs are assumed to be additive for determining an overall cost for an O-D path.

The algorithm itself is an adaptation of a well-known procedure [19] to the dual node numbering system. It accepts as input the modes allowable in a particular run. Thus, it can be used for finding single mode paths as well as compound-mode paths. A program listing is contained in Appendix E. The use of the program is discussed further in Chapter V, Mode Split Analysis.

The assignment program assumes that transportation costs, times, and time variances are unaffected by the volume of freight traffic over the ranges of interest. This assumption is probably valid for the line haul arcs in the Multi-State Corridor. The additional flows generated on line haul arcs by products from new facilities are unlikely to change travel characteristics. In effect, one can then simply observe costs, times, and time variances and use these as values for assigning new flows in an uncongested network.

Congestion will most likely change, however, at the mode transfer terminals. The second-year research effort will examine this matter in detail. Based on queueing theory, one can develop typical average delay times as a function of flow through the terminal. Thus terminals can be represented as congestion-affected arcs. During the second-year effort we will program the congestion-affected multi-commodity flow assignment algorithm which has been developed already [18]. This algorithm is an extension of other, reasonably efficient assignment algorithms, and a working paper describing it is included in Appendix A.

IV. TRANSPORTATION COST MODELING

Development of Highway and Rail Costs

Highway and rail transportation costs have been developed from equations prepared by H. O. Whitten [10]. The equations are based on ICC (Interstate Commerce Commission) data and reflect averages for line haul and loading-unloading over large geographical areas. The 20 commodities have been expanded to 53 by using national aggregate flow data for a finer commodity breakdown, according to the procedures described below.

Highway

Line Haul Costs

Let

LHMⁿ = total line haul costs/ton of commodity n moving by i,j motor carrier between zones i and j

Then

$$LHM_{i,j}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{e,n} \sum_{g \in MCCA} d_{i,j}^{g} \cdot MLg^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$

Where

 E_{M} = set of trailer types,

p^{e,n} = fraction of commodity n motor traffic using trailer type e, MCCA = set of motor carrier cost areas, d^g_{i,j} = distance on arc i,j in MCCA g, highway class c, ML^e_g = total line haul cost/ton-mile of any commodity using, trailer type e, in MCCA g, and Iⁿ = density multiplier for commodity n. Here $E_M = \{van, tank-hopper, refrigerator\}$. The p^{e,n} were estimated based on national aggregate statistics [8], and are shown in Table 3. The motor carrier cost areas are defined by Whitten and shown in Figure 7. The revenue density multipliers are also based on an expansion of Whitten's 20 commodities into 53, and are shown in Table 4. The $d_{1,j}^g$ are obtained from the physical characteristics of the arc and the rate district containing it. Costs are given for van by Whitten, and following his suggestions, tanker costs were established at 200% of van cost and refrigerator truck at 110% of van cost.

Loading and Unloading Costs

Let

 LM_{i}^{n} = total loading cost/ton for commodity at zone i Then

$$LM_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{e,n} \cdot p_{1}^{e,n} \cdot MT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$

Where

For lack of better data, we assumed that loading costs equal unloading costs and hence $p_1^{e,n} = 0.5$. Costs for van loading are given by Whitten and the same percentages are applied for tanker and refrigerator trailer loading.

TABLE 3COMMODITY SHIPMENTS BY MOTOR CARRIER

.

Fraction by Trailer Type				Fracti	on by Tr	ailer Type			
COM	MODITY	VAN	TANKER	REFRIG.	COMM	IODITY	VAN	TANKER	REFRIG.
011	Grain	0.67	0.27	0.06	281	Inorg. Chem.	0.32	0.68	0
013	Field crops	1.0	0	0	282	Plastics	0.84	0.16	0
021	Livestock	1.0	0	0	283	Drugs	1.0	0	0
024	Dairy	0	1.0	0	284	Soap	0.96	0.04	0
025	Poultry & Eggs	0.4	0	0.6	285	Paint	0.6	0.4	0
080	Forrestry	1.0	0	0	286	Org. Chem.	0.32	0.68	0
090	Comm. Fish	0	0	1.0	287	Ag. Chem.	0.07	0.93	0
101	Iron ore	0	1.0	0	289	Misc. Chem.	0.65	0.35	0
102	Non-Fe. ore	0	1.0	0	290	Petr. Ref.	0.15	0.85	0
110	Coal	0	1.0	0	301	Tires	1.0	0	0
130	0il & Gas	0	1.0	0	302	Rubber & Pl.	1.0	0	0
140	Non-Metal Min.	0.05	0.95	0	310	Leather	1.0	0	0
201	Meat	0.4	0.4	0.2	321	Stone C.& Gl.	0.25	0.75	0
202	Dairy Prod.	0.4	0	0.6	324	Cement	0.79	0.21	0
203	Pres. Foods	1.0	0	0	331	Iron & Steel	0.16	0.84	0
204	Grain Prod.	1.0	0	0	333	Non-Fe Metal	0.86	0.14	0
205	Bakery Prod.	1.0	0.	0	341	Metal Cans	1.0	0	0
206	Confectionar	y0.85	0.15	0	342	Fab. Metal Pr.	0.23	0.77	0
207	Fats & Oils	0.5	0.5	0	350	Machy. Ex. Elec.	0.7	0.3	0
208	Beverages	1.0	0	0	361	Elec. Mach.	1.0	0	0
209	Misc. Food	1.0	0	0	362	Elec. App.	1.0	0	0
210	Tobacco	1.0	0	0	371	Motor Veh.	1.0	0	0
220	Textile Mill Pr.	1.0	0	0	372	Trans. Equip.	0.95	0.05	0
230	Apparel	1.0	0	0	380	Meas. Inst.	1.0	0	0
240	Lumber	0.59	0.41	0	390	Misc. Mfg.	1.0	0	0
250	Furniture	1.0	0	0					
260	Paper	1.0	0	0					

270 Print & Pub 1.0 0 0



20.4 Proc. Spectral programmer and a frequency of the state of the sta

TABLE 4MOTOR CARRIER REVENUE DENSITY FACTORS

Co	mmodity	Factor
1	Grain	1.0
2	Field Crops	1.0
3	Livestock	1.6
4	Dairy	1.0
5	Poultry & Eggs	2.7
6	Forrestry	1.0
7	Comm. Fishing	1.0
8	Iron Ore	1.0
9	Non Ferr Ores	1.0
10	Coal	1.0
11	Extraction Oils & Gas	1.0
12	Non-metal Min.	1.0
13	Meat	1.0
14	Dairy Prod.	1.0
15	Canned & Pres. Food	1.0
16	Grain Prod.	1.0
17	Bakery	1.5
18	Confections	1.0
19	Fats & Oils	1.0
20	Beverages	1.0
21	Misc. Food	1.0
22	Tobacco	1.6
23	Textile	1.1
24	Apparel	2.6
25	Lumber & Wood	1.0
26	Furnit. & Fixt.	2.0
27	Paper	1.0
28	Print & Publish	1.0
29	Ind. Inorg. Chem.	1.0
30	Plastics	1.0

Con	modity	Factor
31	Drugs	1.0
32	Soap	1.0
33	Paint	1.0
34	Ind. Org. Chem.	1.0
35	Agric. Chem.	1.0
36	Misc. Chem.	1.0
37	Petrol. Ref.	1.0
38	Tires & Tubes	1.5
39	Rubber & Plastic Prod.	1.6
40	Leather	1.6
41	Cement	1.0
42	Stone, Clay, Prod.	1.0
43	Iron & Steel	1.0
44	Non Ferrous Metals	1.0
45	Metal Cans, etc.	2.9
46	Fabricated Metal Prod.	1.0
47	Machinery Exc. Elect.	1.1
48	Elect. Ind. App.	1.1
49	Elect. Machinery	1.6
50	Motor Veh. & Equip.	2.7
51	Transp. Equip.	2.7
52	Measuring Insts.	1.1
53	Misc. Mfg.	1.3

Line Haul Costs

Let:

LHRⁿ_{i,j} = total line haul costs/ton of commodity n moving by rail between zones i and j

Then:

$$LHR_{i,j}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{R}} p^{e,n} \sum_{g \in RCCA} d_{i,j}^{g} \left(\frac{M^{e}}{\frac{g}{qe,n} + L_{g}^{e} + K_{g}^{e}} \right)$$

Where:

E_R = set of rail car types, p^{e,n} = fraction of commodity n rail traffic using car type e, RCCA = set of rail carrier cost areas, d^g_{i,j} = distance on arc i,j in RCCA g, M^e = variable line haul car cost/car-mile in RCCA g, car type e, g^{e,n} = tons of commodity n/car of type e, L^e = variable line haul costs/ton-mile in kCCA g, car type e, and g^e = fixed line haul cost/ton-mile in kCCA g, car type e.

The values for $p^{e,n}$ and $q^{e,n}$ are given in Table 5.

Loading and Unloading Costs

Let:

$$LR_{i}^{n}$$
 = total loading cost/ton of commodity n at zone i

Then:

Com-	Desc.	E	ox	T Ho	ank pper	Ref	rig.	F1	at	то	FC
modity		%	q	%	q	%	q	%	q	<u>%</u>	q
1	Grain	66	53	27	48	6	24			1	27
2	Field Crops	100	39								
3	Livestock	100	25								
4	Dairy			100	57						
5	Poultry & Eggs	40	25			60	25				
6	Forrestry							100	44		
7	Comm. Fishing					100	49				
8	Iron Ore			100	78						
9	Non Ferr. Ores			100	88						
10	Coal			100	81						
11	Extraction Gas			100	77						
12	Non-Metal Min.	5	51	95	73						
13	Meat	25	40	25	40	13	40			37	40
14	Dairy Prod.	40	42			60	42				
15	Canned & Pres. F.	100	45								
16	Grain Prod.	100	41								
17	Bakery	17	17			-				83	17
18	Confections	85	61	15	61						
19	Fats & Oils	50	66	50	66						
20	Beverages	85	49							15	49
21	Misc. Food	85	51							15	51
22	Tobacco	88	32				- -			12	32
23	Textile	100	20								
24	Apparel	100	20								
25	Lumber & W	42	52	41	47			17	52		
26	Furnit. & Fixt.	95	9				- -			5	9
27	Paper	95	41					2	41	3	41
28	Print & Publish	80	29							20	29
29	Ind. Inorg. Chem.	31	72	68	72					1	30
30	Plastics	80	72	16	72					4	30

TABLE 5 PERCENT OF COMMODITY MOVEMENT BY RAIL CAR TYPE, TONS OF COMMODITY PER CAR TYPE

TABLE 5, CONTINUED

Com-	Desc	В	ox	Ho	pper	Ref	rig.	F1	at	т0	FC
modity		%	q	%	q	<u>%</u>	q	%	q	%	_q
31	Drugs	100	32								
32	Soap	60	33	4	33					36	23
33	Paint	60	50	40	50						
34	Ind. Org. Chem.	31	71	68	71	,		 ,		1	30
35	Agric. Chem.	7	68	93	68						
36	Misc. Chem.	62	55	35	55					3	27
37	Petrol. Ref.	14	35	85	56					1	25
38	Tires & Tubes	100	20								
39	Rubber & Plastic Prod.	100	21		· — —						
40	Leather	80	20							20	20
41	Cement	25	73	75	73		 '				
42	Stone, Clay, Concrete P	65	54	21	54			14	54		
43	Iron & Steel	8	62	84	62			8	62		
44	Non Ferrous Metals	80	5 9	14	59			6	5 9		
45	Metal Cans, etc.	95	12					5	12		
46	Fabricated Metal Pr	r.14	37	77	37			9	37		
47	Machinery Exc. Elec	c.32	23	30	23			38	23		
48	Elect. Ind. App.	92	47					8	47		
49	Elect. Machin.	92	14					8	14		
50	Motor Veh. & Equip	. 59	23					41	23		
51	Transp. Equip.	5	26					95	26		- -
52	Measuring Insts.	97	21							3	16
53	Misc. Mfg.	100	15								

$$LR_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{R}}^{i} p^{e,n} \left(p_{1}^{e,n} \cdot \frac{F_{g(i)}^{e}}{q^{e,n}} + p_{2}^{e,n} \cdot T_{g(i)}^{e} + p_{3}^{e,n} \cdot J_{g(i)}^{e} + b^{n}B^{n} \right)$$

Where:

$$F_{g(i)}^{e}$$
 = variable terminal car cost/car of type e in RCCA
associated with zone i.

J^e
g(i) = fixed terminal cost/ton of any commodity, car type e, in
RCCA associated with zone i,

bⁿ = fraction of loss and damage claims for commodity n attributable to loading, and

 $B^{n} = 1 \text{ oss and damage claims/ton of commodity n.}$

As in the case with highway calculations, loading costs are set equal to unloading costs, with $p_1^{e,n}$, $p_2^{e,n}$, and $p_3^{e,n}$ all equal to 0.5.

Development of Waterway Costs

The waterway costs included in the Whitten data [10] were rejected because they did not appear to be consistant with the cost data presented for the rail and highway modes. However, the development of a more representative set of water cost data is a formidable undertaking.

Common and contract carriers by water, who are required to submit financial and operating data to the ICC, represent a small minority of the waterborne traffic. Most waterborne traffic is carried by private operators, or consists of exempt commodities--notably grain [30].

In the past, the Corps of Engineers has collected limited cost data from private operators. Corps analysts are now in the process of developing cost and operational data that will include trip time, commodity specific loading, unloading and transport costs. In the absence of this work, a fairly simple approach was taken to waterway costs. Two categories of shipments were recognized--inland waterway (barge) and coastwise and intercoastal. Some overlap occurs between these categories in as much as there are substantial large shipments along the intercoastal waterway, on the Great Lakes and between major ocean ports. Nonetheless, for the time being, these barge movements were overlooked. In the future, it may be appropriate to define two or more water modes to tak care of these differences.

Inland Waterways

Movements on inland waterways are largely made in terms of multi-barge tows. The size of tow depends on channel depth, turning radius and lock size. Transit speeds are influenced by current (which is variable) and by delays at locks and at terminals. In addition, to lock operating times, tow boats frequently queue up at locks and boats with very large tows may have to break them up. To reflect the different delays, a travel time expression was developed:

where TW = time in hours for a tow boat to travel from i to j

Then:

$$LHW_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{g \in WCCA} TW_{ij} \cdot WL_{g} \cdot I^{n}$$

Where:

WCCA = set of water carrier cost areas--largely a function of draft and maximum tow size,

 WL_g = cost per hour for tow and tow boat operation in area g, and I^n = density commodity multiplier for commodity n.

Coastwise and Intercoastal

The cost of coastwise and intercoastal movements depends on the size of the ship, its speed and its operating costs. Modest ship sizes were adopted to permit use of the Cape Cod Canal, the Delaware and Maryland Canal and Brunswick Harbor all of which are limited to less than 30-foot draft ships. The cost equation used for these water movements has the now familiar form:

$$LHW_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{W}} p^{e,n} \sum_{g \in WCCA} d_{ij}^{g} \cdot WL_{g}^{e} \cdot I_{n}$$

Where:

p^{e,n} = fraction of commodity n using shipping configuration e. Only
 two configurations were used in the first year's work- container and liner type ships,

Loading and Unloading Costs

Loading and unloading costs for water movements are calculated in the same fashion used for other modes. Let:

$$LW_{i}^{n}$$
 = total loading cost/ton for commodity n at zone i

Then:

$$LW_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{e,n} \cdot p_{1}^{e,n} \cdot WT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$

Where:

p^{e,n} = fraction of total terminal cost for commodity n, ship configuration e, attributable to loading, and

 $WT_{g(i)}^{e}$ = total terminal cost/ton for any commodity using ship configuration e in WCCA g associated with zone i.

Once again we assumed that loading and unloading costs are equal.

Transfer Costs

The loading and unloading costs for highway, rail, and waterway modes represent elements (1,3) and (2,1), (1,3) and (3,1), and (1,4) and (4,1), respectively of the transfer cost array.

Forwarding costs were estimated based on a previous Federal Railroad Administration study [11]. These represent situations where the cargo stays on the same mode but incurs a cost because of change of carrier or railroad yard classification. Times and time variances for such forwarding activities were based on other DOT studies [12,13,14]. No forwarding costs are incurred by the highway and water modes. Costs of intermediate stops are charged as loading or unloading costs for the originating or terminating traffic.

Data on transfer costs between modes were drawn from the same references; however, they are not very definitive. Therefore, a simple convention has been adopted for the present work. Two types of mode transfers are recognized: (1) a break-bulk transfer in which the inbound carrier is unloaded and the cargo is transferred to the outbound carrier which is loaded; and (2) a container transfer in which the container is transferred between modes.

Break bulk terminal operations are closely akin to loading and unloading. Data sources on truck and marine terminal operations suggest that transfer costs are approximately equal to 80 percent of the unloading and loading costs. Thus if:

TTⁿ = Break-bulk terminal transfer cost per ton for commodity n from mode X to mode Y at location i

Then:

$$TT_{X,Y,i}^{n} = 0.8[LY_{i}^{n} + (1-p_{1}^{e,n}) LX_{i}^{n}]$$

Where:

 $LY_{i}^{n} = cost per ton for loading commodity n into mode Y at i, and <math>(1-p_{1}^{e,n})LX_{i}^{n} = cost per ton for unloading commodity n from mode X at i.$

Container terminal operations require only the mechanical unloading of a container from the inbound mode and its loading aboard the outbound mode. The cost of container transfer is heavily influenced by the productivity of the mechanical transfer equipment, because the dominant cost is the capital cost of equipment. Thus if:

TT,'n = container terminal transfer cost per ton for commodity n from mode x to mode y at location i.

Then:

$$TT_{X,Y,i}^{n} = \begin{bmatrix} TC_{X,Y} \\ V_{i} \end{bmatrix} + TO_{X,Y}^{i} \end{bmatrix} I^{n} / q^{n}$$

Where:

TC X, Y = the equivalent annual capital cost of a transfer terminal to interchange between modes X and Y,

 V_i = expected containers per year to be transferred at i, TO $_{x,y}^i$ = operating cost per container to transfer between modes x and y at i, and

 I_n = density multiplier for commodity n.

Values of TC and TO are as follows: X, Y X, Y

	TC x,y	TO ¹ x,y	Container Per Year
Highway-rail	\$ 50,000	\$1.50	200,000
Highway-water	1,000,000	2.50	400,000
Rail-water	1,200,000	3.00	400,000

Capacity

TC is calculated with interest at 20 percent per annum. Values of $TO_{X,Y}^1$ are in dollars per ton for a 20 ton container load.

Compact Representation of Transportation Costs

The research team understood clearly that the transportation costs being used during the first-year research effort left much to be desired. Specifically, the costs were based largely on secondary sources which determined costs from summary financial statistics and allocated fixed costs by somewhat arbitrary methods. At the same time the need was recognized to determine O-D distances for each of 53 commodities for the 120 zone network.

In order to generate all the O-D network distances for just one commodity required the generation of 360 trees, one for each of three modes for each of the 120 origin nodes. This computation consumed about 15 minutes of computer time, including the CPU time required to write the trees onto magnetic tape. If separate trees had to be constructed for each commodity, the computer time would quickly become excessive. On the other hand, if one set of trees could be used for all 53 commodities, the resulting commodity paths might not be the true shortest paths.
Accordingly, the line haul arc costs were formulated in the following form:

$$t(i, j, m, k) = t(i, j, m) \times S(m, k)$$

where:

- s(m,k) = a commodity specific factor that applies to all arcs of a
 given mode

An analysis was made of the line haul costs determined by the formulas developed for the different modes. Surprisingly, the commodity specific factors were remarkably consistent throughout the different geographic regions. A similar analysis was made of the Whitten based loading and unloading costs. There resulted again failry consistent commodity specific factors.

However, the commodity factors for line haul and loading-unloading were not the same. Upon closer examination, there appeared to be a monotonic relationship between the two sets of factors: the highest factor for line haul was also highest for loading-unloading, the lowest factors in both cases were for the same commodity, etc.

Accordingly, it was conjectured, but not proven, that a shortest path consisting of line haul arcs and transfer movements for a hypothetical average commodity would be a true shortest path for any of the 53 commodities, but that the length of the path could not be determined with only one commodity-specific factor. The multi-modal shortest path algorithm was

subsequently revised to optimize the overall path length for the "average" commodity but to keep track separately of the line haul portion and the transfer portion. The "true" commodity specific path length for the resulting path was then obtained by multiplying the line haul portion and the transfer portion by the commodity-specific line-haul cost factor and transfer cost factor, respectively. Further compaction resulted when the geographic area cost factors were multiplied by the true arc lengths to achieve modified arc lengths.

The net effect of all the computations described in this chapter was to take the original, Whitten based, formula of

$$LHM_{i,j}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{e,n} \sum_{g \in MCCA} d_{i,j}^{g} \times ML_{g}^{e} \times I^{n}$$

and convert it to one of

LHMⁿ_{i,j} = (modified arc length) x (average cost) x (commodity factor)

With the analogous simplification of transfer costs, the overall effect was the elimination of the need for commodity-specific trees and a great simplification of subsequent analysis.

V. MODE SPLIT ANALYSIS

Problem Setting

The research effort required the use of a freight modal split model to predict flows of up to 53 commodities in a network of 120 zones containing highway, rail, and waterway arcs, arcs representing new freight transportation modes, and mode combinations that include transfer between modes at one or more nodes. A variety of reasons justify the modal split approach, as opposed to finding the one best travel path for each shipment. Among these reasons are:

- Aggregation of commodities. The SIC code goes to a 7-digit level, and these classes have been aggregated into 53 commodity groups based on homogeneity of production and transportation requirements. The individual differences that exist among the sub-classes within each of the 53 groups imply that there is no one best travel path for each of the 53.
- 2. Aggregation of decision makers. Even if one could deal with a finer classification scheme, different firms producing the same product will have different transportation requirements.
- 3. Aggregation over time. The flow data used are representative of annual shipments. A firm producing a product will have different transportation requirements throughout the year, depending on time and buyers.

Model Requirements

The requirements discussed below are those desired in an ideal model for use in the Multi-State Corridor study.

Abstract Mode Representation

Since one of the specific objectives of the study is to examine new means of transporting freight and new inter-modal service, an abstract mode approach is essential. Such an approach characterizes a mode by such factors as shipping time, cost, reliability, damage, etc. Any new mode or compound-mode journey would be characterized by these same factors and then compared with the existing modes in the model.

Ease of Calibration

Any model to be used should be amenable to standard regression techniques that are robust and efficient with respect to computer time. In order to have confidence in the model, a good fit must be produced for each commodity so that the model can predict accurately the flows on new modes and between new O-D pairs.

Irrelevance of Independent Alternatives

This concept deals with the change in the proportion of flow between two modes by changes in a third mode. Basically, if a third mode were to be improved, one would expect flow on the other two modes to be reduced, but the proportion of flows between the first two modes would be unchanged.

Additive Linear Arc Utility

In order to find the compound-mode journey with greatest utility in a network, one would prefer to have trip utility equal to the sum of the respective arc utilities. Then, one can use a shortest path algorithm to find the best path; otherwise, some less efficient enumeration scheme would have to be used. Actually, all that is needed is that trip utility

be uniquely transformable into additive linear arc characteristics, such as time, cost, reliability, and damage.

Survey of Existing Models

A review of the literature indicates that very little work has been performed on freight modal split as compared to passenger flows and particularly urban transit mode split. The only type of model that has been calibrated for forecasting purposes is the multiplicative model described below. All of the models presented here recognize the need to distinguish among commodity types based on such factors as freight rates by the different modes, dollar value per ton, and susceptibility to damage, spoilage, and theft.

Multiplicative Demand, Abstract Mode Model

This theoretically significant model was first presented by Baumol & Quandt in 1966 [20]. It is formulated to predict both total demand between an origin-distribution (O-D) pair and the respective modal shares. The multiplicative version [21] is as follows:

$$T_{kij} = a_0 P_i^{a_1} P_j^{a_2} Y_i^{a_3} Y_j^{a_4} M_i^{a_5} M_j^{a_6} N_{ij}^{a_7} f_1(T) f_2(C) f_3(D)$$

where:

$$f_{1}(T) = T_{bij}^{b_{0}} T_{kij}^{b_{1}}$$
$$f_{2}(C) = C_{bij}^{d_{0}} C_{kij}^{d_{1}}$$
$$f_{3}(D) = D_{bij}^{e_{0}} D_{kij}^{e_{1}}$$

T_{kij} = demand from i to j by mode k
P_i,P_j = populations of zones i,j
Y_i,Y_j = mean incomes of zones i,j
M_i,M_j = institutional and manufacturing characteristics of zones i,j
N_{ij} = number of modes serving i to j
T_{bij} = best travel time from i to j
T_{kij} = relative travel time from i to j by mode k
C_{bij} = best (lowest) cost from i to j
C_{kij} = relative cost from i to j by mode k
D_{bij} = best frequency of service from i to j
D_{kij} = relative frequency of service from i to j by mode k
a₀, a₁,..., a₇, b₀, b₁, d₀, d₁, e₀, e₁ = coefficients, usually obtained by regression

Given the populations, incomes, and institutional characteristics, the model reduces to

$$T_{kij} = a_0 N_{ij}^{a_7} f_1(T) f_2(C)$$

with the constraint that the total flow between i and j is equal to 100%. For a specific commodity p the model becomes

$$T_{pkij} = a_{po} N_{ij}^{a_{p7}} f_{p1}(T) f_{p2}(C)$$

with the constraint that total flow of p between i and j is 100%.

This type of model has several important advantages. It is an abstract mode approach, where a mode is described by its characteristics, rather than by its name. This allows the user to examine new modes by specifying travel time and cost. If these two items do not characterize a mode adequately, then other factors must be put into the equation, such as delivery time variance. There are certain difficulties that arise when new modes, or new compound-mode paths, are considered and the total flow between i and j remains the same. These problems relate to the effect of shifting flows by considering new modes. However, this problem occurs with all the modeling approaches discussed, not only this particular The model uses relative time and cost advantage of one mode against one. Thus, only one regression equation is needed for each mode (each another. commodity effectively constitutes a separate calibration problem). The use of absolute values instead of relative values would necessitate an equation for virtually each O-D pair.

The general model is linear in the logarithms, and thus linear regression techniques can be easily used to estimate the coefficients. The reduced problems have the additive constraint and cannot be transformed into a linear form. Linear regression techniques can still be used but they require some adaptation to deal with the constraint. The above type of model has been calibrated in a variety of settings [21, 22], but none of these applications provide directly usable results for the Multi-State corridor study.

Impedance Model

An example of the impedance model is the National Transportation Plan (NTP) modal split model [23]. The model uses an analogy to Kirchoff's

law from electrical networks.

$$T_{plij}$$
 Z_{plij} = T_{p2ij} Z_{p2ij} = ... = T_{pnij} Z_{pnij} = A_{pij}

where A j is the basic attractiveness between i and j for commodity p, analogous to the electrical potential.

The total flow is then

$$\sum_{m=1}^{n} T_{pmij} = A_{pij} \left[\frac{1}{Z_{plij}} + \frac{1}{Z_{p2ij}} + \dots + \frac{1}{Z_{pmij}} \right]$$

and the model share is

$$f_{pkij} = \frac{\frac{T_{pkij}}{n}}{\sum_{m=1}^{n} T_{pmij}} = \frac{\frac{1}{Z_{pkij}}}{\sum_{m=1}^{n} \left[\frac{1}{Z_{pmij}}\right]}$$

The impedance for commodity p is defined as

$$Z_{pkij} = a_{pkij} \begin{bmatrix} b_{p} T_{pkij} + C_{pkij} \end{bmatrix}$$

where:

T_{pkij} = the time in transit for a unit of commodity p moving by mode k from i to j

The actual NTP model also considers time, in annual periods. The model has been calibrated for the 20-commodity, 173-BEA zone data set.

Since the a pkij are specified for each O-D pair, and only for 20 commodities, those results would not be particularly useful to the corridor study. Furthermore, new modes cannot be represented, nor can existing modes operating between new O-D pairs.

Other Functional Forms

A great variety of functional forms have been used for passenger modal split models [24], and these same forms can be adapted to freight flows. All of them determine some type of modal attractiveness or utility U_{pkij} for commodity p by mode k between i and j and then allocate modal share based on a strict choice utility function,

$$f_{pkij} = \frac{\underbrace{pkij}_{pkij}}{\underset{m=1}{\overset{\sum}{pmij}}}$$

Additive Linear Form

This form expresses mode utility as

$$U_{pkij} = a_0 + a_1 C_{pkij} + a_2 T_{pkij}$$

where C_{pkij} and T_{pkij} are cost and time respectively. Here the a_0 would be positive and the a_1 and a_2 negative.

This form certainly would be easy to calibrate, but the equation may not yield a very good fit, even with the addition of other terms for abstract mode characteristics, such as frequency of service and delivery time variability. One important advantage of the form is that it allows one to find good compound-mode journeys. If one knows the time and cost characteristics of each line haul arc and each transfer arc in an expanded network, then a shortest path algorithm can be used to find the best compound mode journey, that is, the one with the greatest value of U_{pkij}. This process is illustrated with Figure 8.

Each arc in the diagram has characteristic $W = -a_1 C_{pkij} - a_2 T_{pkij} - a_3 V_{pkij}$, and a loading arc has a_0 added to its W value. A shortest path can be found through the network, using W's for arc length. This path will then maximize trip utility between i and j for the additive linear case.

Exponential Form

Sometimes called the logit form, this form expresses mode utility as

$$U_{pkij} = exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{pkij} + a_2 T_{pkij})$$

Again, the a_0 term is positive and the a_1 and a_2 terms negative. This form would probably give a better regression fit than the strict linear form. A typical regression equation is:

$$f_{pkij} \exp(a_{0} + a_{1} C_{plij} + a_{2} T_{plij})$$
+
$$f_{pkij} \exp(a_{0} + a_{1} C_{p2ij} + a_{2} T_{p2ij})$$
:
+
$$f_{pkij} \exp(a_{0} + a_{1} C_{pnij} + a_{2} T_{pnij})$$
=
$$\exp(a_{0} + a_{1} C_{pkij} + a_{2} T_{pkij})$$

FIGURE 8 FINDING THE BEST COMPOUND-MODE JOURNEY

- F: Forwarding arc
- T: Transfer arc





Node 3

where the f is the actual fraction observed and the a's are the pkij coefficients to be estimated.

Alternatively, one can compare the flows of each mode with a base mode:

$$\frac{r_{pkij}}{f_{bkij}} = \exp \left(a_1 \left(C_{pkij} - C_{bkij}\right) + a_2 \left(T_{pkij} - T_{bkij}\right)\right)$$

This procedure allows one to use linear regression but the range of observations of the dependent variable may exceed 1.0, causing the regression program to give excessive weight to those observations. Also, there is the bias introduced by the log transformation of the data.

Since the exponential function is a monotonic transformation of the real numbers, one can find the best compound-mode journey by using a shortest path algorithm, as described for the additive linear form. Minimizing $(a_{0p} + a_{1p} C_{pkij} + a_{2p} H_{pkij})$ will result in minimizing the exponential form.

Modified Logit Form

Here the utility of a mode is given by

$$U_{pkij} = \frac{\exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{pkij} + a_2 T_{pkij})}{1 - \exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{pkij} + a_2 T_{pkij})}$$

This formulation is applied only to non-base modes. The utility for the base mode is defined to be 1.0. For example, if the base mode is highway, then a rail path utility can be defined as

$$U_{rkij} = \frac{\exp(a_0 + a_1(C_{rkij} - C_{hkij}) + a_2(T_{rkij} - T_{hkij}))}{1 - \exp(a_0 + a_1(C_{rkij} - C_{hkij}) + a_2(T_{rkij} - T_{hkij}))}$$

where subscripts r and h refer to rail and highway, respectively. For consistency,

$$U_{hkij} = \frac{\exp(a_0)}{1 - \exp(a_0)}$$

which implies that $a_0 = \log (0.5)$.

Discussion

In this section an attempt is made to synthesize the requirements with the capabilities of the models described above and to justify the selection of two models for testing.

Abstract Mode Representation and Mode Characteristics

The first selection criterion relates to abstract mode representation. This factor hardly seems to be an issue as there is no way a mode specific model can predict flows on new modes. Related to this is the requirement that coefficients be independent of O-D pairs in order to be able to predict flows for new O-D pairs. It is desirable that the coefficients be independent of origin and destination, separately, so that flows may be predicted for new origins, or for new destinations. This requirement, however, can be relaxed to the case where the coefficients relate to geographic zones. Finally, each of the 53 commodity groups must have its own set of coefficients. These criteria eliminate the NTP impdeance model as previously used, because its coefficients are specific to O-D pairs, and the general multiplicative model, because of its generality.

In order for a mode abstract model to yield good results it must include more than time and cost. Shipper decisions on mode reflect a variety of transport characteristics, including but not limited to reliability, damage, theft, time of day, and ease of loading/unloading. These factors are difficult to quantify, and in order to obtain good regression fits it is most unusual to see a mode abstract model modified by seemingly innocuous coefficients that in effect render the model mode specific [22].

The factors selected for inclusion in the model are transportation cost C, transportation time T, and variance of transportation time V. These will explain adequately the existing modal split decisions represented in the data base, and they will exhaust the data available for the 53 commodity groups.

All of the above considerations imply that

$$U_{pkij} = f(C_{pkij}, T_{pkij}, V_{pkij})$$

and admits direct extensions of the additive linear form, the exponential form, and the modified logit form. One can also modify the multiplicative form and the impedance model to suit:

$$T_{pkij} = a_{p0} N_{ij}^{a p7} T_{bij}^{b p0} T_{kij}^{b p1} C_{bij}^{d p0} C_{kij}^{d p1} V_{p0}^{e p0} V_{kij}^{p1}$$

$$Z_{pkij} = a_{pk} (b_{pk} T_{pkij} + C_{pkij} + d_{pk} V_{pkij})$$

Calibration and Data Base

It is generally preferable to use linear regression techniques, all other factors being equal. In this respect the multiplicative model seems favored, as the other model amenable directly to linear regression, the additive linear form is not likely to yield good results. The effects of regression bias when using a base mode must be determined for each data set before reaching conclusions on the viability of that method.

There are two alternatives for calibrating nonlinear models. The first is to use successive linearization of the nonlinear models. Unless an existing program is obtained to perform this work, this method must be rejected because of the difficulty of preparing a program. The second alternative is to use a search technique, such as a grid-type search or a cyclic coordinate search [25]. A program to perform this is easy to prepare, and with only 3 or 4 variables for each commodity the calibrations are easy and efficient.

At this point the choice was among the multiplicative model with linear regression and the logit and modified logit models with either mode/base mode comparison or nonlinear search techniques. Accordingly, all three forms, along with some others, were regressed on sample data.

<u>Results</u>

After testing more than 15 different linear regression forms on sample data from two commodities, there emerged two forms as offering reasonably acceptable fits:

Form 1, Estimate each mode compared to the predominant, or base, mode for a commodity. For example, if base mode is highway,

regress: rail weight/highway weight, RW/HW

waterway weight/highway weight, BW/HW

Form 2, Estimate each mode compared to the sum of its share plus
 the share of the base mode.
 With highway as a base mode,
 regress: RW/(RW + HW)
 BW/(BW + HW)

Form 1 can be derived from a path utility of

 $U(path) = exp(a_1C + a_2T + a_3V)$

Form 2 can be derived from a path utility of

$$U(path) = \frac{exp(A)}{1 - exp(A)}$$

....

where

A = $\log 0.5 + a_1 \pmod{\text{cost-base mode cost}}$

+ a₂(mode time-base mode time)

+ a_3 (mode time variance-base mode time variance)

In form 2 the bias from data points with small denominators, or sample observations of the dependent variable above 1.0, is effectively eliminated. The bias introduced by log transformation of the data was eliminated by using a cyclic coordinate search procedure [25] to estimate the parameters a_1 , a_2 , and a_3 while minimizing the sum of errors squared for the untransformed data. The cyclic coordinate search works fairly well, reducing the true sum of squares by about 10% when initiated with the linear regression results.

Upon fitting the strict utility, multinomial logit modal split model, it was found that almost all predicted splits between the highway and rail modes lay in the interval [.4,.6]. Actual splits, however, ranged over the interval [.05,.95]. In order to disperse predicted splits beyond this initial interval, the following transformation of the predicted split was performed:

$$RS_{M} = \frac{F^{u,\sigma}(ES_{M})}{\sum_{n \in M} F^{u,\sigma}(ES_{n})}$$

Where:

 RS_{M} = revised predicted share of mode M

ES_M = predicted share of mode M obtained from multinomial logit model

M = set of modes

F = cumulative normal distribution function with parameters u, σ Modal split parameters were re-estimated to correspond to this revised form and are shown in Appendix B. As expected, predicted splits were dispersed, although improvement in fit has not been demonstrated.

Limiting the Number of Modes

Virtually no model exists that is unaffected by the consideration of additional paths, and it is unlikely that a straightforward model could be so developed. Consider, for example, a rail path serving a pair of modes, with U(rail) = 8 and U(highway) = 2. The typical modal share function would assign 8/10 of the shipping volume to rail and 2/10 to highway. Suppose another, less desirable rail path existed with U = 5. The act of <u>admitting</u> three paths now results in the first rail path receiving 8/15 of the flow, the second rail path 5/15, and the highway path 2/15. In all likelihood the second rail path would actually carry little or no flow. For single mode flows the question of admissible paths is usually resolved by selecting the best path for each mode. When compound-mode journeys are involved, however, the issue is not so clear.

To overcome these difficulties the number of paths will be limited as follows:

- 1. the best all-highway path
- 2. the best all-rail path
- 3. the best all-waterway path
- the predominant waterway path with short highway or rail connecting arcs (used in case no path of type 3 exists, only)
- 5. an efficient highway-rail path
- 6. an efficient rail-waterway path
- 7. a new technology mode

The first three should provide no difficulty: the best highway path will be the least-time path, since time-related costs tend to dominate in the trucking industry. The best rail path will be the one with the

lowest shipping costs, since those tend to dominate in the selection among rail paths. Last, there will usually be only one reasonable waterway path, if at all, serving any two nodes and it will be selected on the basis of shipping cost. This designation of a critical attribute for each mode, that is, an attribute used for path selection, simplifies the progress of building the shortest path trees for each mode. Of course, the other, non-critical attributes are carried along in the tree-building process. (Actually, the critical attribute for an "average commodity" is optimized, and then the line haul and transfer portions of each attribute, including the critical one, are carried along.)

Similarly, the fourth category would be selected on the basis of shipping costs, since anyone seriously considering a type-4 path would be concerned mainly about cost. Paths in category 7 would generally be unique, thus posing no problems in identifying them. Paths of types 5 and 6 are unlike the others, and the method for their selection is discussed next.

Identifying Compound-Mode Journeys

In those cases where the trip modal utility can be transformed uniquely to a function that is additive linearly in arc characteristics, the selection of compound-mode journeys can be achieved by a shortest path routine, as discussed earlier and shown in Figure 8. Such a scheme will work with the modified impedance form, the additive form, the exponential form, and the modified logit form. This method was employed in the demonstration of the model.

An alternative method is to use a heuristic procedure to find compound-mode paths. For example, to find a highway-rail path one might

take the best rail path, say 1-2-3-4-5-6, and then try to attach highway paths between the origin and successive nodes on the rail path, thus forming

highway	rail
1-2	2-6
1-3	3-6
1-4	4-6
• •	
4-6	1-4
5-6	1-5

These paths could then be easily evaluated and the one with the best utility selected for the modal share determination.

VI. MARKET SHARE ANALYSIS

The technique for evaluating and locating potential industrial facilities can best be described as a screening activity that involves successive testing of individual opportunities. The analytical structure is designed to reflect major production, transportation and marketing factors. This is viewed as a first step that logically precedes detailed studies of location, facility size, design and distribution.

The construction and operation of a new production facility that is located within an economic development area will have considerable impact on the local economy from which it draws employees, power, utilities and other essential commodities. Much has been written about local impacts including multiplier effects and other phenomena that extend beyond the immediate needs for production. However, the impacts of regional economic development also extend considerably beyond the local area.

Of principal importance are the market impacts of the new facility. Although some of the new facility's production may enter new markets, much of it will travel to markets that are already served by other facilities. Thus the new facility will upset existing patterns of product distribution, perhaps even on a national scale. A new facility of sufficient scope can influence market prices, raw material cost and overall product demand over a wide area. Until these impacts are recognized and evaluated, the feasibility of a new facility has not been fully demonstrated.

At this stage in the analysis it is not practical to attempt to deal with all of the market participation factors or with all of the market impacts. Rather, we have selected a relative simple cost based rationale for the initial investigation of market penetration. This convention considers production and transportation costs together with a quality of service factor as expressed in terms of delivery time and delivery time variability. By the adopted convention, to be successful, a new facility must be able to produce and deliver its products to a number of existing markets at a cost that is comparable to the costs by which marketing facilities serve the same markets.

The measure of economic viability selected for a new industrial facility is whether it can compete in a sufficient number of markets to support a financially viable facility size. When testing new facility types and locations, the raw material costs, labor rates, energy costs, and taxes are characteristics of the selected locations. Transportation costs depend on the sources of raw materials, on the locations of the markets to be served, and the amount and quantity of the services available between the new facility and its potential markets. Transportation cost and service are subject to change by the construction of new transportation of advantageous intermodal transfers. Market penetration and selling price are determined from the characteristics of existing commodity flows.

Commodity Production Costs by Zone

Industry Structure Analysis

As described in more detail in the Task 2 report, each of the 53 commodity groups is treated as a homogeneous product of an industry group

whose components have common raw material needs, common labor, and common capital requirements. Production input factors were developed for each industry group based on national average data from the Census of Manufacturers [9]. Table 6 shows a typical profile for SIC classification 250, Furniture and Fixtures. The profile describes the industry that produces the commodity in terms of raw material quantities, direct labor hours, indirect labor cost, energy cost, tax cost, and capital investment. Material costs are location sensitive as is direct labor cost. Mean wage rate helps to identify labor skill requirements. Indirect labor is assumed to be a function of industry organization and overhead structure and is made up of a fixed charge plus a charge that is proportional to output. Energy cost is location sensitive, as are taxes and transportation. Capital investment, on the other hand, is assumed to be independent of location.

Production costs are modeled in a linear form:

$$P(i,k) = \sum_{q} (c(i,q)) (a(k,q))$$

where;

The above equation is assumed to hold for a facility greater than a certain minimum size with an appropriate size determined for each industry.

TABLE 6 INDUSTRY PROFILE--250 FURNITURE & FIXTURES 1972

Industry Si	.ze: 8,482 C 461,600	ompanies, 9,232 establi Employees	ĺshme	ents
	\$11.4 B	illion cost of goods so	old	
Mean Establ	ishment Char	acteristics		
Raw Ma	terial Needs			
207 Fats and Oils			17	tons
2	40 Lumber &	Wood	662	
2	20 Textile M	ill Products	6	
2	60 Paper			
2	85 Paint		2	
3	02 Rubber & 3	Plastic Products		
3	21 Stone, Cl	ay & Glass Products	87	
3	31 Iron & St	eel	233	
3	33 Non-Ferro	us Metals	9	
3	42 Fabricate	d Metal Products	94	
Emp10yees				
Direct				
N	lumber		46	
Μ	lan Hours		82,	,000/year
Н	ourly Wage		\$3.	.08
Indire	ct Labor		\$95	5,000/year
Energy			1.9	9 Billion BTU Equiv./year
Capital Inv	estment		\$1.	56 Million
Annual Cost	of Goods So	1d	1.2	23 million
Minimum Siz	e Facility:	81 direct employees \$2 million annual cost	: of	goods sold

.

It is also assumed that the all zone-specific costs can be applied uniformly throughout the zone.

Determination of Unit Costs for Input Factors

The production cost factors for each of the 53 industry/commodity groups have been developed from existing industry wide data, with local corrections as available. The cost of input commodities or raw materials for each of the 53 industry/commodity groups are based on historical costs of the groups. Input commodities as reported in the Census of Manufacturers or other secondary source documents are divided into two types, manufactured items and mine, forest or agricultural commodities for which price is determined by a national or regional market. In the former case, average national costs are assumed, with no distinction by zone.

The latter group consists primarily of raw materials. For each of these materials a national market location is identified, and then sources are identified by examining the commodity movement data. The cost of material k in zone i is then determined by the following formula:

$$c_{ik} = \min_{j} (c_{jk} - t_{jo} + t_{ji})$$

where

c_{jk} is the cost of each source j, t_j is the transportation cost to the market located at o, and t_j is the transportation cost from source j to production zone i

In the above formula the transportation costs are calculated after mode splits are determined for each O-D pair involved.

Direct Labor

Direct labor cost is estimated for each commodity by using the industry profiles and zone-specific labor costs. The process requires two steps: (1) determine the relative labor skill level required by the industry; and (2) establish the cost of labor of the requisite skill level at each of the major producing zones. The major data sources to support labor cost determination are the industry profiles, the summaries of major commodity movements produced from the commodity flow tape, and wage statistics published by the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL).

Industry labor skill levels are determined by comparing the average direct labor wage for the industry with the DOL data for the major producing zones. Inasmuch as DOL data are presented by skill level--e.g. craft, operative, unskilled--rather than industry, it is first necessary to prepare a weighted wage spectrum for the major producing zones. Thus, if:

Then:

$$L_{q}^{n} = \sum_{i \in E_{n}} W_{i}^{n} \ell_{iq}$$

where:

 W_{i}^{n} = fraction of commodity n produced in zone i, and

 ℓ_{iq} = wage rate for skill q in zone i

when L_q^n have been determined for all skill categories, then the mean wage rate for industry n can be placed in the spectrum of skills. An average skill is then selected for industry n and local wage rates in each producing zone i are the wage rates associated with the selected skill.

Energy Costs

Energy costs are obtained for each type of energy generally used in each zone from Federal Energy Administration reports [26]. These are then combined in the proportions used by each industry to generate zonespecific equivalent KW-hour costs for each commodity.

Capital and Taxes

An annual capital cost recovery factor of 0.15 is used for all industries, assuming a discount rate of 8% and a recovery period of 10 years [27]. Commodity specific factors can be obtained from more detailed industrial profile analysis, as is anticipated for the secondyear research effort. Similarly, building cost indexes could be used to adjust for location so that capital investment need not be applied uniformly for all zones.

Taxes are computed according to the following concept: Total business taxes per capita were obtained for each state from Tax Institute of America [28] data. These figures are taken as a proxy measure of the sum of property taxes, sales taxes on input commodities, and state and municipal corporate income taxes. Next the specific taxes are computed for each commodity in a specific zone, using zone-specific tax data [29] and industry

profile data about capital investment, input commodities, sales, and profit. The taxes for other zones are then computed using the ratios of the total business taxes per capita for the respective states.

The second-year research effort will focus on obtaining more detailed data, both for industries and for zones, for this procedure.

Matrix Iterative Procedure

One of the elements of the second-year research effort will be a matrix iterative procedure for determining commodity production costs by zone. This method is outlined broadly by the following steps:

- 1. Begin with national average costs c_{ib},
- Adjust the c by zone-specific direct labor, energy, and capital costs,
- 3. Adjust the c_{ik} by zone-specific taxes,
- 4. Identify sources of input commodities for existing facilities by observing the commodity movement data. For new facilities find the best source.
- 5. Update the c based on the input commodity costs determined in step 4. Return to step 3.

Customer Service Parameter

The customer service parameter includes three factors: transportation cost, delivery time, and delivery time dependability. All of these factors are influenced by the transportation mode selected, and are therefore mode specific. The general form of the expression is:

$$g_{ij\ell} = \sum_{m} f_{m}(C + a_2 T/a_1 + a_3 V/a_1)$$

where:

g_{ijl} = the customer service parameter for commodity i produced in zone j and delivered to zone l, m = mode, f_m = the modal share by mode m, C = transportation cost, T = transportation time, and V = transportation time variance.

The parameters a_1 , a_2 , and a_3 are the same as those used in the mode split function for the particular commodity. Time and time variance are normalized to costs so that transport disutility can be added directly to production cost c_{ij} . The implicit assumption in this method is that buyers of commodity j would have the same trade-offs among delivery cost, time, and time variance as producers and shippers. Since the mode split function parameters express these trade-offs (by taking ratios a_2/a_1 and a_3/a_1), one can use these same parameters to obtain a dollar valued result as perceived by the buyers.

Market Share

The market share that a new facility can expect to achieve in an existing market depends on how its combination of production cost and transportation cost and service equivalents (customer service parameters) compares with similar costs of other producers serving the same market. The size of the share is based on a comparison between the cost and service estimated for the new facility and the cost and service determinations for the lowest cost facility now serving the market. If the

proposed new facility enjoys a cost and service advantage over all other facilities that serve the market, the new facility is assured a reasonable share of the market; however, the new facility is not likely to capture all of the market. However, if the new facility does not enjoy an advantage over any of the other procedures, the new facility is not likely to attract a very large share of the market.

Market Share Function

The estimated size of a new facility's market share depends on the nature of the industry/commodity group as well as on cost and service relationships. Agriculture, forest and mineral product markets are close to perfectly elastic. Thus, a new entry must meet the existing market price in order to supply any product to the market at all. Markets for manufactured goods exhibit different amounts of elasticity. The pricemarket share relationship for each commodity group will be estimated from a regression analysis of existing market patterns. These have the general form:

$$MS_{j\ell}^{i} = f[(c_{ij} + g_{ij\ell}) - (c_{ik} + g_{jk\ell})]$$

Where:

 $MS_{j\ell}^{1}$ = market share in zone ℓ enjoyed by a producer of commodity i in zone j,

C_{ij} = production cost of commodity i in zone j,

k = producer with the lowest delivered cost to market ℓ , and c_{ij} + g_{ijl} = market cost for product i at market ℓ for a producer at j. The functional relationship is known to be non-linear for all commodities except those enjoying perfect competition. In the absence of brand identification, quality considerations and other non-costable criteria, market share generally declines with an increasing penalty above the lowest cost supplier. The exact functional form for market share has not been developed at this writing. The regression analysis is still underway.

The market share relationship will be based on the behavior of the largest volume shipments. These shipments are identified by scanning all movements for each commodity and extracting only those larger than a threshold value--generally about 0.3 percent of the total commodity movements. The 20 to 50 selected large volume movements for each commodity account for about half of the total volume and represent a workable set of suppliers. Production costs are calculated for each of the selected producers and customer service costs are determined for each major movement. Inasmuch as many commodities move by more than one mode, there are multiple customer service costs for these movements.

Market costs are determined for each producer--market pair by adding production and customer service costs. Suppliers to a given market are ranked in order of increasing market costs and market shares are calculated for each supplier.

$$MS_{j\ell}^{i} = \sum_{j \in J} V_{ij\ell} / MV_{i\ell}$$

where:

J = the set of major producers identified from the truncation of the commodity flow data,

FIGURE 9 MARKET SHARE FUNCTIONAL RELATIONSHIP



k = producer with the lowest market cost

V = volume of commodity i supplied to market & by producers
 in zone j, and

$$MV_{i\ell}$$
 = total volume for commodity i in zone ℓ .

The largest market share is fixed as the share enjoyed by the lowest cost producer, thus establishing the y-axis intercept of the market share function (Figure 9). The most likely functional form is exponential or hyper-exponential form in which

$$MS_{j\ell}^{i} = a_{o} \exp a_{1}[(c_{ij} + g_{ij\ell}) - (c_{ik} + g_{ik\ell})]$$

where a and a are correlation coefficients. The total market share for the major movements is constrained to equal the same total that was recorded when the movements were extracted from the commodity flow data. Thus:

$$\sum_{j \in J} MS_{j\ell}^{i} = \sum_{j \in J} V_{ij\ell} / MV_{i\ell}$$

Market Share of a New Facility

If a new facility can supply commodity i to an existing market at ℓ , the new facility will upset the balance among the suppliers to that market. Two situations can accompany the entry of the new facility:

- It will have a market cost that is lower than the present lowest market cost, or
- It will have a market cost that is higher than the present lowest market cost, but the new facility will be competitive with other suppliers.

In the first instance, the new facility will displace the lowest cost pro-

ducer and all previous producers will lose market share at the expense of the new facility.

In the second instance, the new facility will displace higher cost suppliers, but it will not upset those that supply the market at lower cost. This is accomplished by establishing a market share for each effected producer from the market share function and dividing the market left over from the uneffected suppliers in terms of the calculated market shares, or

$$MS_{j\ell}^{\dagger} = MS_{j\ell}^{i} = \frac{\sum_{j \in J} MS_{j\ell}^{i} - \sum_{j \in J_{1}} MS_{j\ell}^{i}}{\sum_{p \in P} MS_{p\ell}^{i}}$$

Where:

- $MS_{jl}^{\prime l}$ = revised market share in zone l enjoyed by a producer of commodity i in zone j,
- J₁ = set of major producers with market costs lower than those of the new facility, and
- P = set of major producers with market costs higher than those of the new facility.

VII. DEMONSTRATING THE MODEL

The analytical model, contained within the overall analytical procedure, will be demonstrated, as part of the first year's work, using a small sample of potential applications to four zones in Northern Mississippi. Inasmuch as this test has not yet been completed, results cannot be described at this time. However, it may be useful to consider the magnitude of the test as determined by the data requirements and the planned analysis. Test results will be described in the final report for the first year's work. The results of this demonstration should in no way be interpreted as supporting conclusions of any sort. The first-year research effort has concentrated on developing analytical tools, and for this purpose the data gathered is representative but not accurate. In many cases sample data are used where an actual application would involve analyzing the complete set of data.

Zones

Four zones were selected for potential new facility locations:

Zone <u>Number</u>	Centroid <u>Name</u>	Area
20	Corinth	Northeastern Mississippi APDC
21	Tupelo	Three Rivers APDC, Mississippi
22	Columbus	Golden Triangle APDC minus Winston County, Mississippi
23	Clarksdale	North Delta APDC minus Tallahatchie County, Mississippi

Industries

Eight industry-commodity classifications were selected for testing:

220 Textile Mill Products

230 Apparel

240 Lumber & Wood

250 Furniture & Fixtures

287 Agricultural Chemicals

302 Rubber & Plastic Products

350 Machinery, Except Electrical

361 Electrical Machinery

The industry profiles for each of these are included in Appendix C.

Material Sources

The following material inputs were associated with national commodity markets and a limited number of sources:

logs lumber non-ferrous metals potash fiberglass coal

For each of these the best delivered price to each production zone was then determined.

Cost Modeling and Assignment of Existing Flows

The procedure described in Section IV was followed in developing costs, times, and time variances for line haul arcs and transfers at nodes. Subsequently, shortest path trees were constructed for each origin, for each mode. The existing commodity O-D movement data, described in Section II and in greater detail in the Task 2 Report, were
then used to assign freight flows to the network, thus establishing a base load on arcs and nodes. This assignment was performed according to the mode designated for each data point.

Determination of Mode Split Parameters

Sample flow data were prepared for each of the eight commodities under consideration, and for those commodities containing necessary input materials. These flow data were used to perform the mode split parameter calibration. The exponential (logit) form was fitted using first linear regression and then the cyclic coordinate search. The results of this gression equation coefficients are presented in Appendix B.

Determination of Commodity Production Costs by Zone

The procedures described in Section VI were used to generate commodity production costs for 14 to 27 existing zones, depending on the commodity. These existing production zones were the high volume origins selected from the commodity movement data. Production costs were also determined for each of the four test zones for each test industry/commodity group.

Delivered Cost Computation

The same sample production data were reordered for each commodity by destination zone. After determining the customer service parameters, the delivered "cost" was computed for each data point:

$$d_{ij\ell} = e_{ij} + C + a_2 T/a_1 + a_3 V/a_1$$

Where:

d_ijl = the delivered "cost" in zone l of commodity i produced in zone j,

 c_{ij} = production cost for commodity i in zone j,

C = transportation cost from j to l,

T = transportation time from j to l,

V = transportation time variance from j to ℓ , and

 a_1 , a_2 , a_3 = mode split parameters obtained previously,

Here the transportation cost, time, and attributes refer to the particular mode associated with each data point.

Market Share Analysis

Market share regression analysis is being conducted for each of the eight test commodities. Efforts are being made to develop a location abstract relationship for each commodity.

Transportation Alternatives

Three types of transportation alternatives will be explored. The first type consists of local highway and rail improvements in the Northern Mississippi test area. The nature of these improvements is set forth in Table 7. The purpose of these improvements is to provide potential new facilities with higher quality access to existing transport networks.

The second category of transportation alternatives consists of Multi-State Corridor wide improvements. The first alternative studied is a set of highway improvements extending from Brunswick to Kansas City. By this alternative, existing highways would be straightened and upgraded to support truck speeds of 55 mph. The second alternative studied is

TABLE 7 LOCAL TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS IN NORTHERN MISSISSIPPI

Highway	, upgrade	
US	78	Memphis to Birmingham
US	72	Membphis to Decatur, Alabama
US	82	Columbus, Mississippi to Tuscaloosa, Alabama
US	45	Corinth to Tupelo, Mississippi
US	82	Columbus, Mississippi to junction with US 45
US	45	US 82 to Tupelo
US	45	Corinth, Mississippi to Jackson, Tennessee
US	43	Spruce Pine to Hamilton, Alabama

Rail, upgrade

Sou and	ICG	Memphis	to	Corinth	
ICG		Corinth	to	Birmingha	am
ICG		Corinth	to	Tupelo	
Sou		Corinth	to	Decatur	
L&N		Memphis	to	Jackson,	Tennessee

a set of railroad improvements that extend from Jacksonville to Kansas City. This alternative includes rail line improvements that will support average train speeds of 35 mph and also eliminate the more serious grades and curves.

The third category of alternatives focus on terminal activity as a means of testing intermodal transportation opportunities. In this alternative, all major mode transfer activities along the Corridor will exhibit the characteristics of container terminals. Thus transfer costs will be greatly reduced from break-bulk costs.

In all, four alternative transportation programs will be tested: (1) local improvements; (2) Corridor highway plus local improvements; (3) Corridor rail plus local improvements; and (4) Corridor highway, Corridor rail, local and terminal improvements.

Evaluation

The evaluation framework that is described in the Task 4 report will be tested on the results of the Northern Mississippi test. Measures for the criteria set will be prepared for each of the four transportation alternatives tested.

The principal evaluation criteria are listed in Table 8. These are broadly divided into three categories:

- Factors relating to the transportation system and system performance,
- 2. Factors relating to economic opportunities, and

TABLE 8 EVALUATION CRITERIA

ECONOMICAL Public Revenue Tax Base Changes Industrial Development Personal Income **Property Values** Employment Construction **Commercial Sales** PHYSICAL Level of Transportation Service **Resource Use** Energy Use Operations Right-of-Way Terminals FISCAL Construction Cost Maintenance Cost Operating Costs User's Cost Administrative Cost Accident Cost Effectiveness/Cost SOCIAL Land Use Community Form Quality of Life Political Population Urban Renewal Community Goals Corridor Goals Displacement National Defense Aesthetic Right-of-Way Terminals Value System Noise Beauty Drainage Vibration Lighting Advertising

3. Social, political, aesthetic and other factors.

Ratings for the different factors will be taken from the analytical results and from the judgments of public officials in the Northern Mississippi area. No effort will be made to arrive at an overall rating at this time. Techniques for combining evaluation criteria will be studied as part of the second year's work.

APPENDIX A

در

EQUILIBRIUM TRAFFIC ASSIGNMENT FOR MULTICLASS-USER TRANSPORTATION NETWORKS

INTRODUCTION

In recent work LeBlanc [1,2] describes the use of the Frank-Wolfe algorithm in solving traffic assignment problems. One of the key features of that approach is the fact that finding a good feasible direction reduces to solving p uncapacitated single-commodity problems, where p is the number of destination nodes.

The above assignment problem assumes that for one class of users, such as automobile drivers, each member of the class has the same cost curve for any given arc. The "commodities" in such a problem are usually defined according to destination node, or origin node, or origin-destination pair.

When one deals with different socio-economic classes, or with automobile and truck drivers, or with freight commodities, the cost curves for the user classes will differ for any given arc. Dafermos [3,4] has developed a feasible directions technique for solving such multiclass-user networks, but the procedure has not been tested on large networks with many user classes.

This note combines the results of LeBlanc and Dafermos to extend the Frank-Wolfe algorithm to multiclass-user transportation networks.

Problem Statement

Consider a fixed network (N,A), where

N = the set of nodes from 1,..., n A = the set of arcs (i,j) H = the set of user classes from 1,...,c S = the set of destination nodes from 1,...,s hs ${}^{x}_{ij}$ = the flow on arc (i,j) of class h destined for s ${}^{xh}_{ij} = \sum_{s} {}^{hs}_{x_{ij}}$, the flow on arc (i,j) of class h ${}^{x}_{ij} = \sum_{s} {}^{hs}_{x_{ij}}$, the flow on arc (i,j) D(h,j,s) = outbound shipping demand of class h at node j destined for s $t^{h}_{ij}({}^{xh}_{ij}, {}^{x}_{ij})$ = total travel cost to class h on arc (i,j) with class flow ${}^{h}_{ij}$ and total flow ${}^{x}_{ij}$ on arc (i,j). This function is assumed to be nonnegative and monotonically increasing.

The equilibrium traffic assignment problem is to find flows x_{ij}^{hs} that satisfy the following conditions:

$$D(h, j, s) + \sum_{i} x_{ij}^{hs} = \sum_{k} x_{jk}^{hs}, \text{ for } j = 1,...,n$$
(1)

$$s = 1,...,p, j \neq s$$

$$h = 1,...,c$$

$$x_{ij}^{hs} \ge 0 \quad \text{for all (i,j),h, s}$$
(2)

no traveler (shipper) can unilaterally improve his travel (shipping) cost by changing paths (3)

Condition (3) is usually referred to as Wardrop's first principle(5).

Procedure

Following the development by Dafermos (4), the total travel cost over an arc produced by a set of flows is

$$t_{ij}(x) = \sum_{h} t_{ij}^{h} (x_{ij}^{h}, x_{ij})$$
(4)

and the total travel cost over the entire network is

$$t(x) = \sum_{ij} t_{ij}(x) = \sum_{ij} \sum_{h} t_{ij}^{h}(x_{ij}^{h}, x_{ij})$$
(5)

The simplest nontrivial example of a travel cost function is probably a quadratic form:

$$t_{ij}^{h}(x_{ij}^{h}, x_{ij}) = b_{ij}^{h} x_{ij}^{h} x_{ij} + g_{ij}^{h} x_{ij}^{h}$$
(6)

where the b_{ij}^{h} and g_{ij}^{h} are nonnegative constants.

Assuming that there is complete interaction among all users of class h on arc (i,j), the share of the travel cost to each of these users will be

$$\bar{t}_{ij}^{h}(x_{ij}^{h}, x_{ij}) = \frac{t_{ij}^{h}(x_{ij}^{h}, x_{ij})}{\frac{x_{ij}^{h}}{x_{ij}^{h}}}$$
(7)

A system-optimizing flow pattern is a set of x_{ij}^{hs} that satisfies (1) and (2) and minimizes the total travel cost (5). Dafermas (4) has shown that under suitable conditions, a user-optimizing flow pattern (the solution to the equilibrium traffic assignment problem) can be obtained by finding the systemoptimizing flow pattern for the associated problem:

$$Min \quad t^{*}(x) = \sum_{ij} \int_{h} f^{h}_{ij} (x^{h}_{ij}, x_{ij})$$
(8)

subject to (1) and (2), where

$$f_{ij}^{h}(x_{ij}^{h}, x_{ij}) = \int_{0}^{x_{ij}^{h}} \tilde{t}_{ij}^{h}(z_{ij}^{h}, x_{ij}) dz_{ij}^{h}$$
(9)

$$= \int_{\substack{x_{ij} \\ 0 \\ z_{ij}^{h} \\ Frank - Wolfe Algorithm}}^{h} \left[\frac{t_{ij}^{h}(z_{ij}^{h}, x_{ij})}{z_{ij}^{h}} \right] dz_{ij}^{h}$$
(10)

The Frank-Wolfe (6) algorithm is designed for problems with nonlinear objective function t(x) and linear constraints. Briefly stated, the algorithm starts with a current feasible solution x, and then finds a good feasible direction by solving the linear programming problem:

With y* the optimum solution to (11), the direction is then

$$d^* = y^* - x$$
 (12)

A one-dimensional search is performed on

$$t(x + vd^*)$$
 over $0 < v < 1$ (13)

The optimum v* is then used to obtain the new solution

$$\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{v}^* \mathbf{d}^*. \tag{14}$$

Procedure

The objective function (11) can be written as

$$\underset{y}{\underset{j}{\text{Min } \forall t^{*}(x) \cdot y = \underset{j}{\underset{j}{\text{Min } j \in ij}}} \prod_{ij = h} \frac{\partial t^{*}(x)}{\partial x^{h}} y_{ij}^{h} \qquad (15)$$

where the index notation for y corresponds to that for x. Since we wish to determine the x_{ij}^{hs} , we modify (15) to become:

Now

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{t}^{*}(\mathbf{x})}{\partial \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{ij}}^{\mathrm{hs}}} = \sum_{k=1}^{c} \left[\frac{\partial \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{ij}}^{k}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{ij}}^{k}, \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{ij}})}{\partial \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{ij}}^{\mathrm{hs}}} \right]$$
(17)

A typical term in the summation in (17) can be expressed as

$$\frac{\partial f_{ij}^{k}}{\partial x_{ij}^{hs}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{ij}^{k}} \int_{0}^{x_{ij}^{k}} \overline{t}_{ij}^{k} (z_{ij}^{k}, x_{ij}) dz_{ij}^{k}} = \frac{\partial x_{ij}^{k}}{\partial x_{ij}^{hs}}$$

$$+ \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{ij}} \int_{0}^{x_{ij}^{k}} \overline{t}_{ij}^{k} (z_{ij}^{k}, x_{ij}) dz_{ij}^{k} \frac{\partial x_{ij}}{\partial x_{ij}^{hs}}$$
(18)

(19)

There are two cases to consider:

case i: $k \neq h$.

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{x}_{ij}^{k}}{\partial \mathbf{x}_{ij}^{hs}} = 0$$

and

$$\frac{\partial x_{ij}}{\partial x_{ij}^{hs}} = 1$$
 (20)

Thus,

$$\frac{\partial f_{ij}^{k}(x_{ij}^{k}, x_{ij})}{\partial x_{ij}^{hs}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{ij}} \int_{0}^{x_{ij}^{k}(z_{ij}^{k}, x_{ij})} \frac{t_{ij}^{k}(z_{ij}^{k}, x_{ij})}{dz_{ij}^{k}(z_{ij}^{k}, x_{ij})} dz_{ij}^{k}$$
(21)

So long as the form of t_{ij}^k is a polynomial, there should be no difficulty in obtaining a convenient, closed form for (21), expressed as a function in x_{ik}^k and x_{ij} .

<u>Case ii</u>: k = h



The net result of all these manipulations is that the partial derivatives in the LP objective function (16), will be polynomials in terms of current values of x_{ij}^{hs} and x_{ij} . For convenience, we can define

$$c_{ij}^{h} = \frac{\partial t^{*}(x)}{\partial x_{ij}^{hs}}$$
(23)

for current values of x. Note that the values of c_{ij}^h are independent of the destination node s.

The procedure now follows LeBlanc. At any iteration

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \text{Min} & \sum & \sum & c_{ij}^{h} y_{ij}^{hs} \\ & & \text{ij} & h & s \\ y_{ij}^{hs} & & & \\ \text{s.t. flow constraints (1) and nonnegativity (2).} \end{array}$$
(24)

Due to the structure of the flow constraints, solving (24) is equivalent to solving

(c x s) single-commodity, single-destination network flow subproblems with no capacity constraints or congestion effects. The feasible solution y^* to (24) is then used to obtain a best feasible direction

$$d^* = y^* - x$$
 (12)

A one-dimensional search follows, yielding the new solution vector x, and the next iteration begins with the evaluation of the new c_{ii}^{h} .

Computation Time

The network under consideration contains approximately 120 nodes, 100 destination nodes, 400 one-way arcs, and 20 user classes. It is anticipated that 10 iterations of the Frank-Wolfe algorithm will be required to obtain a good solution. At an estimated 30% density, each iteration will require 0.3 x 100 x 20 = 600 subproblem solutions. Assuming a labeling-type tree-building algorithm, the total solution time will be approximately 10 iterations x 600 x 0.25 sec = 25 minutes. Since the trees for different user classes may be similar, one may wish to investigate the use of other types of procedures for solving the subproblems.

References

- LeBlanc, L. J., E. K. Morlok, and W. P. Pierskalla, "An Efficient Approach to Solving the Road Network Equilibrium Traffic Assignment Problem," Trans. Res., No. 9, pp. 309-318.
- LeBlanc, L. J., Mathematical Programming Algorithms for Large Scale Network Equilibrium and Network Design Problems, Dept. of Ind. Eng. and Mgt. Sciences. Northwestern University, Ph.D. Thesis, 1973.
- 3. Dafermos, S. C., "An Extended Traffic Assignment Model with Applications to Two-Way Traffic," Trans. Sci., No. 6, pp. 366-389.
- 4. Dafermos, S. C., "The Traffic Assignment Problem for Multiclass-User Transportation Networks," Trans. Sci., No. 6, pp. 73-87.
- 5. Wardrop, J. G. "Some Theoretical Aspects of Road Traffic Research," Proc. Inst. Civil Eng., Part II, (1952) pp. 325-378.
- Zangwill, W. I., <u>Nonlinear Programming: A Unified Approach</u>, Prentice-Hall, Englewood-Cliffs, N.J., 1969.

APPENDIX B MODE SPLIT RESULTS

The results of the mode split analysis for the eight commodities/ industry groups that were examined in the Northern Mississippi test are listed below:

	Commodity	<u>a</u> 1	<u>a</u> 2	<u>a</u> 3
220	Textiles	-0.0107	-0.0000333	-0.000552
2 30	Apparel	-0.0010	0	-0.000562
240	Lumber	-0.0075	-0.0000416	-0.000008
250	Furniture	-0.0087	-0.0000833	-0.000166
287	Ag. Chemicals	-0.0072	-0.0000233	-0.000062
302	Plastic Products	-0.0045	-0.0000966	0
350	Machinery, Exc. Ele	ec0.0054	-0.0001500	0
361	Electircal Equip.	-0.0050	-0.0000500	-0.000160

The above coefficients are used in equations of the form

$$U(path) = \frac{exp(A)}{1 - exp(A)}$$

Where:

A = log 0.5 + a_1 (mode cost - base mode cost) + a_2 (mode time - base mode time) + a_3 (mode time variance - base mode time variance)

The path utilities, representing RW/(RW+HW) and BW/(BW+HW) were then subjected to the normal transformation and the sum of the mode shares was corrected to 1.0 to yield final mode share values for each mode. APPENDIX C INDUSTRY PROFILES Industry profiles for the eight commodity groups to be used in the Northern Mississippi test are presented. These data were largely taken from the 1972 Census of Manufacturers. Additional data on unit values were prepared by the project team from a number of different sources. A detailed description of the development of the industry profiles is contained in the Task 2 report.

TABLE 10 INDUSTRY PROFILES

						-		
	220	230	240	250	287	300	350	360
	TEXTILE	APPAREL	LUMBER	FURNITURE	AG. CHEM.	PLASTIC	MACHINERY	ELEC. EQUIP.
Industry Data								
No. of Companies	5,611	21,949	31,935	8,482	795	7,799	36,519	8,742
No. of Establishments	7,203	24,438	33,948	9,232	1,233	9.031	39.023	10,763
Establishments with	•		•	,	•	•		
20 employees	4,505	12,226	6,867	3,646	484	4,062	9.796	5,016
Cost of Materials,	-							• •
\$ Million	16,505	14,532	13,593	5,328	2,194	6,721	24,744	21,046
Value Added, \$ Million	11,718	13,488	10,309	6,090	1,737	7,583	33,136	27,359
Value of Shipments,	-	-	•	•				•
\$ Million	28,072	27,809	23,816	11,309	3,92 9	15,177	57,110	48,021
Mean Establishment								
Annual Cost of Goods So	1d							
\$ Thousand	3,945	1,136	700	1.237	3,186	1,565	1,466	4,459
Tons Shipped	1.672	238	3,500	611	17,700	1,252	374	1,188
Employees	132	56	20	46	39	57	42	137
Direct Labor Man Hours	239,622	88,432	34,391	81,846	51.663	88,513	57.786	186,324
Indirect Labor,			•	•			•	
\$ Thousand	173	72	31	95	152	139	167	534
Capital Investment,								
\$ Thousand	1,295	113	124	1,560	521	430	454	1,216
Energy Consumption,								
Thousand kwh	10,208	746	59 9	763	3,032	1,987	600	4,997
Raw Materials								
Class/Annual Tons	220/617	220/388	240/	220/6	140/47,194	281/46	110/4	282/3 9
	282/408			240/662	281/1,125	282/654	331/297	331/342
				285/2	287/4,930	286/39	340/17	340/2
				331/233		289/22		
				333/9		300/66		
				340/94		321/8		
Minimum Economic New Facil:	ity			_				_
Employees	215	90	33	81	63	91	67	220
Annual Cost of Goods So	1d							
\$ Thousand	6,750	1,925	1,235	2,300	6,277	2,786	2,756	8,339
Capital Investment		 -		ā 4			.	
\$ Thousand	1,790	155	175	2,310	- 782	607	662	1,773
Direct Labor Man Hours	410,000	150,000	60,700	157,000	102,000	157,000	108,000	349,000

COMMODITY GROUP

APPENDIX D TRANSPORTATION COSTS FOR COMMODITIES

.

Line haul and loading and unloading costs are presented in this appendix for the rail and highway modes. The material is divided into four tables whose contents are as follows:

- Railroad line haul costs per ton mile by commodity for each of three rail carrier cost areas. The first 53 entries are ordered by commodity for RCCA-1; the next 53 for RCCA-2 and the final 53 for RCCA-3.
- Railroad loading and unloading costs per ton. Each entry includes loading plus unloading cost. These costs are listed by commodity for each of the three RCCAs as above.
- 3. Highway Line haul costs per ton mile by commodity for each of the eight motor carrier cost areas. The first 53 entires are ordered by commodity for MCCA-1, etc.
- Highway loading and unloading costs per ton. These are listed by commodity for each MCCA.

RAILROAD LINE HAUL COSTS -- DOLLARS PER TON MILE

.0133	.0176	.0118	.0219	.0140	.0155	.0102	.0097	.010
•0106	.0150	.0154	+0123	.0130	.0282	.0107	.0106	101
.0154	.0205	.0205	.0124	•0391	.0131	.0167	.0105	.0104
•0178	.0121	.0105	•0108	•0118	•0124	.0205	0198	0216
.0116	•0113	.0110	.0306	.0150	.0203	.0122	.0272	.0197
.0201	.0254	.0102	.0107	.0139	.0095	.0159	.0110	.0121
.0079	+0031	.0083	.0035	.0122	.0121	.0099	.0104	.0233
+0088	.0099	.0097	.0123	+0161	.0161	.0099	.0303	.0105
+0085	•0085	.0119	•0145	.0097	.0085	+0687	.0095	.0079
•0156	.0172	+0084	+0094	• 0091	+0089	+0237	.0118	.0158
•0211	.0154	.0151	•0159	•0198	.0107	.0110	.0143	.0102
•0114	•0130	.0089	.0094	+0087	.0089	·0091	.0129	.0128
•0109	•0246	+0091	.0091	+0103	.0101	.0128	.0166	.0166
.0312	.0109	+0139	•0090	.0088	+0123	.0152	.0102	10090
.0100	.0105	•0166	•0160	·0178	.0089	.0098	.0097	.0092
.0127	.0166	•0101	•0217	•0159	.0156	.0164	.0204	
	.0133 .0106 .0154 .0178 .0201 .0079 .0085 .0156 .0211 .0114 .0109 .0312 .0100 .0127	$\begin{array}{ccccc} .0133 & .0176 \\ .0106 & .0150 \\ .0154 & .0205 \\ .0178 & .0121 \\ .0116 & .0113 \\ .0201 & .0254 \\ .0079 & .0081 \\ .0086 & .0099 \\ .0085 & .0085 \\ .0156 & .0172 \\ .0211 & .0154 \\ .0114 & .0130 \\ .0108 & .0246 \\ .0312 & .0109 \\ .0106 & .0106 \\ .0127 & .0166 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

RAILROAD LOADING & UNLOADING COSTS -- DOLLARS PER TON

3.1118	3.9694	6+6905	2.6843	4.1794	3.4134	2.1742	2.0860	1.9078	2,0265
2,2763	2.2067	7.5860	3,1489	3.5357	3.7337	19.1913	2.9263	2.7651	4.1704
3.8947	7+9560	6.1907	6.1807	2.9430	16.4659	3.6521	6.8314	2.3547	3.3589
4,0667	8,2582	2.9137	2.3868	2.3871	3.0320	2.9712	6.8496	6.5915	8+4724
2+2618	2.7460	2+5338	2.5273	9.7305	4.0555	7+0952	4.8117	10.3201	9.8178
5.2701	6.3826	7.9477	2,0632	2.7591	4.9131	1.7333	2.6228	2.2399	1.3592
1.3378	1.2221	1,2987	1.5210	1.4115	5.7284	2.1423	2.4604	2.5728	13.0864
2.0727	1,9429	2,9411	2.7058	6.2484	4.0084	4.0084	1.9114	11.4729	2.4356
4.7649	1.5537	2.4762	2.6348	5.5224	1.8986	1.5677	1.5615	1,9903	1.9186
4.6773	4.5132	5.5657	1.4877	1.7946	1.6480	1.6485	6.2275	2,7106	5.0787
3,7678	7.2819	7.8417	3.4277	4.1490	5.1173	3.0218	3.8337	6.4225	2.6019
4.0384	3.2770	2.1946	2.0528	1.8898	1.9983	2.2414	2+1625	7.3669	3.1056
3.4314	3.6095	18,2312	2.8727	2.7168	4.0501	3.7830	7.7286	5.8206	5,8206
2,8441	15.4841	3.5195	6+5407	2.3204	3.3073	3.8793	7.8678	2.8203	2.3405
2,3355	2.9402	2.8687	6.4895	6.2533	8.0059	2.2237	2.6680	2.4676	2.4675
9,0583	3.8790	6.7593	4.7141	9.7557	9.4962	4.9720	6.0204	7+4341	

HIGHWAY LINE HAUL COSTS -- DOLLARS PER TON MILE

1000									
1585	•1005	+1608	.2010	+2876	.1005	.1105	. 2010	2010	0.04.0
.2010	1960	•1427	+1065	•100S	.1005	1507	1167	+ 2010	• 2010
•1005	+1608	.1105	. 2413	. 1 4 1 7	2010	1007	+1100	+1507	+1005
.1005	1045	1407	1400	1040	.2010	+1005	,1005	•1688	+1166
1759	1014	1040	+ 1008	.1940	.1357	•1859	•1507	+1608	.1608
9070	• I & I G	•1649	+1146	•2914	+1779	.1437	+1105	.1608	. 2713
• 2078	+1105	•1303	•0709	+0556	.0890	.1112	▲1591	0554	0410
•1112	+1112	+1112	.1112	.1034	+0790	0500	0554	+ 2000	+ 0012
•0339	•0834	+0556	+0556	.0990	.0412	1 4 4 4	+ VUU0	•0006	+0834
+0556	.0934	.0645	.0554	0570	+ VUIII.		• 0784	+1112	•0553
/0834	.0890	.0000	10000	+ 0070	.0778	•0934	•1073	.0751	.1029
.0612	. 4994	10070	+07/3	+0073	+1023	+0634	•1612	+0984	•0795
1404	• • • • • • • •	• 1 0 0 1	+1426	+0312	•0723	•0725	•0538	+0909	.1136
+1010	+0088	•0255	•1136	•1138	•1136	.1136	.1108	. 0907	0402
0068	•0558	+0852	+ 0653	+0852	.0569	.0568	. 0909	0.007	1 4 77 72
•0301	+1133	•0538	+0568	.0954	.0359	. 0540	0001	+ VOLU	+14//
+1096	+0767	+1051	.0852	.0000	0000	+0000	+ (/ J) / .l	•0795	+0954
.1647	.1005	.0812	0425	0000	+0707	•0594	+0285	+1045	+0648
.0444	.0710	0000	+ VO2U + 0224	+0909	+1534	+1457	.0625	.0738	+0537
. 0944	0430	+ 0000	• 1 × 2 1	+0444	•0488	+0888	•0888	,0838	•0888
0000	+00.00	•0471	+0444	•0444	•0666	•0511	•0666	.0444	. 0444
+0710	+9488	•1154	•0626	+0888	.0444	.0443	.0744	0516	0444
•0462	+0622	.0746	.0857	•0599	.0821	. 0444	0710	+0010	• 0 4 4 4
.0537	•0917	+0503	.1288	.0794	0475	+ 00000	10710	+0/10	+0772
.0488	.0577	.0401	0471	+ 07 00 070 A	+ 2000	• 0488	•0/10	•1199	+1139
.0942	. 0940	0001	* * * * * *	•0704	.0942	+1348	+0471	•0518	.0942
0704	0.4.7.4	+0742	+0718	+0669	•0499	.0471	•0471	.0706	.0542
0701	+0471	•04/1	+0754	+0518	.1225	+0664	.0942	.0471	. () 4 7 1
• 07 91	+0046	•0471	+0490	.0659	.0791	.0909	. 0676	0071	• V-17 1
.0754	.0754	.0824	+0570	+0867	.0537	. 1764	10000	+0071	+ 97.98
.0754	.1272	.1208	.0518	.0612	0501	• 1000	+0004	+0074	+0518
+0408	.0449	A180.	.0814	0017	10021	+0408	+ 0603	•0816	•1168
+0408	.0412	. 6 4 4 0	0/10	+0010	+0818	+0796	•0579	•0432	.0409
.0814	0400	• • • • • • • •	+ VOLZ	•0408	+0408	+0653	.0449	.1061	.0575
05.51	+ 0 100	•0408	• 0685	.0473	• 0408	.0424	• 0571	+0685	.0787
+0001	•0755	+0612	•0653	•0653	.0714	.0494	.0751	0445	1107
-0722	+0583	.0449	+0653	.1102	.1047	. 0449	0530	10400	•1100
.0704	•0880	+1259	.0440	.0484	0000	0000	+0000	+ 0561	+0440
.0325	.0466	.0440	.0440	0440	+0000	•0880	+0880	• 0880	·0858
+0484	.1144	.0400	0000	+0660	+0006	• 0660	+0440	.0440	+0704
.0616	0270	.0020	• • • • • • • •	• 0440	+0440	+0739	•0510	+0440	•0458
0010	+ 17 07	+ 0347	+0094	•0814	•0360	+0704	.0704	.0770	.0532
10010	+0002	+1276	+0779	•0629	.0484	.0704	.1188	1100	0404
+0072	•0749	+0587	•0939	+1174	+1680	.0597	0404	1174	+ \/ ^8 () *1
+1174	.1174	•1145	.0834	+0622	0587	0507	0000	• .h .l ./ **	• J. L Z 4
+0587	• 0587	.0939	.0444	1507	40007	• • • • • • • •	•0880	+06/5	+0880
.0631	+0587	.0410	0000	• A O 2. G	• V0 20	+ L I / 4	+0587	+0587	•0986
.0939	1007	0710	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• 0980	.1133	.0792	•1086	+0880	.0939
1400	4.5.02.7	+ 071.0	+1080	+0669	+1702	.1039	+0839	.06.46	0970
11.003	1008	• 9846	• 0763	.0883	.0692	.1107	1394	1001	0/07
+ 9761	•1384	+1384	1384	+1384	.1349	.0983	.0774	• • 7 0 r	+0072
+1038	•0796	·1038	.0692	.0692	.1107	0741	1700	+ 0072	+0072
.0692	•0692	1163	.0803	. 0400	0700	+ 07 01	+ 1.777	+0776	+1384
.1280	+1038	.1107	1102	1011	+0720	+ 0 7 6 7	+1103	•1334	.0934
.0990	.0761	1107	10/0	الالکه الا∙	+ 08.37	•1273	•0789	+2007	.1225
0842	1005	•1107	•1008	•1775	• 0761	•0900	40537	.0421	.0674
0 0 0 1 2	+1200	+0421	•0463	+0842	+0842	.0842	+0842	.0821	. ለട്രം
+ 0 4 4 0	+0421	+0421	+0431	+0484	+0631	.0421	.0421	.0474	0147
+1095	•0594	+0842	.0421	•0421	.0707	. 0489	0421	0074	+0403
+0707	•0813	+0568	.0779	+0631	.0474	0474	+ U T AL L	+ 1/4.58	• 0589
.0480	+1221	.0745	.0402	. 0443	6674	+ 007 **	•0737	•0509	•0775
.0531	.0416	. 04.44	6070	1101	+ 4074	• 1.1.57	•1080	•0463	+0547
.0832	.0811	. 6594	+ 4032	1171	•0416	+0458	• 0832	+0832	.0832
0417	+V011	• 0071	+0441	+0416	+0416	.0624	+0478	.0624	.0414
• U 1 1 C)	• 7060	+0458	+1082	•0587	+0832	.0416	.0416	0499	.0407
+0416	.0433	+0582	.0679	•0803	+0532	.0770	.0424	0444	+ 1/403
+0728	.0503	.0765	.0474	.1203	.0734	AROR	* VUX **	+ 7000	+ 0066
1067	.0459	+0541	.0559	. 0470	-0704	+0070	+0408	+0666	• 1123
.0876	.0874	.0874	.007/	* V 4 3 0 A 6 r - A	+0/01	+0876	•1254	•0438	+0482
. 0504	. 0457	0470	+ 40/0	+ 0854	•0622	•0464	•0438	+0438	+0657
	• \0.11	+0438	+0438	+0701	+0482	.1139	.0618	.0876	.0439
								· · · · · · ·	

HIGHWAY LINE HAUL COSTS (CONT.)

.04	38 .07	34 01							
•06	57 .07	00 .00	108 •04	38 .04	56 .06	13			
.04	82 .07	01 +07	•07	66 ,0 5	30 .09	0.4 .0	100 100	345 .0 5	91 .0810
• 10	47 .03		83 11	23 .04	92	40 0.	• • 12	20 .07	75 .0626
.03	66 .07	66 04	0.3 .07;	32 .07	32 .07	30 .04	167 ·03	66 +05:	96 .0230
• 05:	16 .07	30 700 70 Am	42 +04:	21 .05	49 .07	42 107 62 An	.07	14 ,05;	20 .0399
+070	36 .040	ାନ କୁପ୍ର ଜଣ କୁସ୍	<u>≜6</u> +038	56 .06	15 .04	ua ,0∂ ⊃≊ ∧≃	66 .05	83 ,040	3 .0955
.108	51 .04	10 • 06	+054	17 .058	36 .05	au +03 54 - A-	66 .03	81 .051	2 .0415
.052	20 685	10 +053	23 .040	3 .051	36 JOD	aa ₊08 aa	40 +04	43 .067	3 .0417
•101	4 .023	·10/	10 .148	38 .0S:	20 050	38 •09 70 •	39 .04	03 .047	6 .0444
.083	12 Asra	+ 0555	51 . 052	0 .052	⁵ 0 .000	·4 +10	40 .10	40 .104	0 .1040
.054	1 032	4 .135	i2 •073	3 .104		.05	98 .076	80 .052	0 .0556
.062	9 60r	6 ,087	°4 •100	4 .070	ି ୦ ୦ (0 .05	50 *085	74 .050	
.057	2 010	• 059	'3 +150	8 .092	0 076	- 07	30 .083	32 .083	2 .0010
.091	~ •967 A AD4	o +058	·045	9 .023	······································	4 + 05	7 2 • 083	52 .140	A 1774
.048	G +07⊥ 7 ∧∿≊	5 +091	6 +089;	3 .045	0 +091 0 -040	5 +13:	lt .045	18 .050	4 Abiz
.0749	r +0++⊖ 9 ∧∞	9 •04S	8 ,073;	3 .050	······································	୍ତୁ •04 %	3 8 . 045	8 .048	7 40716 7 08000
.073	× • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•045	8 ,0478	5 .044	1 070	1 ,031	6 .091	6 .0459	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
.0733	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2 • 080.	1 .055/	1 .084	* •076 * •076	2 • 0 88	14 061	6 .084	2 +0408 2 0705
.0.192	- +L-233 - Arra-	-117	5 .0504	.059		4 +132	8 +081	1 .0455	+\\\\\\\\ \\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\
.0480	1 1003,	•0976	5 +0976	.007.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•048	8 ,078	1 .0974	+0004
.0974	+0735	•0531	.0732	.0485	•0978	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	2 +069;	3 .0517	· • 1397
.0459	•040E	•0488	• 0820	.0544	+0488	1 1078	1 +053;	7 .1020	+ 0488
.0944	+0903	+0732	+0781	.0781	· •0488	.050	8 •0483	3 .0820	+ 10288
.0495	+0398	•0537	.0781	111010	+0854	+059	3680* 0	3 10554	• U7 42
10405	+ 0852	•1219	.0426	.0.4.0	•1252	+053;	2 .0634	1 .0544	* 1 4 1 B 0 4 0 7
.0440	•0452	•0425	.0426	.0430	+0852	+085:	.0852	.0952	•0426
.0594	•1108	•0801	.0952	.0424	•0490	+0639	· 0426	.0424	•0831
.0794	+07.16	.0822	,0575	.0799	+0426	•0718	+0494	.0424	• 0882
.0554	+ 0.486	+1235	.0754	.0.400	+ 0639	+0682	+0382	.0745	• 9 4 4 3 A 12 4 42
.0886	+0081	•0440	+0704	.0296	+ 0469	+0682	+1150	.1097	+0010
.0440	+0880	•0858	+0625	.0444	+1209	+0440	• 0484	10000	• 10 9 6 9
.0510	•0430	•0704	.0484	.1144	+0440	• 0440	+0660	.050.4	+0880
+0010	+0440	• 0458	+0616	.0270	+0620	+0880	.0440	.0440	+ 1/660
.1189	•0220	•0532	.0810	.0502	+0849	•0594	+0814	.0640	+0/39
.0500	• 1129	• 0484	.0572	.0590	+12/6	•0779	.0629	.0494	*0704
0684	+0912	•0912	.0912	40912	+0458	• 0730	.0912	.1305	+0704
10454	+0324	+0684	.0456	10454	• 0889	•0649	.0483	.0454	+ 9406 0 467 /
.0844	+ 0456	.0766	,0529	10454	+0730	•0502	.1186	.0643	+0408
.0652	+ 0684	.0730	.0730	.0799	+04/4	+0338	•0765	10880	+ \(\Y_L)2
.0848	+0302	•0230	.1231	1120	+0552	.0839	+0520	1322	+0016
.0449	+ 1 < 1 3	•0424	+0466	.0840	•0502	•0593	+0541	.0470	•0807
1102	+0424	+0424	.0636	.0499	+0848	• 0848	.0848	.0827	• 00/8
.0712	•0598	•0848	.0424	.0424	• \0636	+0424	.0424	.0479	• 0602
.0407	•0318	+0572	+0784	.0437	+0712	•0492	.0424	.0441	+V466
.0476 .0476	•1230	.0750	.0606	• 00000 • 0222	•0678	•0678	.0742	.0517	•0594
.1050	+0529	•0846	+1058	.1514	+0678	•1145	+1088	.0444	+0780
.0520	1.032	·0751	+0561	10000	+ 0529	+0582	.1058	1050	+0051
10527 10500	•0846	•0582	.1375	10744	+0529	.0793	.0608	. 1707	+1058
+ 0027	•0550	+0741	+0889	1001	+105B	+0529	+0529	.0000	+0529
1397	+0540	+0973	.0603	1824	•0/14	•0979	+ 0293	.0244	+V614
. N902	+ 0582	•0688	+ 0635	12034	• 0936	.0756	+0582	. 00 4 2	• 0346
· //577	+0998	• 0998	.0996	• 0974	•0297	•0996	+1425	• 0040	+1428
. 6400	.0747	•0198	•0498	• V771 • 0707	.0707	+0528	.0498	.0495	• 0548
0787	+ 0837	•0578	+049R	· · · / / /	+0548	·1295	.0702	.0007	+9747
0540	•0797	.0797	+0871	• VJI 8 • NAA2	+0697	+0837	.0961	+ N770 . DX75	+049B
1171	•0797	.1345	+1277	+ VOV3	+ 0916	.0568	.1444	• VOZZ . ADO+	+0921
7471 0517	+0514	.0565	.1028	+ VO48 . 1000	+0647	.0656	.0514	• VØØJ 4035	•0712
VJ14 0705	+0514	•0771	.0591	+ エロごと - カツツィ	+1028	.1028	.1002	+ 9822	+1028
V/20 Agan	•1028	·0514	.0514	+ V / / <u>1</u>	+0514	.0514	.0822	+ UZ GU	.0545
1404	•0694	•0951	+0771	+V004 .0000	• 0596	.0514	.0535	+ V-J00	.1336
1971	.0910	•0735	.0565	• VB22	.0822	.0899	.0622	+0720	• 0864
			······································	• V O ALA	1388	.1318	+0565	· V790	• 0584
								• ~000	

.

•

٠.

12 0 4 5 5	1 0000	10 0100							
0.07402	. <u>6.</u> 82200	10+9120	3+4100	-19.5199	6+8500	7.5020	3,4100	3.4100	3.4100
3.4100	3,5805	5.5924	7.2292	6+8200	6+8200	10.2360	6.3085	5.1150	6.8200
6+8260	10,9120	7,5020	17,7320	5.4219	13.6400	6.8200	6,8200	4.5017	A. 274A
6.8200	6.6830	5.4560	4.5012	7.6497		7 0750	10 0200	10 0100	10 0100
4.9895	A. 1070	7 0552	1 2 2 4 9 4	4010707	040200	යිම 7 දේ යියි	10+2300	10+3150	10.41%0
	7 5001	017000	0+3420	17+7/30	4.1743	0+3/0/	7+2656	10,9120	18.4140
17+4703	X+2056	8+6996	6+6893	7.6800	15.5880	3.8400	21,9801	7.6800	8,4480
3+8400	3.8400	3.8400	3+8400	4.0320	6.2976	8.1408	7.6800	7.6800	11.5200
7.1040	5.7600	7.6800	7.4806	12,2880	6.4480	10 0406	2 1050	18 7400	
2.4900	5.0400	7 0604	7 6000	2 C (1 / 1 / 2		- 17 + 7000	0+1000	1043000	7+0000
11 0000	10.0000	- * 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	7 + 0000	Z + Q 2007	0+1940	0.0208	4+1088	0+3360	4.3150
1140200	14.2850	01300 ه اند ا	4+8000	6.8736	4.4544	7.1424	22+2720	4.7232	7,1808
044480	15.586	20,7360	-19*6665	8.4480	9,9840	8.1787	9,3900	15.0240	4.6950
26.8742	9.3900	10,3090	4.6950	4.6950	4.6950	4.3930	4.9297	2.6998	9.9934
9,3900	9,3900	14.0850	8.6852	7,6425	9.3900	9. 3900	15.0240	10 3000	- 0 A - A 1 A A
7.4450	18.7200	9.3000	0 2000	2 102a	0 2200	0 2000	1.0+02.40	- 10000870	24444
9.7077	7 7677		- 7+0700 - 1 A - 6084	- 0+J7/*	0+0383		¥ • ∠Q∠∠	7.0120	6+1974
0*0200	7 + 7 4 6 7	0.0772	14+0850	10+0240	15.0240	5,8687	8.4040	5.4432	8.7327
27+2010	5+7748	8.7798	10,3290	15.0240	25.3530	24+0853	10,3290	12,2070	7,7867
8.9400	14.3040	4.4700	25,5863	8,9400	9.8340	4,4700	4,4700	4.4700	4.4700
4,6935	7,3308	9.4764	8,9400	8,9400	13,4100	8,2495	6.7050	9.9400	9 9400
14.3040	9,8340	23.2440	7.1023	17 0000	0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0400	E 11004	0.0340	0.73400
8.7417	7.1206	S 0564	A 11/200		0.7400	0+7400	0+2004	0+2240	8+7400
	2 • L Q 2 Q	017004	4 • 7 G 2 · 4	Z+3Z00	5.1405	13+4100	14 + 3040	14.3040	5.5875
8.0012	0.1005	8+3142	25.9230	5,4981	8+3589	9+8340	14.3040	24.1380	22,9311
9,8340	11+6220	9+1716	10.5300	16.8480	5+2650	30.1369	10.5300	11.5830	5,2650
5.2650	5.2650	5.2650	5.5282	8.6346	11.1618	10.5300	10.5300	15.7050	0 74/10
7.8975	10.5300	10.5300	14.9490	11.6020	22 22220	0 224 7	- 10 + 00 4 V	40 6700	1 0 PTTOO
2 0400	0 10001	10 00000	40.0404		2713700	0+0/10	~1+0000	1012200	1010200
0+7470	7+00/0	10+0900	10+3194	8+4240	6+9498	5.6335	8.6872	6.0547	15,7950
10.8480	14+8480	6+5812	9.4243	6.1074	9.7929	30.5370	6.4759	9,8456	11.5930
16,8480	28.4310	27.0094	11,5830	13.6890	13.3873	15.3700	24.5920	7.4850	43,9889
15+3700	16.9070	7,3850	7.6850	7.6850	7.4850	8.0402	12.4034	12.0000	15 2200
15.3700	23.0550	14.2172	11.6075	15 7200	10.0000	- 010072. - 010 ED022	17 0020	30+2722	10:0700
30 2400	18 3200	- キワ・スエアム - 生料: フラハム	- 16 16 6 CF 62 7 CF 	1.0+0700		24+0720 	18+9070	34+7650	15.5181
10 /000	0.0700		4.1.1.4.4.2	14.1404	10+3700	12:00550	12,2960	10.1442	8,2229
1240002	8+83//	23+0550	54+9850	24.5920	9+6032	13.7531	8,9146	14.2941	44.0730
9+ 4 525	14.3710	13,9070	24.5920	41.4990	39,4240	13.9070	19,9810	9.6681	11.1000
17.7600	5,5500	31.7682	11,1000	12.2100	5.5500	5.5500	5.5500	5.5500	C 0000
2.1020	11.7630	11.1000	11.1000	1.4	10 0400	0 100000	14 1000		10 1 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
12.2100	20.0200	0 0048		11 10000	1012070	0.0200	11+1000	11+1000	17+1900
- D D D D D D D D	2 2010	0+0240	22-2000	11+1000	11+1000	7+3260	$10 \cdot 2120$	11.1000	10,8780
0.0000	1.0200	0.7380	9.1075	6.3825	16+6500	17,7600	17.7600	6.9375	9,9345
6 ,4580	10.3230	32.1900	6.8265	10.3785	12.2100	17.7600	29,9700	28.4715	12.2100
14,4300	9.4678	10,3700	17,3920	5.4350	31.1099	10.8700	11.9570	5.4350	5.4350
5,4350	5,4350	5.7037	8.9134	11,5222	10.8200	10.9200	14.3050	10 0042	0 1800
10.8300	10.8200	17.7000	11.0526	20 9200	0 2 44 2	- 107 07 00 - 107 07 00	10 0000	10+0047	0.01020
10 0004	10 0700	40 2502			0.0410	~1 < Z 4 0 0	10+8700	10.8700	7.1742
101 10000	10+0700	10+0120	0.0700	1+1/92	0.81.04	8.9677	6+2502	16,3050	17.3920
17+3720	0+//3/	A*\589	6+3046	10,1091	31,5230	6.6850	10.1635	11,9570	17,3920
29.3470	27,8815	11.9570	14.1310	3.4661	9.7200	15,5520	4+8600	27,8186	9,7200
10.6920	4+8600	4+8600	4,8600	4.8600	5.1030	7,9704	10.3032	9.7200	9.2200
14.5800	8,9910	7.2900	9.7200	9,7200	15.5520	10.4000	25 2220	777077	10 4400
9.7700	9.7200	4.4150	0 0100	0 7000	0 070020		A	7 • 7 4 7 4	17.4400
E ROOM	4 A 100000	10 - 000	40 0000	7+7200	7+0208	7+7760	6+4102	0+5005	8+0190
0+0070	14+0070	10.0020	10+0050	5.0700	8,6294	5.6376	9.0396	$28 \cdot 1880$	5.9778
A * 0.385	10+6920	13,5520	26,2440	24.9318	10.6920	12.6360	8.7361	10.0300	16.0480
5.0150	28.7059	10.0300	11+0330	5.0150	5.0150	5.0150	5.0150	5.2457	9.0044
10.6318	10.0300	10.0300	15.0450	9.2777	7.5225	10.0300	10.0300	14 0400	11.0220
26.0780	7,9739	20.0400	10 0700	10 0700	7 7 1 00	0 00000	10100000	0.04000	1100000
A 4100	5 7740	0 0747	10 10 0000	10:0300	0+01.20	7 • 21217 O	1010300	¥•82¥4	8.0240
0+0170	040000	0+2/4/	0+/6/2	10.0400	16.0480	16.0480	6,2687	8,9768	5.8174
7.5219	28.0810	5.1684	9,3780	11,0330	16.0480	27.0810	25.7269	11.0330	13.0390
13,9708	16+0400	25.6640	8.0200	45.9064	16.0400	17.3440	8,0200	8.0200	8.0200
8,0300	8+4210	13.1528	17,0024	16.0400	16.0400	24.0400	14.9770	12.0300	14.0300
16.0400	25.6640	17.6440	41.7040	19.7010	20.0000	**************************************	117 0370 117 0370	10 0000	
14.0400	16.7400	10 0200	10 607 4	12+7JJ0 0 mod 1		10.0400	10+0400	10+5864	14+7568
10 0000	A G + Z L Z Z	a.a.+03≾0 o no=n	10+0864	8+5814	13+2330	9,2230	24.0600	25,6640	25.6640
1010250	14+3558	_Y+3032	14.9172	46+5160	9+8646	14.9974	17.6440	25.6640	43,3080
41,1425	17.6440	20.8520	7,0638	8.1100	12,9760	4+0550	23,2108	B.1100	8,9210
4.0550	4.0550	4.0350	4.0550	4.2577	6.6502	8.5966	8.1100	8.1100	12.1450
7.5017	6.0823	8.1100	8.1100	12.9740	8,9210	21.0940	a. 1171	14 0000	
8.1100	5,3504	7.4410	0 1100	7 0 4 7 0 0	0 + 7 & 1 V	AT+0000	0+44/4	10+2200	8.1100
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	~~~~~~	1 4 MOLE	0+1100	7 + 7 4 7 3	0+4880	0+3026	4+3388	6+6907	4.6632

HIGHWAY LOADING & UNLOADING COSTS (CONT.)

12.1600	12,9730	12,9760	5.0382	7,2584	4.7039	7,5423	23.5190	4.9876	7,5828
8,9210	12.9730	21,8970	20.8021	8+9210	10.5430	7.4383	8.5400	13.6640	4,2700
-24.4415	8,5400	9.3940	4.2700	4+2700	4.2700	4,2700	4.4835	2.0028	9.0524
8.5400	8.5400	12,8100	7.8995	6,4050	8.5400	8,5400	13.6640	9.3940	27.2040
6,7893	17.0800	8,5400	8.5400	5.6364	7.8569	8.5400	9100402	- 4 070A	E 272A
4.5689	7.0455	4,9105	12.8100	13,6640	13.6640	5.3X725	7.4433	A 9520	- J+0-5-0* 7 0.400
24.7660	5,2921	2,9849	9.3940	13.6640	23.0500	01 0081	- 7+0+00 0 20AA	- ++ ¥JGZ - 11 + 5555	7.7422
7,8800	12.6080	2.9400	22.0524	2 0000	0 220A	201+7000 21-0020	7.0740	TT + T 0 50	0,8530
4.1320	ALAALA	e 7/200	- & & + GOLO 7 0055	7+0000	0+0000	3.9400	3+9400	3+9400	3.9400
12.4020	010010 0288 8	- 070020 - 96 4006	2+0000 2 07 47	15 7700	- UL+8200	7.2890	5.9100	Z+8800	7+8800
7.7004	- 610000 - 6 7040	- KV3 6000 - E 0600	0+2040	1.0+7600	7.88000	7.8800	5.2008	7+2496	7,8800
7 6554	4 8701	2 2000		6.5010	4+5310	11+8200	12+6080	12+6080	4.9250
0 7704	4+0704	- Z+3204 7 0700	- 25 + 8020	4.8462	2+3678	8+6680	12.6080	21,2760	20.2122
4 1000	10+2440	Z + 2080	8+3100	13+2960	4.1550	23.7832	8+3100	9.1410	4.1550
4.1000	0 7100	4+1550	4+3627	6+8142	8+8086	9.3100	8,3100	12.4650	7+8867
0+2020	8.3100	8.3100	13+2760	2,1410	21.6060	6.6064	16.6200	8.3100	8.3100
0.4846	7+6402	5.3100	8.1438	6.6480	5.4846	4+4458	6.8557	4.7782	12.4650
13.2960	13.2960	5.1937	7.4374	4.8198	7.7283	24.0990	5.1106	7,7699	9.1410
13.2960	22.4370	21.3151	9+1410	10,8030	7.9871	2.1700	14.6720	4,5850	26.2445
9.1700	10.0870	4.5850	4,5850	4,5850	4,5850	4.8142	7+5194	9.7202	9.1200
9.1700	13.7550	8,4822	6.8775	9.1700	9.1200	14.6720	10.0870	23.8420	7,2901
18,3400	9.1700	9.1700	6.0522	8.4364	9.1700	8.9865	7.3360	6.0522	4.9659
. 7.5632	5.2727	13,7550	14.6720	14.6720	5.7312	8,2071	5.3186	8,5281	24.5936
5.6395	8,5739	10.0870	14.6720	24.7590	23.5210	10.0870	11,9210	8.4752	0.01010
15.2360	4,9800	28.5055	9.9300	10,9530	4,9800	4.9800	A. 9200	A. 9900	5.0000
8.1672	10.5576	9.9600	9,9600	14,9400	9,2130	7.4200	9:9300	0.0400	15 0740
10.9560	25.8960	7,9182	19,9200	9,9400	9.9400	人、町フマム	0 1430	0 0200	0 7200
7.9680	5.5736	5,3286	8,2170	5.7270	14.9400	15.9320	119.0340	2 0000 2 00EC	7+7000
5.7768	9.2628	28.8840	A.1254	0.3107	10.95400	10+7000	10+7380	0002200	0+714Z
12,9430	8.4833	9.7400	15.5040	A. 0200	1V(700V 97 0766	10.7300	40+0720	20.0474	10.9000
4.8700	4.8700	S 11703	7 00/0	10 2020	0 2200	7•7400 0 7400	10+7140	4.8/00	4.8700
9.7400	9.7400	45.5046	10 2140	1010244	7.2400	- 9+7400 - 10 1000	14.0100	- 9+0095 - 9-0095	Z+3050
Q. 9459	9.7400	0 10/10/07/0	2 2022	2 ADOA	7 + 7 4 3 3	19.4800	Y + / 400	y + 2400	6.4284
15.5046	1 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	2012402	- / + / ¥ 20 E / A00	0+9209	0.2109	8.0355	5.6005	14.3100	15.5840
1010000	04V070	- 0 + 7 1 7 3	J+0472	9+0082	28+2460	5+9901	9+1069	10,7140	15,5840
17 /100	×4+7001	10.7140	12+0620	10+/830	15+3800	19,8080	6.1900	35.4315	12.3800
10.0180	911400	5.1900	6.1900	6+1900	6.4995	10.1516	$13 \cdot 1228$	12,3800	12.3800
18.3700	11.4515	2,2850	12.3800	12.3800	19,8080	13.6180	32.1880	9.8421	24.7600
15+3800	12,3800	8.1708	11,3896	12,3800	$12 \cdot 1324$	9.9040	8+1708	6.6233	10,2135
Z.1185	18:5700	19,8080	19,8080	7.7375	11.0801	2.1804	11.5134	35,9020	7.6137
11.5753	13.6180	19,8080	33,4260	31,7547	13.6190	16.0940	10.5914	12,1300	19.4560
6,0800	34.8019	12+1600	13,3760	6.0800	6.6800	6.0300	6.0800	6.3940	9.9712
12,8893	12,1600	12,1600	18,2400	11,2480	S+1200	12,1600	12.1600	19.4560	13.3760
31.6170	9.6672	24.3200	12.1600	12.1600	8,0253	11.1872	12.1600	11,9168	9.7290
8.0256	6.5058	10.0320	6.9920	18,2400	19.4560	19,4560	7.6000	10.8832	7,0528
11.3093	35.2640	7,4784	11.3696	13.3760	19.4560	32.8320	31.1904	13.3760	15,8020
11.2794	12,9500	20.7200	6.4750	37.0622	12.9500	14.2450	6.4750	6.4250	6.4750
6.4750	6+7982	10,6190	13,7270	12,9500	12,9500	19.4250	11.9787	9.7105	12.9500
12,9500	20.7200	14,2450	33,5700	10.2932	25.9000	12,9500	12,9500	8.5470	11.0140
12,9500	12.6910	10.3600	8.5470	6.9282	10.4837	7.0042	19.4250	20.2200	20 2200
8.0932	11.5902	7,5110	12.0435	32,5550	7.9640	12.1692	1A 0ASO	201 2200	2047200
33.2167	14.2450	16.0350	9.6132	0.2000	14 7000	A (000	1171290V	~0+720Q	34+7000
4,6000	4.6000	4.6000	4.3000	A.8700	7.5340	0 28.54	20+3304	7+2000	10.1500
8.5100	6.9000	9,2000	9.2000	14 7000	10 1000	7+7020 37 0000	2.2000	- Y+2000	13+8000
0.0000	A.0200	C AZAA	0 0000	2 11 × 7 2 0 0		23.7200	7:3140	18+4000	A+5000
17,0000	16 2000	- 0+3040 12 2004	7 + 2000	2+0100	Z • 3500	6+0720	4+9220	7.5900	5.2900
10 10000	1717200 1717000	10.000	J+7500	8+2340	0+3350	8.5530	26.6800	5.6580	8.3020
20+2200	エキャノスワリー 10.つののの	14 80400 11 9700	23.5780	10.1200	11.9600	8.9539	10.2800	16,4480	5,1400
モア・イスよう イム ハハハト	TA*%800	3.1.+3080	5.1400	5.1400	5.1400	5.1400	5.3970	8.4296	10,8968
1015890	10.2800	10.4200	9.0090	7.7100	10,2300	10,2800	16.4480	11.3080	26.7280
811728 6 4900	20.5600	10.5800	10.2800	6.7848	9:4576	10,2800	10.0744	8.2240	6.7848
0+4778	8+4810	5,9110	15,4200	16.4480	16.4490	6+4250	9.2006	5,9624	9.5604
29+8120	6.3222	9.6118	11.3080	16.4480	27.7560	26.3682	11.3080	13.3640	

APPENDIX E PROGRAM LISTINGS

•••

Each of the ten principal computer programs is summarized briefly below followed by a complete listing of seven of the programs.

ARCDEV

Program ARCDEV reads three sets of undirected arcs, one for each mode, along with the distance and speed associated with each arc. It constructs an ordered set of directed arcs (base arcs) along with the distance, time, and time variability associated with each mode on each base arc.

AINDUTI

Program AINDUTI reads the set of base arcs together with unit transport costs including line-haul, loading-unloading, forwarding, and intermodal transfer costs for each commodity, mode, and geographic region. From these, it develops an average cost (over all commodities) for each transport facility. It also develops commodity cost factors which can be used to translate these average costs into commodity specific costs.

MTREES

Program MTREES reads the average costs for all transport facilities and constructs three shortest path trees (one for each mode) for each node. It also stores the cost, time, and time variance associated with the shortest path between each O-D pair.

DETCIJ

Program DETCIJ estimates the cost of producing a commodity in each of its major production zones as well as in the four test zones. Cost includes the basic cost of raw materials, raw material transport cost, energy cost, labor cost, and cost of capital. Eight test commodities are

considered. The program also estimates single mode transport costs between current and potential commodity production zones and their most important markets. These costs are "total" transportation costs in the sense that they include cost, time, and time variance weighted by their respective modal split parameters.

HIJK

Program HIJK estimates the delivered costs of each commodity at its most important markets. Costs from current production zones as well as the four test zones are computed. No intermodal transport is considered.

MMTREE

Program MMTREE estimates commodity specific "total" transport costs for all transport facilities including line haul arcs, loading-unloading terminals, intermodal transfer terminals, and forwarding terminals. For each of the eight test commodities it then constructs shortest "total" cost trees for each major production zone and each of the four test zones. It also stores the "total" cost associated with the shortes path between each relevant O-D pair.

MMSPLT

Program MMSPLT splits the total flow between each production zonemarket zone pair identified by Program SEPFLOW. Flow is split among truck, rail, water, and the best multi-modal path (when it is distinct from a single modal path) through the use of a mode-abstract modal-split model.

MMLOAD

Program MMLOAD loads multi-modal flows of each of the eight test commodities onto the network. Flows in production tons and freight tons are given for each transport facility.

SLOAD

Program SLOAD loads single-mode flows for each of the eight test commodities onto the network. Output in same form as MMLOAD.

MMHIJK

Program MMHIJK estimates a revised delivered cost for commodities produced in each of the four test zones and delivered to each of the significant commodity markets. The revised cost is computed by allowing a portion of flow along the shortest multi-modal path.

PROGRAM ARCDEV

	PROGRAM INPUTA (IMPUT, OUIPUT, TAPES=INPUT, TAPEE=OUTPUT, TAPE1, TA	PE2,T
<u> </u>	+++PNTR(130) POINTER TO FIRST APCCEMANATING FROM A NODE, IN A	N
č	NR NÚMBER OF NODES READ IN, LIMIT 150 NGA(130,3) HODE GEOURAPHIC AREA, RANGES 3,6,5	
Č	RCO(753) AFC CRIGIN RCD(753) ARC DESTINATION	• •
C C	NARCSR NUMBER OF ARCS READ IN, LIMIT BLU NARCSG NUMBER OF ARCS CREATED, 2*NARCSE	
ç	RENAM NUMBER OF RAILFOAD NAMES RENAM(35) RAILFOAD NAME, ALPHAMERIC	
С С	LHD(700,3) LING HAUL AFC DISTANCE	•
č	LHCAP() LINE HAUL ARC CAPACITY, LANES, CAPACITY LHNAM(7:3,3,6) LINE HAUL ARC NAME, FORMAT GAS	
Ç.	RLHOTM (53,3) RAIL LINE HAUL COST PER TON MILE, FOR COMMOD'ITY (AND GEOGRAPHIC AREA G	N
ç	HLHOTM(53,23)HIGHWAY LINE HAUL COST RLDG(53,3) RAIL LOADING COST PER ION	•
	NNCR NUMBER OF NOUE CHARACTERISTICS FEAD IN, LIMIT 30	
č	LDT(3, 3) BASE LOADING TIME FOR HIGHWAY, RAIL, WATERWAY LDD(3, 3) BASE LOADING COST	
č	LDTV(30,3) PASE LOADING TIME VARIANCE TRC(3),6) HASE TRANSFER COSTEOR H-H,H-R,H-W,P-R,R-W,W-W	
Č.	TRT() BASE TRANSFER TIME TRIV() BASE TRANSFER TIME VARIANCE	
	INTLGER RCD(1000),RCD(1100),PNTR(130) DIMENSION NC(13.),PC3(100(.3)	
	DIMENSION RUI(1000,5), RU2(1000,5), TU1(50,4,4), TU2(50,4,4), &TC3(50,4,4) DIMENSION CLH'S(53,3), C. DCF(53,3)	
÷	DIMENSION NGA (130, 3) REAL LHD (130, 3) .LHT (1300, 3) .LHV (1000, 3)	
	DIMENSIÓN HLHČÍH(ŚŠ,ŹĴ),HLĎČ(ŚŠ,ŹĴ),ALĎČ(ŚŠ,3) DIMENSIÓN WLUC(53),ALHCTM(3,8),ALDCT(3,6)	
	REAL ITC (50,3),ITT (50,3),ITTV (50,3) REAL LOT(50,3),LOTV(50,3),LOC (50,3)	
	DIMENSION REPUBLICATION (6347)988(44) INTEGER X(32)9Y(32) Deta Vilado 1420 A420 A420 A450 A460 A460 A460 A460	
10	1Y/12+1,442,12+3/ FORMAT(AFTS)	
20 30	FCRMAT(17,3%,A1) FCRMAT(515,6A5)	
40 - 50	FCRMAT(23X)F10.4) FORMAT(4, I2)	
60 74	FORMAT(14, 7A1.) FORMAT(14, 18A5)	
75 81	FURMAT (410+F1+++) FURMAT (11F8+4) FORMAT (4F7+++)	
86 96	E D2MA+(3):12+*/ E D2MA+(3):12+*) E D2MA+(3):10:	
- 95 - C* * *	FORMAT(213,9F1),2) ***REAU SEDGRAPHIC ZONE IDENTIFIERS, TECH PUNCHED CARDS, TAPE2	
-	REAJ(2+10)NR N31=4R+3+1	
105	00 105 I=1,116 REAU(2,10)IA,(NGA(I,J),J=1,3)	di i i
	IF (NGA (I,1),LI.0,CF.NGA (I,1),GT.81NGA (I,1)=8	
	IF (NGA (I,2),L2,,0?,NGA (I,2),GT,3) NGA (I,2)=3 IF (NGA (I,3),L2,3, OF,NGA (I,3),GT,5) NGA (I,3)=1	
106	CUNFINUL HEAD(2,11) NNCE SAG(2,11) NNCE	
C***	**RSAD RCD, RCD, LHJ, LHJ, LHJ, NARGSC B ADIS, SD, NARGSC	
	<pre>READ(1,95) (&CO(I), &CD(I), (LHD(I,J),LHT(I,J),LHV(I,J), 1J=1,J),I=1,NA*CSC)</pre>	•
	READ(1,10) (PNTR(1), I=1,NE)	

· C++++RE	AO LINE HAUL COST PARAMETERS
RE	AU(3,50)XA AU(3,50)((KLHCTM(I,J),I=1,53),J=1,3)
RE	AU(3,5J)XA AU(3,5J)((HLHCTM(I,J),I=1,53),J=1,23)
RE	A0(3,8))XA A0(3,80)((A100(1,0),1=1,53),J=1,3)
RE	AO(3,90)XA AO(3,52)((HLOC(I,J),I=1,53),J=1,23)
	READ(3,81) XA READ(3,87) ALHCTM
	READ(3,80) XA READ(3,80) (WLDC(I),I=1,53)
C*+***ES	STIMATE THE AVERAGE LINE HAUL COST/TCN-NILE ID THE AVERAGE LOADING-UNLOADING COST/TON
-C FC	DR EACH MODE IN EACH REGION DTEI MATER /TON-HR.
С С#+* +* Н н	
	DO 100 I=1,3 DO 112 J=1,8
	ALHCTM(I,J)=0. _ALQCT(I,J)=0.
110 CC 100 CC	INTINUE INTINUE
•	DO 565 I=1+8 DO 510 J=1+53
	ALHCTM(1,I)=ALHCTM(1,I)+HLHCTM(J,I) ALDCT(1,I)=ALDCT(1,I)+HLDC(J,I)
510 CO	ALHCTM(1+I)=ALHCTM(1+I)/53.
500 00	ALDČT (1, I) = ALDČT (1, I) /53.
C******	
	DO 520 I=1,3
	ALHCTM(2,I)=ALHCTM(2,I)+RLHCTM(J,I)
530 CO	
500 00	ALOCT (2, 1) = AL DCT (2, 1)/53.
07 + + + + W A	ALHGIM(3,1)=WLHCTM
	ALDCT (3,1)=ALDCT (3,1)+WLDC (J)
550 CO	ALOCT (3,1) = ALOCT (3,1)/53.
C C	ITTWAT CORMUNITY LINE-HAUL AND COMMODITY
	00 551 1=1.03 00 552 J=1.3
	CLHCF(I,J) =
552 CO	CLDCF(I,J)=U. NTINUE
551 CO	NTINUE DJ 564 I=1+53
С С****	Ŷ
сı.	D0 561 J=1.8 HCE(I.1)=CLHCE(I.1)+HLHCTM(I.J)/ALHCTM(I.J)
561 00	CLOCF(1,1)=CLOCF(1,1)+HLOC(1,J)ZALOCT(1,J) NTTRUE
	CLHCF(I,1)=CLHCF(I,1)/9.
C	000000000000000000000000000000000000000
U PRK	
EE2 00	CLOCF (1,2)=CLDCF (1,2)+RLDC (1,J)/ALDCT (2,J)
902 UU	(I, 2) = (I, 2) = (I, 2)/3,
C	UEUUR (1,27=UEUUR (1,27)). TCC
<u>, U⊤ + = т т и А</u>	CLHCF(I+3)=1.
560 <u>C</u> O	ULUGF(1,3)=4LOG(1)/4LUG((3,1) NTINU1 NTINU1
Q0	EATE LINE HAUL COSTS AND TRANSFER COSTS 44_ J=1+NARCSC
I A I B	=RCO(J) =RCD(J)

C# # # :	++HIGHWAY ARCS
	IC=NGA(IA,1)
	19=NGA(18+1) YE=10, HOTHIS, TOX+018CTHIS, TDX1/2
	RC1(J,1)=LHJ(J,1) *XE
• ••	RC2(J,1)=LHT(J,1)
C#+#-	RUSUJ1)=LHVUJ1) PRATI AVCS
	IC=AGA(IA,2)
	ID=16A(18,2)
	X 1 = (ALHO) 3 (2 + 10) + ALHO N (2 + 10) 7 / 2 R (1 (2) =) H (1 + 2) + X / 2
· • •	RC2(J,2) = LH1(J,2)
	RC3(J+2) =LHV(J+2)
0+++	**#A162WAY_A465 60177.339=00071.39+000073
	RC2(J, 3) = LHT(J, 3)
	RC3(J,3) = LHV(J,3) = LHV(J,3)
-440 C###	**PREPARE FOCDI.EDIV.IIC.III.IIIV
v	00 231 I=1 ANCR
	1 = 1 + 1 = 1 + 3
	10717.00 10717.00 m
	LOTV(1,J)=0.
	i stin t ilič(i+) ,≕i • storeno storeno nemo nemo nemo storeno nemo storeno store
	11月11日1日1日日
232	CONTINUE
231	CONTINUE CONTINUE CONTINUES C
C.	KALEST V
6	READ(4,80) TLT, TLV, TIC, TIT, TIV
	00.233 I=1,NACR
	J≈X(I) LDC(I_1)~AEDCI(1,1)/2
	CD0(141)-MCD0((140)/2+
	TTC(1,1)=110
	$\mp i \uparrow \Lambda (1) = i \mp \Lambda$
277	PONITHU-
233 C	CONTINUE
233 C C***	CONTINUE **RAIL
233 C C***	CONIINU: **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV,(FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIRT,BIRV DO 993 I=1,NNCP
233 C C***	CONIINU: **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV,(FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIRT,BIRV D0 993 I=1,MNCR J=Y(I)
233 C C***	CONIINU: **RAIL READ(4,80) RLT,RLV,(FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIRT,BIRV DO 993 I=1,9NCR J=Y(I) L9C(I,2)=4L9CT(2,J)/2.
233 C C***	CONTINU: **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV,(FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIFT,BIRV DO 993 I=1,MNGR J=Y(I) LOC(I,2)=ALDCT(2,J)/2. LOT(I,2)=ALT LOT(I,2)=RLV
233 C C#***	CONTINU: **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV,(FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIET,BIRV DO 99A I=1,MNCR J=Y(I) LOC(I,2)=ALDCT(2,J)/2. LOT(I,2)=ALT LOTV(I,2)=RLV CONTINUE
233 C C**** 998	CONTINU: **RAIL READ(4,80) RLT,RLV,(FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIET,BIRV DO 99A I=1,MNCR J=Y(I) LOC(I,2)=ALOCT(2,J)/2. LOT(I,2)=CLT LOTV(I,2)=CLY CONTINUE 20 224 I=1,3
233 C**** 998	CONTINU: **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV, (FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIET,BIRV DO 993 I=1,NNCR J=Y(I) LDC(I,2)=ALDCT(2,J)/2. LDT(I,2)=CLT LOTV(I,2)=FLV CONTINU: DO 254 I=1,3 DU 255 J=1,4 T=(I-1)+4+1
233 C * * * * 998	CONTINU: **RAIL READ(4,80) RLT,RLV, (FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIET,BIRV DO 993 I=1,MNCR J=Y(I) LOC(I,2)=ALDCT(2,J)/2. LOTV(I,2)=ALT LOTV(I,2)=FLV CONTINU: DO 235 J=1,4 I1=(I-1)+4+J ITC(I1,2)=31FC+FR(J)
233 C * * * * 998	CONTINU: **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV, (FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIET,BIRV D0 993 I=1,MNCR J=Y(I) LOC(I,2)=ALOCT(2,J)/2. LOTV(I,2)=RLV CONTINUE 00 234 I=1,4 D0 235 J=1,4 I1=(I=1)*4+J ITC(I1,2)=SIFC+FR(J) ITT(I1,2)=SIFC+FR(J)
233 C*** 998	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C * * * * 998 235 234	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C * * * * 998 235 234	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C * * * * 998 235 234 C * * *	CONTINUE **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV, (FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIET,BIRV D0 993 I=1,9NGR J=Y(I) LOC(I,2)=ALOCT(2,J)/2. LOTV
233 C**** 998 235 234 C***	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C**** 998 235 234 C***	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C * * * * 998 235 234 C * * *	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C * * * * 998 235 234 C * * *	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C**** 998 235 234 C***	CONTINUE **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV, (FR(I),I=1,4), BIRC, BIRT, BIRV DO 993 I=1, MNCR J=Y(I) LOC(I,2)=ALOCT(2,J)/2. LOTV(I,2)=RLV CONTINUE 00 235 J=1,4 I1=(I-1)*4+J ITC(I1,2)=RIRT+FR(J) ITT(I1,2)=RIRT+FR(J) ITTV(I1,2)=RIRT+FR(J))**2 CONTINUE **WATER RTAD(4,80) WLT,WLV,WIC,WIT,WIV DO 235 I=1,NNCR LDC(I,3)=KLOCT(3,1)/2. LDTV(I,3)=WLV ITC(I1,3)=WLV ITC(I1,3)=WLV ITC(I1,3)=WLV ITC(I1,3)=WLV ITC(I1,3)=WLV ITC(I1,3)=WLV ITC(I1,3)=WLV ITC(I1,3)=WLV ITC(I1,3)=WLV
233 C**** 998 235 234 C****	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C*** 998 235 234 C***	CONTINUE **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV, (FR(I),I=1,4), BIRC, BIRT, BIRV D0 993 I=1, MNCR J=Y(I) LOC(I,2)=4LOCT(2,J)/2. LOTV(I,2)=2LT ONTINUE 00 254 I=1,3 OU 255 J=1,4 I1=(I-1)*4+J ITC(I,2)=3FC*FR(J) ITT(I,2)=3FC*FR(J) ITT(I,2)=8FRT*FE(J) ITTV(I1,2)=(BIRV*FR(J))**2 CONTINUE CONTINUE CONTINUE **WATER ETAD(4,85) WLT,WLV,WIC,WIT,WIV D0 235 T=1,NNCR LOT(I,3)=4LOCT(3,1)/2. LOTV(I,3)=WLV ITC(I,3)=WLV ITC(I,3)=WIV CONTINUE CONTINUE CONTINUE CONTINUE D0 430 J=1,NNCR
233 C*** 998 235 234 C*** 236	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C**** 998 235 234 C***	<pre>CONTINU: **RAIL</pre>
233 C**** 998 235 234 C***	CONTINUE **RAIL
233 C*** 998 235 234 C***	CONTINUE **RAIL
233 C*** 998 235 234 C*** 236	CONTINUE **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV, (FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIET,BIRV D0 994 I=1,MCR J=Y(I) LOC(I,2)=4LOCT(2,J)/2. LOTV(I,2)=CLT LOTV(I,2)=CLT LOTV(I,2)=CLT UO 234 I=1,4 I1=(I-1)*4+J ITC(I1,2)=3FC*FR(J) ITTC(I1,2)=3FC*FR(J) ITTV(I1,2)=CBIRV*FR(J))**2 CONTINUE **WATER READ(4,80) MLT,WLV,WIC,WIT,WIV D0 235 I=1,NNCR LOC(I,3)=4LOCT(3,1)/2. LDT(I,3)=WIT ITTV(I,3)=WIT ITTTCTTCTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT
233 C**** 998 235 234 C*** C***	CONTINUE **RAIL RCAD(4,80) RLT,RLV, (FR(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIET,BIRV D0 994 I=1,NNCR J=Y(I) L9C(I,2)=4L9CT(2,J)/2. L9T(I,2)=4L9CT(2,J)/2. L9T(I,2)=4L9 CONTINUE 00 235 J=1,4 I1=(I-1)+4+J I1T(I1,2)=31FC+FR(J) I1T(I1,2)=31FC+FR(J) I1T(I1,2)=31FC+FR(J))**2 CONTINUE **WATER READ(4,80) NLT,WLV,WIC,WIT,WIV D0 235 I=1,NNCR L0C(I,3)=4L9CT(3,1)/2. L9T(I,3)=WLV ITC(I,3)=WIV CONTINUE **WATER READ(4,80) NLT,WLV,WIC,WIT,WIV D0 425 I=1,NNCR IC(J,1,1)=- IC(2(J,1,1)=- IC(J,1,K+1)=L0C(J,K) IC(I,K+1,1)=C(I,K) IC(I,K+1)=C(I,K)
233 C*** 998 235 234 C*** 236	CONTINUE **RAIL
233 C*** 998 235 234 C*** 236	<pre>CONTINUE **RAIL</pre>
233 C*** 998 235 234 C*** 236	<pre>CONTINUE **RAIL</pre>
233 C**** 998 235 234 C*** 236	<pre>CONTINUE **RAIL</pre>
233 C**** 9938 235 234 C*** 236	CONTINUE **RAIL
233 C**** 998 235 234 C*** 236 420	CONTINUE **RAIL F_CAD(4,80) RLT,RLV,(FF(I),I=1,4),BIRC,BIFT,BIRV D0 99A I=1,NHOR J=Y(I) LOC(1,2)=ALOCT(2,J)/2. LOT(I,2)=ALOCT(2,J)/2. LOT(I,2)=ALOCT(2,J)/2. LOT(I,2)=FLV CONTINUE OD 235 J=1.4 I1=(I-1)+4+J ITC(II,2)=SIFC+FF(J) ITT(I1,2)=SIFC+FF(J))**2 CONTINUE CONTINUE **HATEX F_CAD(4,80) WLT,WLV,WIC,WIT,WIV D0 235 I=1,NHC2 LOC(I,3)=ALOCT(3,1)/2. LOT(I,3)=HUT LOT(I,3)=HUT ITC(II,3)=WLV ITC(I,3)=WLV ITC(I,3)=WLV ITC(I,3)=WLV CONTINUE CONTINUE CONTINUE CONTINUE CONTINUE CONTINUE **HATEX F_CAD(4,80) WLT,WLV,WIC,WIT,WIV D0 235 I=1,NHC2 LOC(I,3)=ALOCT(3,1)/2. LOT(I,3)=WLV ITC(I,3)=WIV CONTINUE CO

412	D0 412 K=1,3 TC1(J,K+1,K+1)=ITC(J,K) TC2(J,K+1,K+1)=ITF(J,K) TC3(J,K+1,K+1)=ITTV(J,K) CONTINUE D0 6C1 K=2,4 D0 6C1 L=2,4 IF(K,cQ,L) C0 TO 601 IC1(J,K,L)=(IC1(J,K,1)+TC1(J,1,L))*.8
601 600	TC2(J,K,L)=(1C2(J,K,1)+[C2(J,1,L))*.5 TC3(J,K,L)=(TC3(J,K,1)+[C3(J,1,L))*.8 CONTINU: CONTINU:
430 C**** C****	CONTINUE *WRITE RESULTS ON TAPE7 *WRITE INPUT DATA ON TAPE7 WRITE(7,9) JOUMV WRITE(7,9) JOUMV WRITE(7,9) JOUMV WRITE(7,9) JOUMV WRITE(7,9) JOUMV WRITE(7,9) JOUMV WRITE(7,9) JOUMV WRITE(7,9) JOUMV
· · · · · ·	WRITE(7,33)PNTR IDUMV=IDUMV+1 WRITE(7,3)IOUNV WRITE(7,32)CO IDUMV=IDUMV+1 WRITE(7,3)ICO IDUMV=CO IDUMV=CO IDUMV=10UMV+1 WRITE(7,3)ICUMV WRITE(7,3)CDCF IDUMV=IDUMV+1
• • • • • •	WRITE(7,99)1004V WRITE(7,65)CLHCF IDUMV=IDUMV+1 WRITE(7,9))IDUMV WRITE(7,9))ICUMV WRITE(7,9)ICUMV WRITE(7,9)ICUMV WRITE(7,9)ICUMV WRITE(7,9)ICUMV WRITE(7,9)ICUMV WRITE(7,9)ICUMV WRITE(7,9)ICUMV
	NRITE(7,9,) IDUMV WRITE(7,9,) IDUMV

PROGRAM MTREES

	PROGRA Atapeg)	MITR	EESCINF	001 . 001	IPUT,T.	APE5=1	NPUT,	TA PE 6=1	ου τρυ τ	, TAPE7	TAPE8,
	INTEG: DIMENS	R RC	0(1099) NG (131)	,RCD()	LQ Cx 🗼 I	PNTRC	.30)	• •	· • ·		
	DIMENS	ĪÓN	201(1)	16.3).f	202(10)	a 12 4 3 1 4	TC1(5	c , 4 , 4)	102 (5	3,4,4),	,
	INTEGE	<u>e</u> tr	10(391)	TRND,	(391)	TREC	391),(LI (1 36	131		
	DIMENS DIMENS	10N 10N -	ILE (130 IRNOL(3	:•31•11 :91•31•	1786851 178685	3 , 3) , (391 , 3	9 • TRT9	(131,3) RL (391	, ,3)		
	DIMENS COMMON	ION (ZB1.	DE HG <i>ë</i> (9 7 - Entre	53,3),(900,80	CL DCF (' 10 • TP N	57,3)).tent	1.J. TERI	C. TRNOI	L NC . 1).715.1	енн
10	COMMON	/R1	z, ta iké	., TLEEF	ITLET:	103	RC3				
20	FORMAT		5×,41.)								
40	FORMAT	(23 <u>x</u>)	F16.4)								
50 60	FORMAT	(1日) (1日)	2) 7A19)								
70 - · 75	FORMAT	(1H) (415)	1845) (11.4)						·· ·	• = -,	
80 85	FORMAT	(13F) (8F)	3 • • • •								
86	ECRMAT	(9F1)	(. 3)					• • •••		• • •	а алай
C++++	READ	DATA	FROM T	APE7						•	
	READUT	,93). ,93))	LOUMV NR+NARC	SC.NNC	R,N31	·····.					
	READ (READ (7.931 7.951	IDUMV NC							,	
	READ (7,901	Î DU MV						•.	•	· · ·
	READ	2,961	IOUNV								
	READ (7,911	IDUHV			,					
	READ (7+931 7,991	IDUMV-				· · - ·				ing an an an a' chuine. Tha
	REAU () READ ()	7,85) 7,90)	CLOGE 1 BUMV	,							
	READ (7 85)	CLACE CHINN		•	• • • • •		•			
	READ	7, 55)	6.61 6.61								•
···	READ	(, 30)	402		··· .				· · ·		
	REA REA	AD(7, AD(7,	9.1 10 351 KG	194V उ							
•	READ () READ ()	7,95) 7,85)	TC1								
	READ	7 . 3.)	100MV	•							*
•	READ ()	7 , 9, j	1504A								
C*****	LATEO	1.1351	103 155 508	EACH	ORIGIN	AND	EACH	MODE,	EACH	ORIGIN	
U++++*	1004V=3	1 2 5 - A 9 3 4 4 3	19091 1	441.0 1	© = €нан	ACTER	WUEDS				
•	00 505	=8 NOD2	=1.NQ					· .			1 (1 1 1 1 1 1
	IF TNL #100	(ช่ออิยิ มะ	• GT + 52) IT=9							
	M0=1				74 THE	MO D		TC 2 T			· . · ·
		15710	431 431	NUSU IN	5 1 9 1 186	• "U • K	029501		0 1 1		
	TENOL (]	(, <u>)</u> =	TENOL C	1,2)		•					[*]
	IFNOL() IV=TRLH	[+2)= (L(I+	11								
	T T L GA / 1		T = (115 4	7 21							
	TREAL (IV IV	1121							
	IV=IKIN TRIRL(I	(L(1) [)1)=	1) Tetel(I,2)				· · · · · · · ·	;	··· ·	
330	TRIRE() DO 316	[,2)= [=::	IV								
•	ÎV=ÎLE ((1.2)					•••••			
		i ji ji v									
	TLELH(I	n () +	fleise	1,2)		· · ·			·· •		
	TIVETLET	,2)= (I,	1V 1)			•				• •	*
310	TLETR(I TLETR(I	,1)= ,2)=	ILLTRE IV	1,2)							
· ·	İ9ŬMV=Î	ŲŪ MV	∔ δ ΣΩΕΜΑΥ			,				,	i
	784FE14	1970	1 TO OU A		•						Į

119
1381	00 1081 J=1,N31 WRITE(IT,90) TENO(J),TRNDJ(J WRITE(IT,90) IDUMV DO 10821 F1,80	1, TRRC (J)
1082	WRIT2(IT,92)(LI(J,I),I=1,8) WRIT2(IT,92)I0U'V	
1083	WRITE(IT, =0)(TL:(U,1),I=1,3), (TLELH(J.I), I=1,3), (TLETF(J.I),I=1,3)
	TOALL MYSPIC(NE, NAECSC, N31, I	NA +MU+RC1+RC2+TC1+TC2+
	WRITE(IT, 90) IOUSV DD 1634 Jat-NS1	
1084	- WŘIŤŠ(ÍIT, 3Č)ŤĚŇD(J),TRNDJ(J - WRITE(IIT, 33)IOUMV),TRPC(J)
1085	- BO 1095 J≃1,88 - WRITE(IT,99)(LI(J,I),I=1,8) - WRITE(IT,9) TDU49	
1086	BO 1586 J=1.NP WRITE(IT, 36)(TLE(J,I),I=1,3), (TLEEH(J,I), I=1,3), (TLETR(J,I),I=1,3)
400 500	CONTINUE CONTINUE	
	ENDFILE 9 ENDFILE 9	
к.	END SUBSOUTING MMSPIC (N.NARGS.N	31.TNA.MO.RC1.RC2.TC1.TC2)
C****	**MULTIMODAL SHORTEST PATH FO **PROGRAMMED BY 5. SHAPP.SCHD	UTINI, USING MOORE TYPE TREE BUILDING OL OF ISYE, GEORGIA TECH, APPIL 1977
°Č***≁ C	**ARĞŪMĖNTŠĖFCR ŠPRČIF1CŪŠEĖ INA start node	ÁŘĘ
C C++++	MO MODE USED MMODAL REPRESENTATION IS ACH	IEVED SY (NODE,NODE MODIFIER):
ç	-MOD=1: SHIP.CEISINATION M MOD=3: MCDE 2 INHOUND M	OD=2: FECEIVE, DESTINATION OD=4: MODE 2 OUTBOUND CD=4: MODE 2 OUTBOUND
Ç****	MODES: HODE 3 INSOUND M MELINE HAUL ARCS AND RETWEEN	CORST MODE 3 COTRONNE LIC.
	TRANSFER AND FORMARDING AFG	12021,000-31991,417 S ARE BETNEEN 21002 - 300-6-6-
č	LOADING ARCS ARE (NODE, 400=	1) TO (NODE, MOD=4,6,) D=3.5) TO (NOD5, MOD=2)
Č***# C	**VARIABLE DINERSION AFGUMENT HU4206 OF 1000	S S S (MODIFIERS SUPPEISSED)
Č C	NARCS NUMBER OF LINE NAS AUMPIR OF NODE	HAUL ARCS (MCDES SUPPRESSED)
C C	NHD1 NUMBER OF KODE NB1 N 3 + 1	S - 1
*		
Ç****	*INPUTTED DATA ARPAYS	CONTRO TO FIRST AND ROOM NODE
Č ·		IN AN ORDERED ARE LIST
Č.	POU(JAROS) DOU(JAROS)	APC DESTINATION NOCE CHARACTERISTIC FUR TRANSFOR COSIS
č	RC1 (NARCS, HMD1)	ACC ATTRICUTZ USED FOR FINDING PATH: FATL: DISIANCE, AUJUSTED BY ZONE, CLASS
Č		MOTON: FIME Matika distance, Adjusted
C C	RO2.(NARUS.MMU1)	ARC ATTRIBUTE CASPIED ALONG IN ALG
C		MOTOR: DISTANCE, AUJUSTLD WATER: TIME
ç	TC1 (NNC, NMC, NMD)	NOUS ATTRIBUTE USED FOR FINDING PATH: RAIL: ADJ. COST CONVERTED TO DISTANCE
č		WATERA ADJ. COST CONVERTED TO DISTANCE
Č C		FAILT TIME, TIME, VAFIANCE KGTGE: 404. COST COUV. TO DISTANCE.
č		TIME VARIANCE WATER: TIME, TIME VARIANCE
Č*+** C	*OUTPUTTED DATA ALFAYS TRND(N*2*(040))	TREE NODE
C C	TRNOJ() 19901 (),1)	TREE NODE MODIFIER NODE LABEL FOR CRITICAL ATTRIBUTE
ç	TRADL(,2),TPROL(,3) TRAC()	NODE LABELS FOR OTHER ATTRIBUTES AFC TO TRUE NODE, NOTE CONVENTION
		LINE HAULT TERU IS ARU NUMURE TRANSFER I TERU IS PREVIOUS TRADJ DOSTITOU IN TRES OF TRADE MODIFIERD
č	TL2(.1)	VALUE OF CRITICAL ATTEIBUTE FROM
-		VALUES OF DINCH ATTAINED

_ Č*****	EXPLANATION OF OTHER VARIABLES	
C C	SCAR CUERENT SCANNER POSITION	
Č	TEMPL TEMPORARY LASEL	
č	NA NODE FROM WHICH BRANCHING OCCURS	
Č	NAJ WA MODIFIER	
Č	NB ROUE REING CONSIDERED FOR LABELING NBI NB MODIFIER	
_ Č++++	DECLARATIONS	
	INTEGER FLOTING, FRONTLIN, PNTRIISG) ATMENSTAN NA (131)	
	DIMENSION RO1(1000,3), RO2(1000,3), TC1(50,4,4), TC2(50,4,4),	
8	(103(50,44,4),903(1235,3) TNT (029 (14ND (221),19ND (1391),1980(391),11(13(.8)	
· · · · ·	DIMENSION TLE (130, 3), TLELH (130, 3), TLETR (130, 3)	· · · · ·
	DIMENSION TRADU(391.3),FREHL(391.3),TRTRE(391.3) DIMENSION TEMPERATION	
	INTEGER TRL, SCNP	
•	COMMON Z31Z PRIR,RCO,ECO,ERNO,ERNO,ERNOJ,ERCO,ERNVE,NU.LI,EE,ERCU Common Z31Z IRTRE.EEFEH.EEFER.TC3.RC3	L
C*****	ZEROLOUT WORKING ARRAY	
	00 10 J=1,8 00 10 J=1.N	
10		
6+++++	LABEL URIGIN NOUE TRE=1	
	ŚCNR=1	- ••••
	TEND(1)=INA TEND((1)=1	
	00 5 I=1,3	
-	TRNDL(1,1)=3. TRIMI(1,1)=5.	
5		•
	TRRC(1)=6	
· C* + + ++	INITIALIZE NA AND NAJ	
	NA=INA	
100	IF (NAJ.EQ.2) GO TO 170	
*****	IF (MOD (MAJ, 2), ED. ()GO TO 139 () () () () () () () () () (
C****	GUESIDER TRANSFER ARG NUW GRECK FOR PERHANENT LAREL•TEMPORARY LABEL	
-		
C****	COMPARE TEMPORARY LARCES	
	NCNA=NC(NA)	
	NAMENNAJELIZZ N9MEMU E 1	
	TEMPL(1)=TPMOL(SCHP+1)+TC1(NCNA+NAM+NGM)	
	TEMPL(2)=(*RUL(SUNX;2)+(RUL)A4MAM+NEM) TEMP((3)=(?RUL(SUNX;2)+(RUL)A4MAM+NEM)	
	TL(4) = TRTPL(SUNA,1) + TC1(NONA, NOM, NOM)	
	TE (5) # TRIAL (SUAR, 27 + 162 (ACMA, NAM, NAM) TE (6) # TRIAL (SUAR, 31 + 163 (NOMA, NAM, NAM)	
	00 99 I=1,3	
C*****	REANCHING IMPLIES NODE UNLABELED	
•	IF (LI(NA, 23J), 20.0)50 TO 120	
C****	NP HEILINA,NOUT NEXT THO PRAMUBINGS IMPLY NEW LASSI DOMINATED	
Ū	IF (TEMPL (1) . GT . TRNOL (NP, 1)) GO TO 105	
C****	IF (IEMPE(I),EN,TRINDENNY,IJ,ANDENNGENGENAMJOU (U 105) UPDATE TAMP FAREL NOW	. •
	00 111 I=1,3	
	TRNDL(NP+1)=1:MPL(I) TPTP:(NP.T)=T)(3+T)	1
111	TREHE (NP, I) = TE (I)	
	TRRC(NP)=NAJ Go to 105	a a
C*++*+	LĂBEL ÛNEABELEB NODE	
120	TRNNTRL+1 TRNNTRL+1	
	TRNOJ(TRL)=HeJ	
	00 112 1=1,3 TRN06 (TAL.T)=T-MPL(T)	••
	TRTE(TRL,I)=(L(3))	
112	TREHE(146,1)#TE(1) TREA(TRE)=NAS	
	LI (NA, NBU) = TEL	
135	CONTINUE Constant du grand arc. Nom	
C* * * * *	CHECK FOR PERMANENT LABEL, TEMPORARY LABEL	
	NUJEZ TEZLIZANA UDIN LE, SCHPLAND, LIZANA NEIN NE ANGO TO 4400	

C****	*Cone	PARE	E T	EMP	0E	٩RY	' L	ABE	E L 5	;											
	TEM		() = (180	9L	<u>(5</u> 0	NE	•1)	+ <u>I</u>	Ç1	9	NÇ	NA.	•N#	(H+)	181	<u>,</u>		· .		
	TEMP TEMP	パレ (A PL ()	2)= 3)=	1 KH TRN	いし	130 (30	111 N 2	, 21	+ +]	1,2 1,6	: () 5 ()	NC I NC I	NΑ	• 14 A • 14 A	(`1•! (:f•!	지안에서 지근역 1	}				
	TL (+) = 1	្រុ	RL (şê	N 44 10	1)	+ T (3		ų.	ň., ;	NA Na	9,1 4.1	189 1381	}					
	ŢĹ	5) = 1	[Èt	ξļί	Sč	Ν,	31	+10	5	ĸĊ		Α,	NA	4.1	5.4	ý –					
98		13 1 () = 1	[=1 २८१	•3 HL (sc	NR.	1)														
							-														
														_							
C++++	•BPAN IF(L	1041	EHG VA	μ <u>ι</u> Lθν	PL N.	1. S	5 N 5 D	002 00	τŭ	INL 1 1	2	90 I 5	- 5.1	J							
	NP ≃ ≉NEXT	:LI(1 k	(NA) Vo	• NB 3 P L	J) Latio	н тм	iss	TN	PI	Ŷ	N	:W	1.1	5 R F	n i	าดหา	Γ Ν Δ'	TED.			•
•	ĨĔ	Г <u>р</u> ий	ŠĽ (ņ.	ĢŢ	. <u>Ť</u> :	ΪΫĎ	LĨŃ	ię,	1)	3	ΞÖ.	Ì	3	14			·	10 1	4)	
C****	•ÛPDA	i Lor VI L	ΪΞ	19	LA	30 E	inu: Ni	DW	10.0	1,	• /	11/1	J # i	4'3F	} ● INI :	• 19 4	10.1	50	10 1	ц у.	
	100 1 10 NO	13 1 (N	5-	$\frac{1}{1}$	T 7.	401	11	}									,				
44.7	TRL	i (i	(P)	[)=	ŤĹ.	(1)	• • • •									-					
113	TERC	(NP) =	JAJ	11	() T	11														
C+++*	60 T •1 A B F	0 1 1 U	Liu Dhei	4 8 E	LE I	0 1	02	-													•
125	TRL=	ĨŖĹ	+1	- 51 A				-													
	TRN	លព) = <u>1</u>	эJ																
	00 1 Teno	14)L (1	I≃1 RL∂	L,3 .I).	=1:	e ne	εc	[) ··													
441.	TRLH	IL (]	RE	ΞÌ.	=Ţi	LĮĮ)														
114	TERC			-ÑA	וי'נ	613	τ <u>+</u>	,													
110	LI(1 CON1	(A • N 「下向し	1:3J) j≓	=1:	F.L												-		•		
	ĞÖ T	01	.7j	1.11		4 :: r	с,														
130	IARO	= PN	ITR.	(AA)	ĵ '	440	3 I	NO II				•	• •					·	• .• •		
C****	MIARO Mifixi	IS	5 F : 8 - A :	12S. 308	T 3 7 t. 7	sí.ç	II HEI	N L L	12	T AL	S 1	1 A I A I	1 - 2 C -		ເຊີຍ	20M 1 NA	RA	CAM)	ח⊐אד	I	
1 43	IF(a		Į Į Ą į	ič)	• 11	E. Ř	A) (30,7	ŤO	1	7										
C****	CHEC	κ, F	ΰĸ	ē.	ΧN,	ANC.	打	, T E	.11P	0R	AF	₹¥.	L	١ßĔ	L						
	N8J≃ 1F(L	NAJ. I(N	/-1],	(8.4	1.1		SC	NR.	AN	ΰ.	٤]	50	19.	N8	: J) ,	NE.	()(50	10 1	69	
C****	ើកក្តី ក្រុសត្	PARE ARE	Ţ,	4P	0~	ÂΞΥ	Ĺ	4.9 E	LS												
	1502	L (1]=]	۲ <u>۲</u>	0.	(50	ME	11)	++	<u>C</u> :	(]	Δ,	ւ.	N A	M11						
	T 5 MP		(]≕ 1=1	K 2	UL UL	(36 (36	MR.	(5)	+1) +1)	63 03		LA: LAT	: U ; : C ;	NA NA	111 111						
	TL()	1 = 1	¦⊋L}	41. (* 41. (*	SC (Sr (영년 : 이라		FRC FPC	1	ΪA TA) ^{بن} رون	•	(A) 0 A)	(1) (1)							
	<u>ון ז</u> ון א	j=ţ	્રો	iç (SČ,	11.	31.	FRC	3(ĪP	33	;,;	A	11 j			1				
97	TL(3	+1)	=10	t. Tel	L (3CN	2.	E)													
C*++-+	■おRA回 	ICH I T IS	16 13	181 131	₽E. }	t¦S €	_ N(205 50	TO TO	NI	48	101	.Et)							
C****	BRAN	iç 4 İ	Ϋ́ς.	ĨĂ	ΡĻ.	i S	Ň	Ŵ	LĂ	θĒ	Ë	00)M]	[]]	121)					
	IF(I	E NP	νς (1		57 64 1	ŢĊ	ир	. (N	Ρ,	1)) (0	t) 1	EC						
C++++	1090A 1001	11 13	12) [=1	1P ! L•3	4	11	140) N										• • •			
	TRNO	ĨĘ Į Ņ	1 P , 1	[]=	1.' Ti	121	(1)	I	•	·							•				•
115	TRLH	і <u>с</u> (і	5,	1=	ţÈ	(I)	71				·										
	TRRO GO T	012	りこ] .69	LAN	U								•		•					• •	
C* * * * *	FÉÃ∂≟	្រុំរូបី	ÍŇĹ A	ANE I	L. (р М	003	-									•				
	TRNO	ITR	ī)=	en9							·				• •		-	• •	• •••		
	TRN0 DO 1	J (T 15	(2L) I=1	(=석) (* 3	21																
		ŢŢ	ËL.	ţį	=Į;	- MP	ĻΩ	\mathbf{O}													
116	TRLH		FL,	1	- = {	: {	+1) }												-		
	TERC	IT R	(Ļ) =	=14	RU.																
	LION	13 , N	(J.J.)	=14	٩L																
160	IARO	=1A A-C	204 • L 5	1 • N /	A é C	253	GO	то	1	40											
C++++	<u>ÉXIÍ</u>	ĻLĂ	้อูรีบี	Thi	59	i ć	ĨŇ	ŚЙ	UF	FĽ	£						. 1				
T1A	CONT	THO	<u> </u>					•													

C****	BRANCHING IMPLIES NO NEED TO SHUFFLE D O	DR 1 ARC	
	NDIF=TRL-SCH9 TEABUTEL LACO TO 220	• • •	•
	L=SCNR+1		
	00 210 MELA, IRE TECTEMORIE, 11, 15, TRNDR (4, 11)60 TO 210		· · · · · ·
	IVE=TRRO(L)		
•	TRRC(L)=TRRC(M)		
	DO = 211 K = 1 + 3		
	XY=TRNOL(L,K)		
· .	TRNUL(L,K)=INNUL(M,K) TRNUL(M,K)=XV		
	XV=TRLHL(L,R)		
	TRLHL(L,K)=TKLHL(M,K)		
	XV=TRTRL(L,K)	a	
	TRTRL(L,K)=TRTRL(M,K)		
211	T 8 T 8 L (4 3 K) = X V T V 8 = T 8 N (()		
	IVE=TRNOJ(L)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	LI(IVE,IVF) # M TVC=TCND/NY		
	IVH=TANDJ(M)		
	LI(IVG,IVH) = L		· · · · · · · ·
	TRNDJ(L)=1VH		
	TRND(M)=IVE		
210	TRNDJ(M)=1VF		
C+ + + + +	BRANCHING MEANS TREE FINISHED	•	
220	IF (NDIF, EG. 5) GO TO 400	· · · · ·	
U+ + + +	NOW PLACE NOUL ON PERMANENT IREE		
•	NA=TRND(SCNR)		
	NAJETRAUJISUARI Go to 19		
C****	BRANCHING: GO BACK AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PL	ACED PL RHANENT	NODE
C++++	PREPARE OUTPUT INFORMATION FOR COMPLETE TRE	E	
. 400	NP=LI(L,2)	ي. مرجع مرجع م	
	00 411 K=1.3		:
	TEFEH(L.K)=TREBE(NP.K)		
411	TLETR(L,K)=TRTRL(NP,K)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
41C 60 0	CONTINU: Detuen		
.	END	· .	

ł

PROGRAM DETCIJ

	PROGRAM DETGIJ(INPUT,OUTPUT,TAPE5=I) &TAPE7.TAP=12.TAP=13.TAP=14.TAP=15.TAPE14	NPUT.TAPEE=OUTPUT,
	DIMINSION IFENH(120,120), NDFLI(120) \$COMPLL(399,3,3),00MPTI(399,3,5),SPLITA(TLELH(120, 7, 3), 54,3), 19 KZN(31,8),
	& NOPKZY(5), MODIAY(51), GOLNGZ(31, 5), GOLAG, & XINOPF(8, 5, 5), INOPF(3, 5, 2), GOCAPZ(31, 5), MAX SOU(5, 33, 727) G(3, 5098214), 211, 01 HOL	2(31+8),MATMKT(11), ,FMMKTP(5),MATCHC(13), 5453 3) CLOCE(03 3)
	MINSLZ (3), UPAL 4(3), TL2 T4(12), 3), CTJ(3) DIMINSION CPT(8), TS(9), PAF(8), PARM(3)	(53,57,0000,(53,57, 1,8),100057(125,8) 2),FR4CT(2)
74	0ATA CP1/2361.,+778.,201.,224.,180.,129 \$3752./,043/.28,162,.162,.12,162,.162,.	50 •• 3918 •• • 162 •• 162/
31 90 86	FORMAI(1, X, 13, 1, X, 13, 1, X, 11, 1, X, F13, C) FORMAI(3116) FORMAI(3F13, L)	
85 32	FÖRMAT (8F10.4) FÖRMAT (9110)	• • • • •
33	FORMAT(511(,F13,2) FCRMAT(4(113,F13,2))	
99 99	FORMAT(85:10.2) FORMAT(85:10.7)	
	00 391 J=1,3 00 991 K=1,3	
991	COMPTL(I,J,K)=0. 1 COMPTT(I,J,K)=0.	
Ċ	ZERO OUT FLOW INCIDENCE MATRIX	
200	00 201 J=1,120 D IFLWM(I,J)=0	
205 C	5 NDFLI(I)=0 ESTABLISH FLCW_INCIDENCE MATRIX	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
υ 	00 350 I=1+8	t. Anno 1990 - Anno
	ΩÕ 860 J=1,I IC=IC+MIUMMY(J)	
865 853	I CONTINUL IS(I+1)=IC	n an
050	IS(1)=3 IR=IS(9)	·
	00 210 I=1,IR 86 40 (12,32) IA, IA	• ··· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
210] IFLUM(IA,18)=1 FUNINO 12 Reference international concerns conserved	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
215	00 216 1=.0 60 216 1=.0 5 READ(15.33) MATMET(1), MATCMC(1), (MATSOU(1	› (•J)•J=1•3)•
	&RMMK1P(I) UO 214 I=1.5	······································
	DD 213 J≈1,3 IC≈HATSJU(1,J) 35(10-50 (1,00 TD 213	
	IA=7474KT(I) IFLWM(IG.IA)=1	
213 214	3 CONTINUZ 4 CONTINUZ	
730	50 10 723) CONTINUE 00 216 (=1.3	104
	IC=HATSOU(1,J) IF(IC.E0.0300 TO 216	an an an an an an an an an an an an an a
	IR=IS(3) 00 217 N=1,IR	• .
217	<pre>/ READ(12,31)IA IR=HDUM1Y(3)+HOUMMY(4)</pre>	
34.6	DO 213 H=1,IR , KEAU(12,31)IA	an an an ann an an an an an an an an an
216	RUNINO 12 RUNINO 12 S CONTINUE	
	00219J=1,3 IC=44TSOU(2,J)	
	IF(IC+10+1)50 TO 219 IR≠IS(4) DO 22: N+1 TP	الموجوع ويريع والمرجوع المراجع المراجع المرجوع المرجوع المرجوع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المرجوع ويريع والمراجع المراجع ا المراجع المراجع
<u>2</u> 21	R5AD(12,31)IA IR=MDUHY(4)	
• • • •	DU 222 N=1, TR READ(12, 31) TA	
222	IFLWM(IC,IA)=1 F.WIND 12	· · ·
ビアン	U UNHLAUL	

		00 223 J=1,3	
		10≄MATSOU(3.J) IF(IC.E0.0)30 TO 223	
	IP=1	S(5) DD 22L Vail TF	
224	TD-1		
	1 K ₩1		
225	IFLV		
223	CONT	REWIND 12 TNUE	
		00 226 J=1+3 TC=4ATSOU(4.J)	
	TP±1	IF (IC.EU. 160 TO 226	
700		DO 70J N=1,IP	
700	IR=N	100497(6) 100497(6)	
		DU 227 NEI +1R READ(12, 31)IA	
227	IFLW	M(IC,IA)=1 REWIND 12	
22.6	CONT	INU2 00.228 J≖1+3	
		ĬČ≏MATSŎU(6,J) TE(IC,EO,4)00 TO 228	
• •	IR=1	S(7)	
710	READ	10710 K=1.1K 112.31 IA	
	IR≠:	DU MMY (7) DU 229 N=1,IR	
22.9	TELW	READ(12,31)IA N(TC,TA)=1	
-278		REWIND 12	
220	00.01	00 600 K=1.8	
608	INDE	DU BUU N=1+120* ST (N+K)=0	
C* * ·	***0813	RMINE DESTINATIONS D0 622 K=1+3	
		NR=MOUM(Y) DD_616_2=1.NR	
61.0	T.R.O.4	READ(12, 51) IA, IB STITE, K) = 1005 STITE, K) +1	
620	CONT	INUE	
		REWIND_12	
C++	* * * S E 1	UP LOOP FOR NEW FLOWS D0 540 K=1+3	
		DO 640 L=1→→ 1A=NOPR74(K)→4+L	
		IB=IPRZH(1A,K)	
		IF (INDESTIN, K) .LE.5) GO TO 630	
630	(CONT	INOT THE MALET	
640 C*+	CONT ***SET	INUE UP FLONS FROM RAW MATERIAL SOURCES TO	
C	NEW	PRODUCTION SITES DO 930 I=21+23	
		DO 94) J≈1,5 DO 950 x =1,3	
		IA = MAISOU(J,K)	
950	CONI	IF VIATNET, / IF LANKIATIVEI IVUE IVUE	
94 U 93 0	CONT	INDE INDE	
		K=0 00 230 I=1,120	
		DO 223 J=1,120 TETTELWATI,11,ED.0160 TO 220	
	·		
		OFLI(I) = 1	
230	CONT	INUE	
C+ + 1	**REA0	TREE INFORMATION SELECTIVELY DO 360 I=1,120	
		IFR=13 TF(T.GF.83)TFE=14	
		00 254 N=1 +3	
	0.540	00 255 00 = 1 - 3	
256	MEAU	IF(14.H2.K)50 TO 256	
255	CONT	INUE	

DO 257 N=1,120 READ(IFR,06)XA,XB,XC,(TLELH(N,L,M),L=1,3),(TLET\(N,L,M), EL=1.3) CONTINUE CONTINUE 257 CONTINUE 254 CONTINUE G*****BRANCHING INPLIES TREE NOT USED IF (NDFLI(1).F0.3)60 TG 300 C****NOW STORE RELEVANT INFORMATION IN GOMPACT ARRAY D0 265 J=1,120 IA=IFLWM(I,J) IF(IA.E0.E)60 TO 260 D0 265 U=1,3 COMPTL(IA.L.H)=TLELH(J.L.H) 265 COMPTL(IA.L.H)=TLELH(J.L.H) 265 COMPTL(IA.L.H)=TLETR(J.L.H) 260 CONTINUE 300 CONTINUE 300 CONTINUE G0 TO 740 C****READ MODE SPLIT PARAMETERS FORCOMMODITIES 720 D0 315 K=1.54 310 READ(15,99) (SPLITA(K,L).L=1.3) C****READ LIST OF PRODUCTION ZONES AND STORE D0 320 K=1.8 U0 320 I=1.31 320 IPRZN(I.K)=0 257 254 COSTA=0.

. .

	00 2r.1 Ma	,	
	PARH(1)=+5	• • •	
	PARM(2)=PAR()	na series de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la comp A companya de la comp	,
261	- ARG=02A(4(4))	(UPALM(1)+9PALM(2)+0PALM(3)) ATY26.0869.1778	
201	00 828 11=1.3	I THE OFFICE TARGET	
828	COSTA=COSTA+	REEC(M) * FRACT(M) / (FRACT(1) + FRACT(2) +	· · · ·
	&FRACT(3))		
		1 3 • J L F (- 3	
	· · · · สัสธรีบี่ไฟ)	GOMPTL(JA,1,M) *CLHOF(J3,M) *COMPTT(J4,1,M)*CLDOF(J8,M	1) -
	UTESTESPLITA	J3,1) +T+640(M) +COMPTL (JA,2,M) + SPLITA (J3,2) +	
	ECOMPTL (JA, 3, 1) +SPLITA (JR, 3) +CUMETT (JA, 2, M) + SPLITA (J3, 2)	
	TF (H17ST)	3/ 3/ 4/ 4/ 5/ 5/ FF16.11 50 TO 920	
	UPATH (M) = (2.	15) ** (SPLITA(J2, 1) *TPEEC(M) + COMPTL(JA, 2, M) * SPLITA	
	- & (JB+2) +COMPT((JA, 3, M) + SPLITA(J3, 3) + COMPTT(JA, 2, M) + SPLITA(J3, 2)	
	- &+ COMPIE(J4,3) CO TO SS	ATTORETTRIGHTSTY	
926	UPATH(H)=.30		
450	CONTINUL		
	COST3=0.	1 7	
	PARM(1) = 13	113	
	PARM(2)=PA9()		
	ARG=UPATH(1)	(UPATP(1)+UPATH(2)+UPATH(3))	
251	- FRACELOFEPHO - 00 829 8±1.3	ALARD PRATEIZZI	
829	COSTB=COST3+1	<pre><td< th=""><th></th></td<></pre>	
	COSTC=RIM	(IP(IA)-COSTA+COSTB	
	IF (COSTC.	LT.CORAWAJCCHAWA=GOSFC	
476	CONTINUE	01-0084WA	
480	CONTINUE	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		PF(K,2,1)*ΟCLABZ(J,K)*2300,*X1NUPF(K,5,1) Δεομάρχει κίζιο - τροξμέζει κινντμορξικές τ	
	- KTAINUPPUN143		
	IF(INOPE)	(1.,2).EQ.,0160 TO 430	
	IA=INOPE	(+1,2)	
	60 IO 440	*XINDPP (K+L+Z)*CUKMZ(IA+J)	
430	CIJA=CIJA+XI)PF (K,L,3)	
441	CIA(A*K)=CIA	(XINGPF(K,1,1)/CPT(K))	
490	GUNILAUS MINSTRAL	- X1 MO PE (K. A. 1)	
500	CONTINU		
- Ç* + +	**WRITE RESULTS		
	MRILD (10)	3.1)NOPRZN	
	NZ=102228		
510	WRITE(15,34))	195ZN(J,K),CIJ(J,K),J=1,NZ)	
	MEIIE (15)	PP)SPLIIA	
		「ウチビレゼした」	
		JIMIKSIZ	
	NRIJE(15)	BODIELWM	
	WEITE (15)	STICOMPTE - TYCOMPTT	
	STOP	JIT FOR MARTINE STATES AND A ST	
	END		

i

PROGRAM HIJK

	PROG	RAN HIJK(INPUT,	UTPUT, TAP25=INPUT	,TAF 55≖OUTPUT,
	- SIAMELEII Real DIAT	AFLID, NELWOU, NEL NELU, NELWOU, NEL NEIDN NOPAZORI,	CIJ, N. WCIJ FF7N(51.8) • CTJ(3)	.8).NOREC (8).NODEST(8).
	LINDIST(1 LIFLWN(12	20,5),SPLI1A(54,).1201.007PTL(3)	3),CLHOF(93,3),CL 99,3,3),COMPIT(999	DCF(53,3),MINSIZ(8), ,3,3),COENS(3,3),
	1122) 2ANS 525) USJ 4	8),1,86(220,9),40 ,5),FLSW60(220,5	/S(220,8),FLS(220,3)),ISVPPZ(12),8),I	8),FLSCIJ(225,8), Gomul(8),NFLOIJ,
	&UPATH(3)	+ NELU(4+32+4)+ NE + KGL (3)+ UT13T(3) NGTON - DASYAR - DAS	- LNGU(4,25,8),NELN' M(2) ADA(3) EDACT	**[4;33;58];1;2;2;5]; /*/
	0ÅTÅ 0ÅTÅ	NO* 20/110 -92 -22 PA:/- Jo-2* -162	2,119,109,111,183	135/
11 31	FORMAT(1 FORMAT(1	He,"INDZ'EXCEGO CX,J3,10X,13,10X	0",315) ,I1,12X,F13,9)	
32 33	FORMAT(5 FORMAT(5 FORMAT(5	110) 110, F10, 2) 17, 5 545 5000		
85 85	FORMAT(S FORMAT(S	4(112096204 <i>244)</i> 81044) 840264	دوليانية الجيار المراجعة	an an an an an an an an an an an an an a
87 90	FORMAT (S FORMAT (S	F10.2) I1()		
12 13	FORMAT(1 FORMAT(1	H:,"EXISTING FLC H,," ORIG MODE	WS COM= ",I2," Tons CIJ	0281= ",14) Exp arg Hijk",
14	FORMAI(1	HUNSTAZI HUANNON FIND HUMPOMPATING NU	NEW FLOW", 315)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
16 17	FORMAT (1 FORMAT (1	H .15.10X.3719.2		
99 C**	FORMAT (3 ***READ RES	F10.7) ULTS FROM DETCIJ	x	
	REA0 D0_1	(13,90)NOPRZ 15 K=1,5 0007701		
110	READ(16,	0FR2 (N) 34)(IPRZN(J,K)+0 (16,99)SPLITA	IJ(J,K),J=1,NZ)	
	read Read	(16,89)CLHCF (16,55)CLDCF	Υ.	
	READ READ	(16,9))41NSIZ (16,9))IFLW4	• • • • • •	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
· C + + ·	ксал R_AU Кти сти	(16,87)COMPTT		
Ū	RČAG RČAG	(5,87)SPLITE (5,90)KCL		
	R-A0 DQ 1	(F,67)CDENS 21 K=1,8		
	NR=5 UU 1 - DEAD(4.2	0866(K) 30 8=1,89 30 8-1,89		TN KA
120 120	CONTINUE	31) AD 17	ATTI OSTATATES	
		20 K=1,8 35 N=1,128		
135 C***	INDEST(4 ++DETERMI4	,K)=" D_STI4ATIONS		
		4. KF193 DREC(K) Er Het Me		
156	ลี่ยังจิ INDEST (1	(12,31)IA,IB (.K)=INOESI(IB,K	5+1	
140	CONTIGUI REWI	ND 12	_	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
160	NODEST (K	60 K≠1,9 }=0		
	BO 1	72 K=1,8 83 N=1,123		•
100	IA=) IF(1) NOD-ST(2)	NDEST(N.K).GT.GF	IA=1	
170 170	CONTINUS SONTINUS ***SHUFFI = 1	DISTINATIONS		
J	00110 10011 1005	3) K=1,3		
	11.0			
	NA A1 DO 2	=172A-1 10 N=1 +NEA1		

	- S 1	A=NA S	(L.K)			• •		•		• •	,				
	N N	ASIL,	K) = 1 A	12 L H + K 1)										
	· N	AFN95 dS(L) dS(L)	(L+K) K)=N K)=IA	'S (N . K	ÿ					*				• • •••	
	Ň	05(L+	K) = M() X) = M())S (N • K	}										
	, X. F	A=FLS LS(L,	ペリテリル (L,K) K)=Fと	ੇ .SIN₊K)		·								
210	FI CONTI CONTI	LS(N) NUE DDE	K)=X0		÷ ·			··· -						.	
190	CONTI	NUE	eaves		0-2Y 1	C 850	n. 7 0	NES					•		
U	0 L L 20	5 22 Z=10P	K=1 9Z(K)	3 10		C 1 P.O				• * *					
	D I	0 233 A=IP2	N=1, ZH (N,	NZ K)											
230 224	IRVPR. CONTJ	ZIIA. NUI	K)=N		•		· ·						• •	· ·	
C***	р: Сомри р:	TE 01 0 230	LiVzR K=1.	610-00 65-7	STS,	EXIST	ING F	LOWS							
	נא סַםַ	2≅NOS U 243	EC(K) _N=1,	NR											
		a=nas 8=nas	(N 5 K) (N 5 K)												
	FI	LSCIJ	PRZ(1 (N,K)	EUIJ(IC,K)										
	- N	= HQS (I	N - K) N - K) M - K)	. 121-		•									
	یں Fi ۲. M1+Cl		,K)=S K0.M)	PLITA	(KA.1	<u>+ 10 0</u>	MPTL(JA.1.	₩] #[]		F(KA,	M)+CO	MPTT	JA,1	
24.5	E+SPLI FLSRD	LA (KA	,3)+()=F:S	ភ្នំមើម ភ្នំមើម លោកសា	É (JA)	5,11)+ Frinksi	COMPT	T (JA,	3 M) N M) } + °D	TTEZ	SPLIT	0 LK 0.	11	
250	CONT1 **SET U	NUE P BAS	TC IN	IFU FO	RNEW	FLOW	S	2001		0					
v	Di K	0 263 A=KCL	ĨŘ=Ì, (K)	3	-		- -			•					
		0 275 4=30P	L=1. RZ (K)	`+ +L											
	I to	P=IPA E₩CIJ	ZN (14 =CIJ (,K) IA ,K)											
	I N Ŭ	NDZ=2 0_235	N=1,				- 								
	Ī	+ (100 (0Z=1)	25103 NDZ+1	9 K J • i	2.5761 .:) 1 0	20:	·							
		-LAGA	Z.GT.	29)60	TO 2	55									
	Na J <i>i</i>	LGIJ	(L. 10 8 9 (1 4)Z • K):	=N€NCI	[J									
-	00 T3) 2557 - 200 (м=1, М)=10	JE TE C	JA.1.	 ₽ *CL	HEF (K)	4.NJ+	COMP	11(.	1 4 . 1 . 1	1)+CL	DCF (K	4.	
	SM1 UTEST	(4) = 54	PLITA	(KA .:)•TRE	16 (м)	+ (00%)	PIL(J	1.2.						
	84)+00 8(J4,3,	1PT](. (1))*:	JA LÌ GPÈIT	:))*Si a{Kā,	PLITA 3)	(KA,2)+(00)	1PTL (ځ ۸۹ ل	, (0) -	FC0MP	ŤΤ			
	IF UF	2 CUT :: 24 FH (*	ST (**) M) = 1 X	a cute	107.) ST(4)	60 T	0 500								
500	UPATH	3 TO ((⊴),≡•	290 0000 i	្រុស ខ្មី ធ្លាំ	001-1					. ,					
296		(U_ ;≃()⊵∆` 1=00::	[H[1]												
	03	(=024) =024	TH(3)	,											
	 Ан 1. 10 А. 0 И. 1	ថ្ងៃវីងខ្មុំ) = UP 4	тн сир)/(U1-	FUS+D	3)								
	PARIL	(MO)=1	R(K) PG0⊬M	(52G ()	H B).P	12M.T	77)								
817	CONTIN	νυς 1 τιχης	Z.K)=		,.,					·					
849	NFLUIL	i Ho= •I.(0	1 3 2 () =		L,INDI	2, K) +	UTEST	(110) +	FRAG	1.010)/				
	& L (FRAC AV	21(1) 22:45:	+FFAC 74•-	T(2)+1	FRACT	(31) *	SPLITA	A(KA,	1))						
.	NF GC	ENCU DITO A	(L₊IN 2di	∩Z,K): 	=NFLC]	[J (l. ,	IND Z , H	() + A V	DENS	* NF 1	.U(L,	INDZ,	K1*SP	LITF	
285 280	WRITU CONTI	18,11 10 <u>0</u>	14.1.	н			÷					• •			
270 260	CONTIN	4U.													

I.

C+++++3HU	FELS RECORDS WITHIN DESTINATION	S ^r
	DU 301 N=1+3 NRA=1 NRA=1	
		· · · · · ·
	IA = INDEST(J,K) NRA=NRA+READD	
	ARB=N~3+IA .N2ADD=IA	
	IF(IA.LE.5)GO TO 316 NAB1=NR3-1	
• • • • •	00 325 G=RRA\$NR31 NP1=N+1	· · · · · ·
	DO 33) L=NP1,NRB IF(FLSWGU(N,K), LE.FLSWGU(L,K)) GO TO 330
	IA=NAS(L,K) NAS(L,K)=NAS(N,K)	
	NAS(N,K)=IA 1A=NBS(L,K)	
•• ·	NBS(L+K)=N85(N+K) N8S(N+K)=IA	
	IA=MJS(L,K) MUS(L,K)=MJS(N,K)	
	MOS(11,K) = IA XA=FLS(L,K)	in the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second
	FLS(L,K) = FLS(N,K) FLS(N,K) = XA	
	FLSCIJ(L,K) FLSCIJ(L,K)=FLSCIJ(N,K)	
	XA=FLSU(L+K)	
	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA	· · ·
	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA XA=FLSNCU(L,K) FLSNCU(L,K)=FLSNCU(N,K)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
330 CON1	FLSU(L+K)=FLSU(N+K) FLSU(N+K)=XA XA=FLSWCU(L+K) FLSWCU(L+K)=FLSWCU(N+K) FLSWCU(N+K)=XA TINUS	
330 CON1 329 CON1	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA XA=FLSWGU(L,K) FLSWGU(L,K)=FLSWGU(N,K) FLSWGU(L,K)=XA TINU= TINU= T=0.0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
330 CONI 329 CONI 340 T=14	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA FLSWCU(L,K) FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINU= TINU= TINU= T=0.2 00 340 N=NRA,NR8 +FL3(N,K)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
330 CON1 323 CON1 340 T=T4 C****PRIM	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA XA=FLSWGU(L,K) FLSWGU(L,K)=FLSWGU(N,K) FLSWGU(N,K)=XA TINUE T=0.0 00 340 N=NRA,NR8 +FLS(N,K) NT PDFTNNNT EXISTING FLOWS MRITS(0,12)K,J	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
330 CON 323 CON 340 T=T4 C****PRIM	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINUE T=0. 00 340 N=NRA,NR9 +FL3(N,K) NT PIFTINANT EXISTING FLOWS HRITE(5,12)K,J WRITE(5,12)K,J GT=3.4	
330 CON1 323 CON1 34C T=14 C*****PRIM	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA FLSWCU(L,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINUE TINUE TINUE T=0.0 00 340 N=NRA,NR8 +FL3(N,K) NT PETIMENT EXISTING FLOWS HRITE(5,12)K,J WRITE(6,13) CT=0.0 DO 350 N=NRA,NR8 GT=CT+FLS(N,K)	
330 CON 323 CON 340 T=T+ C++++PRIN 350 WRII	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINUE T=0.0 00 340 N=NRA,NR8 +FL3(N,K) NT POPTINENT EXISTING FLOWS HRITE(5,12)K,J WRITE(5,12)K,J CT=0.0 C	,K),FLSCIJ(1.,K),FLSU(N,K),
330 CONT 329 CONT 34C T=I4 C*****PRIM 350 WRIT &FLSM C*****PRIM	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINU= TINU= TINU= TINU= FLS(N,K) NT PERTINENT EXISTING FLOWS +FLS(N,K) NT PERTINENT EXISTING FLOWS WRITE(6,12)K,J WRITE(6,12)K,J CT=CT+FLS(N,K) F=CT/T TE(5,12)NAS(N,K),MOS(N,K),FLS(N) NU (N,K),F NT NEW FLOWS	,K),FLSCIJ((,,K),FLSU(N,K),
330 CON1 323 CON1 340 T = T+ C*+***PRIN 350 WRIT 6*LSY C*****PRIN	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINUE T=0.0 DO 340 N=NRA,NR9 +FL3(N,K) NT PERTINENT EXISTING FLOWS WRITE(6,13) CT=0.0 DO 350 N=NRA,NR8 CT=0.0 DO 350 N=NRA,NR8 CT=0.0 DO 350 N=NRA,NR8 CT=0.0 T=CT/T T=(5,10) NAS(N,K),MOS(N,K),FLS(N) WCU(N,K),F NT NEW FLOWS WFITE(E,10) DO 360 L=0.30	,K),FLSCIJ(1.,K),FLSU(N,K),
330 CON1 323 CON1 340 T=T+ C*****PRIM 350 WRIT &FLSM C*****PRIM 370 CON1	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE CO 340 N=NRA,NRB CT=CI+FLS(N,K) F=CI/I CT=CI+FLS(N,K) F=CI/I TL(5,12)NAS(N,K),MOS(N,K),FLS(N,K) NT NEW FLCWS WFITE(E,15) DO 365 L=2,4 DO 371 H=1,30 IF(J,20,NFLNB(L,M,K))GO TO 365	,Κ),FLSCIJ((,,K),FLSU(N,K),
330 CONT 323 CONT 34C T=T4 C*****PRIN 350 WRIT C*****PRIN C*****PRIN 370 CONT	<pre>FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINUT TINUT T=0.0 00 340, N=NRA,NR3 +FL3(N,K) NT P=+TINENT EXISTING FLOWS #RIT2(6,12)K,J WRIT2(6,12)K,J WRIT2(6,12)K,J WRIT2(6,12)K,J CT=0.1 D0 350 N=NRA,NR3 CT=CT+FLS(N,K) F=CT+FLS(N,K) F=CT+FLS(N,K) F=CT+FLS(N,K),MOS(N,K),FLS(N WFITE(6,12) D0 360 L=2,4 D0 360</pre>	,Κ),FLSCIJ((.,Κ),FLSU(N,Κ),
330 CONT 323 CONT 340 T = T + C*****PRIN 350 WRIT &FLSY C*****PRIN 370 CONT 365 WRIT 360 CONT	FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE CO 340 N=NRA,NRB +FL3(N,K) NT PIHTINENT EXISTING FLOWS WR ITE(6,12)K,J WR ITE(6,12)K,J CT=CT+FLS(N,K) F=CT/T T2(5,12)MAS(N,K),MOS(N,K),FLS(N WR ITE(6,12) DO 365 L=2,4 DO 37J H=1,30 IF(J,E0,NFLNB(L,M,K))GO TO 365 INUE WR ITE(6,14)K,J+L GO TO 360 IE(6,17)L,RFLCIJ(L,M,K),NFLU(L,1) INUE	,Κ),FLSCIJ((,,K),FLSU(N,K), 4,Κ),NFLWCU(L,N,K)
330 CONT 323 CONT 340 T = I4 C*****PRIM 350 WRIT &FLSM C*****PRIM 370 CONT 365 WRIT 360 CONT 365 CONT 360 CONT 360 CONT 360 CONT 360 CONT	<pre>FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE FLS(N,K) NT PERTINENT EXISTING FLOWS #RITE(6,12) K,J WRITE(6,12) K,J GO 355 M=NRA,NRB GT=CT+FLS(N,K) F=CT/T T(5,12) NAS(N,K),MOS(N,K),FLS(N) WRITE(6,12) DO 355 L=2,+ DO 355 L=2,+ TINUE (5,17) L,KFLCIJ(L,M,K),NFLU(L,M) TINUE</pre>	,κ),FLSCIJ((,,κ),FLSU(N, K), 4,κ),NFLWCU(L,N,K)
330 CONT 323 CONT 340 T = T + C*****PRIN 350 WRIT 64 + * * PRIN 350 CONT 365 WRIT 360 CONT 365 WRIT 360 CONT 360 CONT 310 CONT	<pre>FLSU(L,K)=FLSU(N,K) FLSU(N,K)=XA FLSWCU(L,K) FLSWCU(L,K)=FLSWCU(N,K) FLSWCU(N,K)=XA TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE TINUE FLS(N,K) NT PIHTINENT EXISTING FLOWS WRITE(6,12)K,J WRITE(6,12)K,J CT=CT+FLS(N,K) F=CT/T TE(5,12)MAS(N,K),MOS(N,K),FLS(N,K) WRITE(6,12) DO 365 L=1,4 DC 371 M=1,30 IF(J,E0,KFLNB(L,M,K))GO TO 365 INUE WRITE(6,14)K,J,L GO TO 360 TE(5,17)L,KFLCIJ(L,M,K),NFLU(L,M) TINUE STOP END</pre>	<pre>\$K),FLSCIJ(1,K),FLSU(N,K), 4,K),NFLWCU(L,N,K)</pre>

PROGRAM MMTREE

	ξ Τ	APE	PROG	RAN	1 5	413 110	E F	(IN	р цар Пар	+0 1 - 5	ųτ	Р U 1 Т А Р	Ţ.Ţ	AF	25	5 = 3	(NP	UT	•T	βP	E6=	= 0 U	TP	UT	, TA	ΡΞ	7,		
			REAL INTER	LŪ G)Ā ļu)F 106	1.5			.01	* . • .	a . 1	 ۹.۱	N 1	הו	1 4 7						• •			• •		•••	• · · ·	
		ļ	ŨIИJI INT-I	ΝSΙ	01	ГйÇ Пир	Ĩi	30) 64 0	Î	Ϊų	ĒČ	1.4	() () ()		. т.:	e e c e c	- 2 4 - 2 4	04			T / 1	30	c	、					
	D	IME	NSID	N P NST		. 31	27	31,	ic	51	94 2 4			ţ.	(4)	,	IN (50	εi	រូរ	ŇŶĨ	iş)	23	រ រ រ ខ	ç	50	3)		
			DINE	NSÍ	ΰL.	ġĹ	ήĊ	Ē	3 3	<u>;</u> ;	CĽ	ģċļ	(5	3	3			1	36	5	ĨC:	10	11	51. 4	41	4)			
· •	LJ	NJ,	JKC,	UNZ TLS	21/	1 XU 1	0 + I 0 = I	KU U 74 s	а M() 		9 (4) 		I KN	υ,		(N)		TR	PC.	*L	1,1	RN	BL.	• RC	; • î	С,	114+		
-	-		Di Mel Di Mel	NS I	ON OR	NO TC	2 <u>(</u>)	Z(8 5:,),1 4,4	197 1	<u>7</u> N	(31	.,8),	SP	LI	TA.	(5	4+	31	•KC	11	61						
85 85	F (OR M OR MI	ат (ці ат (зі	(11 F10		1.	• 2))																				•	
86 90	- F (ORM/ ORM/	AT (96 AT (83	710 [10	; 4)																								
99 C#++	F(++R	DRM Ead	47 (3F Data	Fij A F	•7) 201	: T	AP	E 7 .											•										
	Ri	EAD	(7.) - A)) I (7	4 9.)	NP	• 147	 120	sc.	NC)	:2.	N3	11					•											
		Ĥ	240	17.	() ()	I.	,						-				۱												
		ĥ	E AU		άŤ	IA	1 E									•													
		Ē	E 40	į <u>,</u>	ž, j	IA	0																				•		
		, F		7	50	IA	0 5					•															••	•	• •
		E E	EAD	7.	901 901	чu IA	υ.	_																					
		ት ፑ	(:A0) (:A0)	7:	85) 9()	IA IA	DCF	-																		- · .			
		- P	E AD (E AD (7;	85) 90)	CLI IA	HCF																						
•		F	E AD (E AD (7:	89) 911	RC: TA	1	• • •			• •			•••			. : .		•		•			·· ·	• ••		•••		
		i k	AD (7	851 4.1	20. 1 a	2																						
		- F	CAD	7	85) 6-1	ÊŊ TA	3								-		·			•				•••	•		· • · · ·	·	
		22	EAD	<u>7</u> ,	ខ្ល៍ទ័រ	ţç:	1																						
	•	P	E 40 (7	ลู่อยู่	ţça	2																-				-		
		Ŕ	EAD (7	551	Ť¢;	3				•																		
6++×	** 95	AD.	S S S A T M T M	iu iu Ti	ŚŢF	201	1 0	<u>e</u> to	31J										•••								••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		-
		- E 0	2 AU (0 11	10) 40 7 3) (' n	2																					
110	ρg	VD (IZ≂N0 15∓3	4)	{ (X (1⊇) 9,73	4 (J	., K)	i•λ	=t,	1.	ΝZ)																·· .
		я Я)CA: EWIN	$16 \\ 0 $	99 15	137	'Lī	AT																					
C# **	+ P E	AD E	UTHU UADI	7 i	1 A T 9 : 1	a Kõi					•																·· .	÷	
C* * *	**ES	TAS N	UI SH	ÉŠ(.= N7	jen i⊂C	i þi St	Ka	4E 1	ER	S .																		•	
		hi H	R C 5=	d T								*																	
		Ĭ	14 J=	1					•																	•	• •		-
		ŧ.	197= 197=	J																				• .					•
490		, Ď	512	ί. Ν	1=1	•4																	•						
120	71 A	617	=1																	•									
							,																					•	
C* + +	*+SE	TU	р ма 7=17	STE	.Ρ.	LOC	P	FOR		IGH	T	CO	MH (001	IT:	IES	S												
-		- D I	0 50 F (KA	о •С⊖ к	(A= 5.5	1•9 •4).	κA.	i :	6)	T	T≂:	18		• •				-	·							· ··· ·		•···
		l K	F (KA = KGL	.GI) [1=	50	-		-														•				
		0	0 21	j N J V	=1	1 0	¢ΰ																						
210	18 C	(N,	۲)=(۲)	ខ្មែរ ទទ្ធន	Ę.	i, Nrv	34	SPL	ĮŢ	I K	;1))•	°C L	но	CF ((к,	, M)	+ R	C 2	(N	•H) + 3	PL	IT	4 (K	, 2)+		
	n. ∘. ∪); ;	0 2 2	uru P N D T	1=1	50	+ J	111	(-)	L ● d	'								•••••	·· ···				• ••••			• •	• •	
		<u>ب</u> ة		į	=1	4	77	2																					
	Ţ	(1)		• 0E	i u Le J	โรซี	•1	j g	0 1	0	73	7			_				• •							• • • • •			
	ιU	AUC	r = (.C)	Lill	r ()	<• I	-1	1 + C	LJ(.+ (K+	J-1	()	12	•			•									·		I.

LOADE = LUDEF(s,I-1) 736 COADE = LUDEF(s,I-1) 737 GOADE = LUDEF(s,I-1) 738 LOADE = LUDEF(s,I-1) 739 LFCIN, INF, INF, INF, INF, INF, INF, INF, I	LOAUCF=CLUCF(K,J=1) GO TC 22L 736 LOADCF=CLOCF(K,J=1) GO TO 22 739 IF(I,=1) GO TD 733 LOADCF=CLOCF(K,I=1) GO TO 22D 738 LOADCF=1. 220 TC(1,1,J)=((TC1(N,I,J)*SPLITA(K,1))*LOADCF+TC2(N,I,J)*SPLITA &(K,2)+FG3(N,I,D)*SPLITA(K,3))*(-1.0) C****SET UP SU3=LOUP FOR PRODUCTION ZONES NZ=NOPRZ(KA) OD 490 IZ=1.NZ INA=IPPZH(IZ,KA) CALL MMSPT0(INA,INAJ,INP,INBJ,IFBF,NFCP,UFAB,NARCS) C****WRITE RESULTS ON TAPE 17 IU=900C0+KA+1000+INA I=1Z WFITE(IT,0)I(N,IZ) 00 240 J=1.541 230 WRITE(IT,90)IA(J).TRN0J(J),TRRC(J) D0 240 J=1.12C 240 WRITE(IT,90)I(L).TENDJ(J).TRRC(J) WRITE(IT,90)I(L).TENDJ(J).TRRC(J) AND 240 J=1.12C 240 WRITE(IT,90)I(L).TENDJ(J).TRRC(J) WRITE(IT,90)I(L).TENDJ(J).TRRC(J) AND 240 J=1.12C 240 WRITE(IT,90)I(L).TENDJ(J).TRRC(J) WRITE(IT,90)I(L).TENDJ(J).TRRC(J) AND 240 J=1.12C CONTINUE	
745 LGAND ESCORT (A.J-1) 749 LGAND ESCORT (A.J-1) 749 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 740 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 740 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 740 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 740 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 740 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 740 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 741 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 741 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 742 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 744 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 744 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 745 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 745 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 746 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 747 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 747 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 748 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 748 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 749 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 749 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 749 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-1) 740 LGANDE ESCORT (A.J-	<pre>736 LOADCF=CLOCF(K,J=1) GO TO 22 739 IF(I,U), GO TO 733 LOADCF=CLOCF(K,J=1) GO TO 22 738 LOADCF=1. 220 TC(4,1,J)=((TC1(H,I,J)*SPLITA(K,1))*LOADCF+TC2(N,I,J)*SPLITA 8(K,2)+TG3(H,I,J)*SPLITA(K,3))*(-1.0) C*****SET UP 3U3-LOOU FOR PRODUCTION ZONES NZ=NOPRZ(KA) 00 49.1 IZ=1.NZ INA=IPPZ/(IZ,KA) CALL MMSPID(INA,INAJ,INP,INBJ,IFBF,NECP,UPAB,NARCS) C*****WRITE RESULTS ON TAPE 17 IU=90.2 C+KA*1000+INA IE=IZ H=TE(II,90)I(0,IZ DO 23: J=1,541 230 WRITE(IT,90)I(0,IZ UO 24: J=1,120 240 WRITE(IT,90)I(1),TRNOJ(J),TRRC(J) HCIIE(19,00)IL5 WRITE(I1,90)IL5</pre>	
<pre>739 Plinterint Def 19 73 3 60 10 220 730 [0 220 730 [0 220 730 [0 220 730 [0 220 730 [0 220 730 [1 4] 740 Plinterint Poet Flood Def 100 Algorithmed Planterint ************************************</pre>	<pre>739 IF(1:U)1) GG 10 743 GO TO 220 738 LOADCF=CLDCF(K,I-1) 220 TC(4,1,J)=((TC1(H,I,J)*SPLITA(K,1))*LOADCF+TC2(N,I,J)*SPLITA</pre>	
<pre>736 UDADFE: 726 UDADFE: 727 UDADFE: 728 UDADFE: 728 UDADFE: 728 UDADFE: 728 UDADFE: 728 UDADFE: 728 UDADFE: 729 UDADFE: 729 UDADFE: 739 UDADFE: 730 UDADFE: 730 UDADFE: 730 UDADFE: 730 UDADFE: 730 UDADFE: 730 UDADFE: 730 UDADFE: 7</pre>	738 LOADCF=1. 220 TC(',1,J)=((TC1(',I,J)*SPLITA(K,1))*LOADCF+TC2(',I,J)*SPLITA &(K,2)+TG3(',I,J)*SPLITA(K,3))*(-1.0) C*****SET UP SU3L000 FOR PRODUCTION ZONES NZ=NOPRZ(KA) 00 490 IZ=1,NZ INA=IPPZ/I(IZ:KA) CALL MMSPTO(INA,INAJ,INB,INB,INBJ,IFBF,NFCP,UPAB,NARCS) C*****WRITE RESULTS ON TAPE 17 IO=9000+KA+1000+INA IE=IZ WHITE(IT,90)I(',IZ 00 243 J=1,541 230 WRITE(IT,90)I(',J),TRN0J(J),TRNC(J) UO 243 J=1,20 UO 243 J=1,20 WRITE(IT,90)I(',J),T=1,8) HAILE(19,90)ILS WRITE(19,90)ILS	
<pre>242 [Wint Hain Line And Hain Mark Hain Mark Hain Concerned and the Line Hain Mark</pre>	<pre>220</pre>	
<pre>C</pre>	<pre>VIE 02 + 02 + 02 + 02 + 02 + 02 + 02 + 02</pre>	
<pre>IMA : FP23(f2)KA1 C++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++</pre>	INA=IPPZA(12,KA) CALL MMSPTO(INA,INAJ,INB,INBJ,IFBF,NECP,UPAB,NARCS) C*****WRITE RESULTS ON TAPE 17 ID=96462+KA+10:00+INA IE=IZ WFITE(II,90)I(0,IZ D0 23: J=1,541 230 WRITE(II,90)TAN)(J).TRNOJ(J),TRRC(J) 240 WRITE(II,90)(LIJ,I),I=1,8) WRITE(II,90)(LIJ,I),I=1,8) WRITE(I9,90) IO,IZ MRITE(19,90)ILS	
C*****WRITE SSUETS OF TAGE 17 List C ***** WRITE SSUETS OF TAGE 17 List C ***** WRITE SSUETS OF TAGE 17 HITE SSUE 17 HIT	C*****WRITE RESULTS ON TAGE 17 IU=90.200 + KA+1000+INA IE=IZ WAITE(IT,90)I(),IZ DO 23. J=1,541 230 WRITE(IT,90)TAN)(J),TRROJ(J),TRRC(J) 00 24.0 J=1,120 240 WRITE(IT,90)(LIU,I),I=1,8) WAITE(IT,90)(LIU,I),I=1,8) WAITE(I9,90) ID,IZ WRITE(19,90)ID,IZ WRITE(19,90)ILS	
<pre>A 12 27 h 17 20 h 17 20 h 17 20 230 WRITCOT, SJJTANDJ, TRNOJ(J), TRRO(J) 244 WRITCOT, SJJTANDJ, TRNOJ(J), TRRO(J) 245 WRITCOT, SJJAND, TRNOJ(J), TRROJ(J), TRRO(J) 246 WRITCOT, SJJAND, TRNOJ(J), TRROJ(J), TRRO(J) 246 WRITCOT, SJJAND, TRNOJ(J), TRROJ(J), TRROJ(J) 246 WRITCOT, SJJAND, TRNOJ(J), TRROJ(J), /pre>	$ \begin{array}{c} 12 = IZ \\ H \sim IT_{2} (IT, 9) I(0, IZ \\ DO 233 , J = 1, 544 \\ 230 & WRITE (IT, 93) TA (0, J), TRNOJ (J), TRNOJ (J) \\ 00 243 , J = 1, 120 \\ 00 243 , J = 1, 120 \\ 10 , IUJ, I), I = 1, 80 \\ H \sim IT_{2} (IT, 9, 0) (LIU, I), I = 1, 8) \\ H \sim IT_{2} (I1, 9, 0) ID, IZ \\ M \approx IT_{2} (19, 90) ID, IZ \\ M \approx IT_{2} (19, 90) ILS \\ 490 & CONTINUE \\ \end{array} $	
<pre>D0 23: J=1.441 23: WRIT(IT.3) T(Y)(J), TRNOJ(J), TRYC(J) 24: WRIT(IT.3) T(Y)(J), TEL+A) WRIT(IT.3) T(Y)(J)</pre>	D0 23: J=1,541 230 WRITE(IT,90)T64)(J),TRN0J(J),TRRC(J) D0 240 J=1,120 240 WRITE(IT,90)(L[J,I),I=1,8) WRITE(I9,97) ID,IZ WRITE(19,85)TLS 490 CONTINUS	
246 WRIT 002473, Marial Constraints of the second s	00 243 J=1,120 240 WRITE(IT,30)(LI(J,I),I=1,8) HAITE(19,90) ID,IZ WRITE(19,36)TLS 490 CONTINUS	•
<pre>90 CONTINUE 900 CONTINUE 900 CONTINUE 910 CONTINUE</pre>	MRIIE(19,06)TLS MRIIE(19,06)TLS	
<pre>530 GONTINUE SID SUPPOUTINE MMSPTD(IMA,INAJ,INB,INB,INB,INB,INB,INB,INB,INB,INB,INB</pre>		• •
<pre>Citic SUBPOUTIN_ MISPID(IMA,INAJ,INB,INBJ,IFBP,NRCP,UPAS,NARCS) SUBPOUTIN_ MISPID(IMA,INAJ,INB,INBJ,IFBP,NRCP,UPAS,NARCS) Citics and stat stat noise for istant stat stat stat Citics and stat stat stat stat stat stat stat Citics and stat stat stat stat stat stat stat sta</pre>	500 CONTINUE	
<pre>c++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++</pre>	END SUBPOUTTN: MUSPTD (INA.INA.I.TNB.INB.I.TEPP.NRCP.UPAB.NARCS)	•
C MODEL SHIP CALL AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND	C*****MULTINGDAL SHORTEST PATH KOUTING, USING MOORE TYPE TREE BUILDING C*****PROGRAMMED BY G. SHARP.SCHOOL OF ISYE.GEORGIA TECH.APRIL 1977	
C INAJ STAT NODE MODIFIER MA MODE ALLOWER APPERAV C INA STOP NODE OFTIONAL INAS STOP NODE OFTIONAL C IFAP FORMARDACKMARD PATH INDICATOR, CTIONAL LASS LENGTH OF NODE ACCIFTR, OFTIONAL C IFAP FORMARDACKMARD PATH INDICATOR, CTIONAL LASS LENGTH OF NODE ACCIFT, OFTIONAL C IFAP FORMARDACKMARD PATH NILL 3C FOUND, C SETTING INSTANDARD FOR ALCONCAPATH WILL 3C FOUND, C SETTING IFADE-1 VIELOS PATH IN STOP NODE STAFT NODE DIRECTION, C MODES FORMACU PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMAND PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE ANDE SOUTHOUND LIC. C MODES PERMANDE STREAM C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE STREAM C MODES PERMANDE STREAM C MODES PERMANDE STREAM C MODES PERMANDE STREAM C MODES PERMANDE PATH WILL 3C OUPPUT C MODES PERMANDE STREAM C MODES PERMENDES STREAM C MODES PERMANDE ST	C*****ARGUNENTS FOR SPECIFIC USE APE C INA START NODE	
C INA STOP MODE, OPTIONAL I HAJ STOP MODE, OPTIONAL I FAP FORMACO-BACKWARD PATH INDICATOR, CPTIONAL LPA3 L.MSTH OF ACCIFFTR, OPTIONAL LPA3 L.MSTH OF ACCIFFTR, OPTIONAL C.MSTH OF ACCIFFT, OF ACCIFFT, OF ALMONG OF ACCIFFT C.MSTH OF ACCIFFT, OF ACCIFFT, OF ALMONG OF ACCIFFT C.MSTH OF ACCIFFT, OF ACCI	Č INAJ START NODE MODIFIER C MA NODES ALLOWEDFAREAY	
C IFAP FORMACO-BACKWARD PATH INDICATOR, CPTIONAL PAGE LUNST OF ACCOL PATH OUTPUT C LPAS LINGTH OF ACCOL PATH AULT OF FOUND, C STILNG LAGING VALUES TO INASINATION CFALLOWARD, MODES C STILNG LAGING VALUES TO INASINATION OF ALLOWARD, MODES C STILNG IFAP=-1 VILLOS PATH IN STOP NODE-STAFT NODE DIRECTION, C OTHERWISE FORMADD PATH NILL OF OUTPUT C STILNG IFAP=-1 VILLOS PATH IN STOP NODE-STAFT NODE DIRECTION, C OTHERWISE FORMADD PATH NILL OF OUTPUT C STILNG IFAP=-1 VILLOS PATH IN STOP NODE-STAFT NODE DIRECTION, C OTHERWISE FORMADD PATH NILL OF OUTPUT C MODES: MODE 2 INSOLVE MODE-STAFT NODE 2 OUTCOM MODES: MODE 2 INSOLVE MODE 2 OUTCOM C MODES: MODE 2 INSOLVE MODE: SUPPESSED C MODES MODE 2 INSOLVE MODE 2 ON ACCESSED C MODE MODE 2 INSOLVE AND LODES IN PATH, USUALLY 2-3 MODE MODE 2 INSOLVE AND LODES IN PATH, USUALLY 2-3 MODE MODES AND A ACRAYC C MODE A ACCESSE OF COMESSING ACCESSED C MODE A ACCESSE OF ACCESSED C MODE A ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE A ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE A ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE A ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE A ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE A ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C MODE ACCESSED ACCESSED C M	C INB STOP NODE, OPTIONAL C INBJ STOP NODE MCCIFICR, OPTIONAL	
C	C IF3P FORWARD-BACKWARD PATH INDICATOR, CPILONAL C NRCP NUMBER OF AFCS ID PATH, OUTPUT	
C	C EPAS LENGTH OF NODE FROM PATH, UDIPOT C++++BY GIVING VALUES TO INS, NOJ A NODE NODE PATH WILL SE FOUND,	
C DEFINITION OF THE PARTY AND PARTY AND PARTY AND POLY OF THE NUMBER OF NODES C MODEL: SHIP, OF ISINATION IS ACHIEVED BY (NODE, NODE NODE NODIFICR): C MODEL: SHIP, OF ISINATION IS ACHIEVED BY (NODE, NODE NODIFICR): C MODEL: NODE 2 THEORY MODEL: FEEFIVE, DESTINATION C MODEL: NODE, ACHIEVED MODEL: FEEFIVE, DESTINATION C MODEL: NODE, ACHIEVED MODEL: FEEFIVE, DESTINATION C MODEL: NODE, ACHIEVED MODEL: FEEFIVE, DESTINATION C MODEL: NODE, ACHIEVED MODEL: FEEFIVE, DESTINATION C MODEL: NODE, ACHIEVED MODEL: FEEFIVE, MODEL: NODEL: FEEFIVE, DESTINATION C MODEL: SHIP, SINGLESS (NODEL: NODEL:	CHEMMA 1-1 AREAY ALCONS FOR ANY COMBINATION OF ALLOWARLE MODES CHEMMA 1-1 AREAY ALCONS FOR ANY COMBINATION OF ALLOWARLE MODES CHEMMASSITING TERRING VIE OF RATH IN STOP MODESSIALT NOTE DIRECTION.	
C MODEL REPRESENTATION MODE2: FECELVE, DESTINATION MODE3: MODE 2 INDOUND MODE2: FECELVE, DESTINATION MODE3: MODE 2 INDOUND MODE3: OUTBOUND LIC. C*****LINE HAUL ARCS ARC BETWEEN NDD., TUDE*, 5,, ALO (NOUE, MODE3, 5,) C TRANSFER AND FOR MARVING ARCS ARC BETWEEN (NOD:, MODE3, 5,, ALO (NOUE, MODE4, 6) C NOD:, MOTE3, 5,, ALO (NOUE, MODE4, 6) C NODE ARCS ARG (NODE + MODE3, 5,) C NODE ARCS ARG (NODE + MODE3, MODE4, 6) C NODE ARCS ARG (NODE + MODE3, MODE4, 6) C NODE ARCS ARG (NODE + MODE3, SUPPRESSED) C NACS NOT SET OF LINE H/UL ARCS (MODE5 SUPPRESSED) C NAD HUMAR DE MODES NMD HUMAR DE MODES NMD HUMAR DE MODES C NAMD L-2+NMO C NOTE IN ALL DIMEASIGN FACTOR, NATIO BETWEEN NUMBER OF NODES C NAMD L-2+NMO C NOTE IN DEAGE OF MODE - 1 C NOTE IN AN ORDER OF MODES C NOTE IN ARCS (NODE - ACTERISTICS C NOTE IN ARCS OF MODE - 1 C NOTE IN ARCS OF MODES - 1 C NOTE IN AN ORDER OF MODES C NOTE IN AN ORDER OF MODES C NOTE IN AN ORDER OF MODES C NOTE IN AN ORDER OF MODE C NOTE IN AN ORDER OF MODE - 1 C NOTA ARRAYS C NOTARCS, MODI) C NOTAR OF ARCS ARCTERISTICS C NOTARCS, MODI) C NOTARCS, MODI) C NOTARCS (NARCS, MODI) C NOTARCS (NOTARCS) C NOTARCS (NOTARCS)	C OTHERWISE FORWARD PATH WILL RE OUTPUT C OTHERWISE FORWARD PATH WILL RE OUTPUT	
C MCD=1: SHTP, ORIGINATION MODE2: PECEIVE, DESTINATION MODE3: MODE 2 INBOLAG MCD=44 MODE 2 OUTBOUND ETC. MODE5: MODE 3 FIBOUND MCDE5: MODE 3 OUTBOUND ETC. C*****LINE HAUL ARCS ARE SETWEEN (NODE, MODE3, 5,) ALO (NODE, MODE3, 5,) C TRANSER AND FORWARDING ARCS ARE METHEIN (NODE, MODE3, 5,) ALO (NODE, MODE4, 6,) C LOADING ARCS ARE (NODE, MODE3, 5,) TO (NODE, MODE2) C****VARIARL DIMENSION ARSULES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) NUBBER OF NODES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) NODE MODE NODE ARCS (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) NODE MODE NODE ARE NODES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) NODE MODE NODE ARE NODES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) NODE MODE NODE ARE NODES (MODES SUPPRESSED) NADE NUMARE OF MCDES C NATHER DIMENSION FACTOR, RATIO BETWEEN NUMBER OF NODES NOT HUMPER OF NODE CHARACTERISTICS MODE NUMARE OF MCDES IN PAIH, USUALLY 2-8 NOT HUMPER OF NODE CHARACTERISTICS C NARE NUMBER OF MCDES IN PAIH, USUALLY 2-8 NOT HUMPER OF NODE CHARACTERISTICS C NARE AND ARARYS C NARES, MODI ARARYS C NARES, MODI ARARYS C NARES, MODI ARARYS C NARES, MODI ARE OF MCDES IN ARE NODE C NOCHN C NODES ARE OF MCDES ARE COSTS FOR MCDES 2, 3,, NC(N) NODE (MARES FOR MCDE 2, 3,, NC(N	C - HOBRE KINCIGER MATCH IS REALLYIC BY ANODLANCE HOBI INC.	
<pre>G MODES: MODE 2 INBOUND MODEL: MODE 2 OUTBOUND LTC. MODES: MODE 3 INBOUND MODES: MODE 3 OUTBOUND LTC. (NODI.MUDEY, 5,) AND (NODE, MODE 3, 5,) C TRANSFER AND FORMARDING AFCS ARE METMELN (NODI.MUDEY, 5,) AND (NODE, MODE 4, 6,) C LOADING ARGS ARE (NODE, MODE, MODE 4, 6,) C UNCOADING ARGS ARE (NODE, MODE, MODE 2) C NARGS ARE (NODE, MODES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) C NARG NUMBER OF NODES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) C NAME NUMBER OF MODES C NAME NUMBER OF NODE (NODES IN PAIH, USUALLY 2-3 C NAME NUMBER OF NODE CHARACTERISTICS C NAME NUMBER OF NODE (LIST C REGUNARCS) ARE OF SUPPRESSED ARE LIST C REGUNARCS) ARE OF SUPPRESSED ARE LIST C REGUNARCS (NODI) AFC COSTS FOR MODES 2, 3, C NC(N) C NC(N) TRANSFER COST AREAYS C NOTION TRANSFER COST AREAY C NOTION AREAS AREAYS C NOTION AREAS AREAS C NOTION AREAS</pre>	C MODELL SHIP. ORIGINATION MODER: PROFIVE. DESTINATION	
C*****LINE HAUL ARCS ARE BETMEEN C (NDD:, HOLE +, 6,) ALD (NOUT, MOSE3, 5,) C TRANSFER AND FORMARNING AFOS ARE BETMEEN C (NDD:, MOT +, 5,) ALD (NOUT, MODE4, 6,) C ADDIG ARCS ARE (NOUT, MCLE1) (NODE, MODE4, 6,) C ADDIG ARCS ARE (NOUT, MCLE1) (NODE, MODE4, 6,) C UNLOADING ARCS ARE (NOUT, MCLE1) (NODE, MODE2) C*****VARIANLI DIMENSION ARSULENTS C N NUMBER OF NCDES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) C HARCS NUMBER OF LINE H/UL ARCS (MODES SUPPRESSED) C NAME HUMBER OF NCDES C NAME HUMBER OF MCDES C NAME HUMBER OF MCDES IN PAIH, USUALLY C-3 C NAME HUMBER OF MCDES - 1 C*****INPUTTED DATA ARRAYS C NARCS, MODI AND ARRAYS C NARCS, MODI A ARAAYS C NC ND, NMON TRANSFER COSI ARE AY C NC ND, NMON TRANSFER COSI ARE AY C *****OUTPUTTED SATA ARAAYS	Č MOD=3: NODE 2 INBOUND 40N=4: MODE 2 OUTBOUND ETC.	•
C TRANSFER AND FORWARDING AFCS ARE BETWEEN (NODI, MODE, 5,) AND (NODE, MODE4, 6,) LOADING ARES FARE (NODE, MODE, MODE4, 6,) C UNLOADING ARES AME (NODE, MODE, MODE4, 6,) C UNLOADING ARES AME (NODE, MODE3, 5,) TO (NODE, MODE2) C UNLOADING ARES AME (NODE, MODE3, 5,) TO (NODE, MODE2) C NAD NUMBLE OF NODES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) C NAD NUMBLE OF NODES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) C NAD NUMBLE OF NODES C NAD NUMBLE OF MODES C NAD NUMBLE OF MODES IN PAIH, USUALLY 2+3 C NNC NUMBER OF MODE CHARACTERISTICS C NNC NUMBER OF MODES - 1 C NAD NUMBER OF MODES - 1 C NAD NUMBER OF MODES - 1 C NON NUMBER OF MODE	Č*****LINE HAUL ARCS ARE BETWEEN C (NDD1,HUU=9,6,) AND (NODE,MOS=3,5,)	
C LOADING ARGS ARE (NODE, MODE 1) TO (NODE, MODE 4, 6, 4, 4) C UNLGADING ARGS ARE (NODE, MODE 3, 5, 4, 4) TO (NODE, MODE 2) C WALAMLI DIMENSION ARGUMENTS C NOT NUMBER OF NODES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) C NAMO NUMBER OF MODES C NAMO NUMBER OF MODES IN PAIH, USUALLY 2-3 C NAMO NUMBER OF MODES CHARACTERISTICS C NAMO NUMBER OF MODES CHARACTERISTICS C NAMO NUMBER OF MODES - 1 C******INPUTTED DATA ARRAYS C RCO(MARGS) AFC ORIGIN C RCO(MARGS, NMO1) AFC OF STINATION C RCO(MARGS, NMO1) AFC OF STINATION C RCO(MARGS, NMO1) AFC COSTS FOR MODES 2, 3, C NC(N) NODE CHARACTERISTIC FOR TRANSFER COSTS C NC(N) TO(IN) NODE CHARACTERISTIC FOR TRANSFER COSTS C NC(N) TEANSFER COST AREAY	C TRANSFER AND FORWARDING AFOS ARE BETWEEN C (NODI-MODEL-5 AND (NODE-MODEL-5)	
C*****VARIALL UTHENSION ARGUMENTS C N NUMBER OF NODES (MODIFIERS SUPPRESSED) C NAD NUMBER OF NODES (MODES SUPPRESSED) C NAD NUMBER OF MODES C NAD NUMBER OF MODES C NAUNDER DE NENNOPE C NATERIX DIMENSION FACTOR, KATIO BETWEEN NUMBER OF NODES IN NETWORK AND HODES IN PATH, USUALLY 2-8 C NNC NUMBER OF NODE CHARACTERISTICS C NNC NUMBER OF NODE CHARACTERISTICS C NNC NUMBER OF NODES - 1 C NNC	C LOADING ARGS ARG (NODE,MODE)IT TO (NODE,MODE446446446) C UNICADING APUS ARE (NODE,MODE355444) TO (NODE,MODE2)	
C INACS HUMSTER OF MEDIES (MODES SOPPLIESED) C NMD HUMSTER OF MEDIES C NEMD HET NOT CODES C NEMD HET NOT CODES C NOT TATE IX DIMENSION FACTOR, NATIO RETWEEN NUMBER OF NODES C NOT TATE IX DIMENSION FACTOR, NATIO RETWEEN NUMBER OF NODES C NOT HUMSTER OF MEDIES IN PAIH, USUALLY 2-3 C NNC HUMSTER OF MEDIES - 1 C*****INPUTTED DATA AFRAYS C PATE (N) POINTER TO FIRST APC FROM NODE C REDINARCS) AFC ORIGIN C REDINARCS) AFC ORIGIN C REDINARCS, NMO1) AFC COSTS FOR MEDIES 2, 3, C NC(N) NODE CHARACTERISTIC FOR TRANSFER COSTS C NC(N) NODE CHARACTERISTIC FOR TRANSFER COST AREAY	CONTRACTOR AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND	
C NZHMO N.42+NMO C NZHMOF NZHMOF MOF MATPIX DIMINSIGN FACTOR, RATIO C MOF NATPIX DIMINSIGN FACTOR, RATIO C MOF NATPIX DIMINSIGN FACTOR, RATIO Etween NUMBER OF C NNC NUMBER OF NCDES IN PATH, USUALLY 2+3 C NNC NUMBER OF NCDES -1 C NMD1 NUMBER OF MCDES -1 C NMD1 NUMBER OF MCDES -1 C NMD1 NUMBER OF MCDES -1 C NMD1 NUMBER OF NDDE IN AND NDDE C RED(NARCS) AFC OF AFC LIST AFC Station C RCO(NARCS) AFC DESTINATION AFC DESTINATION AFC Station Station Station Station Station Station Station Station Stat	C NMB NUMBER OF MCDES C NMB NUMBER OF MCDES C NM2 NUMBER	
C MDF MATPIX DIMENSION FACTOR, RATIO RETWEEN NUMBER OF NODES C IN NETWORK AND HODES IN PATH, USUALLY 2-3 C NNC HUMBER OF NODES CHAMACTERISTICS C HMD1 HUMBER OF MODES - 1 C******INPUTTED DATA ARRAYS PCINTER TO FIRST APC FROM NODE C PNTR(N) PCINTER TO FIRST APC FROM NODE C RCD(MARCS) AFC ORIGIN C RCO(MARCS) AFC COSTINATION C RCONSTRUCTION RCOSTIC FOR TRANSFER COSTS C NC(N) NODE CHARACTERISTIC FOR TRANSFER COSTS C TC(HARC, NMO) TEANSFER COST AREAY C*****FOR NODE OFICH HEC	Č №2ёмо Ц-2+№мо С №2имор Д2йнаджар	
C NNC RUMBER OF NCDE CHARACTERISTICS C HMD1 HUMBER OF MCDES - 1 C PMTA ARRAYS C PMTA (N) C PMTA (N) C RCD(MARCS) AFC DESTINATION C RCMARCS, HMD1) AFC COSTS FOR MCDES 2, 3, C RCMARCS, HMD1) C RCMARCS, HMD1) C RCMARCS, HMD1) C RCMARCS, HMD1	C MOF MATPIX DIMENSION FACTOR, NATIO BETWEEN NUMBER OF NODES C IN NETWORK AND LODES IN PATH, USUALLY 2-8	
C*****INPUTTED DATA ARRAYS PGINTER TO FIFST APC FROM NODE C PNTR(N) PGINTER TO FIFST APC FROM NODE C RCD(NARCS) AFC ORIGIN C RCD(NARCS) AFC DESTINATION C RCM(NARCS) AFC DESTINATION C RCM(NARCS) AFC DESTINATION C RCM(ND) AFC COSTS FOF MCDES 2,3, C NC(N) NODE CHARACTURISTIC FOR TRANSFER COSTS C TG(INC,NNE,NMO) TEANSFER COST AREAY C*****FOR NODE OFTICN TEANSFER COST AREAY	C NNC HUMBER OF NCOS CHARACTERISTICS C NMD1 HUMBER OF MCDES - 1	•
C RCO(NARCS) IN AN ORDERED ARC LIST C RCO(NARCS) AFC OPIGIN C RCO(NARCS) AFC OPIGIN C RCO(NARCS) AFC COSTS FOR MODES 2,3, C RC(NARCS, MMD1) AFC COSTS FOR MODES 2,3, C RC(N) NODE CHARACTERISTIC FOR TRANSFER COSTS C TG(INC, NND, NMO) TEANSFER COST AREAY C*****FOR NODE OPICN OPICN	C*****INPUTTED DATA ARRAYS C PATE (N) POINTER TO FIRST APC FROM NODE	
C RECINATEST ARE DESTINATION C RECINARGS, MODI ARE COSTS FOR MODES 2, 3, C NC(N) NODE CHARACTERISTIC FOR TRANSFER COSTS C TO(INC, NND, NMO) TRANSFER COST AREAY C*****FOR ROOTADE OFTICN	C IN AN ORDERED ARC LIST C RCO(NARCS) AFC OPIGIN	
C TO(INC,NND,NMO) TEANSFER GOST AREAY C++++OUTPUTLD DATA ARDAYS C++++FOR NDD-OPTICN	C RO(NARDS, MMD1) APO DESTINATION C RO(NARDS, MMD1) APO COSTS FOR MODES 2, 3,	
Č*****FÖR 8003-4008-0011C4	C TO (NNC, NND, NMO) AGON GHARAGINAISIG AGUN IRANSFER COSIS " C TO (NNC, NND, NMO) IEANSFER GOSI ARRAY	
C INCNE24 (NRO IZMOR) NODE IN PATH POSTITION	C+++++FOR ROOTION CONTICN C ++++FOR ROOTION CONTICN C	
Č JAJC JALC NODE HODIFIEF IN PATH POSITION C JRC() AFC TO NODE IN PATH POSITION	Č JAJC V NODE HODIFIEF IN PATH POSITION C JRC() AFC TO NODE IN PATH POSITION	1

00000000000000		**F0		EC RND RND RND RND RND RND RND RND RND	0P 0(N 0L()L()L()L()L()L()L()L()L()L()	TIU + 2+)) 1(2) H2)	¥N ∙ (N⊭	0))				FEES SEES LEAN LEAN LEAN LEAN LEAN LEAN LEAN LEAN	NOD NOD NOD NOD NOD NOD NOD STICE STICE		OUIF NOU TREC TREC OF O		NOT AMU PM6 F (N IN T		NVENT MBER US TR MODI MODI MODI MODI MODI MODI	NDJ NDJ NDJ NTE	() (F) (Cě	
ບ້ອຍອອອອອອອ		**SXI	PLAN T N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	ATI RL SCNR IP IA IA IB IB IB IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA	0N	09 0 0 1 1 1 1 5 2	URA URA SMP CODE COE COE COE COE COE	HERTEORA ENTEORA FOR OBEI OBEI	VAS SOL SYLL SYLL SYLL SILL SILL FILL FILL FILL		BLE IP IN CH NSI	GTH POS PRA PRA DER	IТІО 20 (NCHІ 20 F	ARG NG OR	UMEN OCCU LABE	T F FS LIN	ЭК 4 G	ı£⊋A'	Y)		 	
Ç,		SPC FC ZE		XTEG MEAG MEAG MEAG MEAG MEAG JAL JAL JAL JAL JAL JAL JAL JAL JAL JAL	REALESSON JEN JEN JEN JEN JEN JEN JEN JEN JEN JE	- 2010-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-	0(1 NO(NO(TEN UNJ E03 NG NG NG NG	1000 134 1010 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 1), KC), T 11 4. 0, P 0, P 0, M A 4 4	CD(: 「RN/ ())+ () () () () () () () () () () () () ()	100 50((55 ,NC	23.4 1044 23.4 23.4 7 7 7 7 7	PNTR (),T (,3) (L=(NO,T	(13 7FC 170 13) RND	9) (164 (55+)+MA J+TR	4,), 4,2 (4) RD,	LI(1),JH	30+6 (80) (80)	8) 2) L,	· · · ·		,
10		LI	1.11 03 JM)=0 31 (J)	يل (=	= 1. •	515		. '								•		•	•		
30	•	JRC	U (U) 19 19 19 19 19 19	(J(J =3 40 40 NOJ NOJ NOJ	، = (: {ر : {ر : {ر	い =1。 = と) = (1.4	ė	•	-				•					• •			
50 C*	***	TLE FLAE TRL SCR	00 (J) 32L .=1 NR=1	51 51 001	j: GI! WA	=1, N N	139 COE															
C*	* 1 *	TRN TRN TRN LIN *INI NA	101 (101 (101 (1104) 111 A 111 A 111 A	1)= 1)=)= 11= 11= 11= 11=	i i AJ	LJ 1=1 VA		NA.	J											•	• • •	
10 C*	0 +++	NA IF 1F 1F 00 1F	≕IN NAJ M00 S10 11. MA(AU LIA ERB NBM	•21 J•2 T=4	160 2). ANS 17.	10 20. F18 016	170 193 ARI 0 10	5 TO 55 4 55 4) 13 4CW .C	59								• • •		•	
C+	***	*CH3 NBJ IF1 *COM NCM	.CK =N3 LI(PA% A=1 =(N	F02 M42 E 1 C (N AJ+	P (131 131 41 11 11	26.4 205 72	ANT Li Ary	HT I SCN9 LA2	LABE RIAN BELS	С.Т Ю.С	10 10	PORA NA .N	161) 161)	LAB: •NE	EL .616	0 T (0 11	Û.				
*C •C	***	*88/ *88/ 15/ *N5/ 15/	IPL= INCH IL1(=L1 IT T ITEN	TAN ING NA, (NA YO PL.	01.0 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	(SC MPL J) 2 J) 4 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	N(K) 115 20 415 10 10	+ 10 NOC 0) 61 65 1 (NP)	(NC DE U DE U DE TO E MPL I DGO	NA , IKLA 12 Y 5 I TC	NA 1351 20 159 1:	M • Ni LED LAS	38) Bel	DOM	INAT	ED						
C+	• • • •	IF (•UPE) TRN TRN GO •LAG	ITEM DATE DE(CC TO DEL	PE. TE NP: NP: 110 UNL	01. 19 1=1 = N# 488	TEM LA IEM J	N)E 35E 25	(NP) NOV ODE) . A:1	10•5	15M	• N 2 •	. N A M	160	то 	11 (•			·		a
	120	TRU TRN TRN TRN TRN CON	=TP 10(T 10J(10L(10L(10L(10L(10L(10L(10L(10L	141 22721 7217 1713 1723	=N/)=1 =1/)=1	\ 180 180 180 191 181	۶Ļ				`				~, <u>.</u>				•			
		60	10	170											· .				· .			· · · ·

G****CONSIDER LINE APCS NOW the second state of the second state o	
135 IARGEPHIKTAAI C#####IARG IS FIRST ARC IN LIST STAPTING FROM NA C#####NEXI APANCHING IMPLIES ALL ARCS FROM NA EXAMINED	
140 IF(RCO(TANC).41.NA)GO TO 170 NJ=RCO(IARC)	
C*****CHECK FOR PLEMANENT, TEMPORARY LABEL NBJ=NAJ=1 Helin is companyed ting up up to the temporal to the second	
IFILIINA,NAJI,LLASCNFANDALIINA,MAJIANLACIGU TU 365 C#####COMPARE TIMPOKARY LABELS Namiena 1/2=1	
TEMSETISNOL (SCU2) +80 (IASC+NAU1)	
CTTTTTSRANGMING INFLIGS NODE UNLANDLED IF(LI(N),NRU,EQ:R)GO TO 130 CTTTTRARANGMING INFLIS N-W (A VI DOMINATED	
NP =LI(NB.N.3) IF(TLAPL.GE.TENDL(NP))GC TO 163	
C******UPDATE TEMPLAWEL NOW TRNDL(NP)=TEMPL	
ΙΑΧΟΙ ΝΡΙΞΙΑΚΟ GO TO 165 Γ+****1 ΑΛΑΙ ΠΑΙΑΚΙΕΠ ΝΟΟΓ στο 1999	
150 TRL=TPL+1 TRN0(TRL)=N3	
TRHUJ(TRL)=NBJ TRNOL(TRL)=TamPL	
IRRU(IRE)=IARU LI(NB+NBJ)=IRU 160 TARC=IAU(+1)	
C*****EXIT LABELING, PEGIN SHUFFLE	
C*****BRANCHING IMPLIES NO NEED TO SHUFFLE 5 OP 1 ARG	
NDIF=18(+504) IF(N5IF+L5+1)60 TO 220 L=SCU2+4	
LA=1+1 DO 21: M=LA,T=L	
IF(TRADL(L).LE.TRADL(M))GO TO 205 IVE=TRRO(L)	
T S BOLL VE T SOUTH	
TRRC(L)=TSRC(M) TRRC(M)=IV≟ XV==TXNDU(L)	
TRROLL)=T-RO(M) TRRO(M)=IV= XV=TRNOLL) TRNOLL()=TRNOL(M) TRNOL(L)=XV=	
TRRC(L)=T-RC(M) TRRC(M)=IVE XVE=TRNDL(L) TRNDL(L)=TRNDL(M) TRNDL(M)=XVE IVE=TRND(L) IVF=TRND(L) IVF=TRND(L)	,
TRRC(L)=TSC(M) TRRG(M)=IV= XVE=T&NOL(L) TRNOL(L)=TSNOL(M) TRNOL(L)=XV= IVE=TRNO(L) IVF=TRNOL(L) LI(1VE+IVF)=M IVG=TANO(M) TVH=TSNOL(M)	
TRRC(L)=T=R(M) TRRC(M)=IVE XVE=TRNDL(L) TRNDL(L)=TRNDL(M) TRNDL(M)=XVE IVE=TRND(L) IVF=TRNDL(L) L(IVE,IVF)=M IVG=TRNDL(M) IVH=TRNDL(M) L(IVE,IVH)=L TRND(L)=IVS	
TRRC(L)=TSQC(M) TRRG(M)=IV= XVE=TKNOL(L) TRNOL(L)=TENOL(M) TRNOL(M)=XV= IVE=TRNOL(L) IVF=TRNOL(L) LI(1V3+IVF)=M IVG=TANO(M) IVH=TENOJ(M) LI(1V3+IVH)=L TRNOL(L)=IV3 TENOJ(L)=IV4 TRNOL(L)	•
TRRC(L)=TSQC(M) TRRG(M)=IV= XVE=TANOL(L) TRNOL(L)=TSQOL(M) TRNOL(M)=XV= IVE=TRNO(L) IVF=TRNO(L) LI(1VE+IVF)=M IVG=TANO(M) LI(1VE+IVF)=M LI(1VE+IVF)=M IVG=TANO(M)=IVF TRNO(L)=IVS TRNO(M)=IVF 205 CC4TLAU= 210 CC4TLAU= 210 CC4TLAU=	
TRRC(L)=TSQC(M) TRRG(M)=TV= XVE=TKNOL(L) TRNOL(L)=TRNOL(M) TRNOL(L)=TRNOL(M) TRNOL(M)=XV= IVE=TRNOL(L) IVF=TRNOJ(L) LI(1VG+TVF)=M IVH=TRNOJ(M)= TRNOJ(M)=TVF TRNOJ(M)=TVF 205 CCMTLAU= 225 CCMTLAU= 227 CMTLAU= 228 CCMTLAU= 229 CCMTLAU= 229 CCMTLAU= 229 CCMTLAU= 220 CMTLAU= 220	
TRRC(L)=TSQC(M) TERG(M)=IV= XVE=TKNOL(L) TRNOL(L)=TSNOL(M) TRNOL(M)=XV- IVE=TKNOJ(L) IVF=TKNOJ(L) IVF=TKNOJ(L) IVG=TANO(M) IVG=TANO(M)=IVE TRNOL(L)=IVS TRNOL(L)=IVS TRNOL(L)=IVF 225 CCATINU= 221 CONTINU= 222 IF(NOIF.EC.C)COTO 23C C++++NCN PLACE NODE ON PERMANENT IRSE SCNE=SCAL+1 23C IF(IND: 20.TOND (SCNE).AND.INCJ.EC.TRUDJ(SCNE))GO TO 24C	
TRRC(L)=T-SQC(M) TRRC(M)=IV= XV=TANDL(L) TRNDL(L)=TSADL(M) TRNDL(L)=TSADL(M) IVF=TAND(L) IVF=TAND(L) IVF=TAND(M) IVF=TAND(M)=IVF TRND(L)=IVS TRND(L)=IVS TRND(M)=IVF 205 CCNTLNUE 210 CCNTLNUE 229 IF(NOIF.E0.0)CD [0 230 C*****NCN PLACE NODE ON PERMANENT TREE SCN4=SCH+1 230 IF(IN3.E0.TEND(SCN4).AND.INGJ.E0.TRNDJ(SCN7))G0 T0 240 C************************************	
IRRC(L)=I=V2 XV=T=XNDL(L) XV=T=XNDL(L) IV=T=ND(L) IV=T=ND(H) IV=T IV=T <th></th>	
IRRC(L)=IRRUL(M) IRRC(M)=IVE XV=TRNDL(L) TRNDL(L)=IRRUL(M) IV=IRND(L) IV=IRND(INCONE)	
<pre>TRRCLITETRUE(M) TRROL(L)=TRUE(M) TRROL(L)=TRUE(M) TRROL(L)=TRUE(M) TRROL(L)=TRUE(M) TRROL(L)=TRUE(M) IVE=TROL(L) IVE=TROL(L) IVE=TROL(L) IVE=TROUCH I</pre>	
TRRC(L)=T=RC(M) TRRC(L)=TX=UL(M) TRRD(L)=TX=UL(M) TRRD(L)=TX=UL(M) TRRD(L)=TX=UL(M) TV=TRND(L)=X TV=TRND(L)=X TV=TRND(M)=X TRND(L)=TV= TRND	
<pre>TRRC(L)=TF2C(M) TRRC(H)=TV1 XVE=TKNDL(L)=TRNUL(M) TRNDL(L)=TRNUL(M) TRNDL(L)=TRNUL(M) TV=TKNDL(L) LVF=TKNDL(L) LVF=TKNDL(L) LVF=TKNDL(L) LVF=TKNDL(L) LVF=TKNDL(L)=TV4 TFNDL(L)=TV4 TFNDL(L)=TV4 TFNDL(L)=TV4 TFNDL(L)=TV4 TFNDL(L)=TV4 Z205 CCNTINU= 220 IF(NOIF.E0.3)CO FO 230 C*****NOW HEAD LVF=TKNDL(SCNR).AND.IN 9J.E0.TKNDJ(SCNR))GO TO 240 C*****SEANCHIS MANGAN ENT TRRE 230 IF(IND: MANGE TREE FINISHED IF(NOIF.E1.)SO TO 40L NAJ=TRNDJ(SCNR) C*****SEANCHIAG: C 340K AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PLACED PERMANENT NODE C*****SEANCHIAG: C 340K AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PLACED PERMANENT NODE C*****SEANCHIAG: C 340K AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PLACED PERMANENT NODE C*****SEANCHIAG: C 340K AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PLACED PERMANENT NODE C*****SEANCHIAG: C 340K AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PLACED PERMANENT NODE C*****SEANCHIAG: C 340K AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PLACED PERMANENT NODE C*****SEANCHIAG: C 340K AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PLACED PERMANENT NODE C*****SEANCHIAG: C 340K AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PLACED PERMANENT NODE C*****SEANCHIAG: C 340K AND LABEL FROM NEWLY PLACED PERMANENT NODE C*****NOW IFRACE PITH FOF HODE=NOU: FAIF 240 UPA=TRNDL(SCNR) JN1=TRND(SCNR) JN1=TRND(SCNR) JN1=TRND(SCNR) JN1=TRND(SCNR) JN(J)=JN1 (JN1)=JN1 (JN1)=J</pre>	
<pre>TRRC(L)=TPSQL(A) IRRC(L)=TPSQL(A) I</pre>	
<pre>TRRC(L)=Trial(L) TRROL(L)=Trial(L) TRROL(L)=Trial(L) TRROL(L)=Trial(L) TRROL(L)=Trial(L) TRROL(L)=Trial(L) LI(1V0.TVF)====================================</pre>	
<pre>TRRe(1)=Tree(M) TRRD(1)=Tree(M) TRRD(1)=Tree(M) TRRD(1)=Tree(M) TRRD(1)=Tree(M) TRRD(1)=Tree(M) Trrd(1)=Tree(M) Trrd(1)=Tree(M) Trrd(1)=Tree(M) Trrd(1)=Tree(M) Trrd(1)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(M)=Tree(M) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(Tree(M)) Trrd(Tree(Tree(Tree(M))) Trrd(Tree(Tree(Tree(Tree(Tree(Tree(Tree(</pre>	

C****	*IDENTIFY NODE REACHED BY LINE HAUL ARG IN FORWARD PATH
270	U#U#1 TEXT CINNED TO 620
	JN(J) = JN1
	JNJ1=JRCI
	JNJ(J) = JR01
	IF CORTESORIAS ANDEONOISECEINAUECO IO SUO NDESTINA
	JRČ(J)≓JRO1
C****	•IDENTIFY NODE REACHED BY TRANSFER ARC IN FORWARD PATH
260	
	エキエレト しゃてい ほうしん しょうしん しゃ エレート しゃ エレート しゃ
	IF(JNI+JJ+INA+AND+JNJ+EC+INAJFGU +U 300 NP=1 [[]], .]]3 []
	JRCI=TREC(NP)
389	
C****	TRANCHING IMPLIES REVERSE PATH ORDER MAINTAINED
-	IF (IF3P,EQ,-1) 50 TO \$60
C++++	REVERSE PATH INFORMATION NOW
	1 V H = N K U / Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z
· ·	
•	ÎVÊ=Ĵi(Ĵ(Ĺ)
	JRC(L) = JEO(M)
	· 여년 (4) 두 1 전 달
7 • 0	- 162(以)二丁八日。
210	
C****	PREPARE OUTPUT INFORMATION FOR COMPLETE TREE
469	D0 410 L=1+130
	$\mathbb{N}^2 = \mathbb{L} \mathbb{I} \left(\mathbb{L}, 2 \right)$
41.0	1 LE LET FIK (9) LE (1) COTTO ROM
430	FORMAT (1HL, "EUN EXCELOEO", 714)
420	WRITE (5,43) JINA, INAJ, (MA(I), 1=1, NMD)
569	RETURN
	LNU

~

٠.

.

.

PROGRAM MMSPLT

C*** C	**PROGRAM HMSPLT PERFORMS THE MODAL SPLIT ON THE FLOW SAMPLE AND PROJUCES TAPL 20 PROFEMENT MARKET CHILDRE TABLE FOR TARGET FOR THE
	STAPE16, TAPE12, TAPE22, TAPE22) DIMENSION NOPE22(4), IPR2((3), S), SPLITA(9-, 3), (CLHCE(33, 3),
	KXINSIZ(5),IELUM(128,128),COMPTE(993,3,3),COMPTE(994,3,3), &XEC(137),TEL(138,128),KGE(4),U(8),CEOOF(53,3) DIMENSION PARM(2),PAR(8)
34	DATA PAR/.08,2*.162,.12,4*.162/ FORMAT(+(IIJ.FI2)) FORMAT(-(IIJ.FI2))
85 90	FORMAT(SII)
86 99	FORMAT(3F10.4) Format(3F10.4) Format(3F10.7)
C+++	**READ DATA FROM DETCIJ READ(16,93) NGPRZ DO 116,831.8
110	NZ=NOPRŻ(K) READ(16,34) (IPRZP(J,K),X,J=1,NZ)
	READ(16,85) CLUCF
	READ(16,93) HINSIZ READ(16,93) IFLMM PEAD(16,93) COMPT
****	READ(15,85) COMPTT REWIND 16 HREAD DATA FROM ANTORE TARETO
0	N=0 DO 200_KA=1,8
	NZ=NU2RZ(KA) DO 19. IZ=1.NZ READ(19.94) IA
	RCAD(19,66) XLE N=N+1 DO 160 T=1-17(
180 190	TLE(N,I)=XLI(I) CONTINUE CONTINUE
. C+++	REMIND 19 **READ OTHER DATA
C*+* C	PRAD(5,95) KOL **READ TAPE22, PERFORM MODAL SPLIT, AND WRITE RESULTS ON TAPE 20
	NT=) · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	K=KCL(KA) NZ=N0PRZ(KA)=L
	DU 446 I=1,92 NT=MT+1 REAU(22,92) 40
	NRITL(20,90) ND. DO 450 NN=1,ND N=N+1
	READ(22,36) 14 . H8 . X JA=IFLWN(NA,18)
460	U(M)=SPLITA(x,1)+(COMPTL(JA,1,M)+CEHOF(K,M) \$+COMPTT(J4+1,K)+CEPGE(K,K)+SPLITA(K,2)+
	&(GOMP)L(J4,2,3)+COMPT)(J4,2,3))+SPLITA(K,3)+ &(GOMPTL(J4,3,3)+COMPTT(J4,3,4)) U(4)=-1+*TL(1)T,NB)
,	
	DO 653 L1=1,4 IF(U(L1).LE100.) GO TO 610
610	GO TU 500 U (L1++)= >000 200000000000000000000000000000000
600	CONTINUE DO 815 M=1,3 IF(ABS(U(M)-U(4)).GE5*U(M).AND.ABS(U(M)-U(4)).GE64160 TO 845
815	$\overline{U}(8) = 0$
	Ŭ6=Ŭ(6) U7=U(7)
	U8=U187 UT=U5+U6+U7+U8





1

¢

.

PROGRAM MMHIJK

٩

G PROMEAN MENTION OF LOWINGS THE NAM HIJK FOS NAM '
PROMEAN MENTION OF CAMERS IN THE NAM HIJK FOS NAM '
PROMEAN MENTION OF CAMERS IN THE NAM HIJK FOS NAM '
PROMEAN MENTION OF CAMERS' AND THE NAME AND THE CAMERS' AND THE CAMERS'
INFORMATION OF CAMERS' AND THE CA 00 135 K=1.8 DC 135 N=1.125 135 INDIST(H,K)=9 C*****DETEK9[H: DESTINATIONS 00 14. K=1.8 NTENORIC(K) 00 15. N=1.9 FAD(12.31)IA.I3 150 INDIST(I3.K)=1NDIST(IB.K)+1 140 CONTINUE REATION 12 C*****SET UP 34SIC INFO FOR NEW FLOWS NI=0 NT=ú | | DO | 263 | K=1→8 | KA≠KGL(K)

	00 27	0.L=1.4	·				
•••	NI=01+1 IA=NO 1B=IP	PRZ(K)-4+L RZH(IA+K)			· · ·	, 	· . · · ·
	NING1 ING2= 00-29	J=013(1A+K) 0 0 N=1.120			,		
	1F(ĪN 1H0Z=	JEST(N,K).L INDZ+1	E.51G0 TO 25	Û			
	NELNB IE(IN	(L, I407,K)= 07.61,29)60	N TO 285				
	NFLCI	J(L,INEZ,K) LWM(IB,N)	ENENCIJ		· . • -		
	TREEC	(M)=001PTL(J4,1,M)*CLHC	F (KA+M)+	COMPTI(JA,1,N)	+ CLOCF (KA ,	• • • • •
	UTEST(H)= KH)+COMPTT	SPLITA(KA.1 (JA.2.3))*S)*TREIC(M)+(PLITA(KA+2)+	COMPTL(J) (COMPTL()	A,2, JA,3,M)+CJMPTT		
•· ··	&(JA,3,M)) IF(UT	*ŠPLITA(KA, SST(M),LE,=	31 193.1 GO TO	510		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
50 a		(M) = EXP(UTE 291	ST (HA)				
290		+981122999888 13	1001				.
		2)					
	U4=-1.4TU U5=UPATH(:	ČÍNT, NE 1)	· ·	•			
•	U6=UPATH(U7=UPATH(2)					
	UT=U5+U6+U 0T=U5+U6+U	U7+U8					
	PARMU PARMU ARG1=1	2)=PAR(K) 19707		. •			
•	ARG2=0 ARG3=0	Ŭ6/ŬŢ U7/ŬŢ				·	
	A八G4= 「「「」」「FRA1=」	UBZUT PNORM (ARG1+	PARILIZZ)				••••
	FRAZEL FRAJEL	PNOEM (ARG2) PNOEM (Arg3)	PARM IZZ) PARM IZZI				
,	ERAGEPINUR FRATERA1 FLERAL	ባላጸጉତ ዓታይቅ ለጠ ተሾሚቪሬ ተሾቪይሬተ ቆለተ	+ 1 2 2 1 F R A+				
	F2=5%42/F	AT				· .	
	FL=FRALZF NFLU(L,IN	RAT DZ,K)=(F1+U	1+F2*02+F2*U	3+F4+U4)/	SPLITA (KA ,1)	• • • • •	
•	NFLWGU(L.	IN()Z, K) = N()W	CIJ+NFLU(L,I	NDZ;K)*SF	>LITH		
	GO TO 28.					· -	
285 288	WRITE(6,11 CONTINUE	1) K.L.N				· · · · · · · · · · · ·	
27 (26 0	CONTINU:						
C+++	##PRINT HEW DO_300_K=1	FLCWS	• • •				
	WRII2(5,15 DO 314 J=2	5) K 1,12					
	DU 37.	L=194 . M=1930 . DEEUR/110	8.81160 40 30	65			· · · ·
370	CONTINU"	360 					
365	WRITE(6,19 WRITE(6,1)	9) L,J 7)L,HFLGIJ(L+H+K), NFLU(L,M,K),HF	ТМСU(L,M,K)		·
366	CONTINUE CONTINUE						
39 C		-				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	L H J	•				•	

ŀ

REFERENCES

- 1. Harris, Curtis C., Jr., <u>Regional Economic Effects of Alternative</u> Highway Systems, Ballinger Publishing Co., Cambridge, Mass., 1974.
- Polenski, K. R., C. W. Anderson and M. M. Shirley, <u>A Guide for</u> <u>Users of the U.S. Multiregional Input-Output Model</u>, <u>Massachusetts</u> <u>Institute of Technology</u>, Cambridge, Mass., 1974.
- 3. Wendt, Paul F., <u>Transportation Planning Land Use Studies--The State</u> of the Art, Georgia Department of Transportation Research Report #5, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 4. <u>Parametric Study Report</u>, <u>Multi-State Transportation Corridor</u>, Traffic Planning Associates, Inc. and William S. Pollard Consultants, Inc., Atlanta, Ga., 1974.
- Highway Corridor Study, Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri, Multi-State, Multi-Mode Transportation Route, William S. Pollard Consultants, Inc. and Traffic Planning Associates, Inc., Memphis, Tn., 1974.
- U.S. Department of Transportation, <u>Multi-Modal Transportation</u> <u>Feasibility Study of the Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri</u> <u>Route</u>, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1977.
- Schuessler, R. W. and Cardellichio, P. A., "NTP Commodity Flow Projections - Data and Methods Description," Transportation Systems Center, Report No. 55-212-01-33, Cambridge, Mass., 1977.
- 8. U.S. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Transportation</u>, U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- 9. U.S. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Manufacturers</u>, U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 10. Gill, C. G. and Whitten, H. O., "Development of Transport Cost Functions," U.S. DOT, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 11. Reebie, R. S. et al., "National Intermodal Network Feasibility Study," Report No. FRA/OPPD - 76/2.1, Federal Railroad Administration, Washington, D.C., May 1976, PB 258 196.
- 12. M.I.T. Center for Transportation Studies, <u>Railroad Reliability and</u> <u>Freight Car Utilization: An Introduction</u>, CTS Report 75-8, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, Mass., 1975.
- Federal Railroad Administration, U.S. Transportation Zone Maps, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington, D.C., 1975.

- 14. Various Interstate and State Highway Department Maps.
- 15. Halder, Alan K., "The Method of Competing Links," <u>Transportation</u> <u>Science</u>, Vol. 4, No. 1, February 1970, pp. 36-51.
- 16. Sharp, G. P. and P. S. Jones, "Evaluating Modal Transfer Operations with Network Flow Models," <u>Proceedings of the Third Intersociety</u> Conference on Transportation, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 17. LeClerg, F., "A Public Transport Assignment Method," <u>Traffic</u> Engineering and Control, June 1972, pp. 91-96.
- 18. Sharp, Gunter P., <u>Equilibrium Traffic Assignment for Multiclass-User</u> <u>Transportation Networks</u>, ISyE Research Report W-77-1, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 19. Christofides, Nicos, Graph Theory, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- Quandt, R. E. and W. J. Baumol, "The Demand for Abstract Transport Modes: Theory and Measurement," <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>, Vol. 6, No. 2, 1966.
- 21. Quandt, R. E., The Demand for Travel: <u>Theory and Measurement</u>, Heath, Lexington, Massachusetts, 1970.
- 22. Herendeen, J. H., <u>Theoretical Development and Preliminary Testing of</u> <u>a Mathematical Model for Predicting Freight Modal Split</u>, Pennsylvania Transportation Institute Report TTSC6908, Pennsylvania State University, 1966.
- "The National Transportation Plan Modal Split Model," unpublished,
 U. S. Department of Transportation Paper.
- 24. Ruiter, E. R., "Analytical Structures: Resource Paper," in <u>Urban</u> <u>Travel Demand Forecasting</u>, Special Report 143, Highway Research Board, 1973.
- 25. Zangwill, W., <u>Nonlinear Programming: A Unified Approach</u>, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1969.
- 26. FEA Report
- 27. Thuesen, H. G., Fabrycky, W. J., and Thuesen, G. J., <u>Engineering</u> Economy, 5th Ed., Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1977.
- 28. Tax Institute of America, <u>State and Local Taxes on Business</u>, Princeton, 1965.
- 29. Rogers, George, <u>Georgia Principal Industrial Taxes</u>, Georgia Department of Industry and Trade, Atlanta, 1971.
- 30. Creighton, Roger Associates, Inc. and R. L. Banks & Associates, Inc., "Freight Data Requirements for Statewide Transportation Systems Planning," NCHRP8-17, National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Washington, D. C., 1977.

E-24-651

Report No. DOT-OS-60512-6

PROCEDURES FOR MULTI-STATE MULTI-MODE ANALYSIS: TASK 6, DATA SOURCES

Submitted by

Georgia Institute of Technology in collaboration with: The University of Alabama Arkansas State University Auburn University Memphis State University Mississippi State University The University of Missouri The University of North Florida and

Tennessee Technological University

December 1977 Task 6 Report

Prepared for U.S. Department of Transportation Office of the Secretary Washington, D.C. 20590

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alabama Dept. of Industrial Relations, Research and Statistics Division, <u>Annual Average Labor Force</u>: 1970 - 1975, Montgomery, Alabama, April, 1976.
- 2. Alabama Dept. of Industrial Relations, Research and Statistics Division, Area Manpower Review, Montgomery, Alabama, Sept., 1976.
- 3. Alabama Dept. of Industrial Relations, Research and Statistics Division, <u>Statistical Bulletin</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, Oct., 1976.
- 4. Alabama Development Office, Alabama Airports, Montgomery, Alabama.
- 5. Alabama Development Office, <u>Alabama Centralized to the Southeast</u> <u>Market</u>, Montgomery, Alabama.
- 6. Alabama Development Office, <u>Alabama's Ocean Port</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, Jan. 1975.
- 7. Alabama Development Office, <u>Alabama's Waterways Serve Industries</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, Dec., 1974.
- Alabama Public Service Commission, <u>Annual Report for Fiscal Year</u> October 1, 1974 - September 30, 1975, Montgomery, Alabama, 1975.
- 9. Alabama State Docks Dept., <u>Alabama State Docks Systems Handbook</u>, Mobile, Alabama, 1975.
- Alabama State Docks Dept., <u>Port of Mobile</u>, Mobile, Alabama, Nov., 1976.
- Alabama State Highway Dept., <u>1974 Alabama Traffic Flow Map</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, 1974.
- Alabama State Highway Dept., <u>Official 1976 Alabama Highway Map</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, 1976.
- 13. Arkansas Industrial Development Commission, Water Transportation in Arkansas: Gateway to Profit, Little Rock, Arkansas, 1974
- 14. Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>An Analytical Perspective on the</u> <u>Determination of Highway Commodity Flow Corridors in Arkansas</u>, Little Rock, Arkansas, April, 1975.
- 15. Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>Arkansas 1976 State Highway Map</u>, Little Rock, Arkansas, 1976.
- 16. Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>1972 Traffic Volumes and County</u> <u>Road Number Map for County Arkansas</u>, (1 map for each county), Little Rock, Arkansas, 1972.
- 17. Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>1976 Highway Map of Arkansas</u>, Little Rock, Arkansas, January 1, 1976.

- 18. Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>Rural State Highway Federal Aid</u> Systems Map, Little Rock, Arkansas, July 1, 1976.
- 19. Arkansas Transp. Commission, <u>Arkansas Transportation Commission</u> Official Map 1975, Little Rock, Arkansas, 1975
- 20. Birmingham Southern Railroad Company, <u>Birmingham Southern Railway</u> <u>Company and Locations of Mining and Metallurgical Operations in</u> the Vicinity of Birmingham, Alabama, Birmingham, Alabama
- Bronzini, M.S., et al, "<u>A Transportation Sensitive Model of a</u> Regional Economy", Transp. Res., Vol. 8, pp. 45-62, 1974.
- 22. Bureau of the Census, 1970 Census, Washington, D.C.
- Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Manufacturers</u>, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 24. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Transportation</u>, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Transportation, Commodity</u> <u>Transportation Survey: Public Use Tape User's Manual</u>, Washington, D.C., January 1976.
- 26. Bureau of the Census, <u>State to State Commodity Flow Data Tape:</u> CTS72. OD2, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- Burrows, J.C., et al, <u>Industrial Location in the United States:</u> <u>A Charles Rivers Research Study</u>, Heath Lexington, Lexington, Mass., 1971.
- 28. Christofides, Nicos, Graph Theory, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- 29. <u>Code of Federal Regulations</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- 30. COMSIS, <u>BEA Commodity Flow Data Tape:</u> 20 Commodities, Wheaton, Maryland, 1975.
- 31. Coyle, J.J., et al, "Methodological Framework for Comprehensive Transportation Planning", The Pennsylvania State University and Carnegie-Mellon University, Pennsylvania Transp. and Traffic Safety Center, Pittsburgh, 1968.
- 32. Creighton, Roger, Assoc., Inc. and R.L. Banks and Assoc., Inc., "Freight Data Requirements for Statewide Transportation Systems Planning", National Cooperative Highway Research Program, NCHRP8-17, Washington, D.C., 1977.
- 33. Dafermos, S.C., "The Traffic Assignment Problem for Multi-Class -User Transportation Networks", Trans. Sci., No. 6, pp. 73-87
- 34. Dial, Robert B. "Urban Transportation Planning System, Philosphy and Function", <u>Transp. Res. Rec.</u>, No. 599, Washington, D.C., 1976.

- Federal Energy Admin., <u>National Energy Outlook</u>, Washington, D.C., Feb., 1976.
- Federal Railroad Admin., <u>U.S. Transportation Zone Maps</u>, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> <u>Statistics: Citrus Summary - 1975</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec. 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> <u>Statistics:</u> <u>Dairy Summary - 1975</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec. 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> <u>Statistics: Field Crops Summary - 1975</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec., 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> <u>Statistics: Livestock Summary - 1975</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec. 1975.
- 41. Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> <u>Statistics: Poultry Summary - 1975</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec., 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, Florida Agricultural Statistics: Vegetable Summary - 1975, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec., 1975.
- 43. Florida DOT, <u>Annual Vehicle Classification Report: Fiscal Year</u> <u>1975 - 1976</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, 1976.
- Florida DOT, <u>1972 Truck Weight Study Report</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, 1973.
- 45. Florida DOT, <u>1975 Florida Traffic Flow: Major Highways and Street</u> Systems, Tallahassee, Florida, 1975.
- 46. Galambos, E., <u>State and Local Taxes in the South, 1973</u>, Southern Regional Council, Inc., Atlanta, Georgia, 1974.
- 47. General Services Admin., Office of the Federal Register, <u>U.S. Govern-</u> ment <u>Manual</u>, Washington, D.C.
- 48. Georgia Bureau of Industry and Trade, <u>Georgia Manufacturing Directory</u>, Atlanta, Georgia 1976.
- 49. Georgia Bureau of Industry and Trade, <u>1975 Georgia Manufacturing</u> Wage Rates, Atlanta, Georgia, March 1976.
- 50. Georgia Chamber of Commerce, <u>The 1976 Industrial Survey of Georgia</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1976.
- 51. Georgia Dept. of Community Development, <u>Economic Development Profile</u> for ..., Atlanta, Georgia, (one report for each area in Georgia).

- 52. Georgia Dept. of Community Development, <u>Georgia Transportation</u> <u>Systems</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1972.
- 53. Georgia DOT, <u>A 20 Year Multi-Modal Transportation Plan</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1974.
- 54. Georgia DOT, <u>State of Georgia Traffic Map:</u> <u>State Highway System</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 55. Gill, C.G., and Whitten, H.O., "Development of Transport Cost Functions", U.S. DOT, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 56. Goodnight, J.J., "Model for Estimating Regional Air Passenger Travel Demands", <u>Hwy. Res. Rec.</u>, No. 472, Washington, D.C., 1973.
- 57. Halder, A.K., "The Method of Competing Links", <u>Transp. Sci.</u>, Vol. 4 No. 1, Feb., 1970, pp. 36-51.
- 58. <u>Handy Railroad Atlas of the United States</u>, Rand McNally and Co., Chicago, 1973.
- 59. Harris, Curtis C., Jr,. <u>Regional Economic Effects of Alternative</u> <u>Highway Systems</u>, Ballinger, Cambridge, Mass., 1974.
- Harris, R.G., "Statistical Analysis of the FRA Waybill Sample", Federal Railroad Admin., Office of Rail Economics and Policy Development, Washington, D.C., 1977.
- 61. Herendeen, J.H., <u>Theoretical Development and Preliminary Testing</u> of a Mathematical Model for Predicting Freight Modal Split, Pennsylvania Transp. Inst., Report TTSC 6908, Pennsylvania State University, 1969.
- Hille, S.J., and E.R. Bruning, "Legal Considerations in the Development of a Multi-Modal Corridor", U. of Alabama, University, Alabama, 1977.
- 63. Interstate Commerce Commission, <u>Cost of Transporting Freight by Class</u> <u>I and Class II Motor Common Carriers of General Commodities</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 64. Interstate Commerce Commission, Formula for Use in Determining Rail Freight Service Costs, Statement IFI-73, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1973.
- 65. Jones, P.S., "Procedures for Multi-State, Multi-Mode Corridor Analysis, Task 2: Analytical Guidelines", Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, 1977.
- 66. Jones, P.S., and Sharp, G.P., "An Analytical Process for Coupling Economic Development with Multi-Mode and Institute Transportation Improvements", Transportation Research Board, in review.

- 67. Jones, P.S., and Sharp, G.P., <u>An Integrated Framework for Economic Development and Multi-Modal Transportation Corridor Improvement</u>, Paper presented at XIII International Meeting of the Institute of Management Science, Athens, Greece, July 25-27, 1977, ISyE Research Report No. C-77-3, Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 68. Jones, P.S., and Sharp, G.P., "Multi-Mode Intercity Freight Transportation Planning for Underdeveloped Regions", <u>Proceedings of the</u> <u>18th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Forum</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 69. Lasdon, L.S., <u>Optimization Theory for Large Systems</u>, Macmillan, New York, 1970
- 70. LeBlanc, L.J., E.L. Morlok, and W.P. Pierskalla, "An Accurate and Efficient Approach to Equilibrium Traffic Assignment on Congested Networks", Transp. Res. Rec., No. 491, 1974, pp. 12-23.
- 71. LeClerg, F., "A Public Transport Assignment Method", <u>Traffic</u> Engineering and Control, June 1972, pp. 91-96.
- 72. Lee, T.H., et al, <u>Regional and Interregional Intersectoral Flow</u> <u>Analysis: The Method and an Application to the Tennessee Economy</u>, University of Tennessee Press, Knoxville, Tenn., 1973.
- 73. Leontief, W.W., <u>Input- Output Economics</u>, Oxford Press, New York, 1966.
- 74. Lieb, Robert, <u>Freight Transportation, A study of Federal Intermodel</u> Ownership Policy, Praeger, New York, 1972.
- 75. Lipinski, M.E., and H.L. Petty, "Development of Multimodal Evaluation Procedure", Memphis State University, Transportation Center, Memphis, 1977.
- 76. Mammott, F.W. and F.S. Schalz, "Truck Route Analysis: A Useful Tool for Statewide and Regional Rail Planning", <u>Transp. Res. Rec.</u>, No. 591, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 77. Mississippi Aeronautics Commission, <u>Mississippi Aeronautical Chart</u> 20th Edition, Jackson, Miss., May, 1976.
- 78. Mississippi Employment Security Division, <u>Covered Employment and Wages:</u> <u>Third Quarter 1975</u>, Jackson, Miss., 1976.
- 79. Mississippi Employment Security Division, <u>Estimated Labor Force Data</u> for <u>Affirmative Action</u>, Jackson, Miss., June 1976.
- 80. Mississippi Geological, Economic, and Topological Survey, <u>The Mineral</u> Industry of Mississippi, 1972, Jackson, Miss., 1972.
- 81. Mississippi Research and Development Center, <u>Growth Potential for the</u> Port of Gulfport, Jackson, Miss., 1974.

- 82. Mississippi Research and Development Center, <u>Mississippi</u> Transportation Directory, Jackson, Mississippi.
- 83. Mississippi State Highway Dept., Official Highway Map of Mississippi, Jackson, Miss., 1974
- 84. Mississippi St. U., Division of Research, <u>Mississippi Business</u> Review, (selected portions), State University, Miss., Oct. 1976.
- 85. Missouri Dept. of Agriculture, <u>Missouri Farm Facts: 1976</u>, Columbia, MO., 1976.
- 86. Missouri DOT, <u>Missouri Commercial Vehicle Flow and Volume Map:</u> 1973, Springfield, MO, 1973.
- 87. Missouri DOT, Missouri 1975 Traffic Map, Springfield, MO, 1975.
- Missouri DOT, Missouri Official Highway Map: 1976, Springfield, MO, 1976.
- 89. Missouri DOT, 1973 Traffic Map of Missouri, Springfield, MO, 1977
- 90. Missouri Employment Security Division, <u>Average Unemployment</u> <u>Insurance Covered Employment and Average Weekly Wages by County</u>, Springfield, MO, 1975.
- 91. Missouri Employment Security Division, <u>Manpower Information for</u> Affirmative Action Programs, Springfield, MO, July, 1976.
- 92. Office of Manpower and Budget, <u>Standard Industrial Classification</u> Manual, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1972.
- 93. Pardee, F.S., <u>Measurement and Evaluation of Alternative Transpor-</u> <u>tation Mixes:</u> Vol. I = Summary; Vol. II = Methodology: Vol. III = Example; RM-6324 - DOT, The Rand Corp., Santa Monica, CA, 1970.
- 94. Pearson, Karl, <u>Tables of the Incomplete Gamma Function</u>, Office of Biometrica, London 1922
- 95. "The Perception and Values in Travel Demand," <u>Transp. Res. Rec.</u>, No. 592, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 96. Phares, D., <u>State-Local Tax Equity</u>, Lexington Books, Lexington, Mass., 1973.
- 97. Polenske, K.R., <u>Interregional Analysis of U.S.</u>, <u>Commodity Freight</u> <u>Shipments</u>, Paper prepared for the Society of Automotive Engineers Meeting, Detroit, Mich., Feb. 27, 1974.
- 98. Polenske, K.E., C.W. Anderson, and M.M. Shirley, <u>A Guide for Users</u> of the U.S. Multi-regional Input - Output Model, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Cambridge, Mass., 1974.

- 99. Prasanna, S., W. Morgan, and M. Danlouji, "National Zone Structure for Transportation Analysis", Memphis State U., The Transportation Center, Memphis, Tenn., 1977.
- 100. Quandt, E.E., <u>The Demand for Travel: Theory and Measurement</u>, Health, Lexington, Massachusetts, 1970
- 101. Quandt, E.E., and Baumol, W.J., "The Demand for Abstract Transport Modes: Theory and Measurement", <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>, Vol. 6, No. 2, 1966.
- 102. <u>Railroad Reliability and Freight Car Utilization: An Introduction</u>, CTS Report 75-8, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Center for Transportation Studies, Cambridge, Mass., 1975.
- 103. Reebie, R.S., et al, "National Intermodal Network Feasibility Study", Report No. FRA/OPPD-76/2.1, Federal Railroad Administration, Washington, D.C., May 1976, PB 258 196.
- 104. <u>Road Atlas: United States, Canada, and Mexico</u>, 53rd Edition, Rand McNally, Chicago, 1977.
- 105. Roberts, P.O., <u>Developing Freight Origin Destination Data for Use</u> <u>in Freight Planning</u>, CTS Report No. 74-3, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Center for Transportation Studies, Feb., 1976.
- 106. Roberts, P.O., Forecasting Freight Flows Using a Disaggregate Freight Demand Model, CTS Report No. 76-1, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Center for Transp. Studies, Jan. 1976.
- 107. Rogers, George, <u>Georgia Principal Industrial Taxes</u>, Georgia Dept. of Industry and Trade, Atlanta, 1971.
- 108. Ruiter, E.R., "Analytical Structures: Resource Paper", in <u>Urban</u> Travel Demand Forecasting, Special Report 143, Hwy. Res. Bd., 1973.
- 109. Samuelson, R.A. and P.O. Roberts, "A Commodity Attribute Data File for Use in Freight Transportation Studies", CTS Report 75-20, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Cambridge, Mass., 1975.
- 110. Sax, "Takings and the Police Power", 74 Yale Law Journal 36, 1974, pg. 318.
- 111. Schuessler, R.W. and Cardellichio P.A., "NTP Commodity Flow Projections - Data and Methods Description", Report No. 55-212-01-33, U.S. DOT, Transp. Systems Center, Cambridge, Mass., 1977.
- 112. Sharp, G.P., "Equilibrium Traffic Assignment for Multiclass-User Transportation Networks", ISyE Research Report W-77-1, Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.

- 113. Sharp, G.P., "Procedures for Multi-State, Multi-Mode Corridor Analysis, Task 5: Model Formulation", Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 114. Sharp, G.P., "Selection and Use of a Freight Modal Split Model", ISyE Research Report W-77-2, Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 115. Sharp, G.P., and P.S. Jones, "Evaluating Modal Transfer Operations With Network Flow Models", <u>Proceedings of the Third Intersociety</u> <u>Conference on Transportation</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 116. Sharp, G.P., P.S. Jones, M.A. Mullens and H.C.D. Yu, "An Intermodal Transportation Network Model", Transportation Research Board, in Review.
- 117. Swerdloff, C.N., <u>Developing a National Network Model of Intercity</u> Freight Movement in the United States, Paper presented at the Planning and Transport Research and Computation Ltd. International Symposium on Freight Traffic Models, Amsterdam, Netherlands, May 4-7, 1971.
- 118. Tax Institute of America, <u>State and Local Taxes on Business</u>, Princeton, N.J., 1965
- 119. Tennessee Dept. of Agriculture, <u>Tennessee Agricultural Statistics</u>: Annual Bulletin - 1976, Nashville, Tenn., Aug. 1976.
- 120. Tennessee Dept. of Economic and Community Development, Economic Statistics on Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., 1976.
- 121. Tennessee Dept. of Economic and Community Development, <u>Tennessee</u> <u>Community Data for...</u>, (1 for each community), Nashville, Tenn., Feb., 1976.
- 122. Tennessee Dept. of Economic and Community Development, <u>Transportation</u> in Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., 1976.
- 123. Tennessee Dept. of Economic and Community Development, <u>Wages, Salaries</u>, and Fringe Benefits Survey for...., Nashville, Tenn., 1976.
- 124. Tennessee DOT, <u>1975 Average Daily Traffic on Highways and City Streets</u> in <u>Tennessee</u>, Nashville, Tenn., 1975.
- 125. Tennessee DOT, 1975 Truck Weight Survey, Nashville, Tenn., July, 1976.
- 126. Tennessee DOT, 1995 Statewide Arterial Highway Plan, Nashville, Tenn.
- 127. Tennessee DOT, Official Highway Map of Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., 1975.
- 128. Tennessee DOT, Railways in Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., 1969
- 129. Tennessee DOT, <u>Summary of Rail Transportation Systems in the State</u> of Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., March 1974.

- 130. Tennessee DOT, <u>Summary of Tennessee's Waterways System</u>, Nashville, Tenn., March, 1974.
- Tennessee DOT, <u>Tennessee Airport System Plan: Summary Report</u>, Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 1972.
- 132. Tennessee DOT, <u>Tennessee's Opportunities on Its Waterways System</u>, Nashville, Tenn., Nov. 1974.
- 133. Tennessee DOT, <u>Traffic Flow Map</u>: <u>State of Tennessee</u>, Nashville, Tenn., 1975.
- 134. Tennessee DOT, <u>Vehicle Classification Counts 1975</u>, Nashville, Tenn., April 1976.
- 135. Tennessee Public Service Commission, <u>Natural Gas Pipelines:</u> Intrastate and Interstate, Nashville, Tenn., 1971
- 136. Tennessee Public Service Commission, <u>Official Railroad Map</u>, Nashville, Tenn., Nov. 1968.
- 137. Tennessee Valley Authority, <u>Transmission System</u>, Nashville, Tenn., July 1960.
- 138. Thuesen, H.G., W.J. Fabrycky and G.J. Thuesen, <u>Engineering Economy</u>, 5th Ed., Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1977
- 139. Traffic Planning Associates, Inc., and Wm. S. Pollard Consultants, Inc., <u>Study Design: Multi-State Transportation Corridor</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1974.
- 140. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, <u>Alabama Water Resources Development</u>, Washington, D.C., March 1, 1975.
- 141. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, <u>Condition of Improvement</u> (for each of the Alabama rivers), Washington, D.C., various dates.
- 142. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, <u>Missippi River and Tributaries Inland</u> Waterways System, Washington, D.C., Aug., 1975.
- 143. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, <u>Waterborne Commerce of the U.S.</u>: Calendar Year 1974, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- 144. United States Code, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- 145. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, <u>Domestic Waterborne Trade of the United</u> States: 1967-1974, Washington, D.C., 1974.
- 146. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, <u>OBERS Projections: 1972 Regional Economic</u> Activity in the U.S., Vol. 2, "BEA Areas", Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 147. U.S. Dept. of Labor, <u>Area Manpower Report Series</u>, Washington, D.C., July 1976.

- 148. U.S. DOT, <u>Multi-Modal Transportation Feasibility Study of the</u> Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri Route, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., July 1977.
- 149. U.S. DOT, "The National Transportation Plan Modal Split Model", unpublished paper.
- 150. U.S. DOT, <u>Preliminary Standards, Classification, and Designation</u> of Lines of Class I Railroads in the United States, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., August 3, 1976.
- 151. Wardrop, J.G., "Some Theoretical Aspects of Road Traffic Research", Proc. Inst. Civil Eng., 1952, pp. 325-378.
- 152. Wendt, Paul F., "Transportation Planning Land Use Studies The State of the Art", Research Report #5, Georgia DOT, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 153. Wm. S. Pollard Consultants, Inc., and Traffic Planning Associates, Inc., <u>Parametric Study Report: Multi-State Transportation</u> <u>Corridor</u>, Atlanta, Georgia 1974.
- 154. Zangwill, W., <u>Nonlinear Programming: A Unified Approach</u>, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1969.

PROCEDURES FOR MULTI-STATE MULTI-MODE ANALYSIS: FIRST YEAR'S RESEARCH

Paul S. Jones, Editor Submitted by

Georgia Institute of Technology in collaboration with:

The University of Alabama Arkansas State University Auburn University Memphis State University Mississippi State University The University of Missouri The University of North Florida and Tennessee Technological University



December 1977 Final Report

Document is available to the public through the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22151

Prepared for U. S. Department of Transportation Office of the Secretary Washington, D. C. 20590

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No.	2. Government Access	ion Ne. 3.	Recipient's Catalog No	h.			
DOT-OS-60512-8				:			
d. Title and Subtitle	Title and Subtitle						
Dresslungs for Welts C							
Multi-Mode Analysis: I	6.	Performing Organizatio	n Code				
Research			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
	8. 1	^o erforming Organizatio	n Report No.				
Paul S. Jones. Editor		• •					
9. Performing Organization Name and Addre	53	10.	Work Unit No. (TRAIS)			
Georgia Institute of T	achnology						
Atlanta Georgia 3033)	11.	Contract or Grant Na.				
in collaboration with	- eight other u	niversities	DOT-0S-60512				
12. Spontaring Agency Name and Address			Type of Report and Pa	riod Covered			
Office of Transportation and Information	on Systems Ana	lysis	inal Report	• ·			
Office of the Secretary	v of Transport	ation 14,	14. Sponsoring Agency Code				
Washington, D.C. 2059	0						
15. Supplementary Notes			•	•			
Subcontractors: U. of Mississippi St. U., U.	Alabama, Arka of Missouri,	nsas St. U., Au U. of North Flo	burn U., Mem _j rida, Tennes:	phis St. U., see Tech. U.			
This document presents an analytical, network based procedure designed to measure quantitatively the interactions between economic development potential and transportation service improvements. The transportation ser- vices of interest include both existing and developmental modes and inter- modal services based on efficient transfer technology. The analysis focuses on a single area - the Multi-State Corridor extending from Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City. Significant results from the first year's research are: 1) Establish- ing variable-sized network zones, based on APDC's and BEA sectors. 2) Identifying network arcs, consisting of Interstate, Federal aid primary, and state highways, class I and II rail lines, and navigable inland water- ways. 3) Defining 53 industry/commodity groups, along with production coefficients for labor, energy, capital, and materials. 4) Preparing a 111 zone, 53 commodity flow table for the U.S. 5) Calibration of abstract mode split equations for seven industry/commodity groups. 6) Developing and calibrating market share equations based on the distribution of							
and calibrating market	or seven indus share equations where sight a	stry/commodity gons based on the	roups. 6) De distribution	of abstract eveloping n of			
and calibrating market delivered price for each procedure in four zone	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi A	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do	of abstract eveloping n of overall evelopmental			
and calibrating market delivered price for each procedure in four zones conclusions should be	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern drawn from th	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi. A s limited test.	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do the results	of abstract eveloping n of overall evelopmental are			
and calibrating market delivered price for eac procedure in four zone conclusions should be encouraging and warrant	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern drawn from the t further reso	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi. A s limited test, earch efforts.	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do the results	of abstract eveloping n of overall evelopmental are			
and calibrating market delivered price for eac procedure in four zone conclusions should be encouraging and warrant 17. Kay Yorda	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern drawn from the t further reso	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi. A s limited test, earch efforts.	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do the results	paring a of abstract eveloping n of overall evelopmental are			
and calibrating market delivered price for eac procedure in four zones conclusions should be encouraging and warrant 17. Key Words Multi-model corridor	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern drawn from the t further reso	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi. A s limited test, earch efforts. 18. Distribution Statement This document	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do the results	paring a of abstract eveloping n of overall evelopmental are			
and calibrating market delivered price for eac procedure in four zones conclusions should be encouraging and warrant 17. Key Words Multi-modal, corridor of multi-state regional	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern drawn from the t further reso development,	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi. A s limited test, earch efforts. 18. Distribution Sistement This document U.S. public t	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do the results is available brough the N	e to the			
and calibrating market delivered price for eac procedure in four zone conclusions should be encouraging and warran 17. Kwy Word, Multi-modal, corridor of multi-state, regional p rural development	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern drawn from the t further reso development, planning, modity flow	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi. A s limited test, earch efforts. 18. Distribution Statement This document U.S. public t Technical Inf	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do the results is available hrough the N ormation Ser	e to the ational vice.			
and calibrating market delivered price for ea procedure in four zone conclusions should be encouraging and warran 17. Key Yord, Multi-modal, corridor of multi-state, regional p rural development, comm mode split market sha	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern drawn from the t further reso development, planning, modity flow, re	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi. A s limited test, earch efforts. ^{18. Distribution Statement} This document U.S. public t Technical Inf Springfield	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do the results is available hrough the N ormation Ser Virginia 221	e to the ational vice,			
and calibrating market delivered price for each procedure in four zones conclusions should be encouraging and warran 17. Key Words Multi-modal, corridor of multi-state, regional p rural development, comm mode split, market shap 19. Security Classif. (of this report)	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern drawn from the t further reso development, planning, modity flow, re	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi. A s limited test, earch efforts. ^{18.} Distribution Statement U.S. public t Technical Inf Springfield, ^{37.} (of this pege)	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do the results is available hrough the No ormation Ser Virginia 221 21. No. of Poges	e to the ational vice, 61			
and calibrating market delivered price for ea- procedure in four zones conclusions should be encouraging and warran 17. Key Words Multi-modal, corridor of multi-state, regional p rural development, comm mode split, market sha: 19. Security Clessif. (of this (report)	or seven indus share equation ch of eight co s in Northern drawn from the t further reso development, planning, modity flow, re	stry/commodity g ons based on the ommodities. 7) Mississippi. A s limited test, earch efforts. 18. Distribution Statement U.S. public t Technical Inf Springfield, if. (of this page)	roups. 6) Do distribution Testing the lthough no do the results is available hrough the No ormation Ser Virginia 221 21. No. of Poges	e to the ational vice, 61			

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Reproduction of completed page authorized

PREFACE

This report describes the results of the first year's effort on a continuing research project entitled, "Analytical Procedures for the Study of a Specific Multimodal Transportation Corridor." The corridor under study is the Multi-State Corridor that extends from Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri. The research has focused on the economic development opportunities that are brought about by the creation of new transportation facilities and services. Knowledge of the key relationships between transportation and economic development can benefit planning for both.

The research is sponsored by the Office of Transportation Systems Analysis and Information of the Office of the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Transportation. Dr. Byron Nupp is Contracting Officer's Technical Representative.

The research has been performed by a consortium of nine universities under the direction of Dr. Paul S. Jones of the Georgia Institute of Technology. Principal research areas together with participating universities, contributing faculty and graduate students are listed below:

Research Area								
Legal	Con	sider	ation	ns				

Economic Modeling

Transportation Alternatives

Project Leadership, Transportation Overall Analysis

Evaluation Technology, Zone Structure Contributing Personnel

Dr. Stanely J. Hille, Principal Investigator Edward R. Bruning

- Dr. John S. Kaminarides, Principal Investigator
- Dr. Robert L. Vecellio, Principal Investigator
- Dr. Paul S. Jones, Principal Investigator, Dr. Gunter P. Sharp, Graduate students: Michael A. Mullens, H. C. David Yu

Dr. Martin E. Lipinski, Principal Investigator, Dr. Subbarayan Prasanna, Graduate students: Wade Morgan, Harold L. Petty, Mark Damlouji Institution Univ. of Alabama

Arkansas State University

Auburn University

Georgia Institute Technology

Memphis State University
Research Area (cont'd)

Northern Mississippi Test

Transportation Data

Industry Analysis

Transportation Data, Transportation Costing Contributing Personnel (cont'd)

Dr. J. William Rush, Principal Investigator

Dr. David L. Guell, Principal Investigator

Dr. Jay A. Smith, Jr., Principal Investigator, Dr. H. Barry Spraggins

Dr. Frank M. Holloway, Principal Investigator Institution (cont'd)

Mississippi State University

University of Missouri

University of North Florida

Tennessee Technological University

Preliminary results of the research have been reported in five interim reports. These are:

"Legal Considerations in the Development of a Multi-Modal Corridor," by Stanley S. Hille and Edward R. Bruning [1]

"Procedures for Multi-State, Multi-Mode Corridor Analysis: Task 2, Analytical Guidelines," by Paul S. Jones [2]

"National Zone Structure for Transportation Analysis," by Subbarayan Prasanna, Wade Morgan and Mark Damlouji [3]

"Development of a Multi-Modal Evaluation Procedure," by Martin E. Lipinski, and Harold L. Petty [4]

"Procedures for Multi-State, Multi-Mode Corridor Analysis: Task 5, Model Formulation," by Gunter P. Sharp [5]

The contents of these reports are covered in the present document.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u><u> </u></u>	'age
Preface	iii
Table of Contents	v
List of Illustrations	vi
List of Tables	vii
Executive Summary	ix
I. Introduction	1
II. Legal and Administrative Considerations	9
III. Commodity Flow Analysis	39
IV. Economic Modeling	55
V. Network Modeling	73 [°]
VI. Improvement Analysis	119
VII. The Northern Mississippi Test	137
VIII. Future Research	157
Appendices	
A. A Brief History of Multi-State Transportation System Advisory Board	169
B. Network Zone Descriptions	179
C. Network Arc Descriptions	187
D. Manufacturing Industry Data	199
E. Transportation Costs for Commodities	207
F. Evaluation Criteria Screening	215
References	221
Bibliography	225

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

		Page
1.	Multi-State System Area	x
2.	Analytical Framework	xiv
3.	Transportation Zones	xvii
4.	Dual Node Numbering System	77
5.	Highway Network	80
6.	Motor Carrier Cost Areas	84
7.	Rail Network	88
8.	Waterway Network	98
9.	Evaluation Relationships	127
10.	Market Characteristics	149
11.	Sample Satisfaction Curves	154

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
1.	Commodity Classifications
2.	Transportation Zone Centroids
3.	Transportation Interests of Federal Agencies
4.	Federal Agency Transportation Interest Relationships 14
5.	State Planning Agencies and Functions
6.	Air Pollution Act Provisions for Corridor States
7.	Federal Water Standards
8.	NTP Magnetic Tape Data Fields
9.	NTP Commodity Groupings
10.	Industry Data for Commodity 250, Furniture and Fixtures 57
11.	Commodity Thresholds for Geographical Analysis 60
12.	Movement Data for Commodity
13.	Market Share Parameters
14.	Commodity Shipments by Motor Carrier
15.	Motor Carrier Revenue Density Factors
16.	Percent of Commodity Movement by Rail Car Type 91
17.	Comparison of Exponential and Modified Exponential Mode Split Forms. 114
18.	Comparison of Exponential Form and Exponential Form Transformed by Cumulative Normal Distribution
19.	Multi-State Stakeholder Groups
20.	Potential Evaluation Criteria
21.	Criterion Feasibility Checklist
22.	Local Transportation Improvements in Northern Mississippi 139
23.	Market Data for Base Case Transportation
24.	Impact of Transportation Improvement Programs on Market Cost 144

LIST OF TABLES (cont'd)

25.	Aggregate Markets for Test Zone 1Present Transportation	146
26.	Aggregate Markets for Test Zone 1Transportation Improvement Programs	147
27.	Traffic Response to Improvement Programs	151
28.	Criterion Group Weights	153
29.	Weighted Values of Worth	156
30.	Multi-State Transportation System Advisory Board	171

Page

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Background

The objective of this research is to develop analytical procedures that can quantify the interactions between programs of transportation service improvement and the economic development opportunities that such programs facilitate. The research is directed toward a specific geographical area: the Multi-State Transportation Corridor, shown in Figure 1. The Corridor is approximately 1200 miles long and nominally 100 miles wide, and includes parts of eight states - Florida, Georgia, Alabama, Mississippi, Tennessee, Arkansas, Missouri and Kansas. The area is largely underdeveloped and presently has limited transportation services, thus providing an ideal setting for investigating new transportation services.

The initial research effort is restricted to freight transportation, but includes present modes - highway, rail, and water - future modes that may be developed, and intermodal combinations of present and future modes. The approach is viewed as the first of a succession of screening steps. The new transportation services are identified in terms of mode, capacity, and approximate route, while details concerning alignment, design, points of ingress and egress and specific technology are left for later study. Similarly, development opportunities are described in terms of industry group, approximate location, approximate markets, approximate size and undesignated ownership. Only basic industry is considered, and total market for each industry group is assumed to remain fixed, with market competition conducted on the basis of cost. The research is heavily concerned with intermodal transportation movements, and the network modeling reflects this purpose. In this respect the work differs substantially from previous research.

An important perspective is that the first year's effort has been devoted to developing a complete, global framework for dealing with the analytical problem. It is anticipated that subsequent work will treat more thoroughly some of the highly technical and challenging data and modeling problems notably the commodity flow data, the mode split model, and the market share model. Finally, the analytical method has been tested for only a small area, Northern Mississippi, and for only eight commodity groups. No firm conclusions can be drawn from such limited work.

The Multi-Mode, Multi-State research can be broadly divided into two

ix

FIGURE 1 MULTI-STATE SYSTEM AREA



investigations, each of which essentially stands alone. The first concerns the identification of legal, administrative, organizational and procedural barriers to the development of multi-modal transportation services in the Multi-State Corridor. The second is the development and testing of an analytical method that can identify potentially successful transportation and economic development opportunities. The results of each investigation are summarized here and presented in detail in the main body of the report.

Legal, Administrative, Organizational and Procedural Barriers

There are substantial legal, organizational and administrative barriers to the creation of multi-modal transportation facilities in the Multi-State Corridor. The plethora of federal agencies with transportation interests deal with the planning, financing, environmental policy, design, construction, operation, maintenance, regulation and safety of transportation facilities on a mode by mode basis.

Federal-state participation is most thoroughly developed for highway projects, which have been the focus of governmental attention and support for six decades. However, even in the highway arena, uniform size and weight standards are needed for the Corridor States. Motor carriers would also benefit from less restrictive operating rights and greater rate setting freedom.

Railroad regulation by the Interstate Commerce Commission (ICC) is of long standing, but governmental support in rail planning and finance is a recent development. Many rail issues are being examined and debated. These include public ownership of rail lines, reduction in physical plant, intraindustry competition, labor policy, operating rules, public finance of rail facilities and other forms of financial assistance. Little attention has been given to removing prohibitions against rail-motor carrier combinations. Those railroads that have succeeded in establishing multi-modal enterprises are constrained to keep the modal activities separated so that the benefits of joint operation are not realized.

Waterway construction is largely in the hands of the Corps of Engineers once project funds have been appropriated by the Congress. Water carriers are free to use these facilities without charge.

Federal, state, local governments and private carriers cooperate effectively in the aviation industry. Airport planning and construction generally reflects a high degree of joint cooperation. However, air freight is still

xi

very small relative to other transport modes.

Most pipeline facilities are built with little or no government intervention. The one notable exception is the Alaska pipeline where environmental issues predominated.

Only environmental issues get reasonably uniform treatment across modes. The Environmental Protection Agency sets and enforces uniform standards for all transportation projects.

Of the Corridor States, Florida, Georgia and Tennessee have created State departments of transportation, with jurisdiction over highway, rail, airport and some port activities and facilities. However, because of continuing mode specific funding from federal and state sources, highway activities overpower the other modes.

If multi-modal facilities are to become a reality, governmental activities with multi-modal responsibilities must be created. The federal government is the logical place to start with an intermodal planning agency and the amalgamation of all modal regulatory agencies. Present prohibitions against multi-modal companies and intermodal cooperation need to be reversed. Legislation needs to encourage common use of transportation facilities by several modes. Individual carriers need the freedom to seek the lowest cost solution to their problems. Rate structures need to be altered so that intermodal rates can reflect the true economics of intermodal service. Procedures for the development and use of mixed public and private facilities are needed. All of these changes are achievable through the legislative process. Many could be included in the 1978 Highway Act which can become the first intermodal transportation act.

Analytical Method

The analytical method developed to quantify interactions between programs of transportation service improvement and economic development opportunities contains a cost based network representation of freight traffic throughout the Continental United States. The programs of transportation improvements are limited to the Multi-State Corridor, but within that corridor a program can contain improvements in existing modes, new transportation modes and new modal interchange facilities in any of a large number of combinations. Economic development opportunities are opportunities to successfully install or expand industrial facilities in Corridor locations to a magnitude that can have

xii

significant impacts on national markets.

The general nature of the method is illustrated in Figure 2. There are four distinct areas of investigation - commodity flow analysis, economic modeling, network modeling and improvement analysis. Each area contains several important analytical steps that are closely interrelated. Individual steps interact in a variety of complex ways. The first three areas - commodity flow analysis, economic modeling and network modeling - comprise the fundamental structure of the analytical method and have been the focus of the first year's research. The fourth area, improvement analysis, is the application of the model to generate transportation improvement and economic development opportunities. This area has been demonstrated for a limited example comprising eight industry/commodity groups in a Northern Mississippi setting.

Commodity Flow Analysis

The commodity flow analysis defined the dimensionality of the analytical method and produced the commodity flow data base necessary for further work. This area, which is divided into three steps, needed to be completed before the economic and transportation modeling could progress very far.

<u>Commodity/Industry Groups</u>. It would be attractive, but not very practical, to deal with individual commodities and with the industries that produce them. A more modest approach has been taken by which 53 more or less homogeneous commodity groups have been selected for analysis. These are listed in Table 1 together with the SIC (Standard Industrial Classification) Codes [6] that are contained in each group. Each group is an amalgamation of commodities that have similar raw material needs and that undergo similar processing. Each commodity group is produced by a single industry or a small group of industries that use similar processing facilities. The intent was to select industries that can be represented as a single mean that draws on common raw materials and produces products in comparable facilities that have similar market and transportation characteristics. Each industry group is associated with a single commodity group.

Network Zones. Network zones are areas where principal commodity

^[6] Office of Management and Budget, <u>Standard Industrial Classification</u> <u>Manual</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1972.

FIGURE 2 ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK



TAPLE 1

NO	DESCRIPTION	SIC CODES	NO.	DESCRIPTION	SIC CODES
NO. 011 013 021 024 025	Grain Field Crops Livestock Dairy Poultry & Eggs	011 013,016,018,019 021 024 025	282 283 284 285 286 287	Plastics Drugs Soap Paint Industrial Organic Chemicals Agricultural Chemicals	282 283 284 285 286 287
080 090 101 102	Forestry Commercial Fishing Iron Ore Non Ferrous Ores	08 09 101 102,103,104,105 106,108	289 290 301 3 02	Miscellaneous Chemicals Petroleum Refining Tires & Tubes Rubber & Plastic Products	289 29 301 302,308,304,306 307
110 130 140 201 202 203 204 205	Coal Oil& Gas Extraction Non-Metallic Minerals Meat Dairy Products Canned & Preserved Food Grain Products Bakery Products	11,12 13 14 201 202 203 204 205	310 324 321 331 333 341	Leather & Leather Products Cement Stone,Clay,Glass&Concrete Prod. Iron & Steel Non Ferrous Metals Metal Cans & Shipping Containers	31 324 321,322,323,325 326,327,328,329 331,332 333,334,335,336 339 341
206 207 208 209 210 220	Confectionary Fats & Oils Beverages Misc Food Tobacco Textile Mill Products	206 207 208 209 21 22	342 350 362 361	Fabricated Metal Products Machinery, Except Electrical Electrical Industrial Apparatus Electrical Machinery	342,343,344,345, 346,347,348,349 35 362 361,363,364,365, 366,367,369
230 240 250 260 270 281	Apparel Lumber & Wood Furniture & Fixtures Paper Printing & Publishing Industrial Inorganic Chemicals	23 24 25 26 27 291	371 372 380 390	Motor Vehicles & M.V. Equip. Transportatión Equipment Measuring Instruments Miscellaneous Manufacturing	371 372,373,374,375, 376,379 38 39

COMMODITY CLASSIFICATIONS

movements originate or terminate. Each zone is represented by a centroid city which serves as the focus for economic and transportation activities. A zone is treated as though all economic activity occurs at its centroid city. All transportation routes originate and terminate at centroid cities and all transportation terminals are located at centroids.

Because of the nature of the zone representation, zone size is critical to the accuracy of the work. If zones are small, the error in equating zonal and centroid activity is small. If zones are large, the error can be appreciable. However, uniform small zones, e.g. counties, pose serious problems because of the immensity of the networks needed to connect them and the lack of commodity flow data for them.

A compromise was adopted for the Multi-State Corridor analysis. Small zones are used in the Multi-State Corridor. These are generally planning and development districts designated by the states. They contain six to ten counties. Adjacent to the Corridor, larger zones are used. These are BEAs (Basic Economic Areas) designated by the Office of Business Economics of the Department of Commerce. Although activities remote from the Corridor can have considerable impact on Corridor development, precise geographical location is not so important and hence zones can be larger. Remote zones are made up of multiple BEAs. Figure 3 illustrates the 120 transportation zones selected for the analysis. Zone centroid cities are listed in Table 2. Detailed zone area descriptions are presented in Appendix B.

<u>Commodity Flow Data</u>. Commodity flow data were prepared to describe the movements of each commodity group between zone pairs. Accurate data for this purpose are not available, because of differences in reporting requirements and regulation among the modes. The best available source, prepared by the Transportation Systems Center of U.S. DOT [7], was adapted, using Bureau of the Census sources, to approximate movements of the 53 different commodity groups between pairs of the 120 zones.

Economic Modeling

The economic model provides a representation of each industry group as it

[7] Schuessler, R. W. and P. A. Cardellichio, "NTP Commodity Flow Projections -Data and Methods Description," U.S. DOT, Transportation Systems Center, Cambridge, Mass., 1976.



TABLE 2 TRANSPORTATION ZONE CENTROIDS

Multi-State Corridor Zones

External Zones

1. Brunswick, Ga. 2. Jacksonville, Fl. Statesboro, Ga. 3. 4. Waycross, Ga. Dublin, Ga. 5. 6. Valdosta, Ga. 7. Macon, Ga. 8. Cordele, Ga. 9. Albany, Ga. 10. LaGrange, Ga. 11. Columbus, Ga. 12. Anniston, Al. 13. Montgomery, Al. 14. Troy, Al. 15. Dothan, Al. 16. Decatur, A1. Birmingham, Al. 17. 18. Florence, Al. 19. Tuscaloosa, Al. 20. Corinth, Ms. 21. Tupelo, Ms. 22. Columbus, Ms. 23. Clarksdale, Ms. Dyersburg, Tn. 24. Jackson, Tn.
 Memphis, Tn. 27. Jonesboro, Ak. 28. Searcy, Ak. 29. Harrison, Ak. 30. Sikeston, Mo. Poplar Bluff, Mo. 31. 32. West Plains, Mo. 33. Lebanon, Mo. 34. Marshall, Mo. 35. Sedalia, Mo. 36. Springfield, Mo. 37. St. Joseph, Mo. 38. Kansas City, Mo. 39. Nevada, Mo. 40. Joplin, Mo.

41.	Savannah, Ga.
42.	Augusta, Ga.
43.	Milledgeville, Ga.
44.	Atlanta, Ga.
45.	Chattanooga, Tn.
46.	Huntsville, Al.
47.	Nashville, Tn.
48.	Evansville, In.
49.	Cape Girardeau Mo.
50.	St. Louis, Mo.
51.	Quincy, Il.
52.	Columbia, Mo.
53.	Chillacothe, Mo.
54.	Des Moines, Ia.
55.	Omaha, Ne.
56.	Topeka, Ks.
57.	Wichita, Ks.
58.	Tulsa, Ok.
59.	Ft. Smith, Ak.
60.	Little Rock, Ak.
61.	Greenville, Ms.
62.	Jackson, Ms.
63.	Meridian, Ms.
64.	Mobile, Al.
65.	Pensacola, Fl.
66.	Tallahassee, Fl.
67.	Gainesville, Fl.
68.	Miami, Fl.
69.	Boston, Ma.
/0.	Albany, NY
/1.	Buffalo, NY
/2.	New York, NY
/3.	Scranton, Pa.
74.	Harrisburg, Pa.
13.	Pittsburgh, Pa.
/0.	wasnington, D. C.
11.	Roanoke, Va.
70.	Alchmond, Va.
/9.	Unarlotte, NU
80.	Kaleigh, NC

Greenville, SC 81. 82. Columbia, SC 83. Knoxville, Tn. 84. Charleston, WV 85. Cincinnati, Oh. 86. Dayton, Oh. 87. Cleveland, Oh. 88. Detroit, Mi. 89. Indianapolis, In. 90. Chicago, Il. 91. Milwaukee, Wi. . 92. St. Paul, Mn. 93. Billings, Mt. 94. Denver, Co. 95. Oklahoma City, Ok. 96. Texarkana, Tx. 97. Shreveport, La. 98. New Orleans, La. 99. Tampa, Fl. 100. Amarillo, Tx. 101. Dallas, Tx. 102. El Paso. Tx. 103. Austin, Tx. 104. San Antonio, Tx. Houston, Tx. 105. Salt Lake City, Ut. 106. Phoenix, Ar. 107. 108. Albuquerque, NM 109. Seattle, Wa. 110. San Francisco, Ca. 111. Los Angeles, Ca. 112. Charleston, SC 113. Duluth, Mn. 114. Springfield, Il. 115. Toledo, Oh. 116. Columbus, Oh. 117. Portland, Or. 118. Fargo, ND 119. Grand Rapids, Mi. 120. Norfolk, Va.

draws raw materials from available sources, uses labor and capital and incurs costs to produce its product which it ships to existing markets. The model is a geographical one based on the network structure. All economic decisions are cost based.

Industry Analysis. Production costs and raw material requirements per ton of product were developed for each industry group. Production costs include direct labor, indirect labor, energy, capital and taxes. Of these, all but capital and indirect labor are location sensitive. Mean values of component costs and principal raw material requirements were prepared for each industry from Census data. These values constitute the norm from which geographical differences are measured. Direct labor requirements were divided into broad skill categories to reflect the needs of different industries.

Principal producing zones, consuming zones and zone to zone movements were identified for each commodity group from the commodity flow data. These data provided a picture of the distribution pattern for each industry with actual volumes identified for each producing zone. Raw material sources were also identified by equating industry raw material needs with the distribution patterns for the raw material commodities. Due to the complexity of this work, it was completed for only the eight commodities used in the test.

Industry Cost Data. Geographically sensitive component cost data were collected for each industry group for each of its major production zones. Labor data were collected by the different skill categories so that a skill weighted wage could be prepared for each industry group in each producing zone. Raw material costs were based on source production costs or established markets adjusted for differences in transportation costs. Indirect labor and capital costs were assumed to be the same for all locations. Energy and tax costs were taken from state and local data sources. The product of this analysis was a manufacturing cost for each of the major production zones for each commodity/industry group.

<u>Market Analysis</u>. The market analysis was based on the assumption that the principal market share determinant is cost, in this case production cost plus customer service cost. This assumption can be interpreted in a number of different ways:

1. Production facilities are treated as branches in multi-facility

xix

companies. Thus, the parent company can elect to locate and assign markets in accordance with relative costs.

- 2. Over the long run, the low cost supplier to a market can afford promotional, sales and pricing strategies that will lead to a higher market share than a higher cost supplier.
- 3. Product quality is very difficult to establish in an objective, quantitative sense and if established, it is difficult to cost.

Market share functions were prepared for each of the eight test commodities. These expressed the market share that a producing zone could expect to achieve as a function of the difference between its market cost (production cost plus customer service cost) and the market cost of the low cost producer.

The introduction of a new producing zone will upset the relationships among existing suppliers to each market. Market shares are readjusted to fit the cost differences among suppliers. If the new producing zone has a market cost that is lower than any supplier that participates in the most costly 25 percent of the market, then the new zone can participate in the market. Its share is determined by the adjusted market share function.

Network Modeling

The network modeling is concerned with developing transportation costs for moving different commodity groups between zone pairs via existing and proposed modal services and via intermodal combinations. The network is defined by the zone centroids, the transportation service arcs connecting pairs of centroids and the transfer activities that occur within centroids. Transportation costs include three measures of transportation service utility cost, delivery time and delivery time dependability. The three measures are combined into a single cost by estimating perceived values of delivery time and time dependability for each commodity group.

<u>Present Arcs</u>. Initially, separate arcs were identified for each present transportation mode - highway, rail and water. Although the separate arcs were later combined for analytical convenience it is useful to describe the present arcs as originally conceived. Detailed arc listings for each mode are presented in Appendix C.

Network arcs represent the majority of the routes used for interzonal freight movement. Intrazonal movements are not included in the analysis. The

XX

variability of zone sizes complicates the problem of arc selection. Within the small Corridor zones, arcs include almost all intercity routes. As zone size increases, the amount of intrazone traffic grows and interzone traffic tends to move toward higher quality routes. Thus for highway arcs, Interstate, Federal Aid Primary, Federal Aid Secondary and State routes are included in arc designations between Corridor zones. In areas remote from the Corridor where zones are large, highway arcs are made up almost exclusively of Interstate routes. In a similar fashion, all through rail routes are included in rail arcs within the Corridor and only principal routes in remote areas. Because of the limited available services, inland water arcs include all waterways with seven foot channel depth or more.

Network arcs are described in terms of length, capacity, mean speed (or mean travel time) and travel time variability. Where two or more parallel routes are combined into a single arc, length, speed and variability describe the higher quality route. The lower quality route serves as additional capacity when the higher quality route becomes congested.

Nodes are associated with loading, unloading and intermodal transfer activities. Each activity has a cost, an expected time and a time variability associated with it for each commodity/industry group.

<u>Present Customer Service Costs</u>. Customer service costs (transportation cost plus cost equivalents for transport time and transport time variability) posed a particularly serious problem. In general, cost data were better than transport time and time variability data. However, cost data left much to be desired.

Many carriers do not know the cost of moving individual shipments over particular routes or through particular terminals. Cost determinations by the ICC (Interstate Commerce Commission) are not regarded highly by many carriers particularly railroads. After considerable exploration a set of cost equations prepared by H. O. Whitten [8] was modified and used as a basis for the initial cost estimates. These equations, which were largely derived from ICC procedures, provide consistent treatment for rail and highway modes. New costs were generated for water shipments.

[8] Gill, C. G. and H. O. Whitten, <u>Development of Transport Cost Functions</u>, Herbert O. Whitten & Associates, Annandale, Virginia, 1976.

xxí

Transport times and transport time variabilities were also generated by the research team. The results are believed to reflect modal differences with reasonable accuracy. However, there is room for further improvement.

<u>Mode Split</u>. A key requirement for the success of multi-modal or intermodal investigations is the ability to predict the amount of traffic that is likely to select a new transportation option. Such a prediction can only be based on the quantitative characteristics of the mode or intermodal combination, or stated another way, it requires a mode abstract modal split model one that does not have mode specific coefficients. This step is beyond the capability of existing mode split work, which is all of a mode specific nature.

A mode abstract modal split model was developed from mode choice information included in the NTP commodity flow data [7]. A separate set of coefficients was calibrated for each of the eight test commodities. The equations give estimates of modal share as a function of comparisons between transportation cost, time and time variability for the competing modes. The same coefficients are used for all existing O-D pairs and for pairs that include new transportation services or intermodal combinations.

<u>Network Analysis</u>. Network analysis procedures were devised to (1) load commodity flow data on the network using a shortest path (least utility) criterion, (2) determine transportation costs, time and time variability from all production zones to markets served, (3) search out and identify intermodal routes, and (4) provide evaluation data for use in comparing alternative transportation programs. The network problem was complicated by the need to deal with the movement of 53 different commodity groups over a network containing 120 nodes and 400 arcs. Ultimately 20 separate computer programs were prepared to perform the network analysis and to manipulate the data files. The principal steps in the analysis are:

- 1. Introduce existing and new arc and node information,
- Construct a dual-node numbering system for the network with appropriate line haul and transfer arcs,
- 3. Obtain shortest path trees for each existing origin,

- 4. Load existing commodity movements,
- 5. Obtain shortest path trees for candidate new production zones,
- 6. Determine production costs for candidate zones,
- 7. Determine market shares for candidate zones,
- 8. Update commodity movement assignments.

At this time, the network model is not capacity constrained. Non-linear flow impedances that reflect congestion effects would have vastly complicated the model development. However, congestion can be a serious problem and it will be treated in future work. During development, the programs have been kept separate to facilitate error location and to retain flexible use. It is doubtful that a single massive program will ever be needed; however, some future combinations seem likely.

Improvement Analysis

Improvement analysis procedures are still under development. Experience with the Northern Mississippi test has suggested a number of desirable changes. As the research team begins to work with all 40 Corridor zones, all 53 commodity groups and a wide range of transportation improvements, the need for more modifications will become evident. The discussion below summarizes the Northern Mississippi test and suggests directions for future exploration.

<u>Transportation Improvement Programs</u>. Only three transportation improvement programs were explored in the Northern Mississippi test:

- 1. Improve the highway and rail accessibility of the test zones to the network as a whole,
- Improve accessibility and upgrade principal highway and rail arcs
 along the Corridor, and
- 3. Improve accessibility, upgrade principal highway and rail arcs and provide efficient intermodal transfer terminals at major Corridor nodes.

These programs were selected to illustrate the analytical method; it is not likely that any one represents the best, or even a good solution to the Corridor development problem.

What is needed for future work is an analytical procedure that can

xxiii

postulate and compare large numbers of candidate transportation programs so that the full, complex analysis need be applied to only a few. The nature of this screening process is not known at this time but it may be a heuristic procedure based on a carefully selected set of criteria that set forth tentative transportation requirements.

<u>Development Opportunities</u>. In the Northern Mississippi test each of the eight commodities was tested in each of the four test zones. When the analysis is expanded to 53 commodities and 40 test zones, this approach will be found to be wanting. It seems likely that a simple dominance criterion can be applied to compare alternate zones in terms of market costs at the different markets. Procedures are also needed to reduce the number of commodities tested.

Update Network. The impact of transportation service improvements together with the redistribution of commodity markets among test zones and existing producers results in substantial changes in the traffic moving over different network arcs. In particular, new and improved corridor arcs will carry heavier traffic while parallel arcs and their feeders will carry reduced traffic. In the Northern Mississippi test, traffic on the improved Corridor arcs increased greatly for the second and third alternatives, even before production from the test zones is added.

The process of generating new trees and reassigning traffic flows is an extremely complex one that is expensive in computer time. Two approaches will be pursued to ease this burden:

- 1. Update the network after the transportation programs have been screened and then for only the most promising program, or
- Selectively update the arc flows without recomputing the sets of trees.

Both of these and perhaps other approaches will be explored.

<u>Evaluation</u>. There are many different interests that need to consider the relative merits of the different transportation improvement programs and the consequent economic development. These include residents, businessmen and politicians in adjacent zones, state transportation officials, carriers, environmental groups, federal agencies and others. A detailed evaluation

xxiv

scheme has been developed that reflects the viewpoints of the different groups. Specific evaluation criteria have been selected to test economic, fiscal, physical, social, aesthetic and environmental issues. At this time, means have not been devised for aggregating the criteria into one or two measures. This task will be the subject of future work.

Test Results

Although no developmental conclusions should be drawn from the Northern Mississippi test, the results are interesting and encouraging. Initially, market costs for the four test zones appeared to be consistent with market costs for other zones producing the eight test commodities. Using the present transportation services, there appear to be development opportunities for apparel, furniture and electrical equipment. This result is consistent with recent development experience within the zones.

Alternative 1, improved access, would do little to stimulate economic development in the test area, suggesting that the transportation problem goes beyond the issue of access.

Alternative 2, improved access and better line haul service, would stimulate significant expansion beyond the base case in plastic products and lumber, and lesser expansion in other industries.

The addition of efficient intermodal transfer terminals along the Multi-State Corridor (alternative 3) further enhanced the opportunities in the lumber industry, but efficient and economic mode interchange would offer little further stimulus for other industries.

The basic data used in the analysis leave much to be desired. Manipulations of these data introduce further error. One, therefore, needs to view conclusions with some circumspection. Error analysis is inconclusive at this time. However, the reasonable nature of the test results offers encouragement.

Future Research

Although the results of the first year's research are encouraging, much remains to be done. The second year's research will be directed toward improving the structure and the analysis in many important ways. Eight specific research tasks will be undertaken. Each is summarized briefly below.

Task 1: Transportation Modeling

Improve the analytical structure of the Multi-State Network Model, giving

XXV

particular attention to mode split relationships, intermodal route determination, means for specifying desired transportation improvements, and an evaluation of the network structure. The task will be made up of four distinct subtasks.

1-a. Develop a new set of commodity specific, mode abstract modal split equations for three specific commodity industry groups.

1-b. Develop a new heuristic procedure for identifying near-optimal intermodal route opportunities from among the available routes between origin-destination pairs.

1-c. Develop a new procedure for identifying network arc and node improvements in terms of market share improvement costs and other parameters.

1-d. Test the unbalanced structure of the network for technical and empirical correctness in representing the Multi-State Corridor transportation environment.

Task 2: Economic Analysis

Study the impact of new economic development on the local economies in the Multi-State Corridor and devise a better scheme for estimating the potential market shares of new industries. This task will be made up of three distinct subtasks.

2-a. Expand the economic analysis to include the impact of new industry on non-basic economic activities. Test the analytical approach in a Northern Mississippi setting.

2-b. Develop better cost based, market share estimators for three or more key industry/commodity groups. Expand the procedure to encompass all industry/commodity groups.

2-c. Develop a material flow based method for estimating future activity in the Multi-State Corridor and its impacts on the rest of the country.

Task 3: Industry Structure Analysis

Upgrade the industry structure representations by expanding the number of industry/commodity groups and by improving the representation of basic raw material prices. This task will be performed as three distinct subtasks.

xxvi

3-a. Test all of the more complex industry/commodity groups and determine whether the analysis can benefit by enlarging the number of groups.

3-b. Develop a market based technique for estimating basic raw material prices at the production or extraction site.

3-c. Estimate the magnitude of potential error reduction associated with different levels of aggregation.

Task 4: Transportation Facility Analysis

Develop new concepts for improved line haul and terminal transportation facilities. This task will be divided into two subtasks.

4-a. Develop at least three concepts for intermodal transfer terminals, taking into account both present equipment productivity and the goals needed for Multi-State Transportation Corridor enhancement.

4-b. Develop two or three new line haul transportation concepts that have the potential to support industries likely to be attracted to the Multi-State Corridor.

The work will include an assessment of the technical feasibility of each concept together with the development of cost and performance parameters that relate to its construction and use.

Task 5: Evaluation Methods

Continue the development of an evaluation methodology by developing an interactive computer program, by using this program to develop weights for use by the different stakeholder groups and by considering the impacts of quality of life criteria. This task will be divided into three subtasks.

5-a. Develop an interactive computer program by which untrained operators can test their value judgements and thereby develop sets of parameter weights.

5-b. Identify and describe the key stakeholder groups that will influence transportation and economic development in the Multi-State Corridor. Devise and execute a means for measuring their viewpoints in quantitative terms.

5-c. Explore quality of life as a parameter of economic development. Develop means for relating levels of life quality to different industry/

commodity groups.

Task 6: Transportation Costing

Improve methods for estimating transportation customer service parameters on network arcs and through intermodal transportation terminals. The parameters include cost, transport time and transport time variance. This task will be divided into four subtasks.

6-a. Develop cost, time and time variance models for highway, rail and waterway modes. Include all facilities, events and procedures that influence parameter values.

6-b. Seek out data services for all model elements.

6-c. Investigate the impact of errors in parameter values.

6-d. Update and improve the first year's procedures for estimating cost, time and time variance.

Task 7: Policy Issues

Extend the investigation of legislative constraints to include the policies of agencies associated with highway, urban mass transportation, and airport facilities. This task will be divided into two subtasks.

7-a. Document the initiation, planning, approving, programming, scheduling, design, and construction activities of agencies concerned with highway, urban transportation, and airport construction. Include key Federal/State interfaces.

7-b. Formulate, evaluate, and compare policy positions that concern funding, management, fight-of-way acquisition, construction, operation, and control of multi-mode transportation facilities.

Task 8: Implementation Planning

Devise and compare alternative means for implementing a multi-mode transportation and economic development program for the Multi-State Corridor. This task will consider public and private roles, state and Federal participation. It will establish an initial time table for implementation activities. This task will be divided into four subtasks.

8-a. Establish no fewer than three implementation scenarios. Each will include financial, legislative and administrative assumptions that will

describe the implementation environment.

8-b. Identify a set of potential projects and a set of economic development opportunities for each implementation scenario.

8-c. Prepare a procedure for scheduling projects that takes into account the relative impacts of each on the development program, financial requirements and state and Federal transportation programs.

8-d. Explore procedures for coupling private development planning to transportation facility planning.

I. INTRODUCTION

Powerful forces are illuminating the inescapable truth that the United States must reassess its transportation resources and improve both the efficiency and economy by which people and goods are transported throughout the country. Some of the more important forces include:

- Energy to attain petroleum self-sufficiency, use of this vital resource must be drastically reduced.
- Urbanism social stresses suggest that America may be over urbanized.
- Quality of life many individuals are challenging transportation vehicles' contributions to air, water and noise pollution.

There is strong desire in many quarters for a change in the direction of U.S. transportation development. However, the desired change of direction has yet to be identified and the means to accomplish change in so mature an industry are anything but clear. Any abrupt change will undoubtedly work to the disadvantage of powerful industry and consumer groups. A change that is not abrupt may fail to meet the challenge.

The U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) will play a key role in any action that is taken. DOT is now wrestling with a number of important policy issues that concern future transportation development. These include:

- 1. Methods to restrict petroleum consumption;
- The future building of fully access controlled intercity highways (Interstate quality);
- 3. The future role of the Federal Government in the railroad industry, and
- 4. The use of slurry pipelines to transport western coal to eastern markets.

No one of these issues can be resolved by itself. Each has far reaching impacts on the future of American industry and on the American standard of living. The challenge is to find a new direction that can provide the same or higher quality transportation than we enjoy today while still meeting stringent energy, urbanism and life quality requirements.

The research described here is a pioneering effort to devise analytical tools that can be used to identify and evaluate promising future strategies.

Objective

The objective of this research is to develop analytical procedures that can quantify the interactions between programs of transportation service improvement and the economic development opportunities that each facilitates. The research is directed toward a specific geographical area: the Multi-State Transportation Corridor that extends from Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri.

The Multi-State Corridor

The selection of the Multi-State Transportation Corridor as the basis for this analysis is no accident. Development of this corridor is actively supported by the Multi-State Transportation System Advisory Board, which is made up of state and local government officials, business leaders and private citizens from each of the eight states through which the corridor passes.

Since 1972, this Board has been active in promoting new multimodal transportation services for the Corridor. As a result of this activity, the research team has received outstanding support from business and government throughout the Corridor. An abbreviated history of the Multi-State Transportation System Board is presented in Appendix A.

The Multi-State Corridor, illustrated earlier in Figure 1, provides an ideal setting for investigating new transportation services:

- 1. It contains a region of high development potential for which sound early guidance can lead to large future benefits.
- 2. Transportation services, at present, are limited, creating substantial opportunities for improvement.
- 3. Sufficient past work has been done to simplify data collection.
- 4. The corridor is largely undeveloped and hence it presents a relatively simple environment for economic modeling.
- 5. The linear nature of the area permits consideration to be restricted to relatively simple networks of new transportation services.

The Multi-State Corridor is approximately 1200 miles long and nominally 100 miles wide. It includes parts of eight states - Florida, Georgia,

Alabama, Mississippi, Tennessee, Arkansas, Missouri and Kansas. It contains four major metropolitan areas - Jacksonville, Birmingham, Memphis and Kansas City - and a handful of cities with populations greater than 100,000 people (e.g., Columbus and Macon, Georgia, Montgomery, Alabama, and Springfield, Missouri). For the most part, the area is rural. A large fraction of the population is engaged in marginal agriculture. The rural populations have the lowest per capita income of any part of the United States. The Corridor has some natural resources, notably coal, iron ore, and timber. It also has abundant water resources. The terrain is gentle, having few major geographic obstacles. It includes the base of the Appalachian chain and the eastern Ozarks.

There has been some development in the Multi-State Corridor. Just to the north, under the stimulus of the space program, Huntsville, Alabama, has blossomed from an agricultural marketing center to a major research and engineering center. Elsewhere new facilities - principally textile - have been located in rural areas to take advantage of low wage rates and abundant unskilled labor.

The Multi-State Corridor is a natural site for new multimodal development. New transportation facilities can be built without the citizen protests that accompany most major projects in urban and industrialized areas. Economic development is desperately needed to improve the lives of an impoverished population. In addition, the predominantly rural corridor provides an opportunity to test whether substantial populations can be supported in rural areas without the necessity of migrating to major urban areas and contributing to a worsening of urban problems.

Traffic volumes in the Multi-State Corridor are not high. No Interstate highway runs the length of the Corridor although a number cross it. With few exceptions, longitudinal roads are of moderate to poor quality. A main line of the Frisco Railroad extends from Kansas City to Birmingham and a secondary main line of the Seaboard Coast Line Railroad continues to Jacksonville. Through freight service is available. The area is crossed by the major waterways of the Southeast, including the Chattahoochee/Apalachicola Rivers, the Tennessee-Tombigbee project, the Tennessee River, the Mississippi River, and the Missouri River. Ocean port facilities are located at Brunswick, Georgia, and Jacksonville. Major river ports are situated at Columbus, Georgia, Birmingham and Decatur, Alabama, Memphis, and Kansas City.

The task of forging new directions in Transportation is much too large to undertake in a single step. It needs to be scaled down if any real progress is to be made. This initial effort focuses on the interaction between transportation service characteristics and economic development opportunities. The work is therefore restricted to freight transportation. However, the full spectrum of freight transportation services is subject to analysis. This includes both present modes - highway, rail, water and air - future modes that may be developed, and intermodal combinations of present and future modes.

Scope

The thesis of the research is that transportation services can and should bear a unique relationship to the facilities and individuals that they serve. There is no universal transportation system. New transportation developments should be selected to meet the specific needs of the area to be served. Thus the selection of facilities requires a prior knowledge of developmental goals which are then translated into transportation requirements.

The process is of necessity a complex one. In particular, the knowledge, effort and money needed to perform specific location studies suggests that one should not launch into detailed planning without a high probability of success. What is apparently called for is a screening process by which the problem can be viewed in several levels of detail, with each level narrowing the scope of study for successive work.

This research is viewed as the first of a succession of screening steps. The product of this work is an analytical method that can identify potentially attractive transportation development opportunities in terms of the industrial development that each can stimulate. The transportation services are identified in terms of mode, capacity, and approximate route. Details concerning alignment, design, points of ingress and egress and specific technology are left for later study. Development opportunities are described in terms of industry group, approximate location, approximate markets, and approximate size. Details concerning specific products and activities, raw materials, specific location, and corporate ownership are left to others.

The first year's research is concerned only with basic industry - that is, new facilities that will produce goods or services that are largely exported from the producing area to national markets. The total market for each industry group is assumed to remain fixed with respect to size and location. Thus, new facilities built in the Multi-State Corridor must compete

with existing facilities for existing markets. Market competition among suppliers is conducted on the basis of cost. Product quality is assumed to be equal. This assumption, in effect, treats new facilities as though they are branch plants to which higher management has the authority to allocate production on the basis of cost.

Secondary, nonbasic, or multiplier effects of new facilities are not considered at this time nor are the development of new market demands induced by the establishment of new facilities. Although both issues are of immense importance to the development of the Multi-State Corridor, consideration of these issues is postponed to a later date.

The industrial markets used to test new development opportunities are restricted to the 48 contiguous United States. Alaska, Hawaii, and Puerto Rico are grossly lumped with overseas markets for the purposes of the present work. At a later time, overseas and export opportunities will be examined.

Although the research is concerned with future transportation services and future economic development, the forecasting dimension of the work has not yet been introduced. Sufficient data problems have been uncovered in developing the analytical procedure that the addition of future uncertainties could do little but further cloud the problem. Therefore, the first year's work is based on 1975 transportation, economic activity and costs. This constraint will be removed in subsequent work.

The research is heavily concerned with intermodal transportation movements - the enroute transfer of shipments between transportation modes to facilitate faster, more economical and more dependable delivery. To properly consider such combinations, it is necessary to identify and compare large numbers of potential intermodal routes with the same efficiency used to identify single mode routes.

The research will eventually consider a large number of transportation alternatives that include both new services and new combinations of services. This is also a new and unique approach. Many others have purported to examine new and unique transportation services. However, in most analyses all but the most conventional transportation services are dismissed with little justification. One wonders how many are dismissed simply because they are hard to deal with. It is important not to dismiss any services on the basis of rudimentary analysis or "instinctive adverse reactions." Because a spectrum of transportation needs requires a spectrum of transportation services, it is necessary to

deal with combinations of complementary services. Thus, what the Multi-State Corridor needs is not the one "best" service but the best set of services that jointly meet the needs of all. To find this set, alternative transportation services will be assembled into programs, each of which represents a complete transportation strategy for the Multi-State area. Programs will be evaluated and compared in terms of complex criteria that include traffic volume, economic development, user benefits, employment, potential profit, and others. Specific environmental and public acceptance issues will not be addressed at this level of analysis.

Literature Search

The Multi-State University Consortium is not the first group to attempt to understand the relationships between transportation and other activities. Leontief [9] in his development of the input-output model provided the basis for most recent work. Harris [10] used this approach to construct a very detailed model for comparing highway alternatives. He expresses the quality of transportation service in terms of cost between origin and destination points. Routing is prescribed as part of the cost determination. Harris' work does not address either multimodal or intermodal transportation. Polenske [11] has effectively applied input-output analysis to regional planning in a framework that includes transportation costs. Finally, Wendt [12] has developed a procedure, including input-output analysis, for developing relationships between transportation quality and land use. He too considers but a single mode - highway.

The state of the art in network modeling is well demonstrated by the set

- [9] Leontief, W. W., <u>Input-Output Economics</u>, Oxford University Press, New York, 1966.
- [10] Harris, Curtis C., Jr., <u>Regional Economic Effects of Alternative Highway</u> Systems, Ballinger, Cambridge, Mass., 1974.
- [11] Polenske, K. R., C. W. Anderson and M. M. Shirley, <u>A Guide for Users of the U.S. Multiregional Input-Output Model</u>, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Dept. of Urban Studies and Planning, Cambridge, Mass., 1974.
- [12] Wendt, P. F., <u>Transportation Planning Land Use Studies the State of</u> the Art, Research Report #5, Georgia DOT, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.

of models prepared by U.S. DOT [13]. These models, which have been applied to a wide range of urban, intercity and freight transportation problems, use shortest path algorithms to identify the most desirable routes between origins and destinations. These algorithms effectively preclude intermodal transportation services. Ellis [14] attempted to assess multimode transportation needs in the Multi-State Corridor using conventional models. He found it necessary to project future economic development from a combination of past history and existing estimates. Although three different projections were used, they produced very similar results. This approach could not include potential future breakthroughs. Ellis' multimode consideration was limited to the study of seven alternative transportation improvements - four highway and three rail. Only the third rail alternative included intermodal features and then only between highway and rail. This alternative was treated as a single mode that limited highway movement to pick up and deliver. More detailed consideration of intermodal and multimodal transportation services was effectively prevented by the size and complexity of the computer programs used in the analysis.

The present work focuses on a less detailed economic model than inputoutput analysis would provide and a more comprehensive consideration of the network problem. By this means economic breakthroughs are identified and the intermodal problem is more effectively addressed.

The first year's research has been devoted to developing a complete framework for dealing with the analytical problem. In the process of maintaining a global perspective, it has been necessary to give short shrift to some highly technical and challenging problems - notably the mode split and market share models. Subsequent work will deal with these problems to the depth that they require. Some data used in the analysis leave something to be desired. Although the best available comprehensive sources have been used, there is much room for improvement. Finally, the analytical method has been tested for only a small area, Northern Mississippi, and for only eight commodity groups.

- [13] Dial, Robert B., "Urban Transportation Planning System: Philosophy and Function," Transportation Research Record, No. 599, 1976.
- [14] U.S. DOT, <u>Multi-Modal Transportation Feasibility Study of the Brunswick</u>, <u>Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri Route</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., July 1977.

No telling conclusions can be drawn from such limited work. More comprehensive investigations are needed before meaningful conclusions can be drawn about economic opportunities or transportation needs for the Multi-State Corridor.

Report Organization

This report presents the results of the first year's work. It is descriptive in nature because no conclusions have yet been drawn. That task will come at a later time. The report is intended to familiarize the reader with the problem that has been addressed, the approaches that have been followed, the methods that have been selected and the shortcomings that have been found.

The Executive Summary presented an overview of the analytical process that is intended to both summarize the results and to integrate the subjects that are presented in detail later. Chapter II, Legal and Administrative Considerations, stands alone. It reports on the substantial legal and administrative barriers that must be overcome before multimodal facilities can become a reality. The other chapters deal with the development of the analytical model and its testing in the Northern Mississippi setting.

II. LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE CONSIDERATIONS*

The legal and organizational structures of Federal and state governments are not favorably disposed toward the construction and operation of multimode transportation facilities. Prior to the 1935 Highway Act, it would have been possible to create a multimodal organization and, in fact, some organizations did provide multimodal and intermodal services. However, the 1935 act prohibited railroads from future ownership of motor carriers (and subsequently water carriers) and focused on intermodal competition which has been the theme of transportation development since that time.

The formation of the Federal Department of Transportation (DOT) in 1967 brought together agencies that represent a variety of transportation interests. These were assembled into a structure that stresses modal unity and discourages cross-modal cooperation. In addition, the continuation of past funding programs and the strong vested interests representing mode competition have prevented effective cooperation across modes. State transportation departments are still heavily dominated by highway activity and have few personnel and scant funds available for use with other modes.

Federal Agency Interest

Transportation is so pervasive that, in one form or another, it touches almost all units of government. In the Federal Government, there are no less than 24 agencies, inside and outside of DOT, that have a primary interest in transportation. These agencies and interests are summarized in Table 3.

In the aggregate, the 24 agencies of Table 3 are responsible for planning, evaluating, approving, financing, and regulating a wide range of transportation projects and transportation services [15]. One technique for presenting the complex federal role is to display the different agency interests in terms of nine key functions - planning, financing, environmental review, design, construction, operation, maintenance, safety and regulation - for the seven principal modes - highway, rail, inland marine, ocean marine, air,

*The material in this chapter summarizes the Task 1 report prepared by Dr. Stanley J. Hille and Mr. Edward R. Bruning [1].

[15] General Services Administration, Office of the Federal Register, <u>U.S.</u> <u>Government Manual</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.

TABLE 3 TRANSPORTATION INTERESTS OF FEDERAL AGENCIES

Agency

Interests

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Secretary (OST)

U.S. Coast Guard (USCG)

Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA)

Federal Railroad Administration (FRA)

Urban Mass Transportation Administration (UMTA)

National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA)

Materials Transportation Bureau (MTB)

St. Lawrence Seaway Development Corp. (SDC)

Interstate Commerce Commission (ICC)

Transportation analysis, finance, organization and implementation from a policy making viewpoint

Navigation, marine environmental safety, marine safety, search and rescue, icebreaking, port security, Great Lakes pilotage, marine traffic monitoring

Airspace navigation and usage, air traffic control, airport financial assistance

Highway design standards, highway safety standards, highway finance, highway system design, research, testing, hazardous material howcost

Railroad policy, safety, financial assistance, planning, research, Alaska Railroad

Equipment development and standards, financial aid, demonstration projects, research and planning

Motor vehicle and driver safety analysis, vehicle inspection procedures, safety standards, national speed limit

Hazardous material transportation regulations, pipeline safety, finance state safety programs

Operation and maintenance of U.S. portion of St. Lawrence Seaway

Regulate interstate surface transportation services, routes, rates, combinations of common carriers, economic analysis, rail services planning
Agency

Federal Maritime Commission (FMC)

Appalachian Regional Commission (ARC)

Civil Aeronautics Board (CAB)

Federal Power Commission (FPC)

National Transportation Safety Board (NTSB)

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)

Department of Energy (DOE)

U.S. Forest Service (USFS)

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (COE)

U.S. Maritime Administration (MA)

Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board (A&TBCB)

Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA)

Interests

Regulates waterborne foreign and domestic offshore commerce, coastal water pollution regulation

Planning, financial aid, design review, environmental review for developmental highways

Regulates civil air transport routes, rates, combinations of common carriers, financial aid

Regulates interstate transport of electric power and natural gas, including routes and rates

Accident investigation, regulates accident reporting, hazardous material transportation

Reviews environmental impact statements, sets and enforces standards, research, technical support, financial aid

Research, coordination on energy matters

Designs, constructs, maintains roads in national forests

Designs, constructs, maintains harbors and inland waterways and pollution abatement works, planning and analysis

Ship construction and operation financing and subsidy, research, development and education

Assure compliance with federal standards for the handicapped

Constructs, operates and maintains waterways and power generation and distribution facilities, regional planning

TABLE 3 (CONT.)

Agency

(BOR)

(NPS)

(GSA)

Bureau of Outdoor Recreation

General Services Administration

National Parks Service

Review transportation impacts on wilderness areas, planning

Interests

Constructs and maintains roads and transportation services in national parks

Owns and operates vehicle fleets and maintenance facilities

pipeline and urban. This display is presented as Table 4. Some modes, notably highway and inland marine have multiple coverage of most interests. The interfaces among these agencies are generally geographical, e.g. the SDC and TVA are concerned with specific regions while the Corps of Engineers' outlook is more universal. Interfaces, other than planning and environmental review, tend to be well defined. For example, in the area of pipeline regulation, the ICC is concerned with common carrier pipeline companies while the FPC is concerned exclusively with natural gas pipelines.

It is not possible to present a uniform treatment of federal and state participation in the planning and implementation of different modal facilities. The discussion to follow leans heavily on highway practice because highway procedures are both larger and more fully developed than procedures for other modes. Particular attention is paid to practices that are favorable to multimode development and practices that pose particular problems.

Planning

Transportation planning takes a variety of forms and occurs in a variety of places. On the Federal level, no less than 14 agencies are concerned with some type of transportation planning. Most of these agencies are mode specific, e.g. FHWA, FRA, UMTA, FAA, and many are region or project specific, e.g., SDC, TVA, ARC, USFS. Only the Office of the Secretary of Transportation has a charter that is broad enough to encompass multimode and intermode planning. Except for region specific agencies, federal planning is on a policy or general guidance level. Specific planning is performed at a more local level by government or industry.

Highway Planning

The highway statutes specifically delegate the authority to plan, establish, improve, and regulate highways to the appropriate state highway authorities. With the express constitutional power to build roads, the Congress has the authority to dictate the terms and conditions under which highway construction is carried out. According to 49 CFR [16], the Secretary of Transportation is authorized to carry out the law according to the highway statutes. In addition, the Secretary is authorized to delegate authority to the Federal

^{[16] &}lt;u>Code of Federal Regulations</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.

	TRANSPORTATION MODES										
	HIGHWAY	RAILROAD	INLAND MAR INE	OCEAN MARINE	AIR	PIPELINE	URBAN				
PLANNING	OST, FHWA, DOE, USFS, NPS, GSA, ARC	OST, FRA, DOE	OST, SDC, DOE, COE, TVA	OST, MA	OST, FAA, DOE		OST, UMTA, DOE				
FINANCING	GHWA, USFS, NPS, GSA, ARC	FRA	SDC, COE, TVA	MA	FAA, CAB	MTB	UMTA				
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW	FHWA, EPA, BOR, ARC	EPA, BOR	EPA, BOR	EPA	EPA, BOR	EPA, BOR	UMTA, EPA				
DESIGN	FHWA, USFS, A&TBLB, NPS, ARC	A&TBCB	SDC, COE, TVA	MA	A&TBCB		UMTA, A&TBCB				
CONSTRUCTION	USFS, NPS		SDC, COE, TVA								
OPERATION	GSA	FRA	SDC, TVA		FAA						
MAINTENANCE	USFS, NPS, GSA	FRA	SDC, COE, TVA								
REGULATION	ICC	ICC	ICC	FMC	САВ	ICC, FPC					
SAFETY	FHWA, NHTSA, NTSB	FRA, NTSB	USCG	USCG	NTSB	MTB	UMTA				

TABLE 4FEDERAL AGENCY TRANSPORTATION INTEREST RELATIONSHIPS

Highway Administration for the development of the Federal-Aid Highway and Interstate Systems. In 23 CFR, 1.3, the FHWA is required to cooperate with the states, through their respective highway departments, in the construction of the Federal-Aid System. Each state highway department is authorized, by the laws of the state, to make final decisions for the state in all matters relating to contracts and agreements for projects which may be needed in order to comply with Federal laws. Thus, the state highway departments, in effect, perform the actual planning and development functions for all Federal-Aid and Interstate Highway projects.

The FHWA specifies additional criteria that planning agencies must adhere to:

- 1. Proper channels of communication must be observed. When the state highway department begins considering an improvement using FHWA assistance, the regional A-95 clearinghouse must be contacted so that all agencies will have the opportunity to present their views. The regulation, found in Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular No. A-95, furnishes guidance to federal agencies for cooperation with state and local governments in the evaluation, review, and coordination of federal assistance programs.
- 2. To assure that state highway officials cooperate with cities in the development of long-range highway plans and transportation programs, any plan for a Federal-Aid highway project that affects transportation in a city must include public hearings concerning the economic and social effects of the plan.
- 3. Some special provisions appear. A proposed project within the Appalachian region, as defined in section 403 of the Appalachian Regional Development Act of 1965, cannot be approved by the Secretary of Transportation until the Federal Co-Chairman of the Appalachian Regional Commission has been consulted. A proposed project within an economic development region as defined in Title V of the Public Works and Economic Development Act of 1965, cannot be approved until the Federal Co-Chairman and the Secretary of Commerce have been consulted.
- 4. As soon as the plans for a project have been approved, the Secretary of Transportation enters into a project agreement with the state

highway department concerning the construction and maintenance of the project. The state highway department is given authority to make the necessary arrangements or agreements with the appropriate local officials where a part of the project is to be undertaken by a local subdivision of the state.

The highway statutes give the state highway department responsibility for a periodic statewide needs study [17]. Representatives from the highway department are required by law to work closely with local government and groups throughout the state.

To supplement the efforts of the state highway department in identifying the social, economic and environmental effects of transportation projects the statutes specify procedures for contacting the Federal agencies identified in Table 3. The agencies are requested to give the highway department their views and comments concerning the improvement, especially with respect to the social, economic, and environmental impacts of the improvement. However, formal agreements with these agencies are not required.

The Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1962 requires that all urbanized areas have a continuing comprehensive transportation planning process executed cooperatively by states and local communities. Recent congressional actions require that the urban transportation planning process be multimodal. This includes mass transportation, airports and airways, railroads, pipelines, and water transportation, but only within urban areas.

Section 143 of the Federal Highway Act of 1976 requires that the public officials of the jurisdictional governing body where the project is located be consulted about highway projects in urban areas.

Oftentimes a project will traverse an area under the control or management of another agency, and a <u>Memorandum of Understanding</u> must be executed by the Highway Department or the FHWA and that agency.

Planning for Other Modes

Federal agencies have also been concerned with planning for airports and waterways. The FAA has a comprehensive airport planning program whereby states are required to prepare state, regional and local airport plans as a condition for receiving financial assistance. National planning is performed

[17] United States Code, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.

by the FAA. Airport planning also carries requirements for A-95 review, environmental impact statements and public hearings.

The Corps of Engineers performs waterway planning on a formal basis. Extensive traffic analysis and evaluation is performed to provide economic support for new projects. Environmental impact statements are prepared and public hearings are held for all projects prior to implementation. The Corps' activities are limited to the waterways themselves. They dredge channels, drive bulkheads and build locks but do not erect port facilities. The latter is a state, local or private function.

Until recently, rail planning was the exclusive domain of the private railroads. With the passage of the 3R and 4R acts, the FRA is becoming more heavily involved in rail planning. To date, this has largely been restricted to studies of industry structure, the evaluation of little used lines, and the planning of the U.S. Railway Association (Conrail). The extent of future activities is not clear at this time.

The Urban Mass Transportation Administration has become heavily involved in non-automotive urban transportation planning through its programs of demonstration, capital and operating grants. The paucity of funds as compared with requests has placed UMTA in a key evaluation position. Requirements exist for A-95 review, environmental impact studies and public hearings.

With establishment of the U.S. Department of Transportation in 1967, efforts were begun to bring about coordination of the individual modal planning programs. Beginning in 1972 with the publication of its first National Transportation Study, DOT has embarked upon a program of assessing the needs in each transportation functional area.

The legislative beginning for an intermodal coordinating mechanism was provided by the 1962 Highway Act through its requirements in Section 134 for comprehensive urban transportation planning processes in each urbanized area. This process today includes highway planning, transit planning, planning for all parking and intercity terminal facilities, and with the passage of the 1973 and 1976 Highway Acts, railroads, airports, and waterways. However, typically the portion of the planning process funded by FHWA has stressed highway planning while UMTA funding has stressed transit. Thus, imbalances in the planning process are observed today.

In 1973, the Secretary of Transportation formally established intermodal planning groups in the ten Standard Federal Regions. These groups were

composed of representatives of the Coast Guard, Federal Aviation Administration, Urban Mass Transportation Administration, the Federal Railroad Administration, and the regional representatives. The purpose of these groups is to promote intermodal planning, unified work programs, and the recognition of a single agency in each metropolitan area for coordinating transportation planning.

Thus, the institutional structure for comprehensive and coordinated intermodal transportation planning exists. The present challenge is to initiate use of this structure and to organize transportation planning at the state and local level to best facilitate coordination with the planning activities of the federal agencies.

State Transportation Planning

The traditional form of organization at the state level is a highly decentralized one, in which numerous autonomous agencies operate independently, with each agency responsible for a single, or small number of transportation modes (see Table 5). The states of Arkansas, Alabama, and Mississippi have transportation organizational structures that fit this traditional mold. These organizations developed before there was widespread recognition of the need for interaction among the modes.

The state role in transportation has been changing over the last few years for Florida, Georgia, Tennessee, and Missouri as state Departments of Transportation have been created. These new organizations combined numerous previously autonomous agencies, each of which had a relatively narrow responsibility.

The modes of transportation and the transportation related activities with which most state DOT's are concerned are highways and highway development, aviation and airport development, railroads and rail preservation, water transport, pipelines, motor vehicles, safety, and regulation. All the DOT's include highways among their responsibilities, except Missouri, reflecting that DOT's are, in terms of budgets, reorganized highway departments. A second area of commonality among the four state DOT's is the absence of pipelines as a transportation mode within their planning domain. Almost as uniformly, the state DOT's reviewed for this study have not been given regulatory responsibility.

TABLE 5 ST/TE PLANNING ACENCIES AND FUNCTIONS

								•				
State	Comprehensive State Planning Agency	A-95 Beview Agency	Intre- State Trans. Regulation	Highway	Rail	Urban	Port	Inland Veter	Air	Pipeline	Multi- Nodel	Environmental
Alabana	Alabama Development Office (ADO)	ADO .	Alabama Public Servica Commission	State Highway Dept.	-	-	Alabama Stata Docks		Dept. of Aeronautice		-	Environmental Health Admin.
Artentes	Arkansés Office of Planning (AOP)	AOP	Arkensas Trensportation Commission	Arkansas Highway & Transp. Dept.	-	AR&TD		Arkansas Waterways Comm.	Dept. of Aeronautica	-	ARETD	Roviromentel Health Service
¥loride	Division of Stats Planning (DSP)	DSP	Florida Public Service Commission	Florida DOT	Florida DOT	Florida DOT .	Floride DOT	Florida DOT	Florida DOT	-	Jacksonville Area Planning Board	Dept. of Pollution Control
Georgià	Bureau of State Planning and Community Affairs (BSPCA)	BEPCA	Georgia Public Service Commission	Georgia DOT	Georgia DOT	Georgia DOT	Georgie Forte Assn.	Georgia DOT	Georgia DOT	Georgia DUT	Georgia DOT	Div. of Environmental Protection
Hississippi	State Legislature	Faderal- State Programs Office	Nississippi Public Safety Bervice Commission	Nise. Highway Dept.	Locel	Local .	Local		Niss. Aeronautics Coum.		•	Air & Water Pollution Control Com.
Missouri	Office of Administration	Div. of Budget & Flanning	Missouri Public Bervice Commission	Nissouri Righwey Dept,	Missouri DOT	Hiseouri DOT	Missouri DOT	Missouri DOT	Nisecari DOT	1	-	Dept. of Natural Resources
Tennes soo	Office of State Flanning	Office of Urban & Federal Affairs	Temessee Public Service • Commission	Tennes see D07	Tannessee D07	Tennessee DOT	Tennessee DOT	Tennessee DOT	Tennessee DOT			Buresu of Environmental Realth
			1	1	1	1	I .					

.

.

- ·

.

TEARSPORTATION HODAL PLANNING

Sources: Alabama Code, Title 55, Sec. 373 (6) (e) (5); Arkanese Code, Title 9, Sec. 301, Title 76, Sec. 2203; Florida Code, Title 23, Sec. 011; Caorgia Code, Title 49, Sec. 2731; Mississippi Code, Title 65, Sec. 5; Missouri Code, Title 231, Sec. 190; Tennessee Code, Title 4, Sec. 1003

.

Finance

Federal, state and local governments all have important financial responsibilities for transportation. The Federal Government provides major financial assistance for highways, airports, and waterways and urban public transportation systems. A modest program is underway for supporting low density rail lines. State governments provide the local share for most highway projects and local governments furnish matching funds for public transit.

Federal Role

Over the last twenty years, Federal transportation aid programs have become increasingly diversified. Categorical grants have proliferated; formula grants have been introduced and modified; Federal matching ratios have increased steadily; grant recipient eligibility has broadened; pass-through provisions to local governments have been introduced; functional earmarking of trust fund allotments has increased; and administrative requirements for receipt of aid have been instituted. All of these developments have increased the complexity of the aid program structure. The DOT is now contemplating a single bill to cover the financing of all transportation.*

Highways

The major funding acts for highway projects are:

- Federal Highway Act of 1956. This Act established the Highway Trust Fund to finance Federal contributions to the ABC and Interstate systems, and raised the Federal matching share for Interstate construction to 90 percent. It also apportioned trust fund money to the different states according to their relative proportion of Federal aid highway construction costs.
- Highway Beautification Act of 1966. This Act introduced several categorical grant programs. Up to 75 percent of the highway beautification program was made eligible for financing from the Highway Trust Fund.
- 3. Federal Highway Act of 1968. This Act established two more allocations within the Highway Trust Fund, one provided \$400 million for

*Secretary of Transportation in a speech before the American Public Transportation Association in Atlanta, Ga., October 12, 1977.

an urban traffic management program (TOPICS) and the other authorized a revolving fund for right-of-way acquisition.

- 4. Federal Highway Act of 1970. This Act authorized \$200 million for a Federal aid urban system program, and authorized the financing of exclusive bus lanes and fringe parking lots from the Highway Trust Fund.
- 5. Federal Highway Act of 1973. This Act revised the highway aid program. It increased Federal aid authorizations for the non-interstate portions of the Federally aided highway system, expanded the road mileage eligible for urban system aid, and provided for state earmarking of urban system funds. The Act permitted Highway Trust Funds to be used for certain mass transit purposes. It earmarked 0.5 percent of available Federal highway aid for distribution to metropolitan officials for transportation planning, and instituted several new categorical grant programs.

The Highway Trust Fund is used to reimburse the states for expenditures on Federal-Aid highways. This fund was established by the Highway Revenue Act of 1956 as a mechanism to finance the highway program. The principal revenue source of the Trust Fund is the motor fuel tax of 4 cents per gallon, which accounts for about two thirds of the revenue. There are also taxes of 6 cents per gallon on motor oil, 10 cents per pound on highway vehicle tires and inner tubes, and 5 cents per pound on retread rubber. There is an annual use tax of \$3 per 1,000 pounds of gross vehicle weights on heavy trucks and buses (over 26,000 lbs.), a ten percent sales tax on new trucks, buses, and trailers, and an eight percent tax on truck and bus parts and accessories.

The highway statutes specify a procedure for distributing funds to the states for highway construction. The first step is the authorization of funds for the programs in accordance with the Federal-Aid Highway Acts enacted by Congress every two years. Programs thus granted "contract authority," are apportioned among the states according to formulas prescribed by law. Other funds are divided among the states administratively as allocations. Once apportioned, the funds are available for use by the states for a total of 4 years. Programs that are authorized under "contract authority" are different from those in which an authorization must be followed by a congressional appropriation of "budget authority." Some of the smaller and discrete highway

programs are financed from general funds, and a subsequent appropriation of "budget authority" is required before obligations can be incurred. A few examples are: Highway Beautification, Territorial Highways, Safer Off-System Roads, Off System, and Rail-Highway Crossings.

Controls have sometimes been placed on highway spending. These limitations, called impoundments, are actions to prohibit or delay the obligation of contract authority granted by Congress. Presently, there are three types of impoundments related to the highway program: deferrals, recessions, and legislative limits on obligations.

Airports

The Federal Airport Act of 1946 established a formula grant with 75 percent apportioned to states on a population-area basis and the remainder disbursed on a discretionary basis. Legislation in 1961 and 1964 followed the same pattern for earmarking funds for general aviation, airport construction, and it increased the Federal share for navigational aids. It also required airport zoning as a pre-condition for receipt of Federal airport aid.

The 1970 Airport and Airway Development Act established the Airport Trust Fund for financing airport development. This program provides aid for both airport construction and planning. It includes a revised formula allotment to expand secretarial discretion to take fuller account of increasing and shifting air traffic volumes.

Water

Marine navigational and port development projects are performed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers upon request by state and local governments. The Corps provides such assistance free of charge up to a specified limit, and the local governments provide necessary assistance which usually involves securing rights-of-way for Corps work.

<u>Rail</u>

Railroad financial aid is all of recent origin. In 1970, Congress enacted the Rail Passenger Service Act that created the National Rail Passenger Corporation (AMTRAK), an independent body, to manage the intercity rail passenger routes by contracting for service with existing railroads. The bankruptcy of the Penn Central Railroad and other northeastern companies prompted the passage of the Regional Rail Reorganization Act of 1973 whereby these bankrupt

railroads were reorganized into the Consolidated Rail Corporation (CONRAIL). The Act provided about \$1.5 billion in loan guarantees and also provided for Federal loans to state and local transportation authorities that wish to subsidize rail lines that would otherwise be abandoned. The Railroad Revitalization and Regulatory Reform Act of 1976 directed the Secretary of Transportation to take a comprehensive look at Federal assistance policies for all modes of transportation and to formulate a coordinated Federal transportation assistance program. Title V of the Act created a temporary fund to improve and modernize rail facilities.

Public Transportation

The Urban Mass Transportation Act of 1964 established a two-part grant program for mass transit financing. The first part provided capital grants and loans to eligible public agencies subject to one-third local matching. The second program provided a mass transit research and development grant program, with a variable matching ratio.

UMTA amendments in 1968 and 1970 permitted private contributions to meet the non-Federal share of UMTA goals. The 1970 Act also stipulated funding limitations - no more than 12.5 percent to be spent in any one state - while at the same time earmarking 15 percent of UMTA authorizations to be spent at the discretion of the Secretary of Transportation. Discretionary categorical grants were also established to help meet the transportation needs of the handicapped and the elderly.

The National Mass Transportation Act of 1974 provided funds for operating as well as capital expenditures. A formula distribution program based on population and population density allows Federal matching funds of up to 80 percent for capital purposes and up to 50 percent for operating purposes.

State Role

State governments generally finance their transportation responsibilities from a combination of transportation-related taxes, intergovernmental aid, user charges, and bond issuance. In most states highway funds are provided by a per gallon tax on motor fuels, licensing fees for vehicles, and several minor fees relating directly to the vehicle and its use, such as registration fees, in-transit fees, auto division fees, and oversize/overweight fees. Numerous legal provisions affect the use of gasoline tax revenues. Three states, Alabama, Georgia and Missouri, have constitutional provisions that

prohibit the diversion of revenues from fuel taxes for non-highway purposes.

State use of revenue sharing funds for transportation purposes has been limited. Arkansas indicated that they would use more than half of their revenue sharing for highway transportation while Missouri has used revenue sharing funds for mass transit purposes. Experience with revenue sharing does not indicate that transportation has been a top priority item for most state governments.

Tennessee has no restrictions on the issuance of debt. The remaining six states in the Multi-State Corridor have either a specified constitutional limitation on borrowing or have to incur debt through a statewide referendum. Alabama and Georgia have the strictest limitations - limitations on the absolute dollar amount of debt a state can incur and accompanying requirements for statewide referenda before the bond issue.

Land Acquisition

"Eminent domain" or "the power to take private property for public use" is an attribute of both the Federal and state governments within their respective spheres of activity. This power is limited, however, by applicable constitutional provisions. The power of eminent domain extends to every kind of property right. This delegation of "private taking" must be limited to:

- 1. Condemnation for a specific purpose or use,
- 2. Property needed to accomplish that purpose, and
- 3. A prescribed procedure.

The government, or an agency of its choosing, may condemn all or any part of the rights to a piece of land, or to movables or intangibles [18].

The states encompassing the corridor planning area have vested in them the right of eminent domain to all modes of transportation with the exception of petroleum and coal slurry pipelines. The states of Alabama and Tennessee do not grant petroleum pipelines rights of eminent domain, and Arkansas is the only state in the corridor that will grant coal slurry pipelines these rights.

Two particular problems are raised with respect to transportation acquisitions:

[18] Sax, "Takings and the Police Power," 74 Yale Law Journal 36, 1964, p. 318. 1. <u>Acquisitions for future use</u>. As the anticipated use becomes more remote in time, the taking tends to come into conflict with the requirement that there be a need for the property. Also, as the time of the intended use becomes remote, the need for the particular property tends to become more uncertain, hence unnecessary [19].

2. Excess land. Condemner may desire to acquire more property than is needed for a particular public project, or, to acquire additional lands anticipating a benefit from the improvement and ultimate sale at some profit so as to reduce overall costs of acquisitions. Condemnation of land for this purpose would appear to be in conflict with the requirements that the property be necessary and that it be acquired for a public use.

The courts have been unwilling to hold that the state may, even when acting consistently with the public interest, impose limitations on the use of property. The state must compensate the owner if it imposes an undue burden. The presence of continuing invasion almost always requires compensation.

In many circumstances the value of property is diminished by government action that is neither appropriation nor regulation. The extension of the meaning of "taking" by judicial decision has led to liberal rules for recovery, sometimes for circumstances in which an "invasion" is hard to find. Almost invariably the property owner must show not only damage of a relatively permanent nature, but some special damage that distinguishes him from other property owners.

In determining the fair cash market value of the property taken, the owner is not limited to the value of the property for the purposes for which it was actually used. The valuation of property has been based upon its most profitable legal use. Any reasonable future use to which the land might be adapted or applied may be considered in arriving at the present market value. The market value standard excludes "incidental" or consequential damages, including loss of profits, damage to goodwill, expense of relocation, damage resulting from the owner's inability to obtain a new location, traffic noise and fumes from increased traffic, circuity of travel, and diversion of traffic. The value that concerns the courts is the value at the time of taking.

^[19] Grad, F., <u>Treatise on Environmental Law</u>, Bender, New York, 1975, pp. 102-107.

No condemnation suit will be accepted by the courts until all damages to the condemnee (landowner) are considered. These include damages resulting from dividing a property into two or more parts. Any reduction in the value of the remaining area caused by severance from the parcel taken for public use is considered to be damage that is an inescapable part of the "taking" and it is compensable.

The landowner has the right to ingress and egress from his premises, because the original function of a conventional highway was to serve the landowner as well as the motorists. This right accrues to the occupant of abutting land as well as to the owner, even if the property is vacant. However, the right of the public in the highway is superior to private rights. The landowner may not therefore interfere with the use of the highway by the public.

Where an existing highway is converted into a multimodal corridor, existing access rights must be bought. If the landowner is left without reasonable access to the corridor, even though no land is taken, he has a constitutional right to compensation. Where part of the abutter's land is taken and the abutter no longer has reasonable access to the corridor, he must be paid for the loss of access as well as for the land taken for right-of-way and damages to the remainder.

Recognizing that the acquisition of rights-of-way requires lengthy planning and negotiations if it is to be done at a reasonable cost, DOT has authorized funds for acquisition of rights-of-way in anticipation of construction. The agreement between the DOT and the state highway departments for the reimbursement of the cost is based on the actual construction of a road on such rights-of-way within a period not exceeding ten years after the request is made. A right-of-way revolving fund is established to finance such acquisitions. Funds so advanced may be used to pay the entire costs of projects including the cost to the state of property management, and related moving and relocation payments.

Environmental Impact

All transportation projects require that environmental impact statements be prepared, that public hearings be held and that the environmental consequences of the project be thoroughly aired. Specific requirements differ. The discussion below describes highway procedures.

The FHWA requires that a systematic interdisciplinary approach be used to assess adverse social, economic, environmental and other project effects. In addition, project development must involve consultation with local, state, and federal agencies as well as the public. Decisions must be made in the best overall public interest and upon a balanced consideration of the need for fast, safe, and efficient transportation.

It is national policy that special efforts be made to preserve objects, sites, or buildings of national, state or local historical significance. It is a Federal crime to appropriate, excavate, injure, or destroy any historic or prehistoric ruin or monument, situated on government lands without permission of the head of the department having jurisdiction over such lands.

The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 defines a national policy for the environment. Objectives of this policy are stated in Section 101 (b):

- Attain the widest range of beneficial uses of the environment without degradation, risk to health or safety, or other undesirable consequences;
- 2. Preserve important historic, cultural, and natural aspects of our national heritage;
- 3. Achieve a balance between population and resource use, enhance the quality of renewable resources, and approach the maximum attainable recycling of depletable resources.

In order to meet the requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, the FHWA issued Policy and Procedure Memorandum 20-8, which required the state highway agency in requesting Federal location and design approvals to consider the effects of a highway project on the environment including:

- 1. Regional and community growth including land use and total transportation requirements;
- 2. Conservation and preservation including soil erosion and sedimentation, the general ecology of the area and natural resources;
- 3. Public facilities and services including religious, health, educational facilities, public utilities, fire protection and other emergency services;

27

é

- 4. Community cohesion including residential and neighborhood character and stability, highway impacts on minorities and other specific groups and interests, and effects on local tax base and property values;
- 5. Displacement of people, businesses, and farms including relocation assistance, availability of adequate replacement housing and eco-nomic activity;
- Air, noise, and water pollution including consistency with approved air quality implementation plans, FHWA noise level standards (as required under PPM 90-2), and federal or state water quality standards; and
- 7. Aesthetic and other values including visual quality, and joint development and multiple use of space.

Noise Pollution

Until recently the Federal Government did little to control highway noise. Federal statutes now require the Government to act to reduce noise both by affecting the location and design of Federal-aid highways and by regulating the noise emission characteristics of highway vehicles.

The FHWA has adopted a set of rules issued in Policy and Procedure Memorandum 90-2, (February, 1973) that prescribe acceptable noise levels for different types of developed land near highways. These include three standards for exterior noise: 60dB(A) for areas in which "serenity and quiet are of extraordinary significance,"; 70dB(A) for exteriors of residences, hotels, public buildings, and outdoor recreation areas; and 75dB(A) for other developed land uses. There is also a design noise level of 55dB(A) for the interiors of homes and other occupied buildings. No limit applies to highways abutting undeveloped lands. The numerical levels in PPM 90-2 are not to be exceeded more than ten percent of the time during the hour of the day when the most traffic noise will occur.

Air Pollution

Although the initial Federal air pollution legislation simply provided for Federal assistance to states and local agencies, it set the pattern for Federal-state cooperation and interaction in the field of air pollution control. The Federal Government has enacted legislation which provides incentives

to the states to meet higher standards. Through categorical grants in aid, the Federal Government has encouraged states to enact higher state standards.

Once national ambient air quality standards are adopted, the initiative for achieving them shifts from the Federal to the state governments. Each state must adopt and submit to the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency an implementation plan for the accomplishment of the national standard. Table 6 summarizes the authority and responsibility of the state agencies which regulate air pollution standards in the corridor area.

The state must demonstrate the legal authority to prevent construction and operation of pollution sources in locations that will prevent attainment of the national ambient air quality standards. This provision of the regulations has potentially far-reaching consequences for multimodal corridor development, because it implies the exercise of powers in land use policy and control by the state and Federal pollution control agencies.

Water Pollution

Surface water quality is affected by both direct waste water discharges and increases in contaminants. Ground water quality is affected by the changes in ground water flows, by changes in the quality of surface waters that recharge ground water aquifers, and by direct waste water discharges to the land.

Since there is increasing concern about the adverse effects of highway construction, Congress has enacted specific legislation to control the resulting water pollution. The 1972 Water Pollution Control Act is supposed to assist the states and localities in providing for water quality at the most economic price. This is an example of legislative technology-forcing. The entire thrust of the 1972 Act is to accomplish what the best pollution control technology is able to accomplish in the shortest time. Through Federal water quality standards (Table 7) the Federal government seeks to improve water quality, but could accept situations where water quality does not deteriorate as long as quality is adequate for designated purposes.

Relocation Assistance

The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (PL 91-646) requires all Federal and Federally aided programs under which families or businesses are displaced to provide uniform and equitable relocation services.

Table 5 Air Pollution Act Provisions for Corridor States

÷.

	A. 252-2	Arkensas	Flerića	Georgia	Mississi	Massert	Tennessee	
eclaration of Parpose	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	
echnical Feasibility Requirement	Х	x	X	X		X	Χ.	
ollution Defined			v			v		
Contaminants which may be injurious	X	X	X	Χ.	^ .			
Continuints which are injurious			1:	i.	1:	'n	11/1:	
Payare'	н.	L,	6	1:	1,		11/ 1.	
Adout rules and regulations	X	x	x	x	x	x	X	
Conduct hearings and investigations	X	x	x	Х	X	х	x	
Issue orders	х	Х	Х	X	X	X	X	
Require access to records	Х		x	X				
Enter into contracts	x		Х			X	Х	
Prepare comprehensive plan	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	
Conduct studies	X		X	X	x	X	x	
Continuing study of auto emissions	X		X.	v	v	v	~	
Collect and disseminate information	х х	× v	× v	· 🗘	× v	×	~	
Advise and consult interested parties	х У	Ŷ	Ň	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	x.	
Recept and administer grants and runks	Ŷ	^	^	^	^	~	^	
Power for establishment of voluntary	ŷ							
commission								
Inspection	х		X	X	х	X	X	
Grant of variances	X	X	Х	X		X	x	
Issue permits	X	х	X	X	X	X	X	
Monitor; require reports	X	х	X	X	X	X	x	
Require submission of plans for			X	X	x	X		
construction		v			Y	v	v	
Act as agent of state in all programs		×				^	^	
Coordinate management of air resources			Ŷ					
Authority to set standards:								
Establish air quality regions								
Ambient air quality standards	x		X	X	X	X	х	
Classify air contaminant sources			X			X		
Specific standards in statute								
Emission controls: general	X			X		X	X	
Emission controls: combustion	X							
Emission controls: manufacturing	~							
Imission controls: Luci	X							
Motor vehicle emission	^							
Enforcement:				v	v	Y		
Compliance ardens	Y	x	x	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	x	
Court action authorized	Ĵ	x	x	x	Ĵ	x	x	
Injunctive relief authorized	x	x	x	x	x	X	X	
Civil negalty or misdemeanor	C		C	C/M	м	C	м	
Additional penalty for willingness	X			X				
Liability for restoration			X		X			
Citizen suit provision		0	(X)	0		0	0	
Local jurisdiction:	_	_	_	. ·			-	
Local programs authorized	P	0	P	P		r	P	
Enforcement primarily local	v		v			v		•
Localities specifically empowered	λ		*			•		
to bring court action Missellaneous onurganes procedures	· y		Y		Y	Y	x	
miscerraneous caergeacy procedures	^		^		Ŷ	~		

X - State air pollution control law has the provision indicated.

A - Local air pollution control programs to be assumed by the state.

C - Civil penalty.

D T P

- E State environment or pollution control agency.
- H State department of health or agoncy within department of health.
- J State attorney general/or local district attorneys way bring suit.
- L Other state or local political unit.
- M Misdemeanor penalty.
- 0 State law expressly prohibits indicated regulation or procedure.
- P Local air pollution control program anthorized if consistent with state controls. Local rules may not be more stringent than thuse of the state; state has power to preempt local programs.
- S Local requirements may be more stringent.
- (X) State has provision indicated in a statute other than air pellution control law.

Source: Grad, F. Treatise on Environmental Law, (New York: Matthew Bender,

1975), pp. 102-167.

Table 7

Substance

SO2

Particulates

Co

Photochemical Oxidates

HC (corrected for methane)

NO2

Federal Water Standards

Primary

80 microgm/m³ (0.03 p.p.m.)

annual arithmetic mean 365 microgm/m³ (0.14 p.p.m.)

maximum in 24 hours

75 microgm/m³ annual geometric mean

260 microgm/m³ maximum in 24 hours

10 milligm/m³ (9 p.p.m.) maximum in 8 hours

40 milligm/m³ (35 p.p.m.) maximum in 1 hour

160 microm/m³ (0.08 p.p.m.) maximum in 1 hour

160 microgm/m³ (0.24 p.p.m.) maximum in 3 hours 6 a.m. - 9 a.m.

100 microgm/m³ (0.05 p.p.m.) annual arithmetic mean Secondary

60 microgm/m³ (0.02 p.p.m.)

annual arithmetic mean 260 microgm/m³ (0.1 p.p.m.)

maximum in 24 hours 1300 microgm/m³ (0.5 p.p.m.)

maximum in 3 hours

60 microgm/m³ annual geometric mean

150 microgm/m³ maximum in 24 hours

10 milligm/m³ (9 p.p.m.) maximum in 8 hours

40 milligm/m³ (35 p.p.m.) maximum in 1 hour

160 microgm/m³ (0.08 p.p.m.) maximum in 1 hour

160 microgm/m³ (0.24 p.p.m.) maximum in 3 hours 6 a.m. - 9 a.m.

100 microgm/m³ (0.05 p.p.m.) annual arithmetic mean

Source: [19] Grad, F., <u>Treatise on Environmental Law</u>, Matthew Bender, New York, 1975, p. 183. The payment schedule provides for landowners' moving and related costs, replacement housing for homeowners, mortgage insurance for replacement housing, replacement housing for tenants and others. A range of relocation assistance advisory services also must be provided and relocation activities must be coordinated with project work.

The relocation law requires that satisfactory arrangements be made for assistance payments before a Federal grant, contract, or agreement is made with a state or local agency. The cost of providing payments and assistance under the Act is considered an eligible expense for Federal financial assistance.

The FHWA has issued PPM-1 to establish procedures to insure the prompt and equitable relocation and reestablishment of persons, businesses, farms, and non-profit organizations displaced as a result of Federal highway construction. A hearing and appeals procedure is provided to encourage equitable resolutions of relocation controversies.

All of the states involved in the corridor area have relocation assistance sections included in their highway statutes. The state statutes are all quite similar in content, and essentially following the example of the Federal Government.

Regulation

This section outlines the current institutional requirements and impediments to coordinated intermodal transportation in the Corridor.

Federal

A Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity is granted to transportation carriers upon their showing the ability to provide a needed service in an efficient and equitable manner. A certificate issued to regular-route motor common carriers specifies the routes on which they may operate, the termini between which they may operate, and the intermediate and off-line points to be served. Requirements for rail, air and water carriers are similarly detailed.

The Interstate Commerce Commission requires railroads to establish connections with other rail lines and with water carriers. Motor carriers and pipelines are not required by law to interchange traffic. The ICC's jurisdiction in this matter is exclusive, with the states no longer exercising control over traffic interchange.

The ICC will allow mergers as long as they are consistent with the public interest. Measures of public interest include:

- 1. The effect of the proposed transaction on adequate transportation for the public,
- 2. The effect on the public interest of including, or failing to include, other carriers in the proposed transaction,
- 3. The total fixed charges resulting from the proposed transaction, and
- 4. The employee's interests.

The ICC is vested with broad discretion. Although the Commission has no power to enforce the Sherman Act or decide whether a combination or consolidation constitutes a restraint of trade or an attempt to monopolize, the Commission does approve all mergers of transportation companies.

The statutes that govern intermodal ownership and control are inconsistent. Many forms of carrier integration are subject to restrictive statutory tests and other integration schemes are not covered by existing legislation. In several instances there are discrepancies between statutory treatment of applications by carriers of one mode to institute new services in another form of transportation. Airlines, motor carriers, and water carriers may own railroads, but freight forwarders are barred by Section 411 from owning them. A railroad may not own motor carriers unless it can prove that consolidation with a motor carrier will not unduly restrain competition. Other modes can own common carrier pipelines. Furthermore, new pipelines can be built and old ones may be abandoned without regulation.

The ICC requires five basic conditions to be inserted in rail or rail subsidiary-motor carrier mergers:

- 1. The motor carrier service must be auxiliary to and supplemental to rail operation,
- 2. The motor carrier can only serve points on the parent rail line,
- 3. Shipments are limited to those on a through bill of lading,
- 4. All contractual arrangements between applicant motor carrier and parent railroad shall be reported to the Commission and subject to revision, and
- 5. The motor carrier service is subject to any further conditions that

the Commission might find it necessary to impose.

Sections 5(14) through (16) of the Interstate Commerce Act contain the intermodal ownership guidelines to be followed in cases involving rail-water combinations. Railroads, pipelines, express and sleeping car companies are prohibited from owning water carriers operating through the Panama Canal. There are restrictions against ownership of other water carriers. However, the Commission will allow ownership of a water carrier not operating through the Panama Canal if the transaction is consistent with the public interest. While multimodal ownership has been permitted, the carriers have been limited in the amount of integration that they can achieve.

Several different kinds of coordinated service are available, including through routes and joint rates. A "through route" is an arrangement between connecting carriers for the continuous carriage of goods on a single bill of lading. A "joint rate" is a single rate from point of origin to destination rather than a combination of the rates of the separate carriers. The ICC can require the establishment of through routes and joint rates involving railroads and water carriers. The Commission has no authority to require through routes and joint rates involving railroads and motor carriers, or motor and water carriers. Through routes and joint rates, however, may be established voluntarily. Rail carriers, historically, have been reluctant to coordinate through movements with motor carriers, except for certain trailer-on-flat-car movements.

The development of a multimodal corridor brings with it important issues relating to intercarrier rate relations. The ICC is empowered to investigate rates upon receiving a complaint or on its own initiative. It can conduct a public hearing and determine what rate or rates will be lawful in the future. It has the power to set minimum, maximum, and actual rates. This power does not apply, however, until after an existing rate has been declared unreasonable or otherwise unlawful.

The present ICC rate policy is to base rates on the fully distributed cost of the low cost carrier. In determining which carrier is the low cost carrier, and therefore entitled to protection from rate cutting, the carrier protesting the rate reduction must show that it is indeed the low cost carrier. Recently, the Commission has considered "public costs" (i.e., taxpayer defrayed costs in providing and maintaining facilities) as a part of the total cost of operation. The public policy question which arises by the introduction of

"public cost" must be given serious thought in light of the multimodal corridor development.

The Federal statutes are silent on the matter of public ownership of terminal facilities. The Port Authority of New York and New Jersey has successfully owned and operated a variety of terminal facilities. These are financed through the use of a value capture technique. This is basically a means that allows public groups to condemn land and then use the land or property to incur a profit or defray a cost in the interest of the public. The breadth of the definition of public use will determine the potential for value capture through public ownership or public/private partnership.

State

State highway regulatory authority is comprehensive in respect to the licensing of vehicles and drivers, safety, and levying taxes. The state may fix regulations for the safety of highway users and regulate the size and weights of vehicles permitted on its highways. However, the state is limited in matters of rates and services to intrastate traffic.

Limitations on motor vehicle size and weight present reconciliation problems. On the one hand, the carrier is interested in hauling the largest load possible to increase his revenue. On the other hand, state governments are concerned with maintaining the highways and assuring safety for the traveling public. The states within the Corridor area do not have uniform weight and size limits. The maximum gross weight limit in Florida, Georgia, and Alabama is 80,000 pounds. Arkansas, Missouri, Tennessee, and Mississippi limit maximum gross weight to 73,300 pounds. To facilitate commerce, it is desirable to standardize the weight and size limits for all states in the Corridor.

Safety

A number of governmental organizations have transportation safety responsibilities. The National Transportation Safety Board promulgates transportation safety requirements for marine, railroad, highway, pipeline, and civil aviation modes. The safety board gives primary attention to investigating the causes of aircraft accidents. Most surface accident investigations are carried out by the Federal agencies directly involved: the Federal Railroad Administration, the U.S. Coast Guard, the Federal Highway Administration, or the Office of Pipeline Safety.

Highway safety regulations are promulgated by the Federal Highway Administration and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. The Federal Highway Administration issues standards regarding highway design, construction and maintenance, traffic engineering services, identification and surveillance of accident locations, and pedestrian safety. The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration is responsible for developing safety standards relating to vehicles and drivers. The Bureau of Motor Carrier Safety in the Federal Highway Administration has jurisdiction over safety requirements for all motor carriers including those whose operations are exempt from ICC regulations.

Recommendations

The highway statutes provide a sound basis for developing multimodal corridor statutes. Amendments are added to the existing body of highway law every two years. Additional provisions could be provided in the 1978 act that will facilitate multimodal corridor development:

- Establish a Bureau of Inter-Modal Planning within the Department of <u>Transportation</u>. This agency would represent the interests of intermodalism and multimodalism in policy decisions. Membership would include representatives from FRA, FHA, FAA, U.S.C.G., UMTA, and MTB. The Bureau would monitor all inter/multimodal projects sponsored by DOT and propose policy to insure coordinated and efficient transportation service.
- 2. Establish a single regulatory agency with jurisdiction over all certified carriers. This agency could be called the Federal Transportation Regulatory Commission (FTRC) and would result from the consolidation of the ICC, CAB and the FMC. The FTRC would include an office concerned solely with inter/multimodal regulation and planning. This office could resemble the existing Rail Services Planning Office (RSPO).
- 3. <u>Rescind present prohibitions in the Interstate Commerce Act against</u> <u>common ownership, and allow the FTRC to establish merger rules based</u> on market conditions existing at the time of a proposed merger.

4. Require all carriers to incorporate through routes and joint rates.

5. Establish legislation that would encourage common use of transportation

facilities thereby allowing multimodal transportation (utility) facilities to develop where economically feasible.

- 6. <u>Alter the rate structure to allow greater flexibility in establishing</u> <u>rates</u>. Ideally, traffic should accrue to the carrier who can move the goods at the lowest price in the long run. Thus, long-run marginal cost should be the minimum standard used by the FTRC in establishing rates.
- 7. Broaden operating rights in the motor carrier industry.
- 8. Equalize weight and size limits within the Corridor planning area to facilitate the free-flow of commerce.
- 9. Encourage states to establish intermodal planning bodies.
- 10. Set up a framework of laws to allow mixed (private and public) ownership of facilities along with appropriate Federal loan guarantees for the raising of capital.
- 11. Provide for use of highway rights-of-way by privately owned transportation and public utility companies. These firms are to pay user charges for the privilege of using publicly owned facilities. A gross receipts tax would be an appropriate vehicle for use of the right-of-way.
- 12. Use value capture techniques to provide multimodal facilities.

III. COMMODITY FLOW ANALYSIS*

The purpose of the commodity flow analysis is to structure the analytical problem in a manner that provides a simplified framework without sacrificing essential detail. There are three key areas that require attention: the commodity representation, the geographical representation and the development of commodity flow data to fit the two representations. One needs to attack this problem with one view toward the dimensionality of the eventual analysis and another to the available sources of data. A compromise is clearly in order. Even though the economy of the Multi-State Corridor is relatively simple when compared with other parts of the country, it is necessary to consider a complex set of development opportunities, and the manner in which they integrate with the balance of the United States.

Commodity/Industry Groups

The desired commodity/industry divisions would produce homogeneous groupings such that all of the production facilities within a group have a marked similarity to one another. These like facilities would use similar raw materials and similar resources to produce similar products that have the same geographical markets. To achieve the desired level of homogeneity, it would be necessary to use a very fine breakdown into specific industries.

There are two commodity classifications in common use in the United States that are capable of producing the desired breakdown - the SIC and the STCC (Standard Transportation Commodity Classification). The former is used principally by the Department of Commerce and the latter by DOT and the ICC. Both provide multi-digit commodity designations. Large groups are identified by the two-digit classifications. As digits are added, the group of included commodities becomes narrower and more specific. The two classifications are essentially identical at the two- and three-digit levels. Differences begin to appear at the four-digit level. The four-digit classifications would provide the desired specificity but there are over four thousand four-digit SIC classifications. In addition to the large number of groups there would also be data difficulties. The Bureau of the Census is the only source of comprehensive production data broken down to four-digit groups. However, Census

^{*}The work described in this chapter was performed by P. S. Jones, W. Morgan, M. A. Mullens and S. Prasanna.

zealously protects industry from disclosure and therefore does not provide data for geographical areas with three or fewer facilities in the same classification. Even some state data at the four-digit level have significant omissions to avoid disclosure. At the other extreme, from the viewpoint of analytical simplicity, it would be desirable to select the two-digit classifications as commodity/industry groups. This division would produce only 27 groups; however, it would produce some strange bedfellows, e.g. paint and agricultural chemicals, ferrous and non-ferrous metal production, and motor vehicles and ships.

The approach followed was to expand the two-digit classifications to the extent judged essential for the analysis. Attention was given to the different industries contained in the same two-digit group. Financial and trade data were reviewed to compare capital structure, labor skills, management structures, raw materials and other resources within each two-digit group. After much consideration the team elected to expand the following areas beyond the two-digit code:

10 Metal Mining,

20 Food & Kindred Products,

28 Chemicals & Allied Products,

30 Rubber & Miscellaneous Plastic Products,

32 Stone, Clay, Glass, & Concrete Products,

33 Primary Metal Industries,

34 Fabricated Metal Products except Machinery & Transportation Equipment,

36 Electrical & Electronic Machinery, Equipment, & Supplies, and

37 Transportation Equipment.

All other commodities were treated in terms of the two-digit SIC (or STCC) commodity codes.

The final list of the 53 commodity/industry groups selected for analysis is presented in Table 1, shown earlier.

Transportation Zones

The selection of transportation zones also requires careful compromise.

A transportation zone structure was sought that would be detailed enough to reflect local movements within the Multi-State Corridor and yet general enough to retain analytical tractability. Some investigators, notably Harris [10], have worked with county-sized zones. With more than 3000 counties in the continental United States, this degree of detail presents formidable data and analytical problems. Harris has been able to investigate only a limited number of transportation alternatives because of the time and expense associated with each investigation. Other investigators have used state-sized zones. This size, while convenient from a data viewpoint, would have little value within the Multi-State Corridor because of its grossness. State data also introduce difficulties because of the large number of major production centers that straddle state boundaries - e.g., New York, Philadelphia, Chicago, St. Louis.

The zone size, composition, and representation play key roles in identifying economic development opportunities for the Multi-State Corridor. Each zone is described in terms of its area and its nodal point or centroid. The centroid represents its zone in the following important ways:

- 1. All transportation arcs are represented by routes that originate and terminate at zone centroids.
- 2. Transportation costs and service to and from the zone are represented by transportation costs and service to and from the centroid.
- 3. Production costs labor, material, energy and tax costs represent costs throughout the zone.
- 4. Intermode transfers are allowed to occur only at zone centroids.
- Intra-zone movements are neglected as having no bearing on development opportunities.

These conditions do not appear to be unduly burdensome for small zones that contain one dominant urban center. However, small zones that have several candidate centroids and large zones with considerable rural area or with a varied urban development can present serious problems.

In small zones, intra-zone shipments may amount to little more than local drayage - commerce between firms that are close together. While many of these movements represent important shipments from producers to customers they are often based on relationships that require close proximity. In the large zones,

intra-zone shipments could be several hundred miles long and represent a substantial part of the zone's commerce.

The solution to the zone size dilemma appears to lie in the use of a variable zone size throughout the United States. Zones within the Multi-State Corridor are small to preserve detail, while zones remote from the Corridor are large because detail there is not important. Intermediate zones are of intermediate size. Although there are many precedents for the use of a variable zone size - e.g. most state and urban transportation studies - there has never been a thorough investigation of the errors introduced by this approach. Although no evidence is offered here, this will be the subject of future research.

Building Blocks

A large number of different territorial subdivisions have been made for the continental United States. These have been used for regulation, rate making, data collection, evaluation, and other purposes. Several have been produced in an effort to produce geographical divisions that are smaller than states but larger than counties. Two of these are of particular interest. The U.S. DOT has prepared a set of 440 Transportation Zones for which they have defined modal transportation networks and they have collected a good bit of data on transportation facilities. Regrettably, no commodity flow data have been collected for these zones. The Office of Business Economics (OBE) of the Department of Commerce has prepared a set of 171 Basic Economic Areas (BEAs) for the continental U.S. The OBE has prepared economic data and it has made economic growth projections for each BEA. U.S. DOT has prepared a comprehensive set of commodity flow data from BEA to BEA. After careful study, it appeared easier to translate facility data from Transportation Zones to BEAs than to translate commodity flow data from BEAs to the Transportation Zones. Therefore, the BEA was selected as the basic building block for use outside the Multi-State Corridor.

BEAs are too large for use within the Multi-State Corridor. Each BEA contains about thirty counties. In all, the Corridor would contain only 12 BEAsized zones. This level of detail was judged unsatisfactory and a smaller building block was sought for use in the Corridor. The most suitable building block found was the Planning and Development District (PDD) which is comprised of six to ten counties. PDDs have been designated by all Corridor states. In

addition, data have been collected and local transportation studies have been performed by almost all PDDs within the Corridor.

Zone Selection

The building block selection - BEAs and PDDs - largely determined the zone sizes and boundaries in and near the Multi-State Corridor. Corridor zones are PDDs and the zones close around the Corridor are BEAs. However, zones larger than a BEA are needed for three-quarters of the nation. These zones are made up of multiple BEAs. Using five different criteria a basis was developed for combining BEAs in a manner likely to yield a set of zones that can support the analysis of the Corridor's commercial relationships with the nation.

- 1. Each zone should have a dominant urban centroid,
- 2. Each zone should have homogeneous economic activity,
- 3. Each zone centroid should be served by the transportation modes that serve the zone,
- 4. Each zone centroid should contain a major terminal for at least one transportation mode, and
- 5. Each zone should have a major direction of access from each of the Corridor zones.

The zone selection process began with the designation of the PDDs within the Multi-State Corridor. The PDD boundaries do not match the BEA boundaries. Thus, a uniform transition from PDDs to BEAs was not possible. The interface between PDDs and BEAs contained some counties that were excluded from a selected PDD and the adjacent BEA and other counties that were included in both a PDD and the adjacent BEA. The transition problem was resolved to produce a larger number of small zones in preference to a too early transition to BEA-sized zones. Thus, extra counties were accommodated in one of three ways:

- 1. The county was added to the nearest PDD,
- 2. The county was added to the nearest BEA, or
- 3. The county was combined with other adjacent extra counties to form a sub-BEA sized zone.

Counties included in both a PDD and BEA were assigned to the BEA zone if they

fell outside the nominal Multi-State Corridor (Figure 1). This action tended to preserve BEA integrity which was desirable for purposes of preparing commodity flow data. Counties that fell inside the nominal Multi-State Corridor were assigned to the PDD zone to preserve the small zone size nature of the Corridor. The resolution process produced a few small zones outside the Corridor, but in general, the structure conformed to the guidelines that were established for the variable zone sizes.

The next step in the zone selection was to develop the external zones from the BEA building blocks. The zones immediately around the Corridor were BEA sized or BEAs augmented with miscellaneous counties. The balance of the zones are made up of two or more BEAs.

BEAs were first organized in accordance with the first two criteria dominant urban centroid and homogeneous economic activity. BEAs that shared common principal industries and that could focus on a single centroid were combined using population data and data on the value of shipments for the three largest commodity/industry groups, from the OBERS data for 1972 [20]. This procedure produced a set of relatively homogeneous zones.

Modifications were made to reflect the major crop regions of the midwestern and western states using data on Water Resource Regions, grain districts, and timber districts. In most cases, these changes did not upset industry balances.

An independent set of zones was prepared using the third, fourth, and fifth criteria - modal transportation routes, transportation terminals, and access from the Multi-State Corridor. Maps were prepared of the major modal transportation routes. The highway map consisted of the Interstate and Defense Highway System augmented by a few federal aid primary routes. The railroad map contained the class A Mainlines as designated by the U.S. DOT, augmented with potential Class A mainlines and a few Class B mainlines to round out a balanced network [21]. The waterway map included all of the inland waterways maintained by the Corps of Engineers together with coastal and intercoastal routes. Centroid cities were identified first in terms of their impacts on

- [20] U.S. Dept. of Commerce, <u>OBERS Projections: 1972 Regional Economic</u> Activity in the U.S., Vol. 2, <u>BEA Areas</u>, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- [21] <u>Handy Railroad Atlas of the United States</u>, Rand McNally & Co., Chicago, 1973.

the transportation networks. Zones were collected around the centroid cities in a manner that generally reflected the market areas served by each city.

The two alternative approaches were pursued independently to complete the zone designations for the 80 zones external to the Corridor. The two results were then compared. Twenty-one of the zones were identical. Differences among the balance were quite varied but many differences represented a choice between adding a BEA to one zone or another. These differences were resolved in conference to the satisfaction of all. The resulting zone map is given in Figure 3, shown earlier. Zone centroids were listed earlier in Table 2. Appendix B contains a complete list of the network zones, including the BEAs and/or counties included in each. This structure has been used throughout the balance of the analysis.

Commodity Flow Data

Commodity flow data that describe the present movements of goods in commerce from major producing to major market zones are a key ingredient in the analysis of development opportunities. Unfortunately, accurate commodity flow data are not available in the form needed for analysis. This shortcoming is due to differences in the reporting requirements made of the different transportation modes, differences in the purposes of data collection efforts, omissions necessitated by disclosure regulations, and simply to the errors and omissions attendant to any massive data collection effort.

By far the best data available are for commodity movements by rail. All railroads are common carriers and all commodity movements by rail are subject to regulation by the ICC. Railroads take a one percent sample each year of all carload rail shipments. For each waybill in this sample, data are recorded on commodity, origin station, destination station, shipment size, car type, mileage, short line mileage,* revenue, and routing gateways. Although the sample is but a small fraction of the shipments, it gives a reasonable representation of moderate and high volume commodity movements between major terminals. Recent unpublished research by Day and Zimmerman and the University of California suggests that when treated in three year combinations the waybill sample does give a statistically reliable, railroad specific representation of

*Short line mileage is the length of the shortest possible rail route between origin and destination.

commodity movements for two-digit STCC groupings [22]. However, these data do contain a large number of errors, particularly in the routing and need to be carefully purged or corrected.

Commodity movements by highway are much more difficult to estimate because of differences in regulations, less detail in reporting requirements, and the large number of non-regulated and private truckers. Truckers that generate substantial commodity movements can be divided into five categories:

- 1. Common carriers operating over prescribed routes in prescribed territories and subject to ICC regulations,
- 2. Common carriers hauling exempt commodities* for back haul,
- Contract (or irregular route) carriers acting as shipper's agents who carry goods that are subject to only limited regulations, with or without back hauls of exempt commodities,
- 4. Private truckers moving their own goods or exempt commodities anywhere without restriction or regulation, and
- 5. Individual truckers or firms that move only exempt commodities without restriction or regulation.

A majority of all highway shipments are handled by private truckers who are not obliged to report on their activity except as they may be requested to make periodic inputs to the Census of Transportation surveys [23]. In addition, all short hauls within designated terminals are free from regulations and reporting.

Even the reports of regulated motor common carriers are less detailed than are the railroad reports. Typically, highway carriers report only tonnage originated by commodity classification. They do not give geographical movement or shipment size data.

Data on commodity movements by water, where private carriage also

*Exempt from ICC regulations; principally unprocessed agricultural products.

- [22] Harris, R. G., "A Statistical Analysis of the FRA Waybill Sample," Federal Railroad Administration, Office of Rail Economics and Policy Development, Washington, D.C., 1977.
- [23] U.S. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Transportation</u>, Washington, D.C., 1975.

predominates, are subject to many of the same difficulties experienced with highway movements. Many manufacturing firms operate tow boats and barges to carry their own products and supplies. The vast Great Lakes ore movements are almost entirely in private hands that are free from reporting requirements. Some companies also operate coastal and intercoastal steamship services. Common carriers by water that operate on inland waterways or in coastwise or intercoastal trade are subject to ICC regulations. However, like highway carriers, they report only tons carried by commodity. The Corps of Engineers keeps some data on port and waterway activity. However, these data do not include origin to destination movements, nor are uniform data kept for all ports and waterways.

The Census of Transportation [23], performed at five year intervals, provides the only comprehensive data for all modes. Manufacturers and producers are requested to provide data on a sample of individual shipments including commodity, origin, destination, carrier mode, shipment size, route and revenue where appropriate. These data are combined by geographical location, industry group, and other measures and summarized in a variety of useful documents. The detailed data are subjected to disclosure protection before publication. Thus, geographical jurisdictions with three or fewer producers or consumers are eliminated from the published data. Disclosure problems are avoided by preparing data in terms of large geographical amalgamations. If one amalgamates both by geography and commodity, completeness is achieved at the expense of detail. The research team chose to use geographical amalgamations with commodity detail. This compromise did not give complete coverage but it provided a useful base for future work.

NTP Data

Assembling the available data into a reliable set of zone-to-zone movements for transportation analysis is an immense task. Fortunately, TSC has undertaken this formidable task, and has made substantial progress. By combining the 1972 Census Commodity Transportation Survey with a special study of bulk commodity movements, TSC has produced what is likely the most comprehensive set of commodity flow data available for the United States. This work is described in Reference 7. The major omission from the NTP data is movements of unprocessed agricultural products, except field crops. These data were omitted because of the extreme difficulty in identifying nationwide
commodity flows with reasonably uniform accuracy.

TSC organized the data by commodity, origin-destination BEA zones, transport mode, volume, shipping cost and shipping time. Use of the BEA zones in combination with 20 commodity classes, provided the amalgamation needed to circumvent disclosure problems and to fit available data sources together. The NTP data were made available to the project team on a magnetic tape. The specific fields on the tape are listed in Table 8. These data constitute the starting commodity flow data for all of the first year's analysis.

Commodity Flow Data Preparation

A commodity flow set was prepared from the data resources at hand to give zone-to-zone origin-to-destination movements for the zones illustrated in Figure 3 and the commodities listed in Table 5. The NTP data were the original source of zone-to-zone movement information. These data were adjusted using other data sources, to yield the desired form and detail. The principal source used for the adjustment was a magnetic tape of the 1972 Census of Transportation [23] giving state-to-state movements of commodities to four-digit STCC detail. These data were expanded where important disclosure omissions were observed and they were supplemented with demographic and employment data as required. Two types of expansion and one type of contraction were needed to modify the NTP data to suit the research needs. The 20 commodity NTP data needed to be expanded to the 53 commodity groups selected for the analysis. The BEA-to-BEA commodity flow data needed to be expanded to the smaller zone sizes in the Multi-State Corridor. Finally, the BEA-to-BEA data needed to be compacted for the multi-BEA sized zones distant from the Corridor.

The data preparation task was a formidable one requiring extensive manual and computer manipulation. Some understanding of the scope of the undertaking can be grasped from the size of the data sources. The NTP tape contains more than 200,000 card image records, each one structured as set forth in Table 8. The Census of Transportation tape contains state-to-state movements for over 4,000 four-digit commodity groups for a total of more than five million records. Problems of reading, storing, and manipulating these records were most complex.

<u>Commodity Expansion</u>. Table 9 lists the NTP commodity groupings by STCC codes and the sources of the commodity flow data. Only one group, field crops, contains less than one two-digit STCC classification. Four groups contain multiple two-digit STCC classifications. Four of the NTP commodity groups could

TABLE 8 NTP MAGNETIC TAPE DATA FIELDS

Data Field	Description	Format
1-2	Year Code	12
3-4	Commodity Number	12
5-7	Origin BEA Code	13
8-10	Destination BEA Code	13
11	Transport Mode Code	Il
	1 = Rai1	
	2 = Motor Carrier	
	3 = Private Truck	
	4 = Water	
	5 = Pipeline	
	6 = Air Freight	
12-21	Annual Commodity Flow (tons)	110
22-27	Shipping Cost (\$/ton)	F6.2
28-33	Time Value (\$/ton/day)	F6. 2
34-39	Time in Transit (days)	F6.2
40-51	"K" Value for Mode Split	E12.7
For a Mode Sp	lit Alternative:	
52-57	New Shipping Cost (\$/ton)	F6. 2
58-63	New Time Value (\$/ton/day)	F6. 2
64-69	New Time in Transit (days)	F6. 2
70-79	Calculated Commodity Flow (tons)	110

Commodity No.	Name	STCC Codes	Source
1	Field Crops	011	В
2	Forestry & Fishery Products	08,09	В
3	Coal	11	В
4	Crude Petroleum	13	. B
5	Metallic Ores	10	. B
6	Non-Metallic Minerals	14	В
7	Food & Kindred Products	20	С
8	Textile Mill Prod. & Apparel	22,23	С
9	Mfgr. Not Otherwise Identified	*	C
10	Chemical & Allied Products	28	B,C
11	Lumber & Furniture	24,25	С
12	Machinery (Except Electrical)	35	С
13	Electrical Machinery	36	С
14	Transportation Equipment	37	C
16	Paper & Allied Products	26	С
17	Petroleum & Coal Products	29	B,C
18	Primary Metal Products	33	C
19	Fabricated Metal Products	34	С
20	Miscellaneous Products	21,30,31,32,38,39	C

TABLE 9 NTP COMMODITY GROUPINGS

B = Bulk Survey

C = Census Data

* = This commodity group contains an amalgamation of all of the manufacturers that were removed from other groups to avoid disclosure. be used without modification - coal, non-metallic minerals, paper and allied products, and petroleum and coal products. All of the rest needed to be broken down into two or more distinct commodities for the analysis. Several of the NTP commodity flow groupings are sufficiently broad to contain commodities with very different flow patterns. For example, NTP Category 5 contains all metallic ores. However, iron ore and bauxite have very different movement patterns.

NTP commodity flow data were disaggregated into smaller classes using fractions developed from the Census of Transportation state-to-state data.

$$f_{ij\ell}^{m} = a_{iJL}^{m} \cdot d_{ij\ell}^{m}$$
(1)

where:

 f_{ijl}^{m} is the movement of commodity i from BEA zone j to BEA zone l via mode m.

 $d^m_{\mbox{ Ijl}}$ is flow of NTP commodity class I from BEA zone j to BEA zone ℓ via mode m, and

a^m is the fraction of NTP commodity class I that is represented by iJL commodity i that moves from state J to state L via mode m.

Commodity i is a subclass of NTP commodity I. States J and L are selected to be those that most nearly approximate the economic behavior of zones j and ℓ . In most cases i ϵ I and j ϵ J. Thus

$$\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{i}JL}^{m} = \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{i}JL}^{m} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in C_{\mathbf{I}}} \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{k}JL}^{m}$$
(2)

where:

 F_{iJL}^{m} is the movement of commodity i from state J to state L via mode m, and

 \boldsymbol{C}_{T} is the set of commodities comprising NTP class I.

Expanding to Corridor Zones. Production and consumption within the BEAs containing multiple PDD-sized zones were divided among the PDD zones in accordance with available measures that most nearly approximate the actual division.

Production was divided according to employment in the different industries. Employment data were taken from state directories of manufacturers which list manufacturer by county together with the number of employees and the SIC codes of their products. Consumption was divided according to the particular commodity. Commodity groups that were dominated by consumer products were divided according to population. Commodity groups dominated by industrial products were divided in accordance with manufacturing employment or value added by manufacturing. For example, production was allocated by employment in the following manner. The number of persons in each zone j that are employed by industry i was estimated:

$$e_{ij} = \frac{E_{ij}}{\int_{j=1}^{J} E_{ij}}$$

where:

e is the fraction of industry i workers in BEA zone J that work in zone j,

E is the number of employees in industry i in zone j, and J is the number of zones in the BEA that contains zone j.

Production reported for each BEA was allocated to the smaller zones comprising the BEA on the basis of the employment fractions.

$$\hat{P}_{ij} = e_{ij} P_{ij}$$
(4)

(3)

(5)

where:

P is the estimated production of commodity i in zone j,

P is the reported production of commodity i in BEA zone J based on tons ij of commodity i originating in zone J.

Similarly, consumer dominated markets for commodities produced in PDD zones were divided as follows:

$$d_{ijl} = \frac{P_l}{P_L} d_{ijL}$$

where:

 d_{iil} is the movement from BEA zone j to market l,

 $\boldsymbol{P}_{_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}}$ is the population of zone $\boldsymbol{\ell}$,

 $\boldsymbol{P}_{_{T}}$ is the population of zone L, and

d is the movement of commodity i from zone j to BEA L.

<u>Compaction for Multi-BEA Zones</u>. The compaction process for the multi-BEA zones distant from the corridor was very straightforward.

$$f_{ijl}^{m} = \sum_{L=1}^{Q} \sum_{J=1}^{K} d_{iJL}^{m}$$
(6)

where:

f ijl is the movement of commodity i from zone j to zone l via mode m
where j and l are zones of the network,

 d_{iJL}^{m} is the reported commodity movement from BEA zone J to BEA zone L via mode m, where zone J is part of zone j and zone L is part of zone ℓ , Q is the number of BEA zones in zone ℓ , and

K is the number of BEA zones in zone j.

The product of these steps was the desired set of commodity flow data giving zone-to-zone movements for each of the 53 commodity groups.

IV. ECONOMIC MODELING*

The economic model deals with development opportunities by which new industry in Multi-State Corridor zones can effectively compete for national markets with existing suppliers. The analysis is based on two parameters - a production cost parameter and a customer service parameter. The production cost parameter is a measure of the cost per ton to produce a commodity in a production zone. The customer service parameter is a measure of transportation cost plus the cost equivalent of transport time and transport time variability necessary to move a ton of the commodity from the production zone to the market zone. Thus, each production zone has a unique production cost for each commodity, but customer service cost depends on the commodity, the production zone, the market zone, and the route and mode by which the commodity moves. This chapter is concerned with the development of production cost estimates and the use of the production cost plus customer service cost to estimate market share. Customer service costs are developed in Chapter V.

The economic model is cost based. It presumes that the sum of the production cost and customer service cost is the major determinant of market share. This approach is perhaps naive because it overlooks the impacts of product quality, advertising, customer relations and other factors that play major roles in marketing. However, these latter factors are associated with the identity of the producing firm, not with the location of the producing site. Since the research is concerned only with locational opportunities, it is not unreasonable to set aside those factors that are not related to loca-This approach resembles the situation in which a new plant in a Corridor tion. zone is a branch plant of a multi-plant company whose management controls the assignment of production to plant locations and the shipment of products from plants to markets. However, one must be careful to avoid treating all plants as part of a single producing company; for in that case, one need only solve a massive transportation problem. The economic model preserves competition in all market places. Thus the producer with the lowest delivered cost can enjoy the largest market share but he cannot completely capture the market, nor can any producing zone deliver all of its product to the nearest market.

^{*}The work described in this chapter was performed by P. S. Jones, G. P. Sharp, H. B. Spraggins and H. C. D. Yu.

There are three major preparatory steps in the economic modeling - industry analysis, preparation of cost data and market analysis. The products of this work are introduced into the network model for the final analysis.

Industry Analysis

The purpose of the industry analysis is to prepare a quantitative and geographic representation of the facilities that produce each commodity group. The quantitative representation describes the cost structure of the industry that produces the commodity and the principal raw materials that are needed. The geographic representation identifies principal producing zones, principal markets and the present pattern of shipment from producers to consumers.

Industry Structure

Each of the 53 commodity groups is treated as a single homogeneous product of a single industry group whose components have common raw material needs, common labor, and common capital requirements. Production input factors were developed for each industry group based on national average data from the Census of Manufacturers [24]. Table 10 shows typical data for commodity 250, Furniture and Fixtures. The data give industry average values per ton of product for direct labor hours, indirect labor cost, energy cost, tax cost, and capital investment. The table also lists principal raw materials and the tons of raw material per ton of product. Similar data for all of the manufacturing industries are listed in Appendix D. These data are based on average experience throughout the industry. They do not reflect facility size, individual efficiencies or other measures that vary from facility to facility. However, new industry will not be encouraged to produce any commodity in a Corridor Zone unless the Corridor facilities can be large enough to have an impact in the national market. This requirement assures facility sizes large enough to exhibit both capital and operating efficiencies better than mean values. Thus the use of mean values represents a reasonably conservative approach.

Of the elements of production cost considered, capital and indirect labor are presumed to be independent of location. Capital can be drawn from a national market. Differences in capital costs from region to region are

^[24] U.S. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Manufacturers</u>, Washington, D.C., 1976.

TABLE 10

INDUSTRY DATA FOR COMMODITY 250 FURNITURE AND FIXTURES

Companies	8482
Establishments	9232
Input Per Annual Ton Shipped	
Direct Labor, Hours	134
Indirect Labor	\$ 155
Capital Investment	\$2550
Energy, KWH	1250
Raw Materials, Tons	
220 Testiles	0.01
240 Lumber	1.08
285 Paint	0.003
331 Stee1	0.38
333 Non Fe. Metal	0.01
342 Fab. Metal	0.15

sk

generally small and can be overlooked. Indirect labor is a measure of the amount of supervision and support needed by a production facility. Following the branch plant scenario, much of the indirect labor can be located away from the plant - accounting, finance, inventory management, production scheduling and other functions are often centralized. Direct supervision and management comprise only a small fraction of the indirect labor.

The costs of direct labor, energy, taxes and raw materials are heavily influenced by location. Direct labor cost depends on the skills required by the industry as well as on labor costs in the production zone. The skill dimension is measured by the difference between the mean wage rate for the industry and the mean wage rate for all industry. Locational differences are reflected in zonal differences by skill category. Raw material costs depend on the location of the source and price at the source which may reflect production cost, national market influences or both.

Production costs are modeled in a linear form:

$$P(i,k) = \sum_{q} (c(i,q)) (a(k,q))$$

(7)

where:

P(i,k) = production cost in zone i for commodity k,

c(i,q) = unit cost of input factor q in zone i, and

a(k,q) = input coefficient of factor q for production of commodity k. This equation is assumed to be valid for all producing zones.

Geographic Representation

The purpose of the geographic representation was to identify major producing zones and markets for each of the 53 commodity groups and to determine principal supply patterns. This work was based on the commodity flow data as modified using the procedures described in Chapter III. The work was performed in two steps. First, a threshold shipment volume was selected for each commodity group. Second, commodity flow data were extracted from the commodity flow data file for each of the shipments that exceed the threshold size.

In selecting shipment size thresholds, we sought to reduce the amount of data that needed to be analyzed without compromising the quality of the geographic representation. Most of the 53 commodity groups were shipped in some

volume between a very large number of network zone pairs. No commodity groups were dominated by very large movements. Therefore the thresholds selected to screen out small movements needed to be relatively small. Because of the universe size of the commodity flow data file, it was not possible to examine the entire data file for any commodity group. Rather, several different thresholds were tested and compared in terms of the size of the market that each would retain in the analysis. For most commodities, the threshold selected was less than 0.3 percent of total U.S. production. Table 11 lists the thresholds selected for each of the commodities used in the Northern Mississippi test and the fraction of the total U.S. market retained for analysis.

Once the thresholds had been selected, the commodity flow file was entered to extract the shipment data for all commodity movements that exceeded the threshold values. Sample data are illustrated in Table 12 for Commodity Group 250, Furniture and Fixtures. These data represent 40 percent of the commodity flow and they represent only a small fraction of the zone-to-zone movements. The major destinations identified in Table 12 constitute the major markets for the commodity. Thus, if a new production zone is to be created in the Multi-State Corridor, it must compete with the production zones identified in Table 12 for the markets also identified in Table 12.

Preparation of Cost Data

The method used to prepare each item of cost data is described below.

Raw Material Costs

Raw materials or input commodities as reported in the Census of Manufacturers and other secondary source documents are divided into two types: manufactured items; and mine, forest, or agricultural commodities. Average national costs are used for manufactured items with no distinction by zone.

The costs of mine, field and forest products are based on costs established by national markets, such as the Chicago commodity exchange. National market costs are adjusted for transportation costs.* Thus, the cost of material k in zone i, c(i, k), is determined by the following equation:

$$c(i,k) = min [c(j,k) - t(j,o) + t(j,i)]$$
 (8)
j

*For these movements, transport time and time variability are assumed to have no value.

TABLE 11

Commodity Group	Shipment Size Threshold, Percent of Total Flow	Fraction of Commodity Flow Retained <u>for Analyses</u>
220 Textile Mill Products	0.26%	55%
230 Apparel	0.27	51
240 Lumber & Wood	0.15	55
250 Furniture & Fixtures	0.23	40
287 Agricultural Chemicals	0.23	51
302 Rubber & Plastic Products	0.29	43
350 Machinery, ex. Electrical	0.18	37
361 Electrical Machinery	0.26	39

COMMODITY THRESHOLDS FOR GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS

TABLE 12

Origin	Destination		Annual
Zone	Zone	Mode	Tons
69	69	2	115794.
69	70	2	20142.
69	71	2	18406.
69	72	2	355151.
69	75	1	16.
69	75	2	30793.
72	69	1	2741.
72	69	2	28972.
72	72	1	456.
72	72	2	93667.
72	72	3	230.
72	76	1	150.
72	76 .	2	16201.
73	69	1	426.
73	69	2	21714.
73	72	1	296.
73	72	2	27796.
74	69	1	2399.
74	69	2	14835.
74	72	1	1147.
74	72	2	49091.
74	74	1	1098.
74	74	2	14954.
75	87	2	17510.
77	90	1	6919.
77	90	$\frac{1}{2}$	8325.
77	105	1	16887.
77	105	$\frac{1}{2}$	821.
77	111	-	28515.
77	111	2	3978.
79	72	1	4695.
79	72	2	38662.
79	79	- 2	18831.
79	88	- 1	2357.
79	88	2	34884
79	90		5760.
79	90	2	26557.
80	72	1	18279.
80	72	2	19835.
80	72		179.
80	79	2	20808
80	80	- 1	15
80	80	1 2	16053
	00	<u>د</u> ۱	20033.
0) 05	90	1 2	27/25
63	90	2	3/433.

MOVEMENT DATA FOR COMMODITY 250, FURNITURE & FIXTURES

TABLE 12 (CONT.)

Origin	Destination		Annual
Zone	Zone	Mode	Tons
88	88	1	200.
88	88	2	43801.
88	90	2	19458.
91	88	2	20100.
91	91	2	18923.
91	92	2	21502.
97	97	1	1613.
97	97	2	16811.
105	105	1	2.
105	105	2	23515.
109	94	1	481.
109	94	2	18880.
109	106	2	21511.
110	106	1	3818.
110	106	$\frac{1}{2}$	12877.
110	110	1	25.
110	110	2	98763.
110	111	1	96.
110	111	$\frac{1}{2}$	29839
110	117	1	7765.
110	117	2	15738
111	107	1	4166
111	107	2	16607
111	100	, 2	16140
111	109	± 	6784
	109	2	116
	111	1 2	42555
111 70	111 70	2	20571
/0	12	2	39371. 11775
120	90		23//3.
120	90	2	9/02.
27	110		1207
27		2	1207.
47	72		0397.
47	72	2	24081.
47	/5		11764
4/	/5	2	11/04.
47	85		//08.
47	85	2	32497.
4/	90	1	2/1.
47	90	2	/2264
4/	91	2	1/154.
47	107	1	15250.
47	107	2	9
48	90	2	18044.
119	72	1	4948.
119	72	2	12997.
50	50	2	16314.
50	110	1	19008.

~ · ·	Destated an		Annual
Origin	Destination	Mode	Tons
Lone	2011e		
50	110	2	2528.
63	110	1	21677.
64	50	1	6707.
64	50	2	34930.
64	55	1	24243.
64	55	2	3309.
64	62	2	15360.
64	64	2	23450.
64	65	2	15906.
64	69	1	5805.
64	69	2	9908.
64	72	1	1312.
64	72	2	48047.
64	90	1	14915.
64	90	2	2563.
64	91	1	68029.
64	91	2	3468.
64	98	2	81882.
98	62	1	11594.
98	. 62	2	43585.
98	62	3	3605.
98	98	1	29378.
98	98	2	208741.
98	98	3	3149.
98	105	1	4467.
98	105	2	11739.

Mode

- 1 = Highway 2 = Rail 3 Water

where:

- t(j,o) = is the transportation cost from a source at j to the national market at o, and

Direct Labor

Direct labor cost is estimated for each commodity by using the industry data and zone-specific labor costs. The process requires two steps: (1) determine the relative labor skill level required by the industry, and (2) establish the cost of labor of the requisite skill level at each of the major producing zones. The major data sources to support labor cost determination are the industry data, the summaries of major commodity movements, and wage statistics published by the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL).

Industry labor skill levels are determined by comparing the average direct labor wage for the industry with the DOL data for the major producing zones. Inasmuch as DOL data are presented by skill level - e.g. craft, operative, unskilled - rather than industry, it is first necessary to prepare a weighted wage spectrum for the major producing zones. Thus, if:

 L_{q}^{n} = weighted hourly wage rate for skill q in zones producing commodity n,

Then:

$$L_{q}^{n} = \sum_{i \in E_{n}} W_{i}^{n} \ell_{iq}$$

(9)

where:

 W_i^n = fraction of commodity n produced in zone i, ℓ_{iq} = wage rate for skill q in zone i, and E_n = the set of zones producing commodity n.

When L_q^n have been determined for all skill categories, then the mean wage rate for industry n can be placed in the spectrum of skills. An average skill is then selected for industry n and local wage rates in each producing zone i are the wage rates associated with the selected skill.

Energy Costs

Energy costs for a commodity are obtained for each type of energy used to produce the commodity in each zone in which major production occurs. Cost data from Federal Energy Administration reports are combined in the proportions used by each industry to generate zone-specific equivalent KW-hour costs for each commodity.

Capital and Taxes

An annual capital cost recovery factor of 0.15 was used for all industries. This factor is based on a discount rate of 8% and a recovery period of 10 years [25]. Commodity specific factors can be obtained from more detailed industry analysis. Similarly, building cost indexes could be used to adjust for location so that capital investment need not be applied uniformly for all zones. These issues will be explored in future work.

Taxes were computed according to the following concept: Total business taxes per capita were obtained for each state from Tax Institute of America [26] data. These figures are taken as a proxy measure of the sum of property taxes, sales taxes on input commodities, and state and municipal corporate income taxes. Next, the specific taxes were computed for each commodity in each production zone, using zone-specific tax data [27] and industry data on capital investment, input commodities, sales, and profit. The taxes for other zones were then computed using the ratios of the total business taxes per capita for the respective states. Future research will focus on more detailed data, both for industries and for zones.

Matrix Iterative Procedure

To support the first year's analysis, production costs were determined as described above. Because of the interrelationships among the different factors, future attention will be given to a matrix iterative procedure for determining commodity production costs by zone. This method is outlined

[25]	Thuesen,	H. G., W. J. Fabrycky and G. J. Thuesen, Engineering Economy
	5th Ed.,	Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1977.

[26] Tax Institute of America, <u>State and Local Taxes on Business</u>, Princeton, N.J., 1965.

[27] Rogers, George, <u>Georgia Principal Industrial Taxes</u>, Georgia Dept. of Industry and Trade, Atlanta, Georgia, 1971.

broadly by the following steps:

- 1. Begin with national average costs c_{ik},
- 2. Adjust the c by zone-specific direct labor, energy, and capital costs,
- 3. Adjust the c_{ik} by zone-specific taxes,
- Identify sources of input commodities for existing facilities by observing the commodity movement data. For new facilities find the best source.
- 5. Update the c based on the input commodity costs determined in step 4. Return to step 3.

Customer Service Parameters

Customer service parameters are those factors that influence shipper choice of transportation mode and purchaser choice of supply source location. Customer service parameters, in general, relate to a purchaser's ability to realize prompt, dependable delivery of undamaged goods at minimum personal and organizational expense and inconvenience. Long lists of customer service parameters have been prepared and evaluated for specific shipments and classes of shipments. Most parameter lists can be divided into five categories - cost, transport time, transport time variability, loss and damage, and organizational. Inasmuch as the present research deals only with locational issues, the organizational category was set aside. It was also necessary to set aside the loss and damage category because comprehensive data are not available to support estimates of loss and damage probabilities on an arc by arc basis. At a future time, the loss and damage criterion will be re-examined and, if appropriate, introduced into customer service measurement.

The remaining parameters - cost, transport time and transport time variability are considered to be sufficiently important to carry through the analysis. Cost is measured in dollars and includes loading, local collection, terminal, line haul, local distribution and unloading costs, as appropriate. Transport time is the elapsed time from a shipper request for service to delivery of the shipment at the consignee's dock. As thus interpreted, frequency of service is a part of transport time and is reflected in delays waiting for service and delays in transit. Transport time variability is defined as the variance in transport time. This measure was selected so that individual

arc variances could be added to yield route variance.

When evaluating customer service parameters for alternative transportation services and routes, shippers tend to make positive selections. This suggests that shippers have at least informal techniques for combining service parameter values to yield a single value by which one candidate service can be compared with another. This result has been achieved by assigning money values to transport time and transport time dependability. In this fashion, the customer service parameter value g_{ijm}^n for commodity n moving from i to j via mode m is

$$g_{ijm}^{n} \sum_{path k} f_{n} \left(c_{km}^{n} + A_{1}^{n} T_{km}^{n} + A_{2}^{n} v_{k}^{n} \right)$$
(10)

where:

 $\begin{aligned} &f_n = \text{functional form for commodity n,} \\ &C_{km}^n = \text{cost to move commodity n over arc k via mode m,} \\ &T_{km}^n = \text{Transport time for commodity n on arc k via mode m,} \\ &A_1^n = \text{value of transport time for commodity n,} \\ &V_{km}^n = \text{transport time variability for commodity n,} \\ &\text{on arc k via mode m, and} \end{aligned}$

 A_2^n = value of transport time variability for commodity m.

Unique values for f_n , A_1^n and A_2^n were sought for each commodity group that reflect the customer service requirements of that group. The functional form and coefficient values were developed as part of the mode split analysis of present transportation practices. This work is reported in Chapter V.

Market Share Analysis

The market share that a new facility can expect to achieve in an existing market depends on how its combination of production cost and customer service cost compares with similar costs of other producers serving the same market. The size of the share is based on a comparison between the cost and service estimated for the new facility and the cost and service determinations for the lowest cost facility now serving the market. If the proposed new facility enjoys a cost and service advantage over all other facilities that serve the market, the new facility is assured a reasonable share of the market; however, the new facility will not capture all of the market. If the new facility does not enjoy an advantage over a sufficient number of other producers, the new facility is not likely to attract a significant share of the market. In the first year's analysis a new production zone was excluded from a market altogether, if its production plus customer service cost were not in the lower 75 percentile of all suppliers to the market.

Market Share Function

The estimated size of a new facility's market share depends on the nature of the commodity/industry group as well as on cost and service relationships. Agriculture, forest and mineral product markets are close to perfectly elastic. Thus, a new entry must meet the existing market price in order to supply any product to the market at all. Markets for manufactured goods exhibit different amounts of elasticity. The functional form was known to be nonlinear for all commodities except those enjoying perfect competition.

The price-market share relationship for each commodity group was tested using several functional forms in a regression analysis of existing market patterns. The form finally selected is:

$$MS_{j\ell}^{i} = a_{i}^{-\alpha} i^{\Delta H}_{j\ell}^{i}$$
(11)

where:

k = producer with the lowest delivered cost to market *l*,

 $c_{ij} + g_{jl}^{i} = market cost for product i at market l for a producer at j, and$

 $a_i, \alpha_i = coefficients$ for commodity i.

Values of the a_{i} and α_{i} were determined by multiple regression of the commodity flow data extracted for analysis. Table 13 lists coefficient values for the eight test commodity groups.

For each existing production zone and market zone, a market cost was determined by adding production and customer service cost. Suppliers to a given market were ranked in order of increasing market costs and market shares were calculated for each production zone.

$$MS_{j\ell}^{i} = V_{j\ell}^{i} / MV_{i\ell}$$
(12)

where:

 $v_{j\ell}^1$ = volume of commodity i supplied to market ℓ by producers in zone j,

and

 $MV_{i\ell}$ = total volume of commodity i shipped to zone ℓ .

The largest market share is fixed as the share enjoyed by the lowest cost producer, thus establishing the y-axis intercept of the market share function (a_i) . The total market share for the sum of the major movements is constrained to equal the same total that was recorded when the movements were extracted from the commodity flow data.

Market Share of a New Facility

If a new facility can supply commodity i to an existing market at *l*, the new facility will upset the balance among the suppliers to that market. Two situations can accompany the entry of the new facility:

- It will have a market cost that is lower than the present lowest market cost, or
- It will have a market cost that is higher than the present lowest market cost, but the new facility will be competitive with other suppliers.

In the first instance, the new facility will displace the lowest cost producer and all previous producers will lose market share at the expense of the new facility. The market share of the new facility will be equal to a_i.

In the second instance, the new facility will displace higher cost

TABLE 13

MARKET SHARE PARAMETERS

	Commodity	a <u>i</u>	<u><u> </u></u>
1.	Textile	0.0680	-0.0005
2.	Apparel	0.1455	-0.0017
3.	Lumber	0.1174	-0.0910
4.	Furniture	0.0854	-0.0039
5.	Ag. Chemicals	0.0770	-0.0035
6.	Plastic Prod.	0.1314	-0.0089
7.	Machinery	0.0656	-0.0004
8.	Electrical Equipment	0.1049	-0.0031

suppliers, but it will not upset those that supply the market at lower cost. This is accomplished by establishing a market share for each producer that is adjusted to reflect the new entry and constrained by the share of the market that is left over from the unaffected suppliers, or

$$MS_{j\ell}^{i} = MS_{j\ell}^{i} \frac{\sum_{j \in J} MS_{j\ell}^{i} - \sum_{j \in J_{1}} MS_{j\ell}^{i}}{\sum_{p \in P} MS_{p\ell}^{i}}$$
(13)

where:

- MS'ⁱ_{jl} = revised market share in zone l enjoyed by a producer of commodity i in zone j,
- J₁ = set of major producers with market costs lower than those of the new facility, and
- P = set of major producers with market costs higher than those of the new facility.

V. NETWORK MODELING*

The network model provides the geographical framework for the analysis, and develops the least cost customer service parameters associated with zoneto-zone commodity movements. This task is greatly complicated by the need to consider multiple transportation modes as well as intermodal combinations and by the need to manipulate the large commodity flow data files.

The transportation network contains 120 nodes that represent the 120 production and market zones. The nodes account for freight traffic origination (production), termination (consumption), mode interchange and terminal operations. Network arcs consist of the transportation routes taken by present commodity movements together with new routes that might be part of a transportation improvement program. The transportation modeling requires an understanding of present commodity movements and the bases for electing those movements. In fact, the present decision making process needs to be so well understood that the responses to transportation improvement and economic development programs can be predicted.

Several conventions were adopted to simplify the research effort:

- 1. All line haul arcs originate and terminate at nodes representing zone centroids,
- 2. Transportation costs and services to and from a zone are represented by costs and services to and from the zone centroid,
- 3. Intermode transfers can occur only at zone centroids, and
- 4. Intra-zone movements are not considered.

These assumptions could be easily changed, but they seemed appropriate for the first-year effort.

The basic resources used in the network modeling are the commodity flow data described in Chapter III. The data include estimates of present zone-tozone movements for each of the 53 commodity groups and for each of the three surface transport modes - highway, rail and water.

The three tasks comprising this work - prepare network analysis procedures, define present network, and mode split analysis - are closely

^{*}The work described in this chapter was performed by G. P. Sharp, F. M. Holloway and M. A. Mullens.

interrelated and were performed more or less simultaneously. It is useful to present them in the order listed above so that one can firmly grasp the purpose of the work before it is necessary to consider the detailed data required to prepare for the network investigations.

Network Analysis

The purpose of the network analysis was to devise a method for representing the flows of the 53 commodity groups on the 120 node network, containing highway, rail, and waterway arcs while allowing for new arcs representing new or improved services and for intermodal services. The network analysis included the development of algorithms for identifying single mode and intermodal routes between zone pairs that have the lowest customer service costs for the different commodity groups.

Network Representation

A multicommodity flow network was used to represent the flow of each of the 53 commodities on each network arc. The flow variables are of the type

f(i,j,n) = flow of commodity n on arc (i,j).

At each node there are constraints of the type

$$\sum_{i} f(i,j,n) - \sum_{h} f(h,i,n) = s(i,n).$$
(14)

The first summation represents all flow of commodity n away from node i; and the second summation represents all flow of commodity n in to node i. A positive difference is equal to the net outbound shipments of commodity n that originate at node i, and a negative difference is the net market for commodity n at node i. Customer service costs are represented for each arc (i,j) and for each commodity by the coefficients g(i,j,n).

Within this general framework, three methods were examined for distinguishing between the different transportation modes, such as highway, rail, and water:

 An expanded network, form 1. Using this method one represents each mode connecting two points by a separate arc with appropriate cost. Additional nodes and arcs are then inserted into the network to represent transfers between modes and forwarding operations on a

mode [28].

- 2. Expanded network, form 2. In this method a separate arc is created between any two nodes for each path that can be followed without changing modes. Appropriate dummy nodes and arcs are created to represent transfers [29].
- 3. Dual node numbers with subscripted flow variables. This method requires one additional subscript in the flow variables and cost coefficients to represent the mode. Also, a modified shortest-path algorithm is needed to deal with the dual node numbers.

Methods 1 and 3 are essentially different ways of implementing the same concept. For a network consisting of N nodes, A one-way arcs, and M modes, method 1 builds an expanded network of N(1+M) nodes and $(AM + M^2 + 2M)$ one-way arcs. Method 3 theoretically requires the same amount of computer storage, but in practice affords opportunities for compacting the data storage. Both methods represent customer service attributes in additive form along paths.

Method 2 can deal with non-additive customer services since each path by one mode is modeled by a separate arc. For example, the cost of a direct shipment between A and C is often less than the sum of costs for a shipment from A to an intermediate point B and then from B to C. However, for a network of 120 zones the number of arcs can become disturbingly large. This type of expanded network is more suited for modeling public transit systems, for which it was designed, than for modeling large freight networks.

Dual Node Numbers with Subscripted Flow Variables

The dual node numbering method was selected because it offered the most convenient form for input data preparation and promotes flexibility in finding single-mode and multimode shortest paths. The flow variables and cost coefficients change to:

- [28] Sharp, G. P. and P. S. Jones, "Evaluating Modal Transfer Operations With Network Flow Models," <u>Proceedings, Third Intersociety Conference</u> on Transportation, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- [29] LeClerq, F., "A Public Transport Assignment Method," <u>Traffic Engineer</u>ing and Control, June 1972, pp. 91-96.

f(i,j,m,n)=flow of commodity n by mode m on arc (i,j), and

g(i,j,m,n) = corresponding customer service cost coefficient.

The node constraints become

$$\sum \int f(\mathbf{i},\mathbf{j},\mathbf{m},\mathbf{n}) - \sum \int f(\mathbf{h},\mathbf{i},\mathbf{m},\mathbf{n}) = s(\mathbf{i},\mathbf{n}).$$
(15)
$$j \mathbf{m} \mathbf{h} \mathbf{m}$$

Each node carries a two subscript designation, (1,1'), in which the i represents the node location and i' represents one of the following:

1	origination	2 destination			
3	mode 1 (highway) inbound	4 mode 1 outbound			
5	mode 2 (rail) inbound	6 mode 2 outbound			
•		•			
•		•			

Line haul arcs always connect two nodes with consistent i' numbers. Transfers and forwarding at nodes can occur wherever costs are favorable. Figure 4 illustrates how this dual numbering system can be represented in an expanded network.

Transfer costs for each node are represented by a symmetric array:

movement	on movement position		
highway-rail	2,3	not used	1,1
highway-water	2.4	load, highway	1,2
forward, rail	3,3	load, rail	1,3
rail-water	3,4	load, water	1,4
forward, water	4,4	forward, highway	2,2

Using this method for representing a multimodal network an input editor for building an expanded network is avoided and data are easily prepared for both the initial network and for subsequent alterations. With an appropriate shortest path algorithm, such as the one described below, it is easy to determine single-mode or two-mode paths by excluding other modes from consideration.





Flow Assignment

Uncongested network assignment is achieved using a Moore-type tree building algorithm developed specifically for this research. The algorithm accepts as input the different arc customer service costs by mode and the transfer costs at each node. It treats these costs as if it were dealing with an expanded network of form 1. The costs on line haul arcs and the node transfer costs are assumed to be additive for determining an overall cost for an O-D (origin-destination) path.

The algorithm itself is an adaptation of a well-known procedure [30] to the dual node numbering system. It accepts as input the modes allowable in a particular run. Thus, it can be used for finding single-mode paths as well as compound-mode paths. The use of the program is discussed further in the mode split section.

The assignment program assumes that customer service costs are unaffected by the volume of freight traffic over the ranges of interest. This assumption may be valid for the line haul arcs in the Multi-State Corridor. As a first approximation one can assume that the diversions to new and improved routes and the additional flows generated on line haul arcs by products from new facilities do not change transport characteristics. In effect, one can then simply observe customer service costs, and use these as values for assigning new flows in an uncongested network.

Congestion may well occur at the mode transfer terminals. The second-year research effort will examine this matter in detail. Based on queueing theory, typical average delay times can be developed as a function of flow through a terminal. Thus terminals can be represented as congestion-affected arcs. During the second year the research team will program a congestion-affected multicommodity flow assignment algorithm which has been developed already [31]. This algorithm is an extension of other, reasonably efficient assignment algorithms.

^[30] Christofides, Graph Theory, Academic Press, New York, 1975.

^[31] Sharp, G. P., "Equilibrium Traffic Assignment for Multiclass-User Transportation Networks," ISyE Research Report W-77-1, Georgia Institute of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Eng., Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.

Define Present Network

The present transportation network consists of the 120 zone centroids (nodes) and a set of arcs connecting pairs of nodes that represent the existing transportation routes and services. The basic network was developed for one mode at a time - highway, rail and water - and it will be described in terms of that development. The modal networks were then combined using the dual node numbering procedure. Each network arc is described in terms of:

- 1. Terminal nodes,
- 2. The transportation modes serving the arc, and
- Customer service parameters cost, transport time and transport time variability - for each mode.

Detailed network arc descriptions are presented in Appendix C for each of the three modes studied to date. Origination, termination, mode transfer and forwarding activities at nodes are also associated with cost, time, and time variability for each mode.

Highway Network

The highway network, illustrated in Figure 5, is made up of the principal freight supporting intercity routes that connect the different zones. Two different methods were used to select highway arcs, one for Corridor and adjacent arcs, and the other for remote arcs.

The internodal distances between Multi-State Corridor nodes are on the order of 50 to 75 miles. Nodal cities are served by Federal Aid Primary, secondary, state, and county roads, but not generally by Interstate highways. Many of the existing highways are not of sufficiently high quality to support regular truck traffic. State traffic density maps were used to select a set of candidate arcs on the basis of alignment and traffic volume. Each candidate arc was described in terms of origin, destination, highway designation and number of traffic lanes. Routes included as many as three different highway numbers that jointly provide a path between the two nodes. In other instances, two or more parallel routes were identified between the same pair of nodes.

State transportation officials reviewed all of the candidate routes. They suggested dropping some, adding others and modifying still more. Where two or more parallel routes were available, a preferred route was selected.

FIGURE 5 HIGHWAY NETWORK



The preferred route became the basic highway arc. All arc descriptions apply to this route. Additional parallel routes are included as extra lanes on the primary arc. The presumption is that as the basic arc becomes congested with traffic, the point will be reached where the parallel route can offer equivalent service.

Non-Corridor arcs in the seven corridor states were developed in the same manner described for corridor arcs. However, arcs serving the more remote zones were developed in a different way. Long distance intercity movements take place predominantly on the Interstate and Defense Highway Network. Therefore, Interstate routes formed the backbone of the remote highway network. Care was taken to include all Interstate routes on the highway network. These were augmented with principal Federal Aid Primary routes where suitable Interstate routes were not available.

Arc lengths were expressed in terms of the basic arcs, using state maps and atlases as principal sources of highway distances.

<u>Customer service parameters</u> for the highway arcs were taken from many sources. Transportation costs, expressed as cost per ton mile, were taken from the Whitten equations [8]. If:

LHMⁿ = total line haul costs/ton of commodity n moving from zone i to ij

Then:

$$LHM_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{en} \sum_{g \in MCCA} \sum_{c \in C_{m}} d_{ij}^{gc} \cdot ML_{g}^{ec} \cdot I^{n}$$
(16)

where:

E_M = set of trailer types, p^{en} = fraction of commodity n using trailer type e, MCCA = set of motor carrier cost areas, C_M = set of highway classifications, d^{gc}_{ij} = distance on arc i,j in MCCA g on highway class c, ML^{ec}_g = highway line haul cost/ton mile for any commodity using trailer type e, highway class c in MCCA g, and

Iⁿ = density multiplier for commodity n.

Three trailer types were used - van, refrigerated and tank. The p^{en} were estimated from national aggregate statistics [32] and are shown in Table 14. Cost areas are those established by the ICC for analyzing motor carrier costs, shown in Figure 6.

The revenue density multipliers are based on an expansion of Whitten's 20 commodities into 53, and are shown in Table 15. The d_{ij}^g are obtained from the physical characteristics of the arc and the rate district containing it. Costs are given for van by Whitten, and following his suggestions, tanker costs were established at 200% of van cost and refrigerator truck at 110% of van cost.

Costs per ton mile, ML_g^{ec} were calculated for each condition that occurs on a highway arc. These in turn were extended to yield arc costs. Where an arc crosses a cost area boundary and where an arc is composed of more than one highway classification, weighted averages were prepared to represent arc costs.

Highway travel times were determined from estimated truck speed for each arc. Trucks can operate over almost all Interstate routes at the national speed limit of 55 miles per hour including rest and fuel stops. Speeds on lower quality routes were estimated with help from state highway officials. Where expert estimates were not available, a speed of 40 mph was assigned to high quality roads through relatively level terrain and a speed of 30 mph was assigned to other routes.

Travel time variability comes from delays and from conditions that prevent the attainment of estimated speeds. Thus, almost all variations result in longer than expected travel times. Excessive delays result from accidents, mechanical problems, undue driver fatigue or driver dalliance. Most such delays are of a short duration, rarely exceeding four hours.* If:

 LHV_{ii}^{n} = highway time variance in transporting commodity n from i to j

*Serious accidents generally destroy the cargo and are not counted as delays.

[32] Interstate Commerce Commission, <u>Cost of Transporting Freight by Class I</u> and <u>Class II Motor Common Carriers of General Commodities</u>, 1975, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1976.

TABLE 14COMMODITY SHIPMENTS BY MOTOR CARRIER

	Fracti	lon by Tr	ailer Type			Fracti	on by Tr	ailer Type
COMMODITY	VAN	TANKER	REFRIG.	<u>100</u>	MODITY	VAN	TANKER	REFRIG.
011 Grain	0.67	0.27	0.06	281	Inorg. Chem.	0.32	0.68	0
013 Field crops	1.0	0	0	282	2 Plastics	0.84	0.16	0
021 Livestock	1.0	0	0	283	3 Drugs	1.0	0	0
024 Dairy	0	1.0	0	284	4 Soap	0.96	0.04	0
025 Poultry & Eggs	0.4	0	0.6	285	5 Paint	0.6	0.4	0
080 Forrestry	1.0	0	0	286	6 Org. Chem.	0.32	0.68	0
090 Comm. Fish	0	0	1.0	287	7 Ag. Chem.	0.07	0.93	0
101 Iron ore	0	1.0	0	289	9 Misc. Chem.	0.65	0.35	0
102 Non-Fe. ore	0	1.0	0	290) Petr. Ref.	0.15	0.85	0
110 Coal	0	1.0	0	301	l Tires	1.0	0	0
130 Oil & Gas	0	1.0	0	302	2 Rubber & Pl.	1.0	0	0
140 ^{Non-Metal} Min.	0.05	0.95	0	31() Leather	1.0	0	0
201 Meat	0.4	0.4	0.2	32.	l Stone C.& Gl	.0.25	0.75	0
202 Dairy Prod.	0.4	0	0.6	324	4 Cement	0.79	0.21	0
203 Pres. Foods	1.0	0	0	33.	l Iron & Steel	0.16	0.84	0
204 Grain Prod.	1.0	0	0	333	3 Non-Fe Metal	0.86	0.14	0
205 Bakery Prod	. 1.0	0	0	34.	l Metal Cans	1.0	0	0
206 Confectiona	ry0.85	0.15	0	342	Pab. Metal Pr.	0.23	0.77	0
207 Fats & Oils	0.5	0.5	0	35() Machy. Ex. Elec.	0.7	0.3	0
208 Beverages	1.0	0	0	362	l Elec. Mach.	1.0	0	0
209 Misc. Food	1.0	0	0	362	2 Elec. App.	1.0	0	0
210 Tobacco	1.0	0	0	37.	l Motor Veh.	1.0	0	0
220 Textile Mil Pr.	¹ 1.0	0	0	372	2 Trans. Equip.	0 .9 5	0.05	0
230 Apparel	1.0	0	0	380) Meas. Inst.	1.0	0	0
240 Lumber	0.59	0.41	0	390) Misc. Mfg.	1.0	· 0	0
250 Furniture	1.0	0	0					
260 Paper	1.0	0	0					

0

270 Print & Pub 1.0 0



TABLE 15MOTOR CARRIER REVENUE DENSITY FACTORS

Commodity		Factor
1	Grain	1.0
2	Field Crops	1.0
3	Livestock	1.6
4	Dairy	1.0
5	Poultry & Eggs	2.7
6	Forrestry	1.0
7	Comm. Fishing	1.0
8	Iron Ore	1.0
9	Non Ferr Ores	1.0
10	Coal	1.0
1 1	Extraction Oils & Gas	1.0
12	Non-metal Min.	1.0
13	Meat	1.0
14	Dairy Prod.	1.0
15	Canned & Pres. Food	1.0
16	Grain Prod.	1.0
17	Bakery	1.5
18	Confections	1.0
19	Fats & Oils	1.0
20	Beverages	1.0
21	Misc. Food	1.0
22	Tobacco	1.6
23	Textile	1.1
24	Apparel	2.6
25	Lumber & Wood	1.0
26	Furnit. & Fixt.	2.0
27	Paper	1.0
28	Print & Publish	1.0
29	Ind. Inorg. Chem.	1.0
30	Plastics	1.0

Commodity		Factor
31	Drugs	1.0
32	Soap	1.0
33	Paint	1.0
34	Ind. Org. Chem.	1.0
35	Agric. Chem.	1.0
36	Misc. Chem.	1.0
37	Petrol. Ref.	1.0
38	Tires & Tubes	1.5
39	Rubber & Plastic Prod.	1.6
40	Leather	1.6
41	Cement	1.0
42	Stone, Clay, Prod.	1.0
43	Iron & Steel	1.0
44	Non Ferrous Metals	1.0
45	Metal Cans, etc.	2.9
46	Fabricated Metal Prod	. 1.0
47	Machinery Exc. Elect.	1.1
48	Elect. Ind. App.	1 .1
4 9	Elect. Machinery	1.6
50	Motor Veh. & Equip.	2.7
51	Transp. Equip.	2.7
52	Measuring Insts.	1.1
53	Misc. Mfg.	1.3
Then:

 $LHV_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{c \in C_{w}} k_{c} \cdot d_{ij}^{c}$

(17)

where:

= delay factor for highway classification c, and d_{jj}^{c} = distance between i and j on highway category c.

No differentiation was made among trailer types when calculating travel time variability.

Highway nodes have customer service parameters that reflect the time and cost associated with loading and unloading trucks at the originating and terminating nodes. No impedance is assessed against trucks that are forwarding (passing through a node while enroute to another node). Loading and unloading costs were also based on the Whitten equations.

If:

 LM_{i}^{n} = loading cost per ton for commodity n at zone i,

Then:

$$LM_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{en} \cdot p_{1}^{en} \cdot MT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$
(18)

where:

 P_1^{en} = fraction of terminal cost for commodity n, trailer type e attributable to loading, and

 $MT_{g(i)}^{e}$ = terminal cost per ton for any commodity using trailer type e in the MCCA associated with zone i.

Similarly, for unloading if:

 UM_{i}^{n} = unloading cost per ton for commodity n at zone i, Then:

$$JM_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{en} (1 - p_{1}^{en}) MT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$
(19)

Lacking knowledge of p_1^{en} , we assumed that for all trailer types exactly half of the terminal expense is attributable to loading and half to unloading.

Loading and unloading times depend on commodity, trailer type, facility size, loading crew size, location and other factors. Times were estimated on the basis of commodity, trailer type and location only. Thus if:

 LTM_{i}^{n} = loading time per trailer for commodity n at zone i,

Then:

$$LTM_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{en} \cdot LTM_{i}^{en}$$
(20)

where:

 LTM_i^{en} = loading time per trailer for commodity n in trailer type e at zone 1. Loading time variability was also based on commodity and trailer type. VM_i^n = loading time variation per trailer for commodity n at zone 1.

$$VM_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{en} \cdot VM_{i}^{en}$$
(21)

where:

VM^{en} = loading time variation per trailer for commodity n in trailer type e at zone i.

Rail Network

The rail network, illustrated in Figure 7 and specified in Appendix C, was developed in a manner similar to the highway network, but using different sources of data. Nodal delays occasioned by switching movements play a key role in determining rail transportation times and time variations, and required careful attention.

Almost all intercity rail lines within the Multi-State Corridor have been identified as potential rail arcs, even though some are little used and of poor quality. Poor quality lines have been included because it is easier and cheaper to rehabilitate an existing rail line than to build a new one. Thus even a poor quality line represents a potential focus for future development should a future demand for rail service arise. Branch lines were excluded because they serve only local traffic. By concentrating zone activities at the zone centroid, branch line originations and terminations are modeled as



though they take place at the centroid.

Rail line quality was estimated from zone maps prepared by the Federal Railroad Administration [33]. These maps show type of signaling and traffic volume on all rail lines. Line quality is generally reflected by traffic volume. Very low levels of traffic suggest a line of poor or marginal quality. The selected arcs were checked against state rail plans, where available, and they were reviewed with a few railroad managements. Although the review was not complete, it did confirm the approach used.

In a number of instances, two or more parallel routes were identified. The highest quality route was selected as the basic arc. The additional routes were recorded to act as additional capacity in the event that the basic route becomes congested.

The ownership of different lines was recorded. To the extent possible, arcs were selected so that each arc is owned by a single railroad, or by two railroads known to cooperate. Interchange between railroads was restricted to nodes.

Non-Corridor arcs were developed from the FRA zone maps on the basis of traffic volume. For these arcs we sought principal traffic-carrying routes. We began by plotting all rail lines that carry traffic level 4 or more (5 million gross tons per year or more). The level 4 route network provided most of the desired arcs. These needed to be augmented in the west with level 3 routes in order to complete paths from zone to zone. Parallel routes and ownership were treated as for Corridor arcs. Because non-Corridor arcs are much longer, exclusive ownership was sometimes difficult to achieve. In these instances, the best available compromise was sought.

Arc lengths were taken from railroad time tables giving mile posts, FRA zone maps and from railroad atlases, e.g. [21].

<u>Customer service parameters</u> were developed for rail arcs from secondary sources including time tables, speed estimates, opinion and published data. Transportation cost per ton mile for each arc was calculated using the Whitten equations.

^[33] Federal Railroad Administration, <u>United States Transportation Zone Maps</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1975.

LHRⁿ = line haul cost per ton of commodity n moving by rail from zone i to zone j

Then:

$$LHR_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{\substack{e \in E_{R} \\ R}} p^{en} \sum_{\substack{g \in RCCA \\ c \in C_{R}}} d_{ij}^{gc} \left(\frac{M_{g}^{ec}}{q} + L_{g}^{ec} + k^{ec} \right)$$
(22)

where:

E_R = the set of rail car types, p^{en} = fraction of commodity n using car type e, RCCA = the set of rail carrier cost areas [8], C_r = the set of rail line classifications, d^{gc}_{ij} = length of arc i,j in RCCA g on rail line classification c M^{ec}_g = variable line haul cost per car-mile in RCCA g, line class c, car type e, d^{en}_{ec} = tons per car of commodity n in car type e, L^{ec}_g = variable line haul cost per ton mile in RCCA g, line class c, car type e, and k^{ec}_{ec} = fixed line haul cost per ton mile in RCCA g, line class c, car

k^{ec} = fixed line haul cost per ton mile in RCCA g, line class c, car
g
type e.

Values for p^{en} and q^{en} are listed in Table 16. Data for other terms are contained in Whitten's report [8] or ICC or FRA publications. Rail line haul costs were calculated by computer for different conditions. Weighted averages were used for arcs crossing RCCA boundaries and for arcs containing end-to-end connections of different rail line classifications.

Rail travel times were drawn from several sources. Schedule times for merchandise freight trains traveling over the designated arcs were used when available. Other travel times were estimated on the basis of number of tracks, signalling, line quality and terrain.

90

If:

Com-	Desc.	Box		Tank Hopper		Refrig.		Flat		TOFC	
modity		%	q	%	<u>q</u>	%	q	%	q	%	q
1	Grain	66	53	27	48	6	24			1	27
2	Field Crops	100	39								
3	Livestock	100	25								
4	Dairy			100	57						
5	Poultry & Eggs	40	25			60	25		-		
6	Forrestry							100	44		
7	Comm. Fishing					100	49				
8	Iron Ore			100	78				·		
9	Non Ferr. Ores	·		100	88						
10	Coal			100	81						
11	Extraction Gas			100	77						
12	Non-Metal Min.	5	51	95	73						
13	Meat	25	40	25	40	13	40			37	40
14	Dairy Prod.	40	42			60	42				
15	Canned & Pres. F.	100	45								
16	Grain Prod.	100	41								
17	Bakery	17	17		<u>-</u>					83	17
18	Confections	85	61	15	61						
19	Fats & Oils	50	66	50	66						
20	Beverages	85	49							15	49
21	Misc. Food	85	51							15	51
22	Tobacco	88	32							12	32
23	Textile	100	20								
24	Apparel	100	20								
25	Lumber & W	42	52	41	47			17	52		
26	Furnit. & Fixt.	95	9							5	9
27	Paper	95	41	·				2	41	3	41
28	Print & Publish	80	29							20	29
29	Ind. Inorg. Chem.	31	72	68	72					1	30
30	Plastics	80	72	16	72					4	30

TABLE 16 PERCENT OF COMMODITY MOVEMENT BY RAIL CAR TYPE, (TONS OF COMMODITY PER CAR TYPE)

TABLE 16, CONTINUED

Com-	Desc.	Box		Ho	Hopper		Refrig.		Flat		TOFC	
modity_		%	q	%	q	%	g	%	<u>q</u> .	%	q	
31	Drugs	100	32									
32	Soap	60	33	4	33					36	23	
33	Paint	60	50	40	50							
34	Ind. Org. Chem.	31	71	68	71					1	30	
35	Agric. Chem.	7	68	93	68							
36	Misc. Chem.	62	55	35	55					3	27	
37	Petrol. Ref.	14	35	85	56					1	25	
38	Tires & Tubes	100	20		·							
39	Rubber & Plastic	100	21								 -	
40	Leather	80	20							20	20	
41	Cement	25	73	75	73							
42	Stone, Clay, Concrete P	65	54	21	54			14	54			
43	Iron & Steel	8	62	84	62			8	62			
44	Non Ferrous Metals	80	59	14	59			6	59			
45	Metal Cans, etc.	95	12					5	12			
46	Fabricated Metal Pr	c .1 4	37	77	37			9	37			
47	Machinery Exc. Elec	. 32	23	30	23			38	23			
48	Elect. Ind. App.	92	47					8	47			
49	Elect. Machin.	92	14					8	14			
50	Motor Veh. & Equip	. 59	23					41	23			
51	Transp. Equip.	5	26					95	26			
52	Measuring Insts.	97	21							3	16	
53	Misc. Mfg.	100	15									

Line haul rail travel time variations are caused by routine delays in dispatching trains, variations in train weight and power, delayed meetings and accidents. These occasions all tend to increase travel time. With the exception of major derailments, they can be measured in hours per arc. They are expressed as a function of geography and rail line classification. If:

LVR = line haul variability for a train moving from i to j
Then:

$$LVR_{ij} = \sum_{g \in RCCA} \sum_{c \in C_R} d_{ij}^{gc} LVR_{ij}^{gc}$$
(23)

where:

LVR^{gc} = travel time variation for rail line class c in RCCA g with grade and signal attributes from i to j.

Terminals and classification yards play a key role in the operation of railroads. Each individual railroad operates its yards and terminals in a manner that minimizes cost while facilitating the movement of traffic. The American railroads do not operate yards at all of the nodes of the transportation network, nor does the network have a node at each yard. Thus, some accommodation has been necessary. Within the Corridor, it has been possible to associate major yards with specific nodes without much difficulty. Thus the Seaboard Coast Line's (SCL's) new yard at Waycross, Georgia, is easily located at the Waycross node. Major switching activities at Birmingham, Memphis, and Kansas City are properly located at these nodes.

Outside the Corridor, more accommodation has been needed. Major Norfolk and Western, Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac and SCL yards in the Richmond-Petersburg area have been concentrated at Richmond. Conrail's large Conway yard has been combined with other yards at Pittsburgh. As zones get larger, more displacement is needed. Conrail's Elkhart yard is shifted to Chicago, Southern Pacific's Roseville yard is shifted to San Francisco and so forth. Every effort has been made to preserve essential rail functions despite the necessary adjustments.

Classification functions were assigned to the yards at each node. Terminal switching occurs at every node and is an essential part of freight originations and terminations. The complexity of the terminal switching depends on the amount of activity at the node and its geometrical configuration.

Classification of through traffic occurs at several levels. In some yards minimum classification occurs when cuts of cars are transferred between local and through trains. In major classification yards, all arriving trains are broken up and their cars sorted into a variety of outbound destinations. At gateways two or more railroads interchange traffic. At its worst, this may involve two or more complete classifications* plus local movements between inbound and outbound yards.

Two types of rail node costs are identified - terminal costs and classification costs. In loading and unloading costs, let:

LRⁿ = total loading costs per ton of commodity n at zone i
Then:

$$LR_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{R}} p_{1}^{en} \cdot \frac{F_{g(i)}^{e}}{q^{en}} + (p_{2}^{e,n} \cdot T_{g(i)}^{e} + p_{3}^{en} \cdot J_{g(i)}^{en} + b^{n}B^{n}) \quad (24)$$

where:

P^{en}₁ = fraction of variable terminal car cost for commodity n, car type e attributable to loading,

$$F_{g(i)}^{c}$$
 = variable terminal car cost per car of type e in RCCA associated
with zone i,

p^{en}₂ = fraction of variable terminal cost for commodity n, car type e, in RCCA associated with zone i,

$$J_{g(i)}^{c}$$
 = fixed terminal cost per ton of any commodity, car type e, in RCCA associated with zone i,

b^{II} = fraction of loss and damage claims for commodity n attributable to loading, and

 B^n = loss and damage per ton of commodity n.

*A terminal and switching company may also handle the traffic.

By this formulation, loading costs depend only on location as determined by the RCCA and commodity. Unloading costs are similar. If:

URⁿ = unloading cost per ton of commodity n at zone i Then:

$$UR_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{R}} p^{en} [(1-p_{1}^{en}) \frac{F_{g(i)}^{e}}{q^{en}} + (1-p_{2}^{en}) T_{g(i)}^{e} + (1-p_{3}^{en}) J_{g(i)}^{e} + (1-b^{n}) B^{n}]$$
(25)

Classification costs are more zone specific. Thus, if: CR_{i}^{n} = classification cost per ton for commodity n at zone i Then:

$$CR_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{R}} p^{en} \left(\frac{CL_{g(i)}^{e}}{e^{n}} + CF_{g(i)}^{e} \right)$$
(26)

where:

 $CL_{g(i)}^{e}$ = classification cost per car of type e at zone i, and $CF_{g(i)}^{n}$ = fixed classification cost per ton of commodity n at zone i. The cost per car depends on the type of yard activity and the operations associated with each car classification. The fixed cost per ton depends on the capital investment and the level of classification yard use. If sufficiently detailed data were available, each zone could be given a unique value of $CL_{g(i)}^{e}$ and $CF_{g(i)}^{n}$. However, for present purposes only four levels of activity have been identified and associated with the different zones.

Terminal and yard time is even more difficult to establish than cost. Time spent in terminals in support of loading and unloading is heavily location dependent. It varies with the nature, amount and scheduling of way switcher and yard switcher crews and equipment. Pick up and set off times can vary from an hour or less to several days. Four categories of pick up and set off activity have been identified and associated with the different zones.

Classification time also varies widely. Some railroads follow the policy of dispatching trains on time regardless of the number of cars available for them. Other railroads hold trains for traffic accumulation or until particular

inbound trains have been classified. A car late in arriving may have to wait a day or longer under the first policy, while under the second, the delay would only be a few hours. Classification times have been associated with the level of classification activity at each node. Thus, if:

CRT_i = classification time per car at zone i
Then:

$$CTR_{i} = CL_{g(i)} \cdot CT$$
 (27)

where:

CT = normalized classification time per car.

Terminal and yard time variation is based on the likelihood of missing an outbound train, requiring classification services or requiring repair. Values are based on the quality of inbound and outbound rail service as an indicator of train frequency. Thus, where only daily outbound service is available, the variation in terminal and yard time comes in increments of one day, and the standard deviation is set equal to one day. Where more frequent service is available, the standard deviation is appropriately reduced.

Water Network

The waterway network was selected to include all major domestic waterways within the continental United States. This includes facilities to support both barge and ship traffic. Barge movements occur throughout the inland waterways, on the intercoastal waterway system, on the Great Lakes and across open seas. Ship movements are limited to those waterways that can accommodate ships of commercial draft. For the purposes of the first year's work, the movement categories are artificially restricted. Barge movements are considered only on waterways with channel depths less than 30 feet. All deep water movements are assumed to occur in ships.

All <u>inland waterways</u> with channel depths of seven feet or greater are included in the water network. Only those waterways that occur within large zones are omitted, e.g., the Columbia River and the Sacramento-San Joaquin Rivers. The network includes the Hudson River - New York State Barge Canal, the Savannah River, the Apalachicola/Chattahoochee River, the Alabama River, the Tennessee-Tombigbee project and the Mississippi River system including the Mississippi, Missouri, Arkansas, Illinois, Ohio, Kanawha, Cumberland and

Tennessee Rivers and the Chicago Canal. Terminal points of each river are indicated in Figure 8.

It was difficult to fit the inland waterways into the zone structure, particularly in the case of the Mississippi River System. Major river ports were generally network nodes. However, several Corridor cities selected as nodes do not lie on the river, but the river flows through their zone and has port facilities within them. To provide realistic commodity flows, the water arcs were directed to some of these non-port nodes. In this fashion, the Mississippi River arcs pass through Jackson, Greenville, and Clarksdale, Mississippi and Dyersburg, Tennessee. Of these, all are within 15 miles of the river except Jackson, which is 45 miles from the river. However, for other reasons, Jackson was selected over Vicksburg as the zone centroid.

The <u>deep water network</u> includes the Great Lakes, the St. Lawrence Seaway, coastwise and intercoastal service. The Great Lakes - St. Lawrence Seaway system can accommodate ships up to 27 ft. draft. The coastwise and intercoastal traffic has been limited to the same ship size in order to include the Cape Cod Canal, the Delaware-Maryland Canal and the Port of Brunswick, all with 30 ft. channel depths.

Although direct routes are available between each pair of coastal nodes, coastwise shipping is modeled like a linear network with intermediate nodes. This convention slightly increases distances for longer trips, but no impedance is imposed on through movements so that longer shipments do not suffer an additional port penalty.

Arc lengths were taken from nautical charts, channel descriptions and published reports.

<u>Customer Service Parameters</u>. Accurate utility measures for water movements were difficult to obtain. After careful analysis, the Whitten equations [8] were rejected because water costs generated with them were not consistent with cost data used for highway and rail arcs. However, a good alternative was not easy to find. Common and contract carriers by water are regulated by the ICC and they are required to report their financial and operating performance to the ICC. Unfortunately, these regulated carriers are responsible for only a small fraction of the water movements. Most domestic marine traffic including the vast Great Lakes ore movement and major traffic in coal, petroleum and chemicals - is in private hands. Private carriers are under no obligation to report their performance. They do periodically report via the



FIGURE 8

Census of Transportation surveys in which they receive disclosure protection. Similarly, operators carrying exempt commodities - notably grain - are under no obligation to report to the ICC.

The Corps of Engineers has made a number of studies of traffic on rivers and in ports. A study now underway will attempt to specify travel time, loading and unloading time and cost for a variety of port-to-port movements. In the absence of these results, the project team had to make do with what was available. Available data included reports to the ICC by common and contract carriers, Census of Transportation data on movements between states and past reports by a variety of study groups.

Using all available data, an expression was developed for barge movement costs. If:

LHWⁿ = line haul cost per ton to move commodity n by water carrier from i to j,

Then:

$$LHW_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{g \in WCCA} TW_{ij} \cdot WL_{g} \cdot I^{n}$$
(28)

where:

TW ij = time in hours for a tow boat to travel from i to j, and WL = cost per hour for tow and tow boat operation in area g. Hourly costs, WL, are based on modern tow boats powered by 3,000 to 4,000 horsepower engines, pushing maximum tows made of jumbo barges. Because of data difficulties, specific distinctions were not made among barge types.

Great Lakes, coastwise and intercoastal water movement costs are calculated in a slightly different way.

$$LHW_{ij}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{ij}} p^{en} \sum_{g \in WCCA} d_{ij}^{g} \cdot WL_{g}^{e} \cdot I_{n}$$
(29)

where:

p^{en} = fraction of commodity n using shipping configuration e,

 d_{ij}^g = distance between i and j in g, and

 WL_g^e = cost per ton-mile for any commodity using configuration e in WCCA g. Only two configurations were used in the first year's work, linear and container type ships. Additional variations such as large bulk ships can be added in the future.

Travel times were also difficult to estimate on the inland waterways because they are heavily influenced by current, number of locks, traffic level, water depth and other factors which vary widely through the year. An expression was ultimately developed that considers only distance, speed and number of locks.

$$TW_{ij} = d_{ij}/s_{ij} + aL_{ij}$$
(30)

where:

TW ij = transit time by water from i to j.
d ij = distance along the channel between i and j,
s ij = mean speed from i to j,
L ij = number of locks between i and j, and
a = constant

Mean values of speed were selected for the principal waterways where available. Otherwise an upstream speed of 5 mph and a downstream speed of 7 mph were used. Lock operating times were examined for a large number of different locks. The constant a represents a mean traverse time including entry, gate operation, lift and departure.

Travel times for Great Lakes, coastal and intercoastal movements were based on average over water speeds of 16 to 18 knots. Allowances for leaving and entering port were included in loading and unloading time so as not to prejudice the convention adopted for long journeys.

Travel time variability for movements on rivers and canals is heavily influenced by the number of locks traversed, because this is where most delays occur. Thus, if:

VW = travel time variation for water movement from i to j
Then:

$$VW_{ij} = \sum_{g \in WCCA} a_{1}^{g} L_{ij} + a_{2}^{g} d_{ij}$$
(31)

where a_1^g and a_2^g are constants for WCCA g.

Travel time variability for Great Lakes, coastwise and intercoastal movement is largely a result of weather. The likelihood of a weather delay is a function of distance, area, time of year and other factors. However, a simple function of distance has been adopted for the first year's work.

Water node activities are restricted to loading and unloading. No terminal impedances are assigned to through traffic. If:

 LW_{i}^{n} = loading cost per ton for commodity n at zone i, Then:

$$LW_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{i}} p^{en} \cdot p_{1}^{e,n} \cdot WT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$
(32)

where:

 $WT_{g(i)}^{e}$ = cost per ton of any commodity using water configuration e in WCCA g associated with zone i.

In this case, three configurations are used - barge, container and linear vessel. The cost factor includes daily port costs for the vessel, stevedore and crew costs divided by mean loading or unloading activity. Similarly if:

 UW_{i}^{n} = unloading cost per ton for commodity n at zone i, Then:

$$UW_{i}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{u}} p^{en} (1-p_{1}^{en}) WT_{g(i)}^{e} \cdot I^{n}$$
(33)

Loading and unloading times are based on average productivity and include an allowance for entering and leaving port. Loading and unloading time variation includes allowances for productivity differences, dock congestion, stevedore availability and berth availability. These variations are port specific depending on the port facilities and the expected level of activity.

Intermodal Transfers

Two forms of intermodal transfer are common today, water-highway and highway-rail. In addition, there is some water-rail activity. Intermodal transfers can be broadly classified as break-bulk transfers and container transfers.

In a break-bulk transfer, the inbound carrier is completely unloaded, the cargo is sorted by outbound carrier and the outbound carriers are loaded. Cost and time requirements to perform this kind of a transfer are closely related to loading and unloading costs and times. Thus if:

TTⁿ = break-bulk terminal transfer costs per ton of commodity n from XYi mode X to mode Y at zone i,

Then:

$$TT_{XYi}^{n} = 0.8 [LY_{i}^{n} + UX_{i}^{n}]$$
 (34)

where:

 $LY_{i}^{n} = cost per ton for loading commodity n into mode Y at i, and$ $<math>UX_{i}^{n} = cost per ton for unloading commodity n from mode X at i.$ The use of a factor of 0.8 reflects loading and unloading economies that can be achieved at a transfer terminal.

Container terminals require large capital investments in sophisticated special purpose equipment. In addition, large land areas are required for storing empty and loaded containers. The cost of operating a container terminal depends very heavily on the use made of the terminal's capital assets. Thus, if:

TT_{XYi} = container terminal transfer cost per ton of commodity n from mode X to mode Y at location i,

Then:

$$TT_{XYi}^{'n} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{TC_{XY}}{V_i} + TO_{XYi} \end{bmatrix} I^n/q^n$$
(35)

where:

TC_{XY} = the equivalent annual capital cost of a transfer terminal to interchange between modes X and Y,

 V_i = expected number of containers per year to be transferred at 1, TO'_{XYi} = operating cost per container to transfer between modes X and Y at 1, q^n = tons of commodity n per container.

Values of $TC_{X,Y}$ and $TO_{X,Y}$ are as follows:

		TC X,Y	TO X,Y	Capacity, Container Per Year		
Highway-rail	\$	50,000	\$1.50	200,000		
Highway-water	1	,000,000	2.50	400,000		
Rail-water	1	,200,000	3.00	400,000		

 TC_{XY} is calculated with interest at 20 percent per annum. TO'_{XY} depends on the terminal facilities and on labor cost and efficiency at location i.

Transfer times are based on productivity data for the different terminal types. If:

TTT'ⁿ = break-bulk terminal transfer time for commodity n between modes X and Y at i

Then:

$$TTT_{XYi}^{n} = UX_{i}^{n} + LY_{i}^{n} + a_{i}$$
(36)

where:

a = a constant to account for expected accumulation and delay times at i, and if

 TTT_{XY1}^{n} = container terminal transfer time for commodity n between modes X and Y,

Then:

$$TTT_{XYi}^{n} = \frac{N_{X}C_{X}^{i}}{2} + \frac{N_{Y}C_{Y}^{i}}{2}$$
(37)

where:

 $N_X =$ number of containers expected on carrier X $C_X^i =$ expected cycle time for unloading carrier X at i $N_Y =$ number of containers expected on carrier Y $C_Y^i =$ expected cycle time for loading carrier Y

Unload and load cycles are generally equal and may be simultaneous at a container terminal. A uniform distribution is assumed for container location in a shipment. Thus, a given container may be unloaded at any time during the unloading operations.

Transfer time variability depends on productivity variations, equipment delays, crew delays, and other factors. Delay factors have generally been expressed as a fraction of terminal time.

Compact Representation of Transportation Costs

The research team understood clearly that the transportation costs being used during the first-year research effort left much to be desired. Specifically, the costs were based largely on secondary sources which determined costs from summary financial statistics and allocated fixed costs by somewhat arbitrary methods. At the same time the need was recognized to determine O-D customer service costs for each of 53 commodities for the 120 zone network.

In order to generate all the O-D network costs for just one commodity required the generation of 360 trees, one for each of three modes for each of the 120 origin nodes. This computation consumed about 15 minutes of computer time, including the CPU time required to write the trees onto magnetic tape. If separate trees had to be constructed for each commodity, the computer time would quickly become excessive. On the other hand, if one set of trees could be used for all 53 commodities, the resulting commodity paths might not be the true shortest paths.

To achieve a compromise between the desire for commodity specific routes and the problems of generating and storing these data, the line haul arc costs were formulated in the following way:

$$t(i,j,m,k) = t(i,j,m) \times s(m,k)$$
 (38)

where:

t(i,j,m) = an average cost for transporting goods from node i to node

j by mode m

s(m,k) = a commodity specific factor that applies to all arcs of a given mode

An analysis was made of the line haul costs determined by the formulas developed for the different modes. Surprisingly, the commodity specific factors were remarkably consistent throughout the different geographic regions. A similar analysis was made of the Whitten based loading and unloading costs. There resulted again fairly consistent commodity specific factors.

However, the commodity factors for line haul and loading-unloading were not the same. Upon closer examination, there appeared to be a monotonic relationship between the two sets of factors: the highest factor for line haul was also highest for loading-unloading, the lowest factors in both cases were for the same commodity, etc.

Accordingly, it was conjectured, but not proven, that a shortest path consisting of line haul arcs and transfer movements for a hypothetical average commodity would be a true shortest path for any of the 53 commodities, but that the length of the path could not be determined with only one commodityspecific factor. The multimodal shortest path algorithm was subsequently revised to optimize the overall path length for the "average" commodity but to keep track separately of the line haul portion and the transfer portion. The "true" commodity specific path length for the resulting path was then obtained by multiplying the line haul portion and the transfer portion by the commodity-specific line haul cost factor and transfer cost factor, respectively. Further compaction resulted when the geographic area cost factors were multiplied by the true arc lengths to achieve modified arc lengths.

The net effect of all the computations described in this chapter was to take the original, Whitten based, formula of

$$LHM_{i,j}^{n} = \sum_{e \in E_{M}} p^{e,n} \sum_{g \in MCCA} d^{g} \times ML_{g}^{e} \times I^{n}$$
(39)

and convert it to one of

LHMⁿ = (modified arc length) x (average cost) x (commodity factor) i,j With the analogous simplification of transfer costs, the overall effect was the elimination of the need for commodity-specific trees and a great simplification of subsequent analysis. Average costs for the highway, rail and water modes are listed in Appendix E.

Mode Split Analysis

The mode split analysis was directed toward two very important needs: (1) to find the value of transport time and transport time variability for each commodity group, and (2) to estimate the modal share of present and potential traffic that existing and potential transport modes and intermodal combinations can expect to carry. By the procedure followed, the first need became a very important by-product of the search for an adequate mode split representation.

Requirements

The requisite mode split model must meet all or most of the following requirements if it is to be useful in the Multi-State Transportation Corridor study.

Abstract Mode Representation. Because the research focuses on new and intermodal means for transporting freight, an abstract mode model is essential. This type of model characterizes a mode entirely by customer service parameters. Any new mode or compound mode journey can then be characterized by these same factors and compared with existing modes in the model. An extension of this argument leads to the requirement that the model be independent of origin zone, since new production facilities will be postulated for zones from which no specific commodity flow originates today.

<u>Calibration Time and Results</u>. In view of the need to calibrate the model for each of the 53 commodity groups, the model should be amenable to standard regression techniques and/or optimization routines that are robust and efficient with respect to computer time. In order to have confidence in the model, a good fit must be produced for each commodity so that the model can predict accurately the flows on new modes and between new O-D pairs.

<u>Irrelevance of Independent Alternatives</u>. This requirement deals with the change in the proportion of flow divided between two modes that is brought about by changes in or addition of a third mode. If a third mode were to be improved, one would expect flow on the other two modes to be reduced, but the

proportion of flows between the two modes would be unchanged. The implication is that a strict choice utility function should be used.

Path Customer Service Costs Transformable to Additive Arc Costs. In order to find the compound-mode journey with least customer service cost equivalent, one would prefer to have path cost equal to the sum of the respective arc costs. Then, one can use a shortest path algorithm to find the best path; otherwise, some less efficient enumeration scheme would have to be used. Actually, all that is needed is that path costs be uniquely transformable into additive linear arc parameters - time, cost and reliability.

To illustrate this concept, assume that path customer service cost equivalent has a linear form:

$$D_{ijmn} = a_1 C_{ijmn} + a_2 T_{ijmn}$$
(40)

where D, C, and T are path customer service cost equivalent, path cost, and path time between nodes i and j for commodity n using mode m. Since the transportation attributes are additive along arcs, one can simply assign to each arc and transfer activity its cost equivalent as determined by the above expression. Application of a shortest path algorithm to a network of the type shown in Figure 4 will then find the path with the least, or best, cost equivalent.

Now if path cost equivalent were exponential,

$$U_{ijmn} = \exp(D_{ijmn}) = \exp(a_1 C_{ijmn} + a_2 T_{ijmn})$$
(41)

the same process will still work: Each arc and transfer activity is assigned the value of its cost equivalent argument, in this case D_{ijmn} for arcs and a similar D_{imkn} for transfer activities (including loading, unloading, and forwarding), and the shortest path routine will find the path with least, or best, cost equivalent. The two important properties of the path cost equivalent function needed are:

- 1. The argument must be linear, and
- 2. The path cost equivalent function must be monotonic over the range of the argument.

Survey of Existing Models

A review of the literature indicates that very little work has been performed on freight modal split as compared to passenger mode split and particularly urban transit mode split. The only type of model that has been calibrated for forecasting purposes is the multiplicative model described below. All of the models presented here recognize the need to distinguish among commodity types based on such factors as freight rates by the different modes, dollar value per ton, and susceptibility to damage, spoilage, and theft.

The <u>Multiplicative Demand</u>, <u>Abstract Mode Model</u> was first presented by Baumol & Quandt in 1966 [34]. It is formulated to predict both total demand between an O-D pair and the respective modal shares. The multiplicative version [35] is as follows:

$$F_{ijm} = a_0 P_i^{a_1} P_j^{a_2} Y_i^{a_3} Y_j^{a_4} M_j^{a_5} M_j^{a_6} N_{ij}^{a_7} f_1(T) f_2(C) f_3(D)$$
(42)

where:

 $f_{1}(T) = T_{ijb}^{b0} T_{ijm}^{b1}$ $f_{2}(C) = C_{ijb}^{0} C_{ijm}^{1}$ $f_{3}(D) = D_{ijb}^{e0} D_{iim}^{e1}$

F_{imj} = demand from i to j by mode m

P_i,P_j = populations of zones i,j
Y_i,Y_i = Mean incomes of zones i,j

- [34] Quandt, R. E. and W. J. Baumol, "The Demand for Abstract Transport Modes: Theory and Measurement," <u>Journal of Regional Sciences</u>, Vol. 6, No. 2, 1966.
- [35] Quandt, R. E., <u>The Demand for Travel: Theory and Measurement</u>, Heath, Lexington, Mass., 1970.

M ,M = institutional and manufacturing characteristics of zones i,j

N_{ij} = number of modes serving i to j

Given the populations, incomes, and institutional characteristics, a reduced model is obtained:

$$F_{ijm} = a_0 N_{ij}^{a_7} f_1(T) f_2(C)$$
(43)

with the constraint that the total flow between i and j is equal to 100%. For a specific commodity k the model becomes

$$F = a N^{a} \frac{7k}{1k} f (T) f (C)$$

$$F_{ijmk} = 0k i j k 2k$$

$$(44)$$

with the 100% flow constraint.

Since this model is an abstract mode approach, the user can examine new modes by specifying transport time and cost. If these two items do not characterize a mode adequately, then other factors must be put into the equation, such as delivery time variance. There are difficulties with respect to shifting flows that arise when new modes, or new compound-mode paths, are considered and the total flow between i and j remains the same. However, this problem occurs with all of the known modeling approaches, not just this particular one. The model uses relative time and cost advantage of one mode against another. Thus, only one regression equation is needed for each mode (each commodity effectively constitutes a separate calibration problem). The use of absolute values instead of relative values would necessitate an equation for virtually each O-D pair. The general model is linear in the logarithms, and thus linear regression techniques can be easily used to estimate the coefficients, while the reduced model has the additive constraint which must be incorporated in the regression. The above type of model has been calibrated in a variety of settings [35, 36], but none of these applications provide directly usable results for the Multi-State Corridor study.

An <u>Impedance Model</u> is used in the National Transportation Plan (NTP) modal split model [37]. The model uses an analogy to Kirchoff's law from electrical networks.

$$f_{ijln} Z_{ijln} = f_{ij2n} Z_{ij2n} = \dots = f_{ijnn} Z_{ijnn} A_{ijnn} A_$$

where A is the basic attractiveness between i and j for commodity n, analogous to the electrical potential.

The impedance for commodity n is defined as

$$Z_{ijmn} = a_{ijmn} \begin{bmatrix} b_k T_{ijmn} + C_{ijmn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(46)

where:

- [36] Herendeen, J. H., "Theoretical Development and Preliminary Testing of a Mathematical Model for Predicting Freight Modal Split," Report TTSC6908, Pennsylvania State University, Pennsylvania Transportation Institute, University Park, Penn., 1966.
- [37] U.S. DOT, "The National Transportation Plan Modal Split Model," unpublished paper.

The modal share for mode & then is

$$f_{ij\ell n} = \frac{\frac{1}{Z_{ij\ell n}}}{\sum_{m=1}^{k} \left[\frac{1}{Z_{ijmn}}\right]}$$
(47)

The actual NTP model also considers time, in annual periods. The model has been calibrated for the 20-commodity, 173-BEA zone data set. Since the a ijmn are specified for each 0-D pair, and only for 20 commodities, those results would not be particularly useful to the Corridor study.

The impedance model can be classified as a strict choice utility model, whereby modal attractiveness or utility is determined for each competing mode and the shares allocated by the strict choice utility function

$$f_{ijln} = \frac{\underbrace{U_{ijln}}_{n}}{\sum_{m=1}^{n} \underbrace{U_{ijmn}}_{n}}$$
(48)

Here we have $U_{ijln} = 1/Z_{ijln}$.

The Additive Linear Form expresses path utility as

$$U_{ijmn} = a_0 + a_1 C_{ijmn} + a_2 T_{ijmn}$$
(49)

with the a_0 constant being positive and the a_1 and a_2 constants negative. Linear regression to obtain the constants is straightforward.

The <u>Exponential Form</u> is sometimes called the logit form. It expresses mode utility as

$$U_{ijmn} = \exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{ijmn} + a_2 T_{ijmn})$$
(50)

Again, the a_0 term is positive and the a_1 and a_2 terms negative. This form generally gives a much better regression fit than the strict linear form. A typical regression equation is:

$$f_{ijmn} \exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{ijln} + a_2 T_{ijln})$$

+
$$f_{ijmn} \exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{ij2n} + a_2 T_{ij2n})$$

+ $f_{ijmn} \exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{ijmn} + a_2 T_{ijmn})$
= $\exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{ijmn} + a_2 T_{ijmn})$ (51)

Alternatively, one can compare the share of each mode k to a base mode m and use linear regression

$$\frac{f_{ijkn}}{f_{ijmn}} = \frac{\exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{ijkn} + a_2 T_{ijkn})}{\exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{ijmn} + a_2 T_{ijmn}}$$
(52)

or $\log (f_{ijmn}/f_{ijkm}) = a_1(C_{ijkm} - C_{ijmn}) + a_2(T_{ijkm} - T_{ijmn})$ (53)

The range of observations of the dependent variable may exceed 1.0, causing the regression procedure to give undue weight to those observations. Also, there is a bias introduced by the log transformation of the data.

In the Modified Exponential Form the utility of a mode is given by

$$U_{ijmn} = \frac{\exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{ijmn} + a_2 T_{ijmn})}{1 - \exp(a_0 + a_1 C_{ijmn} + a_2 T_{ijmn})}$$
(54)

This formulation is applied only to non-base modes. The utility for the base mode is defined to be 1.0. For example, if the base mode is highway, then a rail path utility can be defined as

$$U_{ijrn} = \frac{\exp(a_0 + a_1(C_{ijrn} - C_{ijhn}) + a_2(T_{ijrn} - T_{ijhn}))}{1 - \exp(a_0 + a_1(C_{ijrn} - C_{ijhn}) + a_2(T_{ijrn} - T_{ijhn}))}$$
(55)

where subscripts r and h refer to rail and highway, respectively. For consistency,

$$U_{ijhn} = \frac{\exp(a_0)}{1 - \exp(a_0)}$$
(56)

which implies that $a_0 = \log (0.5)$. One advantage of this form is that linear regression can be used with the dependent variable being the ratio of the mode

under consideration to the sum of that mode plus the base mode. Again, considering rail, mode r, with highway, mode h, as the base mode, one has

$$\log\left(\frac{f_{ijrn}}{f_{ijrn} + f_{ijhn}}\right) = \log (0.5) + a_1(C_{ijrn} - C_{ijhn}) + a_2(T_{ijrn} - T_{ijhn})$$
(57)

Thus, one can eliminate most of the bias from those data points where the base mode has a small share. On the other hand, the model occasionally exhibits ill behavior by having the exponential argument assume negative values.

Calibration and Final Model Selection

The procedure followed in applying the exponential and modified exponential forms consists of three steps:

- 1. Linear regression of the log-transformed data
- 2. Cyclic coordinate search
- 3. Transformation by cumulative normal distribution function

Calibrations were performed for seven commodities selected for testing the overall analytical procedure:

1. Textile mill products

- 2. Apparel
- 3. Lumber & wood
- 4. Furniture & fixtures
- 5. Rubber & plastic products
- 6. Machinery, except electrical
- 7. Electrical machinery

Table 17 shows the results after performing step 2. In every case the exponential form was nearly as good or better than the modified exponential form. Generally, the cylic coordinate search [38] reduced the true sum of squares by 5% to 10%, removing the bias of the log-transformation of the data. Since

^[38] Zangwill, <u>Nonlinear Programming: A Unified Approach</u>, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1969.

			Exponential Form				Modified Exponential Form*					
Commodity	Data Points in Samp l e	<u>a*</u>	<u>a</u> 2	<u>a</u> 3	<u>SS***</u>	<u>a</u> 1	<u>a</u> 2	<u>a</u> 3	SS***			
1	28	0287	0073	0648	2.57	0126	0029	0264	2.66			
2	32	0022	0000	0669	2.64	0008	0013	- 0175	2.77			
3	73	0100	0001	0150	6.15	0075	0003	0120	7.06			
4	39	0227	0160	0108	3.18	0117	0083	0038	3.83			
5	45	0106	0137	0000	3.77	0066	0076	0000	4.18			
6	64	0245	0269	0016	2.99	0086	0095	0014	3.21			
7	130	0178	0256	0000	8.14	0022	0055	0005	9.12			

 TABLE 17

 COMPARISON OF EXPONENTIAL AND MODIFIED EXPONENTIAL FORMS

* a_0 in modified exponential form is -.6932

** Units used are: cost-\$/ton, time-days, time variance-days

***True sum of squares for highway fraction to sum of highway and rail fractions

the execution time of the cyclic coordinate search did not depend too much on the starting point (about 4 seconds for 45 data points), most of the runs were performed without the first step of linear regression. Multiple correlation coefficients were in the range of 0.7 to 0.75, yielding an R^2 of approximately 0.5. While not completely satisfying, these values compare well with results achieved from other mode-abstract models.

A disturbing aspect of all the runs was the tendency of the predicted values to cluster near the mean of the shares, while the observed values ranged from 0.1 to 0.9. It was felt that this phenomenon arose from the inadequacy of cost, time, and time variance as explanatory variables and from the heterogeneity present within the commodity classifications. To remedy this situation a cumulative normal transformation was performed on the mode splits predicted by the exponential form:

$$f'_{ijmk} = \frac{F^{\mu,\sigma} (f_{ijmk})}{\sum_{l=1}^{n} f^{\mu,\sigma} (f_{ijlk})}$$
(58)

where:

f = original predicted share of mode m, as estimated with exponential
 form

f' = revised predicted share of mode m

 $F = cumulative normal distribution with parameters <math>\mu$ and σ The cyclic coordinate search was again employed to reestimate the constants of the now-embedded exponential form. Values used for the normal function were mean = 0.5 and variance = 0.25. As expected, the predicted splits were more dispersed, although there was no measurable quantitative improvement. Table 18 shows the summary criteria for the seven commodities. While there is no theoretical foundation for using this type of transformation, the results were quantitatively as good as and subjectively more appealing than the original predicted mode splits.

Limiting the Number of Modes

Virtually no model exists that is unaffected by the consideration of additional paths, and it is unlikely that a straightforward model could be so

	Exponent	<u>ial Form</u>	Transferred Exponential Form							
Commodity	SS*	SAD**	<u>SS*</u>	SAD**	<u>a</u> 1	<u>a</u> 2	<u>a</u> 3			
1	2.57	7.40	2.57	7.42	0107	0020	0276			
2	2.64	7.91	2.64	7.92	0010	0000	0281			
3	6.15	18.94	6.26	18.34	0075	0025	0004			
4	3.18	10.20	3.18	10.20	0087	0050	0083			
5	3.77	11.67	3.76	11.63	0045	0058	0000			
6	2.99	11.35	3.02	11.48	0082	0092	0018			
7	8.14	26.15	8.22	26.68	0054	0090	0000			

TABLE 18 COMPARISON OF EXPONENTIAL FORM AND EXPONENTIAL FORM TRANSFORMED BY CUMULATIVE NORMAL DISTRIBUTION

* True sum of squares for highway fraction/sum of highway and rail fractions **True sum of absolute deviations for highway fraction and sum of highway and rail fractions

developed. Consider, for example, a rail path serving a pair of modes, with U(rail) = 8 and U(highway) = 2. The typical modal share function would assign 8/10 of the shipping volume to rail and 2/10 to highway. Suppose another, less desirable rail path existed with U = 5. The act of admitting three paths now results in the first rail path receiving 8/15 of the flow, the second rail path 5/15, and the highway path 2/15. In all likelihood the second rail path would actually carry little or no flow. For single mode flows the question of admissible paths is usually resolved by selecting the best path for each mode. When compound-mode journeys are involved, however, the issue is not so clear.

To overcome these difficulties the number of paths is limited as follows:

- 1. the best all-highway path
- 2. the best all-rail path
- 3. the best all-waterway path
- 4. the predominant waterway path with short highway or rail connecting arcs (used in case no path of type 3 exists, only)
- 5. an efficient compound-mode path
- 6. a new technology mode

The first three provide no difficulty: the best highway path is the least-time path, since time-related costs tend to dominate in the trucking industry. The best rail path is the one with the lowest shipping costs, since those tend to dominate in the selection among rail paths. Last, there is usually no more than one reasonable waterway path, and it is selected on the basis of shipping cost. This designation of a critical attribute for each mode, that is, an attribute used for path selection, simplifies the process of building the shortest path trees for each mode using the multimodal path algorithm. Of course, the other, non-critical attributes are carried along in the tree-building process. Similarly, the fourth category is selected on the basis of shipping costs, since anyone seriously considering a type 4 path is concerned mainly about cost. Paths in category 6 are generally unique, thus posing no problems in identifying them. Paths of type 5 are unlike the others, and the method for their selection is different. Using the exponential form, the trip modal customer service cost is transformed uniquely to a function that is additive linearly in arc characteristics, and the selection of compound-mode journeys is achieved by a shortest path routine.

VI. IMPROVEMENT ANALYSIS*

Up to this point, the work has been concerned with building the analytical method for identifying joint transportation service improvement and economic development programs. Once the method has been completed and tested, there is much significant research yet to be done. This research concerns the postulation, testing and evaluation of programs of new transportation services.

Only preliminary work has been completed on the improvement analysis. The structure has been identified. Sufficient work has been performed to complete the Northern Mississippi test and to establish that the approach is a sound one. The bulk of the development work will be done as part of the second year's research. This chapter presents the problems, summarizes what has been accomplished and points to work yet to be accomplished.

The improvement analysis is divided into four tasks - formulate transportation improvement programs, test development opportunities, update network representation, and evaluate results. Collectively they should lead to the joint identification of the most desirable transportation improvement program and the development opportunities that the program will support. This information constitutes the screening step that is the objective of the research. Subsequent work of a more detailed nature needs to be performed by state transportation offices, state development agencies, local agencies and private interests before the full scope of the opportunities can be known.

Transportation Improvement Programs

A suitable technique for identifying promising transportation improvement programs has not yet been devised. The three improvement programs used in the Northern Mississippi test were selected for their ability to exercise the analytical procedure rather than for their promise of successful implementation. The task of developing a search procedure for transportation improvement programs will be undertaken as part of the second year's research. The discussion presented here is merely intended to illuminate the problem.

The analytical method is responsive in that it identifies the economic opportunities that result from postulated transportation improvement programs,

^{*}The work reported in this chapter was performed by G. P. Sharp, M. A. Mullens, M. E. Lipenski and H. L. Petty.

but it does not have a procedure for identifying the new transportation improvement programs to be tested. There are an infinite number of transportation programs that could be postulated. Clearly some means is needed to guide the search for better programs. To be useful a procedure for identifying new programs must:

- 1. Have a simple measure for comparing successive programs that relates to both transportation cost and development potential,
- 2. Give positive directions for program changes,
- 3. Deal only with technically feasible improvements parametric studies could merely add complexity to an already complex problem and
- 4. Converge in a small number of trials.

To date, two approaches have been derived - a successive search approach and a requirements approach. They differ principally in the starting point. Neither promises to reach a global optimal solution.

Successive Search Approach

The successive search approach begins with a postulated transportation improvement program and seeks modifications to that program that will increase the ratio of the aggregate market for new corridor produced goods to the capital cost of the transportation improvement program. The general approach is as follows:

- Postulate an initial transportation improvement program; estimate the capital cost of the program.
- 2. Test the program with the analytical method for all commodity groups, identifying the Corridor zone with the largest potential market for each group. Sum the markets for all groups. Calculate the ratio of total market tonnage to capital cost.
- 3. Examine the geographical location of each candidate production zone and the location of the markets that it serves.
- 4. Compare Corridor production tonnage to capital cost ratio with the previous trial. If the new ratio is larger, go to step 5; if the new ratio is smaller, go to step 6.
- 5. Check the volume of traffic diversion to each arc of the improvement

program. Postulate one added service improvement: estimate its capital cost, add to program capital cost; go to step 2.

6. Check the volume of traffic diversion to each arc of the improvement program. Postulate the removal of one service improvement; delete its cost from program capital cost, go to step 2.

By successively adding and deleting service improvements while seeking higher ratios of new corridor traffic to capital improvement cost, the procedure will seek the most attractive transportation improvement program that is available from the starting point. A stopping criterion is needed. This may be based on realizing lower traffic/capital ratios in response to both adding and deleting services.

The successive search approach is not exact. Considerable judgment is needed to select the transportation services to be added or deleted. Experience with the process may lead to intuitive changes that are better than the stepwise changes envisioned in this procedure. The analytical process includes many variables that are related in complex ways. For example, traffic diversions to corridor routes from competing production zones may cause a transportation improvement to reduce development potential in the corridor. Thus great care must be taken in selecting modifications for the improvement program.

Requirements Approach

The requirements approach begins with a set of local goals that specify the kind of industrial development sought by different corridor zones. The measure of performance is the ratio of total corridor production tonnage in desired commodity groups to the capital cost of the transportation improvement program. The starting solution for this technique is developed by examining routes to potential markets for the desired developments. Thereafter, improvements are added and deleted pretty much as described for the successive search approach.

Test Development Opportunities

Each transportation improvement program is tested with the combined economic and network models to identify the market opportunities that are created by the transportation program. This test is performed by a set of computer programs that is largely but not entirely complete. Additional work needs to

be done on the computer programs that measure and collect the market and production opportunities for the different corridor zones.

Computer Programs

To date, 19 computer programs have been prepared. Each is written in FORTRAN IV for the Control Data Corporation CYBER 74 computer located at Georgia Tech. The ten most important programs are summarized below. Complete listings are available on request.

ARCDEV

Program ARCDEV reads three sets of undirected arcs, one for each mode, along with the distance and speed associated with each arc. It constructs an ordered set of directed arcs (base arcs) along with the distance, time, and time variability associated with each mode on each base arc.

AINDUTI

Program AINDUTI reads the set of base arcs together with unit transport costs including line haul, loading-unloading, forwarding, and intermodal transfer costs for each commodity, mode, and geographic region. From these, it develops an average cost (over all commodities) for each transport facility. It also develops commodity cost factors which can be used to translate these average costs into commodity specific costs.

MTREES

Program MTREES reads the average costs for all transport facilities and constructs three shortest path trees (one for each mode) for each node. It also stores the cost, time, and time variance associated with the shortest path between each O-D pair.

DETCIJ

Program DETCIJ estimates the cost of producing a commodity in each of its major production zones as well as in the corridor test zones. Cost includes the basic cost of raw materials, raw material transport cost, energy cost, labor cost, and cost of capital. All commodity groups are considered. The program also estimates single mode transport costs between current and potential commodity production zones and their most important markets. These costs are "total" transportation costs in the sense that they include cost, time, and time variance weighted by their respective modal split parameters.
HIJK

Program HIJK estimates the delivered costs of each commodity at its most important markets. Costs from current production zones as well as the corridor zones are computed. No intermodal transport is considered.

MMTREE

Program MMTREE estimates commodity specific "total" transport costs for all transport facilities including line haul arcs, loading-unloading terminals, intermodal transfer terminals, and forwarding terminals. For each of the commodity groups it then constructs shortest "total" cost trees for each major production zone and each of the corridor zones. It also stores the "total" cost associated with the shortest path between each relevant O-D pair.

MMSPLT

Program MMSPLT splits the total flow between each production zone-market zone pair identified by Program SEPFLOW. Flow is split among truck, rail, water, and the best multimodal path (when it is distinct from a single modal path) through the use of a mode-abstract modal-split model.

MMLOAD

Program MMLOAD loads multimodal flows of each of the commodity groups onto the network. Flows in production tons and freight tons are given for each transport facility.

SLOAD

Program SLOAD loads single-mode flows for each of the commodity groups onto the network. Output is in same form as MMLOAD.

MMHIJK

Program MMHIJK estimates a revised delivered cost for commodities produced in each of the corridor zones and delivered to each of the significant commodity markets. The revised cost is computed by allowing a portion of flow along the shortest multimodal path.

Sequence of Computer Programs

To achieve computational efficiency the sequence of program execution is generally as follows:

- 1. Postulate transportation service improvements,
- 2. Update network representation, skip to 4,
- 3. Obtain shortest path trees for each origin,
- 4. Obtain shortest path trees for test zones,
- 5. Determine material costs for selected commodities,
- 6. Determine production costs for selected commodities, and
- 7. Determine market share for selected commodities purchased by potential new facilities.

By skipping the time consuming step 3 for several iterations at a time, a far greater number of alternatives can be examined in the same computer time, since the other six steps are performed rapidly. The second-year effort will focus on this problem as well as identifying those existing commodity flows affected by network changes [39].

Update Network Representation

The computer program sequence described above does not consider changes in traffic flow that would accompany the development of production sources in the Corridor zones. Thus, while market costs for producers in Corridor zones are based on the customer service costs of the improved transportation facilities, the traffic flow on new or improved arcs or through improved nodes merely reflects diversions from the normal routes of other producers. To measure the potential use of improved transportation services, one needs to assign production to the corridor zones and assign markets to be served by them. This updating of the production market relations was not performed as part of the Northern Mississippi test but it is an essential part of the analytical method.

Two problems must be addressed before revised network flows can be calculated:

- 1. Production by commodity must be assigned to specific Corridor zones, and
- 2. Markets must be assigned to new production zones.
- [39] Halder, A. K., "The Method of Competing Links," <u>Transportation Science</u>, Vol. 4, No. 1, Feb. 1970, pp. 36-51.

The analytical method treats each zone independently when exploring economic development opportunities. Thus only one zone can be selected for new production of each commodity group unless successive determinations are made, adding production first to one zone and then to another. The zone with the largest potential production is generally selected; however, other bases for selection are possible. Markets for the selected zone/commodity combinations are determined from the market share function, working one market at a time to adjust the shares, supplied by each producing zone. Market demand is kept constant in each consuming zone. Test market share determinations have been made by hand. During the second year a computer program will be prepared to perform this task.

Updating network flows is a time consuming and expensive task. It will be done only for those transportation improvement programs that show promise.

Evaluation Methods

No single voice can determine whether a transportation improvement program and the associated economic development opportunities serve the best interests of the Multi-State Transportation System. There are a large number of parties that are interested in this process. Some of these parties and their principal interests are listed in Table 19. The principal interests are highly abbreviated and intended only to suggest a viewpoint. However, even this summary suggests that no single development program is likely to satisfy all. Some of the more important relationships among groups are illustrated in Figure 9. The overall evaluation problem is to determine whether a particular input will yield a good output.

A formal evaluation framework is indicated that includes criteria reflecting major interests. These criteria can be weighted by different groups and can be assembled into a set of values or arrays from which meaningful comparisons can be made between transportation improvement programs.

Literature

A great deal of attention has been given to evaluating alternative transportation programs. This work focuses on urban transportation projects and it does not generally include an evaluation of economic development opportunities. A careful review of recent evaluation literature can be summarized as follows:

1. The vast majority of publications dealing with evaluation systems are

MULTI-STATE STAKEHOLDER GROUPS

Stateholder Group

Government U.S. DOT State DOT

> State Economic Development Agency State Legislature

Local Officials

Private Land Developers

Bankers

Chamber of Commerce

Transportation Carriers

Farmers

Existing Industry

Minority Groups

Labor Unions

Environmentalists

Citizen Groups

Principal Interest

Balanced national transportation Balanced state transportation Additional Sources of funding for projects within the State New industry and commerce

Constituent interests New revenue sources Employment Employment Revenue Sources Constituent interest

High intensity land use Expanding economy Expanding economy Industrial diversification Expanding economy Better transportation Better routes More traffic Balanced traffic Low cost land Good transportation to market High crop prices Low costs Plentiful labor Low wages Good transportation Job opportunities Higher pay Jobs Pay Favorable political climate Preserve, air, water, aesthetic quality Limited growth and development A wide variety of interests based on individual and group values

FIGURE 9 EVALUATION RELATIONSHIPS



directed toward the analysis of urban transportation alternatives.

- 2. Non-urban transportation evaluation deals mainly with techniques for rural highway route location.
- 3. A number of techniques for weighting and rating alternatives have been tried or proposed. In all cases they require some subjective decisions concerning the relative importance of certain key factors. Viewpoint is very important.
- 4. Little work has been done to quantify the economic development potential of transportation alternatives.
- 5. Few studies address multimodal alternatives. Exceptions are in urban situations where automobile dominated systems are compared with transit alternatives.
- Attempts have been made to quantify variables such as neighborhood disruption, and to develop scales where quantifiable and nonquantifiable factors can be combined in a rating scheme.
- 7. The problem of freight movements has not been researched to any substantial degree.

Thus the existing literature provides several alternative frameworks for model development, but it does not offer precedents for any particular line of development.

Model Framework

The framework selected for evaluation is a relatively straightforward scoring model. The novelty of the procedure is restricted to the diversity of stakeholders and interests that must be considered. The procedure includes the following six steps:

- 1. Identify principal stakeholders groups and their viewpoints,
- 2. Nominate evaluation criteria,
- 3. Screen evaluation criteria,
- 4. Identify criteria measures,
- 5. Determine criteria weights, and
- 6. Select evaluators.

Each of the steps has been completed for the general problem. Specific execution for Northern Mississippi is discussed in Chapter VII.

Principal Stakeholder Groups

The principal stakeholder groups and their viewpoints are listed in Table 19.

Nominate Evaluation Criteria

Three different classes of evaluation criteria were nominated - transportation system, economic development, and social. These are listed in Table 20. Collectively, these criteria span the interests of all of the stakeholders groups.

The objective of transportation system performance is to provide fast, reliable, economic, and convenient transportation for a wide range of commodity types with a minimum of disruption to the existing environmental and social structure. Two categories of criteria were examined - those with impacts that vary directly with the volume of traffic carried and those with impacts that are independent of the network load.

The objective of economic development is to provide a transportation system that will maximize the opportunities for economic growth and development in the Corridor. Criteria were therefore selected to measure changing opportunities.

Society at large has many objectives. These include such items as minimizing negative effects on community form and development, creating aesthetically and environmentally pleasing living space, maximizing the "quality of life," maximizing the use of scarce resources, development of politically feasible plans, and others.

Screen Evaluation Criteria

Each of the evaluation criteria listed in Table 20 was tested, by asking the following questions:

- Can the variable describe the consequence of the alternative transportation services? Is it possible to determine impacts, either in quantitative terms or through subjective evaluation?
- 2. Can the variable be used to differentiate between alternatives? Is there a way to show that one alternative is better or worse than another?

POTENTIAL EVALUATION CRITERIA

Transportation System Performance

I. Costs

- a. Capital Costs
- b. Operating Costs
 - 1. Line-haul
 - 2. Terminal
 - a. Inter-modal
 - b. Intra-modal
- c. Maintenance and Administration Costs
 - 1. Line-haul
 - 2. Terminal
- II. Capacity
 - a. Line-haul
 - b. Terminal
- III. Connectivity of System, Ease of Transfers
- IV. Mileage
- V. Right-of-Way Needs
- VI. Terminal Requirements

VII. Flexibility

- a) Mode Interchanges
- b) Shipment Size
- c) Commodity Type
- d) Time Scheduling

VIII. Overall Level of Service Provided

IX. Energy Consumption

X. Air and Noise Pollution

- XI. Reliability
 - a) Line-haul
 - b) Terminal
- XII. Shipping Time
 - a) Line-haul
 - b) Terminal
- XIII. Impacts on Urban Development, Natural Resources, and Agricultural Areas

Economic Development

- I. Shipment Costs
- II. Attributes of Potential Locations
- III. Availability of Alternative Mode Transportation
- IV. Effects on Construction Industry
- V. Value of Commodities Flows
- VI. Changing Patterns of Producer Consumer Relationships
- VII. Market Share Changes
- VIII. Tax Base Changes
- IX. Overall Industrial Development
- X. Personal Income Changes

Societal Impacts

- I. Environmental Quality
- II. Land Use Changes
- III. Community forms
- IV. Aesthetics
- V. "Quality of Life"
- VI. Political Feasibility
- VII. Social Changes
- VIII. Resource Use

- 3. Have analytical methods been developed to measure expected changes in the variable that can be associated with alternative designs?
- 4. Are data available to estimate values for the variable? Are the data in a form that can be used in the analysis?
- 5. Is this measure closely related to other measures? Can it serve as a proxy for something else? Does it have advantages or disadvantages over related variables? Can it be combined with other variables to make up one measure?
- 6. Can a feasible range of expected values be determined for each criterion? Can variations in values across this range be represented by some function, either discrete or continuous?

These questions were submitted to a panel of reviewers who were asked to record their answers on the form illustrated in Table 21. The results of these reviews were summarized and are presented in Appendix G. This process produced the final set of evaluation criteria.

Criteria Measures

Units of measure were sought for each surviving criterion. One would prefer to measure all criteria in terms of cost. However, many criteria were not costable and others were not even quantifiable. The result was a mixture of different measures and a wide range of confidence in the different measures. The selected measures are listed in Appendix G.

Criteria Weights

Clearly all of the evaluation criteria are not equally important. Relative importance also varies by stakeholder group. The problem of assigning weights to the different criteria is a formidable one.

Several methods for combining criteria into one or a few values are discussed in the literature. These range from relatively simple ranking schemes to more complex methods such as utility theory, goal achievement matrix, and linear programming. The choice of a specific method depends on the format of variables and on the number and types of groups or individuals that will participate in the evaluation process.

Primary attention was given to the need for use by decision-makers at different levels of government - local, state, and national - and in the private

CRITERION FEASIBILITY CHECKLIST

Description				
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Units Measured				
Quantifi	able	Nor	n-Quantifiable	
Data Base Available.	Yes	• No		
Level of Analysis	National	Corridor	Regional	Local
Forecasting Models /	Available	Yes	No	
6				
Which One Fill in the values for ing the quantities of s	(s)	und three points y	within the range	e represent from a
Which One Fill in the values for ing the quantities of s minimum level of 30 maximum feasible va 100 mph (161 km/hr) 60 mph (96.6 km/hr) 150 mph (241.5 km/hr)	(s) the end points a satisfaction. As mph (43.3 km/f lue) with representing 50) representing 2 r) representing	und three points y s an example, sp nr)(minimum value) % satisfaction of 5% satisfaction of 75% satisfaction	within the range beed may range ue) to 200 mph (f the criteria, of the criteria, of the criteria.	e represent from a 322 km/hr)
Which One Fill in the values for ing the quantities of s minimum level of 30 maximum feasible va 100 mph (161 km/hr) 60 mph (96.6 km/hr) 150 mph (241.5 km/h) Minimum Ac Value	(s) the end points a satisfaction. As mph (43.3 km/r lue) with representing 50) representing 2 r) representing ceeptable e	und three points y s an example, sp nr)(minimum value) % satisfaction of 5% satisfaction of 75% satisfaction M	within the range beed may range uc) to 200 mph (f the criteria, of the criteria, of the criteria. Iaximum Feasil Value	e represent from a 322 km/hr)

sector. The evaluation process was viewed as a tool to aid in choosing between alternatives and not as a method to establish the "best choice." Thus flexibility is needed to accommodate a) different weighting schemes, b) subjective evaluations, and c) different outlooks.

Ultimately, an interactive weighting scheme was selected whereby different stakeholders could suggest weights and receive a ranking of known projects based on those weights. The stakeholder can then revise some or all of his weights to correct them to his perception of the desired outcome for the known projects.

The sequence of this process will resemble the following:

- 1. The stakeholder will be presented with a hierarchy of criteria that has groupings arranged under specific objectives such as minimizing shipping time, maximizing the location of new industries in the Corridor, and increasing personal income. The stakeholder, located at a computer terminal, will be asked to rate the relative importance of these criteria in terms of the overall satisfaction.
- 2. The second step will be to determine the extent to which each criterion is satisfied. Using a variation of the worth concept presented by Pardee [40], the evaluators will be furnished with the end points of a scale ranging from full satisfaction of the criterion to no satisfaction of the criterion. For example, a one week transport time may represent no satisfaction of the shipping time criterion and a one day transport time may represent full satisfaction. The reviewers will fill in perceived quartile values for 25, 50, and 75 percent satisfaction of the criterion. A scale developed by the research team will be used for criteria which these evaluators are not qualified to rate. Thus, if an individual does not feel qualified to determine what dBA level represents a 50 percent satisfaction of noise control, the scale developed by researchers would be used.
- 3. A short description of each alternative transportation system will be presented to each evaluator. A subjective evaluation of any special characteristics of the mode that might encourage use and economic

^[40] Pardee, F. S., <u>Measurement and Evaluation of Alternative Transportation</u> <u>Mixes: Vol. I: Summary; Vol. II: Methodology; Vol. III: Example;</u> <u>RM-6324 - DOT</u>, The Rand Corporation, Santa Monica, Calif., Aug. 1970.

development, can be made and combined in the analysis.

- 4. Each potential alternative transportation system will be assigned a value for each criterion being investigated. These values will be determined by the research team and will be based on its performance characteristics and potential impacts. A score will be prepared for each alternative rated by the stakeholder by multiplying the perceived relative weight and the perceived degree of satisfaction.
- 5. The stakeholder is given the opportunity to change his mind by repeating the process should he be dissatisfied with the outcome.
- 6. When the stakeholder is satisfied, his weights and ratings are recorded.
- When all stakeholders have completed the process, a composite score is calculated for each alternative. This constitutes the final evaluation.

Methods for applying the final evaluation are yet to be devised.

Evaluators

The weights developed for evaluation will depend to a large extent on the viewpoints of the individuals participating in the process. To insure a comprehensive analysis, care must be taken to include individuals representing a wide range of interests.

The following factors are used to identify potential participants in the evaluation:

- Individuals who are actively involved or can influence industrial location desires must include bankers, elected officials, developers, industry officials, and civic associations.
- 2. Existing carriers must be included.
- 3. Representatives of local, state, and federal governments with skills in planning, transportation, industrial development and public finance are needed.
- 4. Representatives of citizens' associations, agricultural organizations, environmental protection groups, and others are needed.
- 5. Input from all regions within the corridor is necessary. Both rural

and urban interests from several segments within the corridor must be represented.

Having stressed the necessary diversity of the evaluation group, one must use caution lest the group become too large. If possible, it should not exceed ten persons. Means for making maximum use of these limited inputs will be explored as part of the second year's work.

VII. THE NORTHERN MISSISSIPPI TEST*

A limited test of the analytical method was conducted for four Multi-State Corridor zones in Northern Mississippi. The test explored economic development opportunities for eight commodity/industry groups using four different transportation improvement programs.

The purpose of the test was to demonstrate the analytical procedure, not to investigate programs of transportation improvement. Therefore, the results of the test should not be interpreted as pointing to any sort of transportation improvement program for the Multi-State Corridor. Nonetheless, the test results are most encouraging and they tend to confirm the basic validity of the analytical procedures.

Zones

Four zones were selected for potential new facility locations:

Zone Number	Centroid <u>Name</u>	Area
20	Corinth	Northeastern Mississippi APDC
21	Tupelo	Three Rivers APDC, Mississippi
22	Columbus	Golden Triangle APDC minus Winston County, Mississippi
23	Clarksdale	North Delta APDC minus Tallahatchie County, Mississippi

Industries

Eight commodity/industry groups were selected for testing:

220 Textile Mill Products

230 Apparel

240 Lumber & Wood

250 Furniture & Fixtures

287 Agricultural Chemicals

*The work reported in this chapter was performed by G. P. Sharp, M. A. Mullens, H. C. D. Yu, M. E. Lipinski, H. L. Petty and P. S. Jones. 302 Rubber & Plastic Products

350 Machinery, Except Electrical

361 Electrical Machinery

The industry data for each of these are included in Appendix D.

Material Sources

The following material inputs for the eight test commodities were associated with national commodity markets and a limited number of sources:

logs

lumber

non-ferrous metals

potash

fiberglass

coal

For each of these the best delivered price to each production zone and to each test zone was determined.

Transportation Alternatives

Four separate transportation programs were explored in the test. The first program consisted of the existing transportation network and served as a base case. It included all of the highway, rail and waterway arcs listed in Appendix C. All terminals were conventional break-bulk types. This alternative was intended to produce traffic flows and economic opportunities that resemble present activities and opportunities in Northern Mississippi.

In addition to the base case, three programs of transportation improvements were tested. Each program was intended to be representative of a particular class of improvements. The first program consists of local highway and rail improvements in the Northern Mississippi test area that were selected to improve the accessibility of the test zones to the national network. The specific improvements included in this program are listed in Table 22. No new arcs were provided, but the quality of existing arcs was improved. There were no modal changes.

The second transportation improvement program consisted of Multi-State

TABLE 22 LOCAL TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS IN NORTHERN MISSISSIPPI

Highway, upgrade	
US 78	Memphis to Birmingham
US 72	Membphis to Decatur, Alabama
US 82	Columbus, Mississippi to Tuscaloosa, Alabama
US 45	Corinth to Tupelo, Mississippi
US 82	Columbus, Mississippi to junction with US 45
US 45	US 82 to Tupelo
US 45	Corinth, Mississippi to Jackson, Tennessee
US 43	Spruce Pine to Hamilton, Alabama

Rail, upgrade

Sou and	ICG	Memphis	to	Corinth	
ICG		Corinth	to	Birmingha	am
ICG		Corinth	to	Tupelo	
Sou		Corinth	to	Decatur	
L&N		Memphis	to	Jackson,	Tennessee

Corridor wide improvements. These included the accessibility improvements of the first program plus a set of highway and rail improvements extending the length of the Corridor. The highway improvements were postulated for arcs extending from Brunswick to Kansas City. By this alternative, existing highways would be straightened and upgraded to support truck speeds of 55 mph. The set of railroad improvements extend from Jacksonville to Kansas City. These rail lines would be upgraded to support average train speeds of 35 mph and also to eliminate the more serious grades and curves. As with the first, this alternative did not include any new arcs. No waterway improvements were explored beyond the completion of the Tennessee-Tombigbee project. There were no modal changes.

The third transportation improvement program focused on terminal activity as a means of testing intermodal transportation opportunities. This program included the accessibility improvements of the first program, the line haul improvements of the second, and, in addition, all major mode transfer activities along the Corridor exhibited the characteristics of container terminals. Thus, transfer costs would be greatly reduced from break-bulk costs to encourage modal interchange. These improvements applied to highway-rail, highwaywater, and rail-water transfers.

Cost Modeling and Assignment of Existing Flows

The procedures described in Chapter V were followed to develop costs, times, and time variances for line haul arcs and transfers at nodes. Subsequently, shortest path trees were constructed for each origin, for each mode. The existing commodity O-D movement data were then used to assign freight flows to the network, thus establishing a base load on arcs and nodes. This assignment was performed according to the mode designated for each data point.

Commodity Production Costs by Zone

The procedures described in Chapter IV were used to generate commodity production costs for 14 to 27 existing zones that constitute major suppliers of each test commodity. Production costs were also determined for each of the four test zones for each test commodity/industry group.

Delivered Cost Computation

The sample production data were reordered for each commodity by destination zone. After determining the customer service parameters, the market cost

was computed for each data point:

$$d_{ijl} = e_{ij} + C + a_2 T/a_1 + a_3 V/a_1$$
 (59)

where:

d ijl	= the delivered cost in zone & of commodity i produced in zone j,
c _{ij}	= production cost for commodity i in zone j,
С	= transportation cost from j to l,
Τ	= transportation time from j to l,
V	= transportation time variance from j to ℓ , and

 $a_1, a_2, a_3 = mode split parameters.$

Here the transportation cost, time, and time variance attributes refer to the particular mode associated with each data point.

Analytical Results

The results of the Northern Mississippi test were most encouraging. The models appear to have performed as it was intended that they should. The results are consistent with logical expectations despite known data problems.

<u>Market Data</u>

Market costs were calculated for each major market of each commodity group for major producers plus the four test zones. Table 23 lists sample data for Commodity 5 (Agricultural Chemicals) in Market 85 (Cincinnati) and for Commodity 6 (Rubber and Plastic Products) in Market 90 (Chicago). Note that in both instances major tonnages are supplied by the producing zones with low market costs. There is not a uniform decrease in market share with increasing market cost, suggesting both data errors and the influence of non-costable marketing criteria. However the results are not bad. Houston, the nation's major petrochemical producer, has the lowest production cost for agricultural chemicals, followed by New Orleans. New Orleans can supply Cincinnati at the lowest cost because of favorable railroad costs. Water costs are higher from New Orleans than rail because of the circuity of the route.

Production costs in Northern Mississippi are higher than Houston, and about the same as New Orleans. As compared with New Orleans, labor costs are lower in Northern Mississippi and raw material costs are higher. Among the

TABLE 23					
MARKET	DATA	FOR	EXISTING	TRANSPORTATION	

1EXISTI	NG FL	.ows	COM≔	5 D	EST=	85		
O ORIG	MODE	אסד ב	S	CIJ	EXP	ARG	HIJK	CUM. TONS
98	2	8411	•00	281.7	5	21	311.32	•04
105	3	61842	•00	250.3	7		341,79	.34
84	2	4794	.00	327.6	0	12	344.73	• 36
99	2	49401	•00	322+3	2	-,22	353.30	• 60
84	3	39050	.00	327+6	0	22	358.41	•79
98	3	43535	+ 0'0	281,7	5	-,59	363.77	1.00
OCOMPET	ING N	VEW FLO	WS					
1			282+4	40	39.52	321	+92	
2			276.1	77	41.49	318	+26	
3			280.	10	42+65	322	. 75	
4			279.	58	48.01	327	.59	
4. TV 7 C 7 T	X1/25 (***)	0110	<u>ሮ በአረ</u> መ	7 TH	с. с. с. т	øл		
	NU 11. MOTO	.005	6011** 0	0 U	CO! EVD	70	LIT IN	CHM. TONG
U URIG	MUUE	s ron	3	الديارية	E. A I''	1917 CD	PLE SUN	CORF LORO
00	·i	102741	. 00	1104.7	٥	0.00	1104.70	.18
67			.00	1104.7	ŏ	0.00	1104.70	.28
60	× • 7	10	.00	1104.7	Ň	0.00	1104.70	.28
0.1		1 4004		4444 ()	Ö		1170.05	
7.L 77.B	.l. 1	2024	+00 -	1074.0	0 6	······································	1145.4%	
207	.l. 1		+ 00	1023+V 1005.0	ር ሰ		1152.42	.50
0 Z	1. 	20021	+ V V	107J+0 1077 A - A	V /	A 77	1120 224	400
20		1022	+00 .	1005 0	0 ^	···· + ^•··>	1100+71	* U L (27)
87		ፈንን ሳ መንስጣጠ	+ 0 0 .	1.070+0 4 4 4 4 4	v o		1102+07	• J 2. . A Q
Y 1	<u>مَ</u> تْه		+00	તે તે પ્રસ્તા તે કે જે. તે તે પ્રસ્તા તે કે જે	0		1100+04	+ U U 17 A
116	1.	31141	+00	1131+8	8 0		1170+08	* / *†
116		/4	+00	1131+0	8	‴+3¥ 40	1210+00	+ 7 **
89	1	35264	• 0 0.	1180+8	8	···· + 1.8	lla≦a(V+lla≦ Alanana ann	*00
72	1	33256	• 00	1114+2	8	····• 48	1220+92	• 80
72	2	16444	•00	1114+2	8	···•• 53	1231.94	•89
69	2	8417	•00	1132.7	7		1255+54	+90
89	2	9898	•00	1180.8	8	•35	1259.72	+ 92
69	1.	44693	•00	1132+7	7	-•59	1264.98	1.+00
OCOMPET	ING N	YEW FLO	WS					
					all pint and		λ, μι , τι , φ	
:L			1063.	51	95.92	1159	(+ 2.5	
2			1063+:	29	99+29	1162	:+58	
3			1063.	30	105+49	1168	3 • 79	
4			1063.	31	101 + 32	1164	1.63	

four Northern Mississippi zones, Zone 2 (Tupelo) has the lowest production cost and the lowest market cost to Cincinnati. Zone 4 (Clarksdale) has the highest market cost despite a favorable production cost.

Considering market position, Zone 2 would rank right after New Orleans (rail). Using the market share equation:

$$MS_{2,85}^{5} = a_{5} \alpha^{-\alpha} 5^{\Delta H_{2,85}^{5}}$$

$$= 0.0770 \alpha^{-0.0035(318.26 - 311.32)}$$

$$MS_{2,85}^{5} = 0.075 \quad \text{Potential Market share for Zone 2}$$
(60)

Adjusting for the market shares of the other producers, Zone 2 has a potential market share in Cincinnati of 0.064 which is equivalent to 13,100 annual tons.

The market in Chicago for Rubber and Plastic products can be subjected to similar analysis. In this case, Northern Mississippi Zone 1 (Corinth) has the lowest market cost of the test zones and it ranks after Cleveland (87) in the Chicago market. Zone 1 could expect to market 45,000 tons of plastic products per year in Chicago. Though the tonnage is higher than that estimated for Cincinnati, above Zone 1 would have a more precarious position in the Chicago market for plastic products than Zone 2 would have in the Cincinnati market for agricultural chemicals. The Chicago market is dominated by local manufacturers who pay no transportation cost and by nearby sources, Milwaukee (91) and Cleveland (87) which have much lower transportation costs.

The introduction of transportation improvement programs changes the alignment of producers in both markets, see Table 24. Under alternative 3, Houston is able to take advantage of an intermodal movement from water to rail in the Corridor and greatly improve its delivered cost to Cincinnati. New producers in Corridor Zone 2 could reduce their production costs by taking advantages of reduced costs for raw material transportation. They would also realize reduced transportation costs, but they would rank second to Houston rather than second to New Orleans. Their market share would not appreciably change.

Corridor improvement programs would have a different impact on the plastic product market in Chicago. Existing producers' costs would not be affected by transportation developments in the Multi-State Corridor. However, producers in Corridor Zone 1 would benefit and they could improve their market position.

IMPACT OF TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMS ON MARKET COST

Commodtly 5 in Market 85								
Source		Base	Case	Alt	. 3			
Zone	Mode	CIJ	HIJK	CIJ	HIJK			
98	2	282	311	282	311			
105	3	250	342	250	289			
84	2	328	345	328	345			
C 2		277	318	270	294			

Commodity	6 in Mar	ket 90					
Source		Base	Case	Alt.	Alt. 3		
Zone	Mode	CIJ	HIJK	CIJ	HIJK		
90	-	1105.	1105.	1105	1105		
91	. 1	1111.	1139.	1111	1139		
87	1	1095.	1152.	1095	1152		
75	1	1074.	1145.	1074	1145		
C 1		1063	1159	1063	1144		

Development Opportunities

There are at least two ways to examine development opportunities in the Multi-State Corridor. The first method involves direct use of the market share equations. This method compares each test zone with the zone that has the lowest market price and thereafter applies the market function that was developed from a multiple regression analysis of all of the market data for that commodity. The second approach is more pragmatic. The market position of each candidate zone is compared with the major suppliers to the market and conclusions are drawn from a zone's relative market position. Both approaches are presented below.

The <u>Market Share</u> approach produces interesting and encouraging results. Table 25 lists the aggregate market potential for test Zone 1 for each of the eight test commodities. This listing indicates a maximum potential market share for apparel and little or no potential market share for lumber and machinery. It was most gratifying to learn that at present, the most attractive opportunities in Northern Mississippi as expressed in terms of recently developed industry, occur in apparel, furniture and electrical equipment. This corresponds exactly with the results of the analysis.

Repeating the analysis for each of the three transportation improvement programs produces the results listed in Table 26. It is interesting to note that Improvement Program 1 produces no change in the potential market in any commodity group. This suggests that access to the national transportation network is adequate in Northern Mississippi. However, improvement Program 2 produces dramatic changes in plastic products and lumber and substantial changes in agricultural chemicals and electrical equipment. This change projects plastic products into a potential contender with the expectation of reaching seven percent of the national market. Despite its strong improvement, lumber is not yet a contender; while electrical equipment and agricultural chemicals would improve their positions.

Improvement Program 3 produces more interesting results. Lumber potential continues to grow impressively, clearly demonstrating that this commodity is highly sensitive to transportation costs. Nonetheless, the potential for lumber production is only one percent of the national market. The intermodal improvements add only modestly to the plastic product potential. However, that potential would exceed eight percent of the national market - approaching the maximum share allowed a single production zone. Opportunities for apparel

AGGREGATE MARKETS FOR TEST ZONE 1---PRESENT TRANSPORTATION

Commodity		Estimated Annual Tonnage	Market Shares
1	Textile	230,691	6.2%
2	Apparel	105,640	11.2
3	Lumber	107,340	0.3
4	Furniture	118,719	7.7
5	Agricultural Chemicals	103,189	5.3
6	Plastic Products	83,558	2.6
7	Machinery		0
8	Electrical Equipment	210,948	7.1

AGGREGATE MARKETS FOR TEST ZONE 1-TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMS

Estimated Annual Tonnage

Industry Base		Alternative 1		Alterna	Alternative 2		tive 3	
		Base	Tonnage	% Inc.	Tonnage	% Inc.	Tonnage	% Inc.
1.	Textile	230,691	230,691	0	246,233	+7%	2 46,233	0
2.	Appare1	105,640	105,640	0	119,770	+13%	132,870	+11%
3.	Lumber	107,340	107,340	0	185,316	+73%	383,200	+107%
4.	Furniture	118,719	118,719	0	119,471	+1%	124,550	+4%
5.	Ag. Chemicals	103,189	103,189	0	128,842	+25%	132,038	+2%
6.	Plastic Prod.	83,558	83,558	0	233,063	+179%	262,485	+13%
7.	Machinery			-				
8.	Electrical Equip.	210,948	210,948	0	268,498	+27%	268,498	0

would continue to grow. However, electrical equipment would not benefit from more efficient transfer terminals, nor would textiles, furniture nor agricultural chemicals.

This analysis suggests that the greatest development opportunities generated by the two transportation improvement programs are for rubber and plastic products and lumber, though lumber could not be significant on the national market. Apparel, agricultural chemicals and electrical equipment would benefit to a lesser extent. Transportation alone is not likely to stimulate development of a machinery industry.

The <u>Market Position</u> approach provides a little less encouragement than the market share approach. In this approach, a market profile is plotted for the composite market for each commodity group under test. Figure 10 illustrates market profiles for lumber and agricultural chemicals. In each market, a test zone under study has a market cost that holds a particular ranking when compared with other zones supplying the same market. This position can be described in terms of a percentile - that is, the fraction of the total tons that can be delivered to that market at a cost below that of the test zone. By analyzing and collecting the percentile data for all of the markets, it is possible to plot percentile against fraction of the national market as is done in Figure 10. The solid line is the market profile for the base case and the dotted and dashed lines are the market profiles for the second and third improvement programs respectively.

Thus, in the base case for lumber produced in Zone 1, the new production would enjoy the lowest cost for one small market. It would be below 24 percentile for seven percent of the national market and below 53 percentile for only eleven percent of the market. This does not suggest a very strong development potential. Transportation Improvement Program 2 would improve Zone 1's expected performance slightly near the high end of the scale. However, the introduction of efficient intermodal terminals (Improvement Program 3) gives Zone 1 access to low cost water transport and greatly improves its market position. It would now have the lowest market cost for nine percent of the national market and it would be below the 40th percentile for over 20 percent of the national market. The large western markets would still be beyond the grasp of Northern Mississippi mills. However, Zone 1 mills could have strong enough positions in enough eastern markets to provide an attractive development opportunity.

COMMODITY 3: LUMBER 0.8 PERCENT OF TONS 0.6 ALT. 3 0.4 ALT. BASE 0.2 n 1 0 0.0 0 9 0 0.2 MARKET PERCENTILE Ü. 4 BASE ALT 0.8 PERCENT OF TONS 0.6 AGRICULTURAL CHEMICALS COMMODITY 5: 0.4 0.2 0 0 0.2 MARKET PERCENTILE 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.0

FIGURE 10 MARKET CHARACTERISTICS

The situation is quite different for agricultural chemicals. With base case transportation, Zone 1 would not have the lowest market cost in any market. However it would be at or below the 26th percentile for 61 percent of the national market - an attractive position. Implementing Transportation Improvement Program 2 would give Zone 1 the lowest market cost in eleven percent of the national market and it would be below the 30th percentile in 80 percent of the market - a very strong position. This position would be strengthened by Improvement Program 3. Zone 1 would then have the lowest market cost for 18 percent of the national market and it would be below the 25th percentile for 80 percent of the market.

Combining the two approaches yields a quantitative method for quickly examining new market potential plus a diagnostic tool for providing sound interpretations. This combination suggests that the second Transportation Improvement Program would trigger the development of rubber and plastic product manufacturing in Northern Mississippi. The third Transportation Improvement Program would provide the additional thrust needed to establish a lumber industry in Northern Mississippi. Both programs would provide additional advantage to apparel, furniture, agricultural chemical and electrical equipment industries. Substantial growth in textiles and machinery appear to be beyond the reach of the types of transportation improvements that were investigated.

Network Traffic

The transportation improvement programs produce rather interesting changes in the amount and nature of the traffic that moves through the Multi-State Corridor. Table 27 illustrates that most corridor arcs carry little or no traffic in the base case. This is not to suggest that the facilities are unused for such local traffic as exists does use them. But clearly, the present need for improved facilities would be difficult to justify. Improvement Program 2 changes the situation drastically. The construction of high quality highway and rail routes will divert a substantial amount of through traffic over these routes. These figures are made up entirely of diversions, for no new traffic diversions, while impressive, are not large enough to underwrite large-scale construction of new or improved transportation facilities. However, if new industry needs were added to the diverted traffic an improvement program

TRAFFIC RESPONSE TO IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMS

ANNUAL TONNAGE - ALL COMMODITIES

	Base	Base Case		am 2	Program 3	
Corridor Arc	Hwy.	Rail	Hwy.	Rail	Hwy.	Rail
2-4 Jacksonville - Waycross	0	0	135,000	130,000	0	507,000
8-11 Cordele - Columbus	0	0	109,000	355,000	0	412,000
11-17 Columbus - Birmingham	0	400	112,000	379,000	59,000	457,000
26-27 Memphis - Jonesboro	0	310,000	114,000	453,000	0	589,000
39-38 Nevada - Kansas City	15,812	0	91,000	253,000	8,000	471,000

HIGHWAY - RAIL TRANSFERS

<u>Node</u> 4 Waycross 8 Cordele 17 Birmingham	Program 2	Program 3			
4 Waycross	0	55,000			
8 Cordele	0	84,000			
17 Birmingham	0	272,000			
26 Memphis	0	17,000			
38 Kansas City	0	22,000			

may be justified.

By introducing efficient transfer terminals, Improvement Program 3 would shift almost all of the diverted through truck traffic to rail. Major transfer activities would occur all along the corridor.

Evaluation

A preliminary test was made of the evaluation method using Transportation Improvement Programs one and two for the four Northern Mississippi test zones. The criteria developed and listed in Appendix G were used as a starting point without further screening. The research team planned initially to use a test panel to prepare criteria weights. However, the procedure proved too cumbersome in the absence of the interactive computer program and had to be abandoned. In its place, the responses of the test panel were simulated by the research team. Table 28 lists the results of this process. An average was computed for the weights assigned by each national evaluator. This average was used in subsequent work. In the application of the full system a convergence technique will be used to improve weightings.

A measure was needed of the degree to which each criterion was satisfied by each of the alternatives. Because detailed descriptions of the alternatives and their system characteristics and impacts were not available, the measures of system performance were subjectively determined. For example, the system travel times across Northern Mississippi for the base case and the two improvement programs were assumed to be 2.75 hours, 2 hours, and 1.30 hours, respectively. The quality of life values - which are purely speculative at this state of the analysis - were also assumed to be 21, 24, and 28 for the three programs. This procedure was used to assign values to each of the criteria for each alternative.

A necessary characteristic of the evaluation system is that it possess the capability to combine many individual criteria that are measured on different scales into an overall rating. The concept of the degree of satisfaction is used to accomplish this. The degree of satisfaction provided by each alternative for each criterion is determined by developing a function relating the potential values of each criterion to the perceived degree of satisfaction. Figure 11 illustrates four possible forms for these functions. These curves show the perceived relations between satisfaction and four variables - travel time, predicted rise in industrial property values, cost/effectiveness ratios,

CRITERIA GROUP WEIGHTS

	Weights (within group)	Weights (for each group)
SOCIAL		
Quality of Life	.7	.1
Political Feasibility	.3	
POPULACE		.08
Redistribution	.4	
In-Migration	.6	
EMPLOYMENT		.13
Unemployment	.8	
Effects on Construction	.2	
Industry		
DEVELOPMENT	2	14
Market Share	•2	• 1 4
Uverall Ind. Development	.0	
Influence on Kes. Flop. Value	15	
infidence on ind. flop. value	.19	
LEVEL OF SCIENCE		.13
Peak Hour Capacity	.20	
Travel Time	.30	
Shipped Time	.50	
PHYSICAL PROVISIONING		.06
R-O-W width	.40	
Mileage	.40	
Modal Interchange	. 20	
		00
PHYSICAL PLANNING	70	.08
Energy	.70	
Flexibility	.15	
Adaptibility	.15	
FISCAL		.13
Cost/Effectiveness Ratio	.50	
Operating costs	.10	
Users' Costs	. 40	
AFSTHETIC		.15
Noise	.40	
Air	.40	
Water	.20	

.



and ease of mode interchange. The satisfaction is determined by finding the satisfaction level associated with a value on the criterion scale. For example, if the transportation improvement resulted in a 20 percent increase in industrial property values, this would represent no satisfaction to the evaluator. However, a 50 percent rise in these property values would represent 100 percent satisfaction. Similarly the travel time assumed for the base case (2.75 hours) would represent a 10% degree of satisfaction. Program 1 with a 2 hour travel time would have a 57% degree of satisfaction and Program 2 with a travel time of 1.40 hours would have 75% degree of satisfaction.

Once the satisfaction curve for each criterion has been determined, the satisfaction value for each alternative can be measured by combining the set of satisfaction values associated with the set of criterion values.

In this example, we assumed that the satisfaction curves are representative of all evaluators. In fact, each evaluator will have established his or her own set of curves. Therefore, in the full scale implementation of the system, the satisfaction values for each criterion will need to be combined into a single measure of worth. Table 29 illustrates the rating system as it is applied to each of the three alternatives. For each alternative, the worth (degree of satisfaction) is multiplied by the weight established for that particular criterion within each group. These weighted values of worth are then added and multiplied by the weight established for each group to yield a group weighted value. Adding the group weighted values gives a total rating value for each alternative. The total values for each alternative are compared and the alternative having the highest total value is the alternative judged best overall - in this case, Transportation Improvement Program Two.

ТΑ	BL	ζ.	29	

WEIGHTED VAL ES OF WORTH

-			•	Base Case Program One						Program Two		
Group Name Weic	Weight	Criteria Name	Weight	Worth	Weighted Worth	Group Weighted Value	Worth	Weighted Worth	Group Weighted Value	Worth	Weighted Worth	Group Weighted Value
		Quality of Life	.7	.2	.14 -		.78	.55		.95	.67	
		Political Feas.	.3	. 58	.17		.37	<u>.11</u>		.77	.23	
Social	.1				.31	.03		.66	.07		.90	.09
		Redistribution	.4	.80	.32		.60	.24		.35	.14	
		In Migration	.6	. 35	.21		.84	.50		.90	.54	
Populace	.08				.53	.04		•74	•06		.68	.05
-		Unemployment	•8	.18	.14		.26	.21		.70	. 56	
		Const. Emplymt.	.2	.05	.0.1		.40	.08		.95	.19	
Employment	.13				.15	.02		. 29	.04		.75	.10
		Market Share	.2	.40	.08		•23 [.]	.11	•	97	.19	
		Overall Ind. Dev.	.6	.10	.06		• . 55 '	.33		.87	.52	
		Res. Prop. Val.	.05	.20	.01		.47	.02		.83	.04	
		Ind. Prop. Val.	.15	.04	.01		.57	.09		.88	.13	
Development	.14	-			.16	.02		.55	.08		.68	.12
· · ·		Pk. Hr. Cap.	.2	.15	.03		.75	.15		.97	.19	
		Travel Time	.3	.10	.03		.57	.17		.75	.23	
		Shipped Time	.5	.12	.06		.51	.26		.77	. 38	
Level of Ser.	.13			•	.12	.02		.58	 •07		.80	.10
		ROW Width	.4	.83	.33		.45	.18		.13	.05	
		Mileage	.4	.37	.15		.40	.16		.68	.27	
		Modal Int.	.2	.12	.02		.22	.04		. 37	.07	
Phy. Provision-	.06				.50	.03		.38	.02		. 39	.02
B		Energy	.7	.37	.26		.43	.30		.73	.51	
		Flexibility	.13	.54	.08		`. 79	.12		.96	.14	
	Adaptability	.15	.47	.07		.65	.10		.88	.13	·	
Phy. Planning	.08	I d			.4_	.03		.52	.01		.78	•0 6
	-	Cost/Eff Ratio	.5	.23	.12		.77	. 39		.5	.25	
		Op. Cost	.1	.17	.02		.37	.04		.73	.07	
		Users Cost	.4	.20	.08		.37	.15		.68	.27	
Fiscal	.13				.22	.01		•28	.08		. 59	.08
	• = -	Noise	.4	.35	.14		.30	.12		.25	.1	
		Air	.4	.12	• 05		.17	.07		.25	.1	
		Water	.2	.99	.20		.35	. <u>0</u> 7		. 35	.0	
Aesthetic	.15				.39	.08		.26	.04		.2	.04

156

.26

.47

.66

VIII. FUTURE RESEARCH

Much has been accomplished during the first year's research. The structure of the analytical method has been formulated and assembled. The data problem has been addressed. Serious technical challenges have been faced in many quarters. The entire structure has been tested and found to give logical, explainable results. However, along the way, it has been necessary to side step some issues and provide only temporary or cursory treatment of others in order to complete the analytical structure. It is now appropriate to go back and strengthen each of the weak points to give a sounder structure that can yield more useful results.

The second year's research is directed toward solving the most serious problems that have been identified and toward continuing work in those areas that had to be cut short. This work is grouped into eight research areas: transportation modeling, economic analysis, industry structure analysis, transportation facility analysis, evaluation, transportation costing, policy issues, and implementation planning. The eight research areas intersect in the common analytical structure that has been prepared. However, the bounds of each area are sufficiently sharp to allow more independent action than has been possible to date. Thus the work can be fractionated to make good use of the dispersed faculty and facilities available in the multi-university research team. The general nature of the problem to be undertaken in each area is described below.

Transportation Modeling

The transportation model structure was completed as part of the first year's work. However, in pressing toward completion, it was necessary to use expedient fixes for several problems that are worthy of more careful investigation. Three key problems that will be undertaken during the second year are: (1) modal split analysis, (2) intermodal route determination, and (3) network improvements. In addition, the network structure will be examined in greater depth and tightened up for better execution efficiency.

Modal Split

A set of commodity specific, mode abstract modal split equations has been developed from a combination of NTP Commodity Flow Projections [7] and Whitten Cost equations [8] using multiple linear regression techniques. The unique

feature of this work is the mode abstract formulation which was necessary in order to consider new transportation modes and services and combinations of new and existing modes. The data sources were picked for completeness and consistency. Cost information was used in lieu of rates because an adequate set of rates was not available. Transport times and time variabilities were estimated from the best sources that were readily available. The data fit achieved in this work compares favorably with other efforts that focus on mode specific equations. However, the data fit is not good. Moreover, the modal choices expressed in the NTP data reflect decisions made on the basis of actual rates charged rather than carrier costs incurred.

Because of the importance of modal split decisions to the success of the transportation planning effort, it is appropriate to re-examine and improve the modal split equations. Two approaches will be followed. In the first, we will replace cost data with 1975 transportation rate data for a select number of origins and destinations and for three of the more homogeneous commodity/ industry groups - e.g., furniture and fixtures, paint, and tires and tubes. We will restrict this work to shipments for which better transportation time and time variability data are available. In the second approach, two or more completely new data sources will be tested. One will be taken from the Census of Transportation using sub-state data, and the other is yet to be determined.

Inter-Modal Route Determination

A simple heuristic procedure has been developed for identifying attractive inter-modal transportation routes. This procedure identifies compound mode routes that are potentially attractive and can be compared with existing or proposed single mode routes. The compound mode routes are particularly important for commodity movements that cross or parallel a portion of the Multi-State Corridor.

The heuristic procedure has been adequate for identifying compound mode routes for very different programs of transportation improvements such as those used in the Northern Mississippi test. However, a more elaborate procedure is needed to identify the complex compound mode routes expected in full Multi-State Corridor analysis. Two problems need to be explored: (1) identification of mode interchange opportunities and (2) means for generating and handling intermediate destinations in the shortest path determination.

This problem will be attacked by developing a new heuristic procedure aimed at achieving a path solution that minimizes the weighted sum of path utilities.
Path utility is in turn a commodity specific combination of transport cost, transport time, and time variability. The approach will seek to exploit the linear indifference surface of the shipper utility function to develop optimal relationships for individual arcs.

Network Improvements

For the initial tests, network improvements in the form of new arcs and transfer terminals were postualted on the basis of experience and judgment. This approach was satisfactory for purposes of testing the model. New starting solutions are needed, such as the successive search and requirements approaches presented in Chapter VI, and a more rigorous procedure is needed to deal with complex improvement sets.

One potentially attractive approach is to evaluate the cumulative sum of market share improvements per dollar of investment on each network arc. This approach requires extensive knowledge of the relationships between arc shipping characteristics and improvement expenditures. The data collection and modeling would be lengthy.

An alternate approach is to compute the change in market share as a function of changes in path utility. These derivatives can be included as network parameters and used to identify where network improvements can generate potential market penetrations for new Corridor located industry.

These two and other approaches will be investigated and a new network improvement procedure will be developed.

Problem Structure

The structure adopted for the first year's work is based on a variable zone structure that focuses on the Multi-State Corridor. Although there are ample precedents for this approach, a sounder theoretical base is highly desirable.

The analysis has adopted variable zone sizes to reduce data requirements and to keep the network within a manageable size. The network structure has several important assumptions imbedded in it. The most important of these are:

- a. Long distance traffic will always move over the highest quality routes available,
- b. Local traffic and the origin and destination local movements will use routes necessary for access.

- c. By eliminating local traffic (intrazone) and lower quality routes, a reasonable representation of long distance traffic is achieved, and
- d. Long distance traffic can be modeled as though it originates and terminates at zone centroids.

It is known that the above assumptions are qualitatively correct. However, they need to be tested quantitatively. Such a test will be undertaken on both theoretical and empirical bases.

Economic Analysis

The initial work on multi-mode analysis was based on a restricted view of key economic relationships. This work dealt only with basic industries that enjoy national markets. It dealt with stable markets and did not consider the influence of new facilities. The work also focused on a single time frame. New facilities established in the Multi-State Corridor are expected to wrest some market share from existing facilities. It is only this share that was measured. Although the approach followed is adequate to identify opportunities for establishing new facilities in the Multi-State Corridor, it did not include the impacts of economic development. To improve the economic interpretation of new Corridor opportunities, it is necessary to delve deeper into the problem. Several market share models will be formulated and evaluated. Three investigations will be undertaken as part of the second year's work: (1) an economic base study, (2) a market share analysis, and (3) the development of a forecasting technique that can estimate economic activity in a future design year.

Economic Base Study

The economic base study will explore the economy of the Multi-State Corridor in greater detail than has been undertaken heretofore. It will add nonbasic (local, service, and derivative) activities to the basic activities already explored. It will examine income and employment in both industry sectors, and establish the principal impacts of changes in basic industries on the size, growth, and stability of nonbasic activities. Initially, the work will focus on the Northern Mississippi test area. A procedure will be designed and tested for assessing the economic development opportunities that were identified in the Northern Mississippi test area. If possible, these results will be extended throughout the Corridor. A goal of this work will be to place the Multi-State Corridor into an economic perspective of the nation as a whole.

Market Share Analysis

A preliminary market share analysis was conducted for the eight test commodity/industry groups as part of the first year's work. This analysis assumed stable markets in which market share is a function only of delivered cost. Market share models were developed from commodity flow data and estimated delivered cost data by means of regression analysis. Greater sophistication is needed. Among the issues that need more careful treatment are cross elasticity, market shifts over time, raw material costs, substitutions, ownership, and integration. A market share framework will be constructed for each of the commodity/industry groups. The framework will reflect the exigencies of available data as well as the need for reliable estimates of market penetration. The approach will be on an industry by industry basis. Relevant economic data will be collected from public sources. Several market share models will be formulated and evaluated for each industry group. The sensitivity of the market share models to each issue will be tested and an improved framework will be developed that includes the critical issues. If possible, market share models will be prepared for all industry groups.

Forecasting Methods

The first year's work was based on 1975 data. It seemed appropriate to use the most recent reliable data for analytical development in order to minimize errors. However, the eventual application of the planning methods must be in terms of a future time. Indeed, the test of economic feasibility for new transportation facilities and services must be based on a future design year when the facilities and services can have been established. Conventional projection techniques are probably inaccurate. Input-output analyses [10, 11] are highly complex and require extensive data that often are not available. What is needed is a reasonably simple feedback model that can be applied without excessive data. Feedback dynamics may offer such a model.

Several different forecasting methods will be tested. Attempts will be made to balance industry changes on the basis of material flow rather than money flow (input-output). If possible, the method adopted will be compatible with OBERS methodology [20].

Industry Structure Analysis

The first year's analysis has dealt with 53 different commodity/industry groups. Each group has been treated as a homogeneous economic activity with

common raw material needs, common labor, and common capital requirements. Product costs were developed for each industry group as a sum of material, labor, capital, tax, energy, and transportation costs. Two issues have been particularly nagging in this work: (1) the homogeneity assumption, and (2) material costs.

Industry Homogeneity

The selection of 53 commodity/industry groups was a compromise. On the one hand, NTP commodity flow data were available for only a 20 commodity breakdown. Manipulations with those data to a very large number of commodities would introduce unacceptable errors. On the other hand, the homogeneity problem was recognized. Several groups - e.g., rubber and plastic products, iron and steel, and non-ferrous metals - are far from homogeneous. During the second year, we will explore the implications of the commodity groupings in greater detail and also examine a series of groupings that might yield better results.

The investigation will begin with the selection of not more than ten commodity/industry groups for further study. Each of these will be broken down into not more than 10 subgroups. Industry data will be prepared for each subgroup. An assessment will be made of the errors of amalgamation and finally new classifications will be proposed for each commodity/industry group under study.

Material Costs

Raw materials can be divided into two catagories whose costs behave quite differently. In the first category, basic raw materials - products of mines and agriculture - have a price structure that works backward from relatively fixed completely elastic market prices to prices paid to the producer. Thus the producer typically receives the market price less transportation costs. When new facilities are proposed for locations that do not have established markets, cost determination is both difficult and imprecise. The second category of raw materials comprises the products of other industries. These commodities are typically priced from manufacturing or production costs plus transportation costs. These raw material prices can be readily estimated from knowledge of the producing industry.

This task will concentrate on estimating basic raw material costs. Means will be devised for collecting site specific cost data by subtracting transpor-

tation costs from costs in established markets. Thereafter, the question of amalgamation will be addressed so that raw materials can be treated in the same commodity/industry classes used for production.

Transportation Facility Analyses

Initial work has been performed to identify a small set of potential line haul and terminal facility improvements for the Multi-State Corridor. The initial set of improvements was limited to rather conventional facilities those for which reliable performance and cost data are available. Not surprisingly, these conventional facilities would trigger only modest economic development in Northern Mississippi. The bold Multi-State plan needs and deserves more imaginative transportation facilities.

Faculty at participating universities have done preliminary work on several advanced transportation concepts, including (1) capsule pipelines using both air and liquid as operating media, (2) automatic highway type guideway for towing highway trailers with special driverless tractors, (3) broad gauge rail for overland transport of small barges, (4) point-to-point operation of short trains without intermediate switching, (5) mechanized container terminals, and (6) mechanized bulk terminals. Four of these will be investigated as part of the second year's work.

Terminal Facilities

Perhaps the greatest challenge to future intermodal transportation is the development of efficient, economical intermodal transfer terminals. Some of the experience with trailer-on-flat-car (TOFC), container-on-flat-car (COFC), and marine container terminals will provide useful data on performance, handling costs, equipment costs, and other features. However, to be sufficiently attractive, new intermodal facilities will need to achieve economies that have not yet been realized. These economies may be attained through higher volume, better scheduling and coordination, or new and unique methods of material flow, or material handling.

The approach taken will be to identify terminal parameters: physical state, package/container size, weight and dimensions, fragility, perishability (protective service needs), seasonality, shipment size, and shipment volume. A cost base will be developed from existing terminal data. Cost goals will be formulated from an investigation of potential intermodal transfer opportunities. Terminal concepts will be formulated, compared, and tested against the goals.

Configuration designs will be prepared for the most attractive candidates.

Line Haul Facilities

The line haul facilities of interest are those most likely to support new developments in the Multi-State Corridor. Before specific candidates are identified for analysis, a search will be made for the characteristics of likely candidates. Some insights have been gained from the Northern Mississippi test. Additional insights will be gained from a careful analysis of the market structures for the different commodity/industry groups. From among the potential candidates two or three will be selected that appear to have desirable characteristics. These will be developed as individual projects by faculty members best qualified to do the work. The following material will be developed for each concept:

- Operating characteristics as functions of traffic level, shipment size, movement pattern, origins, destinations, and intermodal terminal activity.
- 2. Cost characteristics.
- 3. Conceptual design drawings.
- 4. Multi-State Corridor applications.

These data will be used to formulate sets of transportation improvements for further examination.

Evaluation Methods

An evaluation framework has been prepared to compare alternative transportation programs in terms of technical, industry, community, environmental and social parameters. An approach was prepared as part of the Northern Mississippi test. The need for better interaction with evaluators was identified. However, it was not possible to perform a clear quantitative comparison of alternatives. Major issues to be resolved include (1) identifying major stakeholder groups and preparing model weights, and (2) considering the quality of life as a major industry location parameter.

Stakeholder Groups

A number of important stakeholder groups have already been identified. These include congressional delegations, state transportation boards, chambers

of commerce, business groups representing both new and existing industry, local governments, and private citizens. In the aggregate, there may be a dozen major stakeholder groups that have influential views about a transportation alternative. Each group needs to be contacted, examined and described so that its views on the acceptability and desirability of transportation improvement and economic development programs can be understood.

An interactive computer program will be developed to assist representatives of the different stakeholder groups to prepare weights for the different evaluation parameters. This program will be tested on members of the different Northern Mississippi groups. Weights will be compared across groups and schemes will be explored for combining the different stakeholder views to quantitative values. The entire evaluation structure will be reexamined and revised as appropriate.

Quality of Life

As new industry transforms a local area through new opportunities and new associations, the issue of quality of life needs to be examined. Expectations of citizens who enjoy regular industrial employment are quite different from those of citizens engaged in marginal agriculture. Areas of interest include education, culture, recreation, and social activities. Employees who are brought in to fill jobs that cannot be filled locally also have life style expectations that need to be considered. If life style expectations are not met, there may be discontent and even failure of the new enterprise. Life style requirements will be explored and described in as quantitative a fashion as possible. An attempt will be made to associate levels of life style with different industry classes.

Transportation Costing

Transportation costs for the first year's work have been largely based on equations developed by H. O. Whitten [8]. These equations are based on ICC data and reflect averages over large geographical areas. Other cost equations have been developed [41] that are similar in construction and detail. No

[41] Reebie, R. G. et al., "National Intermodal Network Feasibility Study: Report No. FRA/OPPD-76/2.1, Federal Railroad Administration, Washington, D.C., 1976, PB 258 196. known set of cost equations is sufficiently detailed to give the specific cost estimates that are needed for multi-modal work. In particular, there are no adequate means for structuring compound mode costs and for estimating mode change costs. There is significant theorectical work to be done. Arc specific fixed costs are needed together with operating costs that reflect mode of operations, and terminals costs that relate to specific terminal activities.

Transport time and time variability representations are even less reliable than cost equations. The preliminary values selected for time variability too nearly correlate with transport time data. New sources of time and time variability data need to be sought, examined, catalogued and evaluated. Structures for estimating time and time variability need to be prepared.

In this task, existing transportation cost, time and time variability work will be summarized. Sets of modal cost, time and time variability parameters will be prepared and tested. It is inevitable that proprietary problems will occur because some carrier data will be needed in addition to public data. A best effort will be made to establish a set of credible equations.

Policy Issues

Major legislative and administrative barriers to multi-mode transportation projects were investigated and documented as part of the first year's work. In order to initiate and carry forward positive action to eliminate these constraints, it is necessary to have Federal and state transportation policies that encourage multi-mode transportation while still protecting the shipping public. In addition, relationships between Federal and state agencies need to be considered as does the position of a multi-mode project in a state's transportation program.

This task will be attacked by first documenting relevent existing programs in considerable detail. Multi-mode policy positions will then be formulated that appear to be compatible with other programs. Finally, suggested forms of enabling legislation will be formulated and reviewed.

Program Documentation

The project team has a wealth of experience in dealing with Federal and state highway agencies in all phases of highway development. Experience is also available in dealing with urban mass transit and airport development agencies. This experience will be used and augmented to identify principal

parties, issues, and procedures used to initiate program planning, to obtain approval for programming and scheduling, to execute preconstruction work, to secure rights-of-way, to execute design engineering and to let construction contracts. Particular care will be taken to define key relationships, critical reviews, and approval steps. Sources of funds, local-Federal match provisions and other factors will be considered. Throughout this work, the team will be alert to opportunities and constraints that may apply to multimodal projects.

Practices for distributing projects among the states (funding formulas) and within states will also be documented. Resistance to change and inertia of vested interests will be identified and described. Particular care will be paid to procedures for identifying new project needs and for bringing them to the attention of the implementing bodies in a positive manner. Roles for multi-mode projects will be sought within this framework.

Three separate efforts are envisioned - one for highway, one for urban mass transportation, and one for airport improvements. Some effort will be devoted to the waterway projects of the Corps of Engineers and to special transportation projects such as that of the Appalachian Regional Commission.

Policy Positions

Multi-mode policy positions will be formulated from an analysis of existing programs together with the views of public and private officials on such issues as:

- a. The form of modal cooperation to be encouraged,
- b. The extent to which private ownership of multi-modal facilities and services is to be permitted and encouraged,
- c. Control of multi-mode terminal ownership and operation, and
- d. User fees for public facilities.

Alternative policies will be formulated that include funding sources, stakeholder interests, program initiation, implementation procedures, design responsibility, right-of-way acquisition and control, quality control, operation, use restrictions, and the like. The different policy alternatives will be reviewed with public and private officials. Their comments will be summarized.

Implementation Planning

To be successful, the Multi-State Transportation System must become real transportation facilities and services followed by real economic development. There is no precedent for implementation planning on the scale of the Multi-State System with the exception of the TVA. However, even the TVA is an inadequate guide because present conditions and constraints are very different from those of the 1930's. The implementation plan needs to consider the time phasing of both public and private construction, and the parties and procedures used to select, plan, finance, design and construct transportation facilities, the nature and extent of economic development support, and the entire communication structure through which all of these activities can be coordinated.

The Multi-State Transportation Advisory Board has given considerable attention to the problem of implementing a very large public project. It is clear that it cannot, and probably should not, be a single massive public works project. Rather, new multi-modal facilities should be built as they are needed and as they can be justified. This suggests that there is a best order and favorable timing for all projects. In this task, we will investigate methods for phasing and scheduling the complementary multi-mode projects. The scheme will consider the sequence of events necessary to initiate a project, and the required integration with existing Federal and state programs. It will need to accomodate different funding levels. It will also present a decision sequence that includes major Federal and state decisions together with a method for measuring the impact of delays.

Private development will also be carefully investigated. New industry must not be promoted before physical transportation facilities and services are available to support its establishment and growth. Existing state development programs will be explored, compared, and tested for applicability to multistate corridor development.

Beyond the Second Year

The work projected for the second year will strengthen, tighten and extend the analytical technique for investigating multi-modal transportation and economic development in underdeveloped areas. Once this has been accomplished, there remains the task of applying the method to the Multi-State Transportation System in a comprehensive, imaginative, and consistant way to perform the screening of potential transportation projects that is the objective of this research. This fulfilling work will fill the third and final year of the multi-university research project.

APPENDIX A

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE MULTI-STATE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM ADVISORY BOARD There has been interest in developing a transportation route between the South Atlantic Coast and the mid-continent for many years. During the nineteen thirties an interstate highway route was proposed. There was great concern among the states served when that route was dropped from the Interstate and Defense Highway System. A group of concerned public and private citizens gathered in February 1972 to discuss prospects for improving transportation services along this route. This and subsequent key meetings are summarized below. Table 30 lists present members of the Multi-State Transportation System Advisory Board.

TABLE 30

MULTI-STATE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM ADVISORY BOARD

Elton B. Stephens, Chairman Kermit B. Blaney, Executive Director

ALABAMA

Hon. George Wallace, Governor
Hon. Ray Bass, Highway Director
Hon. David Vann, Mayor, Birmingham
Mr. Lyman Mason, Vice Chairman
Mayor Jack M. Brown
Mr. William C. Davis, Jr. Senior Vice Chairman
Councilman Don A. Hawkins
Senator George D. H. McMillan, Jr.
Mr. Elton B. Stephens, Chairman
Mr. Sim S. Wilbanks

ARKANSAS

Hon. David Pryor, Governor Hon. Henry Gray, Highway Director Mr. Ralph McDonald, Vice Chairman Mr. Frank Carlisle, Jr. Mr. Jimmy Driftwood Mr. J. E. Dunlap Mr. Randall W. Ishmael Mr. Billy Rogers

FLORIDA

Hon. Reubin Askew, Governor
Hon. Tom Webb, Jr., Secretary, DOT
Hon. Hans G. Tanzler, Mayor, Jacksonville
Mr. Tom V. Schifanella, Vice Chairman
Mr. William M. Godfrey
Mr. K. N. Henderson
Mr. Edward A. Mueller
Mr. James E. Reeder
Representative Eric Smith
Dr. Jay A. Smith, Jr.

GEORGIA

Hon. George Busbee, Governor Hon. Thomas D. Moreland, Commissioner, DOT Hon. W. Milton Folds, Comm. Ind. & Trade Mr. Alton H. Fendley, Vice Chairman Commissioner Norman Dorminy Mr. Percy Harrell Senator Floyd Hudgins Mr. Millard Kennedy Mayor Bob Tonning Mr. Billy Westbrook

MISSISSIPPI

Hon. Cliff Finch, Governor Hon. John R. Tabb, Highway Director Mrs. Everett Slayden, Vice Chairman Mayor Sam Coopwood Mayor H. D. McGee Senator Perrin Purvis Commissioner Bobby G. Richardson Mr. Bill Rutledge Representative Jerry Wilburn

MISSOURI

Hon. Joseph P. Teasdale, Governor
Hon. Jack Curtis, Chairman, Highway Commission
Hon. Charles Wheeler, Mayor, Kansas City
Councilman Victor F. Swyden, Vice Chairman
Mr. T. Dick Fleming
Mr. Robert Hunter
Mr. George Innes
Councilman David D. James
Mr. Max Norman
Mr. Willard Wilkinson

TENNESSEE

Hon. Ray Blanton, Governor
Hon. Wyeth Chandler, Mayor, Memphis
Hon. Roy Nixon, Mayor, Shelby County
DOT Commissioner Eddie Shaw, Vice Chairman
Mr. George Dando
Mr. Frank C. Holloman, Senior Vice Chairman
Mr. George Houston
Mr. Frank Palumbo
Mr. Jack Ramsay
Mr. Bruce C. Taylor

First Multi-State Meeting - February 1972

The first Multi-State Meeting was held at Callaway Gardens, Georgia. In that meeting it was requested that a feasibility study be made on the corridor by the Federal Highway Administration and the states involved. In response to this request the advice from the state transportation officials was that a feasibility study would not be made unless it was called for in the Federal Highway Act.

Meeting with Congressmen - May 1972

Following this professional advice the Board set up a meeting in the President's Room in the United States Capitol with all the Congressmen from along the Corridor. The purpose of the meeting was to request that a paragraph be included in the Highway Act calling for a feasibility study of this route. The request was enthusiastically received and the response was that the congressional representatives from the region would do what they could to achieve the legislation.

Multi-Mode Concept Adopted - October 1972

An outstanding policy and organizational conference was held in Memphis, Tennessee. The agenda reflects that the four hundred conferees were encouraged by and honored to have the Assistant Secretary of Commerce, Robert Podesta, the late Federal Highway Administrator, Ralph Bartelsmeyer, and the colorful Mississippi Governor, Bill Waller, participating in the program. In this meeting the Multi-State Transportation Corridor Advisory Board was established and it was agreed that the Multi-Mode Concept would be pursued for the transportation Corridor.

First Highway Legislation - August 1973

The Federal Aid Highway Act of 1973 was signed into law on August 13th wherein Section 143 called for the Highway Feasibility Study of this route along with the studies of nine others throughout the nation. Initial discussion with Congress was for a Multi-Mode Feasibility Study for the route. Highway concern was expressed for the Multi-Mode Study subject being in the <u>Highway Act</u> and it was suggested that for this year only the Highway Feasibility should be studied.

Meeting with Governors - September 1973

During the Southern Governors' Conference at Point Clear, Alabama, the Board officers met with the six governors and the Honorable Robert H. Clement, Deputy Undersecretary of Transportation where all present participated in a substantive open discussion on this Corridor project.

Seminars - January-November 1974

The Board, in cooperation with the U.S. Department of Transportation's regional office in Atlanta, conducted a series of seminars on (1) the "Innovations in Transportation," (2) "Application of the Multi-Mode Concept," and (3) "Operation of the Multi-Mode Concept." These seminars brought together technical representatives from all areas of the transportation family. These seminars produced substantive ideas.

The discussion took an in-depthlook at Commission and Authority type organizations, financial support and the legal aspects involved. Participants represented:

Alabama State Highway Department Appalachian Regional Commission Arkansas State Highway Department Auburn University

Coastal Plains Regional Commission Columbus College Delta Airlines Dames & Moore Federal Aviation Administration Regional Office Federal Highway Administration Frisco Railway Company General Motors Research Laboratories Georgia Department of Natural Resources Georgia Department of Transportation Georgia Institute of Technology Georgia Power Company Georgia Public Services Commission Greyhound Bus Lines Highway Users Federation Kansas City Chamber of Commerce, Kansas Lockheed Corporation L&N Rail Road Company Memphis State University Operation New Birmingham Ozark Regional Commission Wm. S. Pollard Consultants, Inc. Stanford Research Institute Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Southern Bell Southern Natural Gas Company Southern Railway System Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) Traffic Planning Associates United States Department of Transportation

Meeting/Conference, Brunswick, Georgia - December 1974

At the Advisory Board Conference on Sea Island (Brunswick), Georgia, a complete review was made of the University Research Program, the Seminar Program, and the Highway Corridor Feasibility Study. The Advisory Board passed a resolution to establish the Multi-State Joint Development Committee (MSJDC) to advise the board on future courses of actions.

Study Report to Congress - December 1974

The U.S. Department of Transportation reported to Congress on Section 143, Federal Aid to Highway Act of 1973. Although the content of the report was not a surprise, it was a disappointment for the Board Members. It merely restated the Department's previously established policy that no additional mileage would be added to the Interstate Program and stated that there was no known source for funds to undertake any of the ten highway programs studied.

Joint Development Committee Meeting - May 1975

The Multi-State Joint Development Committee (MSJDC) held its initial meeting in Birmingham on February 11th. The Committee was composed of two appointed representatives by each Governor. The members of the Committee were from transportation and development agencies who were joined by two representatives from the Federal Regional Offices of Transportation and Commerce. In a series of meetings the Multi-State Joint Development Committee agreed on a draft of proposed legislation which would establish a joint Federal State Commission to develop the Multi-Mode Corridor. The Advisory Board in its mid-year meeting in Memphis, May 1975, agreed on the Draft Proposed Legislation for the establishment of a Joint Federal State Commission. It was further agreed to present the proposed legislation to Congressional members for appropriate action. Advice from members of the Administration at that time and U.S. Senators was to defer action for a new commission type organization but to use the existing Regional Commissions at this stage of the program.

Testimony to Congress - September 1975

The Board Chairman, Elton B. Stephens, testified before the U.S. House of Representatives' Sub Committee on Surface Transportation for legislation to advance the program. The testimony presented to the Sub Committee included an up-to-date report on the Board's Program. It additionally asked

for the Multi-Mode Concept to be recognized as a National Need and that the Highway Element of the system to be approved as the first phase of the Multi-Mode Transportation System from Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri.

University Research Approved - November 1975

Ten Educational Institutions in a consortium with Georgia Institute of Technology including the University of Missouri, Arkansas State, Memphis State, Tennessee Tech, Mississippi State, University of Alabama, Auburn University, Columbus College and University of North Florida were approved for a research contract in a United States Department of Transportation sponsored Multi-Mode University Research Program. The \$244,673 program was for FY 76.

Florida Joins Board - March 1976

The "State of Florida" and the Advisory Board executed a Certified Agreement whereby that state joined the Advisory Board program and became the seventh state in the region holding official membership. The Florida State legislature in the summer of 1975 passed legislation authorizing the state to join and participate in the Multi-State Advisory Board program.

1976 Highway Act Passed - May 1976

The 94th United States Congress enacted Public Law 94-280, "Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1976" and the Multimodal Concept studies were directed in Section 142, wherein this route was identified by reference to the 1973 Act and states: "The Secretary of Transportation is authorized and directed to study the feasibility of developing a multimodal concept along the route described in paragraph (1) of subsection (a) of this section,

which study shall include an analysis of the environmental impact of such multimodal concept. The Secretary shall report to Congress the results of such a study not later than July 1, 1977."

Meeting with Commissions - August-September 1976

A delegation of the Advisory Board met with the Coastal Plains Regional Commission and the Appalachian Regional Commission to pursue joint Regional Commission action (administration and funding) of two studies, "Economic Impact" and "Energy Development and Distribution." A decision on the studies was referred by Coastal Plains for consideration of the Appalachian Commission. The Appalachian Regional Commission in September advised the Board that the Appalachian Commission was completely committed on priority programs to include the completion of the Appalachian Regional Highway Project and therefore, the Commission was unable to participate in the Economic and Energy Studies as requested by this Board.

APPENDIX B

NETWORK ZONE DESCRIPTIONS

The zones in the Multi-State Transportation Network are comprised of three types:

1. Zones inside the Multi-State Corridor that are smaller than BEAs,

2. Zones outside the Multi-State Corridor whose boundaries do not follow BEA boundaries, and

3. Zones made up of integral numbers of Basic Economic Areas (BEAs). Zone composition is described below for each category. Type one zones are described in terms of their included counties and their nodal cities. Type two zones are often associated with a BEA but they are described in terms of their included counties and their nodal city. Type three zones are described in terms of their included BEAs and their nodal cities.

CORRIDOR ZONES

Zone No.	Nodal City	APDC*	Included Counties
1.	Brunswick, Ga.	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	Liberty, Long, McIntosh, Glynn, Camden Co., Ga.
2.	Jacksonville, FL	APDC 1, F1.	Baker, Clay, Duval, Nassau, Rutnam, St. Johns
3.	Statesboro, Ga.	Southern	Appling, Bullock, Candler, Evans, Jeff Davis, Tattnall, Toombs, Wayne
4.	Waycross, Ga.	Slash Pine	Atkinson, Bacon, Brantley, Charlton, Clinch, Coffee, Pierce, Ware
5.	Dublin, Ga.	Heart of Ga.	Bleckley, Dodge, Laurens, Montgomery, Pulaski, Telfair, Treutlen, Wheeler, Wilcox
6.	Valdosta, Ga.	Coastal Plain	Ben Hill, Berrier, Brooks, Cook, Echols, Irwin, Lanier, Lowndes, Tift, Turner
7.	Macon, Ga.	Middle Ga.	Bibb, Crawford, Houston, Jones, Monroe, Peach, Twiggs
8.	Cordele, Ga.	Middle Flint	Crisp, Dooly, Marion, Macon, Schley, Sumter, Taylor, Webster,
9.	Albany, Ga.	S.W. Ga.	Baker, Calhoun, Colquitt, Decatur, Dougherty, Early, Grady, Lee, Miller Mitchell Seminole
10	Lagrange, Ga.	Chattahoochee-	Terrell, Thomas, Worth Carroll, Coweta, Heard, Meriwether,
10.		Flint	Troup
11.	Columbus, Ga.	Lower Chattahooch Valley APDC 10, Al.	hee Chattahoochee, Clay, Harris, Muscogee, Quitman, Randolph Stewart, Talbot, Ga., Lee, Russell, Al.
12	Anniston, Al.	APDC-4	Calhoun, Chambers, Cherokee, Clay, Cleburne, Cosa, Etowah, Randolph, Talladega, Tallapoosa
13.	Montgomery, Al.	APDC-9+	Autauga, Dallas, Elmore, Montgomery, Perry
14.	Troy, Al.	APDC-5	Bullock, Butler, Crenshaw, Lowndes, Macon, Pike
15.	Dothan, Al.	APDC-7	Barbour, Coffee, Covington, Dade, Geneva, Henry, Houston
16.	Decatur, Al.	APDC-11	Cullman, Lawrence, Morgan
17.	Birmingham, Al.	APDC-1	Blount, Chilton, Jefferson, St. Clair, Shelby, Walker
18.	Florence, Al.	APDC-1	Colbert, Franklin, Lauderdale, Marion, Winston
19.	Tuscaloosa, Al.	APDC-2	Bibb, Greene, Fayette, Hale, Lamar, Pickens, Tuscaloosa
20.	Corinth, Ms.	N.E. Ms.	Alcorn, Benton, Marhsall, Prentiss, Tippah, Tishomingo

*Area Planning and Development Commission or equivalent comprehensive planning agency.

.

Zone No.	Nodal City	APDC*	Included Counties
21.	Tupelo, Ms.	3 Rivers	Calhoun, Chickasaw, Itawanba, Lafayette, Lee, Monroe, Pontotac, Union
22.	Columbus, Ms.	Golden Triangle	Clay, Choctaw, Lowndes, Noxubee, Ortibbeh, Webster
23.	Clarksdale, Ms.	No. Delta	Coahoma, DeSoto, Quitman, Panola, Tate, Tunica
24.	Dyersburg, Ten.	N.W. APDC-	Carroll, Crockett, Dyer, Gibson, Henry, Lake, Obion, Weakley
25.	Jackson, Tn.	SW APDC+	Chester, Decatur, Hardeman, Hardin, Haywood, Henderson, McNairy, Madison, Wayne
26.	Memphis, Tn.	Memph is Delta	Fayette, Lauderdale, Shelby, Tipton
27.	Jonesboro, Ak.	East	Clay, Craighead, Crittenden, Cross, Greene, Lawrence, Lee, Ms. Phillips, Poinsett, Randolph, St. Francis
28.	Searcy, Ak.	White River	Cleburne, Fulton, Independence, Izard, Jackson, Sharp, Stone, Van Buren, White, Woodruff
29.	Harrison, Ak.		Baxter, Boone, Carroll, Marion, Newton, Searcy
30.	Sikeston, Mo.	Bootheel	Bunklin, Mississippi, New Madrid, Plemescot, Scott, Stoddard
51	Bantan Platf Ma	<u> </u>	Wayne
32.	West Plains, Mo.	So. Cent. Ozark	Douglas, Howell, Oregon, Ozark, Shannon, Texas, Wright
33.	Lebanon, Mo.	Lake of the Ozarks	Camden, Laclede, Miller, Morgan, Pulaski
34.	Marshall, Mo.	Mo. Valley	Carroll, Chariton, Saline
35.	Sedalia, Mo.	Show-Me	Johnson, Lafayette, Pettis
36.	Springfield, Mo.	Lakes Country	Barry, Christian, Dade, Dallas, Greene, Lawrence, Polk, Stone, Taney, Webster
37.	St. Joseph, Mo.	Bi State	Andrew, Buchanon, Clinton, DeKalb, Mo., Doniphan, Ks.
38.	Kansas City, Mo.	Mid America	Cass, Clay, Jackson, Platte.
-		Reg. Council	Ray, Mo., Johnson, Leavenworth, Wyandatte, Ks.
39.	Nevada, Mo.	Kaysinger Basin	Bates, Benton, Cedar, Henry, Hickory, St. Clair, Vernon
40.	Joplin, Mo.	Ozark Gateway	Barton, Jasper, McDonald, Newton

2. NON BEA EXTERNAL ZONES

BEAs Disru	pted:	33, 34, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44 45, 46, 47, 111, 112, 114, 115, 116, 117							
Zone No.	Nodal City	BEA	Included Counties						
41	Savannah, Ga.		Bryan, Chatham, Effingham, Screven, Ga.; Jasper, S.C.						
43	Milledgeville, Ga.		Oconee APDC, Ga: Baldwin, Hancock, Jasper, Putnam, Washington, Wilkerson						
44	Atlanta, Ga.	BEA 44 minus:	Cleburne Co., Ala.; Carroll, Coweta Co., Ga.						
46	Huntsville, Al.	•	Limestone, Madison, Marshall Co., Ala.; Lincoln, Franklin Co., Tenn.						
49	Cape Girardeau, Mo	•	Bolinger, Cape Girardeau, Mo.; Alexander, Hardin, Johnson, Massac, Pope, Pulaski,						
	•		Ballard, Carlisle, Calloway, Fulton, Graves, Hickman, Livingston, Lyon, Marshall, McCracken, Ky.						
50	St. Louis, Mo.	BEA 114 minus:	Laclede, Pulaski, Reynolds, Texas, Mo.						
52	Columbia, Mo.	BEA 112 minus:	Putnam, Sullivan, Linn, Chariton, Morgan, Camden, Miller Co., Mo.						
53	Chillicothe, Mo.		Northwest, Mo., Green Hills APCD, Mo., Atchison, Caldwell, Daviess, Gentry, Grundy, Harrison, Holt, Linn,						
		•	Livingston, Mercer, Nodaway, Putnam, Sullivan, Worth						

Nodal City	BEA	Included Counties
Topeka, Ks.		Allen, Anderson, Atchison, Bourbon, Brown, Cherokee, Craig, Crawford, Douglas, Franklin, Geary, Jackson, Jefferson, Labette, Linn, Lyon, Marshall, Miami, Montgomery, Nemaha, Neosho, Osage, Ottawa, Pottawatomie, Riley, Shawnee, Wabaunsee, Washington, Wilson, Woodson, Ks.
Little Rock, Ak.	BEA 117 minus:	White River APDC, Ak. (See zone 28 for omitted counties)
Gainesville, Fl.		Alachua, Bradford, Columbia, Dixie, Gilchrist, Hamilton, Lafayette, Levy, Marion, Sewannee, Union, Fl.

Zone No.

3. ZONES COMPRISED OF INTEGRAL BEAS

Zone No.	Nodal City	BEAs
42	Augusta, Ga.	. 32
45	Chattanooga, Tn.	48
47	Nashville, Tn.	49
48	Evansville, In.	55
51	Quincy, I1.	113
54	Des Moines, Ia.	80,81, 104, 1 05, 106
55	Omaha, Ne.	102, 103, 1 07,108
57	Wichita, Ks.	109, 110
58	Tulsa, Ök.	119
59	Ft. Smith, Ok.	118
61	Greenville, Ms.	134
62	Jackson, Ms.	135
63	Meridian, Ms.	136
64	Mobile, Al.	137
65	Pensacola, F1.	39
66	Tallahassee, Fl.	• <u>38</u> .
68	Miami, Fl.	35, 36
69	Boston, Ma.	1, 2, 3, 4, 5
70	Albany, N.Y.	6, 7
71	Buffalo, N.Y.	8, 9, 10
72	New York, N.Y.	14, 15
13	متنأم ومتاتحات	12, 13
74	Larrisburg, Pa.	11, 16
75	Pittsburgh, Pa.	66, 67
76	Washington, D. C.	17, 18
77	Roanoke, Va.	19, 20
78	Richmond, Va.	21
79	Charlotte, N.C.	25, 26
80	Raleigh, N.C.	23, 24
81	Greenville, S.C.	· 27 , 2 8
82	Columbia, S.C.	29, 30
83	Knoxville, Tn.	- 50
84	Charleston, W.V.	. 51, 52, 65
85	Cincinnati, Oh.	53, 54, 62
86	Dayton, Oh.	61, 63, 69
87	Cleveland, Oh.	68
88	Detroit, Mi.	71, 72, 74
89	Indianapolis, In.	56, 59, 60
90	Chicago, Il.	76, 77, 78, 79
91	Milwaukee, Wi.	82, 83, 84, 85, 86
92	St. Paul, Mn.	88, 89, 90, 91
93	Billings, Mn.	94, 95, 100, 101, 150
94	Denver, Co.	147, 148, 149
95	Oklahoma City, Ok.	120, 121
96	Texarkana, Tx.	131
97	Shreveport, La.	132, 133
98	New Orleans, La.	138
99	Tampa, Fl.	37
100	Amarillo, Tx.	122, 123

Zone No.	Nodal City
101	Dallas, Tx.
102	El Paso, Tx.
103	Austin, Tx.
104	San Antonio, Tx.
105	Houston, Tx.
106	Salt Lake City, Ut.
107	Phoenix, Ar.
108	Albuqurque, NM
109	Seattle, Wa.
110	San Francisco, Ca.
111	. Los Angeles, Ca.
112	Charleston, S.C.
113	Duluth, Mn.
114	Springfield, I1.
115	Toledo, Oh.
116	Columbus, Oh.
117	Portland, Or.
118	Fargo, ND
119	Grand Rapids, Mi.
120	Norfolk, Va.

BEAs

127, 130 124, 145, 163 128, 129 125, 126, 142, 143, 144 139, 140, 141 151, 160 162 146 153, 154, 155, 156 166, 167, 168, 171 161, 164, 165 31 87 57, 58 70, 75 65 152, 157, 158, 159, 169, 170 92, 93, 96, 97, 98, 99 73 22

APPENDIX C

NETWORK ARC DESCRIPTIONS

This Appendix contains a detailed description of each two way arc in the transportation network. Separate tables and a separate format are presented for highway rail and water arcs.

Highway Arcs

Seven items of information are presented for each highway arc. They are: Column 1. Arc number,

Column 2. Originating network node number*,

Column 3. Terminating network node number,

Column 4. Distance in miles between the two nodes,

Column 5. Travel time in minutes for a truck to move from node to node,

Column 6. Number of lanes of traffic in both directions, and

Column 7. The route designations for the highways comprising the arc

I = Interstate
US = Federal aid primary or secondary
S = State

Rail Arcs

The seven items of information that describe each rail arc are different from those used to describe highway arcs. Rail arc descriptors are:

Column 1. Arc number,

Column 2. Origin node,

Column 3. Terminating node,

Column 4. Arc length in miles,

Column 5. Average speed made good by the highest class freight train normally traversing the arc,

Column 6. Arc capacity in trains per day in both directions. This includes the capacity of all parallel routes considered part of the same arc.

Column 7. Railroad Company(s) owning the lines comprising the arc.

1. Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe

2. Atlanta and West Point

3. Burlington Northern

4. Bessemer and Lake Erie

*Flow can move in both directions between the pair of nodes designated origin and destination.

5. Baltimore & Ohio/Chesapeake & Ohio

6. Conrail

7. Chicago & North Western

8. Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific

9. Denver & Rio Grande Western

10. Detroit, Toledo & Ironton

11. Florida East Coast

12. Georgia

13. Illinois Central Gulf

14. Kansas City Southern

15. Louisiana & Arkansas

16. Louisville & Nashville

17. Milwaukee

18. Missouri-Kansas-Texas

19. Missouri Pacific

20. Norfolk & Western

21. Penn Central (other than Conrail lines)

22. Richmond, Fredericksburg & Potomac

23. Seaboard Coast Line

24. Southern

25. Soo Line

26. Southern Pacific

27. St. Louis-San Francisco

28. St. Louis Southwestern

29. Texas & Pacific

30. Union Pacific

31. Western Railway of Alabama

32. Western Pacific

All rail arcs are capable of carrying two way traffic.

Water Arcs

The eight water arc descriptors are:

Column 1. Arc number,

Column 2. Origin node,

Column 3. Destination node,

Column 4. Arc length in miles,

- Column 5. Down stream speed in miles per hour,
- Column 6. Number of locks along the arc --

a-1 entry designates an ocean arc with no locks,

Column 7. Channel depth in fee, a-1 entry designates an ocean arc.

- Column 8. Waterway system
 - 1. Alabama River
 - 2. Arkansas River
 - 3. Atlantic Coastwise
 - 4. Black Warrior River
 - 5. Chattahoochee River
 - 6. Cumberland River
 - 7. Great Lakes Waterway
 - 8. Gulf Coastwise
 - 9. Hudson River
 - 10. Illinois River
 - 11. Kanawha River
 - 12. Mississippi River
 - 13. Missouri River
 - 14. N.Y. State Barge Canal
 - 15. Ohio River
 - 16. Pacific Coastwise
 - 17. Savannah River
 - 18. Tennessee River
 - 19. Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway

Water arcs also support two way traffic.

HIGHWAY ARCS

Arc	Orig.	Dest	• Dist	, Time	La. Routes	Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes
1	1	2	68	74	4 1-95	45	13	10	88	96	4 1-85
2	1	4	49	65	2US-84	46	13	11	86	100	2 1-85US280
3	1	41	70	76	4 I-95	47	13	14	44	48	4US231
4	2	66	163	177	4 I-10	48	13	17	94	102	4 I-65
5	2	67	49	53	4US301 S-24	49	13	19	105	140	205-82
6	2	68	349	379	4 I-95	50	13	63	153	204	205-80
7	3	-4	108	144	205-2505-82	51	13	64	179	195	4 I-65
8	3	5	72	96	205-80	52	13	65	154	187	2 I-65US-31US-29
- 9	3	8	130	170	2 I-16 US-1US280	53	14	64	159	185	2US-29 S-10 I-65
· 10	3	41	53	58	4 I-16	54	14	65	162	216	2US-29
11	3	42	47	63	205-25	55	15	9	82	122	2 5-62
12	Ă	5	78	104	205-23	56	15	11	105	140	2US431
13.	4	6	61	81	205-84	57	. 15	14	56	61	4US231
14	Å	8	111	139	205-82 1-75	58	15	65	141	161	2US231 I-10
15		ŏ	113	151	205-82	59	15	66	101	117	2US231 T-10
14	4	41	φÂ	120	205-82 1-95	60	16	18	41	45	4HS72
17		1	146	195	200 02 1 70	61	16	46	23	25	405-72
10	5	Ā	121	157	2 1-14 US-1	62	16	47	114	126	A T-45
10	5	. 7	52	57	A T-16	63	17	11	149	197	205280
20	.5	ó	02	127	2015441115280	64	17	14	81	88	A 1-45
21	5	42	72	117	20344103200	45	17	10	54	A1	A 1-50
21	5	43	47	63	203317 03 1	44	17	21	145	220	211S78
22	<u>ح</u>		75	82	A 1-75 1-10	67	17	45	150	163	4 1-59
23		<u> </u>	00	02	A 1	68	18	20	54	72	2115-43115-72
24	. 4		00	107	9 T_75HC_00	40	19	22	127	149	203 4003 72
24	: D .		71	1V/ 07	2 1 000 02 000-0400001 T-10	70	18	47	104	171	203-4303-70 3-12
20		47	07	104	203-0403221 1-10	71	10	10	114	155	200 40 1 00
27		47	73	101	4 1~/0 7 C	73	10	20	41	100	200-40
20	<u>'</u>		31	40 05/	2 0-47	72	10	47	75	07	203-02 A T_50
27		44	/0	83	4 1 7 3	7.3	10	44	407	747	4 1-37
30	8		30	11/	4 1~/J DUCDDA	55	20	25	54	202	203-43
31	8	11	8/	110	203200	74	20	23	04	125	203-43
32	7		34 77	104	20-207 Oue oo e eeucooo	70	21	20	50	47	203-72
33	. 7	11	// 00	104	205-82 5-3305260	70	21	27	110	144	200-40 7 C_4
34 75	7	00	78	131	205-1705317	79	21	23	97	104	2 3-0
30	10	44	47	174	4 1-80	80	21	42	215	747	200 /0 2 C=4 T=55
30	11	10	70	131	203-80	00	22	21	210	203	2 3 0 1-33
3/	11	10	30	04	41-10J DUDA710 044	82	22	21	145	220	203-40 2010-0010A0E
. 38	12	10	07	70	2054315-244	07		23	140	220	203-0203476
37	12	13	88 ∡4	70	20023I A 1-20	03	22	7.0 01	140	213	243**02 2110-02 T-EE
40	- 12	1/	01	00	7 1 2V	04 05	22	02	108	410	203-02 I-33 200-45
41	12	44	00	73	4 1-2V Ducazi I Ed	CO 40	22	03 94	70	104	203-40
42	12	40	111	127	205431 1-37 900471	80	23	20	174	104	203"01 200-4100-40 C.1 C-4
43	12	40	70	131	203431	8/	23	28	1.00	177	203-0105-47 3-1 5-0
44	13	9	150	200	205-82		23	0V	140	1/3	203-0108-47 1-40

Arc.	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes	Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes	
89	23	61	70	93	205-61	135	35	34	24	32	205-65	•
90	23	62	186	217	2 S-6 I-55	136	35	38	83	95	2US-65 I-70	
91	24	27	100	121	2I-155 I-55 S-10	137	35	52	68	78	2US-65 I-70	
92	24	30	78	85	4I-155 I-55	138	36	33	53	58	4 I-4 4	
93	24	48	203	232	2US-51PTNPKTPKWYPPKWY	139	36	35	120	160	205-65	
94	25	24	41	61	2 5-20	140	36	39	91	121	2 S-13US-54	
95	25	47	150	163	4 U-40	141	36	40	69	75	4 I-44	
96	25	48	235	271	2 I-40 S-13	142	37	53	74	99	2US-36	
97	26	24	74	80	4US-51	143	37	54	181	204	2US-36 I-35	
98	26	25	75	82	4 I-40	144	37	55	152	165	4 I-29	
99	26	27	65	81	2 I-55US-63	145	37	56	85	113	2US-59	
100	26	28	92	123	2US-64	. 146	38	34	76	85	2 I-70US-65	
101	26	30	145	157	4 1-55	147	38	37	52	57	4 I-29	
102	26	60	138	150	4 I-40	148	38	53	100	118	21-35US-36	
103	27	28	79	105	2 S-39US-64US-67	149	38	54	195	212	4 I-35	
104	27	29	166	221	205-6305-62	150	38	56	65	71	4 I70	
105	27	30	120	149	2 S-18 I-55	151	38	57	200	217	4 I-35	
106	27	31	91	121	2US-63US-67 ·	152	39	35	127	169	205-5405-65	· ·
107	27	32	104	139	2US-63	153	39	38	98	131	205-71	
108	28	29	165	220	2US167US-64US-65	154	39	57	170	226	205-54	
109	28	32	142	189	2US167US-63	155	40	39	64	85	205-71	
110	28	60	43	47	4US-67	156	40	57	218	279	2US166 I-35	
111	29	32	109	145	2US-62 S-5US-160	157	40	58	95	103	4 I-44	
112	29	36	65	87	205-65	158	40	59	149	199	205-71	
113	29	40	148	197	2US-62US-71	159	41	82	142	154	4 I-95 I- 26	
114	29	58	186	248	2US-62 S-33	160	42	82	69	75	4 I-20	
115	29	59	132	176	205-6205-71	161	43	42	80	100	2 S-22 S-16US27	'8 I-20
116	29	60	134	171	2US-65 I-40	162	43	81	158	211	2US441	
117	30	31	47	63	205-60	163	44	42	150	120	4 1-20	
118	30	47	190	223	205-60 1-24	164	44	81	119	129	4 I-85	
119	30	48	227	267	2 1-57 5-1305-60	165	45	44	114	124	4 I-75	
120	30	49	38	41	4 1-55	166	45	83	112	122	4 I-75	
121	31	32	100	133	205160	167	46	45	75	100	2US-72	
122	31	50	202	231	205-60 1-55	168	47	45	128	139	4 1-24	
123	32	33	111	148	205-60 5-5	169	47	46	187	209	2 I-65US-72	
124	32	36	110	146	205-60	170	47	83	177	192	4 I-40	
125	32	50	210	254	205-63 1-44	171	47	84	384	417	4 I-64	
126	32	52	205	273	205-63	172	47	85	269	315	4 I-65 I-71	
127	33	35	- 99	132	2 5-6405-65	173	48	47	159	173	4US-41 I-24	
128	33	39	123	164	2 8-508-54	174	48	84	392	426	4 1-64	
129	77	49	181	230	2 1-44 5-815-47115-72	175	48	85	224	243	4 I-64 I-71	
130	77	50	1.45	179	4 T-44	176	49	47	171	194	2US-60 I-24	
131	77	52	151	187	2 1-4405-63	177	50	47	328	357	4 1-64 1-57 1-2	4
132	33	51	75	100	2 5-4119-24	178	50	48	172	187	4 1-64	
133	34	52	61	- A9	205-65 1-70	179	50	49	148	161	4 I-55	
174	74	57	45	97	200-45	180	50	89	235	255	4 1-70	
+ 2 7		<u> </u>			المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع						•	

· .														
Ar	c	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes		Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes	
18	31	51	50	116	155	208-61		227	· 78	76	106	115	4 I-95	
18	12	51	52	119	159	209-6109-54		228	79	77	189	205	4 I-77 I-81	
. 18	33	52	50	106	115	4 I-70		229	• 79	80	167	182	4 I-85 I-40	
18	34	53	51	130	172	208-3608-61		230	80	77	163	177	4US220 I-85	
18	35	53	54	149	171	2US-36 I-35		231	80	78	173	188	4 I-85	
16	36	54	89	465	521	4 I-80 I-74		232	81	42	104	139	205-25	•
18	37	54	90	327	355	4 I-80		233	81	79	90	9 8	4 I-85	
18	38	54	92	252	274	4 I-35		234	81	82	95	103	4 I-26	
18	39	55	54	132	143	4 I-80		235	82	79	94	102	4 I-77	
19	20	56	55	159	212	2US-75		236	82	80	205	223	4 I-20 I-95	
. 19	21	57	56	127	138	4KTNPK		237	83	77	263	286	4 I-81	
19	22	58	56	195	260	209-75		238	83	80	359	405	4 I-40	
19	73	59	58	117	127	4 I-40		239	83	81	150	163	4 I-40 I-26	
19	74	59	101	243	264	4US-69 I-40		240	83	84	335	364	4 I-81 I-77	
19	75	60	59	154	167	4 I-40		241~	83	85	253	275	4 1-75	
19	76	61	60	151	201	205-65		242	84	/5	213	231	4 1-79	
19	77	62	61	120	113	2 I-20US-61		243	84	77	181	197	4 1-77 1-81	
19	78	62	97	219	238	4 I-20		244	84	78	306	330	4 1-64	
19	79	63	62	93	101	4 1-20		243	84	/9	287	312	4 1-//	
20	00	63	98	194	211	4 I-59		240	100 100	04	208	220 54	4 I=75	
20	01	64	62	182	198	205-4905-98		24/	80	71	107	202	4 I-7J	
20	0,2	64	63	133	146	205-45		240	07	71	710	203	A 2-00 T-PA	
20	03	64	98	144	157	4 1-10		297	07	75	120	140	AT-805	
20	04	65	64	62	67	4 1-10		230	07	7.0	747	17V	A 1-77	
20	05	66	65	186	202			221	07 00	47	270	207	A 1-45	
20	06	6/	66	133	143	4 1-75 1-10		253	89	48	167	210	2 1-70118-41	
20	07	68	99	268	271	4 1-75		254	go	85	104	115	4 T-74	
· 20	08	70	07	203	1//	4 1-90		255		86	107	116	4 I-70	
20	109	71	70	283	370	4 1-70 A 1-00 1-01		256	90	48	296	322	4 I-57 I-64	
<u>4</u> .	11	71	/3 40	240	224 /	A T-84		257	90	49	376	409	4 I-57	
2.	17	72	70	154	147	4 T		258	90	51	308	363	2 I-55 S-125US-24	
. 2.	17	72	74	190	194	4 T-78		259	90	88	266	289	4 I-94	
2.	1.0 1.4	72	74	233	253	4 1-95		260	90	89	181	197	4 I-65	
2	15	73	70	173	188	4 I-81 I-88		261	91	90	87	95	4 I-94	
2. T	16	77	72	139	150	4 1-84		262	92	90	405	440	4 I-9 4 I-90	
2	17	74	71	278	365	4 2-79 I-90		263	92	91	349	379	4 I-94	
2	18	74	73	118	128	4 I-81		264	93	55	897	975	4 I-90 I-29	
2	19	74	75	189	205	4 I-76		265	93	94	559	608	4 I-90 I-25	
2	20	75	71	216	236	4 I-79 I-90		266	94	55	537	584	4I-805 I-80	
2	21	76	74	107	116	4 I-83		267	94	56	540	587	4 I-70	
2	22	76	75	221	240	4 I-76 I-70		268	.94	57	509	553	4 I-70I-35W	
2	23	76	84	344	374	4 I-81 I-64		269	94	100	423	510	2 I-25US-87	
2	24	77	74	289	314	4 I-81		270	94	108	456	496	4 1-25	
2	25	77	76	225	245	4 I-81 I-66		27ì	95	57	159	173	4 I-25	
					100	A T /A .		ツフワ	05	50	1 05	114	4 T-44	

•

•

Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Time	La. Routes	Arc	Orig.	Dest. 1	Dist.	Time	La. Routes
273	95	59	184	200	4 I-40	309	110	111	379	412	4 I-5
274	96	59	181	241	205-71	310	111	94	1059	1151	4 I-15 I-70
275	96	60	140	152	4 I-20	311	111	106	715	777	4 I-15
276	96	61	206	275	2US-82	312	111	107	389	423	4 I-10
277	97	61	210	257	2 I-20US165US-82	313	112	41	106	115	2US-17 I-95
278	97	96	70	76	4 I-71	. 314	112	42	139	185	205-7805-28
279	98	62	178	293	4 I-55	315	112	80	255	277	2US-52 I-95
280	98	97	313	396	2 I-10US-71	316	112	82	113	123	4 I-26
281	99	67	127	138	4 I-75	. 317	113	92	153	166	4 1-35
282	100	95	258	280	4 I-40	318	113	118	251	334	2 US-25T200ST-34US-10
283	100	101	358	390	4US287	319	114	50	100	109	4 I-55
284	100	102	419	559	205-7005-54	320	114	51	127	169	4US-36
285	100	104	516	688	2US-87	321	114	54	326	354	4 I-55 I-74 I-80
286	101	95	206	224	4 I-35	322	114	89	193	260	205-36
287	101	96	175	190	4 I-3 0	323	114	90	189	205	4 I-55
288	101	97	185	201	4 I-20	324	115	86	155	168	4 1-75
289	102	101	620	674	4 I-20	325	115	87	111	120	4 1-90
290	102	104	574	624	4 I-10 .	326	115	88	61	66	4 1-75
291	103	97	309	388	2 I-35 S-31 I-20	327	115	89	219	245	4 1-6905-24
29 2	103	101	193	210	4 I-35	328	115	90	232	252	41-90
293	103	105	164	201	2US183 I-10	329	115	116	133	180	205-23
294	104	103	77	83	4 I-35	330	116	75	182	198	A T-70
295	104	105	197	214	4 I-10	331	116	84	164	219	205-33
296	105	97	234	262	2US-59US-79	332	116	85	108	117	A T-71
297	105	98	356	387	4 I-10	333	116	86	- 45	71	A T-70
298	105	101	243	264	4 I-45	334	116	87	139	151	4 T+71
299	106	93	551	654	4 I-15 I-90	335	117	119	172	187	4 I-5
300	106	94	504	548	4 I-80 I-25	336	117	110	640	695	A T-5
301	106	117	780	848	41-80N	337	118	92	234	254	A T-94
302	107	108	432	490	4 I-17 I-40	338	118	93	611	664	A T-9A
303	107	102	443	482	4 I-10	339	119	88	147	160	4 1-94
304	108	100	284	308	4 I-40	340	119	89	241	321	4115131115-31
305	108	102	266	289	4 I-25	341	119	90	168	183	41-196 T-94
306	109	93	845	918	4 I-90	342	120	78	90	98	A T
307	109	106	871	947	4 I-90 I-82I-80N	343	120	80	169	225	205-58 1-95
308	110	106	752	817	4 I-80		*			dan dan 147	

.

RAIL ARCS

Orig. Dest. Dist. Speed Cap. RRCo. Dest. Dist. Speed Cap. RRCo. Arc Arc. Orig. - 54 6 23 25 35 20 24 21 12 24 99 26 26 27 27 35 24(2)
Arc.	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Cap.	RRCo.			Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Cap.	RRCo.		
433	30	49	29	35	80	28	27		479	52	51	88	35	80	20	3	
474	31	30	44	35	40	19			480	53	37	75	28	24	3	1	
434	71	50	130	35	40	19			481	53	52	83	28	24	3	20	
435	32	36	113	35	40	27			482	53	54	161	28	24	8		
430	77	50	182	35	40	27			483	53	90	412	35	40	8		
437	74	51	155	35	40	1			484	54	55	135	35	192	7	17	8
430	74	52	55	35	40	19	20	13	485	55	93	896	12	10	3		
437	75	52	60	28	48	18	19	8	486	55	94	560	35	40	3	30	
440	77.6	77	57	7,5	40	27		-	487	56	57	160	28	24	8		
447	36	39	83	28	24	27			488	57	94	580	28	24	1		
AA7	36	40	65	35	40	27			489	57	100	348	28	48	1	8	
443	77	54	170	28	24	3	7		490	58	59	124	28	24	19	-	
444	.37	55	127	12	10	3	•		491	58	95	119	28	24	27		
445	70	77.4	00	45	50	17	19	3 20 1	492	59	101	319	28	24	19		
440	30	37 75	00	70	74	10	á	0,00,1	497	50	40	160	28	24	19		
44/	30	30	104	10	10	27	0		470	50	05	210	12	10	- é		
448	30	30	. 104	75		~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	10		405	50	04	100	75	40	1.4		
449	38 70	3/	107	30	40	77	14	10	475	57	96	1 4 4	35	40	19		
450	38	37	103	30	40	17	14	17	407	40	00	AQ A	35	40	10		
401	38		0/	40	70	70	1		400	47	70	170	10	10	17	17	
452	38	20	00	30	100	30	Ŧ		470	62	27	130	12	20	17	17	
453	38	5/	22/	40	100	10		10	500	47	44	170	12	10	17	10	
454	38	38	170	28	10	10	1	17	501	40	00	107	75	77	17	1 7	17
455	39	30	92	12	10	10			502	50 67	70	177	12	20	17	27	13
456	40	28	310	12	10	17	1.4	10	507	47	00	202	20	24	24	2/	
437	40	37	445	30	40	27	14	17	504	44	45	2V2 04	12	10	14		
458	40	28	110	30	40	2/	77		505	64	00	140	75	40	16		
459	- 40	27	1/5	28	24	14	21		505	45	44	202	12	10	16		
460	41	<u>_</u>	/8	30	40	23			500	44	47	140	17	10	77		
461	41	3	/5	12	10	24			500	47	00	1 4 1	14	40	23		
462	41	4		30	40	23			500	40	70	201	75	117	20	4	
463	41	5	118	14	10	23			510	20	70	201	35	70	4	0	
464	41	80	361	30	40	23			511	70	71	230	30	100	4		
465	41	82	141	35	40	23		•	510	70	71	100	75	40	<u>ک</u>		
466	42	43	93	. 12	2	12			512	70	73	104	UC 21	100	20	21	
467	42	44	159	28	24	12			513	71	0/	104	40	40	20	21	
468	42	81	128	12	10	23			515	. /1	20	147	35	112	4	4	
469	42	82	82	12	10	24	• /	34	515	70	70	174	33	77	۵ ۲	0	
470	44	45	136	30	80	10	10	24	310	70	73	107	35	144	~	4	
471	45	46	. 151	28	24	16	24		510	70	74	205	715	117	4	5	
4/2	47	45	101	30 7e	40	10				14	70	22J 727	30	112	<u>ل</u>		
473	47	48	160	30	40	10			517	/ S 77	71	1714	50 71 =	40	□ ∡		
474	48	50	166	28	24	16			020 504	יביר יייויי	74	710		10	4		
475	48	90	289	30	40	10			321	/3	70	310	12	100			
476	49	50	130	40	72	27	19		522	74	/0	40	40	100	21		
477	51	50	129	28	24	3			023	74	/0	114	. 30 me	72	0 E		
478	52	50	130	45	100	8,3	3, 19, 1	3,18, 20	524	/5	76	296	30	12	3		

Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Cap.	RRCo.				Arc	Orig.	Dest.	Dist.	Speed	Cap.	RRCo.		
525	75	87	131	35	216	21	5	6		574	97	96	73	28	24	14	26	
526	75	116	191	35	72	21		-		575	97	101	194	45	20	29		
527	74	77	227	35	40	20				576	97	105	232	35	40	26	14	
570	70	70	117	45	200	24	22			577	98	97	315	12	10	15		
J20 500	77	01	225	75	- 70	20	8 Si			578	9 8	105	363	12	10	26		
527	70	707	174	75	00	20				579	99	88	261	35	40	23		
530	78		1/4	33		20				580	100	108	374	75	40	1		
531	/8	/9	2/9	30	40	24				501	101	107	200	20	24	10		
232	78	80	137	33	40	~ ~ 3		•		501	101	105	207			10		
533	18	84	367	30	40	3				J0∠ 507	101	103	201	33 75	40			
534	79	80	156	35	40	23				003	101	7.J	230	30	40	22	1	
535	79	81	98	45	100	23	24			284	102	100	446	28	24	26		
536	80	41	375	35	40	23				585	102	101	646	35	40	29		
537	81	44	154	145	100	24	23			586	102	104	610	35	40	26		
538	82	79	108	-28	24	24				587~	102	107	434	35	40	26		
539	82	80	203	35	40	23				588	102	108	255	28	24	1		
540	82	81	111	12	20	24	23			589	103	104	82	.24	19			
541	83	44	197	28	24	16				590	105	103	174	35	40	1	26	
542	83	45	111	35	80	24	24	16		591	105	104	210	28	24	26		
543	83	47	216	12	10	16	24			592	106	110	821	35	72	26	32	
544	83	79	269	28	24	24				593	106	111	783	35	40	30		
545	84	85	204	45	100	5				594	107	111	425	35	112	-1	26	
546	85	. 48	229	28	48	16	24			595	108	107	5 76		72	1		
547	85	50	338	28	24	5				596	110	117	742	35	40	26	32	
548	85	83	292	35	80	24	16			597	111	110	470	35	80	26	26	1
549	85	90	281	35	40	5				598	112	41	111	35	40	23		
550	86	85	55	45	100	21				599	112	80	204	35	40	23		
551	86	87	109	35	144	21	21			600	112	82	129	12	10	24		
552	84	90	248	35	40	5				601	113	92	145	28	24	3		
553	87	90	340	35	256	20	5	21	6	602	114	50	99	35	72	13	13	20
554	88	90	272	35	. 72	21	20			603	114	51	123	35	40	20		
555	80	47	208	12	10	Å	14			604	114	90	185	35	40	13	13	
556	89	50	240	75	40	Ä	10			605	115	75	261	35	40	21		
557	go	85	100	75	40	5				606	115	86	160	35	40	5		
550	00	00	104	75	40	21	14			607	115	87	107	45	100	21		
550	07	114	107	35	40	21	10			608	115	88	56	35	184	10	21	20
540	0,	117	744	30		17				409	115	90	243	45	100	21		
541	00	50	204	75	20	77				A10	115	114	135	45	100	20	21	
547	. 70	50	204	0-U AS	100	33 7	4			411	114	04	71	75	224	21	21	21
547	00	51	750	75	104	ن ۳	477	0	7	417	110	00	170	15	100	21	~ 1	
544	70	01	3.70	3.J 455	104	· _	1/	4 7	3	61Z 417	114	94	204	45	100	20	5	
545	- 7V	71	707	43	100	. 4		17		613	110	104	07/	75	100	20		
565	70	72	370	30	40	E	4			014	11/	100	800	30	40	30		
J00 E/7	72	71	J∠/ 007	40	/2	· 20	1/			015	11/	109	183	40	100	ა 7	7	
30/	73	109	703	30	40		- 5	17		010	118	72	10% ^^	30	12	37	37	
208	74 05	106	3/0	35	112	Y	30			617	118	93	. 640	35	40	د ر	3	
369	95	57	1/2	35	80	8	1			618	119	88	152	35	40	6		
570	. 75	100	274	12	10	8				617	119	90	184	30	40	0		
5/1	96	101	182	45	30	29	26			620	120	//	258	ುರು 	40	20		
572	96	103	460	28	- 24	19				621	120	78	109	. 45	100	: 6	20	
573	97	62	218	12	10	13				-		•						

WATER ARCS

AEC	orig.	Dest.	prar.	Sheed	LOCK	Chan	5y8.	
623	62	7 8	337	7	0	11	12	
624	61	62	101	7	0	11	12	
625	23	61	80	7	0	11	12	
626	26	23	120	7	0	11	12	
627	24	26	115	7	0	11	12	
628	49	24	168	7	0	11	12	
629	50	49	128	. 7	2	9	12	
630	51	50	147	7	7	9	12	
631	92	51	526	7	22	9	12	
632	58	59	182	7	5		2	
633	59	60	230	7	6		2	
634	60	61	154	7	6		2	
635	52	50	179	7	0	8	13	
636	34	52	78	7	0	8	13	
637	38	34	109	7	0	8	13	
638	37	38	82	7	0	8	13	
639	55	37	168	7	0	8	13	
640	25	49	222	7	6	11	18	
641	20	25	60	7	1	11	18	
642	18	20	50	7	0	11	18	
643	16	18	48	7	- 4	11	18	
644	46	16	19	7	0	11	18	
645	45	46	141	7	2	11	18	
646	83	45	184	7	3	11	18	
647	47	47	304	7	7	11	6	
648	48	49	241	74	9	11	15	
649	85	48	322	7	4	11	15	
650	75	85	470	7	6	11	15	
651	84	85	263	7	- 4		11	
652	90	50	365	7	9		10	
653	19	64	215	7	4		19	
654	22	19	125	7	2		19	
655	21	22	75	7	4		19	

Arc	orig.	Dest.	D18C.	speed	LOCK	Chan	sys.
656	20	21	55	7	4		19
657	17	19	224	7	2		4
658	13	64	334	7	3		1
659	15	65	100	7	1		5
660	11	15	200	7	2		5
661	42	41	150	7	· 0		17
662	70	72	180	7	0	12	9
663	71	70	342	7	35	20	14
664	69	72	265	10	-1	-1	3
665	72	120	440	10	-1	-1	3
666	120	76	197	-10	-1	-1	3
667	120	112	460	10	-1	-1	3
668	112	41	121	10	-1	-1	3
669	41	1	90	10	-1	-1	3
670	1	2	90	10	-1	-1	3
671	2	68	371	10	-1	-1	3
672	68	77	369	10	-1	-1	3
673	99	66	220	10	-1	-1	8
674	66	65	253	10	-1	-1	8
675	65	64	81	10	-1	-1	8
676	64	98	166	10	-1	-1	8
677	98	105	417	10	-1	-1	8
678	111	110	351	10	-1	-1	16
679	110	117	635	10	-1	-1	16
680	117	109	361	10	-1	-1	16
681	71	87	176	10	-1	-1	7
682	87	88	108	10	-1	-1	7
683	88	91	568	10	-1	-1	7
684	88	113	726	10	-1	-1	7
685	113	91	743	10	-1	-1	7
686	91	90	85	10	-1	-1	7
687	115	88	54	10	-1	-1	7
688	87	115	96	10	-1	-1	7
689	72	76	270	10	-1	-1	3

.

.

. ..

APPENDIX D

MANUFACTURING INDUSTRY DATA

	СО	ммор	ITY	G	ROUP		
	201	202	203	204	205	206	207
COMPANIES ESTABLISHMENTS	3,9 44 4,437	3,557 4, 5 90	1,923 2,557	2,223 3,080	3,044 3,633	1,043 1,249	
MEAN DIRECT LABOR WAGE/HR.	\$ 3.78	\$3.88	\$3.09	\$3.94	\$3.94	\$ 3.48	\$3.76
INPUT PER TON SHIPPED							
DIRECT LABOR, HRS. INDIRECT LABOR CAPITAL INVESTMENT ENERGY, KWH EQ.	16.1 \$20.0 \$85.5 1246	18.7 \$85.5 \$267,	11.5 \$10.6 \$940. 932	2.7 \$ 5.5 \$49.4 678	120. \$ 385. \$ 974	114. \$ 147. \$ 1552. 25.250.	1.9 \$ 3.7 \$40.3 189.
RAW MATERIALS, TONS COMMODITY/TONS	021/0.87 025/0.38 201/0.16	024/0.09 202/0.40	0 1 3/0.84 341/	011/ 207/0.18	204/2.71	013/30.3 017/0.19 206/1.88	013/0.79 207/0.01

INDUSTRY DATA

	С	O M M O	DITY		GRO	R O U P		
	208	209	210	220	230	240	250	
COMPANIES ESTABLISHMENTS	2,980 3,624	3,486 4,153	177 272	5,611 7,203	21,949 24,438	31,935 33,948	8,482 9,232	
MEAN DIRECT LABOR WAGE/HR.	\$4.44	\$3.26	\$3.75	\$2.79	\$2.53	\$3.37	\$3.08	
INPUT PER TON SHIPPED								
DIRECT LABOR HOURS	4.3	15.0	73.5	143	372	9.8	134	
INDIRECT LABOR CAPITAL INVESTMENT ENERGY, KWH EQUIV.	\$22.0 105. 706	\$31. 0 \$162 3 , 910	\$69.6 \$ 666 3,780	\$103 \$775 6,110	\$303 \$475 3,140	\$ 8.9 \$ 35 170	\$ 155 \$ 2550 1250	
RAW MATERIALS, TONS COMMODITY/TONS	208/0.04	209/0.25 091/0.09	0 13. 25 210/0.47	20 2/0. 37 282 / 0.24	220/1.63	240/	220/0.01 240/1.08 285/0.003 331/0.38 333/0.01	

342/0.15

	COMMODITY		GROUP					
	260	270	281	282	283	284	285,9	
COMPANIES	3,956	39,894	345	265	922	2,308	3,361	
ESTABLISHMENTS	6,038	42,102	1,049	461	1,078	2,5/3	4,204	
MEAN DIRECT LABOR WAGE/HR.	\$4.15	\$4.62	\$4.94	\$4.50	\$4.41	\$4.04	\$4.10	
INPUT PER TON SHIPPED								
DIRECT LABOR HRS. INDIRECT LABOR CAPITAL INVESTMENT ENERGY, KWH EQUIV.	1.18 \$ 19.0 \$ 220 4,370	211 \$ 782 \$1760 5,370	2.5 \$ 8.9 \$56. 13,620	9.7 \$24.8 \$214.	88.6 \$ 556 \$2,040 13,050	12.1 \$ 43.8 \$ 124. 1,370	13.1 \$54.1 \$9 8. 3 2,970	
RAW MATERIAL, TONS COMMODITY/TONS	240/2.00 260/0.84	260/3.89 289/0.06 390/0.02	102/0.25 140/0.09 281/0.08 331/0.01		203/	207/0.05 281/0.18 284/0.05	207/0.01 281/0.11 282/0.05 286/0.05 287/0.02	

:	C 0	MMODI	TY	G	ROU	P	
	286	287	290	301	302	310	321
COMPANIES	557	795	1,236	136	7,799	2,699	13,170
ESTABLISHMENTS	827	1,233	2,016	206	9,031	3,201	15,817
MEAN DIRECT LABOR WAGE/HR	\$5.27	\$3.94	\$5.31	\$5.37	\$3.37	\$2.74	\$3.95
INPUT PER TON SHIPPED		、					
DIRECT LABOR, HRS. INDIRECT LABOR CAPITAL INVESTMENT ENERGY, KWH EQUIV.	5.8 \$ 22.1 \$387. 10,770	2.9 \$8.6 29. 171.	0.3 \$0.9 \$20. 749	29.7 \$53.7 \$496 4,160	70.7 \$111. \$343. 1,590	409. \$294. \$265 8,034	8.7 \$ 13.1 \$ 88 2,260
RAW MATERIALS, TONS COMMODITY/TONS	140/0.02 2 81 /0.18 287/0.04 290/0.53	140/2.67 281/0.06 287/0.02	130/1.20 140/0.08 290/0.02 321/0.004	220/0.06 281/0.05 282/0.14 286/0.38 289/0.16 302/0.05	281/0.04 282/0.52 286/0.03 289/0.02 302/0.05 321/0.01	201/0.54 310/0.07	140/2.79 281/0.03 282/0.001 324/0.08 331/0.0001

.

	COM	MODITY		GR	O U P		
	324	331	333	341	342	358	350
COMPANIES	75	1,855	3,745	223	26,150	1,566	36,519
ES TABLISHMENTS	198	2,370	4,422	5 53	28,972	1,769	39,023
MEAN DIRECT LABOR							
WAGE/HR.	\$5 . 54	\$ 5.05	\$ 4. 30	\$4.86	\$ 4.10	\$ 4.27	\$ 4.50
INPUT PER TON SHIPPED							
DIRECT LABOR, HRS.	0.83	9.9	18.8	33.9	60.6	127.2	154.5
INDIRECT LABOR	\$ 1.24	\$ 15.6	\$ 31.3	\$37.9	\$115.	\$293	\$447
CAPITAL INVESTMENT	\$64.3	\$242.	\$482.	\$445.	\$295.	\$145	\$1.213.
ENERGY, KWH EQUIV.	2,255.	3,896.	7,054.	603.	2.166	5300	1.604
RAW MATERIALS, TONS	-	·	•				-,,
COMMODITY/TONS	140/	101/10.45	102/0.26 3	31/1.6 3	282/0.002	331/1.04	110/0.01
	260/	102/0.01	140/0.004	333/0.12	331/1.04	333/0.01	331/0.79
		110/0.68	281/0.25		333/0.06	342/0.01	342/0.05
		140/0.07	282/0.04		342/0.003		,
		321/0.29	331/0.001				
		331/0.27	335/0.32				
		333/0.01					

•

204

. .

	C O	MMODI	ТҮ	G	ROUP	
	361	362	37	1 372	380	390
COMPANIES	8,742	1,289	2,817	4,731	5,269	14,560
ESTABLISHMENTS	10,763	1,511	3,391	5,411	5,987	15,188
MEAN DIRECT LABOR						
WAGE/HR.	\$ 3.88	\$3.85	\$5.35	\$4.76	\$ 3.90	\$3.20
INPUT PER TON SHIPPED						
DIRECT LABOR, HRS.	156.8	131.	35.9	19.3	398	148.
INDIRECT LABOR	\$449.	\$306	\$52.8	\$84.5	\$1440	\$244
CAPITAL INVESTMENT	\$1,024.	\$1,034.	\$320.	\$95 . 2	\$2760	\$600
ENERGY, KWH EOUIV.	4,210	6,930	1,890.	694	1406	4100
RAW MATERIALS, TONS		•	-			
COMMODITY / TONS	282/0.03	282/0.004	282/	331/0.07	207/0.004	282/0.08
	331/0.29	331/0.74	331/0.40	333/0.09	331/0.10	310/0.003
	340/0.002	333/0.35	333/0.07	342/0.003	342/0.003	331/0.12
		342/0.001	342/0.03		•	333/0.01

APPENDIX E TRANSPORTATION COSTS FOR COMMODITIES

,

Line haul and loading and unloading costs are presented in this appendix for the rail and highway modes. The material is divided into four tables whose contents are as follows:

- Railroad line haul costs per ton mile by commodity for each of three rail carrier cost areas. The first 53 entries are ordered by commodity for RCCA-1; the next 53 for RCCA-2 and the final 53 for RCCA-3.
- Railroad loading and unloading costs per ton. Each entry includes loading plus unloading cost. These costs are listed by commodity for each of the three RCCAs as above.
- 3. Highway Line haul costs per ton mile by commodity for each of the eight motor carrier cost areas. The first 53 entries are ordered by commodity for MCCA-1, etc.
- Highway loading and unloading costs per ton. These are listed by commodity for each MCCA.

RAILROAD LINE HAUL COSTS -- DOLLARS PER TON MILE

+0.122	.0133	.0176	.0118	.0219	.0140	+0155	.0102	.0097	.010
.0103	·0106	.0150	.0159	.0123	.0130	+0282	.0107	.0106	•01
.0119	.0354	.0205	.0205	.0124	10391	.0131	.0167	.0105	+0104
.0150	.0178	.0121	+0105	.0108	.0118	,0124	.0205	.0198	•0216
.0103	.0116	+0113	.0110	•0306	+0150	.0203	.0122	.0272	.0197
0195	+0201	+0254	.0102	+0107	.0139	.0095	.0159	.0110	.0121
•0083	.0029	.0031	.0083	.0085	.0122	.0121	•0099	.0104	.0233
20087	.0085	.0099	:0097	+0123	·0161	+0161	.0099	.0303	10105
.0134	.0095	.0085	.0119	.0145	.0097	.0085	.0087	+0095	+0099
.0161	+0156	.0172	.0084	• 0024	+0091	.0089	+0237	•0118	•0158
• 0098	.0211	.0154	.0151	•0159	·0198	+0107	•0110	•0143	+0102
.0J80	.0114	.0130	.0089	.0084	.0087	+0089	.0091	.0129	0128
.0103	10108	.0246	.0091	+0091	+0103	.0101	+0128	.0166	.0166
.0104	+0312	.0109	.0139	.0090	40088	.0123	.0152	.0102	.0090
.0093	+0100	+0106	.0166	.0160	+0178	.0089	+0098	+0097	.0092
.0244	+0127	.0166	.0101	.0217	+0159	.0156	+0164	.0204	

RAILROAD LOADING & UNLOADING COSTS --- DOLLARS PER TON

2 1110	7.0204	A. 490%	2.6843	4.1794	3.4134	2.1742	2.0860	1.9078	2.0265
0 0 0 7 A 3	. 0. 00/5	7.5840	3.1482	3.5357	3.7337	19,1913	2.9263	2.7651	4.1704
2001 7 00A7	シン いちんひ	×.1907	A.1807	2,9430	16.4659	3,6521	6.8314	2.3647	3.3589
-3+0747 A 0777	2+2000 b okeo	5 6427	2.3868	2,3971	3.0320	2,9712	6.8496	6.5915	8.4724
4+0007	0.42020	- 2.47 x 07 - 10.2 x 0	5 5073	9.7305	4.0555	7.0952	4.8117	10.3201	9.8178
242010	247500	- K. (JODO) - 20 (JOD)	5 6370	0.7500 0.7501	4.9131	1.23333	2.3228	2.2399	1,3592
948203	ひょうびぶや オークのつす	1 4 7 4 7 7	- えょしらいる - キードロオム	4 A 1 1 1	S. 728A	2.1423	2.4604	2.5728	13.0854
1+3378	الكمكم والأ	1. • 2.7 07	ALL A COLOUR M	1 10 00 1	A 0024	4.0094	1.9114	11.4729	2.4356
2.0727	1.47422	2 7 4 L L	2.7008	0.42/40/1	4+0004	1 4 5277	1.5.4.5	1,9903	1,9186
4.7649	1.5537	2.4762	2.6348	0.407.274	1 4 0 7 0 0	4 ZAOR	エキびひょい え つつつ向	2.7106	5.0787
4.6773	475132	5+5657	1.98//	1.7940	1+6480	1.0400	Q + 2.2.2 C	Z A005	2.3019
3,2678	7,2819	7.8412	3+4277	4+1420	0+1173	0.0410	3 (0-2-0 Z 5 (1 Z C)C	0+**2.20 ** **2.20	20101
4,0394	3.2270	2.1946	2+0528	1.8898	1+8583	2.2414	2+1620	7+3007	5,1000
3.4314	3.6000	18,2312	2.8727	2+7163	4.0501	3.7830	7.7286	0.8200	0.0200
2.8443	15.4341	3,5195	6.5402	2.3204	3,3073	3.8793	7.8578	2.0203	2+0400
2.3355	2,9402	2.8387	6.4893	6+2033	8.0059	2,2237	2.6680	2+46/6	.4670
9+0583	3+8790	6.7593	4.7141	9.7557	9.4962	4.9720	6+0204	7+4341	

HIGHWAY LINE HAUL COSTS -- DOLLARS PER TON MILE

.1282	+1005	.1608	.2010	.2873	.1005	.1105	.2010	. 2010	.2010
.2010	.1960	.1422	.1055	.1005	1005	1507	- 1 1 5 A	1502	1005
. 1005	.1408	1105	. 2413	.1417	2010	1007	1005	+ 1 0 0 7	• 1 Q Q D
. 1005	1005	1407	1400	• 1 (F & Z) (C A (S	1 2 5 2	1050	1.677.72	+1000	0.01.L.• 4.7.N.0
11259	.1016	• 1 0 A 0	11100	* 1 7 Y V 20 1 A	+ LOUZ 1770	1007	4.1.007	+ 1 0 O O	4 JLG V B 10 2 4 22
05.202	4 JULA 444 1 11 202	1207	+1140	4 AL 21 A 44	*1/77	* 1 4 3 7	• J. J. (777) 	+1.6V8 6600 4	+ < / 1.0
4 4 5 7 6	* L I V U	+1302	+0709	-0008	10890	• it it it it	• 1.0 % 1	+0558	+0612
41112	the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second se	• J. J. J. A.	• 1 T T T T	+1084	+0790	• 0288	.0556	+0558	• 0834
•U6-5V	• 0354	.0556	•0556	+0890	+0915	•1446	+0784	•1112	+0556
 €000a 	+0234	+0630	+0555	+0528	•0778	•0934	•1023	•0251	•1029
+ 083A	10850	•0850	+0923	•0673	+1023	+0334	•1612	•0984	•0295
+0512	.0820	•1501	+1426	.0712	+0723	.0725	,053B	*0208	.1136
+1626	:0338	10325	+1136	•1136	.1136	+1136	.1108	10807	.0602
8500 -	+ 0558	:0852	.0453	.0852	. 0 538	•0538	•0909	,0625	.1477
.0801	+11.55	.0538	,0568	.0954	+0355	.0538	.0591	,0795	.0934
.1096	c0737	.1051	.0852	.0909	+0202	.0994	.0487	.1045	.0648
.1647	.1005	.0812	.0625	.0909	.152.4	1452	.0425	.0738	.0547
.0444	.0710	.0839	.1221	.0444	.0488	. 6888	0899	0228	00007
+0966	.0430	.0421	.0444	.0444	. 0444	0511	• 00000 6477	64.54	• 00000
.0710	.0488	.1152	0424	. 0999	0444	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• V · · · · · ·	• • • • • • •
.0642	.0422	0244	A082	- 00000 ASOQ	40494	• 0 · · · · · · · ·	49740	+ V J J J 	+ 04444
0.0522	0012		• 00007 • 0007	+ V/ O 7 7 2012 CD 7	• V O Z J. 7. 7 1961	+ Opda	* 0 2 1 0	• U Z E U	*0777
0.400	• COLZ A612 2	•0005	+ 1.3OQ	0200	+0838	+0488	•0710	<117A	•1135
•0408 A933	+0077	+0001	+0971 0040	• 07:34	•0942	•1348	• 0 4 7 1	+0518	+ 0942
+ 17 2 (t.s. 0 22 0 2	* 0742 2.502	* U Y 4 2	*0×13	•0009	+0499	+04/1	• Q-3 7 1.	•0706	.0542
.0708	* (2471	*0473	+0754	•0518	+1225	•0664	•0942	.0471	•0471
•0791	• 0546	•0471	+0490	•0659	•0791	•0909	•0636	•0871	+0706
+0754	+0754	•0824	,0520	•0867	+0537	:1366	•0834	+0674	+0518
+0754	.1272	.1208	.0518	.0312	+0521	.0408	0653	+0816	+1168
•0408	.0449	·0816	.0814	•0816	.0816	.0798	. 0579	+0432	70408
.0408	+0612	•0469	.0612	.0408	+0408	.0653	.0449	+1051	.0575
→081 <i>6</i>	*0408	.0408	.0685	.0473	.0408	.0424	.0521	20485	.0282
+0551	.0755	•0612	•0653	.0653	.0714	.0424	× 0.251	.0465	.1182
.0722	.0583	.0449	10653	.1102	.1047	. 6449	. 05 30	0524	0440
.0704	.0880	1259	. 0440	. 6294	0990	0000	+ 90010 ACOA	+ 0001	00000
.0425	.0455	. 0440	.0.040	.0140	+ VOOV 0504	+0000	•0000	10000	.0838
0484	. 1144	.0420	0000	100000	+00000	+ VOOV	+ 0/5/40/ Alter A	0440	+0203
0414	6.2.1.2.0	+ \$166.5	•0000	* V ** ** V	•0440	• 0 Z .3 Y	+ 0 0 0 0	+0440	.0408
0010		+0042	10024		.0660	• 0 Z 0 4	•0/03	+0770	+0235
+ 0010 ARTO	+ 0 0 0 Z	+1×70	.0779	+0022	•0484	•0704	•3168	.1129	.0484
+ 0.07 &	+ 07 - 17	10087	.07.57	•11/4	+1650	+0587	•0646	•1174	.1174
+2174 Arcom	•11/4 0C07	• 1 2 4 0 6 5 5 5 6	•0834	+0625	+0587	.0582	•0880	•0675	+0880
10087	+0587	+0838	·0646	.1526	•0828	•1124	+05CZ	+0587	.0986
+0681	.0587	•0610	+0825	•0986	.1133	.0792	.1086	+ 0880	•0939
.0939	+1027	.0710	·1080	10669	+1702	+1039	.0839	.0646	+0939
11535	,1506	.0646	+0763	.0883	+0692	·1107	.1384	.1981	.0692
0761	i 1384	.1384	.1384	.1384	•1349	.0983	.0734	.0692	.0392
.1038	.0796	.1038	+0592	.0692	+1107	.0761	.1799	.0976	.1384
.0692	:0692	.1163	.0803	.0692	.0720	.0969	.1143	1773	.0934
.1280	.1038	.1107	.1107	.1211	.0837	1077	.0700	2002	1000
.0990	.0761	.1107	.1868	1279	.0761	.0000	09222	0491	・ホニニー のとつみ
0842	1205	0421	0.0427	6040	0040	0040	* V G G Z	* 0 m a 1	10074
.0435	.0421	.6423	.0430		*V042 0423	+ 0 0 4 2	+ U042 A 404	+0821	•0098
1005	6504	0040	0401	* 0 4 0 4	+ 0001	*0424	• O ** 2. 1.	+0074	+0403
0.202	40024	+0042	+ \$219 Z.L.	+0421	+0707	+ 0488	•0421	•0438	0588
+0707	40010	80008 Amain	+ 4777	• VO31	+ UOZA	+00/4	+0/3/	.0509	+0775
10480	• Landal +	+ V Z 4 D	+0802	<u>्</u> र्म्युड	+08/4	•113Z	+1080	•0463	•0547
+0031	.0416	.0666	•0832	1191	•0416	+0458	•0032	+0835	.0832
+0832	•0311	+0591	.0441	+0416	•0416	+0324	.0478	+0624	.0416
.0416	•0666	•0458	.1082	+0582	•0832	•0416	+0416	.0699	.0483
.0416	+0433	10285	+0699	•0803	.0532	.0770	+0624	•0666	10666
+0728	.0503	•0765	.0474	.1205	+0736	.0595	+0458	.0636	+1123
.1057	.0458	0541	.0559	+0438	.0701	.0876	.1254	.0438	.0482
+0876	.0876	+0876	.0876	+0854	.0622	+0464	.0438	.0438	.0652
.0504	.0357	.0438	.0438	.0201	.0482	.1139	.0619	10974	. 6.4.7.0
					· · · · · · · · ·	• •• •• •• •• •	• • • • • •	1 1 1 1 1 1	* V (T (J (J)

HIGHWAY LINE HAUL COSTS (CONT.)

.

•

0.470	A. 19 19 2	0500	0430	AASA.	0.613	.0736	.0845	.0591	.0810
+0438		+ 0,000	0722	0530	.0304	.0499	1220	.0775	.0526
+0537	+0203	• V Z V I	+ 4 2 0 0	0.000	0570	.0447	.0344	.0586	.0732
+0482	•0701	•1185	4 L L 2 O	+0432.	+0307	+0407	.0214	.0520	0388
.1047	•0200	+0403	-0732	a Q 2 O 20	s O Z a Z	+07.02	• U7 11 4 ACCD7	• V O X V 0 A / Y X	0000
. 0366	• 0236	+0549	+0421	+0549	+0355	•0386	•0386	.0300	+ () 7 J K () / 4 G
.0516	+0232	.0336	+0366	·0615	.0425	+0366	+0381	• 0 0 1 2	+ QOLO
.0706	*6464	.0677	+0549	+0586	10586	+0640	•0443	•0673	+041Z
41061	.0648	.0523	.0403	.0586	10988	•0939	•0403	+0476	,0634
.0520	. 6832	.1040	.1498	.0520	.0572	.1040	.1040	.1040	.1040
1615	10739	.0551	.0520	.0320	.0780	.0598	.0780	.0520	:0520
+152.4	* 52 2 1 1 UU 25 61 1974 \$	4 12 80 65	0223	1020	. 05 20	.0520	.0874	.0603	.0520
+ V 0 0 2	* \$7572 x	8.000 A	4004	6767	10020	0780	10832	.0832	.0910
+C041	+ U Z 2(8	10823	+1004	+0705	0704	+ 92 0 9	0030	10004	.1334
.0629	•0707	10553	1008	+ 0 Y Z 0	+0744	• (/ J / A) a mara	+ O G G S S	4 X 11 V 11 OCO 4	-1001 A012
.0572	•\$676	•0384	•0438	+0733	10925	4 1 3 L J	+0400	+0004	40740
.0916	.0916	•0916	•0893	:0680	.0485	+0458	•0408	+0687	+ 00527
.0687	+0458	.0493	e0233	.0504	•1191	.0646	•0916	.0458	+0458
.0769	•0331	.0458	.0476	+0341	+0769	•0 <u>3</u> 84 ·	+0618	•0847	•0587
0733	.07.33	.0801	.0354	.0843	.0522	,1328	.0911	.0655	,0504
0733	1027	11725	.0504	.0595	.0523	.0488	.0781	.0976	.1397
, 07.00 AADO	• J. 6.07 (5.0.12.12	0926	. 0974	.0926	.0928	.0952	.0693	.0517	.0488
• U40C	0.0007	• 07 7 0 	0770	0400	0488	.0781	. 0537	1269	.0638
+0485	+0732	+ 0000 L	4 V / O.& 2000	+ V100 AELZ	0400	0500	. 6487	.0820	.0942
+0973	+0488	•0485	10820	*0000	+ (/400	40000	10000	ACC 20	1 4 1 5
.0459	•0903	,0732	• 0 \ 8 J	•0781	+0803	+0570	+ 0670	+ Q-0-000 ACCAA	•
.0864	•0368	•0537	•0781	.1318	1252	+0537	.0534	+ U 0 4 4	+0420
.0682	.0852	, 1212	.0426	•0469	•0852	+0852	•0852	*0898	+0831
.0305	.0452	.0425	.0423	+0639	+0490	•0639	.0426	.0426	•0682
.0469	.1108	.0301	.0952	.0424	+0426	.0716	•0494	,0426	.0443
.0596	.0716	.0822	0575	.0788	+0639	.0382	.0682	.0745	.0515
0204	0303	4 10 12 10	.0254	.0409	9440.	.0682	.1150	.1093	.0469
4 Q 7 Q 4 A 6161 A		* # # 4 4 4 4 0 5 5 0	0704	. 0000	1259	.0440	.0484	.0380	. 0880
+0004	* V061	10440	• V7 0 %	+0000	• 12.07	0440	.0440	. 0190A	.0840
+0880	• 0850	•0808	4 V O Z U	+0400	10/140	+0440	+ \ 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 0	0440	0730
.0440	•0440	+0704	* 0 4 8 4	• 1 1 4 4	+USZU	+0880	• U 19 19 10 0 0 1 4	+ 0 m m 0	0204
.0510	•0440	•04E8	.0516	+0739	.0847	+0594	•0813	*0000	A 0 2 0 3
¿0704	.0770	.0532	•0310	.0502	1276	• 0779	*09557	,0484	+0704
.1188	.1129	•0483	.0572	.0582	•0456	•0730	40712	+1395	.0456
.0502	10912	.0212	+0912	.0912	•0889	,0649	+0483	•0456	•0453
0484	.0524	.0684	.0456	10455	.0730	.0502	.1196	.0643	+0912
0.054	0.45.4	.07.5.6	6529	10456	.0474	.0638	.0765	+0880	.0616
40400	6201	0720	.0230	0798	. 6552	.0839	.0520	.1322	.0807
+ 0 0 110	+ VOUN 2003	6776	10700	1170	10502	.0593	.0541	.0423	.0678
+0602	4 MOMA 4 MOMA	+0239 -	اللائية اللا باللائية	4 4 4 7 7 7	40002	40070	6040	6922	0402
.0848	•1213	•0424	< 0 + 6 6	- V640	10848	+0040	+0630	+0027	0012
+0449	•0484	•6424	- Q635	•0488	+0635	+ U4.34	* 0424	+ 9070	
•1102	.€ 528	•0248	.0424	•0424	+0/12	+0492	+0424	* 6 4 4 T	
.0712	• 085 8	₹ 0 572	.0784	.0636	• •0679	.0678	.0742	+0513	.0280
.0483	.1230	,0750	+0606	.0466	•0678	+1145	. 1083	.0466	.0551
.0775	.0529	.0846	.1059	.1514	.0529	+0582	.1058	·1058	.1058
1059	1032	.0751	.0574	.0529	.0529	.0793	.0308	.0793	+0527
41000	.0044	.0562	1325	0746	.1058	.0529	.0529	+0889	+0614
• V D 2. 7	ACCA	0.7.0.1	0000	17.94	0710	.0979	.0293	.0343	.0846
.0529	• • • • • • • •	• 07 Mil 60000	* * * * * * *	4 U. V. A. U. 4 U. V. A. U.	10710	0754	6500	. 09.26	.1428
• 0923	• Q&4V	.0773	*0803	(LUUM)	10700	10700	10002	•••••••	. 3549
+1357	* 00.95	+0288	+0530	+0478	+ 0 2 5 7	+0770	* L 1 C U	+ 0 4 2 0	0747
,0996	•0252	•0298	•0588	10971	+0707	+0028	+0478	+ 0 9 7 0	* V / 4 /
, 0573	.0747	.0498	.0428	.0797	•Q348	.1295	+0702	+0995	+0478
,0498	.0837	·0528	+0428	.0518	.0697	+0837	.0961	•0672	.0921
.0747	.0797	.0797	.0871	.0603	+0916	+0568	.1444	.0881	·0712
0540	6707	13.45	.1977	.0548	+0647	.0353	.0514	.0922	.1028
+ V U ** 0	+ U / U / /	- 1040 - 16578	.1009	.1622	1028	.1028	.1002	+0730	,0545
e J 14 / L Attra A	17 1, 17 V 4 A 19 1, 17 V 4	+ M 47 (2 4) 2017 12 4	1204	.0721	. OE4A	.0514	. 6872	10945	.1336
+UUL4	+0014	• Q / Z A. 	4 V/ J 7 L 2/11 4 A	+ \/ / J. (\(\) / A	• V/0 / "T	0.514	- A CCR	.0290	. 09.44
+0725	+1028	10534	+U014	• 0004	+ 0 3 7 0	+ VU14	+2020	• • • / ~ ~ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. 6504
.0992	.0394	•0951	+0771	*0875	*0817S	10899	+QΟ. • ΩΟ. • • • • •	+ 1740	•0080
.1491	.0910	0763	•0565	.0825	•1 398	+1318	+0060	+ 0000	

HIGHWAY LOADING & UNLOADING COSTS -- DOLLARS PER TON

٠.

5,9402	6.8200	10,7120	3,4100	19.5188	6+8500	2.5020	3.4100	3.4100	3.4100
3:4100	3,5805	5.5924	2.2092	8.8200	6+8500	10.2300	6.3085	5.1150	8.8200
6+8200	10.2120	7,5020	17.7320	5.4212	13,3400	6.8.00	6+8200	4.5012	6.2744
6.8200	6.6830	5,4960	4.5012	3.6482	5:6265	3.9210	10.2300	10.9120	10,2120
4.2625	6+1039	3,9393	6.3420	19.7780	4.1943	6.3767	2,5020	10.9120	19.4140
17.4933	7,5020	8,6556	សតែធំពីទំព័រ	7.5800	12.2880	3.8400	21.9801	7.6800	8,4380
3,8400	3,8400	3,8400	3,8400	4.0320	6.2876	8,1408	7.3800	7.6800	11,5200
7,1040	5.7800	7.6800	2.6800	12.2880	8.4480	12.2880	6.1055	15,3600	2.6800
7.6800	5.0888	7:0655	.2.6000	7.5224	6.1440	5.0358	4,1088	6+3330	4.4130
11,5200	12,2890	12,2380	4.8000	6.8736	4.4544	7.1424	22,2720	4.7232	7.1808
814180	12,2880	20.2330	19-6092	8,4480	9,9840	8.1787	9.3900	15.0240	4.6950
26.6742	9.3900	10.3290	4.6950	4.6950	4.6950	4.8930	4.9297	2.6993	9.2534
9,3900	9.3900	14,0850	8.6857	7.0425	9.3900	9,3900	15.0240	10.3290	24.4140
2.4650	18.7800	9,3900	9,3900	6.1924	8.6398	2.3200	9.2022	7.5120	6.1924
5.0236	7.7462	5.3992	14.0850	15,0240	15-6240	5,8687	8,4040	5.4462	8.2327
27.2310	5.7748	8.7798	10.3290	15.0240	25.3930	24.0853	10.3290	12.2020	7.7867
8.9400	14.3040	4.4700	25.0883	8,9400	9:8340	4.4700	4.4700	4.4700	4.4700
4.6935	7,3309	9.4764	8,9400	8+9400	13.4100	8,2395	6,2050	8.5400	8.5400
14.3040	9,8340	23.2440	7,1023	17,8800	8,9400	8.9400	5.9004	8+2248	004948
8,7612	7.1520	5.9004	4+7829	7,3755	5,1405	13,4100	14.3040	14.3040	5.5875
8,0013	5,1352	8.3142	25,9260	5,4981	8.3589	9,8340	14.3040	24,1380	22.9311
9.8340	11.6220	9.1716	10,5300	16.8480	5.2650	30,1339	10.5300	11,5930	5.2650
5.2650	5.2650	5.2350	5,5282	8.6346	11+1618	10,5300	10.5300	15,2950	9.7402
7.8975	10.5300	10.5300	16,8480	11.5830	27.3780	8.3713	21,0600	10,5300	10,5300
A. 0406	Q.49.74	10.5300	16.3194	9. 4940	A. 9499	19. ARXS	9.4872	610547	15,2950
14.8480	13.8420	A.5912	9.4263	A, 1074	9.7929	30.5320	6.4759	9.8456	11.5930
14.8380	28.4310	22.0094	11.5830	13,4890	17.3973	15.3760	24.5920	7.4850	43,9889
15.3700	16.9620	2.6950	7.8850	7.4850	2.4850	8.0492	12,4034	16.2922	15.3200
15.3200	23.0450	14.2172	11.5275	15.3200	15.3700	24,5920	16,9070	39,9620	12,2191
30.7400	15.3200	15.3200	10,1442	14,1404	15.3700	15.0626	12,2960	10.1442	8.2229
12.6802	8.8377	2.4. 0550	24.5920	24.5920	9+6062	13,7531	8.9146	14.2241	44.5730
9.4525	14.3710	16,9070	2415920	41.4990	39.4240	16.2020	19.7810	9.6681	11.1000
17.7500	5.5500	31,2692	11.1000	12,2100	5.5500	5.5500	5.5500	515500	5.8225
0,1020	11.7330	11.1000	11.1000	16.6500	10.2425	8.3250	11.1000	11,1000	17.2360
12,2300	29.8600	8.8245	22.2005	11.1000	11.1000	7.3240	10.2120	11,1000	10,8780
8,8300	7.3240	5.9385	9.1575	4.3825	16.6500	12,7600	17.7600	6.9375	9,9345
A.4380	10.3230	32,1900	6.8265	10.3785	12,2100	17.7600	29,9700	28,4715	12.2100
14.4300	9.4478	10.8700	17.2925	514350	31,1099	10.8200	11.9570	5.4350	5.4350
5.4350	5.4350	5.7047	8.9134	11.5222	10.8200	10,8700	16.3050	10/0542	9.1525
10.9200	10.8700	17.3920	11.5520	28.2620	8.6416	21,2400	10.8200	10.8700	7.1242
10.0004	10.9700	10.4526	0.707.3	7.1742	5.8154	8,9677	6.2502	16.3050	17.3920
12.3920	6.7937	9.7286	6.3046	30,1091	31,5230	6.6850	10,1635	11,9520	12,3920
29.3490	22,8815	11.9570	14.1310	8.4661	9.7200	15.5520	4,8300	27.8186	9.7200
10.6920	4.8600	4,8300	4.8600	4.8800	5.1030	7,9704	10.3032	9.7200	9,7200
14,5800	8,9910	7.2900	9.7200	9.7200	15,5520	10.6920	25.2720	7.7274	19.4400
9.7200	9.7200	6.4152	8.9424	9.7200	9,5256	7.7760	6.4152	5,2002	8.0190
5.5890	14.5800	15,5520	15-5520	6.0250	8.6294	5.6376	9.0393	28.1880	5.9779
9.0882	10.6920	15.5520	26.2440	24.9318	10.6920	12.6360	8,7361	10.0300	16.0480
5.0150	28.7059	10.0300	11.0330	5.0150	5,0150	5.0150	5,0150	5.2657	8.2246
10.6318	10.0300	10.0300	15.0450	9.2777	7.5225	10.0300	10.0300	16.0480	11+0330
26.0780	7,9738	20,0400	10.0300	10.0300	6.6198	9.2276	10.0300	9.8294	8,0240
6.6198	5.3440	8.2747	5.7672	15.0450	15.0480	16.0480	6.2687	8,9768	5,8174
9,3279	29.0870	5.1684	2,3280	11.0330	16.0480	27,0810	25.7269	11.0330	13.0390
13,9208	16.0400	25 6640	8.0200	45.9064	16.0400	17.6440	8,0200	8,0205	8.0200
8,0200	8.4210	13.1528	17.0024	16.0400	16.0400	24.0600	14,8370	12,0300	16,0400
16.0400	25, 4440	17.7.440	41.7040	12,7578	32.0800	16.0400	16,0400	10.5864	14,7568
16,0400	15.7192	12.8320	10.5844	8,5914	13,2330	9.2230	24.0700	25.6640	25.4440
10.0250	14,3959	9,3032	14,9172	46.5140	9.8646	14.9974	17.6440	25.6640	43.3080
41,1405	17.6440	20,8520	7.0439	8.1100	12,9740	4.0550	23.2108	8,1100	8.9210
4.0550	4.0550	4.0550	4,0550	4,2577	6,6502	8,5966	8+1100	8,1100	12,1350
2,5017	6.0825	8,1100	8,1100	12,9760	8,9210	21.0860	6.4474	16+2200	8,1100
8.1100	5.3526	7.4612	8,1100	7,9478	6.4880	5+3526	4.3388	6,6907	4.6632

HIGHWAY LOADING & UNLOADING COSTS (CONT.)

10 12:00	10.0220	10 0720	0.0102	2 05 0 A	4 2039	7.5423	23.5100	4.9376	7,5828
	10147200	0.4 7 2 0 V	20432-040-2 2045 - 010-014	0 0010	16 6 3 3 3	2 + 52 1 20 02 19 A 19 (51 2	0 12 400	12 2740	A 0200
8+7210	12-5700	21 × O > 7 O	20.0021	0.7210	1.0+0400	2+4000 A 0360		1010040	1 ASOA
24+4430	822300	9+3249	4.2799	4+2700	4.2700	4:2700	4.4830	7+00.0	9 + V J Z - 9
8.5400	8.5100	12.5100	N•9552	6.4050	8+0400	8.5400	13+6649	9.3940	22,2040
6.7893	17,0800	8,5400	8.5400	5.6364	7,8568	8.5400	8,3692	6,8320	5+6364
4.5689	7.0455	4.9105	12.8100	13-6640	13-6640	5.3375	7+6433	4+9532	7.9422
24.7460	5.2521	7.9849	9,3940	13.6640	23.0580	21,9051	9,3940	11.1020	6.8335
7.0000	12.3000	2.9300	92. NO2A	2.8800	8.4480	3,9400	3,9400	3.9400	3.9400
A 10.70	A A & L &	ie rispa	2.6044	2.9900	11 8200	7.1390	5.9100	7.8800	7,8800
	0.44010	040000 2000	7 • 00000 7 • 0140	45 9200	2.0000	2 0000	S 2000	7.0404	7.8900
	0.0000		0 • 2.040 • 0455	13+7000	1.00000		342000	10 2000	A 00000
1.1.2.2.4	6.3940	0.0008	BCLN +	6.0010	4.0310	11+0500	12:0000	12+0000	4 + 7 2 3 0
7.0526	4,5701	2+3294	25.89550	4,8462	2+36/8	8+6680	1519080	ALCAZOU	التعاشير الشمو لاكتم
08:63:60	10,2440	7.2380	8.3100	13,2960	4、1550	23,7832	8.3100	9,1410	4.1550
4.1550	4,1550	4.1530	4.3627	6.8142	8,8036	8.3100	8.3100	12,4650	7.6867
6.2325	8,3100	8,3100	13.2960	9.141 0	21.6060	6.6064	16.6200	8.3100	8,3100
5.4846	7.6452	5,3100	8,1438	6.6480	5.4846	4.4458	6.8557	4.7782	12+4650
13.9840	13.2940	5.1932	7.0374	4.8198	7,7283	24.0000	5.1104	7.7698	9.1410
17. 2040	2012700	71.3151	9.1410	10.9030	2.9871	9,1200	14.6720	4.5850	26.2445
コロモニアロシー	10.0000		1 ECS A		4 NORA	A 01.00	2 1 4 0 7 7 0 7 E 1 0 A	0 7000	0 1705
**1700	10+0020	3+3030	4+0000	4 60000	4+0000	54 CL 11 C	74.01.24	7472.02	741700
5*J705	33+X020	8+4822	6.8775	9+1Z00	- Y + 1 Z 0 0	34+6220	10.0870	ಷ್ಟು ಕ್ಷೇತ್ರ ರ	7.2901
18.3400	9.1200	9.1700	9 *0255	8.4364	8.1700	8.7863	7+3380	9 00555	4,9009
7,5352	5.2727	13,7550	14.6720	14.6720	5.7312	8,2071	2:3189	8,5281	26.5930
5.6395	8+5739)0 ↓6820	14.6720	24,7590	23.5210	10.0870	11,9210	8.6752	9.9600
15.9360	4,9300	28,5055	9,9600	10.9560	4,9800	4,9800	4,9800	4.9800	5.2290
8 1772	10.5524	9.9466	9.9400	14.9400	9.2130	7.4700	9,9600	9,9600	15,9360
40.0370	05.8046	710100	19,9200	9,9400	9.9666	6.5736	9.1632	9.9600	9.7608
1047000 12 DZ 000	7 80707	- 2 + 2 3 0 M	0 0120	N 2020	14 9400	18 0220	15.0340	4.2250	8.9142
X + 7 0 0 V	0.07.00	0020200	0 2 4 7 0	0 2107	40.0570	46 0720	-10170000 -112 0000	- 05 SADA	10 0540
0+2700	Ventox))	2878840	1997 - A C	7:0120	1077050	1.347000	204072.5	2020074	1,0+7000
TS*8436	8.48355	5.7400	10.5840	4.8700	27.087.09	9,7400	1.077340	4.8700	4+8700
4:8700	4.9700	5.1135	7.5860	10.3244	2,2400	9.7400	14.6100	8.0052	7+3050
9,7400	9.2400	15,5840	10.7140	25.3240	7,7433	19,4800	9.7400	9.7400	6.4284
8,9608	9.7400	9.5452	7.7920	6.4284	5.2109	8.0355	5.6005	14:3100	15,5840
15,5840	6.0879	8.7173	5.6492	9.0582	28.2460	5,9903	2.1069	10.7140	15.5840
24.2280	24,9831	10.7140	12.4620	10,7830	12.3800	12.8080	6,1900	35,4315	12.3900
12 4100	4 1000	4 1900	A. 1960	4.1900	4.4000	10.9514	13,1228	12.3800	12.3800
1010100	E4 A6 4 50	0.00000	10 7066	10 2000	10 0500	17 4190	20 1000	0 0401	24.7400
18:0700		7 42 000	- 1125 # 000 000 - 1125 # 000 000			0.01040	A DECEMBER OF A	2.80.2742	- 2011 # 2 10 V V - 12 V - 40 4 19 61
12+3846	12+9866	0.017.20	- L L + 33370. 	12+3800	ا+∆شدکال ⇒ کیر از با	- 949040 - 949040	041708	0.0200	10023300
Z 4 1 1 8 5	18*2500	1213080	17.48020	1.13/3	31.0363	Z+3803	11+0104	30.2020	7+0107
11.5753	13.6180	19,8030	33-4250	-31÷7547	13.6180	16.0940	10.5914	12+1600	19,4560
6,0800	34,8019	12.1600	13.3260	6+0800	6,0800	6.0800	6,0800	2.3840	9.9712
12,8896	12.1600	12.1300	18,2400	11.2480	9+1200	12.1600	12.1600	19.4560	13.3760
31.6160	2:6672	24.3200	12.3600	12,1600	8.0253	11.1872	15+1900	11,9168	9,7280
8,0254	6.5056	10.0320	6.9920	18.2400	19.4560	19.4550	2.6000	10.8832	7.0528
11.309.8	35.2640	2.4284	11.3696	13,3760	19.4550	32.8320	31,1904	13.3760	15.8080
- 30.00 + 5711 5251 - 4 - 4 - 4311971 6	- 373 - OPDAD	200 22200	- 2000 A 2000 A	32 8499	10 0500	14 2460	4.4750	A. A750	4.4750
- J.J. 4 26 7 7 3 	- VARANE # 17.000 - Concentration	- 2014 V Z 2014 (1777) - 100 - 100 Z 2014 (1777)	a di tangan saka Antana di tangan	- 07 + VOL7 - 10 - 0866	40 0000	10 4050	4 1 0 2 0 2	0.7198	10.000
0+4769	0 * 7 7 67		- 1047270	-100+70000 -so-ooco	- 1.2.*7.000 - OK - OZAA	- エン・サマンジン - オカーロビへひ	- LI 4 2 2 07 - 4 0 - 0806	0 EA76	44 0120
1.12+5.099	20+7200	1477900	33+6700	10.2702	20.5000	1.2.4.7.000	12+2000	0+0470	21+2140 21-2000
12.9500	12+6710	10.3700	8,5470	6+9285	10.6837	7+4462	19+4200	20+7200	20.7200
8.0932	11.5902	2,0110	12.0435	37+5559	7.9642	12.1082	$14 \cdot 2450$	20.7200	34.9650
33.2132	14,2450	14,0300	-0.0132	9,2000	14,2200	4.6000	26.3304	9,2000	10.1200
4.6000	4.6000	4.7900	4.6000	4,8300	2.5440	9.7520	9.2000	9,2000	13,8000
8.5100	6,9600	9,2000	9.2000	14,7200	10,1200	23,9200	7,3140	18.4000	9,2000
0.9666	- <u>A. 0220</u>	G. A.440	\$,2664	0.10.9	7.3400	6,0220	4.9220	7,5900	5.2900
112 0000	18 0000	17 2006	5 - 200AA	Q. 9740	5 7724	Q. 5520	26.2800	5.3507	8.2020
1.2 + 80.00	39•72UU	- 1 4 7 Z 2000 - 24 5 - 25 8 50	0070000 - 1970-1970-1970-1970-1970-1970-1970-1970-	1012010	11 0200	0.0000 0.0000	10.0000	0-0000 A0A 11	5 1400
10.1200	- 14 + Z2000	- 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10	2310780	- 1.0 + 1.2.00	11.7000	U • YOOY		10+4480	U+14VV 4A 0072
29.4214	10+5800	- 10 + 39 36	0.1400	5.1300	5+1200	5+1400	0+3770	8+4296	10.0768
10,2800	10+3800	15745.50	9.U090	7.7100	10,2800	10.5800	16.4480	11.43080	26+7280
8,17,23	20.5600	10.2800	10,2800	6+7848	9 - 4576	10.2800	10.0744	8.2240	6,2848
5.4993	8.4810	5 - S - S E i O	15.4200	16.4480	16,4490	6.4250	9.2006	5,9624	9.5604
20 0100	6.3000	9.6118	11.2080	17.4480	27.7560	26.3492	11.3080	13.3640	

APPENDIX F

EVALUATION CRITERIA SCREENING

.

•			R VR		RANK IMPOR- TANCE WITH RE GARD TO	THE	DATA	DATA	ESTIMA- BLE OR FORE- CASTING	ANZ	ALY:	515		١
CRITERION	MAXIMIZE	MINIMIZE	OHANTTATTU OHANTTTATT	SLIND	STAGE O INVESTI 1-high 5-lowe	F G. st	READILY AVAIL~ ABLE	READILY MEASUR- ABLE	AVAIL- ABLE	NATIONAL	REGIONAL	ORRIDOR	OCAL	
 I. SOCIAL A. Land Use Changes B. Community Forms C. Quality of Life D. Political Feasibility E. Population Shift Internal (Redistribution) External (Inward Migration) H Service to Urban Renewal Degree Community Goals are Served Degree Corridor Goals are Served Acres of Park Land Taken Acres of Cemeteries or Number Graves R Acres of Business or Industrial Land Taken Number of Families Displaced Number of Schools Moved Number of Public Buildings Taken S. Number of Jobs Eliminated or Relocated Creation of Open Space Services to Adjacent Land 	em. aken	000000000000000000000000000000000000000		Acres Pop.Dens Subject. Subject. Subject. Subject. Acres Acres Families Churches Schools Building Jobs Acres Subject.			NO NO NO NO NO NO YES YES	NO NO YES YES NO NO YES YES NO	Limited NO NO Limited Limited NO NO YES NO NO	0 0	0	0 0000000 00	0 0 0 0 0 0 0	•
 II. EQONOMICAL A. Direct Revenues From Taxes Tolls Fares Shipping Fees B. Market Share Changes C. Tax Base Changes D. Changing Pattern Producer-Consumer Relates E. Overall Industrial Development F. Personal Income Changes G. Influence on Property Values (Resident: Influence on Property Values (Industrial 	ations o ial) evel. o		00000 000000	\$ \$ \$ \$ Jobs			NO	YES NO YES NO YES	Limited		00000	0 0 0 000	0	

·

f

			E	21		WIT GAN THI OF TIC	CH CD CS IN CAT	RE TO TA VE	GE S- N			ESTI- MABLE OR	AN	ALY:	SIS		ii ii
	AXIMIZE	INIMIZE	UALITATI	TATITAL	STIN	1-# 5-I	ig .ow	hes es 1	st t	DATA READILY AVAIL-	DATA READILY MEASUR-	CASTING MODELS AVAIL- ABLE	ATIONAL.	EGI ONAL	DRRIDOR	DCAL	
CRITERION	Σ	Σ	~		P	1 2	3	4	5	ABLE	ABLE		Ż	2	ö	L L	
 II. ECONOMICAL (cont.) J. Employement Change due to Dislocation & Rel. K. Value of Commodities Flow L. Effects on Construction Industry M. Availability of Aternative Mode Transport. 	000	o	0	0 0 0	Jobs \$ Jobs					NO NO YES	NO Yes Yes	NO Limited YES		0	0 0 0	o	
N O. Commercial Sales Receipts & Income 1. Change Due to Dislocation 2. Change Due to Barrier 3. Change Due to Population Change 4. Change Due to Income Change 5. Change Due to Bypass Effect 6. Change Due to Accessibility	0 0 0	0 0 0		000000000000000000000000000000000000000	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$					NO		NO		0	0 0 0 0 0 0	0	
7. Change Due to price change (Kesul.Trans.	°			0	P												
A. Level of Service Provided 1. Peak Hour Capacity 2. Off Hour Volume 3. Vehicle Size 4. Vehicle Speed 5. Travel Time -Distance 6. Shipped Time A. Line Haul B. Terminal 7. Average Daily Volume 8. Congestion B. Resource Utilization C. Energy Consumption 1. Travel Modes 2. Terminals 3. Industry along the Corridor D. Operations	0 0 0	0000 0 0000		0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Subj. Tph/Vph Tph/Vph ft/Tons mph hrs/mi Hrs. Hrs. Hrs. Tons V/C Tons Btu/TM Btu/Ton		0			YES NO YES NO YES	YES NO YES	YES Limited YES NO Limited		00	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0	
 Continuity Flexibility A. Mode Interchanges B. Shipment Sizes C. Commodity Type D. Time Scheduling 	00000		0 6 0	000	SIC	000	0			NO	NO	Limited		00	0 0 0	0	

,

217

• .

· ,				Ë	LVE		TO THI STAGE INVES TION	E OF TIGA-	DATA READILY	DATA READILY	ESTI- MABLE OR FORE- CASTING MODELS	A	NALYS	IS	1
•		MAXIMI ZE	MINIMI ZE	OUAL TATI	QUANTITAT. UNITS		1-high 5-low	hest est 45	ABLE	ABLE	ABLE	NATIONAL	REGIONAL	LOCAL	
	C. Operations (cont.) 3. System Flexibility -Short Term 4. System Adaptibility-Long Term 5. Requirement for Auxiliary System 6. Reliability Inclement Weather Operations 7. Reliability Schedule Dependability	0 0 0	0				0 0 0 0 0		NO	NO	NO		00000	0	
۱	 8. Safety: Freedom from Damage/Theft 9. Safety to Non-Users 10. Freedom from Repairs 11. Operator Requirements D. Right of Way Needs 1. Continuous R-O-W Characteristics 2. Natural Path Capability of R-O-W 3. Required R-O-W width 4. Required Overhead Clearences 5. Allowable Curvature, Grades 	0	0	0 0 0 0 0 0 0	s Lo Acci Ft ² Ft Ft Degr	st dent ees%			YES	YES	YES		0 0 0 0 0 0	0	
• •	 6. Mileage E. Terminal Requirements Convenience Loading & Unloading Accessibility Requirement for Distribution System Requirement for Collection System 3. Model Interchange Required Vehicle Storage Repair Freight Storage Terminal Spacing Requirements Terminal Size Requirement Connectivity: Ease of Transfers 	0 0 0	0		Mile Spac Spac Ft ³ / Mile Ft ³	es Tons 8	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		NO	NO YES NO	Limited YES NO	-	•	0 0 0 0 0 0	
	<pre>IV. FISAL A. Construction Costs B. Maintenance Costs 1. Line Haul 2. Terminal C. Administrative Costs D. Operation Costs 1. Line Haul 2. Terminal</pre>		0000000		\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$		0 0 0 0 0 0		YES	YES	YES				

	•					RAN POI	TK II RTAN TH RI RD TO	M ² - CE E - D	DATA	рата	ESTI- MABLE OR FORE- CASTING	LE AN	VEL ALYS	OF SIS		1
	•	MAXIMIZE	MINIMIZE	QUALITITIAL VE	UNITS	THI OF GA 1-1 5-1	INV INV TION Lowe: 2 3	AGE ESTI est st 4 5	READILY AVAIL- ABLE	READ ILY MEASUR- ABLE	MODELS AVAIL- ABLE	NATIONAL	REGIONAL	CORRIDOR	LOCAL	
T	D. (cont.) a) Inter-Modal b) Intra-Modal		0	 0 0	\$ \$	0			NO Y ES	NO YES	NO YES			00		
	 E. User's Costs (Out-of-Pocket) 1. Line Haul Costs 2. Terminal Transfer Costs 3. Terminal Storage Costs 4. Terminal Parking Costs F. Accident Costs G. Cost/Effectiveness Ratio 		00000	С О О О	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0 0	0		YES . YES NO NO YES NO	YES YES YES YES YES NO	YES YES YES YES YES Limited			0 0	0	• -
219	 V. AESTHETIC 1. Right-of-Way Aesthetics 2. Terminal Aesthetics 3. Preservation of Value System 4. Noise-Air Pollution to System a) Line Haul b) Terminal 	0 0 0	0 0 0 0	D 3 3	dBA, ¤\$ /1 dBA, ¤\$ /1 Dba, ¤\$ /1		5	0	NO	NO Yes	NO Limited			0 0 0	0	
	 Noise-Air-Pollution due to Industry that Dev. along Corridor Beauty of Structures Vibration Drainage Patterns Water Pollution '9. Lighting Advertising (R-O-W) 	0	0 0	2 2 3 2	dBA, ^{mg} /:	1	ð P	р 0 0		NO YES YES YES NO	NO YES YES YES NO			0 0 0	0000	•
	• • • • • • •								•							

REFERENCES CITED

REFERENCES

- 1. Hille, S. J. and E. R. Bruning, "Legal Considerations in the Development of a Multi-Modal Corridor," University of Alabama, Dept. of Finance, Economics, and Legal Studies, University, Alabama, 1977.
- Jones, P. S., "Procedures for Multi-State, Multi-Mode Corridor Analysis; Task 2: Analytical Guidelines," Georgia Institute of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Eng., Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 3. Prasanna, S., W. Morgan and M. Damlouji, "National Zone Structure for Transportation Analysis," Memphis State University, The Transportation Center, Memphis, Tenn., 1977.
- 4. Lipinski, M. E. and H. L. Petty, "Development of a Multimodal Evaluation Procedure," Memphis State University, The Transportation Center, Memphis, Tenn., 1977.
- 5. Sharp, G. P., "Procedures for Multi-State, Multi-Mode Corridor Analysis; Task 5: Model Formulation," Georgia Institute of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Eng., Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 6. Office of Management and Budget, <u>Standard Industrial Classification Manual</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1972.
- Schuessler, R. W. and P. A. Cardellichio, "NTP Commodity Flow Projections -Data and Methods Description," U.S. DOT, Transportation Systems Center, Cambridge, Mass., 1976.
- 8. Gill, C. G. and H. O. Whitten, <u>Development of Transport Cost Functions</u>, Herbert O. Whitten & Associates, Annandale, Virginia, 1976.
- 9. Leontief, W. W., <u>Input-Output Economics</u>, Oxford University Press, New York, 1966.
- 10. Harris, Curtis C., Jr., <u>Regional Economic Effects of Alternative Highway</u> Systems, Ballinger, Cambridge, Mass., 1974.
- Polenske, K. R., C. W. Anderson and M. M. Shirley, <u>A Guide for Users of the U.S. Multiregional Input-Output Model</u>, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Dept. of Urban Studies and Planning, Cambridge, Mass., 1974.
- 12. Wendt, P. F., <u>Transportation Planning Land Use Studies the State of the</u> Art, Research Report #5, Georgia DOT, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 13. Dial, Robert B., "Urban Transportation Planning System: Philosophy and Function," Transportation Research Record, No. 599, 1976.
- 14. U.S. DOT, <u>Multi-Modal Transportation Feasibility Study of the Brunswick</u>, <u>Georgia to Kansas City</u>, <u>Missouri Route</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., July 1977.

- 15. General Services Administration, Office of the Federal Register, <u>U.S.</u> Government Manual, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- 16. Code of Federal Regulations, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- 17. United States Code, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- 18. Sax, "Takings and the Police Power," 74 Yale Law Journal 36, 1964, p. 318.
- 19. Grad, F., <u>Treatise on Environmental Law</u>, Bender, New York, 1975, pp. 102-107.
- 20. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, <u>OBERS Projections: 1972 Regional Economic</u> Activity in the U.S., Vol. 2, <u>BEA Areas</u>, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 21. <u>Handy Railroad Atlas of the United States</u>, Rand McNally & Co., Chicago, 1973.
- 22. Harris, R. G., "A Statistical Analysis of the FRA Waybill Sample," Federal Railroad Administration, Office of Rail Economics and Policy Development, Washington, D.C., 1977.
- 23. U.S. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Transportation</u>, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- 24. U.S. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Manufacturers</u>, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 25. Thuesen, H. G., W. J. Fabrycky and G. J. Thuesen, <u>Engineering Economy</u>, 5th Ed., Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1977.
- 26. Tax Institute of America, <u>State and Local Taxes on Business</u>, Princeton, N.J., 1965.
- 27. Rogers, George, <u>Georgia Principal Industrial Taxes</u>, Georgia Dept. of Industry and Trade, Atlanta, Georgia, 1971.
- Sharp, G. P. and P. S. Jones, "Evaluating Modal Transfer Operations With Network Flow Models," <u>Proceedings, Third Intersociety Conference on</u> Transportation, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 29. LeClerq, F., "A Public Transport Assignment Method," <u>Traffic Engineering</u> and Control, June 1972, pp. 91-96.
- 30. Christofides, Graph Theory, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- 31. Sharp, G. P., "Equilibrium Traffic Assignment for Multiclass-User Transportation Networks," ISyE Research Report W-77-1, Georgia Institute of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Eng., Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 32. Interstate Commerce Commission, <u>Cost of Transporting Freight by Class I</u> and Class II Motor Common Carriers of General Commodities, 1975, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1976.

- 33. Federal Railroad Administration, <u>United States Transportation Zone Maps</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- 34. Quandt, R. E. and W. J. Baumol, "The Demand for Abstract Transport Modes: Theory and Measurement," <u>Journal of Regional Sciences</u>, Vol. 6, No. 2, 1966.
- 35. Quandt, R. E., <u>The Demand for Travel: Theory and Measurement</u>, Heath, Lexington, Mass., 1970.
- 36. Herendeen, J. H., "Theoretical Development and Preliminary Testing of a Mathematical Model for Predicting Freight Modal Split," Report TTSC6908, Pennsylvania State University, Pennsylvania Transportation Institute, University Park, Penn., 1966.
- 37. U.S. DOT, "The National Transportation Plan Modal Split Model," unpublished paper.
- 38. Zangwill, <u>Nonlinear Programming: A Unified Approach</u>, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1969.
- 39. Halder, A. K., "The Method of Competing Links," <u>Transportation Science</u>, Vol. 4, No. 1, Feb. 1970, pp. 36-51.
- 40. Pardee, F. S., <u>Measurement and Evaluation of Alternative Transportation</u> <u>Mixes: Vol. I: Summary; Vol. II: Methodology; Vol. III: Example;</u> <u>RM-6324 - DOT</u>, The Rand Corporation, Santa Monica, Calif., Aug. 1970.
- Reebie, R. G. et al., "National Intermodal Network Feasibility Study: Report No. FRA/OPPD-76/2.1, Federal Railroad Administration, Washington, D.C., 1976, PB 258 196.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alabama Dept. of Industrial Relations, Research and Statistics Division, <u>Annual Average Labor Force: 1970 - 1975</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, April, 1976.
- Alabama Dept. of Industrial Relations, Research and Statistics Division, Area Manpower Review, Montgomery, Alabama, Sept., 1976.
- 3. Alabama Dept. of Industrial Relations, Research and Statistics Division, Statistical Bulletin, Montgomery, Alabama, Oct., 1976.
- 4. Alabama Development Office, Alabama Airports, Montgomery, Alabama.
- 5. Alabama Development Office, <u>Alabama Centralized to the Southeast</u> Market, Montgomery, Alabama.
- 6. Alabama Development Office, <u>Alabama's Ocean Port</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, Jan. 1975.
- 7. Alabama Development Office, <u>Alabama's Waterways Serve Industries</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, Dec., 1974.
- Alabama Public Service Commission, <u>Annual Report for Fiscal Year</u> October 1, 1974 - September 30, 1975, Montgomery, Alabama, 1975.
- 9. Alabama State Docks Dept., <u>Alabama State Docks Systems Handbook</u>, <u>Mobile</u>, Alabama, 1975.
- 10. Alabama State Docks Dept., Port of Mobile, Mobile, Alabama, Nov., 1976.
- Alabama State Highway Dept., <u>1974 Alabama Traffic Flow Map</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, 1974.
- 12. Alabama State Highway Dept., <u>Official 1976 Alabama Highway Map</u>, Montgomery, Alabama, 1976.
- 13. Arkansas Industrial Development Commission, Water Transportation in Arkansas: Gateway to Profit, Little Rock, Arkansas, 1974
- 14. Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>An Analytical Perspective on the</u> <u>Determination of Highway Commodity Flow Corridors in Arkansas</u>, Little Rock, Arkansas, April, 1975.
- Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>Arkansas 1976 State Highway Map</u>, Little Rock, Arkansas, 1976.
- 16. Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>1972 Traffic Volumes and County</u> <u>Road Number Map for County Arkansas</u>, (1 map for each county), Little Rock, Arkansas, 1972.
- 17. Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>1976 Highway Map of Arkansas</u>, Little Rock, Arkansas, January 1, 1976.

- 18. Arkansas State Highway Dept., <u>Rural State Highway Federal Aid</u> Systems Map, Little Rock, Arkansas, July 1, 1976.
- 19. Arkansas Transp. Commission, <u>Arkansas Transportation Commission</u> Official Map 1975, Little Rock, Arkansas, 1975
- 20. Birmingham Southern Railroad Company, <u>Birmingham Southern Railway</u> Company and Locations of Mining and Metallurgical Operations in the Vicinity of Birmingham, Alabama, Birmingham, Alabama
- 21. Bronzini, M.S., et al, "<u>A Transportation Sensitive Model of a</u> Regional Economy", Transp. Res., Vol. 8, pp. 45-62, 1974.
- 22. Bureau of the Census, 1970 Census, Washington, D.C.
- Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Manufacturers</u>, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 24. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Transportation</u>, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- 25. Bureau of the Census, <u>1972 Census of Transportation, Commodity</u> <u>Transportation Survey: Public Use Tape User's Manual</u>, Washington, D.C., January 1976.
- 26. Bureau of the Census, <u>State to State Commodity Flow Data Tape:</u> <u>CTS72. OD2</u>, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- Burrows, J.C., et al, <u>Industrial Location in the United States:</u> <u>A Charles Rivers Research Study</u>, Heath Lexington, Lexington, Mass., 1971.
- 28. Christofides, Nicos, Graph Theory, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- 29. <u>Code of Federal Regulations</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- COMSIS, <u>BEA Commodity Flow Data Tape:</u> 20 Commodities, Wheaton, Maryland, 1975.
- 31. Coyle, J.J., et al, "Methodological Framework for Comprehensive Transportation Planning", The Pennsylvania State University and Carnegie-Mellon University, Pennsylvania Transp. and Traffic Safety Center, Pittsburgh, 1968.
- 32. Creighton, Roger, Assoc., Inc. and R.L. Banks and Assoc., Inc., "Freight Data Requirements for Statewide Transportation Systems Planning", National Cooperative Highway Research Program, NCHRP8-17, Washington, D.C., 1977.
- 33. Dafermos, S.C., "The Traffic Assignment Problem for Multi-Class -User Transportation Networks", <u>Trans. Sci.</u>, No. 6, pp. 73-87
- 34. Dial, Robert B. "Urban Transportation Planning System, Philosphy and Function", Transp. Res. Rec., No. 599, Washington, D.C., 1976.

- 35. Federal Energy Admin., <u>National Energy Outlook</u>, Washington, D.C., Feb., 1976.
- Federal Railroad Admin., <u>U.S. Transportation Zone Maps</u>, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> <u>Statistics: Citrus Summary - 1975</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec. 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> <u>Statistics:</u> <u>Dairy Summary</u> - 1975, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec. 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> <u>Statistics: Field Crops Summary - 1975</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec., 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> <u>Statistics: Livestock Summary - 1975</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec. 1975.
- 41. Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, <u>Florida Agricultural</u> Statistics: Poultry Summary - 1975, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec., 1975.
- Florida Crop and Livestock Reporting Service, Florida Agricultural Statistics: Vegetable Summary - 1975, Tallahassee, Florida, Dec., 1975.
- 43. Florida DOT, <u>Annual Vehicle Classification Report: Fiscal Year</u> 1975 - 1976, Tallahassee, Florida, 1976.
- Florida DOT, <u>1972 Truck Weight Study Report</u>, Tallahassee, Florida, 1973.
- 45. Florida DOT, <u>1975 Florida Traffic Flow: Major Highways and Street</u> Systems, Tallahassee, Florida, 1975.
- 46. Galambos, E., <u>State and Local Taxes in the South, 1973</u>, Southern Regional Council, Inc., Atlanta, Georgia, 1974.
- 47. General Services Admin., Office of the Federal Register, <u>U.S. Govern-</u> ment Manual, Washington, D.C.
- 48. Georgia Bureau of Industry and Trade, <u>Georgia Manufacturing Directory</u>, Atlanta, Georgia 1976.
- 49. Georgia Bureau of Industry and Trade, <u>1975 Georgia Manufacturing</u> Wage Rates, Atlanta, Georgia, March 1976.
- 50. Georgia Chamber of Commerce, <u>The 1976 Industrial Survey of Georgia</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1976.
- 51. Georgia Dept. of Community Development, <u>Economic Development Profile</u> for ..., Atlanta, Georgia, (one report for each area in Georgia).

- 52. Georgia Dept. of Community Development, <u>Georgia Transportation</u> Systems, Atlanta, Georgia, 1972.
- 53. Georgia DOT, <u>A 20 Year Multi-Modal Transportation Plan</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1974.
- 54. Georgia DOT, <u>State of Georgia Traffic Map:</u> <u>State Highway System</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 55. Gill, C.G., and Whitten, H.O., "Development of Transport Cost Functions", U.S. DOT, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 56. Goodnight, J.J., "Model for Estimating Regional Air Passenger Travel Demands", Hwy. Res. Rec., No. 472, Washington, D.C., 1973.
- 57. Halder, A.K., "The Method of Competing Links", <u>Transp. Sci.</u>, Vol. 4 No. 1, Feb., 1970, pp. 36-51.
- 58. <u>Handy Railroad Atlas of the United States</u>, Rand McNally and Co., Chicago, 1973.
- 59. Harris, Curtis C., Jr,. <u>Regional Economic Effects of Alternative</u> Highway Systems, Ballinger, Cambridge, Mass., 1974.
- Harris, R.G., "Statistical Analysis of the FRA Waybill Sample", Federal Railroad Admin., Office of Rail Economics and Policy Development, Washington, D.C., 1977.
- 61. Herendeen, J.H., <u>Theoretical Development and Preliminary Testing</u> of a Mathematical Model for Predicting Freight Modal Split, Pennsylvania Transp. Inst., Report TTSC 6908, Pennsylvania State University, 1969.
- Hille, S.J., and E.R. Bruning, "Legal Considerations in the Development of a Multi-Modal Corridor", U. of Alabama, University, Alabama, 1977.
- 63. Interstate Commerce Commission, <u>Cost of Transporting Freight by Class</u> <u>I and Class II Motor Common Carriers of General Commodities</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 64. Interstate Commerce Commission, Formula for Use in Determining Rail Freight Service Costs, Statement IFI-73, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1973.
- 65. Jones, P.S., "Procedures for Multi-State, Multi-Mode Corridor Analysis, Task 2: Analytical Guidelines", Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, 1977.
- 66. Jones, P.S., and Sharp, G.P., "An Analytical Process for Coupling Economic Development with Multi-Mode and Institute Transportation Improvements", Transportation Research Board, in review.

- 67. Jones, P.S., and Sharp, G.P., <u>An Integrated Framework for Economic Development and Multi-Modal Transportation Corridor Improvement</u>, Paper presented at XIII International Meeting of the Institute of Management Science, Athens, Greece, July 25-27, 1977, ISyE Research Report No. C-77-3, Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 68. Jones, P.S., and Sharp, G.P., "Multi-Mode Intercity Freight Transportation Planning for Underdeveloped Regions", <u>Proceedings of the 18th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Forum</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- Lasdon, L.S., <u>Optimization Theory for Large Systems</u>, Macmillan, New York, 1970
- 70. LeBlanc, L.J., E.L. Morlok, and W.P. Pierskalla, "An Accurate and Efficient Approach to Equilibrium Traffic Assignment on Congested Networks", Transp. Res. Rec., No. 491, 1974, pp. 12-23.
- 71. LeClerg, F., "A Public Transport Assignment Method", <u>Traffic</u> Engineering and Control, June 1972, pp. 91-96.
- 72. Lee, T.H., et al, <u>Regional and Interregional Intersectoral Flow</u> <u>Analysis: The Method and an Application to the Tennessee Economy</u>, University of Tennessee Press, Knoxville, Tenn., 1973.
- 73. Leontief, W.W., <u>Input- Output Economics</u>, Oxford Press, New York, 1966.
- 74. Lieb, Robert, <u>Freight Transportation, A study of Federal Intermodel</u> Ownership Policy, Praeger, New York, 1972.
- Lipinski, M.E., and H.L. Petty, "Development of Multimodal Evaluation Procedure", Memphis State University, Transportation Center, Memphis, 1977.
- 76. Mammott, F.W. and F.S. Schalz, "Truck Route Analysis: A Useful Tool for Statewide and Regional Rail Planning", <u>Transp. Res. Rec.</u>, No. 591, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 77. Mississippi Aeronautics Commission, <u>Mississippi Aeronautical Chart</u> 20th Edition, Jackson, Miss., May, 1976.
- 78. Mississippi Employment Security Division, <u>Covered Employment and Wages:</u> Third Quarter 1975, Jackson, Miss., 1976.
- 79. Mississippi Employment Security Division, Estimated Labor Force Data for Affirmative Action, Jackson, Miss., June 1976.
- 80. Mississippi Geological, Economic, and Topological Survey, <u>The Mineral</u> Industry of Mississippi, 1972, Jackson, Miss., 1972.
- 81. Mississippi Research and Development Center, <u>Growth Potential for the</u> Port of Gulfport, Jackson, Miss., 1974.

- 82. Mississippi Research and Development Center, <u>Mississippi</u> Transportation Directory, Jackson, Mississippi.
- 83. Mississippi State Highway Dept., <u>Official Highway Map of Mississippi</u>, Jackson, Miss., 1974
- 84. Mississippi St. U., Division of Research, <u>Mississippi Business</u> Review, (selected portions), State University, Miss., Oct. 1976.
- 85. Missouri Dept. of Agriculture, <u>Missouri Farm Facts: 1976</u>, Columbia, MO., 1976.
- 86. Missouri DOT, <u>Missouri Commercial Vehicle Flow and Volume Map:</u> 1973, Springfield, MO, 1973.
- 87. Missouri DOT, Missouri 1975 Traffic Map, Springfield, MO, 1975.
- 88. Missouri DOT, Missouri Official Highway Map: 1976, Springfield, MO, 1976.
- 89. Missouri DOT, 1973 Traffic Map of Missouri, Springfield, MO, 1977
- 90. Missouri Employment Security Division, <u>Average Unemployment</u> <u>Insurance Covered Employment and Average Weekly Wages by County</u>, Springfield, MO, 1975.
- 91. Missouri Employment Security Division, <u>Manpower Information for</u> Affirmative Action Programs, Springfield, MO, July, 1976.
- 92. Office of Manpower and Budget, <u>Standard Industrial Classification</u> Manual, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1972.
- 93. Pardee, F.S., <u>Measurement and Evaluation of Alternative Transpor-</u> <u>tation Mixes: Vol. I = Summary; Vol. II = Methodology: Vol. III</u> = Example; RM-6324 - DOT, The Rand Corp., Santa Monica, CA, 1970.
- 94. Pearson, Karl, <u>Tables of the Incomplete Gamma Function</u>, Office of Biometrica, London 1922
- 95. "The Perception and Values in Travel Demand," <u>Transp. Res. Rec.</u>, No. 592, Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 96. Phares, D., <u>State-Local Tax Equity</u>, Lexington Books, Lexington, Mass., 1973.
- 97. Polenske, K.R., <u>Interregional Analysis of U.S.</u>, <u>Commodity Freight</u> <u>Shipments</u>, Paper prepared for the Society of Automotive Engineers Meeting, Detroit, Mich., Feb. 27, 1974.
- 98. Polenske, K.E., C.W. Anderson, and M.M. Shirley, <u>A Guide for Users</u> of the U.S. Multi-regional Input - Output Model, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Cambridge, Mass., 1974.

- 99. Prasanna, S., W. Morgan, and M. Danlouji, "National Zone Structure for Transportation Analysis", Memphis State U., The Transportation Center, Memphis, Tenn., 1977.
- 100. Quandt, E.E., <u>The Demand for Travel: Theory and Measurement</u>, Health, Lexington, Massachusetts, 1970
- 101. Quandt, E.E., and Baumol, W.J., "The Demand for Abstract Transport Modes: Theory and Measurement", <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>, Vol. 6, No. 2, 1966.
- 102. <u>Railroad Reliability and Freight Car Utilization: An Introduction</u>, CTS Report 75-8, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Center for Transportation Studies, Cambridge, Mass., 1975.
- 103. Reebie, R.S., et al, "National Intermodal Network Feasibility Study", Report No. FRA/OPPD-76/2.1, Federal Railroad Administration, Washington, D.C., May 1976, PB 258 196.
- 104. <u>Road Atlas: United States, Canada, and Mexico</u>, 53rd Edition, Rand McNally, Chicago, 1977.
- 105. Roberts, P.O., <u>Developing Freight Origin Destination Data for Use</u> <u>in Freight Planning</u>, CTS Report No. 74-3, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Center for Transportation Studies, Feb., 1976.
- 106. Roberts, P.O., <u>Forecasting Freight Flows Using a Disaggregate</u> <u>Freight Demand Model</u>, CTS Report No. 76-1, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Center for Transp. Studies, Jan. 1976.
- 107. Rogers, George, <u>Georgia Principal Industrial Taxes</u>, Georgia Dept. of Industry and Trade, Atlanta, 1971.
- 108. Ruiter, E.R., "Analytical Structures: Resource Paper", in <u>Urban</u> Travel Demand Forecasting, Special Report 143, Hwy. Res. Bd., 1973.
- 109. Samuelson, R.A. and P.O. Roberts, "A Commodity Attribute Data File for Use in Freight Transportation Studies", CTS Report 75-20, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology, Cambridge, Mass., 1975.
- 110. Sax, "Takings and the Police Power", 74 Yale Law Journal 36, 1974, pg. 318.
- 111. Schuessler, R.W. and Cardellichio P.A., "NTP Commodity Flow Projections - Data and Methods Description", Report No. 55-212-01-33, U.S. DOT, Transp. Systems Center, Cambridge, Mass., 1977.
- 112. Sharp, G.P., "Equilibrium Traffic Assignment for Multiclass-User Transportation Networks", ISyE Research Report W-77-1, Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.

- 113. Sharp, G.P., "Procedures for Multi-State, Multi-Mode Corridor Analysis, Task 5: Model Formulation", Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 114. Sharp, G.P., "Selection and Use of a Freight Modal Split Model", ISyE Research Report W-77-2, Georgia Inst. of Technology, School of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Atlanta, Georgia, 1977.
- 115. Sharp, G.P., and P.S. Jones, "Evaluating Modal Transfer Operations With Network Flow Models", <u>Proceedings of the Third Intersociety</u> <u>Conf</u>erence on Transportation, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 116. Sharp, G.P., P.S. Jones, M.A. Mullens and H.C.D. Yu, "An Intermodal Transportation Network Model", Transportation Research Board, in Review.
- 117. Swerdloff, C.N., <u>Developing a National Network Model of Intercity</u> <u>Freight Movement in the United States</u>, Paper presented at the Planning and Transport Research and Computation Ltd. International Symposium on Freight Traffic Models, Amsterdam, Netherlands, May 4-7, 1971.
- 118. Tax Institute of America, <u>State and Local Taxes on Business</u>, Princeton, N.J., 1965
- 119. Tennessee Dept. of Agriculture, <u>Tennessee Agricultural Statistics:</u> Annual Bulletin - 1976, Nashville, Tenn., Aug. 1976.
- 120. Tennessee Dept. of Economic and Community Development, <u>Economic</u> Statistics on Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., 1976.
- 121. Tennessee Dept. of Economic and Community Development, <u>Tennessee</u> <u>Community Data for...</u>, (1 for each community), Nashville, Tenn., Feb., 1976.
- 122. Tennessee Dept. of Economic and Community Development, <u>Transportation</u> in Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., 1976.
- 123. Tennessee Dept. of Economic and Community Development, <u>Wages, Salaries</u>, and Fringe Benefits Survey for...., Nashville, Tenn., 1976.
- 124. Tennessee DOT, <u>1975 Average Daily Traffic on Highways and City Streets</u> in Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., 1975.
- 125. Tennessee DOT, 1975 Truck Weight Survey, Nashville, Tenn., July, 1976.
- 126. Tennessee DOT, 1995 Statewide Arterial Highway Plan, Nashville, Tenn.
- 127. Tennessee DOT, Official Highway Map of Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., 1975.
- 128. Tennessee DOT, Railways in Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., 1969
- 129. Tennessee DOT, <u>Summary of Rail Transportation Systems in the State</u> of Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn., March 1974.

- 130, Tennessee DOT, <u>Summary of Tennessee's Waterways System</u>, Nashville, Tenn., March, 1974.
- 131. Tennessee DOT, <u>Tennessee Airport System Plan:</u> Summary Report, Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 1972.
- 132. Tennessee DOT, <u>Tennessee's Opportunities on Its Waterways System</u>, Nashville, Tenn., Nov. 1974.
- 133. Tennessee DOT, <u>Traffic Flow Map: State of Tennessee</u>, Nashville, Tenn., 1975.
- 134. Tennessee DOT, <u>Vehicle Classification Counts 1975</u>, Nashville, Tenn., April 1976.
- 135. Tennessee Public Service Commission, <u>Natural Gas Pipelines:</u> Intrastate and Interstate, Nashville, Tenn., 1971
- 136. Tennessee Public Service Commission, <u>Official Railroad Map</u>, Nashville, Tenn., Nov. 1968.
- 137, Tennessee Valley Authority, <u>Transmission System</u>, Nashville, Tenn., July 1960.
- 138. Thuesen, H.G., W.J. Fabrycky and G.J. Thuesen, <u>Engineering Economy</u>, 5th Ed., Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1977
- 139, Traffic Planning Associates, Inc., and Wm. S. Pollard Consultants, Inc., <u>Study Design: Multi-State Transportation Corridor</u>, Atlanta, Georgia, 1974.
- 140. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, <u>Alabama Water Resources Development</u>, Washington, D.C., March 1, 1975.
- 141. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, <u>Condition of Improvement</u> (for each of the Alabama rivers), Washington, D.C., various dates.
- 142. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, <u>Missippi River and Tributaries Inland</u> Waterways System, Washington, D.C., Aug., 1975.
- 143. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, <u>Waterborne Commerce of the U.S.</u>; <u>Calendar Year 1974</u>, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- 144. United States Code, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- 145. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, <u>Domestic Waterborne Trade of the United</u> <u>States: 1967-1974</u>, Washington, D.C., 1974.
- 146. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, <u>OBERS Projections</u>: <u>1972 Regional Economic</u> Activity in the U.S., Vol. 2, "BEA Areas", Washington, D.C., 1976.
- 147. U.S. Dept. of Labor, <u>Area Manpower Report Series</u>, Washington, D.C., July 1976.
- 148. U.S. DOT, <u>Multi-Modal Transportation Feasibility Study of the</u> <u>Brunswick, Georgia to Kansas City, Missouri Route</u>, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., July 1977.
- 149. U.S. DOT, "The National Transportation Plan Modal Split Model", unpublished paper.
- 150. U.S. DOT, <u>Preliminary Standards, Classification, and Designation</u> of Lines of Class I Railroads in the United States, U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C., August 3, 1976.
- 151. Wardrop, J.G., "Some Theoretical Aspects of Road Traffic Research", Proc. Inst. Civil Eng., 1952, pp. 325-378.
- 152. Wendt, Paul F., "Transportation Planning Land Use Studies The State of the Art", Research Report #5, Georgia DOT, Atlanta, Georgia, 1975.
- 153. Wm. S. Pollard Consultants, Inc., and Traffic Planning Associates, Inc., <u>Parametric Study Report: Multi-State Transportation</u> Corridor, Atlanta, Georgia 1974.
- 154. Zangwill, W., <u>Nonlinear Programming: A Unified Approach</u>, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1969.